EVOLUTIONARY BIOMECHANICS OF SOUND PRODUCTION AND RECEPTION

EDITED BY: Carl Soulsbury, Fernando Montealegre-Z and Damian Octavio Elias PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution







Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88971-532-9 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88971-532-9

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

EVOLUTIONARY BIOMECHANICS OF SOUND PRODUCTION AND RECEPTION

Topic Editors:

Carl Soulsbury, University of Lincoln, United Kingdom **Fernando Montealegre-Z**, University of Lincoln, United Kingdom **Damian Octavio Elias**, University of California, Berkeley, United States

Citation: Soulsbury, C., Montealegre-Z, F., Elias, D. O., eds. (2022). Evolutionary Biomechanics of Sound Production and Reception. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88971-532-9

Table of Contents

- 04 Editorial: Evolutionary Biomechanics of Sound Production and Reception Fernando Montealegre-Z, Carl D. Soulsbury and Damian O. Elias
- 07 Species Recognition is Constrained by Chorus Noise, but Not Inconsistency in Signal Production, in Cope's Gray Treefrog (Hyla chrysoscelis)

Jessie C. Tanner and Mark A. Bee

- 20 Control vs. Constraint: Understanding the Mechanisms of Vibration Transmission During Material-Bound Information Transfer Thomas E. Miller and Beth Mortimer
- **35** The Subgenual Organ Complex in Stick Insects: Functional Morphology and Mechanical Coupling of a Complex Mechanosensory Organ Johannes Strauß, Leif Moritz and Peter T. Rühr
- 52 Survival Sounds in Insects: Diversity, Function, and Evolution Melanie L. Low, Mairelys Naranjo and Jayne E. Yack
- 72 Tenors Not Sopranos: Bio-Mechanical Constraints on Calling Song Frequencies in the Mediterranean Field-Cricket Thorin Jonsson, Fernando Montealegre-Z, Carl D. Soulsbury and Daniel Robert
- 84 Convergent Evolution of Wingbeat-Powered Anti-Bat Ultrasound in the Microlepidoptera

Liam Joseph O'Reilly, Brogan John Harris, David John Lawrence Agassiz and Marc Wilhelm Holderied

- How Loud Can you go? Physical and Physiological Constraints to Producing High Sound Pressures in Animal Vocalizations
 Lasse Jakobsen, Jakob Christensen-Dalsgaard, Peter Møller Juhl and Coen P. H. Elemans
- **114** *Cues for Directional Hearing in the Fly* Ormia ochracea Andrew C. Mason
- 124 Evolutionary and Biomechanical Basis of Drumming Behavior in Woodpeckers

Eric R. Schuppe, Amy R. Rutter, Thomas J. Roberts and Matthew J. Fuxjager

- Bridging the Gap Between Mammal and Insect Ears A Comparative and Evolutionary View of Sound-Reception
 Ben Warren and Manuela Nowotny
- **154** Strange Seal Sounds: Claps, Slaps, and Multimodal Pinniped Rhythms Laura Verga and Andrea Ravignani
- 159 Functional Analyses of Peripheral Auditory System Adaptations for Echolocation in Air vs. Water

Darlene R. Ketten, James A. Simmons, Hiroshi Riquimaroux and Andrea Megela Simmons





Editorial: Evolutionary Biomechanics of Sound Production and Reception

Fernando Montealegre-Z^{1*}, Carl D. Soulsbury¹ and Damian O. Elias²

¹ Joseph Banks Laboratories, School of Life Sciences, University of Lincoln, Lincoln, United Kingdom, ² Department of Environmental Science, Policy, and Management, University of California, Berkeley, Berkeley, CA, United States

Keywords: bioacoustics, animal communication, sensory systems, hearing, vibrotaxis, vocalization, animal acoustics

Editorial on the Research Topic

Evolutionary Biomechanics of Sound Production and Reception

INTRODUCTION

Animals are capable of producing and detecting a broad range of vibrations transmitted through air, fluids such as water, or solids. The production of vibrations for communication (i.e., signals) in the animal kingdom involves three successive steps: (1) the production of vibrations, (2) modifications of vibrations to target specific functions, and (3) the coupling of these vibrations to the medium in which vibrations propagate. Although all three steps represent a challenge, producing signals and coupling them to the medium is exceedingly difficult in an energetic sense (particularly signals transmitted through air), and is perhaps the main reason why only two large groups of animals have evolved airborne sound and vibratory communication: Arthropods and Vertebrates, and within these groups only some taxa are capable of producing airborne sound signals (Bradbury and Vehrencamp, 1998). In Arthropods, acoustic communication is limited to crustaceans, arachnids and insects (Dumortier, 1963), with airborne sound detection being most prominent in some insect orders (Yack, 2004), with some reports in the literature for airborne sound production and detection in crustaceans (Popper et al., 2001), and Arachnids (Shamble et al., 2016). The detection of vibrations in the medium involves three successive steps: (1) a detection system to capture the vibrations, (2) the coupling of vibrations to the organism, and (3) the processing of sensory stimuli. In vertebrates airborne sound production and hearing (airborne sound detection) is more noticeable, although some taxa have lost at least one of these two features (Goutte et al., 2017). Airborne sounds, and vibratory communication (also known as biotremology) play a critical role in the day-to-day routines and survival of many species, for example in social communication (including mating), territoriality, detecting predators and in the detection and orientation of prey capture including echolocation.

This special issue covers various topics of acoustic communication (sound production and hearing) in animals from invertebrates to mammals primarily focusing on airborne sound but including one article on substrate-borne vibrations in webs (Miller and Mortimer). Each of the articles in this issue examines the biomechanics of the various forms of mechanisms that animals use for airborne sound production and detection (mechano-sensation). Therefore, articles are not centred on one specific topic but instead cover a range of systems that highlight recent advancements in animal bioacoustics.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited and reviewed by:

Elise Huchard, UMR5554 Institut des Sciences de l'Evolution de Montpellier (ISEM), France

*Correspondence:

Fernando Montealegre-Z fmontealegrez@lincoln.ac.uk

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Behavioral and Evolutionary Ecology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution

> Received: 03 October 2021 Accepted: 15 October 2021 Published: 05 November 2021

Citation:

Montealegre-Z F, Soulsbury CD and Elias DO (2021) Editorial: Evolutionary Biomechanics of Sound Production and Reception. Front. Ecol. Evol. 9:788711. doi: 10.3389/fevo.2021.788711

SOUND PRODUCTION IN ANIMALS

Animals produce vocal sounds when the acoustic vibrations originate in the respiratory system. But sound can also be produced mechanically by the interaction of body parts or by using external objects in the environment. Historically, most research has focused on vocal communication in animals, whereas other non-vocal sound mechanics (e.g., stridulation, percussion, tremulation) has attracted the attention of researchers and have advanced considerably in the last four decades.

Vocal sounds are restricted to vertebrate animals (Bradbury and Vehrencamp, 1998), although some insects use their respiratory system to eject air and produce sound (Drosopoulos and Claridge, 2005). Producing signals and coupling them to the medium is difficult, and there are physical and biomechanical constraints that shape both the production and detection of airborne sounds. Jakobsen et al., discuss the physical and physiological mechanisms that constrain the production, radiation and propagation of loud airborne sounds. Importantly, other factors can constrain the transmission of acoustic signals; Tanner and Bee demonstrate the critical role of ambient noise in affecting signal identity and hence sexual selection in frogs.

Non-vocal sounds are produced by many invertebrates and by some members of nearly all vertebrate classes and occur across a variety of behavioral contexts from signals that function to bring animals together (social signals e.g., mating signals) to those meant to keep them apart (asocial signals e.g., warning and aggression signals). A third type of signal is specific to animals that use echolocation ("auto-communication") and function to capture prey and navigate the environment. Non-vocal signals are generally poorly studied in vertebrates and their importance in some taxa needs greater exploration. In their opinion article, Verga and Ravignani, discuss the current and future study of non-vocal (percussive) signals in seals and the need for a holistic approach into the study of form and function in these signals. Similarly, there is a growing body of work on the drumming behavior of woodpeckers. Schuppe et al. synthesizes our current understanding of the evolutionary biomechanics of woodpecker drumming and highlight how the critical integration evolution, behavior, biomechanics and physiology is necessary to understand this signal. Invertebrates by contrast, have been extensively studied for non-vocal sound production. Even so, our understanding of sound production in well-studied models is incomplete. Jonsson et al. present the latest advancements in field crickets that explain how crickets synchronize wings vibrations to produce pure tone airborne sound signals.

Asocial signals can be used for a variety of functions including antipredatory and defensive signals. Low et al. present an overview of insect defensive signals and discuss their forms, function and evolutionary origins. More specifically moths have evolved sophisticated antipredatory behavior to counter detection by bat echolocation, including anti-bat sounds echolocation. This bat-moth story is one of the pillars of neuroethology (Conner and Corcoran, 2012), and in this special issue, O'Reilley et al. further this work by characterizing sound production in four microlepidopteran taxa which use wingbeat-powered ultrasound, and which may offer an antibat function.

SOUND RECEPTION IN ANIMALS

Mechanosensors activate and respond to stimuli representing different kinds of force such as touch, medium flow, airborne sound, substrate vibrations, and strain (see research article by Strauß et al.). According to Cocroft et al. (2014), biotremology and chemical signaling are the oldest forms of communication known, and both probably evolved from the original cell–cell mechanical and chemical interactions within early metazoans. Although biotremology and chemical signaling are some of the less well-known among all the sensory modes, the former has received more attention in the last decade. Miller and Mortimer present recent insights on how vibratory transmission constraints are mitigated to promote information transfer in spider webs.

Auditory airborne sensory organs are morphologically diverse across animals, with respect to their body location, accessory structures, and number of auditory units, but remarkably uniform in that most are innervated by specialized mechanosensory receptors. The evolution of hearing is a topic that is of interest to a broad audience, and there have been fascinating new insights over the past 30 years. Fossil evidence and modern comparative/evolutionary analyses have prompted a reinterpretation of the evolution of the middle ear bones, eardrum, and spaces around the inner ear (Köppl and Manley, 2014). In the same way, the basic units of hearing, the hair cells in tetrapods and the chordotonal organs of insects, share some common biophysical principles in spite of being separated by millions of years of evolution. These evolutionary insights have opened up an enormous amount of Research Topics in hearing, with plenty of new potential model organisms that should be considered. Warren and Nowotny, provide an important comparison between mammalian and insect ears, whilst Ketten et al. compare adaptations for echolocation in water vs. air. Both articles highlight the variety and shared specializations for hearing across insects and in terrestrial and aquatic mammals, from both evolutionary and biomechanical perspectives, including sound capturing, directional hearing, impedance conversion and frequency analysis. Further, directional hearing (assessing the location of different sound sources) is vital for many species to detect predators and prey and is especially challenging for small organisms such as insects. Mason revisits the sophisticated hyper-accurate ear of the small acoustic parasitoid fly Ormia ochracea and shows that they solve this problem using pure-time differences in neural responses to prey sound cues.

CONCLUSIONS

During the last 50 years, our understanding of sound production and sound reception has advanced considerably, and we now know much more on the biomechanics of sound production and hearing, as well as the evolutionary diversity (including shared adaptations) of the systems used by animals. This special issue brings together a cutting-edge collection of papers that broadly synthesizes key areas in evolutionary biomechanics and critically provide a number of key areas of future research.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

REFERENCES

- Bradbury, J. W., and Vehrencamp, S. L. (1998). Principles of Animal Communication. Sunderland: Sinauer Associates.
- Cocroft, R. B., Gogala, M., Hill, P. S. M., and Wessel, A. (2014). "Fostering research progress in a rapidly growing field," in *Animal Signals and Communication: Studying Vibrational Communication*, eds R. B. Cocroft, M. Gogala, P. S. M. Hill, and A. Wessel (Berlin: Springer-Verlag).
- Conner, W. E., and Corcoran, A. J. (2012). "Sound strategies: The 65-million-yearold battle between bats and insects," in *Annual Review of Entomology*, ed M. R. Berenbaum (Palo Alto: Annual Reviews).
- Drosopoulos, S., and Claridge, M. F. (2005). Insect Sounds and Communication: Physiology, Behaviour, Ecology, and Evolution. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press.
- Dumortier, B. (1963). "Morphology of sound emission apparatus in arthropoda," in *Acoustic Behaviour of Animals*, ed R.-G. Busnel (Amsterdam: Elsevier).
- Goutte, S., Mason, M. J., Christensen-Dalsgaard, J., Montealegre-Z, F., Chivers, B. D., Sarria-S, F. A., et al. (2017). Evidence of auditory insensitivity to vocalization frequencies in two frogs. *Sci. Rep.* 7:12121. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-12145-5
- Köppl, C., and Manley, G. A. (2014). "Unique contributions from comparative auditory research," in *Insights From Comparative Hearing Research*, eds C. Köppl, G. A. Manley, A. N. Popper, and R. R. Fay (New York, NY: Springer-Verlag).
- Popper, A., Salmon, M., and Horch, K. (2001). Acoustic detection and communication by decapod crustaceans. J Compar Physiol. 187, 83–89. doi: 10.1007/s003590100184

FUNDING

FM-Z was supported by European Research Council grant (ERC, grant ERCCoG-2017-773067) and by Natural Environment Research Council (NERC, grant DEB-1937815).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank all authors and reviewers that contributed to this Research Topic, and the staff at Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution for invaluable administrative support during the process, especially during the Covid-19 pandemic.

- Shamble, P. S., Menda, G., Golden, J. R., Nitzany, E. I., Walden, K., Beatus, T., et al. (2016). Airborne acoustic perception by a jumping spider. *Curr. Biol.* 26, 2913–2920. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2016.08.041
- Yack, J. E. (2004). The structure and function of auditory chordotonal organs in insects. *Microscopy Res. Tech.* 63, 315–337. doi: 10.1002/jemt.2 0051

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Montealegre-Z, Soulsbury and Elias. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Species Recognition Is Constrained by Chorus Noise, but Not Inconsistency in Signal Production, in Cope's Gray Treefrog (*Hyla chrysoscelis*)

¹ Department of Ecology, Evolution, and Behavior, University of Minnesota, Saint Paul, MN, United States, ² Graduate

Jessie C. Tanner1*† and Mark A. Bee1,2

Program in Neuroscience, University of Minnesota, Minneapolis, MN, United States

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Hope Klug, The University of Tennessee at Chattanooga, United States

Reviewed by:

Ximena E. Bernal, Purdue University, United States Hamilton Farris, Louisiana State University, United States

*Correspondence:

Jessie C. Tanner jessie.c.tanner@gmail.com

[†]Present address:

Jessie C. Tanner, Centre for Evolutionary Biology, School of Biological Sciences, The University of Western Australia, Crawley, WA, Australia

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Behavioral and Evolutionary Ecology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution

> **Received:** 29 March 2020 **Accepted:** 14 July 2020 **Published:** 31 July 2020

Citation:

Tanner JC and Bee MA (2020) Species Recognition Is Constrained by Chorus Noise, but Not Inconsistency in Signal Production, in Cope's Gray Treefrog (Hyla chrysoscelis). Front. Ecol. Evol. 8:256. doi: 10.3389/fevo.2020.00256 Optimal mate choice based on the assessment of communication signals can be constrained by multiple sources of noise. One well-known impediment to acoustically guided mating decisions is the ambient noise created by multiple signaling individuals in large social groups, in which ambient noise can mask signals by impairing signal recognition and discrimination by receivers. Although studied far less often, another potential source of noise in communication systems stems from variability or inconsistency in how signalers produce their signals. Consistency is especially important in the context of mate choice because sexual advertisement signals are frequently produced repeatedly through time and are composed of constituent parts (e.g., notes and pulses) that are repeated within signals. Inconsistent signal production within individuals has the potential to mask between-individual differences that are often the target of receiver decision-making. In this study of Cope's gray treefrog, Hyla chrysoscelis, we tested the hypothesis that ambient noise and inconsistent signaling, both independently and synergistically, impair discrimination of species identity. We assayed female discrimination based on pulse rate, a signal of species identity, in quiet and at three levels of ambient noise designed to simulate a breeding chorus. We used synthetic advertisement calls that were invariant or generated with one of three experimental levels of inconsistency in pulse rate, chosen based on levels of withinindividual variation observed in natural calls. Pulse rate discrimination was impaired by average and above-average levels of chorus noise, but not by inconsistency in signal production. Receivers spent slightly more time making decisions at the highest level of chorus noise, but response latencies were unaffected by inconsistency. There was no evidence of synergism between ambient noise and inconsistency. Our results suggest that ambient noise, but not inconsistency in signal production, may limit sexual selection on a signal of species identity in natural settings.

Keywords: acoustic communication, anuran, mate choice, noise, sexual selection, signaling, species recognition, within-individual variation

INTRODUCTION

"Noise" refers to any factor that causes signal detection or discrimination errors (Shannon, 1948; Brumm and Slabbekoorn, 2005; Wiley, 2015). As such, noise is a potent source of selection on animal communication systems (Brumm, 2013), particularly on acoustic signals and auditory perception (Brumm and Slabbekoorn, 2005). The potency of noise stems from its ability to impair receiver decisions with critical impacts on evolutionary fitness, such as mate choice, that depend on recognizing and discriminating among signals. Many acoustically communicating species, for example, produce high amplitude signals and breed in dense social aggregations, where the ambient noise generated by the sounds of conspecific and heterospecific signalers is an important aspect of the acoustic environment in which mate choice occurs (Gerhardt and Huber, 2002; Brumm and Slabbekoorn, 2005). In some frog and insect communication systems, for example, the ambient noise in breeding choruses is known to impede signal recognition and signal discriminability on the basis of temporal and spectral properties (Wollerman and Wiley, 2002; Bee, 2008a; Vélez and Bee, 2011; Römer, 2013; Ward et al., 2013a; Reichert and Ronacher, 2015; Lee et al., 2017; Tanner and Bee, 2019, 2020). Consequently, ambient noise can affect the strength and direction of sexual selection imposed by receivers on signalers by limiting female preference expression.

While the impacts of biotic, abiotic, and anthropogenic sources of ambient noise are increasingly recognized (Römer, 2013; Reichert and Ronacher, 2015; Wiley, 2015; Slabbekoorn et al., 2018; Dominoni et al., 2020), other potential sources of noise in animal communication are rarely explored. One such source is inconsistency in signal production (Gerhardt and Watson, 1995; Nehring et al., 2013; Tanner and Bee, 2019, 2020). In some systems, the degree of consistency in signal production might itself function as a signal if consistent motor performance is a reliable indicator of mate quality (Ballentine, 2009; Byers et al., 2010). However, inconsistent signal production is also an important source of noise to consider. As Nehring et al. (2013) note, when "intra-individual variation does not convey any information that is useful for the receiver, it is noise, since it potentially makes it harder for the receiver to identify and interpret the information" (p. 378). Noise in signal production is particularly important in the context of mate choice because it has potential to obscure the between-individual differences that are frequently considered the targets of mate selection by receivers (Gerhardt and Watson, 1995; Tanner and Bee, 2019, 2020). Acoustic signals, for example, are typically produced repeatedly during sexual advertisement or courtship and also comprise repeated constituent elements, such as pulses or notes, that are not produced identically upon every iteration. Substantial inconsistency in signal production, even over short time intervals such as a single bout of signaling, has been widely reported in diverse taxa (e.g., orthopterans, Shaw and Herlihy, 2000; fish, Amorim and Vasconcelos, 2008; anurans, Gerhardt, 1991; reptiles, Crews, 1975; mammals, Mitani and Brandt, 1994). Despite widespread documentation of inconsistent signal production, and the comparative wealth of data demonstrating

female preferences with regard to between-individual differences, few studies have investigated if and how inconsistent signaling affects signal recognition and discriminability either using simulations (Lengagne et al., 2016) or empirically (Gerhardt and Watson, 1995; Tanner and Bee, 2019, 2020). Even fewer studies have investigated the potential interaction between ambient noise and inconsistent signaling. One likely reason for the dearth of previous work on inconsistent signaling is the historical primacy of investigating the criteria that receivers use to discriminate among signalers using experimental stimuli designed explicitly to remove natural levels of within-individual variation in signal production as a potential experimental confound.

Variation in advertisement call traits within and among males, and associated female preferences, have been particularly wellstudied in North American treefrogs (Hylidae) (Gerhardt, 2001; Gerhardt and Huber, 2002), such as Cope's gray treefrog (Hyla chrysoscelis) (Gerhardt and Doherty, 1988; Gerhardt, 2001, 2008; Bush et al., 2002; Bee, 2008b; Ward et al., 2013b; Tanner et al., 2017). We recently showed that both ambient chorus noise and inconsistent signaling impair the ability of female H. chrysoscelis to discriminate among potential mates based on differences in their rate of call production ("call rate") (Tanner and Bee, 2020), a potential non-arbitrary signal of *male quality* due to the high metabolic cost of signaling (Taigen and Wells, 1985). In the present study, we investigated the effects of ambient chorus noise and inconsistent signaling on the ability of female H. chrysoscelis to discriminate among potential mates based on a signal of species identity. Male H. chrysoscelis produce advertisement calls that consist of a series of repeated constituent elements, that is, a sequence of about 12 to 43 sound pulses generated via independent contractions of the body wall (McLister et al., 1995; Girgenrath and Marsh, 1997). Based on analyses of 1000 calls (20 calls/male; 50 males) the temperature-corrected (20°C) mean rate of pulse production within individual calls was 48.8 pulses per second [pps], and across males in the population, temperature-corrected mean pulse rates ranged between 41 and 64 pps (Ward et al., 2013b). Female H. chrysoscelis rely upon pulse rate to distinguish between conspecific males and males of the closely related eastern gray treefrog (Hyla versicolor), a cryptic, tetraploid sister species that breeds syntopically across their shared range (Bush et al., 2002; Schul and Bush, 2002). Males of *H. versicolor* produce an acoustically similar call with a slower temperature-corrected (20°C) mean pulse rate of 21.5 pps (based on analyses of 368 calls from 13 males; 14 to 58 calls/male) (Ward et al., 2013b). Across males in the population, the temperaturecorrected mean pulse rate of H. versicolor calls ranged between 17 and 35 pps. Female H. chrysoscelis reject calls with pulse rates substantially lower or higher than the species typical rate (Bush et al., 2002; Gerhardt, 2008; Ward et al., 2013a). Within the natural range of variation in conspecific pulse rates, females have directional preferences for faster pulse rates (Bush et al., 2002; Tanner et al., 2017). Mismating with H. versicolor is costly because resulting offspring are sterile triploids (Gerhardt et al., 1994; Tucker and Gerhardt, 2012).

Previous studies of *H. chrysoscelis* have measured the extent of within-individual variation in pulse rates (Ward et al., 2013b) and established that inconsistency does not signal body condition or size (Tanner and Bee, 2019) and thus potentially acts as a source of noise in the communication channel in that it could obscure receiver estimates of meaningful call characteristics. Furthermore, while female H. chrysoscelis have preferences for more consistent (less variable) call rates, they do not discriminate among signals on the basis of inconsistency in pulse rate alone (Tanner and Bee, 2019). Here, we tested the hypothesis that ambient noise and inconsistent signaling, both independently and synergistically, impair the expression of female preferences for the pulse rates of male advertisement calls. Female preference functions were assayed across a biologically relevant range of mean pulse rates using two-alternative choice tests in which subjects were able to choose between two sequences of synthetic calls that simulated two calling males. Realistic levels of pulse rate inconsistency were introduced in both sequences by manipulating the within-individual coefficient of variation (CV_w) in this call property. We performed the experiment in quiet and at three levels of ambient noise designed to reflect variation in the background noise levels of gray treefrog choruses. We predicted that high levels of both ambient noise and inconsistency would impair signal discrimination on the basis of differences in mean pulse rate, and that a synergistic effect of both noise sources would further impair pulse rate discrimination. We further predicted that response latencies would increase in noisy conditions and when subjects discriminated between highly inconsistent and more similar pulse rates because, in these difficult discrimination tasks, subjects might benefit from increased assessment times.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Subjects

Subjects were 289 gravid female H. chrysoscelis of the western mtDNA lineage (Ptacek et al., 1994) captured in amplexus. Amplectant pairs were collected by hand at night (2200-0200) during the breeding season (mid-May to early July) in 2015, 2016, and 2017. Gravid female treefrogs collected in amplexus are as discriminating as those captured prior to pair formation (Murphy and Gerhardt, 1996). Capture sites were located in east-central Minnesota and included Carver Park Reserve (44.52490, -93.43031; Carver County), Richardson Nature Center (44.84214, -93.37148; Hennepin County), Crow-Hassan Park Reserve (45.19471, -93.65368; Hennepin County), and Lake Maria State Park (45.32012, -93.94389; Wright County). Treefrog pairs were housed in plastic containers that were labeled with unique ID numbers and taken to the laboratory, where the frogs were placed in aged tap water and maintained at approximately 2-4°C for up to 36 h to delay the deposition of eggs. Prior to testing, we placed each pair in room-temperature aged tap water inside a temperature-controlled incubator at 20°C for at least 30 min, until they reached a body temperature of 20 \pm 1°C. In empirical studies of pulse rate discrimination, temperature control is essential because male signal production and female mating preferences are temperature dependent (Gerhardt, 1978; Gerhardt and Huber, 2002). We released all treefrogs at their original capture sites within 3 days of collection.

The subjects were not marked. Because females probably breed only once or at most twice during the relatively short breeding season in Minnesota (Ritke et al., 1990), and because we collected frogs from multiple, large wetlands over multiple years, the risk of recapturing the same individuals, and associated risk of pseudoreplication, is very low. We chose to tolerate this small risk of unknowingly testing the same individual twice rather than subjecting each individual to invasive marking procedures that carry some risk to the animals (e.g., toe-clipping) and typically do not last multiple years.

Acoustic Stimuli

We generated synthetic treefrog calls and ambient noise de novo using custom scripts in MATLAB® versions 2015a and 2016a (The Mathworks, Natick, MA, United States). All stimuli were generated at a sample rate of 44.1 kHz and a bit-depth of 16. Each of the two stimuli generated for a given two-alternative choice test consisted of a sequence of synthetic calls that simulated a male treefrog producing an advertisement call at a constant rate. A total of 1,820 unique stimuli were used in our phonotaxis tests, and no call sequence was assigned to more than one subject. We modeled the stimuli after natural advertisement calls produced by Cope's gray treefrogs in east-central Minnesota, using the mean trait values published in Ward et al. (2013b) to set the values of all call traits not under consideration. Calls comprised 30 pulses with a constant, 50% pulse duty cycle. We manipulated the mean pulse rates of calls and the within-individual variation in pulse rate across the calls in a given call sequence. Within each call, pulse duration and interpulse interval were equal and determined as functions of the experimentally determined pulse rate and the fixed 50% pulse duty cycle. Call duration was always fixed in terms of the number of pulses per call (30 pulses), but the absolute duration of each call, measured in milliseconds, was allowed to vary as necessary to accommodate different pulse rates (the study-wide slowest pulse rate of 31.68 pps yielded a call duration of 931.2 ms; the study-wide fastest pulse rate of 54.19 pps yielded a call duration of 544.4 ms). Individual pulses were constructed by adding two phase-locked sinusoids with frequency components at 1,250 Hz (-11 dB) and 2,500 Hz (0 dB) and the amplitude envelope of each pulse was shaped with species-typical onsets and offsets that were fixed proportions (0.36 and 0.64, respectively) of pulse duration. The amplitude envelope of each call was given a linear onset over the first 50 ms. Stimuli were played back at 85 dB (SPL re 20 µPa, fast RMS, C-weighted), measured at a distance of 1 m, to approximate the level of a natural call (Gerhardt, 1975). Previous studies have demonstrated that females respond readily in choice tests with similarly designed synthetic stimuli and playback methodology (Ward et al., 2013b; Tanner et al., 2017; Tanner and Bee, 2019).

We generated ambient, "chorus-shaped" noise by filtering white noise to have the average long-term spectral characteristics of a gray treefrog chorus following the procedures outlined in Vélez and Bee (2011). To ensure any effects of chorus-shaped noise were not artifacts of a particular realization of a randomly generated stimulus, we replicated the noise files (N = 34). No more than ten subjects were assigned the same noise replicate. We generated the noise replicates at a sample rate of 11.025 kHz and then upsampled to 44.1 kHz; this was done to circumvent limited computing power during stimulus construction.

Experimental Design

We used a series of two-alternative choice tests to measure the shapes of female preference functions for pulse rate in the presence of ambient noise and signal inconsistency. Stimuli consisting of sequences of calls were constructed by randomly drawing a value for the pulse rate of each consecutive call within a sequence from a normal distribution having a mean and standard deviation that were specified to allow us to manipulate both mean pulse rate and inconsistency in pulse rate across treatments. The means of separate distributions were centered on pulse rates that were either -3, -2, or -1, or 0 SD from the population mean, generating nominal mean pulse rates of 35.6, 40.0, or 44.4, and 48.8 pps, respectively. We assayed female preferences between -3 and 0 standard deviations of the population mean pulse rate because, as noted previously, female H. chrysoscelis use pulse rate to discriminate between conspecific and heterospecific males (Schul and Bush, 2002). Males of the closely related H. versicolor produce acoustically similar calls with slower pulse rates and female H. chrysoscelis discriminate against slower-than-average conspecific pulse rates (Gerhardt et al., 1994; Bush et al., 2002; Ward et al., 2013a; Tanner et al., 2017). Note that a value of -2 SD (40.0 pps) corresponds to the lower end of the range of variation in conspecific (H. chrysoscelis) pulse rates (adjusted to 20° C), whereas -3 SD (35.6 pps) falls outside the range of conspecific pulse rates but approximates the upper end of the range of variation in heterospecific (H. versicolor) pulse rates (adjusted to 20°C).

To investigate the impacts of ambient noise, we replicated all two-alternative choice tests in quiet and at three levels of ambient noise (60, 70, and 80 dB SPL). In the quiet condition, no noise was broadcast. The three levels of broadcast ambient noise were chosen to approximate the mean (70 dB SPL) and ± 1 SD (10 dB) of the sound pressure levels of background noise measured in east-central Minnesota gray treefrog choruses (Tanner and Bee, 2019).

We manipulated inconsistency in pulse rate by controlling in our synthetic signals the within-individual coefficient of variation in this property across calls within a sequence simulating a calling male ($CV_w = SD/\bar{X}$). That is, the pulse rate of each individual call within a stimulus sequence was fixed, but pulse rate was allowed to vary across calls within a sequence. In addition to calls that were invariant within a sequence (CVw = 0.000), we chose three *nominal* levels of within-individual (i.e., within-sequence) variation ($CV_w = 0.004$, 0.010, 0.030; Figure 1) to match the minimum, mean, and maximum CV_w previously measured in the population (Ward et al., 2013b). These population estimates of pulse rate inconsistency are based on analyses of single call bouts comprising 20 consecutively produced calls from each of 50 males (1,000 calls total); the average 20-call bout lasted 133.5 s (range: 70.4-291.3 s) (Ward et al., 2013b). To introduce realistic levels of inconsistency in pulse rate into our stimuli, we manipulated the standard deviation of the normal distributions centered on each target mean pulse rate to achieve the three desired levels of CV_w for each mean pulse rate. Hence, the pulse rates of

consecutive calls in each sequence were independently chosen from a distribution that allowed pulse rate to vary inconsistently according to the nominal level of CV_w around the specified nominal mean pulse rate of the stimulus (see **Figures 1A,B**). Higher levels of inconsistency (larger CV_w) correspond to broader normal distributions and thus generated more variable synthetic signals. To ensure that randomly chosen pulse rates fell within a behaviorally relevant range, we excluded pulse rate values that were higher than the fastest *H. chrysoscelis* pulse rate reported in Ward et al. (2013b) or lower than three standard deviations slower than the mean *H. versicolor* pulse rate.

We designated separate experimental and control treatment groups. For subjects in the experimental group, we measured how female preferences for pulse rates at the population mean (48.8 pps) over slower pulse rates changed in the presence of ambient noise and inconsistency using a $3 \times 4 \times 4$ factorial design in which we manipulated the mean pulse rate of the slower alternative stimulus (PR = 35.6 [-3 SD], 40.0 [-2 SD], 44.4 pps [-1 SD]; within subjects), ambient noise levels (quiet, 60, 70, and 80 dB SPL; within subjects), and levels of inconsistency $(CV_w = 0.000, 0.004, 0.010, 0.030;$ between subjects). Thus, each subject in the experimental group was assigned to a single level of inconsistency and tested in up to 12 behavioral trials $(N_{\text{subjects}} = 246; N_{\text{trials}} = 2,641)$ in which the choice was between two equally inconsistent signals with different mean pulse rates (i.e., population mean versus -3, -2, or -1 SD) across four levels of ambient noise. Subjects in the control group ($N_{\text{subjects}} = 43$; $N_{\text{trials}} = 657$) chose between two signals with equal nominal mean pulse rates set at the population mean of 48.8 pps (i.e., population mean versus -0 SD) across all 16 factorial combinations of ambient noise (quiet, 60, 70, and 80 dB SPL; within subjects) and inconsistency ($CV_w = 0.000, 0.004, 0.010, 0.030$; within subjects).

It is important to note that for both treatment groups, the two alternative stimuli in a given choice test *always* had the same experimentally specified, nominal level of inconsistency. Hence, all subjects in both treatment groups chose between two equally inconsistent alternatives; subjects in the experimental group were given choices of stimuli having different nominal mean pulse rates, whereas subjects in the control group chose between two stimuli with the same nominal mean pulse rate of 48.8 pps.

Testing Protocol

We conducted choice tests in a custom-built, temperature controlled, semi-anechoic chamber (2.8 m \times 2.3 m \times 2.1 m, length \times width \times height; IAC Acoustics, North Aurora, IL, United States) at 20 \pm 1°C. The chamber walls and ceiling were acoustically insulated and covered in dark gray, perforated material (IAC PlanarchoicTM panel system). The floor was covered with dark gray, low-pile carpet. The testing arena was circular (2.0 m \times 0.6 m, diameter \times height) and constructed from hardware cloth covered with black fabric. We placed an acoustically transparent release cage (9 cm \times 2 cm, diameter \times height) on the floor in the center of the arena. The cage could be operated by means of a rope-and-pulley system by an observer outside the chamber. We used two Mod1 Orb speakers (Orb Audio, New York, NY, United States) for



FIGURE 1 Relationships between realized and nominal trait values in experimental stimuli. Nominal values represent experimentally specified levels while realized values reflect averages among the stimuli that were heard by the subject in each trial. The trait values of individual calls in stimuli with higher assigned CV_w were drawn from broader distributions, making these stimuli more variable. (A) Random draws from normal distributions representing the population mean (light gray) and -2 SD (dark gray) distributions used to generate two alternative signal sequences (waveforms) for a single behavioral trial. Equations (top) demonstrate the computation of realized mean pulse rate and realized CV_w for a given sequence. (B) Waveforms of five representative calls with randomly drawn pulse rates (*i* to *i* + 4) from a representative stimulus sequence whose nominal mean pulse rate was 0 SD (48.8 pps) in the CV_w = 0.030 inconsistency level. The 20th pulse in each call is highlighted in gray to aid in visualizing the variable pulse rate across calls. (C) Violin plots show the distributions of realized alternative pulse rates in experimental stimuli grouped by nominal mean pulse rate. Subjects assigned to the experimental group were given a choice between a stimulus whose nominal mean pulse rate matched the population mean of 48.8 pps (Mean) and an alternative stimuli whose nominal mean pulse rates matched the population mean (i.e., Mean versus -0 SD). Text annotations show the sample size, in number of tests, at each combination of nominal mean pulse rate and coefficient of variation within stimuli (CV_w). Because in each test subjects across both groups chose between a stimulus with a mean pulse rate (Mean) and one whose pulse rate was -3, -2, -1, or -0 SD from the mean, the sample sizes of the Mean alternative are necessarily sums of the other four tests performed at the same nominal level of within-individual variation. (D) Distributions of realized CV_w across three nominal levels of within-in

sound playback. We positioned the two speakers 90° apart on the floor outside the arena wall. Phonotaxis trials were conducted under infrared light (Tracksys, Ltd., Nottingham, United Kingdom) and scored in real time by a trained observer

from outside the chamber by means of a closed-circuit television system with an infrared-sensitive video camera (Panasonic WV-BP334; Panasonic Corporation of North America, Secaucus, NJ, United States) mounted from the chamber ceiling.



FIGURE 2 Pulse rate preference function in quiet conditions and the absence of inconsistency ($CV_w = 0$). Subjects chose between a stimulus whose nominal mean pulse rate was equal to the population mean (0 SD = 48.8 pps) and a stimulus whose nominal mean pulse rate was 0, 1, 2, or 3 SD slower (48.8, 44.4, 40.0, or 35.6 pps, respectively). The proportion choosing the faster realized mean pulse rate declined as the two alternative pulse rates became more similar. Individual points show the proportion of tests in which subjects chose the faster stimulus calculated across all tests with the same nominal mean pulse rate. The solid black line shows the logistic regression line of best fit with gray shading illustrating standard error. The faster pulse rate by chance. The error bars show 95% Clopper–Pearson ("exact binomial") confidence intervals.

Synthetic signals and ambient noise were broadcast using Adobe Audition 3.0 (Adobe Systems, Inc., San Jose, CA, United States) on a Dell Optiplex 980 PC (Dell Computer Corporation, Round Rock, TX, United States). We output audio using a MOTU model 16A 16-channel sound card (MOTU, Inc., Cambridge, MA, United States) and amplified it using Crown XLS1000 High-Density Power Amplifiers (HARMAN Professional, Northridge, CA, United States). We calibrated sounds to their target SPLs using a Bruël and Kjær Type 4950 microphone (Bruël and Kjær, Nærum, Denmark) placed 1 m from the speaker at the approximate position of a subject's head at the beginning of a choice test. Signals and noise were broadcast from the same speaker (co-located). In a given choice test, we broadcast the same noise replicate from both speakers simultaneously and calibrated the playback level of the ambient noise with the microphone pointed directly between the speakers such that noise from both sides contributed equally to the summed SPL.

To prevent side bias and control for presentation order, we randomized for each subject which signal was played first during a choice test, the order in which tests were conducted, and which speaker played the stimulus with the nominally slower pulse rate. For subjects in the control group, we arbitrarily labeled the two nominally equivalent stimuli and then randomized the playback speaker. At the beginning of a choice test, we separated the subject from her mate and placed her in the release cage. We allowed each subject to acclimate in the quiet chamber for 60 s. At the end of the acclimation period, we began playback. When ambient noise was present, the noise began first and played for 30 s prior to the broadcast of signals. When ambient noise was absent, silence continued for a further 30 s to ensure subjects spent the same amount of time in the release cage at the beginning of each test, regardless of the ambient noise condition. The two alternative signals were played back in an alternating and non-overlapping temporal arrangement and spaced such that there was an equal period of silence before and after each call.

When the two alternating signals had each played twice, the lid of the release cage was lifted, and the subject was allowed to move freely within the arena. Tests continued until one of the following conditions was met: (1) the subject indicated a choice by entering a response zone defined as a 10 cm radius semi-circle in front of a playback speaker; (2) the subject touched the arena wall in the quadrant of the arena opposite to the quadrant separating the two playback speakers; (3) at the end of 3 min following the lifting of the lid, the subject had not left the release cage; or (4) at the end of 5 min, the subject had not entered a response zone.

We recorded the subject's binary choice and her latency to respond, measured as the time elapsed between release from the cage and entering a response zone. Female treefrogs usually make mating decisions in 1-3 min (Schwartz et al., 2004; Tanner et al., 2017); the mean response latency across all subjects in the present study was 88.0 \pm 50.8 s. This corresponds closely to the duration of the individual calling bouts over which inconsistency in pulse rate was determined by Ward et al. (2013b). Between tests, subjects were housed with their mates and returned to the incubator for a "time out" of at least 3 min. When a choice was not indicated within 5 min, the outcome of the test was scored as "no response" and following a time out, the subject was retested in the same test. Subjects that scored no response twice for the same test (51 of 246 subjects in the experimental group and 4 of 49 subjects in the control group) were not tested further, but we included their responses from completed tests in our statistical analyses. On average, subjects that did not complete the entire battery of tests completed 6 of 12 tests (range 1 to 11) in the experimental group and 8 of 16 tests (range 2-12) in the control group. Responses from the two groups were combined for statistical analyses.

Statistical Analysis

Experimental stimuli had trait values drawn from normal distributions and were therefore intrinsically variable and dependent on the response latency of the subjects (**Figure 1**). In trials in which subjects listened longer before indicating a choice, *realized* mean pulse rates and *realized* levels of inconsistency more closely matched the *nominal* levels specified by our experimental design. It was therefore necessary to account for the trait values of experimental stimuli that were actually experienced by a given subject during a given trial. Otherwise, stochastic deviations from the nominal pulse rate and CV_w specified by our treatment levels would introduce error into analyses. To account for the trait values subjects actually experienced, we performed a *post hoc* calculation of the realized mean pulse rate and CV_w in the sequence of signals experienced by the subject

during the trial (**Figure 1**). We used the response latency to exclude calls from each sequence that the subject did not hear (i.e., that did not occur) between the beginning of playback and indicating a choice. We then calculated the average CV_w as the arithmetic mean of the realized CV_w values computed for the two alternative stimuli in each test. We did this to reduce the dimensionality of predictor variables. Because both stimuli in a given test always had the same nominal level of inconsistency, across the experiment we observed that the mean difference between the realized CV_w values for the two alternative stimuli in a given choice test was very small (9.07 $\times 10^{-5}$; 95% of differences fell in the interval [-6.04×10^{-5} , 2.42×10^{-4}]; range [-2.74×10^{-2} , 2.58×10^{-2}]).

We fit two generalized estimating equation (GEE) models to examine female preference functions based on two response variables: binary choices (the probability that a subject chose the stimulus with the faster pulse rate) and response latencies (time elapsed prior to making a choice). GEE is an extension of generalized linear models (GLM) compatible with either binary or continuous response variables and designed for repeated measures of the same individual (Hardin and Hilbe, 2012). We specified exchangeable correlation structures, which assume that correlations between observations of the same subject are homogenous. Wald statistics with a significance criterion of $\alpha = 0.05$ were used for hypothesis testing. In each model, we included the following independent variables: main effects of the realized mean pulse rate of the stimulus with the slower pulse rate, average realized CV_w, and ambient noise level, and all two-way interactions.

RESULTS

Within the range of pulse rates tested, subjects showed pronounced preferences for calls with realized mean pulse rates (hereafter, "pulse rate") near the population mean over calls with slower pulse rates, but were less likely to choose the faster pulse rate when the two alternatives had similar rates ($\beta = -0.288$, W = 85.90, p < 0.001; Figure 2 and Table 1). The probability of choosing the population mean pulse rate over a slower alternative was 0.770 in two-choice tests overall (2,540 of 3,298 tests) and 0.819 in tests performed in quiet with invariant stimuli (186 of 227 tests). Subjects were most likely to choose the population mean pulse rate when the pulse rate of the alternative was much slower (Figure 2); in tests with a nominal pulse rate of 35.6 pps (-3 SD), for example, subjects chose the faster, population-mean pulse rate with probability 0.946 (827 of 874 tests; Figure 2). Results from the control group confirmed that playback speaker assignment (and thus side of the testing arena) did not affect the outcome of trials (GEE: $\beta = -0.077$, W = 0.04, p = 0.840), suggesting no side bias was present in our experimental set-up.

Ambient noise presented at the highest experimental level impaired female expression of pulse rate preferences (**Figures 3A,B** and **Table 1**). Subjects were significantly less likely to choose the faster, population-mean pulse rate in the 80-dB condition (probability 0.723; 581 of 803 tests; $\beta = -5.187$, W = 13.85, p < 0.001) than in quiet (probability 0.795; 662

of 833 tests). There was a significant two-way interaction between the pulse rate of the slower stimulus and the highest level of ambient noise ($\beta = 0.107$, W = 12.02, P < 0.001), such that female preference functions for pulse rate were less steep when measured in the presence of ambient noise at 80 dB. In contrast, the level of inconsistency in the two alternative stimuli, measured as the average realized CVw, had no effect on the probability that subjects chose the stimulus with the population-mean pulse rate ($\beta = -65.351$, W = 1.66, p = 0.197; Figure 3B). Subjects chose the population-mean pulse rate with probability 0.793 in tests with perfectly consistent stimuli, compared to 0.744 (CVw = 0.004), 0.768 (CVw = 0.010), and 0.771 (CV_w = 0.030) in tests using calls with inconsistent pulse rates (Supplementary Figure S1). Inconsistency and ambient noise did not interact synergistically to affect the probability of choosing the faster pulse rate (Table 1 and Supplementary Figure S2).

The mean $(\pm SD)$ response latency across all trials was 88.0 ± 50.8 s (range 6–300 s). Response latency modestly increased as a function of the pulse rate of the slower stimulus $(\beta = 1.156, W = 9.27, p = 0.002;$ Figure 3C), such that on average, subjects spent longer making decisions when two alternatives had more similar pulse rates. When tests were performed in quiet with perfectly consistent signals, mean response latencies were $81.9 \pm 40.6, 87.0 \pm 47.9, 87.3 \pm 48.3, and 94.0 \pm 54.3$ s when the nominal pulse rate of the designated slower alternative was 35.6 (-3 SD), 40.0 (-2 SD), 44.4 (-1 SD), and 48.8 (0 SD) pps, respectively. Accounting for the pulse rate of the slower alternative and inconsistency, ambient noise at both 70 dB $(\beta = 58.235, W = 9.90, p = 0.002)$ and 80 dB ($\beta = 88.897$, W = 15.21, p < 0.001) significantly increased response latencies, such that subjects spent more time making decisions when listening in population-mean and above-average noise levels. The pulse rate of the slower stimulus interacted significantly with ambient noise at both 70 dB ($\beta = -1.530$, W = 12.29, p < 0.001) and 80 dB ($\beta = -1.888$, W = 12.19, p < 0.001) such that the effect of the slower mean pulse rate was reversed at these levels of ambient noise relative to the quiet and 60 dB conditions (Figure 3C). There was no significant effect of inconsistency on response latency ($\beta = 327.596$, W = 0.21, p = 0.649; **Figure 3D**). Mean response latencies were 89.2 \pm 46.3 s (CV_w = 0.000), 89.6 \pm 55.2 s (CV_w = 0.004), 87.7 \pm 52.3 s $(CV_w = 0.010)$, and 85.6 \pm 49.9 s $(CV_w = 0.030)$ within nominal levels of inconsistency. Inconsistency and ambient noise did not interact synergistically to affect the latency to respond (Table 1).

DISCUSSION

We examined the impact of ambient noise and inconsistent signal production on species recognition by female Cope's gray treefrogs. Our main results can be summarized as follows. Consistent with earlier studies, we found pronounced directional preferences for the population-mean pulse rate over slower pulse rates (Gerhardt, 2008; Ward et al., 2013a; Tanner et al., 2017). In general, subjects discriminated reliably between signals on **TABLE 1** Output from two GEE models – one for the proportion of subjects choosing the population mean pulse rate over a slower pulse rate and one for response latency – examining the effects of the realized mean pulse rate (PR) of the slower pulse rate stimulus, arithmetic mean of the realized coefficients of variation in the two alternative stimuli (CV_w), and ambient noise level (Noise), including all two-way interactions ($N_{subjects} = 289$, $N_{trials} = 3,298$).

Response variable	Term	Estimate	Standard error	Wald statistic	Р
P(Chose faster alternative)	Intercept	13.954	1.420	96.61	<0.001
	PR	-0.288	0.031	85.90	<0.001
	CVw	-65.351	50.696	1.66	0.197
	Noise at 60 dB	1.430	1.491	0.92	0.338
	Noise at 70 dB	-1.336	1.381	0.94	0.333
	Noise at 80 dB	-5.187	1.394	13.85	<0.001
	PR * CV _w	1.321	1.107	1.42	0.233
	CV_w * Noise at 60 dB	3.401	9.998	0.12	0.734
	CV_w * Noise at 70 dB	16.102	9.946	2.62	0.105
	CVw * Noise at 80 dB	2.672	10.852	0.06	0.805
	PR * Noise at 60 dB	-0.033	0.033	1.01	0.315
	PR * Noise at 70 dB	0.021	0.030	0.48	0.488
	PR * Noise at 80 dB	0.107	0.031	12.02	0.001
Response latency	Intercept	40.239	15.632	6.63	0.010
	PR	1.156	0.380	9.27	0.002
	CVw	327.596	719.170	0.21	0.649
	Noise at 60 dB	7.557	19.474	0.15	0.698
	Noise at 70 dB	58.235	18.506	9.90	0.002
	Noise at 80 dB	88.897	22.791	15.21	<0.001
	PR * CV _w	-7.158	15.646	0.21	0.647
	CV_w * Noise at 60 dB	-69.087	150.782	0.21	0.647
	CV_w * Noise at 70 dB	156.150	154.751	1.02	0.313
	CV _w * Noise at 80 dB	-59.859	232.372	0.07	0.797
	PR * Noise at 60 dB	-0.190	0.481	0.16	0.694
	PR * Noise at 70 dB	-1.530	0.436	12.29	<0.001
	PR * Noise at 80 dB	-1.888	0.541	12.19	<0.001

Significant model terms are shown in bold.

the basis of pulse rate, reflecting the robust nature of species recognition mechanisms in gray treefrogs. Consistent with our hypothesis, however, natural levels of ambient noise simulating a gray treefrog chorus had significant impacts on mate choice. Specifically, discrimination against slower-than-average pulse rates was reduced, and subjects spent longer making mating decisions, in high levels of ambient noise. In stark contrast to our hypothesis, inconsistency in signal production had no measurable effects on pulse rate discrimination, and it did not interact synergistically with ambient noise.

Ambient Noise

While mate choice was unaffected by noise presented at the lowest level, ambient noise presented at a high amplitude caused females to choose the slower, non-preferred signal more often than they did in quiet. In nature, the sound levels of gray treefrog choruses can be highly variable from one night to the next (Tanner and Bee, 2019) and the extent of the masking effect of ambient noise experienced by receivers is also variable according to the spatial relationship between the target signal and the noise source (Bee, 2007, 2008a; Nityananda and Bee, 2012; Ward et al., 2013a; Caldwell et al., 2016). Thus, both night-to-night and spatial variation in the intensity of selection imposed on males and signals by treefrog receivers are to be expected. As a population-level consequence, selection on pulse rate may be less intense than estimates made in quiet listening conditions (e.g., Tanner et al., 2017) would otherwise suggest. Individual *H. chrysoscelis* receivers should be at greater risk of making pulse rate discrimination errors on nights when the chorus is better attended and, thus, noisier. Errors in pulse rate discrimination can potentially lead to errors in species recognition in this system (e.g., Bee, 2008a), which would have potentially devastating consequences, because heterospecific matings produce sterile, triploid offspring (Gerhardt et al., 1994; Servedio and Noor, 2003; Tucker and Gerhardt, 2012). Such call trait discrimination errors are also expected to result in reduced receiver fitness if specific features of the call signal mate quality (Bee, 2008b; Ward et al., 2013b; Tanner and Bee, 2020).

Response latencies were also significantly higher in the presence of high levels of ambient noise; however, the estimated increase in response latencies reported here was modest in the context of a single breeding episode. At present, it is difficult to assess the extent to which such small noise-induced increases in response latency might materially affect individuals under natural mate searching conditions. This difficulty arises, in part, because we currently lack sufficient data on female sampling strategies



FIGURE 3 | The effects of pulse rate, ambient noise, and inconsistency on receiver responses. (A) The probability of choosing the preferred, faster pulse rate declined as a function of the realized pulse rate of the slower alternative. (B) The probability of choosing the faster stimulus was not affected by the average CV_w of the two alternative stimuli. In panels (A,B), the dashed black line shows 0.5, the probability of choosing the stimulus with the faster pulse rate at random. Response latency as a function of (C) the realized pulse rate of the slower alternative and (D) the average coefficient of variation within males. In all panels, the results of individual tests are shown with pale, circular symbols. Colors and symbols shown in the legend depict mean response variables within combinations of predictors, while lines show linear model fits and error bars show standard errors. Different colors and symbols represent levels of ambient noise. Gray shading shows the distributions of experimental stimuli for each plot: realized mean alternative pulse rates are shown in panels (A,C), and average realized coefficients of variation are shown in panels (B,D).

prior to mate choice in frogs (Murphy and Gerhardt, 2002; Schwartz et al., 2004; Murphy, 2012) to definitively conclude that increases in response latency in the presence of ambient noise negatively impact females or their mating decisions under natural listening conditions. However, one viable and potentially relevant consequence of increased response latencies in the presence of ambient noise could be an increased cost of mate searching. For example, time spent searching for a mate may incur missed opportunity costs (i.e., time not spent foraging), or expose females to pond-dwelling predators (e.g., larger frogs, giant water bugs) and parasites (e.g., leeches) to which they might otherwise be less vulnerable (Crowley et al., 1991; Magnhagen, 1991; Grafe, 1997; Zuk and Kolluru, 1998; Martin and Wagner, 2010; Bonachea and Ryan, 2011; Beckers and Wagner, 2018). In addition, mate searching in natural environments may be further complicated, relative to controlled laboratory settings, by the potentially larger distances females must traverse in ponds to select a mate, the increased complexity of natural habitats, the vastly more numerous potential choices in a breeding chorus, and the fact that multicomponent advertisement signals vary along multiple behaviorally relevant dimensions at the same time (Tanner et al., 2017). Thus, the effect of chorus noise on the time spent making decisions may be more important in natural populations. It follows from Signal Detection Theory that increased listening time may serve to prevent errors in trait discrimination because receivers are, in effect, sampling from a distribution of male calls to estimate the central trait value of the signaler and listening for longer is equivalent to drawing more values from the distribution (Wiley, 2006). Consistent with this idea, female túngara frogs may increase their response latencies as the trait values of two alternative signals become increasingly similar (Bosch et al., 2000) and errors in signal discrimination become more likely. We hypothesized that longer listening times might be especially important in the presence of ambient noise when calls were inconsistent, and thus, increased sampling could result in more accurate estimates of mean pulse rates. However, we ultimately found no evidence of synergistic effects between ambient noise and inconsistency.

Overall, our findings on the effects of ambient noise add to a growing body of evidence that suggests receivers of diverse taxa sometimes fail to express well-documented mating preferences in natural soundscapes (Wollerman and Wiley, 2002; Bee and Schwartz, 2009; Bee et al., 2012; Römer, 2013; Reichert and Ronacher, 2015; Lee et al., 2017; Tanner and Bee, 2020). Ambient noise thus provides at least a partial explanation for why betweenindividual variation in sexually selected traits is maintained in spite of apparently persistent sexual selection ("the lek paradox"; Kirkpatrick and Ryan, 1991; Møller and Pomiankowski, 1993; Pomiankowski and Møller, 1995). The impacts of ambient noise on female preference expression probably also explain, at least partially, why field experiments sometimes fail to show the same sexual selection measured in laboratory studies (Sullivan and Hinshaw, 1992; Friedl, 2006; Dawson and Ryan, 2009). Such findings suggest that experiments performed under ideal listening conditions, that is, in the absence of the ambient noise that is a feature of many natural signaling contexts, may tend to overestimate the intensity of sexual selection on signals because they artificially inflate signal discriminability.

Inconsistent Signaling

Pulse rate preferences were reliably expressed in spite of natural levels of inconsistency in signal production that effectively widened the signal distributions. This key finding is not consistent with our hypothesis and stands in stark contrast with results from an earlier study showing that female preferences for faster rates of call production during a bout of signaling eroded as a function of inconsistency in signaling (Tanner and Bee, 2020). In that study, inconsistency in call rate more profoundly limited expression of female mating preferences than the betterknown effects of ambient noise. The striking difference between the impacts of inconsistency on call rate discrimination (Tanner and Bee, 2020) and those on pulse rate discrimination presented here might be explained by the different biological functions of discrimination based on differences in pulse rate versus call rate in H. chrysoscelis. Female H. chrysoscelis use pulse rate (and not call rate) to distinguish between conspecific males and males of the cryptic, tetraploid sister-species, H. versicolor (Schul

and Bush, 2002), which produce an acoustically similar call. In contrast, call rate is considered a potential non-arbitrary signal of male quality due to the high energetic costs of calling (Taigen and Wells, 1985; Wells and Taigen, 1986). Compared with mate quality assessment (i.e., call rate discrimination), species recognition (i.e., pulse rate discrimination) may generally be more robust against the impacts of inconsistent signaling because the costs of mating with the wrong species are expected to far outweigh those of mating with a low-quality conspecific (but see Pfennig, 2007).

On the other hand, the difference between the results of the present study and those of Tanner and Bee (2020) may be attributable to the differing magnitudes of inconsistency in pulse rate versus call rate in natural populations, which informed our methodology. While both experiments introduced natural levels of inconsistency, pulse rate is far less variable than call rate within individuals (Gerhardt, 1991; Ward et al., 2013b). Consequently, the distributions of signal traits with different means did not overlap in the experiment described here, which limited the opportunity for mistakes in mean trait value estimation by receivers and thus might account for the absence of effects of inconsistent pulse rates on pulse rate discrimination. A potential linkage between the biological and methodological explanations for the difference in experimental outcomes is that, given the importance of pulse rate in species recognition, past selection may have acted to minimize the level of inconsistency in this call trait. The present study was not designed to test this hypothesis; future studies could do so by incorporating experimental stimuli with levels of inconsistency that exceed the current range of natural variation. An additional factor that may have contributed to these different results is that receiver estimation of pulse rate and call rate take place over different timescales, with pulse rate potentially being estimated within the space of a single call, while call rate must be estimated by listening to multiple calls.

Within-individual variation in pulse rate may play some role in communication in this species, but if so, that role remains unknown. Tanner and Bee (2019) showed that inconsistency in pulse rate did not signal male body size or condition. In the congener Hyla avivoca, males dynamically adjust their interpulse silent intervals (and consequently, the pulse rate) to avoid overlapping pulses with calling neighbors, and females prefer calls with interdigitated pulses to calls whose pulses overlap with those of another call (Martínez-Rivera and Gerhardt, 2008). However, no similar pulse rate adjustment occurs in the gray treefrogs, H. chrysoscelis and H. versicolor (Gerhardt, 1991; Ward et al., 2013b). In recent years, there has been increasing interest in understanding the causes and consequences of various aspects of within-individual variation, including individual plasticity (Nussey et al., 2007; Rodríguez et al., 2013), persistent individual differences in behavior ("animal personality"; Dingemanse and Wolf, 2010; Dingemanse et al., 2010, 2012), and betweenindividual differences in intraindividual variability (Stamps et al., 2012). However, the interplay of within- and between-individual variation in the context of signal discrimination and mate choice remains poorly understood. Further study is needed to understand how the ubiquitous within-individual variation in communication behaviors - particularly the inconsistency in signal production that occurs within signalers – impacts receiver decision-making.

CONCLUSION

We conclude that ambient noise alters the landscape of receiver-mediated selection on signals in Cope's grav treefrog, and likely in other species that communicate in noisy social environments. We suggest that when receiver behavior is measured in quiet, simplified laboratory conditions, we are likely to overestimate the action of sexual selection in natural environments due to artificially high signal discriminability. Our data did not support the hypothesis that inconsistent production of a species recognition signal (pulse rate) acts, like ambient noise, to limit the expression of female preferences. This finding is in contrast to a similar assay performed in the same species manipulating call rate, in which female preferences were even more profoundly impacted by inconsistent signaling than by ambient noise. Thus, we note that the sources of noise that prevent expression of female preferences are variable across contexts and systems, and even between individual components of multicomponent signals (Tanner and Bee, 2020). A complete understanding of how communication systems evolve will require close examination of noise sources and their effects on receiver behavior in realistically complex environments.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are publicly available. The data can be found here: doi: 10.13020/9bem-wj63.

ETHICS STATEMENT

All procedures described herein were carried out in accordance with the principles of the Basel Declaration and the Animal Behavior Society/Association for the Study of Animal Behaviour guidelines for the ethical treatment of animals. Our procedures met all legal requirements of the United States of America and

REFERENCES

- Amorim, M. C. P., and Vasconcelos, R. O. (2008). Variability in the mating calls of the Lusitanian toadfish *Halobatrachus didactylus*: cues for potential individual recognition. *J. Fish Biol.* 73, 1267–1283. doi: 10.1111/j.1095-8649.2008.0 1974.x
- Ballentine, B. (2009). The ability to perform physically challenging songs predicts age and size in male swamp sparrows, *Melospiza georgiana*. *Anim. Behav.* 77, 973–978. doi: 10.1016/j.anbehav.2008.12.027
- Beckers, O. M., and Wagner, W. E. (2018). Males and females evolve riskier traits in populations with eavesdropping parasitoids. *Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol.* 72, 174.
- Bee, M. A. (2007). Sound source segregation in grey treefrogs: spatial release from masking by the sound of a chorus. *Anim. Behav.* 74, 549–558. doi: 10.1016/j. anbehav.2006.12.012

were approved by the University of Minnesota Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee under protocol 1701-34456A.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JT collected, curated, and analyzed the data and wrote the first draft of the manuscript. Both authors designed the experiment, secured funding, contributed to the analysis and interpretation of the data, and edited the manuscript.

FUNDING

JT was supported by a Ford Foundation Pre-Doctoral Fellowship, the National Science Foundation Graduate Research Fellowship under Grant No. 00039202, and an National Science Foundation Postdoctoral Research Fellowship in Biology (1811930). This work was funded by an Animal Behavior Society Student Research Grant and a Joyce Davenport Fellowship in Natural History through the Bell Museum of Natural History to JT, and National Science Foundation grant IOS-1452831 to MB.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank J. Dewey, M. Elson, A. Hartman, and other members of the Bee lab 2015–2017 for help collecting treefrogs and conducting behavioral trials. We thank H. Brumm, H. C. Gerhardt, G. Klump, and J. Schul for helpful discussions about this work. The Three Rivers Park District, Minnesota State Parks, Ramsey County, and the Minnesota Department of Natural Resources granted access to field sites.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fevo.2020.00256/ full#supplementary-material

- Bee, M. A. (2008a). Finding a mate at a cocktail party: spatial release from masking improves acoustic mate recognition in grey treefrogs. *Anim. Behav.* 75, 1781–1791. doi: 10.1016/j.anbehav.2007.10.032
- Bee, M. A. (2008b). Parallel female preferences for call duration in a diploid ancestor of an allotetraploid treefrog. *Anim. Behav.* 76, 845–853. doi: 10.1016/ j.anbehav.2008.01.029
- Bee, M. A., and Schwartz, J. J. (2009). Behavioral measures of signal recognition thresholds in frogs in the presence and absence of chorus-shaped noise. J. Acoust. Soc. Am. 126, 2788–2801. doi: 10.1121/1.3224707
- Bee, M. A., Vélez, A., and Forester, J. D. (2012). Sound level discrimination by gray treefrogs in the presence and absence of chorus-shaped noise. J. Acoust. Soc. Am. 131:4188. doi: 10.1121/1.3699271
- Bonachea, L. A., and Ryan, M. J. (2011). Localization error and search costs during mate choice in Túngara Frogs, *Physalaemus pustulosus. Ethology* 117, 56–62. doi: 10.1111/j.1439-0310.2010.01843.x

- Bosch, J., Rand, A. S., and Ryan, M. J. (2000). Signal variation and call preferences for whine frequency in the túngara frog, *Physalaemus pustulosus. Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol.* 49, 62–66. doi: 10.1007/s002650000280
- Brumm, H. (ed.) (2013). Animal Communication, and Noise. Berlin: Springer-Verlag.
- Brumm, H., and Slabbekoorn, H. (2005). Acoustic communication in noise. Adv. Study Behav. 35, 151–209.
- Bush, S. L., Gerhardt, H. C., and Schul, J. (2002). Pattern recognition and call preferences in treefrogs (Anura: Hylidae): a quantitative analysis using a no-choice paradigm. *Anim. Behav.* 63, 7–14. doi: 10.1006/anbe.2001. 1880
- Byers, J., Hebets, E., and Podos, J. (2010). Female mate choice based upon male motor performance. *Anim. Behav.* 79, 771–778. doi: 10.1016/j.anbehav.2010. 01.009
- Caldwell, M. S., Lee, N., and Bee, M. A. (2016). Inherent directionality determines spatial release from masking at the tympanum in a vertebrate with internally coupled ears. J. Assoc. Res. Otolaryngol. 17, 259–270. doi: 10.1007/s10162-016-0568-6
- Crews, D. (1975). Inter- and intraindividual variation in display patterns in the lizard, *Anolis carolinensis. Herpetologica* 31, 37–47.
- Crowley, P. H., Travers, S. E., Linton, M. C., Cohn, S. L., Sih, A., and Sargent, R. C. (1991). Mate density, predation risk, and the seasonal sequence of mate choices: a dynamic game. *Am. Nat.* 137, 567–596. doi: 10.1086/285184
- Dawson, B., and Ryan, M. J. (2009). Early experience leads to changes in the advertisement calls of male *Physalaemus pustulosus*. Copeia 2009, 221–226. doi: 10.1643/ce-07-254
- Dingemanse, N. J., Bouwman, K. M., van de Pol, M., van Overveld, T., Patrick, S. C., Matthysen, E., et al. (2012). Variation in personality and behavioural plasticity across four populations of the great tit *Parus* major. *J. Anim. Ecol.* 81, 116–126. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2656.2011.01877.x
- Dingemanse, N. J., Kazem, A. J. N., Réale, D., and Wright, J. (2010). Behavioural reaction norms: animal personality meets individual plasticity. *Trends Ecol. Evol.* 25, 81–89. doi: 10.1016/j.tree.2009.07.013
- Dingemanse, N. J., and Wolf, M. (2010). Recent models for adaptive personality differences: a review. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc.* 365, 3947–3958. doi: 10.1098/rstb. 2010.0221
- Dominoni, D. M., Halfwerk, W., Baird, E., Buxton, R. T., Fernández-Juricic, E., Fristrup, K. M., et al. (2020). Why conservation biology can benefit from sensory ecology. *Nat. Ecol. Evol.* 4, 502–511. doi: 10.1038/s41559-020-1135-4
- Friedl, T. W. (2006). Individual male calling pattern and male mating success in the european treefrog (*Hyla arborea*): is there evidence for directional or stabilizing selection on male calling behaviour? *Ethology* 112, 116–126. doi: 10.1111/j.1439-0310.2005.01132.x
- Gerhardt, H. C. (1975). Sound pressure levels and radiation patterns of the vocalizations of some North American frogs and toads. J. Comp. Physiol. 102, 1–12. doi: 10.1007/bf00657481
- Gerhardt, H. C. (1978). Temperature coupling in the vocal communication system of the gray tree frog, *Hyla versicolor. Science* 199, 992–994. doi: 10.1126/science. 199.4332.992
- Gerhardt, H. C. (1991). Female mate choice in treefrogs: static and dynamic acoustic criteria. Anim. Behav. 42, 615–635. doi: 10.1016/s0003-3472(05) 80245-3
- Gerhardt, H. C. (2001). Acoustic communication in two groups of closely related treefrogs. Adv. Study Behav. 30, 99–166.
- Gerhardt, H. C. (2008). Phonotactic selectivity in two cryptic species of gray treefrogs: effects of differences in pulse rate, carrier frequency and playback level. *J. Exp. Biol.* 211, 2609–2616. doi: 10.1242/jeb.019612
- Gerhardt, H. C., and Doherty, J. A. (1988). Acoustic communication in the gray treefrog, *Hyla versicolor*: evolutionary and neurobiological implications. *J. Comp. Physiol. A* 162, 261–278. doi: 10.1007/bf00606090
- Gerhardt, H. C., and Huber, F. (2002). Acoustic Communication in Insects and Anurans: Common Problems and Diverse Solutions. Chicago: The University of Chicago Press.
- Gerhardt, H. C., Ptacek, M. B., Barnett, L., and Torke, K. G. (1994). Hybridization in the diploid-tetraploid treefrogs *Hyla chrysoscelis* and *Hyla versicolor. Copeia* 1994, 51–59.

- Gerhardt, H. C., and Watson, G. F. (1995). Within-male variability in call properties and female preference in the grey treefrog. *Anim. Behav.* 50, 1187– 1191. doi: 10.1016/0003-3472(95)80035-2
- Girgenrath, M., and Marsh, R. L. (1997). In vivo performance of trunk muscles in tree frogs during calling. *J. Exp. Biol.* 200, 3101–3108.
- Grafe, T. U. (1997). Costs and benefits of mate choice in the lek-breeding reed frog, *Hyperolius marmoratus. Anim. Behav.* 53, 1103–1117. doi: 10.1006/anbe.1996. 0427
- Hardin, J., and Hilbe, J. (2012). *Generalized Estimating Equations*, 2nd Edn. New York, NY: Chapman & Hall.
- Kirkpatrick, M., and Ryan, M. J. (1991). The evolution of mating preferences and the paradox of the lek. *Nature* 350, 33–38. doi: 10.1038/350033a0
- Lee, N., Ward, J. L., Vélez, A., Micheyl, C., and Bee, M. A. (2017). Frogs exploit statistical regularities in noisy acoustic scenes to solve cocktail-party-like problems. *Curr. Biol.* 27, 743–750. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2017.01.031
- Lengagne, T., Voituron, Y., and Gomez, D. (2016). Male within-individual variability in a sexual signal component and its impact on female choice. *Behav. Ecol.* 28, 108–116. doi: 10.1093/beheco/arw120
- Magnhagen, C. (1991). Predation risk as a cost of reproduction. *Trends Ecol. Evol.* 6, 183–186. doi: 10.1016/0169-5347(91)90210-0
- Martin, C. M., and Wagner, W. E. (2010). Female field crickets incur increased parasitism risk when near preferred song. *PLoS One* 5:e9592. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0009592
- Martínez-Rivera, C. C., and Gerhardt, H. C. (2008). Advertisement-call modification, male competition, and female preference in the bird-voiced treefrog *Hyla avivoca. Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol.* 63, 195–208. doi: 10.1007/s00265-008-0650-0
- McLister, D., Stevens, E. D., and Bogart, J. P. (1995). Comparative contractile dynamics of calling and locomotor muscles in three hylid frogs. J. Exp. Biol. 198, 1527–1538.
- Mitani, J. C., and Brandt, K. L. (1994). Social factors influence the acoustic variability in the long-distance calls of male chimpanzees. *Ethology* 96, 233–252. doi: 10.1111/j.1439-0310.1994.tb01012.x
- Møller, A. P., and Pomiankowski, A. (1993). Why have birds got multiple sexual ornaments? *Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol.* 32, 167–176.
- Murphy, C. G. (2012). Simultaneous mate-sampling by female barking treefrogs (*Hyla gratiosa*). Behav. Ecol. 23, 1162–1169. doi: 10.1093/beheco/a rs093
- Murphy, C. G., and Gerhardt, C. H. (1996). Evaluating the design of matechoice experiments: the effect of amplexus on mate choice by female barking treefrogs, *Hyla gratiosa*. Anim. Behav. 51, 881–890. doi: 10.1006/anbe.1996. 0092
- Murphy, C. G., and Gerhardt, H. C. (2002). Mate sampling by female barking treefrogs (*Hyla gratiosa*). *Behav. Ecol.* 13, 472–480. doi: 10.1093/beheco/13. 4.472
- Nehring, V., Wyatt, T. D., and d'Ettorre, P. (2013). "Noise in chemical communication," in *Animal Communication and Noise*, ed. H. Brumm (Berlin: Springer), 373–405. doi: 10.1007/978-3-642-41494-7_13
- Nityananda, V., and Bee, M. A. (2012). Spatial release from masking in a freefield source identification task by gray treefrogs. *Hear. Res.* 285, 86–97. doi: 10.1016/j.heares.2012.01.003
- Nussey, D. H., Wilson, A. J., and Brommer, J. E. (2007). The evolutionary ecology of individual phenotypic plasticity in wild populations. *J. Evol. Biol.* 20, 831–844. doi: 10.1111/j.1420-9101.2007.01300.x
- Pfennig, K. S. (2007). Facultative mate choice drives adaptive hybridization. *Science* 318, 965–967. doi: 10.1126/science.1146035
- Pomiankowski, A., and Møller, A. P. (1995). A resolution of the lek paradox. *Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B* 260, 21–29. doi: 10.1098/rspb.1995.0054
- Ptacek, M. B., Gerhardt, H. C., and Sage, R. D. (1994). Speciation by polyploidy in treefrogs: multiple origins of the Tetraploid, *Hyla versicolor. Evolution* 48, 898–908. doi: 10.1111/j.1558-5646.1994.tb01370.x
- Reichert, M. S., and Ronacher, B. (2015). Noise affects the shape of female preference functions for acoustic signals. *Evolution* 69, 381–394. doi: 10.1111/ evo.12592
- Ritke, M. E., Babb, J. G., and Ritke, M. K. (1990). Life history of the gray treefrog (*Hyla chrysoscelis*) in Western Tennessee. J. Herpetol. 24, 135–141.

- Rodríguez, R. L., Rebar, D., and Fowler-Finn, K. D. (2013). The evolution and evolutionary consequences of social plasticity in mate preferences. *Anim. Behav.* 85, 1041–1047. doi: 10.1016/j.anbehav.2013.01.006
- Römer, H. (2013). "Masking by noise in acoustic insects: problems and solutions," in *Animal Communication and Noise*, ed. H. Brumm (Berlin: Springer-Verlag), 33–63. doi: 10.1007/978-3-642-41494-7_3
- Schul, J., and Bush, S. L. (2002). Non-parallel coevolution of sender and receiver in the acoustic communication system of treefrogs. *Proc. R. Soc. B* 269, 1847–1852. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2002.2092
- Schwartz, J. J., Huth, K., and Hutchin, T. (2004). How long do females really listen? Assessment time for female mate choice in the grey treefrog, *Hyla versicolor*. *Anim. Behav.* 68, 533–540. doi: 10.1016/j.anbehav.2003.09.016
- Servedio, M. R., and Noor, M. A. F. (2003). The role of reinforcement in speciation: theory and data. *Annu. Rev. Ecol. Evol. Syst.* 34, 339–364. doi: 10.1146/annurev. ecolsys.34.011802.132412
- Shannon, C. E. (1948). A mathematical theory of communication. *Bell Syst. Tech.* J. 27, 379–423.
- Shaw, K. L., and Herlihy, D. P. (2000). Acoustic preference functions and song variability in the hawaiian cricket *Laupala cerasina*. Proc. R. Soc. Lond. 267, 577–584. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2000.1040
- Slabbekoorn, H., Dooling, R. J., Popper, A. N., and Fay, R. R. (eds) (2018). Effects of Anthropogenic Noise on Animals. New York, NY: Springer Science+Business Media.
- Stamps, J. A., Briffa, M., and Biro, P. A. (2012). Unpredictable animals: individual differences in intraindividual variability (IIV). *Anim. Behav.* 83, 1325–1334. doi: 10.1016/j.anbehav.2012.02.017
- Sullivan, B. K., and Hinshaw, S. H. (1992). Female choice and selection on male calling behaviour in the grey treefrog *Hyla versicolor*. Anim. Behav. 44, 733–744. doi: 10.1016/s0003-3472(05)80299-4
- Taigen, T. L., and Wells, K. D. (1985). Energetics of vocalization by an anuran amphibian (*Hyla versicolor*). J. Comp. Physiol. B 155, 163–170. doi: 10.1007/ bf00685209
- Tanner, J. C., and Bee, M. A. (2019). Within-individual variation in sexual displays: signal or noise? *Behav. Ecol.* 30, 80–91. doi: 10.1093/beheco/ary165
- Tanner, J. C., and Bee, M. A. (2020). Inconsistent sexual signaling degrades optimal mating decisions in animals. Sci. Adv. 6:eaax3957. doi: 10.1126/sciadv.aax3957
- Tanner, J. C., Ward, J. L., Shaw, R. G., and Bee, M. A. (2017). Multivariate phenotypic selection on a complex sexual signal. *Evolution* 71, 1742–1754. doi: 10.1111/evo.13264

- Tucker, M. A., and Gerhardt, H. C. (2012). Parallel changes in mate-attracting calls and female preferences in autotriploid tree frogs. *Proc. R. Soc. B* 279, 1583–1587. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2011.1968
- Vélez, A., and Bee, M. A. (2011). Dip listening and the cocktail party problem in grey treefrogs: signal recognition in temporally fluctuating noise. *Anim. Behav.* 82, 1319–1327. doi: 10.1016/j.anbehav.2011. 09.015
- Ward, J. L., Buerkle, N. P., and Bee, M. A. (2013a). Spatial release from masking improves sound pattern discrimination along a biologically relevant pulse-rate continuum in gray treefrogs. *Hear. Res.* 306, 63–75. doi: 10.1016/j.heares.2013. 09.006
- Ward, J. L., Love, E. K., Vélez, A., Buerkle, N. P., O'Bryan, L. R., and Bee, M. A. (2013b). Multitasking males and multiplicative females: dynamic signalling and receiver preferences in Cope's grey treefrog. *Anim. Behav.* 86, 231–243. doi: 10.1016/j.anbehav.2013.05.016
- Wells, K., and Taigen, T. (1986). The effect of social interactions on calling energetics in the gray treefrog (*Hyla versicolor*). *Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol.* 19, 9–18. doi: 10.1007/bf00303837
- Wiley, R. H. (2006). Signal detection and animal communication. Adv. Study Behav. 36, 217-247. doi: 10.1016/s0065-3454(06)36005-6
- Wiley, R. H. (2015). Noise Matters: The Evolution of Communication. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Wollerman, L., and Wiley, R. H. (2002). Background noise from a natural chorus alters female discrimination of male calls in a Neotropical frog. *Anim. Behav.* 63, 15–22. doi: 10.1006/anbe.2001.1885
- Zuk, M., and Kolluru, G. R. (1998). Exploitation of sexual signals by predators and parasitoids. Q. Rev. Biol. 73, 415-438. doi: 10.1086/42 0412

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Tanner and Bee. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Control vs. Constraint: Understanding the Mechanisms of Vibration Transmission During Material-Bound Information Transfer

Thomas E. Miller and Beth Mortimer*

Department of Zoology, University of Oxford, Oxford, United Kingdom

Material-bound vibrations are ubiquitous in the environment and are widely used as an information source by animals, whether they are generated by biotic or abiotic sources. The process of vibration information transfer is subject to a wide range of physical constraints, especially during the vibration transmission phase. This is because vibrations must travel through materials in the environment and body of the animal before reaching embedded mechanosensors. Morphology therefore plays a key and often overlooked role in shaping information flow. Web-building spiders are ideal organisms for studying vibration information transfer due to the level of control they have over morphological traits, both within the web (environment) and body, which can give insights for bioinspired design. Here we investigate the mechanisms governing vibration information transfer, including the relative roles of constraints and control mechanisms. We review the known and theoretical contributions of morphological and behavioral traits to vibration transmission in these spiders, and propose an interdisciplinary framework for considering the effects of these traits from a biomechanical perspective. Whereas morphological traits act as a series of springs, dampers and masses arranged in a specific geometry to influence vibration transmission, behavioral traits influence these morphologies often over small timescales in response to changing conditions. We then explore the relative roles of constraints and control mechanisms in shaping the variation of these traits at various taxonomic levels. This analysis reveals the importance of morphology modification to gain control over vibration transmission to mitigate constraints and essentially promote information transfer. In particular, we hypothesize that morphological computation is used by spiders during vibration information transfer to reduce the amount of processing required by the central nervous system (CNS); a hypothesis that can be tested experimentally in the future. We can take inspiration from how spiders control vibration transmission and apply these insights to bioinspired engineering. In particular, the role of morphological computation for vibration control could open up potential developments for soft robots, which could use multi-scale vibration sensory systems inspired by spiders to quickly and efficiently adapt to changing environments.

Keywords: biotremology, sensory ecology, physical ecology, morphological computation, Araneae

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Fernando Montealegre-Z, University of Lincoln, United Kingdom

Reviewed by:

Joseph Jackson, University of Strathclyde, United Kingdom Gregory Patrick Sutton, University of Bristol, United Kingdom

> *Correspondence: Beth Mortimer beth.mortimer@zoo.ox.ac.uk

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Behavioral and Evolutionary Ecology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution

> Received: 27 July 2020 Accepted: 26 November 2020 Published: 11 December 2020

Citation:

Miller TE and Mortimer B (2020) Control vs. Constraint: Understanding the Mechanisms of Vibration Transmission During Material-Bound Information Transfer. Front. Ecol. Evol. 8:587846. doi: 10.3389/fevo.2020.587846

INTRODUCTION

Material-bound vibrations are an important sensory mode for many animals. These vibrations, which propagate through and along the surfaces of materials known as substrates, are ubiquitous in the environment and the study of the biological use of these vibrations is known as "biotremology" (Hill and Wessel, 2016). They can either be produced intentionally as a signal (e.g., in courtship) for communication, or as an unintentional cue (e.g., through the movement of a prey item) that can be used for information by receivers (Mortimer, 2017). Traditionally these vibrations have been overlooked as a potential source of biologically relevant information, with modern techniques unveiling the importance of this sensory modality. This is especially true for terrestrial arthropods, the context of this review, where material-bound vibration information transfer was likely used long before acoustic information transfer (or hearing) evolved (Cocroft and Rodríguez, 2005; Hill, 2009).

Like other sensory modalities, the biological use of materialbound vibrations for information transfer involves the generation, transmission and sensing (here used to refer to sensory transduction) of vibrations. This review focuses on the role of vibration transmission as an important, but relatively overlooked stage in this process, which is the stage encompassing everything between generating a vibration and transduction within sensory cells. This stage is interesting because although the theory of how vibrations propagate through materials is well developed, its application within this biological context is in its infancy and the role of natural selection in shaping or controlling this process is not well understood. In terrestrial arthropods, vibrations first propagate through the substrate before passing into the arthropod's body where its leg couples with the substrate. Following coupling, vibrations propagate to mechanosensors that are typically embedded in the leg (Figure 1; Pringle, 1955). Mechanical transmission of vibrations therefore involves both propagation of the vibration within a material in the environment (or substrate) and within the animal's body. Not covered here, at mechanosensors, mechanical stimuli (such as vibrations) lead to the generation of an action potential in the sensory neurons innervating the sensor, and the wave is transformed into an electrical signal that travels along this neuron (Barth and Pickelmann, 1975). For detail and discussion on the effect of neuronal filtering and sensory transduction on the transformation of vibrational information, we refer readers to an alternative review (Barth, 2019).

Vibration transmission is shaped by the interplay between natural selection, evolutionary, and physical constraints, yet the interactions between these processes in this context are not well understood. Both morphological and behavioral traits have been shaped by natural selection to influence vibration transmission (**Table 1**), which are under evolutionary constraints, e.g., tradeoffs and developmental constraints. Each stage of transmission also varies in the degree to which physical constraints are acting. These physical constraints are imposed by their biomechanics and include damping (energy loss) and filtering of vibrational information (Mortimer, 2017). Control mechanisms can be used to mitigate these constraints (see section "Discussion").

In this review, we will use spiders as a case study to probe the mechanisms influencing vibration transmission during the process of vibration information transfer, building on previous reviews that discuss physical constraints acting during vibration transmission (Mortimer, 2017, 2019; Barth, 2019). This is the dominant sensory modality for many spiders (Barth, 2002a), and is used for communication with conspecifics during courtship (Schüch and Barth, 1985, 1990; Elias et al., 2003, 2005), as well as sensing prey and predators (Klärner and Barth, 1982; Masters, 1984b; Landolfa and Barth, 1996). As such, mechanisms to influence vibration transmission apply to varied biological contexts with spiders, including prey capture, and conspecific communication. The mechanosensors involved in spider vibration sensing are slit sensilla-some of which are grouped into distinct structures known as lyriform organs (Barth, 2002a). In particular, the metatarsal lyriform organ has been intensively studied for its role in vibration sensing (Barth, 2002a). In addition to sensing externally generated vibrations, spiders use slit sensilla to sense internally generated vibrations, known as proprioception (Seyfarth, 1978).

Morphological and behavioral traits in spiders are extremely variable and the mechanisms causing this variation and the implications for information transfer, whether natural or engineered, have been largely unexplored. Web-building spiders are an excellent model species to study this due to the impressive control mechanisms that can influence vibration transmission both within the environment and body, which in theory allow them to mitigate physical constraints. For spiders, morphological traits include the structures and materials of both the body of the spider and the extended phenotype of the web, and behavioral traits act to influence morphology during vibration transmission (Table 1). This is exemplified by orb-weaving spiders that generate aerial orb webs that act as a snare for prey capture and a vibration transmission platform (Mortimer, 2019). Through modifying the extended phenotype of the web, these spiders are thought to influence vibration transmission outside the body (Mortimer et al., 2016). Most literature on orb weaver vibration transmission is on prey capture, although the web is also used to transmit vibrations during courtship (Wignall and Heberstein, 2013).

An aim of this review is to combine perspectives from across biology and the physical sciences to explore the mechanisms governing vibration transmission. One concept that we will come back to in the Discussion is the idea of morphological computation, which is a term more typically applied to artificial systems (such as robots). Morphological computation is where the body, rather than central nervous system (CNS), is used to control actions or information, thus reducing the total level of processing required by the CNS. Recently, there has been increasing recognition of its role in biological systems-for example, animals rely heavily on the material properties of their leg muscles and tendons to walk/run, rather than these leg movements being closely controlled by the CNS (Mo et al., 2020). In sensory systems, morphological computation could be used to pre-process information before sensory transduction occurs, which in our context would be during the vibration transmission stage. This is thought to occur in the insect eye,



where the arrangement of light-sensitive cells allows insects to accurately gauge distance without additional processing in the CNS (Franceschini et al., 1992). During vibration information transfer in terrestrial arthropods, since mechanosensors are embedded into the cuticle or leg (Yack, 2004), vibratory waves must travel through the body of the animal before they are sensed. This means vibration information transfer is more heavily influenced by morphology than other senses (whether acoustic vibration, olfaction or visual), and morphological computation is likely to play a role in this context.

Using orb weaving spiders as a case study, this review will overview the known and theoretical contributions of morphological and behavioral traits to the biomechanics of vibration transmission (sections "Influence of Morphological Traits" and "Influence of Behavioral Traits," respectively). We deconstruct the effect that these traits have on three key parameters that can be used to model the systemmass/density, springs/dampers (energy storage/loss), and geometry. We explore the interactions and trade-offs between these three parameters, morphological and behavioral traits in the Discussion. Using this approach, we show that orb-weaving spiders possess a high level of control over morphological and behavioral traits during vibration transmission over multiple timescales. We follow with a discussion of how variation in these traits (within an individual, between individuals of the same species, and between species) can be explained by the action of control mechanisms and constraints (Discussion). We suggest that within a species, morphology is controlled flexibly via behavior, which acts to mitigate against various constraints in variable contexts. We conclude that morphology likely plays a key role in transforming information before the vibrational wave reaches

a mechanosensor, and hypothesize a role for morphological computation (section "Discussion"). The review provides insights into the relative roles of natural selection, evolutionary and physical constraints in shaping vibration sensing in terrestrial arthropods, but also reveals the mechanisms that can be applied to bioinspired design of devices that use material-bound vibrations for information.

INFLUENCE OF MORPHOLOGICAL TRAITS

From a biomechanical perspective, morphological traits can be seen as systems with a series of masses, springs, and dampers arranged in a specific geometry that influences its motion over time, whether in the environment (here the web) or within/through the body (here the spider's body). These three parameters are not mutually exclusive and they interact with each other to influence vibration propagation. Yet thinking of vibrating systems, including animals, as these constituent parameters provides a framework to help us to understand the underlying biomechanics governing its motion and compare between biological systems that vary to different degrees to gain insights into its evolution. Within this section ("Influence of Morphological Traits"), each component will be discussed separately, with the aim that the importance of each component to vibration transmission can be outlined.

Mass is distributed both within the substrate and within the body and is particularly important due to physical constraints acting to dampen (or dissipate energy), filter, and distort vibrational information (i.e., influence the relationship between frequency components). Density is a measure of distributed mass, **TABLE 1** | The focus of this review is vibration transmission, which is in the physical realm and involves mechanical vibrations propagating through the environment (Stage 1) and body (Stage 2).

Stages in vibration information transfer	Traits under selection to promote vibration information transfer	Relevant physical constraints
1. Vibration transmission within environment.	If applicable, production and mechanics of own substrate (e.g., web);	Damping, filtering and distortion;
	Choice of substrate; Sensing behaviors (e.g., positioning and freezing)	Vary with substrate and transmission distance
2. Vibration transmission within/along body.	Mechanics of body materials and joints (masses, springs, dampers); Body plan and geometry; Sensor placement and integration; Sensing behaviors (e.g., posture control)	Damping, filtering and distortion; Vary with coupling, body mechanics and sensor position
3. Sensory transduction and integration within	Mechanotransduction mechanism (e.g., ion channel type, number and position);	Physiological constraints act;
body.	Sensory thresholds (e.g., frequency, amplitude); Neuronal anatomy and sensory integration (e.g., positive/negative feedback); Sensorimotor feedback	Vary with all aspects of neurophysiology

Vibration sensing, or sensory transduction, is in the physiological realm and involves mechanotransduction and integration of sensory information within cells (Stage 3). Both morphological and behavioural traits that are under selection to promote vibration transmission are given. Physical constraints vary to different extents within each stage.

so is discussed within the section on Masses (section "Masses"). Whereas springs govern energy storage in the system when the springs are compressed or stretched, dampers govern the energy lost from the system, usually due to friction. In our orb-weaver spider context, springs/dampers are the silk threads, the cuticle that forms the exoskeleton of the spider and the spider's joints. Finally, these parameters come together into a specific geometrical arrangement (web shape, body plan, and mechanosensor structure) to govern vibration transmission and shape the information that can be extracted by the animal due to sensor placement. Here we discuss the known and theoretical contributions of masses, springs, dampers, and geometry to vibration transmission, using this interdisciplinary framework in the context of orb-weaving spiders, where the behaviors that influence these factors are reviewed in section "Influence of Behavioral Traits."

Masses

Vibration transmission through a material is influenced by mass distribution, including changes in density of a material through which a wave propagates. In our spider context, we will focus on masses in the web, as the spider's engineered substrate, and in the body, through which vibrations need to propagate before reaching embedded mechanosensors (section "Web and Body Transmission"). Mass and density (in combination with material properties and geometry) govern the speed of vibration transmission, how it loses energy over distance and time, and how the wave is filtered (section "Mechanical Impedance and Resonance") (Mortimer, 2017). Masses also interact with the other biomechanical parameters of springs and dampers (section "Springs and Dampers"), according to their geometry (section "Geometry").

Web and Body Transmission

The influence that masses have on vibration transmission differs markedly between the web and the body. The mass of the silk threads comprising the web is negligible compared with the spider's body and prey items in the web—therefore, the dynamics of vibration transmission are largely dependent on the masses suspended by the silk threads, rather than the web itself. All spider body plans consist of a fused head and body segment (cephalothorax) joined to an abdomen segment via the waistlike pedicel, and eight legs, all of which vary in their mass and geometry (Foelix, 1979). In particular, these masses modulate how vibrations are transmitted through the legs at different joint angles, where higher masses lead to greater forces exerted around the leg joints (via gravity), influencing their springs and dampers (see section "Springs and Dampers").

The mass distribution of a spider and its web is stochastic, with the mass of objects caught in the web (such as prey and debris), as well as the mass of the spider's body, varying over time. The mass of the spider's cephalothorax will fluctuate due to factors such as starvation and dehydration, which will reduce the volume of internal fluid (haemolymph) in the abdomen, as well as the production of eggs by female spiders (Foelix, 1979). Similarly, the amount of silk protein stored in the silk glands will deplete when the spider spins a new web and will then gradually refill (Vollrath, 1999). This is variation that spiders have some control over, but largely cannot avoid, and thus mass fluctuation imposes a physical constraint. Mhatre et al. (2018) simulated the vibrational response of a female black widow spider to vibration, which showed that abdomen mass could vary from 20% to 150% of its in vivo value without a measurable effect on the vibrational response to stimuli between 5 and 200 Hz. Spiders likely possess mechanisms that enable them to account for wave transformation due to their own mass fluctuation, which may be "known" by the spider-this is a topic requiring further research.

Mechanical Impedance and Resonance

As a vibratory wave propagates through a system, the masses it encounters will resist changes in motion that will act to transform the vibratory wave. This tendency for a mass to resist changes in velocity as it is oscillated is known as mechanical impedance, which leads to energy loss and/or reflection of vibrations as a wave passes from a material of one density to another (e.g., from silk to cuticle) (Main, 1993). From a biological perspective, it may therefore be desirable to minimize changes in density and material properties (such as stiffness) throughout transmission, as energy loss will lead to reduction in signal amplitude and therefore make vibrations more difficult to detect. This is especially important in two contexts where waves are transmitted between disparate materials: within a heterogenous substrate (or multi-material substrate) (Elias and Mason, 2014); and also at the coupling points between the substrate and the body.

Starting with the former, damping in heterogenous materials may be reduced through morphological adaptations such as impedance matching (O'Connell-Rodwell, 2007), where materials with similar properties are used to minimize changes in mechanical impedance. The degree of sclerotization (crosslinking) in a spider's exoskeleton varies across different parts of the body and legs (Blickhan and Barth, 1985), therefore altering the material properties through which vibrational waves propagate. Gradients in material properties of the cuticle are often found [e.g., elastic modulus varying from 8.3 (\pm 1.1) to 2.8 (\pm 1.3) GPa across the cuticular pad] (Young et al., 2014; Erko et al., 2015), which would reduce mechanical impedance changes and so reduce damping and filtering of the vibration. Impedance matching mechanisms via gradients in material properties in terrestrial arthropods require further research.

Moving on to the effect of coupling, the energy loss caused by the coupling between silk and the spider claw (tarsus) is expected to differ between wave types, which is the type of vibrational wave propagating through the material. In the spider web, wave types vary in the direction of oscillation, where longitudinal waves oscillate within the axis of the fiber and transverse waves oscillate perpendicular to the fiber axis. Whilst only longitudinal wave transmission to the tarsus has been measured, the fact that transmission of longitudinal waves through the web shows less damping compared transverse (c. -2 dB on the same silk thread compared with c. -16 at 20 Hz) (Masters and Markl, 1981; Masters, 1984a), means that we can estimate the results for transmission to the tarsus. These differences are expected to become more pronounced above 100 Hz, after which transverse wave damping increases (down to c. -50 dB on the same silk thread) (Masters, 1984a; Landolfa and Barth, 1996). Since longitudinal vibrations are particularly important for initiating predatory behavior in orb weavers (Klärner and Barth, 1982), these observations support the idea that coupling functions to preserve longitudinal wave transmission between the silk and tarsus.

Changes in mechanical impedance also affect vibration transmission when objects sit in the web, such as the spider, prey or debris. Evidence from modeling suggests that the presence of the spider itself at the web centre (hub) leads to significant damping compared with empty webs—c. -16/-36 dB for transverse/longitudinal waves, respectively (Mortimer et al., 2018). Often the presence of these objects cannot be avoided and so present a constraint on vibration transmission. However, some spiders may be able to use the mechanical impedance of their body mass functionally in vibration information transfer. This is because a mass at the hub alters both the speeds and amplitudes of vibrations in the web (Mortimer et al., 2018), which provide information on the location of a vibration source (Mortimer et al., 2019). Mechanical impedance of prey items may also be used by orb weavers as a prey localization cue (Mortimer et al., 2019).

Vibrations often contain multiple frequencies at once. Resonance is where the frequency of an input vibration matches the natural frequency of the system through which it travels, resulting in these frequencies being amplified. The natural frequency of the system is governed by its masses and geometry (Balachandran and Magrab, 2008)-in this case it includes objects in the web and the silk threads comprising the web. At low frequencies (<30 Hz), in theory resonance may occur in the body of the spider itself, or other large objects (such as prey bundles) in the web (Frohlich and Buskirk, 1982). Frequencies in this range contain noise from environmental factors (such as wind) (Masters, 1984b; Wu and Elias, 2014), so resonance of objects in the web is therefore unlikely to be used functionally by the spider. However, spiders may be able to use resonance of silk threads [predicted to be in the hundreds to thousands of Hertz range (Frohlich and Buskirk, 1982)] to locate small objects, by "plucking" silk threads and detecting vibrational cues specific to the thread on which the object sits (Klärner and Barth, 1982). A hypothesized mechanism for this object localization method is the use of wave reflection off the object due to mechanical impedance changes that result in high frequency vibrations on these specific threads (Mortimer, 2019).

Springs and Dampers

The springs and dampers in a vibrating system governs the energy stored and lost during vibration transmission. This is determined by the material and structural properties of the material through which a vibrational wave travels. Most biological tissues contain biopolymers, meaning that they behave as viscoelastic materials (Vincent, 1990). Many biological viscoelastic materials behave like springs at low deformations, meaning they have a linear relationship between force and displacement up to a certain displacement. In this range, they can store and return energy like a spring. Outside this deformation range, they no longer behave as springs, but the material deforms to dissipate energy from the system, which is viscous behavior. This energy dissipation, or damping, depends on the time that the material has to deform (e.g., it can extend more over longer timescales) and the temperature (e.g., it can extend more at higher temperatures), as both influence the energy introduced to the biopolymer, which alters its structure beyond a transition point (the glass transition temperature of the biopolymer) (Guan et al., 2012). This makes energy dissipation time-, frequency-, and temperaturedependent. Viscoelastic materials therefore act as both springs and dampers, where this behavior changes with both deformation range and frequency (Vincent, 1990).

In context, the most important viscoelastic materials for spiders are the silk threads that make up the web, and the spider's body tissues—especially the cuticle of the exoskeleton, in which the slit sensilla vibration sensors are embedded (Barth, 2019). The springs/dampers within the materials interact with mass to influence vibration transmission: the stiffness and density of these materials are linked to wavespeed and damping, which in turn are involved in frequency filtering and hence determine the shape of the vibrational wave that arrives at the sensor (Mortimer, 2017). These materials also make up structures such as joints that have their own springs and dampers as they move. The properties of the materials and structures therefore have a profound effect on the transmission of vibrational waves.

Vibration Transmission Within Web Environment

The spring-like behavior of silk at low deformations governs the transmission of vibrations through the web. A key property of a spring is its stiffness, which is the gradient of the relationship between force and extension, which governs the tension or force on the silk when a displacement is applied (Vollrath, 2000). Spider dragline silk is unique in the range of stiffness available, due to an unusual property called supercontraction, where high humidity [>70% relative humidity (RH)] dramatically alters the silk structure and reduces its stiffness (Liu et al., 2008). Here, we will briefly review the effects of silk tension, stiffness, and supercontraction on vibration transmission in webs, whilst the behaviors that are able to control these features are reviewed later (section "Influence of Behavior").

Silk tension both controls web geometry and is determined by it. This feedback system is vital for maintaining the mechanical integrity of the web, with mooring threads that attach to the environment being under the greatest tension (Wirth and Barth, 1992). Silk tension is particularly important for the transmission of transverse waves as it directly affects wavespeed and amplitude when interacting with mass per unit length and geometry (Mortimer et al., 2014, 2016). Conversely, longitudinal wave transmission is influenced by stiffness (Frohlich and Buskirk, 1982), which is of particular importance for predatory behavior due to its low damping in the web (almost no damping, > -2 dB, from prey-capture region to hub along same silk thread in the biologically relevant range of 1-10,000 Hz) (Masters and Markl, 1981). Stiffness is influenced by supercontraction, which decreases the order of the protein structure and reduces stiffness (Liu et al., 2008; Guan et al., 2011). The degree of supercontraction is altered by the proportion of proline amino acid in the silk proteins-silks from different species of spider contain varying amounts of proline (ranging from as little as 0.6 to 14.3 mole%), and thus experience different degrees of supercontraction (Liu et al., 2008).

Vibration Transmission Within/Along Body

As slit sensilla are embedded sensors, the material properties of the cuticle directly influence vibrations before they reach the sensors, and also govern how the slit sensilla deform in response to vibrational waves. Since the cuticle behaves like a spring at low deformations, the slit sensilla are able to deform when extended and then return to their original state (Hössl et al., 2006). The exoskeleton covering the legs, where the largest concentrations of slit sensilla are found, is composed of stiff exocuticle. The opisthosoma (posterior part of the abdomen), on the other hand, is covered by less stiff mesocuticle, and therefore the slit sensilla found here will undergo greater deformation in response to a vibrational wave compared with those surrounded by a stiffer material (Barth, 2002a).

A cuticular pad situated distally (toward the claw) to the metatarsal lyriform organ is involved in transmitting and filtering vibrations as they propagate from the tarsus to the metatarsus leg segments (McConney et al., 2007; Young et al., 2014; Erko et al., 2015). The viscoelasticity of the pad allows it to act as a high-pass filter, meaning it filters out low-frequency background noise (e.g., vibrations of c. < 10 Hz). At low frequencies, the pad behaves in a

viscous manner, producing maximum damping properties. This means that large tarsal deflections (angular displacements c. 10° and above) are required to activate the slit sensilla, which also acts to prevent damage to the organ at high deflections (Young et al., 2014; Erko et al., 2015). At higher frequencies (>10 Hz), the pad transitions to a spring-like state, becoming stiffer and transmitting vibrations much more effectively. These properties are temperature-dependent, with the pad damping vibrations at higher temperatures (>21°C at 10 Hz) (McConney et al., 2007; Young et al., 2014).

In addition to the cuticle, the joints between leg segments themselves act as springs and dampers. For some joint motions (loading along the leg axis), joints behave as springs (Blickhan, 1986). For other joint motions (dorsoventral and lateral deflections), increased joint deflection stretches the articular membrane, which is thought to increase the alignment within the material, increasing stiffness (Blickhan, 1986). This results in energy being lost as the joint is loaded and unloaded, so the joint acts as a damper under certain conditions (Blickhan, 1986). As the lyriform organs are typically embedded near the leg joints, their mechanical sensitivity (here taken as the ratio of input force to cuticle deformation, i.e., the strain) is influenced by the strains and changes in stiffness in the cuticle that is generated by joint movement. When the legs are loaded axially, the deformation in the cuticle is negligible around 170° (between c. -0.1 and 0.1 $\mu \varepsilon/mN$), but the deformation, and presumably lyriform organ sensitivity, increases above/below this joint angle as the cuticle is put under tension/compression, respectively (Blickhan and Barth, 1985). There are some exceptions to this (e.g., VS-5 lyriform organ), where organs are compressed (and therefore stimulated) during leg extension (Blickhan and Barth, 1985).

Geometry

The vibrational motion of a system made of masses, springs, and dampers is determined by its overall geometrical structure. Diversity in web shapes and body plans influences vibration transmission through these materials. Variation in the geometry of morphological traits between species can be explained by the evolution of divergent hunting strategies, shaped in part by various constraints. In addition, mechanosensor geometry and placement varies within an individual, both spatially over different areas of the body, and temporally due to development and regeneration.

Vibration Transmission Within Web and Body

Web geometry is highly variable both within and between individuals. Individual variation in web geometry usually arises due to external and internal factors that change over time. For example, orb webs built at 20% relative humidity have c. 80% the capture area of webs built at 70% relative humidity (Vollrath et al., 1997). Starvation has also been shown to affect the variability of web geometry—when sufficiently fed, spiders use web modifications (such as increased capture area) to reduce variability in web geometry, which is thought to produce a more optimal phenotype for prey capture effectiveness (Vollrath and Samu, 1997). Whilst this variation has been well quantified, the trade-offs between mechanical functions vs. vibration transmission when geometry is modified have largely not been investigated, and future experiments should aim to quantify both mechanical and vibration transmission properties as web geometry changes and their implications for prey capture.

Web geometry due to the spider's resting location on the orb web alters vibration transmission, where some individuals sit in a retreat at the edge of their web rather than being positioned at the hub (center). Some spider species are more likely to employ this strategy than others, such as Zygiella x-notata, which senses web vibrations using a signal thread that joins the retreat to the hub, passing through a sector devoid of crossing threads (Klärner and Barth, 1982; Mortimer et al., 2018). Thus, they initially forgo the ability to localize prey on the web in favor of being less conspicuous at the retreat to avoid predation (Pasquet et al., 2007). After sensing prey struggling in the web, Z. x-notata moves along the signal thread to the hub, where it is able to orient toward the source vibration, making prey capture take longer (Klärner and Barth, 1982). The change in resting position does not impose any biologically relevant time cost due to vibration propagation through the web, but signals arriving at the retreat will be more damped than those at the hub (-1.37 ± 0.91 dB on the signal thread relative to the hub) (Mortimer et al., 2018).

There is high interspecific variation in web geometry (Foelix, 1979), and different web types are characteristic of separate taxonomic groups-these include orb webs, funnel webs, tubular webs, sheet webs, and tangle webs. Whilst most studies have focused on orb webs as their regular structure makes them easier to model, other web geometries are a promising area for future research, as each has their own unique transmission properties. For example, whilst the transmission efficiencies of transverse and longitudinal waves through orb webs differ greatly (especially with masses in the web as described previously) (Masters, 1984a; Landolfa and Barth, 1996; Mortimer et al., 2016), in other web geometries, such as sheet and tangle webs, they may propagate equally well (Naftilan, 1999; Vibert et al., 2016). In these web types, there are a large number of points where threads come into contact with each other, and unlike in orb webs, the angles between threads tend to be quite variable (Vibert et al., 2016). This irregular web

architecture means that there is a lot of variation in what frequencies are transmitted best within and between webs, suggesting that frequency may not be the most important factor for discriminating between vibratory sources for these spiders. Modeling suggests that resonance of the silk threads may be useful in enhancing the amplitude of prey generated vibrations in funnel/sheet webs, with amplification occurring within some of the frequency range that prey struggles at (2–200 Hz) (Naftilan, 1999).

The influence that the overall body plan of the spider has on vibration transmission is a largely unexplored area, yet is likely to prove vital in our understanding of how evolution and constraints have shaped vibration information transfer. A useful approach will be to model diverse spider body plans as mass/spring/dampers systems to investigate the physical relationships underlying vibration transmission. From a mass/spring/damper perspective, overall body plan matters because it determines the dynamics of the vibrating system (including torques and resonances). We can consider two extremes of spider morphology and compare the body plan of the Pholcidae (cellar spiders) with the Theraphosidae (tarantulas) (Figure 2; Foelix, 1979). In Pholcidae, a pendulous abdomen is connected to a small cephalothorax, which is in turn supported by very long, thin legs. In Theraphosidae, the legs are much shorter and thicker, comprising a larger proportion of the spider's overall mass. These families have evolved disparate hunting strategies, with the Pholcidae employing a web to trap prey, and Theraphosidae being ambush predators. Therefore their difference in morphology is also correlated with a difference in substrate through which they sense vibrations (ground/tree vs. the web), and a difference in the vibrations of prey. The leg and body shapes can be assumed to be adaptive for their respective hunting strategies, shaped by evolutionary and physical constraints including trade-offs; for example the strong, muscular legs in Theraphosidae have to be able to overpower prey as well as sense vibrations. Whether the shapes of the legs and body are adaptive in vibration transmission remains to be seen, but in theory these differences will influence vibration transmission.

FIGURE 2 | Comparison of the body geometries of *Pholcus phalangioides* (A) and *Brachypelma smithi* (B). Open source images: A – Filename "Pholcus phalangioides MHNT male. jpg," courtesy of Didier Descouens, License CC BY-SA 4.0, B – Filename "Brachypelma edit. jpg," courtesy of user "Fir0002," License CC

BY-SA 3.0.

Mechanosensor Geometry and Placement

Sensor geometry and placement is key to how mechanosensors respond to deformations in the exoskeleton, from the position of individual slits, through to the geometry and position of the sensors on the body. The spatial and temporal variation in slit sensilla geometry across individual spiders has been extensively studied in a single species—*Cupiennius salei* (Barth, 2019). Understanding interspecific variation in sensor geometry is currently limited, but further research would reveal how spiders in different contexts solve the problems of sensor placement to promote vibrational information transfer. More research is needed on the distributions of slit sensilla across all parts of the spiders' bodies on a range of spider species other than the well-studied *Cupiennius salei*.

We can first consider the shape and structure of individual slits. Variation in slit length (5–200 μ m) affects the sensitivity of the organ, as a larger slit will deform more than a smaller slit. This induces a greater deflection in the covering membrane that spans the slit and which sensory cells are attached to, which in turn makes vibrations easier to sense and decode (Barth, 1972; Barth and Pickelmann, 1975). The base curvature of the covering membrane also varies, with some forming a deeper trough within the slit than others—again, this affects sensitivity as greater curvature will mean that the membrane deflects more as the slit deforms (Barth and Bohnenberger, 1978). This is linked to the position of the neurons that innervate the membrane, with most dendrites connecting near the middle, where the greatest deformation occurs (Molina et al., 2009).

The arrangement of slits within the lyriform organs also has implications for vibration sensing. Slit arrangements and overall organ shape differ between lyriform organs located on different areas of the leg, which give each organ subtly different sensing capabilities (Figure 3A; Barth et al., 1984; Hössl et al., 2007, 2009). Heart-shaped arrangements found on the trochanter (leg segment), for example, are particularly sensitive to load direction (Barth et al., 1984), whilst slightly asymmetrical triangular arrangements can be used for measuring different response ranges (Hössl et al., 2009). The orientation of these slits relative to the leg axis is also important for vibration sensing, as the greatest deformation will be induced when the long axis is perpendicular to the direction of the input force. Because of this, most slit sensilla, including those in the lyriform organs, are oriented parallel to the long axis of the legs-which is the direction of vibrational wave transmission. However, not all of them are, and the reasons for this variation are currently unclear. This could be investigated by comparing slit orientation in different species and correlating this with morphological/life strategy differences.

Lyriform organ geometry changes over development, where the lyriform organs and metatarsal pads grow at different rates (**Figure 3B**; Morley et al., 2016). The pad shows isometric scaling (proportional) relative to metatarsal length, as the pad grows at the same rate as the rest of the leg. However, the lyriform organ starts out relatively large and grows slowly using hypoallometric scaling in order to preserve function (Morley et al., 2016). This results in these two components being mismatched during early molt stages due to developmental constraints and trade-offs, with the small pad meaning that juveniles are less able to filter low-frequency environmental noise (<40 Hz) (Morley et al., 2016). Whether the effect of this mismatch is compensated for by the nervous system, handled by morphology or mitigated through behavior, remains an open question.

Both slit length and lyriform organ geometry are also affected by limb regeneration. Some spiders lose limbs and regrow them during successive molts. However, it can take several molts before the limb regains normal morphology, where the regenerated leg from the first molt may be only half the length of the others, vet appears to function normally (Vollrath, 1995). Crucially, the shape of the lyriform organs on regenerated legs differs from normal legs-the triangular organ, for example, has a lower apex whilst legs are regenerating (Speck-Hergenröder and Barth, 1988). Further research is needed to determine whether differences in the shape of the lyriform organ are adaptive, whether due to regeneration, development, and interspecific differences. Using modeling, evidence could be provided that this variation is adaptive by demonstrating that changes in lyriform organ morphology produce a compensatory transformation in the input wave.

Finally, the location of the slit sensilla on the body determines how they respond to forces, and may be linked to their function (Barth and Stagl, 1976). Slit sensilla are distributed throughout the spider's body and are extremely numerous, with around 3,500 in Cupiennius salei (Barth, 2002b). In general, the highest concentrations of slits (both single slits, loose groups, and lyriform organs) are found in the proximal segments of the legs (closer to body), which is correlated with increased musculature in this region. Lyriform organs are typically located at or near the leg joints (Barth, 2019), where the forces through the cuticle are likely to be highest. Single slit sensilla, on the other hand, are often found well away from the joints in the middle of the leg segments. They are, however, frequently located near where the muscle attaches to the cuticle, which supports the idea that these organs function in proprioception, through the sensing of internally generated strains from muscular contraction (Seyfarth et al., 1985). Other organs are located toward the distal ends of the legs, such as the metatarsal lyriform organ and the tarsal slits (Barth, 2002a). These organs respond to external vibrations (Barth and Bohnenberger, 1978; Speck and Barth, 1982), which makes sense given they are located closer to the coupling point with the substrate. However, vibrations will continue to propagate up through the leg and body after reaching the metatarsal lyriform organ and hence more proximally located organs are likely to be involved as well, which is supported by evidence that spiders still orient toward vibration sources (albeit with reduced accuracy) when the metatarsal lyriform organs are ablated (Seyfarth and Barth, 1972; Seyfarth et al., 1982; Bleckmann and Barth, 1984).

INFLUENCE OF BEHAVIORAL TRAITS

Behavior is a key mechanism influencing vibration transmission as it acts to influence morphology in different biological contexts. This includes altering mass distribution, the parameters of springs and dampers through stiffness and tension, and changing



changes in shape as well as increase in overall number of slits through growth. (A) Reprinted by permission from Springer Nature Copyright Clearance Centre: Springer Nature, Zoomorphologie (Slit sense-organs of arachnids - Comparative-study of their topography on walking legs (*Chelicerata. Arachnida*), Barth, F. G. and Stagl, J.) [Copyright], (1976). (B) Reprinted by permission from Springer Nature Copyright Clearance Centre: Springer Nature, Zoomorphology (Developmental morphology of a lyriform organ in the Western black widow (*Latrodectus hesperus*), Morley, E. L., et al.) [Copyright], (2016).

overall geometry—both in the extended phenotype of the web and in the spider's body.

Vibration Transmission Within Web

The extended phenotype of the spider web is an excellent example of using behavior to control an individual's vibratory environment. Different elements of the web can be modified to alter different aspects of vibration transmission, whilst maintaining other functions such as prey capture ability. We have already discussed how masses, springs, dampers, and geometry within the web may influence vibration transmission, and here we discuss the degree of behavioral control spiders have over these factors, and link these with the biological contexts that drive spiders to make these changes.

Starting with the effect of masses, some spiders will actively remove foreign objects from their web (Cloudsley-Thompson, 1995; Pasquet et al., 2007). Whilst these tidying behaviors may be driven by a number of different selection pressures [e.g., avoiding damage to the web, hygienic reasons (Straus and Avilés, 2018)], they will also affect vibration transmission by modifying mechanical impedance on the web. Orb weavers have been shown to locate these objects using a "plucking" behavior (Klärner and Barth, 1982). The presence of some masses in the web (such as stored prey items) is, however, unavoidable, despite their impact on vibration transmission. Behaviors such as caching prey (storing food e.g., in *Nephila*) are used to cope with a variable food supply (de Crespigny et al., 2001) and also attract more insects into the web (Henaut et al., 2010). However, caching prey only within a small area may mitigate the impact of stored food on vibration transmission as their effect on vibration transmission would be location specific.

Orb weaving spiders have behavioral mechanisms to control the springs and dampers of the web, via changing tension, stiffness, and supercontraction. Spiders may adjust silk tension in order to deliberately modulate the transmission of vibrations through the web in response to a change in conditions (Watanabe, 2000). As well as controlling silk tension, spiders are also able to modulate silk stiffness. Orb weavers can adjust silk stiffness during web construction [by spinning silk more quickly (Vollrath et al., 2001)] and after the web is complete (by applying a force to a thread). Both of these processes result in increased ordering of the protein structure and hence increase stiffness (Guan et al., 2012). Spiders can modulate supercontraction to a certain degree by changing silk tension, as threads will not supercontract at high tensions (>140 MPa) (Boutry and Blackledge, 2010; Guan et al., 2011). Therefore, leaving threads slack will lead to increased supercontraction. Threads may also end up being unintentionally slack due to web damage, where supercontraction could act to increase thread tension in these areas. Spiders can also stretch out supercontracted threads to increase stiffness following supercontraction (Guinea et al., 2005). Spiders may therefore modify stiffness using these mechanisms to modulate trade-offs, for example increasing silk stiffness to prioritize mechanical function at the expense of prey sensing ability, as increased stiffness reduces longitudinal wave amplitude (Mortimer et al., 2016). Although these are mechanisms in theory, whether orb weavers actually apply their ability to modulate stiffness to control web properties and vibration transmission is currently unclear. Experiments would be needed to link sensory cues with spider control mechanisms and the resulting mechanical and vibrational properties of the web would need to be quantified.

Individual spiders will modify the geometry of their webs to influence trade-offs in response to environmental variables (Vollrath et al., 1997). When it is windy, garden cross spiders will produce a smaller, rounder orb; with fewer and more widely spaced capture spiral threads (40,686 mm² total area and 14,545 mm spiral length in still conditions vs. 35,235 mm² total area and 13,039 mm spiral length in windy conditions) (Vollrath and Samu, 1997)—this geometry is less likely to catch the wind like a sail and get damaged (Zaera et al., 2014). We hypothesize that in these situations, spiders prioritize the mechanical integrity of their web over vibration transmission, as fewer capture spirals reduce transverse wave amplitude (Mortimer et al., 2016). However, there are other relevant trade-offs at play here—these same modifications are also likely to reduce the prey-capture effectiveness of the web.

Orb weavers can also alter the transmission properties of their web in response to their energetic state (Watanabe, 2000). Starved spiders are more likely to target smaller prey items that would usually be ignored when satiated (Herberstein et al., 1998). Some orb weavers (e.g., *Octonoba sybotides*) modify web geometry when starved by forming webs with spiral rather than linear stabilimenta (web decorations). This is thought to increase radial thread tension (Eberhard, 1972), which makes low amplitude transverse vibrations produced by small prey easier to detect (Mortimer et al., 2016). In turn, this allows starved spiders to respond to small prey more quickly (Watanabe, 2000).

Using all of these mechanisms, orb-weaving spiders in theory are able to adjust the vibration transmission properties of their web at multiple temporal levels, possibly even specifically targeting certain wave types (longitudinal or transverse waves). This high level of control enables them to effectively respond to changes in environment, web damage, fluctuations in body mass, and climatic factors—variation which might otherwise impair vibration information transfer.

Vibration Transmission Within/Along Body

The dynamics of vibration transmission in a spider's body is strongly influenced by posture, which spiders actively control. We have already discussed how leg angle influences the springs and dampers of the joints, as well as the sensitivity of the lyriform organs, and here we examine how spiders use behavior to control this.

Spiders in theory can use postural changes to alter mass distribution, springs/dampers and geometry in response to different behavioral contexts. For example, the crouching posture tends to be adopted more frequently when a spider is starved (Mhatre et al., 2018). Empirical evidence for the effect of posture is currently limited to the role of springs/dampers at individual leg joints (Blickhan, 1986). Whilst evidence from modeling indicates that full-body geometry and mass distribution is also important for vibration dynamics (Mhatre et al., 2018), this is an area that is yet to be fully investigated. We do know that different postures are correlated with the sensitivity of the lyriform organs, as different joint angles influence the extension and stiffness of the cuticle surrounding the joint (Blickhan, 1986). Spiders adopt different resting postures when sitting at the hub or retreat of their webs, such that their legs are in contact with the relevant silk threads for vibration sensing (Klärner and Barth, 1982). Resting positions are typically used when the spider is sensing externally generated vibrations-in this configuration, the tibia-metatarsus angle is small (<120°), and the sensitivity of the organs is maximized. When the spider is walking, the legs are extended through much of the stepping cycle, reducing the sensitivity of the lyriform organs (Blickhan and Barth, 1985). Therefore, the spider maximizes lyriform organ sensitivity in contexts where they are most likely to show predatory behavior in response to vibrations. During locomotion, other functions are prioritized, where lyriform organs may serve more of a proprioceptive function (Barth, 2002a).

DISCUSSION

So far, this review has covered the mechanisms governing vibration transmission using orb-weaving spiders as examples of animals that influence transmission both within the environment and the body. We have demonstrated that a wide range of morphological and behavioral traits influence vibration transmission via their effects on masses, springs, dampers, and geometry, which interact together to govern vibrational motion. We have also shown that these traits have considerable variation at different levels. How can we understand this variation to uncover the constraints acting on this sensory mode and the evolutionary drivers? Here we discuss the roles that constraints and control have in shaping this trait variation across different time scales and taxonomic levels, and the implications for vibration sensing. Through this discussion, we hypothesize a role for morphological computation in shaping vibration transmission, which can be tested for in future studies and applied within bioinspired engineering.

Firstly, we see that constraints of different types are acting on the morphological traits. The first type is physical constraints-the action of damping, filtering or distortion caused by the physics underlying the dynamics of vibration transmission. Physical constraints are governed by the geometry and properties of masses, springs, and dampers, and act to filter and dampen vibrational information, exemplified by the effects of the spider's body properties and geometry on vibration transmission both in the web and through the body. These physical constraints ultimately influence propagation distance, the transmission quality of different frequencies, and the ability of the spider to filter information from noise (Mortimer, 2017). The second type is evolutionary trade-offs, given that the web and spider bodies are multifunctional, their morphologies are important not only for vibration transmission, but also other biological functions. For example, web geometry, tension, stiffness, and supercontraction affect both the function of the orb web to capture prey, as well as vibration transmission (Mortimer et al., 2016). Also, the spring and damper properties of spider leg joints are important for locomotion, as well as vibration sensing (Blickhan and Barth, 1985). The third type of constraint is developmental constraints, where the development of the spider's morphological traits determines their geometry and properties, such as the effects of spider age or leg regeneration. For example, vibration transmission through the body and sensory transduction are affected over the course of development by the different growing rates of the metatarsal lyriform organs and associated metatarsal pads (Morley et al., 2016). These constraints do not act equally on morphological traits; some are more prone to one type of constraint than another.

The constraints do not solely act to limit or fix variation in morphological traits; we found examples of the constraints leading to non-functional variation and even constraints being harnessed for functional uses. For example, some morphological features such as leg length affect vibration transmission, but are relatively fixed within an individual due to development constraints (except over development and regeneration). In terms of non-functional variation, some morphological features will vary, but their variation may not be functionally useful for vibration sensing, such as masses in the web. As we have seen, masses have significant effects on vibration transmission due to the strong influence of mechanical impedance, a physical constraint. There are also a few examples of where apparent physical constraints cause variation that may be harnessed for functional uses in the web. For example, although the spider body mass affects vibration transmission via mechanical impedance, this accentuates orientation cues in the web, which spiders may use to locate prey (Mortimer et al., 2019). As a final thought, few of the morphological traits we have reviewed appear to be free from any form of constraint, with the possible exception of mechanosensor placement. The sheer number of sensors and their wide distribution across spider bodies suggests that evolution was able to come up with this solution repeatedly for functional uses, resulting in apparent redundancy in the system. Investigation of sensor placement differences and functionality across different species that differ in their ecology will be able to solve this mystery.

Even where constraints may be acting on morphology, there are different control mechanisms that can mitigate constraints to maintain functionality for vibration sensing. We can infer a control mechanism is in place when a trait shows variation that is functionally useful, but species comparisons and behavioral studies would provide direct evidence. Control mechanisms can be at the individual level due to plasticity that acts at small time scales to shape trait variation. However, they can also be due to evolution acting over longer timescales driving species differences through niche adaptation. We see that individual spiders are unable to directly control leg and body morphology to mitigate constraints, as these are generally fixed following development. This means that an individual's vibration transmission system must be robust to variation, which may explain the number of sensors and redundancy in the system. However, spiders can directly control web morphological traits as they have silks with an impressive range of properties, which is functionally useful to the spider. Silk property variation can control the spring and dampers of their extended phenotype at short timescales in response to changing conditions (Mortimer et al., 2014). We also see evidence for control of constraints via niche adaptation in different spider species as certain morphological traits correlate with particular hunting strategies. However, data on the functionality of specific differences between species in body morphology for vibration sensing is lacking. How different species morphologies influence inherent trade-offs, as well as physical and developmental constraints, requires further study. An interdisciplinary approach utilizing modeling (informed through experimental determination of relevant biomechanical parameters) and behavioral trials would be a promising line of research. In combination, we note that spider morphology does not vary as much between species as other terrestrial arthropods, where morphological diversity is more common in silk-use than overall body plan (Vollrath, 1999).

Behavior is an important mechanism controlling morphology. The constraints and control mechanisms above do not apply in the same way to behavioral traits, which in its nature can be more variable, with plasticity at the individual level and niche adaptation at the species level. At the individual level, we see examples of using behavior to mitigate physical constraints by removing masses on the web (Cloudsley-Thompson, 1995), controlling web properties and geometry (Watanabe, 2000; Mortimer et al., 2016), as well as dictating spider position and posture on the web (Mhatre et al., 2018; Mortimer et al., 2018). We also see evidence of using behavior to shape trade-offs between different functions, for example adjusting web geometry in response to changing environmental conditions to shape mechanical verses sensory functions (Vollrath et al., 1997). These behavioral control mechanisms are extremely useful as they effectively harness the multifunctionality of morphological traits that underlie the trade-off, to enable the spider to deal with variable conditions by changing a multifunctional trait (Vollrath, 1999). Whether behavior can be used to mitigate developmental constraints (such as lyriform organ/pad mismatch) is a current research gap, but could be explored by investigating behaviors that juvenile spiders might use to avoid the problem of filtering low-frequency environmental noise.

The high level of involvement that morphology has in vibration transmission suggests a role for morphological computation, where morphology acts to perform useful tasks within a system (Muller and Hoffmann, 2017). Morphological computation is uniquely applicable to our spider context as vibrational information propagates through both the web and body morphology before reaching embedded mechanosensors. In this context, you can see how morphology, or behavior via its action on morphology, could act on vibrational information during propagation to filter and transform vibrational waves, which could be used in theory to promote information transfer. Using morphological computation, the filtering of information from noise is not handled solely by the nervous system, but by the masses, springs/dampers, and geometry of the web/body morphology, with each of these parameters potentially being tuned to transform the input wave differently under varying conditions. We might expect morphological computation to be selected for in terrestrial arthropods as it is in theory an efficient way, in terms of computational cost and potentially energetic cost, to promote information transfer. This is because complex computational tasks that would usually be performed by the CNS are replaced with relatively simple and potentially passive responses that are governed by a system's morphology (Muller and Hoffmann, 2017). This reduces computational cost as the animal, in theory, can compute more quickly, as CNS processing takes time, but it also reduces the complexity and number of connections required in the nervous system (Pfeifer and Bongard, 2006). It can potentially increase energetic efficiency as the computational tasks could involve passive responses of morphology rather than active metabolic processes in the CNS (Muller and Hoffmann, 2017).

Since morphological computation would be influenced by both morphological and behavioral traits, control of these traits can be selected for in vibration-sensing animals to influence vibration transmission via filtering input waves. Individual plasticity in these traits is likely to influence vibration information transfer through morphological computation. Whether morphology is controlled by an individual to functionally influence vibration transmission through the body warrants further research, but we can make predictions

for how control via morphological computation would work in natural contexts. Possible examples of plasticity in spider morphological traits include the shape of the lyriform organs throughout development and after regeneration. If morphological variation here is functional for vibration information transfer, we would predict lyriform organ shape to transform input waves to compensate for leg length changes before sensory transduction occurs, thus avoiding the need for extra processing in the CNS. In this example, both leg length and lyriform organ shape are morphological traits influencing vibration transmission, as these traits alter the mass and material property distribution of the spider's leg (aspects of mass, springs/dampers, and geometry). Spider behavioral traits potentially involved in morphological computation include posture changes and modifying web geometry, which could be used to functionally influence vibration transmission. If the web uses morphological computation, we would predict that spiders use behavior to modify web properties in response to environmental factors to alter the vibrational information that arrives at the spider, thus avoiding the need for extra processing in the CNS as environment changes. In this example, spider web building is a behavioral trait influencing web geometry as a morphological trait. The geometry of the web in turn influences vibration transmission, as this governs mass and material property distribution of the spider's web (aspects of mass, springs/dampers, and geometry). Web-building spiders are special in this case; since they control their vibratory environment, they can mitigate the physical constraints faced by many other organisms that are limited by the transmission properties of the substrate upon which they live. This again highlights how web-building spiders are an ideal model organism for studying vibration information transfer, since they have control over morphology in both their vibration transmission platform and their body.

Using spiders as inspiration, these control mechanisms could have direct applications for developing new, bioinspired technologies that use material-bound vibrations for information (Lipson, 2014; Barth, 2019)-for example soft robots for search-and-rescue applications (Hawkes et al., 2017). Designing robots to cope with unknown environments in real-time is a challenge for engineers, as environmental variability can pose problems for artificial systems (Hauser et al., 2011). Sensing here is key, where material-bound vibrations can be used to monitor the internal and external environment to respond appropriately in real-time to environmental variability to maintain functionality. Morphological computation is an efficient way to solve these problems for artificial systems as computational tasks can be outsourced to the system's morphology, which reduces power requirements. If the insights of how animals, such as spiders, achieve this can be applied to robotic design, it can open up new applications for robots that are adaptable to changing environments. A spiderinspired soft robot would use morphological computation to increase not only efficiency and adaptability, but also damage tolerance, for example using "smart" structures to detect and compensate for damage to part of its body (Hauser et al., 2014). To reach this stage, it is necessary to fill the current research gap in our fundamental understanding of how an eightlegged spider-shaped morphology transmits vibrations. What are the most important biomechanical parameters influencing wave transmission? Is there any evidence for morphological computation significantly reducing processing cost in the CNS? Is the system robust enough for morphological computation to still be effective in the face of variation in morphology over time, and could an individual spider exploit this? How does this process vary in different species, with different life strategies and different morphologies? Mathematical modeling of the wholebody system, combined with experimental manipulations of the animal systems, may provide the answer.

Further research is likely to show that morphological computation in nature is far more widespread than has previously been recognized. We suggest that evolution has produced an array of sensory solutions to problems faced by engineers, and that continued research into understanding the mechanisms that natural systems use to promote information transfer will lead to new types of technologies for varied applications.

REFERENCES

- Balachandran, B., and Magrab, E. B. (2008). Vibrations. Toronto: CL Engineering. Barth, F. G. (1972). Physiology of slit sense organs 2. Functional morphology of a mechanoreceptor. J. Comp. Physiol. 81, 159–186.
- Barth, F. G. (2002a). A Spider's World: Senses and Behavior. Berlin: Springer.
- Barth, F. G. (2002b). Spider senses technical perfection and biology. *Zoology* 105, 271–285. doi: 10.1078/0944-2006-00082
- Barth, F. G. (2019). Mechanics to pre-process information for the fine tuning of mechanoreceptors. J. Comp. Physiol. A 205, 661–686. doi: 10.1007/s00359-019-01355-z
- Barth, F. G., and Bohnenberger, J. (1978). Lyriform slit sense organ Thresholds and stimulus amplitude ranges in a multi-unit mechanoreceptor. J. Comp. Physiol. 125, 37–43. doi: 10.1007/bf00656829
- Barth, F. G., Ficker, E., and Federle, H. U. (1984). Model studies on the mechanical significance of grouping in compound spider slit sensilla (*Chelicerata*, *Araneida*). Zoomorphology 104, 204–215. doi: 10.1007/bf00312032
- Barth, F. G., and Pickelmann, P. (1975). Lyriform slit sense-organs Modeling an arthropod mechanoreceptor. J. Comp. Physiol. 103, 39–54. doi: 10.1007/ bf01380043
- Barth, F. G., and Stagl, J. (1976). Slit sense-organs of arachnids Comparative-study of their topography on walking legs (*Chelicerata. Arachnida*). Zoomorphologie 86, 1–23. doi: 10.1007/bf01006710
- Bleckmann, H., and Barth, F. G. (1984). Sensory ecology of a semi-aquatic spider (Dolomedes triton) 2. the release of predatory behavior by water-surface waves. Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol. 14, 303–312. doi: 10.1007/bf00299502
- Blickhan, R. (1986). Stiffness of an arthropod leg joint. J. Biomech. 19, 375–384. doi: 10.1016/0021-9290(86)90014-x
- Blickhan, R., and Barth, F. G. (1985). Strains in the exoskeleton of spiders. J. Comp. Physiol. A 157, 115–147. doi: 10.1007/bf00611101
- Boutry, C., and Blackledge, T. A. (2010). Evolution of supercontraction in spider silk: structure-function relationship from tarantulas to orb-weavers. J. Exp. Biol. 213, 3505–3514. doi: 10.1242/jeb.046110
- Cloudsley-Thompson, J. L. (1995). A review of the anti-predator devices of spiders. Bull. Br. Arachnol. Soc. 10, 81–96.
- Cocroft, R. B., and Rodríguez, R. L. (2005). The behavioral ecology of insect vibrational communication. *Bioscience* 55, 323–334. doi: 10.1641/0006-3568(2005)055[0323:tbeoiv]2.0.co;2
- de Crespigny, F. E. C., Herberstein, M. E., and Elgar, M. A. (2001). Food caching in orb-web spiders (*Araneae* : *Araneoidea*). Sci. Nat. 88, 42–45. doi: 10.1007/ s001140000194
- Eberhard, W. G. (1972). The web of *Uloborus diversus* Araneae Uloboridae. *J. Zool.* 166, 417–465. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7998.1972.tb04968.x

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

TM wrote the first draft and prepared the figures. BM and TM edited the manuscript. BM provided supervision for TM. Both authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the Royal Society University Research Fellowship to BM (URF\R1\191033).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank the Royal Society for funding. We thank Tom Mulder for discussions on spider biotremology and also for his comments on the manuscript.

- Elias, D. O., Hebets, E. A., Hoy, R. R., and Mason, A. C. (2005). Seismic signals are crucial for male mating success in a visual specialist jumping spider (*Araneae* : *Salticidae*). Anim. Behav. 69, 931–938. doi: 10.1016/j.anbehav.2004.06.024
- Elias, D. O., and Mason, A. C. (2014). "The role of wave and substrate heterogeneity in vibratory communication: practical issues in studying the effect of vibratory environments in communication," in *Studying Vibrational Communication*, eds R. B. Cocroft, M. Gogala, P. S. M. Hill, and A. Wessel (New York, NY: Springer), 215–248. doi: 10.1007/978-3-662-43607-3_12
- Elias, D. O., Mason, A. C., Maddison, W. P., and Hoy, R. R. (2003). Seismic signals in a courting male jumping spider (*Araneae : Salticidae*). J. Exp. Biol. 206, 4029–4039. doi: 10.1242/jeb.00634
- Erko, M., Younes-Metzler, O., Rack, A., Zaslansky, P., Young, S. L., Milliron, G., et al. (2015). Micro- and nano-structural details of a spider's filter for substrate vibrations: relevance for low-frequency signal transmission. J. R. Soc. Interface 12:20141111. doi: 10.1098/rsif.2014.1111
- Foelix, R. F. (1979). Biology of Spiders. New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Franceschini, N., Pichon, J. M., and Blanes, C. (1992). From insect vision to robot vision. *Phil. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B* 337, 283–294. doi: 10.1098/rstb.1992.0106
- Frohlich, C., and Buskirk, R. E. (1982). Transmission and attenuation of vibration in orb spider webs. J. Theor. Biol. 95, 13–36. doi: 10.1016/0022-5193(82) 90284-3
- Guan, J., Porter, D., and Vollrath, F. (2012). Silks cope with stress by tuning their mechanical properties under load. *Polymer* 53, 2717–2726. doi: 10.1016/j. polymer.2012.04.017
- Guan, J., Vollrath, F., and Porter, D. (2011). Two mechanisms for supercontraction in *Nephila* spider dragline silk. *Biomacromolecules* 12, 4030–4035. doi: 10.1021/ bm201032v
- Guinea, G. V., Elices, M., Pérez-Rigueiro, J., and Plaza, G. R. (2005). Stretching of supercontracted fibers: a link between spinning and the variability of spider silk. *J. Exp. Biol.* 208, 25–30. doi: 10.1242/jeb.01344
- Hauser, H., Ijspeert, A. J., Füchslin, R. M., Pfeifer, R., and Maass, W. (2011). Towards a theoretical foundation for morphological computation with compliant bodies. *Biol. Cybern.* 105, 355–370. doi: 10.1007/s00422-012-0471-0
- Hauser, H., Nakajima, K., and Füchslin, R. M. (2014). "Morphological computation - The body as a computational resource," in *Opinions and Outlooks on Morphological Computation*, eds H. Hauser, R. M. Füchslin, and R. Pfeifer (e-book), 227–244.
- Hawkes, E. W., Blumenschein, L. H., Greer, J. D., and Okamura, A. M. (2017). A soft robot that navigates its environment through growth. *Sci. Robot.* 2:eaan3028. doi: 10.1126/scirobotics.aan3028
- Henaut, Y., Machkour-M'Rabet, S., Winterton, P., and Calmé, S. (2010). Insect attraction by webs of Nephila clavipes (Araneae: Nephilidae). J. Arachnol. 38, 135–138. doi: 10.1636/t08-72.1

- Herberstein, M. E., Abernethy, K. E., Backhouse, K., Bradford, H., de Crespigny,
 F. E., Luckock, P. R., et al. (1998). The effect of feeding history on prey capture behaviour in the orbweb spider *Argiope keyserlingi* Karsch (*Araneae: Araneidae*). *Ethology* 104, 565–571. doi: 10.1111/j.1439-0310.1998.tb0 0091.x
- Hill, P. S. M. (2009). How do animals use substrate-borne vibrations as an information source? *Sci. Nat.* 96, 1355–1371. doi: 10.1007/s00114-009-0588-8
- Hill, P. S. M., and Wessel, A. (2016). Biotremology. Curr. Biol. 26, R187-R191.
- Hössl, B., Böhm, H. J., Rammerstorfer, F. G., and Barth, F. G. (2007). Finite element modeling of arachnid slit sensilla- I. The mechanical significance of different slit arrays. J. Comp. Physiol. A 193, 445–459. doi: 10.1007/s00359-006-0201-y
- Hössl, B., Böhm, H. J., Rammerstorfer, F. G., Mullan, R., and Barth, F. G. (2006). Studying the deformation of arachnid slit sensilla by a fracture mechanical approach. J. Biomech. 39, 1761–1768. doi: 10.1016/j.jbiomech.2005.05.031
- Hössl, B., Böhm, H. J., Schaber, C. F., Rammerstorfer, F. G., and Barth, F. G. (2009).
 Finite element modeling of arachnid slit sensilla: II. Actual lyriform organs and the face deformations of the individual slits. *J. Comp. Physiol. A* 195, 881–894. doi: 10.1007/s00359-009-0467-y
- Klärner, D., and Barth, F. G. (1982). Vibratory signals and prey capture in orb-weaving spiders (*Zygiella x-notata, Nephila clavipes, Araneidae*). J. Comp. Physiol. 148, 445–455. doi: 10.1007/bf00619783
- Landolfa, M. A., and Barth, F. G. (1996). Vibrations in the orb web of the spider Nephila clavipes: cues for discrimination and orientation. J. Comp. Physiol. A 179, 493–508.
- Lipson, H. (2014). Challenges and opportunities for design, simulation, and fabrication of soft robots. *Soft Robotics* 1, 21–27. doi: 10.1089/soro.2013.0007
- Liu, Y., Sponner, A., Porter, D., and Vollrath, F. (2008). Proline and processing of spider silks. *Biomacromolecules* 9, 116–121. doi: 10.1021/bm700877g
- Main, I. G. (1993). Vibrations and Waves in Physics, 3rd Edn. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Masters, W. M. (1984a). Vibrations in the orbwebs of Nuctenea sclopetaria (Araneidae) 1. Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol. 15, 207–215. doi: 10.1007/bf00292977
- Masters, W. M. (1984b). Vibrations in the orbwebs of *Nuctenea sclopetaria* (*Araneidae*) 2. Prey and wind signals and the spider's response threshold. *Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol.* 15, 217–223. doi: 10.1007/bf00292978
- Masters, W. M., and Markl, H. (1981). Vibration signal transmission in spider Nuctenea sclopetaria orb webs. Science 209, 363–365. doi: 10.1126/science.213. 4505.363
- McConney, M. E., Schaber, C. F., Julian, M. D., Barth, F. G., and Tsukruk, V. V. (2007). Viscoelastic nanoscale properties of cuticle contribute to the highpass properties of spider vibration receptor (*Cupiennius salei* Keys). J. R. Soc. Interface 4, 1135–1143. doi: 10.1098/rsif.2007.1000
- Mhatre, N., Sivalinghem, S., and Mason, A. C. (2018). Posture controls mechanical tuning in the black widow spider mechanosensory system. *bioRxiv* [Preprint], Available at: https://www.biorxiv.org/content/10.1101/484238v1 (accessed October 20, 2019).PMIDNOPMID
- Mo, A., Izzi, F., Haeufle, D. F. B., and Badri-Spröwitz, A. (2020). Effective viscous damping enables morphological computation in legged locomotion. *Front. Robot. AI* 7:110. doi: 10.3389/frobt.2020.00110
- Molina, J., Schaber, C. F., and Barth, F. G. (2009). In search of differences between the two types of sensory cells innervating spider slit sensilla (*Cupiennius* salei Keys.). J. Comp. Physiol. A 195, 1031–1041. doi: 10.1007/s00359-009-0477-9
- Morley, E. L., Sivalinghem, S., and Mason, A. C. (2016). Developmental morphology of a lyriform organ in the Western black widow (*Latrodectus hesperus*). Zoomorphology 135, 433–440. doi: 10.1007/s00435-016-0324-9
- Mortimer, B. (2017). Biotremology: do physical constraints limit the propagation of vibrational information? *Anim. Behav.* 130, 165–174. doi: 10.1016/j.anbehav. 2017.06.015
- Mortimer, B. (2019). A Spider's vibration landscape: adaptations to promote vibrational information transfer in orb webs. *Integr. Comp. Biol.* 59, 1636–1645. doi: 10.1093/icb/icz043
- Mortimer, B., Gordon, S. D., Holland, C., Siviour, C. R., Vollrath, F., and Windmill, J. F. C. (2014). The speed of sound in silk: linking material performance to biological function. Adv. Mater. 26, 5179–5183. doi: 10.1002/adma.201401027
- Mortimer, B., Soler, A., Siviour, C. R., and Vollrath, F. (2018). Remote monitoring of vibrational information in spider webs. Sci. Nat. 105:37.

- Mortimer, B., Soler, A., Siviour, C. R., Zaera, R., and Vollrath, F. (2016). Tuning the instrument: sonic properties in the spider's web. J. R. Soc. Interface 13:20160341. doi: 10.1098/rsif.2016.0341
- Mortimer, B., Soler, A., Wilkins, L., and Vollrath, F. (2019). Decoding the locational information in the orb web vibrations of *Araneus diadematus* and *Zygiella x-notata. J. R. Soc. Interface* 16:154.
- Muller, V. C., and Hoffmann, M. (2017). What is morphological computation? On how the body contributes to cognition and control. *Artif. Life* 23, 1–24. doi: 10.1162/artl_a_00219
- Naftilan, S. A. (1999). Transmission of vibrations in funnel and sheet spider webs. Int. J. Biol. Macromol. 24, 289–293. doi: 10.1016/s0141-8130(98) 00092-0
- O'Connell-Rodwell, C. E. (2007). Keeping an "Ear" to the ground: seismic communication in elephants. *Physiology* 22, 287–294. doi: 10.1152/physiol. 00008.2007
- Pasquet, A., Cardot, J., and Leborgne, R. (2007). Wasp attacks and spider defence in the orb weaving species Zygiella x-notata. J. Insect Behav. 20, 553–564. doi: 10.1007/s10905-007-9098-8
- Pfeifer, R., and Bongard, J. (2006). *How the Body Shapes the Way we Think: A New View of Intelligence*. Cambridge, MA: MIT press.
- Pringle, J. W. S. (1955). The function of the lyriform organs of arachnids. J. Exp. Biol. 32, 270–278.
- Schüch, W., and Barth, F. G. (1985). Temporal patterns in the vibratory courtship signals of the wandering spider *Cupiennius salei* Keys. *Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol.* 16, 263–271. doi: 10.1007/bf00310990
- Schüch, W., and Barth, F. G. (1990). Vibratory communication in a spider - Female responses to synthetic male vibrations. J. Comp. Physiol. A 166, 817–826.
- Seyfarth, E. A. (1978). Lyriform slit sense-organs and muscle reflexes in spider leg. J. Comp. Physiol. 125, 45–57. doi: 10.1007/bf00656830
- Seyfarth, E. A., and Barth, F. G. (1972). Compound slit sense organs on spider leg - Mechanoreceptors involved in kinesthetic orientation. J. Comp. Physiol. 78, 176–191. doi: 10.1007/bf00693611
- Seyfarth, E. A., Eckweiler, W., and Hammer, K. (1985). Proprioceptors and sensory nerves in the legs of a spider. *Cupiennius salei (Arachnida, Araneida)*. *Zoomorphology* 105, 190–196. doi: 10.1007/bf00312156
- Seyfarth, E. A., Hergenröder, R., Ebbes, H., and Barth, F. G. (1982). Idiothetic orientation of a wandering spider - Compensation of detours and estimates of goal distance. *Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol.* 11, 139–148. doi: 10.1007/bf0030 0103
- Speck, J., and Barth, F. G. (1982). Vibration sensitivity of pretarsal slit sensilla in the spider leg. J. Comp. Physiol. 148, 187–194. doi: 10.1007/bf00619125
- Speck-Hergenröder, J., and Barth, F. G. (1988). Vibration sensitive hairs on the spider leg. *Experientia* 44, 13–14. doi: 10.1007/bf01960224
- Straus, S., and Avilés, L. (2018). Effects of host colony size and hygiene behaviours on social spider kleptoparasite loads along an elevation gradient. *Funct. Ecol.* 32, 2707–2716. doi: 10.1111/1365-2435.13225
- Vibert, S., Scott, C., and Gries, G. (2016). Vibration transmission through sheet webs of hobo spiders (*Eratigena agrestis*) and tangle webs of western black widow spiders (*Latrodectus hesperus*). J. Comp. Physiol. A 202, 749–758. doi: 10.1007/s00359-016-1113-0
- Vincent, J. (1990). Structural Biomaterials Revised Edition. New Jersey: Princeton University Press.
- Vollrath, F. (1995). Lyriform organs on regenerated spider legs. Bull. Br. Arachnol. Soc. 10, 115–118.
- Vollrath, F. (1999). Biology of spider silk. Int. J. Biol. Macromol. 24, 81-88.
- Vollrath, F. (2000). Strength and structure of spiders' silks. J. Biotechnol. 74, 67–83. doi: 10.1016/s1389-0352(00)00006-4
- Vollrath, F., Downes, M., and Krackow, S. (1997). Design variability in web geometry of an orb-weaving spider. *Physiol. Behav.* 62, 735–743. doi: 10.1016/ s0031-9384(97)00186-8
- Vollrath, F., Madsen, B., and Shao, Z. Z. (2001). The effect of spinning conditions on the mechanics of a spider's dragline silk. *Proc. R. Soc. B* 268, 2339–2346.
- Vollrath, F., and Samu, F. (1997). The effect of starvation on web geometry in an orb-weaving spider. Bull. Br. Arachnol. Soc. 10, 295–298.
- Watanabe, T. (2000). Web tuning of an orb-web spider, Octonoba sybotides, regulates prey-catching behaviour. Proc. R. Soc. B 267, 565–569. doi: 10.1098/ rspb.2000.1038

- Wignall, A. E., and Heberstein, M. E. (2013). The influence of vibratory courtship on female mating behaviour in orb-web spiders (*Argiope keyserlingi*. Karsch 1878). *PLoS One* 8:e53057. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0053057
- Wirth, E., and Barth, F. G. (1992). Forces in the spider orb web. J. Comp. Physiol. A 171, 359–371.
- Wu, C. H., and Elias, D. O. (2014). Vibratory noise in anthropogenic habitats and its effects on prey detection in a web-building spider. *Anim. Behav.* 90, 47–56. doi: 10.1016/j.anbehav.2014.01.006
- Yack, J. E. (2004). The structure and function of auditory chordotonal organs in insects. *Microsc. Res. Techniq.* 63, 315–337. doi: 10.1002/jemt.20051
- Young, S. L., Chyasnavichyus, M., Erko, M., Barth, F. G., Fratzl, P., Zlotnikov, I., et al. (2014). A spider's biological vibration filter: micromechanical characteristics of a biomaterial surface. *Acta Biomater*. 10, 4832–4842. doi: 10.1016/j.actbio.2014.07.023
- Zaera, R., Soler, A., and Teus, J. (2014). Uncovering changes in spider orb-web topology owing to aerodynamic effects. *J. R. Soc. Interface* 11:20140484. doi: 10.1098/rsif.2014.0484

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Miller and Mortimer. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Subgenual Organ Complex in Stick Insects: Functional Morphology and Mechanical Coupling of a Complex Mechanosensory Organ

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Fernando Montealegre-Z, University of Lincoln, United Kingdom

Reviewed by:

Volker Dürr, Bielefeld University, Germany Berthold Gerhard Hedwig, University of Cambridge, United Kingdom

*Correspondence:

Johannes Strauß johannes.strauss@ physzool.bio.uni-giessen.de

†ORCID:

Johannes Strauß orcid.org/0000-0002-0494-2578 Leif Moritz orcid.org/0000-0002-6028-5189 Peter T. Rühr orcid.org/0000-0003-2776-6172

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Behavioral and Evolutionary Ecology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution

> Received: 23 November 2020 Accepted: 21 January 2021 Published: 23 February 2021

Citation:

Strauß J, Moritz L and Rühr PT (2021) The Subgenual Organ Complex in Stick Insects: Functional Morphology and Mechanical Coupling of a Complex Mechanosensory Organ. Front. Ecol. Evol. 9:632493. doi: 10.3389/fevo.2021.632493 ¹ AG Integrative Sensory Physiology, Institute for Animal Physiology, Justus-Liebig-Universität Gießen, Gießen, Germany,
 ² Center for Mind, Brain and Behavior (CMBB), University of Marburg and Justus Liebig University Gießen, Gießen, Germany,
 ³ Zoological Research Museum Alexander Koenig, Leibniz Institute for Animal Biodiversity, Section Myriapoda, Bonn,
 Germany, ⁴ Institute of Evolutionary Biology and Animal Ecology, University of Bonn, Bonn, Germany

Johannes Strauß^{1,2*†}, Leif Moritz^{3†} and Peter T. Rühr^{4†}

Leg chordotonal organs in insects show different adaptations to detect body movements, substrate vibrations, or airborne sound. In the proximal tibia of stick insects occur two chordotonal organs: the subgenual organ, a highly sensitive vibration receptor organ, and the distal organ, of which the function is yet unknown. The distal organ consists of a linear set of scolopidial sensilla extending in the tibia in distal direction toward the tarsus. Similar organs occur in the elaborate hearing organs in crickets and bushcrickets, where the auditory sensilla are closely associated with thin tympanal membranes and auditory trachea in the leg. Here, we document the position and attachment points for the distal organ in three species of stick insects without auditory adaptations (Ramulus artemis, Sipyloidea sipylus, and Carausius morosus). The distal organ is located in the dorsal hemolymph channel and attaches at the proximal end to the dorsal and posterior leg cuticle by tissue strands. The central part of the distal organ is placed closer to the dorsal cuticle and is suspended by fine tissue strands. The anterior part is clearly separated from the tracheae, while the distal part of the organ is placed over the anterior trachea. The distal organ is not connected to a tendon or muscle, which would indicate a proprioceptive function. The sensilla in the distal organ have dendrites oriented in distal direction in the leg. This morphology does not reveal obvious auditory adaptations as in tympanal organs, while the position in the hemolymph channel and the direction of dendrites indicate responses to forces in longitudinal direction of the leg, likely vibrational stimuli transmitted in the leg's hemolymph. The evolutionary convergence of complex chordotonal organs with linear sensilla sets between tympanal hearing organs and atympanate organs in stick insects is emphasized by the different functional morphologies and sensory specializations.

Keywords: mechanoreception, chordotonal organ, stick insect, neuroanatomy, vibration, hearing, sensory evolution
INTRODUCTION

Structural differentiation in sensory organs commonly correlates to functional specializations (Steinbrecht, 1999; Ridgel et al., 2001; Homberg and Paech, 2002; Land and Nilsson, 2012; Scherberich et al., 2017; Strauß, 2017; Zhao and McBride, 2020). This is also found for chordotonal organs, which are internal mechanoreceptors occurring over the insect body plan (Howse, 1968; Field and Matheson, 1998; Kavlie and Albert, 2013). With scolopidial sensilla as sensory units, the chordotonal organs are versatile for adaptations to different mechanical stimuli acting on the sensilla by stretching or tilting of the dendrite. In one organ like the antennal Johnston's organ, sensilla can be functionally specialized in different subgroups which are not anatomically separated (eg., Kamikouchi et al., 2009; Matsuo and Kamikouchi, 2013). In other cases, sub-groups of sensilla or several organs occur in close proximity (Field and Matheson, 1998). For the latter, the subgenual organ complex in orthopteroid insects provides an example of 2-4 chordotonal organs located in the leg (Strauß et al., 2014). This is a notable expansion of sensory structures, as the subgenual organ in several insect lineages is the sole chordotonal organ in the proximal tibia and may consist of only few sensilla which are sufficient for detection of vibration signals (Michel et al., 1982; Nishino et al., 2016; Čokl et al., 2019). The subgenual organ is the most sensitive receptor organ for substrate vibrations and it occurs in most insects (Cokl and Virant-Doberlet, 2009; Lakes-Harlan and Strauß, 2014).

Distinct types of chordotonal organs are recognized based on their functional morphologies, including connective chordotonal organs, or tympanal (auditory) organs. The different attachments to surrounding structures like joints, cuticle, or trachea, couple the sensory organs to the sites of stimulus transfer on the insect body. Depending on the coupling/attachment, chordotonal organs can thus adaptively function as proprioceptors or exteroceptors. The mechanical coupling structurally allows to transfer mechanical force to the sensory organ as a group of sensilla, and ultimately to the dendritic membrane of the sensilla (French, 1988).

Connective chordotonal organs are attached to a strand of connective tissue to a tendon or body parts (Howse, 1968; Wright, 1976; Field and Matheson, 1998). They can function as proprioceptors, responding to body movements if they are located at or linked to joints by a receptor apodeme (Bässler, 1965, 1977; Field and Pflüger, 1989), tendons (Godden, 1972), or occur at pleural membranes (Hustert, 1974). Here, they can respond to movements like leg extension and flexion (Bässler, 1993; Tuthill and Azim, 2018) and motion of abdominal segments (Hustert, 1974). Other chordotonal organs can function as exteroceptors, detecting environmental stimuli. In these cases, they are usually coupled e.g., to structures resonating to airborne sound, like tympanal membranes and associated tracheal spaces in hearing organs. In these cases, both the tympana of very thin cuticle, as well as enlarged trachea, can provide entrance for sound energy (Stumpner and Nowotny, 2014; Montealegre-Z and Robert, 2015; Römer and Schmidt, 2016; Windmill and Jackson, 2016). Another modality detected by chordotonal organs are substrate-borne vibrations transmitted over the legs and the body. Receptor

organs adapted to substrate vibrations are often located in the legs, like the subgenual organ. The subgenual organ spans the hemolymph channel in the proximal tibia and is excited by substrate vibrations transferred over the leg and the hemolymph system (Lakes-Harlan and Strauß, 2014). However, vibration stimuli are also detected by connective chordotonal organs like the femoral chordotonal organ, which usually has the highest sensitivity at relatively low frequencies (locust: Field and Pflüger, 1989; green lacewing: Devetak and Amon, 1997; stick insect: Stein and Sauer, 1999; stink bug: Čokl et al., 2006; cerambycid beetle: Takanashi et al., 2016).

For insect chordotonal organs, which repeatedly evolved a complex structure or a high number of sensory neurons (Field and Matheson, 1998; Yack, 2004), the functional morphology can indicate their physiological role by identifying how sensilla are stimulated by mechanical energy from their coupling to different structures like cuticle or tracheae. Elaborate chordotonal organs in the legs with linearly arranged sensilla occur in Ensifera, the long-horned grasshoppers (Nishino and Field, 2003; Strauß and Lakes-Harlan, 2009; Strauß et al., 2017). Especially the tympanal hearing organs in crickets and tettigoniids are well studied, with the linear sensilla forming the basis for frequency analysis (Stumpner and Nowotny, 2014; Montealegre-Z and Robert, 2015; Hummel et al., 2017; Nishino et al., 2019). Notably, these hearing organs in Ensifera are located next to other chordotonal organs which are sensitive to substrate vibrations. The differentiation of distinct organs can allow functional specialization by divergent tuning of individual organs, or by multimodal stimulus detection (Lin et al., 1993; Kalmring et al., 1994). A sensory organ similar in neuroanatomy to these tympanal organs is the distal organ (DO) of stick insects (Phasmatodea), located also in the proximal tibia, which is not associated with tympanal membranes (Strauß and Lakes-Harlan, 2013; Strauß, 2020a). This neuroanatomical organization evolved in convergence in these two taxa, and in stick insects independent to the evolution of tympanal membranes (Strauß and Lakes-Harlan, 2013). The DO in stick insects contains \sim 20 sensilla in a linear array with decreasing cell sizes from proximal to distal (Strauß and Lakes-Harlan, 2013; Strauß, 2020b). This neuroanatomical complexity strongly suggests an important physiological role of the stick insect DO, as well as a mechanosensory adaptation different to the subgenual organ. The physiological function of the DO has not been specifically studied, but it is possibly vibrosensitive (Strauß and Lakes-Harlan, 2017). A more detailed understanding of the DO functional anatomy and its attachments will also show the similarities and differences to the auditory organs of Ensifera, and likely give insights into the different adaptations in diverse sensory organs.

Here, we investigate the functional morphology and neuroanatomy of the DO in stick insects. Previously, the attachments of the organ in the tibia were not studied in detail (Strauß and Lakes-Harlan, 2013). We investigate the DO in three species of stick insects to provide information for the functional morphology and their similarity in different genera. We included *Carausius morosus* (Lonchodinae) as model species for neurophysiology (eg., Bässler, 1983; Bässler and Büschges, 1998; Mantziaris et al., 2020), *Sipyloidea sipylus* (Necrosciinae) as this species has been studied for the neuroanatomy and physiology of the subgenual organ complex (Strauß and Lakes-Harlan, 2013, 2017), and Ramulus artemis (Clitumninae) to sample a further species with leg sizes accessible for vital stainings. The aim here is to document the structure of the DO within the tibia (the hemoplymph channel), to identify the points of suspension or attachment for the DO, and thereby to indicate the possible mechanical coupling of the DO to other leg structures. For this, the organ is investigated for possible connections to tendons, connective tissue, trachea, and the leg's cuticle. The connections to these surrounding structures can indicate possible mechanical input pathways and the sensory activation (eg., Shaw, 1994b; Strauß et al., 2017; Stritih-Peljhan et al., 2019). Understanding the functional morphology of the DO of stick insects in more detail will also give insights into the extent of evolutionary convergence in the DO to the auditory sensilla in crickets and tettigoniids.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Insects

This study investigated adult female *Ramulus artemis* (Westwood, 1859), *Carausius morosus* (Sinéty, 1901), and *Sipyloidea sipylus* (Westwood, 1859) for their sensory organs in the proximal tibia. *R. artemis* was included in the study to gain data on the subgenual organ complex for a previously unstudied species of stick insects [see Strauß and Lakes-Harlan (2013)]. The larger body size made preparations of the legs for vital stainings more feasible (see below). For all species, parthenogenetically reproducing females were reared in a laboratory culture at the Institute for Animal Physiology, Justus-Liebig-Universität Gießen. They were reared at 21–23°C, and under a 12:12 h light-dark cycle. The insects were provided with leaves of Rosaceae *ad libitum* and sprayed daily with water.

The experiments documented here comply with the principles of animal care of the Justus-Liebig-Universität Gießen, Germany, and with the current law of the Federal Republic of Germany.

External Leg Morphology

The external leg cuticle was documented for isolated legs with a Leica 9Si dissection microscope and an in-build digital camera $(1,024 \times 768 \text{ pixels})$ *via* the Leica Application Suite version 4.12 (Leica Microsystems CMS GmbH, Wetzlar, Germany). The tibia was photographed from the anterior and the posterior side. Series of photographs of each leg were combined using the freeware program CombineZP¹.

Neuroanatomy and Axonal Tracing

For neuroanatomical experiments, all insects were checked for intact legs and tarsi to avoid possible influences of regeneration after leg autotomy in postembryogenic development. The sensory organs of the subgenual organ complex and their neuronal innervation were stained intracellularly by axonal tracing using cobalt solution (5% CoCl₂ \times 6 H₂O; Merck, Darmstadt,

Germany, dissolved in Aqua dest.). The procedure for the dissection and tracing of the nervus cruris followed Strauß (2020a): legs were fixed with insect pins in a glass dish that was covered with Sylgard (Sylgard 184, Suter Kunststoffe AG, Fraubrunnen, Switzerland) with the ventral side facing upward. The ventral cuticle was removed with a piece of a blade (Feather FA-10, 0.1 mm, Feather, Osaka, Japan). The nerve dissection took place while covering the legs with Carausius saline [see Bässler (1977); 177.96 mmol NaC1, 17.4 mmol KC1, 25.1 mmol MgC1₂ \times 6 H₂O, Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany; 7.48 mmol $CaC1_2 \times 2 H_2O$, Merck, Darmstadt, Germany; 1.98 mmol Tris, from Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, United States; dissolved in Aqua dest., adjusted to pH = 7.4]. The nervus cruris was cut with iridectomy scissors, and the ending of the nerve was placed in a glass capillary filled with a 5% cobalt solution. The preparations were incubated at 4°C for 48 hr. The neuronal staining was achieved by precipitating the cobalt with ammonium sulfide (Alpha Aesar, Karlsruhe, Germany) in a 1% solution in Carausius saline. Prior to the incubation, the tarsi and distal tibia was cut off. Legs were placed in the ammonium sulfide solution for 15 min, rinsed in Carausius saline, and fixed in paraformaldehyde (4%; Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, United States) for 60 min. Following dehydration in a graded ethanol series (Carl Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany), the legs were cleared and stored in methyl salicylate (Merck, Darmstadt, Germany).

Light Microscopy and Documentation

Before microscopy of the tracing preparations, the posterior cuticle in the tibia of tracing preparations was removed with a piece of a blade. The presence of the posterior subgenual organ and its neuronal innervation (see section "Results") were checked to ensure that the complete sensory organs were present after opening the leg. The preparations were mounted on a microscopy slide and were in most cases viewed from the posterior side. Occasionally, legs were also documented from dorsal direction.

The legs were viewed on a microscopy slide under methyl salicylate (Merck, Darmstadt, Germany) with an Olympus BH-2 microscope (Olympus, Shinjuku, Japan). Digital photographs were acquired with a Leica DFC 7000 T camera ($1,920 \times 1,440$ pixel) attached to the microscope *via* the Leica Application Software V4.9 (Leica Microsystems CMS GmbH, Wetzlar, Germany). Series of photographs were combined using CombineZP. Photographs were assembled into panels, adjusted for contrast and brightness, and labeled using CorelDraw 11 (Corel, Ottawa, Canada).

The innervation pattern of the tibia was drawn using a Leitz microscope combined with a drawing attachment (Leitz, Wetzlar, Germany), and digitally redrawn and labeled using CorelDraw 11.

μ CT Analysis of Sensory Organs

For the comparative micro-computed tomography (μ CT) analysis, at least one tibia each of the foreleg and midleg of *R. artemis*, *C. morosus*, and *S. sipylus* were fixed for 24 h in Bouin's solution and then stored in 70% ethanol. To increase soft tissue contrast in the μ CT scans, all samples were subsequently stained in a solution of 0.3% phosphotungstic acid (PTA; Sigma-Aldrich,

¹http://www.hadleyweb.pwp.blueyonder.co.uk/

St. Louis, MO, United States) in 70% ethanol (Metscher, 2009) for 21 days, and subsequently washed and scanned in 70% ethanol. The tomography imaging was performed with a commercial µCT desktop system (Skyscan 1272, Bruker microCT, Kontich, Belgium) at the Zoological Research Museum A. Koenig (ZFMK). Scan settings are summarized in Table 1.

Thermal drift correction and digital section reconstruction was performed in NRecon 1.7 (Bruker microCT). The resulting image stacks were analyzed in DataViewer 1.5 (Bruker microCT).

Gray level-based three-dimensional volume renderings of the relevant organs were created in Drishti (Limaye, 2012) making use of the "crop" function and various "Clip" planes.

The cropped but otherwise unchanged µCT-scans of the tibiae are available as Supplementary Material at Zenodo².

Vital Staining of Sensory Organs

Vital staining of the subgenual organ complex was achieved with Janus Green B solution [Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, Missouri; dissolved at a concentration of 0.02% in Carausius saline; see Yack (1993)]. Isolated legs were fixed with insect pins in a glass dish with the leg's dorsal side facing upward. The cuticle was cut open dorsally with a piece of a blade and covered with Carausius saline. After removal of the saline, Janus Green B solution was applied for up to 60 s, and the legs then rinsed repeatedly with Carausius saline. The sensory organs were viewed with a dissection microscope (Leica), and digital photographs were taken with a Leica DFC 7000 T camera (1,920 \times 1,440 pixel) mounted on the dissection microscope.

Terminology of Nerves and Nerve **Branches**

The tibia is innervated from the main leg of the nerve, termed nervus cruris. The terminology of nerve branches from the nervus cruris in the tibia follows that established for the more proximal leg segments (Bässler, 1983) by numbering the branches consecutively from proximal to distal. The smaller nerve branches originating from these first-order branches were numbered accordingly [see Strauß (2020a) for the subgenual organ complex in S. sipylus]. The terminology for the sections of the tibia along the different leg axis follows Ball and Field (1981).

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analyses were performed in GraphPad Prism 4 (GraphPad, San Diego, CA, United States) to test for differences in the number of sensilla among the legs pairs in Ramulus artemis with ANOVA, omnibus normality test, and Tukey's Multiple Comparison Test.

RESULTS

Neuroanatomy of the Subgenual Organ Complex

Ramulus artemis is an apterous stick insect with the body form characteristic for many Phasmatodea with thin legs (Figure 1).

²https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.3856675

Leg Tube voltage Tube current Total sample Angular step Exposure Binning F (kV) (µ.A) rotation (°) size (°) time (ms) (T1), [T2] 30 200 360 0.20 1,980 1 × 1	Leg									
[T1], [T2] 30 200 360 0.20 1,980 1×1		(H,A)	lotal sample rotation (°)	Angular step size (°)	Exposure time (ms)	Binning	Filter	Averaging	Random movement (px)	Voxel size (µm)
	[T1], [T2]	200	360	0.20	1,980	1 × 1	No	œ	15	1.80
29 200 360 0.20 1,900 1×1	[T1], [T2]	200	360	0.20	1,900	1×1	No	Q	15	1.00
29 200 360 0.20 1,900 1×1		200	360	0.20	1,900	1×1	No	7	15	1.80



All legs are slender and elongated, with shorter middle legs (Figure 1 and Supplementary Figure 1). The leg's cuticle at the position of the subgenual organ complex next to the femurtibia joint was solid and showed no thinner cuticle compared to adjacent lateral leg areas. There were no differences between the anterior and posterior sides (Supplementary Figure 1).

The subgenual organ complex in *R. artemis* consisted of the subgenual organ (SGO) and the distal organ (DO) recognized by distinct anatomies and innervation (**Figures 1, 2a**). The sensory organs were present in all leg pairs with no obvious differences in the overall organization (**Figure 1**). Axonal tracing showed that the SGO was oriented perpendicularly to the leg's main axis with dendrites pointing distally (**Figures 2a,b**). The most anterior sensilla of the SGO formed a dense group, termed the anterior-ventral subgenual organ (avSGO; Strauß and Lakes-Harlan, 2013) with ~15 sensilla in all leg pairs (**Figures 2a,e**). The avSGO sensilla were placed next to the remaining subgenual sensilla (**Figure 2a**), and their dendrites were oriented in dorso-distal direction. The DO had a linear organization of sensilla

(Figure 2c), while gaps in the line of cell bodies were occasionally seen (Figure 2d; in five out of 30 leg preparations). The DO dendrites were oriented in distal direction (Figures 2c,d). The overall neuroanatomy of the subgenual organ complex in *R. artemis* resembled that of the other stick insect species (*S. sipplus, C. morosus*) included in this study.

The intracellular staining allowed reconstructing the innervation pattern for the chordotonal organs and campaniform sensilla from the nervus cruris (**Figure 2e**). In general, the sensory neurons at the anterior and posterior side of the tibia were innervated by separate nerve branches on the anterior and posterior side: the sensilla of the subgenual organ were innervated by separate nerves on the anterior side (innervated by nerve branch T12) and posterior side (pSGO, innervated by nerve branch T22; see **Figures 2a,b,e**). The sensilla of the SGO occur continuous without gaps between the sensilla with different innervating nerve branches [**Figure 2e**; also Strauß (2020a) for *S. sipylus*]. The sensilla of the DO were innervated jointly with the anterior-ventral



subgenual organ by nerve branch T13 (**Figures 2a,e**). The campaniform sensilla in the proximal tibia (group 6A) on either side were innervated by two nerve branches (anterior: T11, posterior: T12, **Figure 2e**).

The subgenual organ contained 37 ± 5 sensilla in the foreleg, 36 ± 4 sensilla in the midleg, and 39 ± 3 sensilla in the hindleg (n = 10 for each leg). The differences in the numbers of subgenual organ sensilla among the leg pairs were not statistically significant

(ANOVA: p = 0.3912; F = 0.9720; df = 29; D'Agostino and Pearson omnibus normality test: p = 0.1745-0.6189). The distal organ contained 17 ± 2 sensilla in the foreleg, 16 ± 1 sensilla in the midleg, and 21 ± 3 sensilla in the hindleg (n = 10 for each leg). These differences in the distal organ sensilla among leg pairs were statistically significant (ANOVA: p < 0.0001; F = 17.54; df = 29; D'Agostino and Pearson omnibus normality test: p = 0.3336-0.4518), with sensillum numbers significantly higher in the distal organ of the hindleg compared to the fore- and midlegs (Tukey's Multiple Comparison Test: p < 0.001).

Functional Morphology of the Subgenual Organ Complex

The two sensory organs of the subgenual organ complex and associated tissues were stained *in situ* with Janus Green B for *R. artemis* (Figure 3), and analyzed by μ CT for



FIGURE 3 The subgenual organ complex in the legs. (**a**–**c**) Vital staining in *R. artemis* with Janus Green B in (**a**) foreleg, (**b**) midleg, and (**c**) hindleg. In the subgenual organ (SGO), the dendrites (de) point distally from the somata (s) into the SGO tissue (outlined by hatched line) that attaches at the dorsal cuticle (arrowhead). The distal organ (DO) has a triangular form and attaches at the dorsal cuticle (arrow). (**d**–**f**) 3D renderings of the subgenual organ complex from µCT scans in (**d**) *R. artemis* and (**e**,**f**) *S. sipylus* with the SGO and DO. The SGO tissue (hatched line) and the proximal DO attach at the dorsal cuticle (solid arrow). Empty arrow indicates the position of the membrane between SGO and DO. Note the globular fat at the sensory organs. Scales: (**a**) = 500 µm; (**d**–**f**) = 200 µm. at, anterior trachea; de, dendrites; DO, distal organ; pt, posterior trachea; s, somata; SGO, subgenual organ; [T1], foreleg; [T2], midleg; [T3], hindleg.



FIGURE 4 | Morphology and attachment structures of the distal organ (DO) in *R. artemis.* (a) The DO is placed at the anterior cuticle of the tibia, with an extension to the posterior side (empty arrowhead) (foreleg, horizontal longitudinal section). (b) At the dorsal tibia, a strand of tissue extends from the DO to the cuticle (solid arrow) (foreleg, vertical longitudinal section). The subgenual organ (SGO) is located more proximally in the tibia with a separate connection at the dorsal cuticle (solid arrowhead). (c) The main part of the DO extends to the dorsal cuticle by a fine strand (open arrow), with diffuse tissue in the space between the DO and the dorsal cuticle (foreleg, vertical longitudinal section). A strand from the DOI extends to the ventral SGO (asterisk). (d) Transversal sections of the foreleg show the *(Continued)*

FIGURE 4 | Continued

DO suspended by the two larger tissue strands $[(d_i)$, solid arrows] and thin tissue strands $[(d_{ii}-d_{iv})$, solid arrows] from the cuticle. Section levels are indicated in (c). The tissue strand to the posterior side originates from the posterior trachea (empty arrowhead). Note the distance of the DO to the anterior trachea in proximal sections. (e_{i-v}) Transversal sections of the midleg DO at corresponding levels with identical strands. (f-i) Details of the boxed areas in (d_{ii-iv}, e_{ii}) with thin strands and tissue indicated by arrows. (j) The distal end of the DO is close to the anterior cuticle (foreleg, horizontal longitudinal section). (k,l) Connective tissue (pointed empty arrowheads) between the posterior trachea (pt) and the subgenual organ (SGO), located proximally to the DO. The section shown in (k) is located 27 μ m dorsally to the section in panel (l). Note that in panel (l), the connective strand extends distally to the level of the DO but runs to the posterior cuticle and not the DO placed more anteriorly (empty arrowhead). Scales: (a,b,d,e,j-l) = 200 μ m, (c) = 300 μ m, (f-i) = 100 μ m. at, anterior trachea; CS, campaniform sensilla; DO, distal organ; ft, fat tissue; lg, ligament between tracheae; pt, posterior trachea; SGO, subgenual organ.

R. artemis (Figures 3, 4, 6), *C. morosus* and *S. sipylus* (Figures 5, 6). The anatomy was highly similar for *R. artemis* (Figure 4), *C. morosus* (Figures 5d-f,h) and *S. sipylus* (Figures 5a-c,g).

The subgenual organ complex was located dorsally to the two tibial tracheae (Figures 3a-c). The SGO spanned the proximal tibia, and was suspended in the hemolymph channel with attachment to the dorsal and



FIGURE 5 | Morphology and attachment structures of the distal organ in *S. sipylus* and *C. morosus* forelegs. In (a) *S. sipylus* and (e) *C. morosus*, the distal organ (DO) shows a proximal strand of connective tissue to the dorsal cuticle (solid arrow) (vertical longitudinal section). From the DO extends a strand to the ventral SGO (asterisk). The subgenual organ (SGO) is linked to the dorsal cuticle by a separate tissue strand (solid arrowhead). A thin membrane (empty arrow) connects the SGO and DO in panel (b) *S. sipylus* and (d) *C. morosus* (vertical longitudinal sections). More distally, the main body of the DO shows a dorsal connection to the cuticle (open arrow) in panel (b) *S. sipylus* and (d) *C. morosus*. The distal DO is located near the anterior leg cuticle but is not directly inserted or linked to it in (c) *S. sipylus* and (f) *C. morosus* (horizontal longitudinal sections). Transversal sections of the foreleg tibia in (g) *S. sipylus* and (h) *C. morosus* show the DO and strands to the cuticle (arrows); the levels of the sections are indicated in (b,d). The most distal part of the DO is thinner in diameter and is located just dorsally to the anterior trachea. Scales: (a,b) = 200 µm, (c,f) = 100 µm, and (d,e,g,h) = 150 µm. at, anterior trachea; *C. m., Carausius morosus*; CS, campaniform sensilla; DO, distal organ; ft, fat tissue; lg, ligament; pt, posterior trachea; SGO, subgenual organ; *S. s., Sipyloidea sipylus*.



FIGURE 6 [The membranous connection between the subgenual organ (SGO) and distal organ (DO) in (**a**–**d**) *R*. *artemis*, (**e**–**h**) *S*. *sipylus*, and (**i**–**I**) *C*. *morosus*, indicated by empty arrows. The tissue connection is present in forelegs (**a**,**e**,**i**) and midlegs (**c**,**g**,**k**) (vertical longitudinal sections). The tissue spans the tibia in transversal sections between the anterior and posterior cuticle in (**b**,**f**,**j**) forelegs and (**d**,**h**,**I**) midlegs (empty arrows). Ventral to this, a strand from the DO extends to the SGO. Scales: (**a**–**d**) = 200 μ m, (**e**) = 100 μ m, and (**f**,**h**-**I**) = 150 μ m. at, anterior trachea; DO, distal organ; pt, posterior trachea; SGO, subgenual organ; [T1], foreleg; [T2], midleg.

anterior cuticle (Figures 3, 4a,b, 5b,e). The SGO tissue attached most strongly at the posterior side of the tibia (Figures 3a-c). The dendrites of the SGO sensilla with their distal orientation inserted into the rounded SGO tissue located almost perpendicularly to the leg's main axis (Figure 3).

The DO was located at the anterior side of the tibia (Figures 2, 4a,j, 5c). The dendrites, cap and accessory cells of the DO formed a triangular, continuous structure at the anterior side of the tibia that became narrower at the distal end (Figures 3, 4a,j, 5c). The accessory cells of the DO are long and give a lamellar structure (Figures 3d-f). The DO extended posteriorly in the proximal part (*R. artemis*; Figures 3d, 4a,d_i,e_i; *S. sipylus*: Figures 3e,f; Supplementary Videos 1,2) but the sensilla did not directly contact the leg's cuticle (Figures 4a,d_i and Supplementary Figure 2). The proximal DO was attached to the dorsal and anterior cuticle by separate tissue strands

(Figures 3, 4b,d_i, e_i , 5a,e). This organization was identical in all leg pairs (Figures 3a–c, 4d,e and Supplementary Figures 3A,B, 5, 6). The attachment to the dorsal cuticle also supplies the dorsal campaniform sensilla (dorsal group 6B) located at the level of the SGO (Figures 4b,d_i). In cleared tracing preparations of the tibia, the stained axons from the campaniform sensilla can be seen (not shown). These structures from the DO and campaniform sensilla can also be more separated (Figures 5g_i, h_i). During preparations, no attachment of the DO to a tendon or a receptor apodeme was noted.

In the central part, the DO extended toward the dorsal cuticle (**Figures 4c**, $d_{ii,iii}$, **5b**, $d_{ii,iii}$, $h_{ii,iii}$). At the extension of the DO in dorsal direction toward the cuticle, the organ is suspended by fine strands (**Figures 4c**, **5b**, **6a**). Similar thin strands occurred more distally between the DO and the cuticle (**Figures 4d–f,h,i**, **5b,g,h**). The space between the DO and the dorsal leg cuticle was filled with a diffuse tissue (**Figures 4c**, $d_{ii,iii}$, $d_{ii,iii}$, $d_{ii,iii}$, $h_{ii,iii}$).

While this could represent hemolymph, especially at the distal DO it appeared more consistent than hemolymph seen in the remaining hemolymph channel (**Figures 4d**_{*iv*, *v*}, **5g**_{*iv*}, **h**_{*iv*}). At the distal end, the DO was located in the hemolymph channel close to the anterior cuticle (Figures 4j, 5c,f and Supplementary Figures 3–7). The DO was placed dorsally to the anterior trachea (Figures $4d_{\nu}$, e_{ν} , $5g_{i\nu}$, $h_{i\nu}$). The elongated accessory cells run in parallel (Figures 4j, 5c and Supplementary Figures 3C, 4C, 5D). In some preparations, fat depositions occurred in the legs adjacent to the SGO and the DO, for the latter at the proximal and distal end (Figures 4a,b,j, 5d and Supplementary Figures 3C, 4C, 5D,E). At the distal end, fat cells were in some legs placed between the DO and the anterior cuticle (Figures 5c,f and Supplementary Figures 3C, 6C), while fat was largely absent in other legs (Figure 4j and Supplementary Figure 5D). At the distal end, no attachment of the DO to a ligament or an apodeme was noted.

The proximal DO extends a fine tissue strand to the ventral SGO (Figures 4c, 5a,b,d, 6a). Dorsally to this strand runs a fine membrane, which connects the SGO and the DO in the middle of the tibia (Figure 6). In transverse sections, this membrane is located dorsally to the DO in anterior-posterior direction in all legs from all species studied here (Figure 6). Due to the low contrast of the membrane compared to surrounding tissue in the μ CT scans, the membrane is not visible in the 3D-rendering of R. artemis (Figure 3d) and only represented as a grainy structure in S. sipylus (open arrows, Figures 3e,f). Both the SGO and the DO were located dorsally of two tracheae, which run in the ventral tibia (Figures 3, 4, 5). The proximal and middle DO was placed in the hemolymph channel with a clear gap to the underlying anterior trachea (**Figures 4d**_{*i*-*iii*}, \mathbf{e}_{i-iii} , $\mathbf{5g}_{i-iii}$, \mathbf{h}_{i-iii}). The middle DO formed a strand to the anterior trachea (Figures 4diii,eiii). At the distal section, the DO was placed at the dorsal side of the anterior trachea (**Figures 4c,d**_{*iv*,*v*}, **e**_{*iv*,*v*}, **5d,g**_{*iv*}, **h**_{*iv*}). Notably, the anterior trachea expanded slightly in diameter between the proximal and distal end of the DO (Figures 4c,d, 5b,d,g,h). This expansion did not affect the position of the DO, which was located more dorsally with a gap to the trachea (Figure 5d). The DO showed a coupling to the anterior trachea by a strand in the middle part of the DO, while the SGO was linked by a stronger tissue strand to the posterior trachea (Figures 4k,l). The leg tracheae did not show obvious tracheal vesicles at the level of the DO.

DISCUSSION

The subgenual organ complex in stick insects consists of the subgenual organ (SGO) and the distal organ (DO), and the latter has a notable linear organization of sensilla (Strauß and Lakes-Harlan, 2013). Here, we show a unique functional morphology for the DO by different types of attachments. This structural complexity raises the question for its physiological function, and for the adaptations driving the evolutionary convergence of linear sets of sensilla which occur in the stick insect DO as well as the tympanal hearing organs in Orthoptera (Strauß and Lakes-Harlan, 2013).

The Subgenual Organ Complex in Stick Insects

The overall neuroanatomy of the subgenual organ complex in R. artemis is identical to two other stick insect species investigated previously (S. sipylus, C. morosus; Strauß and Lakes-Harlan, 2013). Few minor differences occur, such as the relatively long nerve branches of T1 and T2 splitting off in the femur-tibia-joint in R. artemis, as in S. sipylus the nerve branches split off more distally in the proximal tibia (Strauß, 2020a). The number of SGO sensilla (averages between 36-39) is slightly lower than in the two other species studied previously which have on average 40-44 sensilla, while the number of DO sensilla is similar to C. morosus but slightly lower than in S. sipylus in the fore- and midleg (Strauß and Lakes-Harlan, 2013). The presence of the elaborate DO in three different groups of stick insects (Clitumninae, Lonchodinae, and Necrosciinae) supports the common physiological relevance of this mechanosensory organ. The three species investigated here belong to Oriophasmata, the Old World Phasmatodea (Simon et al., 2019). The DO likely also occurs in further groups of stick insects, but the distribution including the New World Phasmatodea (Occidophasmata) and the earliest branching Euphasmatodea requires a broader taxonomic study, also relating to differences in ecology, body size, and anatomy. The current data show that the elaborate DO anatomy occurs in species with cryptic body shape and elongated, slender legs, and appears to be independent of wings and flight capacity or secondary chemical defense [see Carlberg (1984, 1985) and Bradler and Buckley (2018)].

Functional Morphology of the Sensory Organs and Possible Sensory Adaptations

For chordotonal organs, the functional morphology and the attachment of the sensilla's dendrites determine the detectable stimuli and their parameters like frequency and amplitude (eg., Shaw, 1994b; Barth, 2019), since both substrate-borne vibrations and airborne sound mechanically interact with parts of the insect body (Cocroft et al., 2000; Römer and Schmidt, 2016; Stritih Peljhan and Strauß, 2018). In several cases, chordotonal organs can respond to both airborne sound and substrate vibrations if they attach to soft membranes or trachea (Shaw, 1994a; Jeram et al., 1995; Stumpner, 1996; Pflüger and Field, 1999). Other chordotonal organs can respond to proprioceptive stimuli, cuticular strain, as well as low-frequency substrate vibrations. In such cases, the functional differentiation of distinct groups of sensilla depends on different mechanical couplings of these groups, which are connected to a receptor apodeme and the inside of the cuticle. Such differentiation is described for the femoral chordotonal organ in locusts, crickets, weta, and stick insects (Field and Pflüger, 1989; Matheson and Field, 1990; Kittmann and Schmitz, 1992; Stein and Sauer, 1999; Nishino, 2000, 2003).

The SGO neuroanatomy in stick insects is similar to that in other orthopteroid insects (Lakes-Harlan and Strauß, 2014). The DO in stick insects shows different types of attachments, but there is no connection with a tendon or a tissue strand toward muscles or joints to support a proprioceptive function,



the leg tracheae, sensory neurons (magenta), accessory cells (green) and cuticle/tympanal membranes with hemolymph channels (light grey) and tissue in the leg (dark grey). AO, accessory organ; at, anterior trachea; aty, anterior tympanum; CA, *crista acustica*; cm, covering membrane; DO, distal organ; hc, hemolymph channel; IO, intermediate organ; lg, ligament; m, muscle; pt, posterior tympanum; CA, *crista acustica*; cm, covering membrane; DO, distal organ; hc, hemolymph channel; IO, intermediate organ; lg, ligament; m, muscle; pt, posterior trachea; pty, posterior tympanum; SGO, subgenual organ; ns, sensory neuron; sp, septum; su, suspensorium; th, tracheal body; tm, tectorial membrane; TO, tympanal organ. Cross-section of cricket ear reprinted by permission from Springer Nature: Springer, Zeitschrift für Morphologie der Tiere, Das Tympanalorgan von *Gryllus bimaculatus* Degeer (Saltatoria, Gryllidae), K. Michel, copyright 1974, https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/BF00298805). Cross-section of tettigoniid ear reprinted by permission from J *Comp Neurol*, J. Hummel, M. Kössl, and M. Nowotny, Morphological basis for a tonotopic design of an insect ear, pp. 2443–2455, copyright 2017, with permission from John Wiley and Sons.

as it would be typical for a connective chordotonal organ. The linear organization of sensilla in the DO neuroanatomically resembles the auditory sensilla in tympanal organs in crickets and tettigoniids, where it forms the anatomical basis for frequency analysis (Michel, 1974; Imaizumi and Pollack, 1999; Stumpner and Nowotny, 2014; Montealegre-Z and Robert, 2015). In crickets and tettigoniids, the auditory sensilla are closely associated with the trachea in the leg (**Figure 7**; Michel, 1974; Schumacher, 1975; Oldfield et al., 1986; Lin et al., 1994; Hummel et al., 2017; Schneider et al., 2017; Nishino et al., 2019). In tettigoniids, the hemolymph channel in certain species is adapted as an acoustic vesicle which is filled with fluid and plays an important role for frequency analysis (Montealegre-Z and Robert, 2015). In the stick insect species studied here, the ventral side of the DO at the proximal end floats in the hemolymph, while the middle DO connects to the leg cuticle as well as the anterior trachea by fine strands, and the distal DO locates dorsally of the anterior trachea (**Figures 4d,e,f, 5g,h**). No auditory adaptations are evident from the morphological structures. In the hearing organs of Orthoptera, sound energy can reach the auditory sensilla *via* tympanal membranes or through enlarged auditory trachea and spiracles. In comparison to auditory systems in Orthoptera, the stick insect DO shows only a weak coupling of sensilla to the tracheal system (**Figure 7**). In the stick insects, the anterior tibial trachea is larger in diameter than the posterior trachea (**Figures 4–6**), but not notably enlarged either at the DO, or at the thoracic spiracle as a potential pathway for sound input (J. Strauß, in preparation). However, an auditory detection of far-field sound can also occur without the elaboration of tympanal membranes (Shaw, 1994a; van Staaden and Römer, 1998). Based on the functional anatomy, any possible physiological and behavioral roles of such sound stimuli require further experiments. With respect to acoustic behaviors, sound production is known in few stick insects in defense to predators (Bedford, 1978; Carlberg, 1989). Signaling behavior using substrate vibrations is so far not described for species of stick insects, while many insects use the detection of vibrations in predator avoidance (Cocroft and Rodriguez, 2005; Hill, 2008).

The lack of obvious auditory specializations leaves the question for the DO adaptations still open. The strongest connection of the DO to other structures occurs at the proximal end by tissue strands to the dorsal and anterior cuticle in the three species studied (Figures 4d,e, 5g,h). The middle part of the DO is closer to the dorsal cuticle than the proximal part of the DO, and it is suspended by fine tissue strands to the dorsal and anterior cuticle, and also the anterior trachea (Figures 4d,e, 5g,h). The biomechanical properties of these strands or their biochemical components are not known. These would affect the possible movements of the DO, by determining if the organ is merely suspended from the cuticle, or if the DO could be displaced by hemolymph movements in the tibia. These strands are notably very thin, and can be assumed to have some flexibility. The DO in heelwalkers is also attached by stronger strands to the epidermis and posterior trachea (Eberhard et al., 2010). The ventral side of the DO is at the proximal end without contact sites to other tissues, and it is at the distal end placed dorsally of the anterior trachea. We did not note the connection of DO sensilla to a membrane covering the organ which was described previously for C. morosus (Friedrich, 1929). Given the elongated structure of the DO, this attachment would allow for more than one possible mechanical coupling. The strand connections to the cuticle could mediate the detection of vibrations transmitted over the leg cuticle. The relatively large diameter of the proximal DO, located in the dorsal hemolymph channel, could imply the detection of hemolymph vibrations caused by substrate-borne vibrations, similar to the tibial SGO [see Kilpinen and Storm (1997), on the bee SGO]. This is also supported by the direction of the DO dendrites in distal direction in the tibia, making them well suited to respond to forces like vibrations transferred in longitudinal direction of the tibia. While the bee SGO is best studied for the activation of this organ, the similarity may be restricted by the differences in the leg's size, diameter, and also the attachment points of the SGO (Kilpinen and Storm, 1997). For bees, the role of mechanical signal detection in intraspecific communication and the leg mechanoreceptors are analyzed at different levels (Kilpinen and Storm, 1997; Rohrseitz and Kilpinen, 1997; Michelsen, 2014), while the behavioral roles of mechanical signal detection in stick insects is not documented in detail.

Other chordotonal organs located next to the SGO respond to substrate-borne vibrations with a tuning shifted to other frequencies than those detected by the SGO in tettigoniids and cave crickets (Ebendt et al., 1994; Kalmring et al., 1994; Čokl et al., 1995). This tuning shift has been shown for the intermediate organ (IO), a chordotonal organ located just distally to the SGO in some Ensifera. In these groups, the IO is located dorsally of the trachea, and is also attached to the inner cuticle which allows for multimodal stimulation (Lin et al., 1994; Jeram et al., 1995). The DO in stick insects could possibly complement the SGO by such a sensory specialization in vibrational frequency tuning. Contact to the leg cuticle is established by the fine tissue strands from the DO and the diffuse tissue in the space between DO and cuticle, though the latter seems to provide only a weak coupling to the cuticle. A mechanical interaction between the SGO and the proximal DO could be possible from the structural connections between both organs (**Figure 6**).

Another functional aspect of the DO in orthopteroid insects is that the organ could detect changes in the hemolymph pressure which occur during leg movements. This sensory function was discussed for the DO in cockroaches, which did not respond to substrate-borne vibrations (Schnorbus, 1971). So far, this remains a tentative function for chordotonal organs. In conclusion, two features may support the detection of substrate vibrations, apart from the attachment to the cuticle: with the relatively large diameter of the DO in the hemolymph channel and with DO dendrites oriented distally in the tibia, it is most likely that the sensilla respond to forces acting in the longitudinal axis of the leg. The position in the hemolymph channel would make it difficult to isolate the DO from hemolymph movements caused by external substrate vibrations, and restrict it to detecting only pressure changes occurring during locomotion. The enlarged size of the DO by the long, lamellar accessory cells (Figure 3) also supports the exposition to stimuli from the hemolymph.

Comparative Morphology and Evolutionary Convergence in Tibial Sensory Organs

The DO is homologous to a chordotonal organ identified distally of the SGO in some Orthoptera, the intermediate organ (IO) (Lin et al., 1995; Strauß and Lakes-Harlan, 2013). The IO in Ensifera is studied eg., in tettigoniids, cave crickets, or weta, where it contains 12-20 sensilla (Lin et al., 1994; Jeram et al., 1995; Nishino and Field, 2003; Strauß and Stritih, 2017). In tettigoniids and cave crickets, the IO responds to substrate vibration but also airborne sound (Kalmring et al., 1994; Čokl et al., 1995; Stölting and Stumpner, 1998). In orthopteroid insects, the IO and DO can occur in diverse neuroanatomical organizations, which are as a compact group of sensilla (cockroach: Schnorbus, 1971), to extending dorsally in the leg (raspy crickets: Strauß and Lakes-Harlan, 2008; weta: Strauß et al., 2017), and linear sensilla in part of the organ (cave cricket: Jeram et al., 1995) or the complete organ (stick insects: Strauß, 2020b). The organization of linear sensilla in Ensifera and stick insects, independent of tympanal membranes, is an evolutionary convergence in these two taxa (Strauß and Lakes-Harlan, 2013). The specific organization of the DO in the common ancestor of Orthoptera and Phasmatodea is not known, as species from more basal taxa of Polyneoptera (Wipfler et al., 2019) from Plecoptera (Wittig, 1955) and Dermaptera (Friedrich, 1929) lack a DO and have only the SGO. However, all other orthopteroid taxa studied so far have more compact sensilla in the DO/IO, which can differ in their attachment structures (Schnorbus, 1971; Lin et al., 1995;

Eberhard et al., 2010). The DO in locusts (Lin et al., 1995) and especially the IO in cave crickets (Jeram et al., 1995) as early branching Ensifera (Song et al., 2020), are simpler in their neuroanatomy. This indicates that the elaboration in Ensifera was absent in the ground pattern of this group (Strauß and Lakes-Harlan, 2009).

The DO/IO position in the hemolymph channel distal to the SGO could result in the extension in distal direction, when the number of sensilla is increased (Jeram et al., 1995; Strauß and Lakes-Harlan, 2013). In stick insects, the overall organization of tibial trachea and muscle/hemolymph channels and their proportions are similar to those seen in cave crickets, which also have long and very slender legs (Jeram et al., 1995; Stritih-Peljhan et al., 2019). The structure of the sensory organs seems not to be primarily affected by the leg elongation in stick insects, as their SGO morphology is similar to other orthopteroid insects (Lakes-Harlan and Strauß, 2014), and the distally located IO in cave crickets takes even more space in the anterior hemolymph channel (Jeram et al., 1995). Therefore, the stick insect DO would not be forced to extend only in the distal direction by forming a linear organ.

A linear organization is also found in atympanate sensory organs in some lineages of Orthoptera, suggested to contribute to the detection of vibrational signals from conspecifics (Strauß and Lakes-Harlan, 2008; Strauß et al., 2017). The organs distally of the SGO in Orthoptera are usually placed closely to the leg trachea (Jeram et al., 1995; Lin et al., 1995). This likely makes them sensitive to both vibrational stimuli and airborne sound (Kalmring et al., 1994; Čokl et al., 1995). In crickets, the auditory sensilla and accessory cells connect to the dorsal cuticle by a covering membrane (Michel, 1974; Oldfield et al., 1986; Nishino et al., 2019). In tettigoniids, the cap cells over the auditory sensilla's dendrites are covered by the tectorial membrane and held by supporting bands (Schumacher, 1975; Lakes and Schikorski, 1990; Lin et al., 1994). The stick insects DO is broadest in the proximal part, where the organ attaches to the inner cuticle in the hemolymph channel, with a notable distance to the anterior trachea. Only the distal part, which is smaller in diameter, is close to the anterior trachea. Thus, the DO lacks the clear morphological adaptations seen in the elaborate tympanal hearing organs (Ball et al., 1989; Lakes and Schikorski, 1990; Lin et al., 1994; Hummel et al., 2017; Nishino et al., 2019). The stick insect DO therefore shows a unique organization among orthopteroid insects with the linearly arranged sensilla with distally oriented dendrites and long accessory cells. The neuronal convergence between the tympanal organs and the DO in this insect group is striking, while the functional anatomy of the stick insect DO indicates a sensory specialization other than detecting air-borne sound, and it likely detects vibrational stimuli.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The cropped but otherwise unchanged μCT -scans presented in this study can be accessed at Zenodo: doi.org/10.5281/ zenodo.3856676.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JS, LM, and PTR: carried out the experiments and edited the manuscript. JS: carried out the preparations, assembled figures, and drafted the manuscript. JS and PTR: analyzed the data. PTR: provided reconstructions and videos. All authors read the manuscript and agreed with the publication.

FUNDING

Funded by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG, German Research Foundation) – STR 1329/2-1.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

JS would like to thank Reinhard Lakes-Harlan (Gießen) for support of this study, as well as Mirjam Buß and Anja Schnecko for assisting with raising insects. PTR expresses his gratitude to Alexander Blanke (Bonn) for his support. LM thanks Thomas Wesener (ZFMK) for support and Benjamin Wipfler (ZFMK) for discussions. We thank Nataša Stritih-Peljhan for insightful comments on the manuscript. We thank two reviewers for their constructive criticism which improved the manuscript.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fevo.2021. 632493/full#supplementary-material

Supplementary Figure 1 | The tibia in the thoracic legs of R. artemis.

Supplementary Figure 2 | Posterior structures of the proximal distal organ in *Ramulus artemis* (foreleg).

Supplementary Figure 3 | The distal structure of the distal organ in *Ramulus artemis* (midleg).

Supplementary Figure 4 | The distal structure of the distal organ in *Sipyloidea sipylus* (foreleg).

Supplementary Figure 5 | The distal structure of the distal organ in *Sipyloidea sipylus* (midleg).

Supplementary Figure 6 | Attachment of the distal organ in S. sipylus (midleg).

Supplementary Figure 7 | The distal organ in Carausius morosus (midleg).

Supplementary Table 1 | Ramulus artemis SGOC sensilla.

Supplementary Video 1 | 3D-Reconstruction of the subgenual organ complex in *Ramulus artemis*.

Supplementary Video 2 | 3D-Reconstruction of the subgenual organ complex in Sipyloidea sipylus.

REFERENCES

- Ball, E. E., and Field, L. H. (1981). Structure of the auditory system of the weta *Hemideina crassidens* (Blanchard, 1851) (Orthoptera, Ensifera, Gryllacridoidea, Stenopelmatidae). 1. morphology and histology. *Cell Tissue Res.* 217, 321–344. doi: 10.1007/BF00233584
- Ball, E. E., Oldfield, B. P., and Michel Rudolph, K. (1989). "Auditory organ structure, development, and function," in *Cricket Behavior and Neurobiology*, eds F. Huber, T. Moore, and W. Loher (Ithaca, NY: Cornell University Press), 391–422. doi: 10.7591/9781501745904-015
- Barth, F. G. (2019). Mechanics to pre-process information for the fine tuning of mechanoreceptors. J. Comp. Physiol. A 205, 661–686. doi: 10.1007/s00359-019-01355-z
- Bässler, U. (1965). Proprioreceptoren am Subcoxal-und Femur-Tibia-Gelenk der Stabheuschrecke *Carausius morosus* und ihre Rolle bei der Wahrnehmung der Schwerkraftrichtung. *Kybernetik* 2, 168–193.
- Bässler, U. (1977). Sense organs in the femur of the stick insect and their relevance to the control of position of the femur-tibia-joint. J. Comp. Physiol. 121, 99–113. doi: 10.1007/BF00614183
- Bässler, U. (1983). Neural Basis of Elemantary Behavior in Stick Insects. Berlin: Springer. doi: 10.1007/978-3-642-68813-3
- Bässler, U. (1993). The femur-tibia control system of stick insects a model system for the study of the neural basis of joint control. *Brain Res. Rev.* 18, 207–226. doi: 10.1016/0165-0173(93)90002-H
- Bässler, U., and Büschges, A. (1998). Pattern generation for stick insect walking movements – multisensory control of a locomotor program. *Brain Res. Rev.* 27, 65–88. doi: 10.1016/S0165-0173(98)00006-X
- Bedford, G. O. (1978). Biology and ecology of the Phasmatodea. Annu. Rev. Entomol. 23, 125–149. doi: 10.1146/annurev.en.23.010178.001013
- Bradler, S., and Buckley, T. R. (2018). "Biodiversity of Phasmatodea," in *Insect Biodiversity: Science and Society*, Volume II, eds R. G. Foottit and P. H. Adler (Hoboken, NJ: Wiley-Blackwell), 281–313. doi: 10.1002/9781118945582.ch11
- Carlberg, U. (1984). Flight in female Sipyloidea sipylus (Westwood) (Insecta: Phasmida). Zool. Jb. Physiol. 88, 9-14.
- Carlberg, U. (1985). Secondary defence in *Carausius morosus* (de Sinety) (Insecta: Phasmida). *Zool. Anz.* 215, 373–384.
- Carlberg, U. (1989). Defensive stridulation in *Heteropteryx dilatata* Parkinson (Insecta: Phasmida). Zool. Anz. 223, 165–173.
- Cocroft, R. B., and Rodriguez, R. L. (2005). The behavioral ecology of insect vibrational communication. *Bioscience* 55, 323–334. doi: 10.1641/0006-3568(2005)055[0323:TBEOIV]2.0.CO;2
- Cocroft, R. B., Tieu, T. D., Hoy, R. R., and Miles, R. N. (2000). Directionality in the mechanical response to substrate vibration in the treehopper (Hemiptera: Membracidae: *Umbonia crassicornis*). J. Comp. Physiol. A 186, 695–705. doi: 10.1007/s003590000123
- Čokl, A., Kalmring, K., and Rössler, W. (1995). Physiology of atympanate tibial organs in forelegs and midlegs of the cave-living Ensifera, *Troglophilus neglectus* (Raphidophoridae, Gryllacridoidea). J. Exp. Zool. 273, 376–388. doi: 10.1002/ jez.1402730503
- Čokl, A., and Virant-Doberlet, M. (2009). ""Vibrational communication"," in *Encyclopedia of Insects*, eds V. H. Resh and R. T. Cardé (Amsterdam: Academic Press), 1034–1038. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-374144-8.00271-X
- Čokl, A., Blassioli-Moraes, M. C., Laumann, R. A., Žunič, A., and Borges, M. (2019). "Stinkbugs: multisensory communication with chemical and vibratory signals transmitted through different media," in *Biotremology: Studying Vibrational Behavior*, eds P. S. M. Hill, R. Lakes-Harlan, V. Mazzoni, P. Narins, M. Virant-Doberlet, and A. Wessel (Cham: Springer), 91–122. doi: 10.1007/ 978-3-030-22293-2_7
- Čokl, A., Virant-Doberlet, M., and Zorović, M. (2006). "Sense organs involved in the vibratory communication of bugs," in *Insect Sounds and Communication: Physiology, Behaviour, Ecology and Evolution*, eds S. Drosopoulos and M. Claridge (Boca Raton FL: CRC Press), 71–80. doi: 10.1201/9781420039337.ch4
- Devetak, D., and Amon, T. (1997). Substrate vibration sensitivity of the leg scolopidial organs in the green lacewing *Chrysoperla carnea*. J. Insect Physiol. 43, 433–437. doi: 10.1016/S0022-1910(96)00121-7
- Ebendt, R., Friedel, J., and Kalmring, K. (1994). Central projection of auditory receptors in the prothoracic ganglion of the bushcricket *Psorodonotus illyricus* (Tettigoniidae): computer-aided analysis of the end branch pattern. *J. Neurobiol.* 25, 35–49. doi: 10.1002/neu.480250104

- Eberhard, M. J. B., Lang, D., Metscher, B., Pass, G., Picker, M. D., and Wolf, H. (2010). Structure and sensory physiology of the leg scolopidial organs in *Mantophasmatodea* and their role in vibrational communication. *Arthropod Struct. Dev.* 39, 230–241. doi: 10.1016/j.asd.2010.02.002
- Field, L. H., and Matheson, T. (1998). Chordotonal organs of insects. Adv. Insect Physiol. 27, 57–228. doi: 10.1016/S0065-2806(08)60013-2
- Field, L. H., and Pflüger, H.-J. (1989). The femoral chordotonal organ: a bifunctional (*Locusta migratoria*) sense organ? *Comp. Biochem. Physiol. A* 93, 729–743. doi: 10.1016/0300-9629(89)90494-5
- French, A. S. (1988). Transduction mechanisms of mechanosensilla. Annu. Rev. Entomol. 33, 39–58. doi: 10.1146/annurev.en.33.010188.000351
- Friedrich, H. (1929). Vergleichende Untersuchungen über die tibialen scolopalorgane einiger orthopteren. Z. Wiss. Zool. 134, 84–148.
- Godden, D. H. (1972). The motor innervation of the leg musculature and motor output duringthanatosis in the stick insect. *Carausius morosus. Br. J. Comp. Physiol.* 80, 201–225. doi: 10.1007/BF00696491
- Hill, P. S. M. (2008). Vibrational Communication in Animals. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Homberg, U., and Paech, U. (2002). Ultrastructure and orientation of ommatidia in the dorsal rim area of the locust compound eye. *Arthropod Struct. Dev.* 30, 271–280. doi: 10.1016/S1467-8039(02)00010-5
- Howse, P. E. (1968). "The fine structure and functional organization of chordotonal organs", in invertebrate receptors," in *Proceedings of the Symposium of the Zoological Society London*, eds J. D. Carthy and G. E. Newell (London: Academic Press), 167–198.
- Hummel, J., Kössl, M., and Nowotny, M. (2017). Morphological basis for a tonotopic design of an insect ear. J. Comp. Neurol. 525, 2443–2455. doi: 10. 1002/cne.24218
- Hustert, R. (1974). Morphologie und Atmungsbewegungen des 5. Abdominalsegments von Locusta migratoria migratorioides. Zool. Jb. Physiol. 78, 157–174.
- Imaizumi, K., and Pollack, G. S. (1999). Neural coding of sound frequency by cricket auditory receptors. J. Neurosci. 19, 1508–1516. doi: 10.1523/ JNEUROSCI.19-04-01508.1999
- Jeram, S., Rössler, W., Čokl, A., and Kalmring, K. (1995). Structure of atympanate tibial organs in legs of the cave-living Ensifera, *Troglophilus neglectus* (Gryllacrididae, Raphidophoridae). *J. Morphol.* 223, 109–118. doi: 10.1002/ jmor.1052230110
- Kalmring, K., Rössler, W., and Unrast, C. (1994). Complex tibial organs in the forelegs, midlegs, and hindlegs of the bushcricket *Gampsocleis gratiosa* (Tettigoniidae): comparison of the physiology of the organs. J. Exp. Zool. 270, 155–161. doi: 10.1002/jez.1402700205
- Kamikouchi, A., Inagaki, H. K., Effertz, T., Hendrich, O., Fiala, A., Göpfert, M. C., et al. (2009). The neural basis of drosophila gravity-sensing and hearing. *Nature* 458, 165–1671. doi: 10.1038/nature07810
- Kavlie, R. G., and Albert, J. T. (2013). Chordotonal organs. Curr. Biol. 23, R334– R335. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2013.03.048
- Kilpinen, O., and Storm, J. (1997). Biophysics of the subgenual organ of the honeybee, *Apis mellifera*. J. Comp. Physiol. A 181, 309–318. doi: 10.1007/ s003590050117
- Kittmann, R., and Schmitz, J. (1992). Functional specialisation of the scoloparia of the femoral chordotonal organ in stick insects. J. Exp. Biol. 173, 91–108.
- Lakes, R., and Schikorski, T. (1990). "Neuroanatomy of tettigoniids," in *The Tettigoniidae: Biology, Systematics and Evolution*, eds W. J. Bailey and D. C. F. Rentz (Bathurst: Crawford House Press), 166–190. doi: 10.1007/978-3-662-02592-5_10
- Lakes-Harlan, R., and Strauß, J. (2014). "Functional morphology and evolutionary diversity of vibration receptors in insects," in *Studying Vibrational Communication*, eds R. Cocroft, M. Gogala, P. S. M. Hill, and A. Wessel (Berlin: Springer), 277–302. doi: 10.1007/978-3-662-43607-3_14
- Land, M. F., and Nilsson, D.-E. (2012). Animal Eyes. Second edition. Oxford: Oxford University Press. doi: 10.1093/acprof.oso/9780199581139.001.0001
- Limaye, A. (2012). "Drishti: a volume exploration and presentation tool," in Proceedings of the. SPIE Developments in X-Ray Tomography VIII, 85060X, (San Diego, CA). doi: 10.1117/12.935640
- Lin, Y., Klamring, K., Jatho, M., Sickmann, T., and Rössler, W. (1993). Auditory receptor organs in the forelegs of *Gampsocleis gratiosa* (Tettigoniidae): morphology and function of the organs in comparison to the frequency

parameters of the conspecific song. J. Exp. Zool. 267, 377-388. doi: 10.1002/ jez.1402670404

- Lin, Y., Rössler, W., and Kalmring, K. (1994). Complex tibial organs in fore-, mid-, and hindlegs of the bushcricket *Gampsocleis gratiosa* (Tettigoniidae): comparison of morphology of the organs. J. Morphol. 221, 191–198. doi: 10.1002/jmor.1052210208
- Lin, Y., Rössler, W., and Kalmring, K. (1995). Morphology of the tibial organs of *Acrididae*: comparison of subgenual and distal organs in fore-, mid-, and hindlegs of *Schistocerca gregaria* (Acrididae, Catantopidae) and *Locusta migratoria* (Acrididae, Oedipodinae). J. Morphol. 226, 351–360. doi: 10.1002/ jmor.1052260310
- Mantziaris, C., Bockemühl, T., and Büschges, A. (2020). Central pattern generating networks in insect locomotion. *Dev. Neurobiol.* 80, 16–30. doi: 10.1002/dneu. 22738
- Matheson, T., and Field, L. H. (1990). Innervation of the metathoracic femoral chordotonal organ of *Locusta migratoria*. *Cell Tissue Res.* 259, 551–560. doi: 10.1007/BF01740783
- Matsuo, E., and Kamikouchi, A. (2013). Neuronal encoding of sound, gravity, and wind in the fruit fly. *J. Comp. Physiol. A* 199, 253–262. doi: 10.1007/s00359-013-0806-x
- Metscher, B. D. (2009). MicroCT for comparative morphology: simple staining methodsallow high-contrast 3D imaging of diverse non-mineralized animal tissues. *BMC Physiol*. 9:11. doi: 10.1186/1472-6793-9-11
- Michel, K. (1974). Das Tympanalorgan von *Gryllus bimaculatus* deGeer (Saltatoria. Gryllidae). *Z. Morphol. Tiere* 77, 285–315. doi: 10.1007/BF00298805
- Michel, K., Amon, T., and Čokl, A. (1982). The morphology of the leg scolopidial organs in *Nezara viridula* (L.) (Heteroptera, Pentatomidae). *Rev. Can. Biol. Exp.* 42, 139–150.
- Michelsen, A. (2014). "Mechanical signals in honeybee communication," in Studying Vibrational Communication, eds R. Cocroft, M. Gogala, P. S. M. Hill, and A. Wessel (Berlin: Springer), 333–347. doi: 10.1007/978-3-662-43607-3_17
- Montealegre-Z, F., and Robert, D. (2015). Biomechanics of hearing in katydids. *J. Comp. Physiol. A* 201, 5–18. doi: 10.1007/s00359-014-0976-1
- Nishino, H. (2000). Topographic mapping of the axons of the femoral chordotonal organ neurons in the cricket *Gryllus bimaculatus*. Cell Tissue Res. 299, 145–157. doi: 10.1007/s004410050013
- Nishino, H. (2003). Somatotopic mapping of chordotonal organ neurons in a primitive *Ensiferan*, the New Zealand tree weta *Hemideina femorata*: I. femoral chordotonal organ. J. Comp. Neurol. 464, 312–326. doi: 10.1002/cne. 10779
- Nishino, H., and Field, L. H. (2003). Somatotopic mapping of chordotonal organ neurons in a primitive *Ensiferan*, the New Zealand tree weta *Hemideina femorata*: II. complex tibial organ. J. Comp. Neurol. 464, 327–342. doi: 10.1002/ cne.10780
- Nishino, H., Domae, M., Takanashi, T., and Okajima, T. (2019). Cricket tympanal organ revisited: morphology, development and possible functions of the adultspecific chitin core beneath the anterior tympanal membrane. *Cell Tissue Res.* 377, 193–214. doi: 10.1007/s00441-019-03000-2
- Nishino, H., Mukai, H., and Takanashi, T. (2016). Chordotonal organs in *Hemipteran* insects: unique peripheral structures but conserved central organization revealed by comparative neuroanatomy. *Cell Tissue Res.* 366, 549–572. doi: 10.1007/s00441-016-2480-0
- Oldfield, B. P., Kleindienst, H. U., and Huber, F. (1986). Physiology and tonotopic organization of auditory receptors in the cricket *Gryllus bimaculatus* DeGeer. *J. Comp. Physiol. A.* 159, 457–464. doi: 10.1007/BF00604165
- Pflüger, H.-J., and Field, L. H. (1999). A locust chordotonal organ coding for proprioceptive and acoustic stimuli. J. Comp. Physiol. A 184, 169–183. doi: 10.1007/s003590050316
- Ridgel, A. L., Frazier, S. F., and Zill, S. N. (2001). Dynamic responses of tibial campaniform sensilla studied by substrate displacement in freely moving cockroaches. J. Comp. Physiol. A 187, 405–420. doi: 10.1007/s003590100213
- Rohrseitz, K., and Kilpinen, O. (1997). Vibration transmission characteristics of the legs of freely standing honeybees. *Zoology* 100, 80–84.
- Römer, H., and Schmidt, A. K. D. (2016). Directional hearing in insects with internally coupled ears. *Biol. Cybern.* 110, 247–254. doi: 10.1007/s00422-015-0672-4
- Scherberich, J., Hummel, J., Schöneich, S., and Nowotny, M. (2017). Functional basis of the sexual dimorphism in the auditory fovea of the duetting bushcricket

Ancylecha fenestrata. Proc. Royal Soc. B 284:20171426. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2017. 1426

- Schneider, E. S., Römer, H., Robillard, T., and Schmidt, A. K. D. (2017). Hearing with exceptionally thin tympana: ear morphology and tympanal membrane vibrations in eneopterine crickets. *Sci. Rep.* 7:15266. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-15282-z
- Schnorbus, H. (1971). Die subgenualen sinnesorgane von Periplaneta americana: histologie und vibrationsschwellen. Z. Vergl. Physiol. 71, 14-48.
- Schumacher, R. (1975). Scanning-electron-microscope description of the tibial tympanal organ of the *Tettigonioidea* (Orthoptera, Ensifera). Z. Morph. Tiere 81, 209–219. doi: 10.1007/BF00278370
- Shaw, S. R. (1994b). Re-evaluation of the absolute threshold and response mode of the most sensitive known "vibration" detector, the cockroach's subgenual organ: a cochlea-like displacement threshold and a direct response to sound. *J. Neurobiol.* 25, 1167–1185. doi: 10.1002/neu.480250911
- Shaw, S. R. (1994a). Detection of airborne sound by a cockroach 'vibration detector': a possible missing link in insect auditory evolution. *J. Exp. Biol.* 192, 13–47.
- Simon, S., Letsch, H., Bank, S., Buckley, T. R., Donath, A., Liu, S., et al. (2019). Old world and New world *Phasmatodea*: phylogenomics resolve the evolutionary history of stick and leaf insects. *Front. Ecol. Evol.* 7:345. doi: 10.3389/fevo.2019. 00345
- Song, H., Béthoux, O., Shin, S., Donath, A., Letsch, H., and Liu, S. (2020). Phylogenomic analysis sheds light on the evolutionary pathways towards acoustic communication in *Orthoptera*. *Nat. Commun.* 11:4939. doi: 10.1038/ s41467-020-18739-4
- Stein, W., and Sauer, A. (1999). Physiology of vibration-sensitive afferents in the femoral chordotonal organ of the stick insect. J. Comp. Physiol. A 184, 253–263. doi: 10.1007/s003590050323
- Steinbrecht, R. A. (1999). "Olfactory receptors," in Atlas of Arthropod Sensory Receptors – Dynamic Morphology in Relation to Function, eds E. Eguchi and Y. Tominaga (Tokyo: Springer), 155–176.
- Stölting, H., and Stumpner, A. (1998). Tonotopic organization of auditory receptors of the bushcricket *Pholidoptera griseoaptera* (Tettigoniidae, Decticinae). *Cell Tissue Res.* 294, 377–386. doi: 10.1007/s004410051187
- Strauß, J., Stritih, N., and Lakes-Harlan, R. (2014). The subgenual organ complex in the cave cricket *Troglophilus neglectus* (Orthoptera: Rhaphidophoridae): comparative innervation and sensory evolution. *Royal Soc. Open. sci.* 1:140240. doi: 10.1098/rsos.140240
- Strauß, J. (2017). The scolopidial accessory organs and Nebenorgans in orthopteroid insects: comparative neuroanatomy, mechanosensory function and evolutionary origin. Arthropod Struct. Dev. 46, 765–776. doi: 10.1016/j. asd.2017.08.004
- Strauß, J. (2020a). Neuronal innervation of the subgenual organ complex and the tibial campaniform sensilla in the stick insect midleg. *Insects* 11:40. doi: 10.3390/insects11010040
- Strauß, J. (2020b). Early postembryogenic development of the subgenual organ complex in the stick insect Sipyloidea sipylus. Arthropod Struct. Dev. 56:100933. doi: 10.1016/j.asd.2020.100933
- Strauß, J., and Lakes-Harlan, R. (2008). Neuroanatomy and physiology of the complex tibial organ of an atympanate Ensiferan, *Ametrus tibialis* (Brunner von Wattenwyl, 1888) (Gryllacrididae, Orthoptera) and evolutionary implications. *Brain Behav. Evol.* 71, 167–180. doi: 10.1159/000114405
- Strauß, J., and Lakes-Harlan, R. (2009). The evolutionary origin of auditory receptors in Tettigonioidea: the complex tibial organ of Schizodactylidae. *Naturwissenschaften* 96, 143–146. doi: 10.1007/s00114-008-0450-4
- Strauß, J., and Lakes-Harlan, R. (2013). Sensory neuroanatomy of stick insects highlights the evolutionary diversity of the orthopteroid subgenual organ complex. J. Comp. Neurol. 521, 3791–3803. doi: 10.1002/cne. 23378
- Strauß, J., and Lakes-Harlan, R. (2017). Vibrational sensitivity of the subgenual organ complex in female Sipyloidea sipylus stick insects in different experimental paradigms of stimulus direction, leg attachment, and ablation of a connective tibial sense organ. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. A 203, 100–108. doi: 10.1016/j.cbpa.2016.09.002
- Strauß, J., and Stritih, N. (2017). Neuronal regression of internal leg vibroreceptor organs in a cave-dwelling insect (Orthoptera: Rhaphidophoridae: Dolichopoda araneiformis). Brain Behav. Evol. 89, 104–116. doi: 10.1159/000462957

- Strauß, J., Lomas, K., and Field, L. H. (2017). The complex tibial organ of the New Zealand ground weta: sensory adaptations for vibrational signal detection. *Sci. Rep.* 7:2031. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-02132-1
- Stritih Peljhan, N., and Strauß, J. (2018). Mechanical leg response to vibration stimuli in cave crickets and implications for vibrosensory organ functions. *J. Comp. Physiol. A* 205, 687–702. doi: 10.1007/s00359-018-1271-3
- Stritih-Peljhan, N., Rühr, P. T., Buh, B., and Strauß, J. (2019). Low-frequency vibration transmission and mechanosensory detection in the legs of cave crickets. *Comp. Biochem. Physiol. A* 233, 89–96. doi: 10.1016/j.cbpa.2019.04.003
- Stumpner, A. (1996). Tonotopic organization of the hearing organ in a bushcricket. Naturwissenschaften 83, 81–84. doi: 10.1007/BF01141875
- Stumpner, A., and Nowotny, M. (2014). "Neural processing in the bush-cricket auditory pathway," in *Insect Hearing and Acoustic Communication*, ed. B. Hedwig (Berlin: Springer), 143–166. doi: 10.1007/978-3-642-40462-7_9
- Takanashi, T., Fukaya, M., Nakamuta, K., Skals, N., and Nishino, H. (2016). Substrate vibrations mediate behavioral responses via femoral chordotonal organs in a cerambycid beetle. *Zool. Lett.* 2:18. doi: 10.1186/s40851-016-0053-4
- Tuthill, J. C., and Azim, E. (2018). Proprioception. Curr. Biol. 28, R194–R203. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2018.01.064
- van Staaden, M. J., and Römer, H. (1998). Evolutionary transition from stretch to hearing in ancient grasshoppers. *Nature* 394, 773–776. doi: 10.1038/ 29517
- Windmill, J. F. C., and Jackson, J. C. (2016). "Mechanical specializations of insect ears," in *Insect Hearing*, eds G. S. Pollack, A. C. Mason, A. N. Popper, and R. R. Fay (Cham: Springer), 125–157. doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-28890-1_6
- Wipfler, B., Letsch, H., Frandsen, P. B., Kapli, P., Mayer, C., Bartel, D., et al. (2019). Evolutionary history of Polyneoptera and its implications for our

understanding of early winged insects. Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. 116, 3024-3029. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1817794116

- Wright, B. R. (1976). "Limb and wing receptors in insects, chelicerates and myriapods," in *Structure and Function of Proprioceptors in the Invertebrates*, ed. P. J. Mill (London: Chapman and Hall), 323–386.
- Wittig, G. (1955). Untersuchungen am Thorax von Perla abdominalis Burm. (Larve und Imago) unter besonderer Berücksichtigung des peripheren Nervensystems und der Sinnesorgane. Zool. JB Anat. Ontogen. Tiere. 74, 491–570.
- Yack, J. E. (1993). Janus green B as a rapid, vital stain for peripheral nerves and chordotonal organs in insects. J. Neurosci. Methods 49, 17–22. doi: 10.1016/ 0165-0270(93)90105-Z
- Yack, J. E. (2004). The structure and function of auditory chordotonal organs in insects. *Microsc. Res. Tech.* 63, 315–337. doi: 10.1002/jemt.20051
- Zhao, Z., and McBride, C. S. (2020). Evolution of olfactory circuits in insects. J. Comp. Physiol. A 206, 353–367. doi: 10.1007/s00359-020-01 399-6

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Strauß, Moritz and Rühr. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Survival Sounds in Insects: Diversity, Function, and Evolution

Melanie L. Low, Mairelys Naranjo and Jayne E. Yack*

Department of Biology, Carleton University, Ottawa, ON, Canada

Insect defense sounds have been reported for centuries. Yet, aside from the well-studied anti-bat sounds of tiger moths, little is understood about the occurrence, function, and evolution of these sounds. We define a defense sound as an acoustic signal (air- or solid-borne vibration) produced in response to attack or threat of attack by a predator or parasitoid and that promotes survival. Defense sounds have been described in 12 insect orders, across different developmental stages, and between sexes. The mechanisms of defensive sound production include stridulation, percussion, tymbalation, tremulation, and forced air. Signal characteristics vary between species, and we discuss how morphology, the intended receiver, and specific functions of the sounds could explain this variation. Sounds can be directed at predators or non-predators, and proposed functions include startle, aposematism, jamming, and alarm, although experimental evidence for these hypotheses remains scant for many insects. The evolutionary origins of defense sounds in insects have not been rigorously investigated using phylogenetic methodology, but in most cases it is hypothesized that they evolved from incidental sounds associated with non-signaling behaviors such as flight or ventilatory movements. Compared to our understanding of visual defenses in insects, sonic defenses are poorly understood. We recommend that future investigations focus on testing hypotheses explaining the functions and evolution of these survival sounds using predator-prey experiments and comparative phylogenetics.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Fernando Montealegre-Z, University of Lincoln, United Kingdom

Reviewed by:

Reinhard Lakes-Harlan, University of Giessen, Germany Aaron Corcoran, University of Colorado Colorado Springs, United States

*Correspondence:

Jayne E. Yack jayneyack@cunet.carleton.ca

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Behavioral and Evolutionary Ecology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution

> Received: 14 December 2020 Accepted: 04 February 2021 Published: 08 March 2021

Citation:

Low ML, Naranjo M and Yack JE (2021) Survival Sounds in Insects: Diversity, Function, and Evolution. Front. Ecol. Evol. 9:641740. doi: 10.3389/fevo.2021.641740 Keywords: defense, acoustic, mechanism, signal variation, communication, predator, prey, disturbance

INTRODUCTION

When threatened or attacked by a predator, many insects produce sounds. Familiar examples are hisses of the Death's-head hawkmoth, *Acherontia atropos* (Sphingidae) (Brehm et al., 2015), and the Madagascar hissing cockroach, *Gromphadorhina portentosa* (Blaberidae) (Nelson, 1979), as well as the tymbal clicks of tiger moths (Erebidae: Arctiinae) (e.g., Corcoran et al., 2010). However, insect defense sounds are widespread and diverse, including those produced by small stridulating bark beetles (Lewis and Cane, 1990) and large whistling caterpillars (Bura et al., 2011). Despite centuries of research reporting that insects use sounds for defense (e.g., Lesser, 1738; Sanborn, 1869; Darwin, 1889), we know very little about the roles these sounds play in insect survival (Conner, 2014). How do sounds stop an attack by a predator? Do different sound characteristics serve different functions? Why do only some insects produce defense sounds? To address these questions, we need a review of insect defensive sound production that highlights research to date and identifies what remains to be investigated. Previous reviews of insect defense sounds focused on potential functions (e.g., 2014), a single mechanism (e.g., stridulation, Masters, 1980), or a specific taxon (e.g., termite alarm

signals, Hager et al., 2019; tiger moth anti-bat clicks, Waters, 2003; Conner and Corcoran, 2012). Our review takes a broader approach by exploring the diversity, function, and evolution of defense sounds across the Class Insecta. Specifically, we document which taxa, sexes, and developmental stages are reported to produce defense sounds, the mechanisms by which they produce them, and the diversity of their signal characteristics. We review hypotheses explaining the functions and evolutionary origins of defensive sound production, as well as the adaptive significance of signal variation. While we focus specifically on defense sounds, we recognize that some insects use other forms of acoustic anti-predator strategies such as adaptive silence and acoustic crypsis, and we refer readers to Conner (2014) for further discussion of these strategies.

What Is a Defense Sound?

What do we mean by "defense sound"? Variously called "distress signals" (Ossiannilsson, 1949), "protest sounds" (Alexander, 1956), "disturbance sounds" (Masters, 1979), and "defense sounds" (Bura et al., 2016), the general consensus is that these acoustic signals are produced in response to disturbance and used to repel predators or warn conspecifics (cf. Alexander, 1967). In social insects such as termites and bees, the sounds protect not only the individual, but the colony. We exclude from this review sounds associated with territorial and agonistic behaviors (e.g., those occurring in male-male interactions) as such sounds are generally aimed at competitors rather than predators. We also exclude cases of "incidental" sounds, meaning sounds associated with another defense like the chemical ejections of bombardier beetles (Eisner et al., 2001), unless the sounds are noted by the authors as being part of the defensive display. We recommend the following definition: "A defense sound is an acoustic signal produced in response to attack or threat of attack by a predator (or parasitoid) and that promotes survival." Here we refer to an acoustic signal in the broadest sense, meaning a vibration that is airborne, waterborne (both commonly referred to as sounds), or solid-borne (commonly referred to as vibrations). For simplicity, hereafter we refer to all of these acoustic signals as "sounds" [see Hill (2014) and Yack (2016) for further discussion of acoustic signal nomenclature].

WHICH INSECTS PRODUCE DEFENSE SOUNDS?

Understanding which individuals possess a trait and how it varies is important for testing hypotheses on the function and evolution of that trait. Until now, a review of the distribution of insect defense sounds across taxa, sexes, and developmental stages had not been conducted. Using our definition of defense sounds, we reviewed the literature to identify which insect orders and families include species reported or proposed to produce sonic defenses. Among these examples, we also noted the sex and life stages of the species investigated. Our goal was not to identify every reported occurrence, but to obtain a general overview of the variation between taxa, sexes, and developmental stages to identify gaps in the literature and trends that will inform future studies.

Defensive sound production has been reported in at least 12 of the 28 currently recognized insect orders (Table 1 and Figure 1). However, the number of reports varies between orders, ranging from multiple species within 15 families of Lepidoptera to a single species in Odonata. Coleoptera and Hemiptera have the next most abundant number of reports at 12 and 10 families, respectively. Defense sounds are also commonly described in Blattodea (8 families) and Orthoptera (7 families). The remaining orders have reports from 6 or fewer families, though some of these families contain numerous well-known sound producers [e.g., buzzing in Apidae (Hymenoptera), Kirchner and Röschard, 1999]. Importantly, we cannot conclude based on a single soundproducing species that all members of a given family, or even a given genus, produce defense sounds. For example, not all Phasmatidae (Phasmatodea) stridulate when disturbed (Bedford, 1978), and in Sphingidae (Lepidoptera), both sound- and nonsound-producing larvae occur in the genus Manduca (Bura et al., 2016). While defensive sound production appears to be widespread in insects, it is certainly not an even distribution. We discuss why defense sounds might not occur in all species in the next subsection.

Within species that produce defense sounds, the sex that produces these sounds can vary. It is important to note, however, that many studies do not indicate the sex of the specimens tested. Indeed, of the 404 species identified as sound producers in this review, sex was identified in fewer than half the species (194 of 404). In the 152 species for which both sexes were tested, both males and females produce sounds in the majority of cases (126 of 152). Examples include hissing cockroaches (e.g., Nelson and Fraser, 1980) and king crickets (e.g., Field, 1993). Sexual dimorphism of sound features was noted in 21 of these 126 species, and the differences are attributed to morphological traits such as body size (e.g., Coelho, 1998; Hill, 2007), or because the male and female use different mechanisms of sound production (e.g., Kowalski et al., 2014). In the remaining 26 (of 152) species where both sexes were tested, only one sex produces defense sounds. In 20 of these, it's the male sex, and examples include cicadas (e.g., Smith and Langley, 1978) and katydids (e.g., Kowalski and Lakes-Harlan, 2011). In contrast, there are only 6 species where defense sounds are produced solely by the female, including Heteropteryx dilatata stick insects (Heteropterygidae) (Carlberg, 1989) and Ips pini beetles (Curculionidae) (Dobai et al., 2018). Based on the species investigated to date, when defensive sound production occurs in a species, it is typically produced by both sexes. When only one sex produces sounds, it is usually the male. This male bias could be attributable to males experiencing higher predation risk as they are more mobile when searching for a mate (e.g., Burk, 1982). We recommend that future studies aim to test both sexes wherever possible.

The majority of reports of defensive sound production come from adult insects, but many juvenile life stages, including larvae, nymphs, and pupae, also produce these sounds (**Table 1** and **Figure 1**). We did not, however, find any accounts of insect eggs producing sounds in response to a disturbance. Of the **TABLE 1** | Distribution of insect defense sounds across orders, families, and developmental stages including information on mechanisms and proposed functions.

 A, adult; N, nymph; L, larva; P, pupa. "Figure 3 #" refers to the corresponding label on Figure 3. Asterisks denote cases where the sound was tested with a predator/receiver in the selected reference.

ORDER Family	Life stage	Sound type	Mechanism	Figure 3 #	Proposed function	Selected references
ODONATA						
Epiophlebiidae ORTHOPTERA	Ν	Stridulation	Abdomino-femoral	1		Haskell, 1961
Acrididae	А	Stridulation	Mandibles	2	Not specified*	Blondheim and Frankenberg, 1983*
Anostostomatidae	A, N	Stridulation	Abdomino-femoral	4		Field, 1993
	A	Stridulation	Mandibular tusks	2		Field, 1993
	А	Stridulation	Tergo-tergal	5		Field, 1993
Gryllacrididae	A	Stridulation	Abdomino-femoral	4	Startle	Field and Bailey, 1997
Gryllidae	А	Stridulation	Tegmino-tegminal	6	Aposematism	Desutter-Grandcolas, 1998
Prophalangopsidae	А	Stridulation	Abdomino-thoracic	7		Gwynne, 2001
Stenopelmatidae	A	Stridulation	Abdomino-femoral	4		Weissman, 2001
ettigoniidae	A, N	Forced air	Mouthparts	3		Bailey and Sandow, 1983
	A	Stridulation	Tegmino-tegminal	6	Startle	Heller, 1995; Kowalski and Lakes-Harlan, 2011 Kowalski et al., 2014
	А	Stridulation	Legs		Startle	Belwood, 1990
	A	Stridulation	Femoro-alary	8		Rentz, 1993
	A	Stridulation	Abdomino-alary	9, 10	Startle*	Sandow and Bailey, 1978*; Bailey and Sandow 1983; Heller, 1995
	А	Stridulation	Labrum-mandible	2		Lloyd and Gurney, 1975
PHASMATODEA						
Diapheromeridae	А	Stridulation	Wings		Startle	Bedford, 1978
			0		Aposematism	Edmunds, 1974
Heteropterygidae	А	Stridulation	Wings		Mimicry	Carlberg, 1989
Phasmatidae	А	Stridulation	Wings		Startle	Bedford, 1978
Phylliidae	A, N	Stridulation	Antenno-antennal	11		Henry, 1922
MANTODEA						
Empusidae	А	Stridulation	Tegmino-femoral	12	Startle*	Carpenter, 1921*
Hymenopodidae	А	Stridulation	Wings		Startle	Shelford, 1903
	А	Stridulation	Abdomino-alary	13	Startle	Edmunds, 1972
Vantidae	А	Stridulation	Abdomino-alary	13	Startle*	Maldonado, 1970*; Hill, 2007
	А	Stridulation	Pronoto-femoral	14	Startle	Robinson, 1969
BLATTODEA						
Archotermopsidae	А	Percussion	Head		Alarm*	Kirchner et al., 1994*
Blaberidae	A, N	Forced Air	Spiracles	15		Nelson, 1979; Hunsinger et al., 2018
	А	Stridulation	Tergo-tergal	16		Roth and Hartman, 1967
	А	Stridulation	Abdomino-alary			Roth and Hartman, 1967
	А	Stridulation	Pronoto-tegminal	17	Startle*	Guthrie, 1966*
					Aposematism	Roth and Hartman, 1967
Cryptocercidae	A, N	Percussion	Head		Alarm*	Seelinger and Seelinger, 1983*
Ectobiidae	Ν	Stridulation	Sterno-sternal	18	Aposematism	Schal et al., 1982
Hodotermitidae	А	Percussion	Head		Alarm	Bugnion, 1913
Mastotermitidae	А	Percussion	Abdomen		Alarm*	Delattre et al., 2015*
	А	Tremulation			Alarm*	Delattre et al., 2015*
Rhinotermitidae	А	Percussion	Head		Alarm	Hertel et al., 2011
Fermitidae	А	Percussion	Head		Alarm*	Connétable et al., 1999*; Hager and Kirchner, 2013*
HEMIPTERA	А	Tremulation				Röhrig et al., 1999
		Otridulation	Abdomine tibiol	10		Proughton and Harris 1071
Aphididae	A, N	Stridulation	Abdomino-tibial	19		Broughton and Harris, 1971
Aphrophoridae	A	Tymbalation	Tymbals	20		Ossiannilsson, 1949
Cicadellidae	A	Tymbalation	Tymbals	20		Ossiannilsson, 1949

(Continued)

TABLE 1 | Continued

ORDER Family	Life stage	Sound type	Mechanism	Figure 3 #	Proposed function	Selected references
Cicadidae	А	Tymbalation	Tymbals	20	Startle*	Smith and Langley, 1978*
Cydnidae	А	Stridulation	Abdomino-alary	21		Dupuis, 1953; Gogala, 1970
	А	Tremulation	Abdomen		Not specified*	Nakahira and Kudo, 2008*
Membracidae	A, N				Recruitment*	Cocroft, 1996*; Morales et al., 2008*
Reduviidae	A, N	Stridulation	Prosterno-rostral	22	Startle	Yinon et al., 1972; Schilman et al., 2001
Scutelleridae	A, N	Stridulation	Abdomino-tibial	19		Leston, 1957
Tessaratomidae	A					Leston, 1954
Veliidae		Stridulation				Miyamoto, 1953
HYMENOPTERA		othadatoh				
Apidae	А	Tremulation	Flight muscles		Aposematism*	Kirchner and Röschard, 1999*
, proces		inointalation			Alarm* Mimicry	Sen Sarma et al., 2002* Seeley et al., 1982
Crabronidae	А	Tremulation	Flight muscles			Coelho, 1998
Formicidae	А	Percussion	Mandibles		Alarm*	Fuchs, 1976*
	А	Percussion	Abdomen		Alarm*	Fuchs, 1976*
	A	Stridulation	Tergo-tergal	23	Alarm	Pavan et al., 1997
			0 0		Aposematism	Ware, 1994
Mutillidae	А	Stridulation	Tergo-tergal	23	Aposematism*	Masters, 1979*; Polidori et al., 2013
Tenthredinidae	L	Stridulation	Abdomen tip	24	Aposematism	Boevé, 2015
Vespidae	А	Percussion	Abdomen tip		Alarm*	Jeanne and Keeping, 1995*
COLEOPTERA						
Carabidae	А	Stridulation	Abdomino-elytral	25, 26	Aposematism*	Wheeler et al., 1970*; Bauer, 1976*
Carabidae: Cicindelinae	А	Stridulation	Alary-elytral	27	Müllerian mimicry	Yager and Spangler, 1997
	А	Stridulation	Elytro-femoral	29		Serrano et al., 2003
Cerambycidae	А	Stridulation	Mesonoto-pronotal	28	Müllerian mimicry Alarm*	Miller, 1971; Schmitt and Traue, 1990 Li et al., 2013*
Chrysomelidae	А	Stridulation	Abdomino-elytral	25		Schmitt and Traue, 1990
,,	L	Tremulation			Aggregation	Greenfield, 2002
Curculionidae	А	Stridulation	Elytro-femoral	29	33 - 3 - 4	Gaiger and Vanin, 2006
o al o allor li dao	A	Stridulation	Elytro-abdominal	25	Startle	Wilson et al., 1993; Fleming et al., 2013
	A	Stridulation	Vertex-pronotal	30	Startle*	Lewis and Cane, 1990*; Dobai et al., 201
Dytiscidae	A	Stridulation	Vertex pronotai	00	Otartie	Aiken, 1985
Dyliscidde	L	Forced Air	Spiracles	31	Startle	Mukerji, 1929
Cootrupidoo	A	Stridulation	Elytro-thoracic	32	Startie	Palestrini et al., 1988
Geotrupidae						
	A	Stridulation	Coxo-abdominal	33		Palestrini et al., 1988; Carisio et al., 2004
l la columna la Vinter a	L	Stridulation	Legs	0.4	A	Pavan et al., 1990
Hydrophilidae	A	Stridulation	Elytro-abdominal	34	Aposematism*	Ryker, 1976; Masters, 1979*; Aiken, 198
	L			0.5		Aiken, 1985
Hygrobiidae	A	Stridulation	Elytro-abdominal	25		Aiken, 1985
Passalidae	A	Stridulation	Abdomino-alary	35	Startle*	Dumortier, 1963b; Buchler et al., 1981*
Scarabaeidae	A	Stridulation	Alary-abdominal	36		Kasper and Hirschberger, 2005
	A	Stridulation	Abdomino-elytral	37		Mini and Prabhu, 1990
	A	Stridulation	Elytro-abdominal	38		Palestrini et al., 1990
	A	Stridulation	Coxo-abdominal	33		Joseph, 1991
	Р	Stridulation	Gin traps	39		Dumortier, 1963b
Silphidae	A	Stridulation	Abdomino-elytral	40	Aposematism Müllerian mimicry	Rothschild and Haskell, 1966 Lane and Rothschild, 1965
Tenebrionidae	А	Stridulation	Abdomino-elytral	41	Aposematism	Eisner et al., 1974
TRICHOPTERA						
Hydropsychidae	L	Stridulation	Head-femoral	42	Not specified*	Johnstone, 1964; Jansson and Vuoristo, 1979*

(Continued)

TABLE 1 | Continued

ORDER Family	Life stage	Sound type	Mechanism	Figure 3 #	Proposed function	Selected references
LEPIDOPTERA						
Brahmaeidae	L	Forced air	Alimentary canal	3	Startle	Low, unpublished
Drepanidae	L	Stridulation	Mandibles	2	Not specified*	Guedes et al., 2012*
Erebidae: Arctiinae	A	Tymbalation	Tymbals	44	Aposematism* Batesian mimicry* Müllerian mimicry* Startle* Sonar jamming*	Hristov and Conner, 2005*; Dowdy and Conner, 2016* Barber and Conner, 2007* Barber and Conner, 2007* Bates and Fenton, 1990* Corcoran et al., 2009*, 2011*
Geometridae	А	Tymbalation	Tymbals	45	Batesian mimicry	Corcoran and Hristov, 2014
Heliozelidae	L		Abdomen tip			Low, 2008
Hesperiidae	Р	Stridulation	Probosco-abdominal	46		Hinton, 1948
	Р	Percussion		n/a		Hinton, 1948
Lycaenidae	Р	Stridulation	Tergo-tergal	43		Hinton, 1948; Downey, 1966
	Р	Percussion	Anterior end			Hinton, 1948; Downey, 1966
	L	Stridulation			Recruitment*	Pierce et al., 1987*
Nolidae	Р	Stridulation	Abdomen tip	47	Startle	Dodd, 1916; Hinton, 1948
Notodontidae	L	Stridulation	Mandibles	2		Federley, 1905
Nymphalidae	А	Tymbalation	Wing buckling	48	Startle*	Møhl and Miller, 1976*; Vallin et al., 2005*; Olofsson et al., 2012*
	А	Stridulation	Wings	49		Dumortier, 1963a
	Р	Stridulation	Tergo-tergal	50, 51	Startle	Dolle et al., 2018
Papilionidae	А	Stridulation	Alary-tibial			Jobling, 1936
	Р	Stridulation	Sterno-sternal	52	Startle	Dolle et al., 2018
Riodinidae	Р	Stridulation	Tergo-tergal	53		Downey, 1966
	L	Stridulation	Vibratory papillae	54	Recruitment*	DeVries, 1991*
Saturniidae	L	Stridulation	Mandibles	2	Aposematism*	Brown et al., 2007*; Bura et al., 2016
	L	Forced air	Spiracles	55	Startle	Bura et al., 2016
	L	Forced air	Alimentary canal	3	Startle	Low, unpublished
Sphingidae	А	Stridulation	Genitalia	56	Sonar jamming*	Kawahara and Barber, 2015*
	А	Forced air	Pharyngeal	3	Startle	Zagorinsky et al., 2012; Brehm et al., 2015
	Р	Stridulation	Tergo-tergal	50		Hinton, 1948
	L	Stridulation	Mandibles	2	Aposematism	Bura et al., 2012, 2016
	L	Forced air	Spiracles	55	Startle*	Dookie et al., 2017*; Sugiura and Takanashi, 2018*
	L	Forced air	Alimentary canal	3	Startle	Rosi-Denadai et al., 2018
Yponomeutidae	А	Tymbalation	Wing buckling	57	Müllerian mimicry	O'Reilly et al., 2019
DIPTERA						
Syrphidae	А	Tremulation	Flight muscles		Mimicry*	Brower and Brower, 1965*; Rashed et al., 2009
MECOPTERA						
Meropeidae	А	Stridulation	Jugum-metanotal	58		Sanborne, 1982

References have been selected to include those that best represent the diversity of taxa and developmental stages reported to produce defense sounds. However, it should be noted that this is not a comprehensive list.

69 families identified in our study in which defense sounds occur (**Table 1**), 30 families include reports from juveniles. These examples primarily occur in Lepidoptera (12 families), but also Coleoptera (5), Hemiptera (4), and Blattodea (3). Juvenile sound producers include nymphs in Ectobiidae (Blattodea) (Schal et al., 1982), larvae in Bombycoidea (Lepidoptera) (Bura et al., 2016), and pupae in Lycaenidae and Riodinidae (Lepidoptera) (Hinton, 1948; Downey, 1966). There is no obvious relationship between juvenile and adult defensive sound production within a species. In hemipterans such as Reduviidae (e.g., Yinon et al., 1972) and Membracidae (e.g., Cocroft, 1996), both juveniles and adults can produce defense sounds. However, in Lepidoptera and other holometabolous orders, where a juvenile produces defense sounds, the adult may not. For instance, of the 33 Bombycoidea caterpillar species known to produce defense sounds (Low, unpublished), only two species are reported to produce sounds as adults (e.g., Brehm et al., 2015) and the mechanisms used by the caterpillars and adults differ. Yack (2016) proposed that juvenile insects are under-represented in the literature on acoustic communication, and we argue that this pertains to defensive sound production as well. Juvenile insects are attacked by many predators and parasitoids, and



FIGURE 1 | Distribution of defense sounds across orders and life stages of the Class Insecta. The five different mechanisms used to produce defense sounds (stridulation, percussion, tymbalation, tremulation, and forced air) are indicated within their respective columns. Shapes represent the life stage at which defensive sound production occurs, with pupae included under "Juveniles." Numbers represent the number of families within that order where defensive sound production has been noted. Cladogram adapted from Misof et al. (2014).

as such there should be selective pressures to produce defense sounds. Comparative analyses among juvenile sonic defenses would be ideal for testing hypotheses on the functions and evolution of these signals, as in juveniles, defensive sound production is not confounded by sounds used in sexual selection. Future research should focus on identifying the distribution and diversity of defensive sound production in juvenile insects including eggs.

Why Don't All Insects Produce Defense Sounds?

Why is there such diversity with respect to who does and does not produce defense sounds? There are several, non-mutually exclusive explanations. First, morphological or phenotypic traits may enhance or constrain a species' ability to evolve sound production. For example, smaller insects may not produce airborne defense sounds because such sounds could be too quiet for a predator to hear (Bennet-Clark, 1998), and indeed, we did not find any accounts of defensive sound production in orders with tiny insects (e.g., Psocodea, Thysanoptera, and Siphonaptera, Figure 1). Sclerotization, or hardness, of an insect's cuticle may restrict sound production to insects with hard exoskeletons (though this would vary by mechanism), and we did find the most defense sound producers in Coleoptera adults and Lepidoptera pupae (Table 1). Additionally, some insects may have co-opted a pre-existing mechanism used in a different signaling context, such as cricket and katydid defensive sound production that is thought to have evolved from sexual signaling (Alexander, 1960) (see section "Evolutionary Origins" below). Second, the assemblage of predators may influence who does or does not produce defense sounds. For instance, tymbal click production varies seasonally in tiger moths of south-eastern Canada whereby species that emerge during peak bat foraging season are more likely to click than species that emerge earlier in the year (Ratcliffe and Nydam, 2008). Third, there are costs to producing defense sounds that may preclude some insects from using them due to tradeoffs with other defenses. Corcoran and Woods (2015) found that the metabolic rate of the tiger moth Bertholdia trigona (Arctiinae) is 66% higher when producing sonar jamming sounds than when at rest, but is negligible when compared to the 277% higher rate of flight. If defense sounds are costly to produce, perhaps insects that have already invested in other costly defenses (e.g., chemical defenses, Zvereva and Kozlov, 2015; Knapp et al., 2020) will not produce them. Fourth, the insect's habitat may not be conducive to transmitting sounds effectively due to interference with sound propagation from absorption, scattering, or masking by background noise (Römer, 2020). For example, insects may be living in wood or soil where the distance that sounds can travel is heavily influenced by both the source amplitude and the properties of the substrate that can absorb or interfere with the sound wave. Hager and Kirchner (2013) found termite vibrational signals produced by an individual have a range of only 0.4 m due to attenuation properties of the soil that dampen the signal amplitude. Despite this limited range, the signals can be propagated through the rest of the nest by receiving termites that relay the signal onward. Finally, sampling biases may explain differences in reports of defensive sound production between taxa, sexes, or developmental stages. For instance, Lepidoptera, Coleoptera, and Hemiptera are not only speciose orders, but also generally well-studied, thereby increasing the likelihood of researchers encountering species that produce defense sounds. Also, some signals may go undetected without the use of specialized recording equipment, such as laser vibrometers that are required to record solid-borne defense sounds. Similarly, in many instances, defense sounds are intended for close range communication with a predator and do not travel long distances (e.g., Bura et al., 2016). In these cases, unless a researcher is explicitly attacking an insect and recording sounds, the signals may not be noticed. For example, Walters et al. (2001) investigated the antipredator defenses of Manduca sexta caterpillars (Sphingidae), but overlooked their defensive clicking [subsequently reported by Bura et al. (2012)] by not recording sounds during their trials. Hypotheses to explain the evolution and variation of traits such as communication signals are being increasingly tested using phylogenetic comparative methods (e.g., acoustic communication in Orthoptera, Song et al., 2020). We believe that using phylogenetic comparative analyses that incorporate morphological traits, predator types, habitats, and other defenses will be particularly insightful for testing and developing hypotheses explaining why some species produce defense sounds while others do not.

DIVERSITY OF MECHANISMS

Insects are highly acoustic animals and have evolved numerous mechanisms of sound production that occur on all different body parts. The hardened exoskeleton of insects has enabled the evolution of this range of mechanisms, although even softbodied insects such as caterpillars can produce sounds using forced air or limited sclerotized body parts (e.g., Bura et al., 2016). Sound-producing mechanisms in insects have been reviewed by several authors, including Haskell (1961), Dumortier (1963b), Ewing (1989), and Hill (2008). These authors use a variety of terms to describe different mechanisms, including stridulation, percussion, vibration, click mechanisms, air expulsion, frictional mechanisms, and vibrating membranes. Even though sound production in insects has been reviewed, sounds produced specifically in a defensive context have not. Here, we describe the various mechanisms used for producing defense sounds as well as the locations on the body where these mechanisms occur.

We recognize five categories of sound-producing mechanisms derived from terms used by Ewing (1989) and Hill (2014): stridulation, percussion, tymbalation, tremulation, and forced air (Figure 2). Stridulation involves the rubbing of two body parts together or one body part on the substrate to produce sounds. The body parts may be unspecialized, such as mandibles rubbing against one another (e.g., Brown et al., 2007), or specialized, such as a file and scraper (e.g., Dobai et al., 2018, Figure 2A). Coleoptera exhibit the greatest diversity of stridulatory mechanisms (Figure 3). Percussion, which involves "tapping" or "drumming" the substrate, is common among ants (e.g., Fuchs, 1976) and termites (e.g., Hager and Kirchner, 2013, Figure 2B) that use these sounds as alarm signals. Tymbalation occurs via the buckling action of specialized body parts, often called tymbals, and is found in Lepidoptera and Hemiptera. This mechanism is well-known in moths that produce anti-bat



FIGURE 2 | The five types of mechanisms that insects use to produce defense sounds, illustrated by examples from five different insects. Blue circles correspond to the location of the mechanism in the chosen example. Waveforms and corresponding spectrograms show 500 ms of sound from each species. (A) Stridulation: a single chirp produced by an Ips pini bark beetle. Chirps are produced using a file and scraper mechanism located between the head and pronotum. (B) Percussion: a series of drumming signals by a Macrotermes natalensis termite. The signals are produced by tapping the substrate with its head. (C) Tymbalation: a series of clicks produced by a Eubaphe unicolor moth. Clicks are produced via a pair of tymbals located one on each side of the prothorax. (D) Tremulation: a group piping signal produced by Apis florea bees. Piping sounds are produced through vibrations of the flight muscles. (E) Forced Air: a single vocalization produced by an Amphion floridensis caterpillar. Vocalizations are made by airflow from the alimentary canal. Sound files were contributed by the Yack Lab (I. pini and A. floridensis), F. Hager (M. natalensis), A. Corcoran (E. unicolor), and S. Fuchs (A. florea). See text and Table 1 for further details on these examples.

clicks (e.g., Conner and Corcoran, 2012; Corcoran and Hristov, 2014, Figure 2C), and in cicada anti-predator squawks (e.g., Smith and Langley, 1978). Tremulation involves bodily motions

that are transmitted as vibrations through the substrate and is usually produced by bobbing movements (Virant-Doberlet and Čokl, 2004). We broaden this definition of tremulation to include the vibration of flight muscles of both Diptera (e.g., Rashed et al., 2009) and Hymenoptera (e.g., Sen Sarma et al., 2002, **Figure 2D**). Forced air mechanisms are produced via airflow from an orifice such as spiracles (e.g., Bura et al., 2011) or the alimentary canal (e.g., Brehm et al., 2015; Rosi-Denadai et al., 2018, **Figure 2E**). All five of these broad categories are used by different insects for defense sounds, but the locations where each is found varies.

Mechanisms used to produce defense sounds have evolved on almost every part of the body, as illustrated in Figure 3. We excluded percussion and tremulation from the figure as these usually involve large undifferentiated regions of the body, such as the head of termites and the flight muscles of flies (Table 1). Also excluded from the figure are mechanisms such as "rustling of the wings" where no specific location is mentioned. Our results show that mechanisms of defensive sound production occur on numerous different body regions in both adults (Figure 3A) and juveniles (Figures 3B-D). Of the 58 mechanisms illustrated, 49 are stridulatory. Stridulatory mechanisms predominantly occur either between neighboring segments (e.g., #7, Figure 3A; #52, Figure 3C), or on a section of the body that can be rubbed by appendages such as the hind legs (e.g., #19, Figures 3A,B) or, in adults only, the wings (e.g., #26, Figure 3A). Tymbals used to produce defense sounds are only noted in adults. These are located on the prothorax (#45, Figure 3A) or metathorax (#44, Figure 3A) in Lepidoptera, and on the first abdominal segment in Hemiptera (#20, Figure 3A). However, some Nymphalidae butterflies use a portion of their forewing membrane as a tymballike structure that buckles to produce clicks (#48, Figure 3A) (Møhl and Miller, 1976), and some Yponomeutidae moths use a part of their hind wing in a similar manner (#57, Figure 3A) (O'Reilly et al., 2019). Forced air mechanisms are found in both adults and juveniles. Spiracles are used for air expulsion in larvae of Coleoptera (#31, Figure 3D) and Lepidoptera (#55, Figure 3D), as well as both adults and nymphs in Blattodea (#15, Figures 3A,B). Airflow via the alimentary canal is found in both adults and juveniles of Orthoptera (#3, Figures 3A,B) and Lepidoptera (#3, Figures 3A,D).

Why might a mechanism evolve where it does on a given insect? For stridulation, the mechanisms are found where body parts can be easily rubbed together (Dumortier, 1963b) and the neuromuscular control is likely already available. In hardbodied insect adults, the site possibilities are vast as demonstrated by the diversity within Coleoptera. In soft-bodied insect larvae, stridulatory mechanisms are restricted to sclerotized areas such as the head and legs (Figure 3D). Tymbalation requires a flexible region of the exoskeleton as well as a method of buckling this region. Tymbals located on the main body occur on or near the thorax where locomotory muscles can be used to pull the tymbal in and out (Wessel et al., 2014). On the other hand, tymbal-like mechanisms on wings will require either an opposing structure to press against (e.g., Møhl and Miller, 1976), or rely on movement of the wings themselves to buckle the flexible wing membrane (e.g., O'Reilly et al., 2019). For forced air, which



tremulation were excluded as they generally employ undifferentiated body parts. Each number represents a position where a sound-producing mechanism has been recorded in the literature. (A) Generic adult insect. (B) Generic nymph. (C) Generic pupa. (D) Generic larva. The numbers correspond to their order of appearance in Table 1, which includes information on the orders, families, and literature citations. Mechanisms by insect order are as follows: 1: Odonata. 2–3: Orthoptera and Lepidoptera. 4–10: Orthoptera. 11: Phasmatodea. 12–14: Mantodea. 15–18: Blattodea. 19–22: Hemiptera. 23–24: Hymenoptera. 25–41: Coleoptera. 42: Trichoptera. 43–57: Lepidoptera. 58: Mecoptera. Tymbal mechanisms (numbers 20, 44, 45, 48, and 57) are in green. Forced air mechanisms (numbers 3, 15, 31, and 55) are in blue. Stridulatory mechanisms (all other numbers) are in pink. In stridulatory mechanisms 8 and 35 do not have a corresponding location marked on the wings as the entire wing is used in these mechanisms.

pair of spiracles evolved for sound production likely depends on the underlying control of airflow within each insect's tracheal system. Directional airflow is controlled by the coordinated action of the spiracles and ventilatory movements (Heinrich et al., 2013). A spiracle used for sound production likely evolved from one originally used in air output, as demonstrated in hissing cockroaches (Nelson, 1979). The alimentary canal mechanism of forced air may originate from a sucking-pump as proposed for Acherontia atropos moths (Brehm et al., 2015), or from regurgitation as proposed in Amphion floridensis caterpillars (Sphingidae) (Rosi-Denadai et al., 2018). Percussion mechanisms use body parts already equipped with the flexibility to drum on a surface, while for tremulation the only described mechanisms used for defense sounds are flight muscles that can be decoupled from the wings to prevent flight. The morphological variation among and between these mechanisms creates a diversity

of signal characteristics, and we explore this relationship in the next section.

HOW AND WHY DEFENSE SOUNDS VARY

Insect defense sounds demonstrate wide variation in their physical characteristics. Sound unit durations (unit being an individual sound as perceived by the human ear, Broughton, 1976) range from 250 μ s (tiger beetle clicking, Yager and Spangler, 1997) to periods of over a minute (bee hissing and their mimics, Sen Sarma et al., 2002). Dominant frequencies range from 152 Hz (wasp buzzing, Coelho, 1998) to 90 kHz (hawkmoth stridulation, Kawahara and Barber, 2015). The loudest sound level reported is 110 dB SPL at 8–10 cm (butterfly clicks,

Møhl and Miller, 1976) while the quietest reported is 49.8 dB SPL at 2 cm (caterpillar whistling, Sugiura and Takanashi, 2018). This wide variation in signal characteristics disagrees with past proposals that defense sounds tend to share similar characteristics (e.g., Masters, 1980; Schmitt and Traue, 1990; Field, 2001). So why do defense sounds vary? While there are many factors that could explain this variation, we consider the following: morphological influences, the sensory system of the receiver, and the information content of the signal.

An insect's morphological features can impact their signal characteristics. First, the physical structure of the mechanism itself directly influences the traits of the sound produced (Dumortier, 1963c). For example, the number of ridges on a tiger moth's tymbal correlates to the maximum click rate of their sounds (Dowdy and Conner, 2019). Second, sound production and propagation are highly affected by body size. Smaller insects not only have less muscle power available to produce sounds, but also have smaller resonating structures that are more efficient at transmitting high frequency than low frequency airborne sounds (Bennet-Clark, 1998). Third, the form of the resonating structures influences the frequencies that are transmitted. For instance, the unspecialized gaster of ants provides a resonating structure that transmits broadband alarm signals (Masters et al., 1983). Crickets on the other hand use a specialized portion of their forewing called the "harp," and the frequency and bandwidth of the sounds produced depend on how well the harp is coupled to the sound-producing mechanism (Montealegre-Z et al., 2011). However, the latter example has only been studied in a mating context. Fourth, properties of the insect's exoskeleton will influence the sounds produced. For example, a certain degree of sclerotization is necessary for both percussion and stridulation. Perhaps this is why soft-bodied larvae use fewer of these mechanisms, and why the mechanisms are isolated to sclerotized body parts (see Figure 3D). Researchers should take into account morphological factors when testing hypotheses to explain why defense sounds differ in their physical characteristics.

Just as the hearing of prey insects is shaped by the sounds of their predators (see Yack et al., 2020), the defense sounds of prey should be shaped by their receivers. A receiver may be a predator (vertebrate or invertebrate), parasitoid, or nonpredator (conspecific or heterospecific). If the receiver is very specific, then we might expect these signals to be specialized to that receiver. Tiger moth tymbal clicks are an example of targeted defense sounds. The dominant frequency of these clicks is usually ultrasonic, ranging from 28 to 82 kHz (Corcoran et al., 2010), and matches the ultrasonic hearing of insectivorous bats (Sales and Pye, 1974). Similarly, vibratory signals in termites that function to warn colony members of a threat contain most energy between 1 and 5 kHz, matching the frequencies that initiate conspecific behavioral responses (Hager and Kirchner, 2013). In contrast, a defense sound may target a wide range of predators each with different acoustic sensitivities. In such cases, we might expect the sounds to be of broader bandwidth and simpler temporal structure to reflect a range in sensory processing and cognitive skills (Masters, 1980). For instance, stridulation of Dasymutilla sp. wasps (Mutillidae) is broadband, simple, and shown to inhibit attacks by both mice and spiders (Masters, 1979, 1980).

Additionally, *Antheraea polyphemus* caterpillars (Saturniidae) are attacked by a range of invertebrate and vertebrate predators, and their stridulatory defense sounds are broadband and simple in temporal structure (Brown et al., 2007).

Comparing characteristics of sounds produced within a species but in different contexts can lend insights into the selective pressures on defense sounds enacted by receivers. Figure 4 illustrates a few examples of insects that produce sound in both defensive and reproductive contexts. Dendroctonus valens and I. pini bark beetles (Curculionidae) as well as Cyphoderris monstrosa orthopterans (Prophalangopsidae) produce defense sounds that are simpler in temporal structure (e.g., lower pulse rates and shorter durations) than their songs aimed at potential mates (Mason, 1991; Lindeman and Yack, 2015; Dobai et al., 2018; Mason, pers. comm.). One possible explanation for defense sounds being simpler in these species is that they target a broad predator audience, whereas songs directed at potential mates advertise individual characteristics (e.g., skill, health, size, and energy reserves) that are communicated by signal traits. For example, D. valens courtship sounds consist of interrupted chirps proposed to advertise male body size and condition to females, and females prefer more complex interrupted chirps than simpler ones (Figure 4) (Lindeman and Yack, 2015). In Manulea japonica tiger moths (Arctiinae), the opposite is true, as courtship songs produced by males are simpler in temporal structure than defense sounds (Nakano et al., 2013). Females must distinguish between courtship songs and bat sounds as the latter induces a defensive response in females including sound production and/or escape. Perhaps courtship songs evolved to be simpler in temporal structure to prevent the female from responding with an evasive response. At present, there are few studies in insects that compare signal traits of sounds produced in different behavioral contexts (e.g., defense, reproduction, and aggression). In addition to the above-mentioned examples, see also Kowalski and Lakes-Harlan (2010) on ground crickets, and Stölting et al. (2004) on cicadas. We encourage more such studies to better understand receiver selective pressures on defense sound characteristics.

Defense sound characteristics are also proposed to vary according to the message being conveyed (Bura et al., 2016). However, only two authors have tested this hypothesis in insects. Corcoran et al. (2010) found that the signal characteristics of tiger moth anti-bat clicks cluster into two groups: sound units with low duty cycle (proportion of time occupied by sound) are proposed to function as warning sounds, and high duty cycle units as sonar jamming sounds. In Bombycoidea caterpillars, short duration sounds are associated more with chemical defense than longer sounds, which are instead proposed to function in deimatic displays (Bura et al., 2016). The functional implications of different signal characteristics in conveying different messages to receivers are discussed further in the next section.

PROPOSED FUNCTIONS OF DEFENSE SOUNDS

A defense sound can be directed at either the attacker or a conspecific. Proposed functions of sounds directed at the attacker



male bark beetle *Dendroctonus valens* produces 'simple' chirps that are temporally simple compared to the more complex 'interrupted' chirps that are predominant during courtship displays. The male orthopteran *Cyphoderris monstrosa* produces a series of disyllabic chirps as defense sounds while the calling song is a continuous series of rapid trills. The male *Manulea japonica* tiger moth produces a burst of tymbal clicks in response to simulated bat calls (simulated bat calls in the spectrogram are shown as longer duration calls at ~40 kHz that precede the moth clicks), while the courtship tymbal clicks are simpler in structure. Sound files were contributed by the Yack Lab (*D. valens*), A. Mason (*C. monstrosa*), and R. Nakano (*M. japonica*). See text and **Table 1** for further details on these examples.

include deimatism, aposematism, mimicry, or interference, while those aimed at conspecifics (and sometimes heterospecifics) are usually alarm signals. We define each of these proposed functions based on the broader defense literature (Ruxton et al., 2018) and provide examples if available. We also summarize the predicted receiver responses and defense sound characteristics for each functional category in **Figure 5**.

Signals Directed at Predators Deimatic Displays

Deimatic displays have been defined as signals that act on the innate startle response of a predator (Skelhorn et al., 2016;

Umbers et al., 2017). Although there has been debate on what comprises a deimatic display and how a predator will react (see Umbers et al., 2015; Skelhorn et al., 2016; Umbers and Mappes, 2016), predicted predator responses typically include the predator fleeing from the prey or hesitating long enough for the prey to escape, as well as habituation to the signal with repeated exposure, provided the prey is not otherwise defended (**Figure 5**) (Skelhorn et al., 2016; Umbers et al., 2017). In the visual realm for example, eyespots in butterflies and caterpillars are often recognized as a form of deimatic display that can cause predators to retreat (e.g., Vallin et al., 2005; Hossie and Sherratt, 2013) and habituate with repeated exposure (e.g., Blest, 1957). In the acoustic realm, there are few



crassicornis). See text for further discussion of these functions and corresponding examples.

experimentally tested examples of deimatic sounds involving predator responses (**Table 1**). Stridulation in *Henschoutedenia epilamproides* cockroaches (Blaberidae) startles rats and voles, causing them to withdraw (Guthrie, 1966). Clicking in *Aglais io* butterflies (Nymphalidae) causes bats to scream, jump, and retreat (Møhl and Miller, 1976), and causes mice to run away without attacking (Olofsson et al., 2012). Whistling in *Amorpha juglandis* caterpillars (Sphingidae) startles birds, causing them to dive and fly away (Bura et al., 2011; Dookie et al., 2017, **Figure 5A**), though birds habituate with repeated exposure to the sounds (Dookie et al., 2017). Deimatic sounds in insects have been characterized as being long, loud, and sudden – physical characteristics that are proposed to activate the predator's startle response (e.g., Hill, 2007; Kowalski et al., 2014). For instance, *A. juglandis* whistles are 440 \pm 272 ms long, 69 to 82 dB SPL at 5 cm, and elicited upon contact (Bura et al., 2011). While insect defense sounds are sometimes proposed to be deimatic based on their signal characteristics alone (e.g., Kowalski et al., 2014; Bura et al., 2016), it is key when assessing any defensive function that the predator's responses be recorded (Skelhorn et al., 2016). Also, some insects combine deimatic sounds with visual displays, and the components of such multimodal defenses may operate synergistically, or individually to target different predators (Rowe and Halpin, 2013). For example, while clicks alone in A. *io* butterflies startle bats and mice, it is the hidden eyespots alone (which are revealed simultaneously with the sounds) that have a startling effect on birds (Vallin et al., 2005). This example highlights the necessity of studying responses to defense sounds by different predators. Future research should involve experiments with predators (and not focus only on signal characteristics of the prey) as well as investigate potential synergistic effects of the insect's entire defensive display.

Aposematism

Aposematism is the honest advertisement of dangerous or unpleasant attributes (Edmunds, 1974; Ruxton et al., 2018; Caro and Ruxton, 2019). These attributes include not only distastefulness or toxicity, but also stinging spines, ability to fight back, and a vicious bite. Naïve predators are predicted to hesitate prior to sampling novel aposematic prey, while experienced predators will have learned to associate the signal with the unpleasant attribute and reject such prey based on the signal alone (Figure 5) (Speed, 2000). For example, red is a common aposematic color that can cause naïve predators to hesitate (Exnerová et al., 2007) and also facilitates learning more so than other colors (Rönkä et al., 2018). A. polyphemus caterpillars (Saturniidae) provide strong evidence for their sounds being aposematic. After simulated attacks or attacks from chicks, caterpillars produce clicking sounds followed by regurgitation. The regurgitant is aversive to ants and mice, and chicks stop their attacks following the caterpillar's regurgitation (Brown et al., 2007, Figure 5B). In another caterpillar, Saturnia pyri (Saturniidae), short chirping sounds are induced by simulated predator attacks and these sounds precede or accompany the secretion of defensive phenolic chemicals from scoli (bristlebearing outgrowths) (Bura et al., 2009). These chemicals were shown in previous studies to be aversive to birds and ants (Deml and Dettner, 1993, 1995). Learned avoidance to an aposematic sound has been demonstrated in bats. Bats learn to associate tiger moth tymbal clicks with distastefulness in as few as two exposures to clicking moths, and will thereafter avoid the moths in a lab setting (Hristov and Conner, 2005). Similar to acoustic deimatism, some defended insects may combine sounds with warning coloration or odors, and such multimodal displays may increase the efficacy of an aposematic display or improve predator's learning of defended prey (Rowe and Halpin, 2013).

While it has been hypothesized that some sound characteristics may be more effective as aposematic signals than others (e.g., Bura et al., 2016), this has not yet been experimentally validated. However, we can draw on visual aposematic characteristics to make predictions. To improve prey discrimination and enhance learning, visual aposematic signals are predicted to be simple, symmetrically patterned, and conspicuous (Forsman and Merilaita, 1999; Ruxton et al., 2018). Simple visual signals such as bold patterns and few colors may be more reliably recognized than complex patterns (Cott, 1940), while symmetric patterns are easier to detect, learn, and remember than asymmetric patterns (Forsman and Merilaita, 1999). We predict the equivalent acoustic traits to be short (simple) and repetitive (symmetrical) sound units that are distinct from the background noise (conspicuous). For example, A. polyphemus aposematic clicks are short (24.7 \pm 17.2 ms in duration), repetitive (52.7 \pm 82.2 clicks in a train of sound), and distinct (ranging from 58.1 to 78.8 dB SPL at 10 cm) (Brown et al., 2007). Additionally, Masters (1980) noted a short and repetitive trend among disturbance stridulations of beetles,

true bugs, and velvet ants, and Bura et al. (2016) found that short sounds correspond to the presence of chemical defenses (regurgitation or secretions from scoli) in caterpillars. These traits may aid in learning and memory retention as reported for clicker training with vertebrates (Smith and Davis, 2008). It has been reported that some moths produce ultrasonic aposematic sounds continually during flight (O'Reilly et al., 2019). Such proposed warning sounds that are always turned 'on,' analogous to warning coloration, would be interesting to explore further with live predators. We recommend that future studies focus on identifying effective aposematic sound characteristics and their impacts on a predator's psychology.

Mimicry

Defensive mimicry occurs when one individual (the mimic) copies the appearance or behavior of another (the model) to gain a selective advantage (Jamie, 2017). There are several ways that mimicry may be used for protective measures, but how a predator is predicted to respond depends primarily on its experience with the model. We address three forms of acoustic mimicry. First, in Müllerian mimicry both the mimic and model are defended, and the predator is predicted to respond as it would to an aposematic signal (Figure 5). Müllerian mimicry may also facilitate a predator's learning and memory retention of aposematic signals (Bradbury and Vehrencamp, 2011; Ruxton et al., 2018). Acoustic Müllerian mimicry is proposed to occur among defended clicking tiger moth species (Barber and Conner, 2007) and between defended clicking tiger moths and tiger beetles (Yager and Spangler, 1997). Second, in Batesian mimicry an undefended mimic copies an aposematic model. The predicted response of a predator that has had previous experience with the model is to avoid the mimic, whereas if the mimic is encountered prior to the model, then we would not expect a naïve predator to learn to avoid the signal. For example, Barber and Conner (2007) reported that after having sampled Cycnia tenera, a noxious clicking tiger moth (Arctiinae), red and big brown bats refuse palatable, clicking Euchaetes egle tiger moths. Another proposed acoustic Batesian mimic is *Eubaphe unicolor* (Geometridae), a palatable moth that produces tymbal clicks very similar to its sympatric, unpalatable tiger moth species (Corcoran and Hristov, 2014). Third, it has been proposed that insects can mimic the alarm calls of their predators. In vertebrates, such calls signal danger to conspecifics who react by increasing their vigilance or seeking cover (Fallow et al., 2013). An example of acoustic mimicry in insects is whistling in A. juglandis (Sphingidae) that is proposed to mimic the alarm calls of the caterpillar's avian predator (Dookie et al., 2017). Further studies on acoustic mimicry in insects should include comparisons of acoustic characteristics between models and mimics to determine their degree of similarity, playback studies to monitor predator responses, and palatability trials using different predators.

Interference Signals

Another way that insects may thwart attack is to interfere with a predator's sensory processing capabilities by impeding detection, discrimination, or localization of prey. For example,

flash coloration (a form of flash behavior) can cause a predator to lose track of its original target when a flash of color is revealed while fleeing, then hidden when stopped (Loeffler-Henry et al., 2018; Caro et al., 2020). Predicted predator responses to interference signals vary based on how the signals affect their cognitive processing. To date, three types of acoustic interference have been described in insects: sonar jamming, flash noise, and masking (Figure 5). Sonar jamming prevents prey localization by disrupting the returning echolocation signals of bats and causing the bats to miss their target (Corcoran et al., 2011). Jamming sounds are predicted to have a high duty cycle (proportion of time occupied by sound) to effectively disrupt echoes (Corcoran et al., 2009), and indeed, B. trigona tiger moths (Arctiinae) produce tymbal sounds with a 44% duty cycle (Corcoran et al., 2011, Figure 5C). However, after reporting that hawkmoths produce jamming sounds via genital stridulation with duty cycles as low as 18%, Kawahara and Barber (2015) proposed that a duty cycle threshold of about 20% or higher is necessary to jam bat sonar. The second type of acoustic interference is flash noise. Similar to flash coloration, flash noise occurs when the prey produces a sound that a predator can track acoustically (Edmunds, 1974). The predator is predicted to lose track of the prey when the signaler falls silent. For instance, a disturbed grasshopper (species unspecified) may be tracked via its wing-beat sounds, but when it lands and is again silent, the predator is unable to pinpoint its location (Edmunds, 1974). We believe that this would be especially true if the grasshopper stops flapping before it hits the ground, leaving a gap between where the sound was last heard and where the insect lands. However, the function of flash noises in hindering predators remains speculative. Masking, the third type of acoustic interference, occurs when one sound makes other sounds difficult to hear (Carterette and Friedman, 1978). Smith and Langley (1978) proposed that cicada disturbance squawks decrease the auditory acuity of a mouse by being loud, possibly preventing the mouse from hearing its own predators while handling the cicada. This could thereby make the cicada unprofitable to pursue, and the mouse would be predicted to break off the attack.

Signals Directed at Non-predators

Alarm Signals

Defense sounds directed at non-predators are referred to as alarm signals and are used to warn conspecifics, and sometimes heterospecifics, that a predator or parasitoid has been detected (Bradbury and Vehrencamp, 2011). Thus, alarm signals are usually found in group-living animals. Acoustic alarm signals in insects are predominantly transmitted and perceived through the substrate as vibrations, though some may have an airborne component (Hunt and Richard, 2013). Generally, receivers of an alarm signal respond by escaping, slowing their movement, coordinating a group defense, or approaching the signaler to provide aid (**Figure 5**). For example, drumming in *Camponotus* spp. carpenter ants (Formicidae) induces a context-dependent response where workers that were mostly still prior to the signal will freeze altogether, but those that were already in motion begin moving faster (Fuchs, 1976). Piping by returning foragers of Apis florea honeybees (Apidae) alerts the colony to a nearby threat and initiates coordinated hissing among the whole colony (Sen Sarma et al., 2002). The hissing in turn is thought to be an aposematic signal to approaching predators. Coordinated group responses to alarm signals also include tapping within nests by Parachartergus colobopterus (Vespidae) that calls the wasps outside to spray venom at intruders (Jeanne and Keeping, 1995). Alarm signals can also coordinate group formation, as observed in disturbed Stolas sp. beetle larvae (Chrysomelidae) where vibrational signals recruit other larvae to form a circle (Greenfield, 2002). This coordinated response may offer a survival advantage through safety in numbers (Dury et al., 2014). A rather unique type of alarm signal is the "stop" signal of honeybees (Apidae). When Apis cerana bees encounter danger at a foraging site, they prevent further recruitment to the site by using vibratory signals to stop any waggle dance that would otherwise recruit bees to that site (Dong et al., 2019). Insects that use alarm signals to recruit help to the signaler include Umbonia sp. treehopper nymphs (Membracidae) that produce vibrations when disturbed by a predator (Cocroft, 1996; Ramaswamy and Cocroft, 2009, Figure 5D). As the vibrational signals are transmitted across the brood, the mother responds by approaching the disturbance and often succeeds in repelling the attacker. Recruitment calls can also be directed toward heterospecifics, as seen in Lycaenidae and Riodinidae caterpillars that use solid-borne vibrations to induce ants to attend to them (Pierce et al., 2002). Tending by ants offers protection from predators and parasitoids, with untended caterpillars facing more predation by wasps than tended ones (Pierce et al., 1987; DeVries, 1991). Despite the examples that demonstrate the benefits of acoustic alarm signals to a colony, these signals have mostly been studied in the eusocial Hymenoptera and Blattodea. However, as many other substrate-bound insects (e.g., caterpillars and sawfly larvae) form groups (see Costa, 2006), the role of vibratory communication in mediating group defensive responses should be further explored in these insects.

EVOLUTIONARY ORIGINS

How did defense sounds evolve in the first place? There are two possibilities discussed in the literature: (1) they evolved from non-signaling behaviors; or (2) they were co-opted from acoustic signals that evolved for another function. Ideally, testing hypotheses on the evolutionary origins of a trait are conducted using a phylogenetic comparative approach which requires examples of homologous traits at various stages of evolution as well as a robust phylogeny (Petak, 2019). However, to the best of our knowledge this approach has not been used to test hypotheses explaining the origins of insect defense sounds. Nonetheless, we can speculate on the evolutionary origins of sonic defenses given the limited evidence available.

A communication signal can evolve from a non-signaling behavior through the process of ritualization (Scott et al., 2010; Petak, 2019). Non-signaling behaviors such as walking, flying, or using a spray apparatus can produce incidental sounds which act as cues, meaning traits that have not evolved to alter a recipient's behavior (Yack et al., 2020). Cues can evolve into signals through ritualization whereby they become more conspicuous and stereotyped (Petak, 2019). Ritualization seems the most likely explanation for how sonic defenses evolved, especially when a defense sound is the only form of acoustic communication in a species. Several such hypotheses have been proposed for insects. Alexander (1956) suggested that defense sounds evolved from incidental sounds produced during a struggle with a predator. Nelson and Fraser (1980) proposed that hissing in cockroaches evolved from a spray apparatus since some insects produce defensive froths from their spiracles or other body openings, and can even produce incidental sounds while doing so (e.g., Carpenter, 1938). Tiger moth tymbals and the clicks they produce are proposed to have evolved through modification of the thoracic pleura which buckle when the moth is walking or flying, and so may have been associated with escape behaviors (Fullard, 1992).

A communication signal can also evolve secondarily from a pre-existing signal. For example, ultrasonic courtship signals were co-opted from anti-bat clicks in several tiger moth species (Simmons and Conner, 1996; Weller et al., 1999). Though evolving from a pre-existing signal has been less commonly proposed for defense sounds, there are a few examples. Defense sounds in crickets and katydids are proposed to have evolved from sexual signals due to the ubiquity of acoustic sexual signals in this group and the relative lack of defensive sound production (Alexander, 1960). Cases where only one sex produces both sexual and defense sounds may also indicate that the sonic defenses evolved from a pre-existing sexual signal. For instance, many species of bark beetles show sexual dimorphism in sound production whereby only one sex produces sounds in both sexual and defensive contexts (Bedoya et al., 2019). In cicadas, Smith and Langley (1978) proposed that disturbance squawks evolved secondarily to courtship sounds as both sound types, when produced via tymbals, are found only in males. If signals evolved initially for defense, it is difficult to explain the lack of tymbal sound production in the opposite sex (Smith and Langley, 1978). Territorial signals may provide another origin for some defense sounds, possibly in caddisfly larvae (Hydropsychidae) that produce sounds both when poked with forceps and when other larvae attempt to enter their shelter (Johnstone, 1964). To the best of our knowledge, co-opting a pre-existing acoustic communication signal for use in defensive sound production has yet to be formally investigated.

Future research on the evolutionary origins of defense sounds must involve phylogenetic comparative studies. Such studies require documentation of a series of variable, but homologous, morphological and associated behavioral traits within extant species, as well as a robust phylogeny to assess which traits are ancestral or derived. Behavioral traits are more challenging to document than morphological traits as they must be studied in living specimens. Consequently, there are currently few phylogenetic comparative analyses on the evolution of insect defensive displays (but see Vidal-García et al., 2020). This review has identified several insect groups that are promising for studying evolutionary origins of defense sounds in that the groups display variable sonic defenses and recent phylogenies are available. These insect groups include praying mantids (e.g., Vidal-García et al., 2020), tiger moths (e.g., Zaspel et al., 2014; Dowdy and Conner, 2019), Lepidoptera pupae (e.g., Dolle et al., 2018; Espeland et al., 2018), and Bombycoidea caterpillars (e.g., Bura et al., 2016). These model systems will allow us not only to test hypotheses on evolutionary origins of defense sounds, but also test hypotheses on why some insects evolve sonic defenses and others do not.

CONCLUSION

Defense sounds occur widely in insects. Yet, compared to our understanding of visual defenses, there are major gaps in our understanding of which insects produce defense sounds, how these sounds promote survival, and how they evolved. Here, we recommend some key, non-mutually exclusive lines of investigation and questions to focus on in future research. First, further testing is necessary to better document the extent of defensive sound production throughout the Class Insecta. Because defense sounds often occur only during close encounters with predators and thus may be "quiet," they may go unnoticed unless "attacked" by the experimenter. Also, defense sounds that are ultrasonic, or transmitted as solid-borne vibrations, can easily be overlooked by scientists not using specialized equipment. We recommend conducting experiments on those orders that are not well-represented in the literature, being careful to document any differences in the sex of the species being assessed. We also recommend further investigations on juvenile stages such as larvae, nymphs, pupae, and eggs. Second, what are the key selective pressures that led to the evolution of defense sounds? Variables including the types of predators, the presence of other defenses, body size, and life history traits should be documented and analyzed using phylogenetic comparative methods, meta-analyses, and developmental studies to address this question. Third, what explains the wide variation in signal characteristics? How much of this variation is related to factors such as the type of mechanism, the type of message being conveyed, and the hearing of the receiver(s)? We encourage experimental investigations to test the hypothesis that different acoustic characteristics are more efficient at conveying different messages, such as aposematism or deimatism. Fourth, how did defensive sound production evolve originally? Did it evolve from escape or fighting behaviors, or from pre-existing signals used in another context? To understand the evolutionary origins of defense sounds, phylogenetic comparative analyses are necessary. Fifth, and perhaps most important, testing hypotheses on the survival benefits of these sounds requires experiments with natural predators. Most studies have been conducted by humans pinching insects and reporting the sounds. While these studies are important, experiments with a diversity of natural predators are necessary to record the effectiveness of sonic defenses. Such studies should monitor the initial predator responses as well as the effects over time, such as habituation and learning rates. Additionally, the behavior of the prey should be closely monitored to determine how long the display lasts, if the prey tries to escape, and if there are other behaviors associated with sound production. While predator-prey experiments can be challenging to conduct, they are essential to furthering our understanding of the efficacy of survival sounds in insects. Defense sounds clearly play an important role in the survival strategies of many insects, and further research on acoustic communication is critical for establishing a comprehensive understanding of insect predator-prey interactions.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

ML led the project and wrote the first draft. All authors contributed to data collection, editing the manuscript, and figure and table preparation. All authors approved the final version of the manuscript.

REFERENCES

- Aiken, R. B. (1985). Sound production by aquatic insects. *Biol. Rev.* 60, 163–211. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-185X.1985.tb00714.x
- Alexander, R. D. (1956). A Comparative Study of Sound Production in Insects, With Special Reference to the Singing Orthoptera and Cicadidae of the Eastern United States. Ph.D. dissertation, The Ohio State University, Columbus, OH.
- Alexander, R. D. (1960). "Sound communication in Orthoptera and Cicadidae," in Animal Sounds and Communication, eds W. E. Lanyon and W. N. Tavolga (Washington, DC: American Institute of Biological Sciences), 38–92.
- Alexander, R. D. (1967). Acoustical communication in arthropods. Annu. Rev. Entomol. 12, 495–526. doi: 10.1146/annurev.en.12.010167.002431
- Bailey, W. J., and Sandow, J. D. (1983). Mechanisms of defensive stridulation in the bushcricket *Mygalopsis marki* Bailey (Copiphorini, Tettigoniidae). *Acta Zool.* 64, 117–122. doi: 10.1111/j.1463-6395.1983.tb00789.x
- Barber, J. R., and Conner, W. E. (2007). Acoustic mimicry in a predator prey interaction. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 104, 9331–9334. doi: 10.1073/pnas. 0703627104
- Bates, D. L., and Fenton, M. B. (1990). Aposematism or startle? Predators learn their responses to the defenses of prey. *Can. J. Zool.* 68, 49–52. doi: 10.1139/ z90-009
- Bauer, T. (1976). Experimente zur frage der biologischen bedeutung des stridulationsverhaltens von kafern. Z. Tierpsychol. 42, 57–65. doi: 10.1111/j. 1439-0310.1976.tb00956.x
- Bedford, G. O. (1978). Biology and ecology of the Phasmatodea. Annu. Rev. Entomol. 23, 125–149. doi: 10.1146/annurev.en.23.010178.001013
- Bedoya, C. L., Hofstetter, R. W., Nelson, X. J., Hayes, M., Miller, D. R., and Brockerhoff, E. G. (2019). Sound production in bark and ambrosia beetles. *Bioacoustics* 30, 1–16. doi: 10.1080/09524622.2019.1686424
- Belwood, J. J. (1990). "Anti-predator defences and ecology of neotropical forest katydids, especially the Pseudophyllinae," in *The Tettigoniidae: Biology, Systematics and Evolution*, eds W. J. Bailey and D. C. F. Rentz (New York, NY: Springer-Verlag), 8–26.
- Bennet-Clark, H. C. (1998). Size and scale effects as constraints in insect sound communication. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B* 353, 407–419. doi: 10.1098/rstb.1998. 0219
- Blest, A. D. (1957). The function of eyespot patterns in the Lepidoptera. *Behaviour* 11, 209–258. doi: 10.1163/156853956X00048
- Blondheim, S. A., and Frankenberg, E. (1983). 'Protest' sounds of a grasshopper: predator-deterrent signal? *Psyche* 90, 387–394. doi: 10.1155/1983/98675
- Boevé, J.-L. (2015). Multimodal defensive strategies in larvae of two *Hemichroa* sawfly species. *J. Hymenopt. Res.* 46, 25–33. doi: 10.3897/JHR.46.7064
- Bradbury, J. W., and Vehrencamp, S. (2011). *Principles of Animal Communication*, 2nd Edn. Sunderland: Sinauer Associates.

FUNDING

This work was supported by Discovery Grants from the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada (RGPIN 2014-05947 and RGPIN-2020-07056) to JY, and a Postgraduate Scholarship (Doctoral program) from the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada (PGSD3-518236-2018) to ML.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are grateful to all those who contributed sounds and images for use in this work: F. Hager, A. Corcoran, R. Cocroft, S. Fuchs, A. Mason, and R. Nakano, and their team members. We also thank the Yack lab members for their feedback at various stages of this manuscript's development. We thank K. Brzezinski for line drawings in **Figures 1–3**.

- Brehm, G., Fischer, M., Gorb, S., Kleinteich, T., Kühn, B., Neubert, D., et al. (2015). The unique sound production of the Death's-head hawkmoth (*Acherontia atropos* (Linnaeus, 1758)) revisited. *Sci. Nat.* 102:43. doi: 10.1007/s00114-015-1292-5
- Broughton, W. B. (1976). Proposal for a new term 'echeme' to replace 'chirp' in animal acoustics. *Physiol. Entomol.* 1, 103–106. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-3032.1976. tb00896.x
- Broughton, W. B., and Harris, K. M. (1971). First recording of the sound produced by the black citrus aphid, *Toxoptera aurantii* (Boy.). *Bull. Entomol. Res.* 60, 559–563. doi: 10.1017/S0007485300042322
- Brower, J. V. Z., and Brower, L. P. (1965). Experimental studies of mimicry. 8. Further investigations of honeybees (*Apis mellifera*) and their dronefly mimics (*Eristalis* spp.). Am. Nat. 99, 173–187. doi: 10.1086/282365
- Brown, S. G., Boettner, G. H., and Yack, J. E. (2007). Clicking caterpillars: acoustic aposematism in *Antheraea polyphemus* and other Bombycoidea. J. Exp. Biol. 210, 993–1005. doi: 10.1242/jeb.001990
- Buchler, E. R., Wright, T. B., and Brown, E. D. (1981). On the functions of stridulation by the passalid beetle *Odontotaenius disjunctus* (Coleoptera: Passalidae). *Anim. Behav.* 29, 483–486. doi: 10.1016/S0003-3472(81)80108-X
- Bugnion, E. (1913). Le bruissement des termites. Mitt. Schweiz. Entomol. Ges. 12, 125–139.
- Bura, V. L., Fleming, A. J., and Yack, J. E. (2009). What's the buzz? Ultrasonic and sonic warning signals in caterpillars of the great peacock moth (*Saturnia pyri*). *Naturwissenschaften* 96, 713–718. doi: 10.1007/s00114-009-0527-8
- Bura, V. L., Hnain, A. K., Hick, J. N., and Yack, J. E. (2012). Defensive sound production in the tobacco hornworm, *Manduca sexta* (Bombycoidea: Sphingidae). J. Insect Behav. 25, 114–126. doi: 10.1007/s10905-011-9282-8
- Bura, V. L., Kawahara, A. Y., and Yack, J. E. (2016). A comparative analysis of sonic defences in Bombycoidea caterpillars. Sci. Rep. 6:31469. doi: 10.1038/srep31469
- Bura, V. L., Rohwer, V. G., Martin, P. R., and Yack, J. E. (2011). Whistling in caterpillars (*Amorpha juglandis*, Bombycoidea): sound-producing mechanism and function. J. Exp. Biol. 214, 30–37. doi: 10.1242/jeb.046805
- Burk, T. (1982). Evolutionary significance of predation on sexually signalling males. *Florida Entomol.* 65:90. doi: 10.2307/3494148
- Carisio, L., Palestrini, C., and Rolando, A. (2004). Stridulation variability and morphology: an examination in dung beetles of the genus *Trypocopris* (Coleoptera, Geotrupidae). *Popul. Ecol.* 46, 27–37. doi: 10.1007/s10144-004-0170-3
- Carlberg, U. (1989). Defensive stridulation in *Heteropteryx dilatata* Parkinson (Insecta: Phasmida). Zool. Anz. 223, 165–173.
- Caro, T., Raees, H., and Stankowich, T. (2020). Flash behavior in mammals? *Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol.* 74:44. doi: 10.1007/s00265-020-2819-0
- Caro, T., and Ruxton, G. D. (2019). Aposematism: unpacking the defences. *Trends Ecol. Evol.* 34, 595–604. doi: 10.1016/j.tree.2019.02.015

- Carpenter, G. D. H. (1921). Experiments on the relative edibility of insects, with special reference to their coloration. *Trans. R. Entomol. Soc. Lond.* 69, 1–105. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2311.1921.tb02803.x
- Carpenter, G. D. H. (1938). Audible emission of defensive froth by insects. Proc. Zool. Soc. Lond. Ser. A 108, 243–252. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7998.1938.tb07897.x
- Carterette, E., and Friedman, M. (1978). Handbook of Perception, Volume IV: Hearing. London: Academic Press, doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-161904-6.X5001-5 Cocroft, R. B. (1996). Insect vibrational defence signals. Nature 382, 679–680.
- doi: 10.1007/s00376-0122057-0 Coelho, J. R. (1998). An acoustical and physiological analysis of buzzing in cicada
- killer wasps (Sphecius speciosus). J. Comp. Physiol. A 183, 745–751. doi: 10.1007/ s003590050297
- Conner, W. E. (2014). "Adaptive sounds and silences: acoustic anti-predator strategies in insects," in *Insect Hearing and Acoustic Communication, Animal Signals and Communication*, ed. B. Hedwig (Berlin: Springer-Verlag), 65–79. doi: 10.1007/978-3-642-40462-7
- Conner, W. E., and Corcoran, A. J. (2012). Sound strategies: the 65-million-yearold battle between bats and insects. *Annu. Rev. Entomol.* 57, 21–39. doi: 10. 1146/annurev-ento-121510-133537
- Connétable, S., Robert, A., Bouffault, F., and Bordereau, C. (1999). Vibratory alarm signals in two sympatric higher termite species: *Pseudacanthotermes spiniger* and *P. militaris* (Termitidae, Macrotermitinae). *J. Insect Behav.* 12, 329–342. doi: 10.1023/A:1020887421551
- Corcoran, A. J., Barber, J. R., and Conner, W. E. (2009). Tiger moth jams bat sonar. *Science* 325, 325–327. doi: 10.1126/science.1174096
- Corcoran, A. J., Barber, J. R., Hristov, N. I., and Conner, W. E. (2011). How do tiger moths jam bat sonar? J. Exp. Biol. 214, 2416–2425. doi: 10.1242/jeb.054783
- Corcoran, A. J., Conner, W. E., and Barber, J. R. (2010). Anti-bat tiger moth sounds: form and function. *Curr. Zool.* 56, 358–369. doi: 10.1093/czoolo/56.3.358
- Corcoran, A. J., and Hristov, N. I. (2014). Convergent evolution of anti-bat sounds. J. Comp. Physiol. A 200, 811–821. doi: 10.1007/s00359-014-0924-0
- Corcoran, A. J., and Woods, H. A. (2015). Negligible energetic cost of sonar jamming in a bat-moth interaction. *Can. J. Zool.* 93, 331–335. doi: 10.1139/ cjz-2014-0231
- Costa, J. (2006). The Other Insect Societies. London: Harvard University Press.
- Cott, H. B. (1940). Adaptive Coloration in Animals. London: Methuan and Co LTD. Darwin, C. (1889). The Descent of Man and Selection in Relation to Sex, 2nd Edn.
- New York, NY: D. Appleton and Co. Delattre, O., Sillam-Dussès, D., Jandák, V., Brothánek, M., Rücker, K., Bourguignon, T., et al. (2015). Complex alarm strategy in the most basal termite species. *Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol.* 69, 1945–1955. doi: 10.1007/s00265-015-2007-9
- Deml, R., and Dettner, K. (1993). Biogenic amines and phenolics characterize the defensive secretion of saturniid caterpillars (Lepidoptera: Saturniidae): a comparative study. J. Comp. Physiol. B 163, 123–132. doi: 10.1007/BF00263597
- Deml, R., and Dettner, K. (1995). Effects of emperor moth larval secretions, hemolymph, and components on microorganisms and predators. *Entomol. Exp. Appl.* 76, 287–293. doi: 10.1111/j.1570-7458.1995.tb01972.x
- Desutter-Grandcolas, L. (1998). First analysis of a disturbance stridulation in crickets, *Brachytrupes tropicus* (Orthoptera: Grylloidea: Gryllidae). *J. Insect Behav.* 11, 149–158. doi: 10.1023/A:1020878802954
- DeVries, P. (1991). Mutualism between *Thisbe irenea* butterflies and ants, and the role of ant ecology in the evolution of larval-ant associations. *Biol. J. Linn. Soc.* 43, 179–195. doi: 10.1111/j.1095-8312.1991.tb00592.x
- Dobai, A., Sivalinghem, S., Guedes, R. N. C., and Yack, J. E. (2018). Acoustic communication in the pine engraver bark beetle: do signals vary between behavioural contexts? *Physiol. Entomol.* 43, 30–41. doi: 10.1111/phen.12222
- Dodd, F. (1916). "Noise-producing Lepidoptera," in Contributions à L'étude des Grands Lépidoptères d'Australie, Études de Lépidoptérologie Comparée, eds C. Oberthür, C. Houlbert, and F. Dodd (Rennes: Imprimerie Oberthür), 13–14.
- Dolle, P., Klein, P., Fischer, O. W., Schnitzler, H. U., Gilbert, L. E., and Boppré, M. (2018). Twittering pupae of papilionid and nymphalid butterflies (Lepidoptera): novel structures and sounds. *Ann. Entomol. Soc. Am.* 111, 341–354. doi: 10. 1093/aesa/say029
- Dong, S., Tan, K., Zhang, Q., and Nieh, J. C. (2019). Playbacks of Asian honey bee stop signals demonstrate referential inhibitory communication. *Anim. Behav.* 148, 29–37. doi: 10.1016/j.anbehav.2018.12.003

- Dookie, A. L., Young, C. A., Lamothe, G., Schoenle, L. A., and Yack, J. E. (2017). Why do caterpillars whistle at birds? Insect defence sounds startle avian predators. *Behav. Processes* 138, 58–66. doi: 10.1016/j.beproc.2017.02.002
- Dowdy, N. J., and Conner, W. E. (2016). Acoustic aposematism and evasive action in select chemically defended arctiine (Lepidoptera: Erebidae) species: nonchalant or not? *PLoS One* 11:e0152981. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0152981
- Dowdy, N. J., and Conner, W. E. (2019). Characteristics of tiger moth (Erebidae: Arctiinae) anti-bat sounds can be predicted from tymbal morphology. *Front. Zool.* 16:45. doi: 10.1186/s12983-019-0345-6
- Downey, J. C. (1966). Sound production in pupae of Lycaenidae. J. Lepid. Soc. 20, 129–155.
- Dumortier, B. (1963a). "Ethological and physiological study of sound emissions in Arthropoda," in *Acoustic Behaviour of Animals*, ed. R.-G. Busnel (London: Elsevier Publishing Company), 583–649.
- Dumortier, B. (1963b). "Morphology of sound emission apparatus in Arthropoda," in Acoustic Behaviour of Animals, ed. R.-G. Busnel (London: Elsevier Publishing Company), 277–345.
- Dumortier, B. (1963c). "The physical characteristics of sound production in Arthropoda," in *Acoustic Behaviour of Animals*, ed. R.-G. Busnel (London: Elsevier Publishing Company), 346–373.
- Dupuis, C. (1953). Notes, remarques et observations diverses sur les Hémiptères. VI – appareil stridulatoire et stridulation des cydnidae et tessaratomidae. *Cah. des Nat.* 8, 25–27.
- Dury, G. J., Bede, J. C., and Windsor, D. M. (2014). Preemptive circular defence of immature insects: definition and occurrences of cycloalexy revisited. *Psyche* 2014:642908. doi: 10.1155/2014/642908
- Edmunds, M. (1972). Defensive behaviour in Ghanian praying mantids. *Zool. J. Linn. Soc.* 51, 1–32. doi: 10.1111/j.1096-3642.1972.tb00 771.x
- Edmunds, M. (1974). Defence in Animals. Harlow: Longman Group Limited.
- Eisner, T., Aneshansley, D. J., Eisner, M., Rutowski, R., Chong, B., and Meinwald, J. (1974). Chemical defense and sound production in Australian tenebrionid beetles (*Adelium* spp.). *Psyche* 81, 189–208. doi: 10.1155/1974/ 63815
- Eisner, T., Yack, J. E., and Aneshansley, D. J. (2001). Acoustic concomitants of the defensive discharges of a primitive bombardier beetle (*Metrius contractus*). *Chemoecology* 11, 221–223. doi: 10.1007/PL00001854
- Espeland, M., Breinholt, J., Willmott, K. R., Warren, A. D., Vila, R., Toussaint, E. F. A., et al. (2018). A comprehensive and dated phylogenomic analysis of butterflies. *Curr. Biol.* 28, 770–778. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2018.01.061
- Ewing, A. W. (1989). Arthropod Bioacoustics: Neurobiology and Behaviour. New York, NY: Cornell University Press.
- Exnerová, A., Štys, P., Fučíková, E., Veselá, S., Svádová, K., Prokopová, M., et al. (2007). Avoidance of aposematic prey in European tits (Paridae): learned or innate? *Behav. Ecol.* 18, 148–156. doi: 10.1093/beheco/arl061
- Fallow, P. M., Pitcher, B. J., and Magrath, R. D. (2013). Alarming features: birds use specific acoustic properties to identify heterospecific alarm calls. *Proc. R. Soc. B* 280:20122539. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2012.2539
- Federley, H. (1905). Sound produced by lepidopterous larvæ. J. N. Y. Entomol. Soc. 13, 109–110.
- Field, L. H. (1993). Structure and evolution of stridulatory mechanisms in New Zealand wetas (Orthoptera: Stenopelmatidae). Int. J. Insect Morphol. Embryol. 22, 163–183. doi: 10.1016/0020-7322(93)90008-O
- Field, L. H. (2001). *The Biology of Wetas, King Crickets and their Allies*. New York, NY: CABI Publishing.
- Field, L. H., and Bailey, W. J. (1997). Sound production in primitive Orthoptera from Western Australia: sounds used in defence and social communication in *Ametrus* sp. and *Hadrogryllacris* sp. (Gryllacrididae: Orthoptera). J. Nat. Hist. 31, 1127–1141. doi: 10.1080/00222939700770591
- Fleming, A. J., Lindeman, A. A., Carroll, A. L., and Yack, J. E. (2013). Acoustics of the mountain pine beetle (*Dendroctonus ponderosae*) (Curculionidae, Scolytinae): sonic, ultrasonic, and vibration characteristics. *Can. J. Zool.* 91, 235–244. doi: 10.1139/cjz-2012-0239
- Forsman, A., and Merilaita, S. (1999). Fearful symmetry: pattern size and asymmetry affects aposematic signal efficacy. *Evol. Ecol.* 13, 131–140. doi: 10. 1023/A:1006630911975

- Fuchs, S. (1976). An informational analysis of the alarm communication by drumming behavior in nests of carpenter ants (*Camponotus*, Formicidae, Hymenoptera). *Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol.* 1, 315–336. doi: 10.1007/BF00300070
- Fullard, J. H. (1992). The neuroethology of sound production in tiger moths (Lepidoptera, Arctiidae) I. Rhythmicity and central control. J. Comp. Physiol. A 170, 575–588. doi: 10.1007/BF00199334
- Gaiger, F., and Vanin, S. A. (2006). The elytro-femoral stridulatory apparatus in Curculionidae (Coleoptera), with notes on the acoustic behaviour of *Arniticus hylobioides* (Boheman 1843) and *Erodiscus proximus* (Viana 1959), and thanatosis display in the latter species. *Ann. Soc. Entomol. Fr.* 42, 165–170. doi: 10.1080/00379271.2006.10700619
- Gogala, M. (1970). Artspezifitat der Lautausserungen bei Erdwanzen (Heteroptera, Cydnidae). Z. Vgl. Physiol. 70, 20–28. doi: 10.1007/BF00299533
- Greenfield, M. D. (2002). Signalers and Receivers: Mechanisms and Evolution of Arthropod Communication. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Guedes, R. N. C., Matheson, S. M., Frei, B., Smith, M. L., and Yack, J. E. (2012). Vibration detection and discrimination in the masked birch caterpillar (*Drepana arcuata*). J. Comp. Physiol. A 198, 325–335. doi: 10.1007/s00359-012-0711-8
- Guthrie, D. M. (1966). Sound production and reception in a cockroach. J. Exp. Biol. 60, 321–328.
- Gwynne, D. T. (2001). Katydid and Bush-Crickets: Reproductive Behaviour and Evolution of the Tettigoniidae. Ithaca, NY: Cornell University Press.
- Hager, F. A., and Kirchner, W. H. (2013). Vibrational long-distance communication in the termites *Macrotermes natalensis* and *Odontotermes* sp. J. Exp. Biol. 216, 3249–3256. doi: 10.1242/jeb.086991
- Hager, F. A., Krausa, K., and Kirchner, W. H. (2019). "Vibrational behavior in termites (Isoptera)," in *Biotremology: Studying Vibrational Behavior*, eds P. S. Hill, R. Lakes-Harlan, V. Mazzoni, P. Narins, M. Virant-Doberlet, and A. Wessel (New York, NY: Springer International Publishing), 309–327. doi: 10.1007/978-3-030-22293-2
- Haskell, P. T. (1961). Insect Sounds. London: H. F. and G. Witherby Ltd.
- Heinrich, E. C., McHenry, M. J., and Bradley, T. J. (2013). Coordinated ventilation and spiracle activity produce unidirectional airflow in the hissing cockroach, *Gromphadorhina portentosa. J. Exp. Biol.* 216, 4473–4482. doi: 10.1242/jeb. 088450
- Heller, K.-G. (1995). Acoustic signalling in palaeotropical bushcrickets (Orthoptera: Tettigonioidea: Pseudophyllidae): does predation pressure by eavesdropping enemies differ in the Palaeo- and Neotropics? J. Zool. 237, 469–485. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7998.1995.tb02775.x
- Henry, G. M. (1922). Stridulation in the leaf insect. Spolia Zeylan. 12, 217-219.
- Hertel, H., Hanspach, A., and Plarre, R. (2011). Differences in alarm responses in drywood and subterranean termites (Isoptera: Kalotermitidae and Rhinotermitidae) to physical stimuli. *J. Insect Behav.* 24, 106–115. doi: 10.1007/ s10905-010-9240-x
- Hill, P. S. (2008). *Vibrational Communication in Animals*. Cambridge: Harvard University Press.
- Hill, P. S. (2014). "Stretching the paradigm or building a new? Development of a cohesive language for vibrational communication," in *Studying Vibrational Communication*, eds R. B. Cocroft, M. Gogala, P. S. Hill, and A. Wessel (New York, NY: Springer Berlin Heidelberg), 13–30. doi: 10.1007/978-3-662-43607-3_2
- Hill, S. A. (2007). Sound generation in *Mantis religiosa* (Mantodea: Mantidae): stridulatory structures and acoustic signal. *J. Orthoptera Res.* 16, 35–49.
- Hinton, H. E. (1948). Sound production in lepidopterous pupae. *Entomologist* 81, 254–269.
- Hossie, T. J., and Sherratt, T. N. (2013). Defensive posture and eyespots deter avian predators from attacking caterpillar models. *Anim. Behav.* 86, 383–389. doi: 10.1016/j.anbehav.2013.05.029
- Hristov, N. I., and Conner, W. E. (2005). Sound strategy: acoustic aposematism in the bat-tiger moth arms race. *Naturwissenschaften* 92, 164–169. doi: 10.1007/ s00114-005-0611-7
- Hunsinger, E., Root-Gutteridge, H., Cusano, D. A., and Parks, S. E. (2018). A description of defensive hiss types in the flat horned hissing cockroach (*Aeluropoda insignis*). *Bioacoustics* 27, 261–271. doi: 10.1080/09524622.2017. 1327371
- Hunt, J. H., and Richard, F. J. (2013). Intracolony vibroacoustic communication in social insects. *Insectes Soc.* 60, 403–417. doi: 10.1007/s00040-013-0311-9

- Jamie, G. A. (2017). Signals, cues and the nature of mimicry. Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 284:20162080. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2016.2080
- Jansson, A., and Vuoristo, T. (1979). Significance of stridulation in larval Hydropsychidae (Trichoptera). *Behaviour* 71, 167–186.
- Jeanne, R. L., and Keeping, M. G. (1995). Venom spraying in *Parachartergus colobopterus*: a novel defensive behavior in a social wasp (Hymenoptera: Vespidae). J. Insect Behav. 8, 433–442. doi: 10.1007/BF01995317
- Jobling, B. (1936). On the stridulation of the females of Parnassius mnemosyne L. Proc. R. Entomol. Soc. Lond. A. 11, 66–68. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-3032.1936. tb00871.x
- Johnstone, G. W. (1964). Stridulation by larval Hydropsychidae (Trichoptera). Proc. R. Entomol. Soc. Lond. A. 39, 146–150. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-3032.1964. tb00997.x
- Joseph, K. J. (1991). SEM study of the stridulatory organs in the giant dung beetle *Heliocopris dominis* (Scarabaeidae) with observations on the significance of the sound production. *Entomon* 16, 319–322.
- Kasper, J., and Hirschberger, P. (2005). Stridulation in Aphodius dung beetles: songs and morphology of stridulatory organs in North American Aphodius species (Scarabaeidae). J. Nat. Hist. 39, 91–99. doi: 10.1080/00222930310001018877
- Kawahara, A. Y., and Barber, J. R. (2015). Tempo and mode of antibat ultrasound production and sonar jamming in the diverse hawkmoth radiation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.U.S.A.* 112, 6407–6412. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1416679112
- Kirchner, W. H., Broecker, I., and Tautz, J. (1994). Vibrational alarm communication in the damp-wood termite *Zootermopsis nevadensis*. *Physiol. Entomol.* 19, 187–190. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-3032.1994.tb01041.x
- Kirchner, W. H., and Röschard, J. (1999). Hissing in bumblebees: an interspecific defence signal. *Insectes Soc.* 46, 239–243. doi: 10.1007/s000400050140
- Knapp, M., Řeřicha, M., and Židlická, D. (2020). Physiological costs of chemical defence: repeated reflex bleeding weakens the immune system and postpones reproduction in a ladybird beetle. *Sci. Rep.* 10:9266. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-66157-9
- Kowalski, K. N., and Lakes-Harlan, R. (2010). Sounds, behaviour, and auditory receptors of the armoured ground cricket, *Acanthoplus longipes. J. Insect Sci.* 10:59. doi: 10.1673/031.010.5901
- Kowalski, K. N., and Lakes-Harlan, R. (2011). Temporal patterns of intra- and interspecific acoustic signals differ in two closely related species of *Acanthoplus* (Orthoptera: Tettigoniidae: Hetrodinae). *Zoology* 114, 29–35. doi: 10.1016/j. zool.2010.09.002
- Kowalski, K. N., Lakes-Harlan, R., Lehmann, G. U. C., and Strauß, J. (2014). Acoustic defence in an insect: characteristics of defensive stridulation and differences between the sexes in the tettigoniid *Poecilimon ornatus* (Schmidt 1850). *Zoology* 117, 329–336. doi: 10.1016/j.zool.2014.04.007
- Lane, C., and Rothschild, M. (1965). A case of Müllerian mimicry of sound. *Proc. R. Entomol. Soc. Lond. A* 40, 156–158. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-3032.1965.tb00305.x Lesser, F. (1738). *Insecto-Theologia*. Frankfurt: Jean Swart.
- Leston, D. (1954). Strigils and stridulation in Pentatomoidea (Hem.): some new data and a review. *Entomol. Mon. Mag.* 90, 49–56.
- Leston, D. (1957). The stridulatory mechanisms in terrestrial species of Hemiptera Heteroptera. *Proc. Zool. Soc. Lond.* 128, 369–386. doi: 10.1111/j.1096-3642. 1957.tb00331.x
- Lewis, E. E., and Cane, J. H. (1990). Stridulation as a primary anti-predator defence of a beetle. *Anim. Behav.* 40, 1003–1004. doi: 10.1016/S0003-3472(05)81011-5
- Li, L., Sun, F., Hu, J., Yin, Y., and Chi, D. (2013). Ultrastructure of stridulating organ of *Xylotrechus rusticus* L. (Coleoptera, Cerambycidae) and behavioral responses to alarm sounds. *J. For. Res.* 24, 547–552. doi: 10.1007/s11676-013-0386-1
- Lindeman, A. A., and Yack, J. E. (2015). What is the password? Female bark beetles (Scolytinae) grant males access to their galleries based on courtship song. *Behav. Processes* 115, 123–131. doi: 10.1016/j.beproc.2015.03.009
- Lloyd, J. E., and Gurney, A. B. (1975). Labral stridulation in a katydid (a coconutinfesting "treehopper") (Orthoptera: Tettigoniidae: Mecopodinae). *Entomol. News* 86, 47–50.
- Loeffler-Henry, K., Kang, C., Yip, Y., Caro, T., and Sherratt, T. N. (2018). Flash behavior increases prey survival. *Behav. Ecol.* 29, 528–533. doi: 10.1093/beheco/ arv030
- Low, C. (2008). Seismic behaviors of a leafminer, Antispila nysaefoliella (Lepidoptera: Heliozelidae). Florida Entomol. 91, 604–609. doi: 10.1653/0015-4040-91.4.604

- Maldonado, H. (1970). The deimatic reaction in the praying mantis Stagmatoptera biocellata. Z. Vgl. Physiol. 68, 60–71. doi: 10.1007/BF00297812
- Mason, A. C. (1991). Hearing in a primitive ensiferan: the auditory system of *Cyphoderris monstrosa* (Orthoptera: Haglidae). J. Comp. Physiol. A 168, 351– 363. doi: 10.1007/BF00198354
- Masters, W. M. (1979). Insect disturbance stridulation: its defensive role. Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol. 5, 187–200. doi: 10.1007/BF00293305
- Masters, W. M. (1980). Insect disturbance stridulation: characterization of airborne and vibrational components of the sound. J. Comp. Physiol. A 135, 259–268. doi: 10.1007/BF00657254
- Masters, W. M., Tautz, J., Fletcher, N. H., and Markl, H. (1983). Body vibration and sound production in an insect (*Atta sexdens*) without specialized radiating structures. J. Comp. Physiol. A 150, 239–249. doi: 10.1007/BF00606374
- Miller, P. L. (1971). A note on stridulation in some cerambycid beetles and its possible relation to ventilation. *J. Entomol. A* 46, 63–68. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-3032.1971.tb00108.x
- Mini, A., and Prabhu, V. K. K. (1990). Stridulation in the coconut rhinoceros beetle Oryctes rhinoceros (Coleoptera: Scarabaeidae). Proc. Anim. Sci. 99, 447–455. doi: 10.1007/BF03186407
- Misof, B., Liu, S., Meusemann, K., Peters, R. S., Donath, A., Mayer, C., et al. (2014). Phylogenomics resolves the timing and pattern of insect evolution. *Science* 346, 763–767. doi: 10.1017/CBO9781107415324.004
- Miyamoto, S. (1953). Biology of *Microvelia diluta* Distant, with descriptions of its brachypterous form and larval stages. *Sieboldia* 1, 113–133.
- Møhl, B., and Miller, L. A. (1976). Ultrasonic clicks produced by the peacock butterfly: a possible bat-repellant mechanism. J. Exp. Biol. 64, 639–644.
- Montealegre-Z, F., Jonsson, T., and Robert, D. (2011). Sound radiation and wing mechanics in stridulating field crickets (Orthoptera: Gryllidae). J. Exp. Biol. 214, 2105–2117. doi: 10.1242/jeb.056283
- Morales, M. A., Barone, J. L., and Henry, C. S. (2008). Acoustic alarm signalling facilitates predator protection of treehoppers by mutualist ant bodyguards. *Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci.* 275, 1935–1941. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2008.0410
- Mukerji, D. (1929). Sound production by a larva of *Cybister* (Dytiscidae). *J. Bombay* Nat. Hist. Soc. 33, 653–655.
- Nakahira, T., and Kudo, S. I. (2008). Maternal care in the burrower bug Adomerus triguttulus: defensive behavior. J. Insect Behav. 21, 306–316. doi: 10.1007/ s10905-008-9129-0
- Nakano, R., Takanashi, T., Surlykke, A., Skals, N., and Ishikawa, Y. (2013). Evolution of deceptive and true courtship songs in moths. *Sci. Rep.* 3:2003. doi: 10.1038/srep02003
- Nelson, M. C. (1979). Sound production in the cockroach, Gromphadorhina portentosa: the sound-producing apparatus. J. Comp. Physiol. A 132, 27–38. doi: 10.1007/BF00617729
- Nelson, M. C., and Fraser, J. (1980). Sound production in the cockroach, Gromphadorhina portentosa: evidence for communication hy hissing. Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol. 6, 305–314. doi: 10.1007/BF00292773
- Olofsson, M., Jakobsson, S., and Wiklund, C. (2012). Auditory defence in the peacock butterfly (*Inachis io*) against mice (*Apodemus flavicollis* and *A. sylvaticus*). Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol. 66, 209–215. doi: 10.1007/s00265-011-1268-1
- O'Reilly, L. J., Agassiz, D. J. L., Neil, T. R., and Holderied, M. W. (2019). Deaf moths employ acoustic Müllerian mimicry against bats using wingbeat-powered tymbals. *Sci. Rep.* 9:1444. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-37812-z
- Ossiannilsson, F. (1949). Insect drummers: a study on the morphology and function of the sound-producing organ of Swedish Homoptera Auchenorrhyncha with notes on their sound production. *Opusc. Entomol. Suppl.* 10, 1–146.
- Palestrini, C., Pavan, G., and Zunino, M. (1990). Acoustic signals and stridulatory apparatus in *Copris incertus* Say (Coleoptera Scarabaeidae: Coprinae). Acta Zool. Mex. 39, 1–18.
- Palestrini, C., Piazza, R., and Zunino, M. (1988). Segnali sonori in tre specie di Geotrupini (Coleoptera Scarabaeoidea Geotrupidae). Boll. Della Soc. Entomol. Ital. 119, 139–151.
- Pavan, G., Palestrini, C., and Trevisan, E. (1990). Contribution to the knowledge of *Thorectes intermedius* (Costa) larval stridulation (Coleoptera: Scarabaeoidea: Geotrupidae). *Elytron* 4, 153–159.
- Pavan, G., Priano, M., De Carli, P., Fanfani, A., and Giovannotti, M. (1997). Stridulatory organ and ultrasonic emission in certain species of ponerine ants

(genus: Ectatomma and Pachycondyla, Hymenoptera, Formicidae). Bioacoustics 8, 209–221. doi: 10.1080/09524622.1997.9753363

- Petak, I. (2019). "Ritualization," in *Encyclopedia of Animal Cognition and Behavior*, eds J. Vonk and T. Shackelford (Cham: Springer International Publishing), 1–4. doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-47829-6_1888-1
- Pierce, N. E., Braby, M. F., Heath, A., Lohman, D. J., Mathew, J., Rand, D. B., et al. (2002). The ecology and evolution of ant association in the Lycaenidae (Lepidoptera). Annu. Rev. Entomol. 47, 733–771. doi: 10.1146/annurev.ento.47. 091201.145257
- Pierce, N. E., Kitching, R. L., Buckley, R. C., Taylor, M. F. J., and Benbow, K. F. (1987). The costs and benefits of cooperation between the Australian lycaenid butterfly, *Jalmenus evagoras*, and its attendant ants. *Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol.* 21, 237–248. doi: 10.1007/BF00292505
- Polidori, C., Ruffato, G., Borruso, L., Settanni, C., and Pavan, G. (2013). Stridulatory organ and distress call in males and females of a small velvet ant (Hymenoptera: Mutillidae). *Bioacoustics* 22, 121–135. doi: 10.1080/09524622. 2012.736241
- Ramaswamy, K., and Cocroft, R. B. (2009). Collective signals in treehopper broods provide predator localization cues to the defending mother. *Anim. Behav.* 78, 697–704. doi: 10.1016/j.anbehav.2009.06.017
- Rashed, A., Khan, M. I., Dawson, J. W., Yack, J. E., and Sherratt, T. N. (2009). Do hoverflies (Diptera: Syrphidae) sound like the Hymenoptera they morphologically resemble? *Behav. Ecol.* 20, 396–402. doi: 10.1093/beheco/ arn148
- Ratcliffe, J. M., and Nydam, M. L. (2008). Multimodal warning signals for a multiple predator world. *Nature* 455, 96–99. doi: 10.1038/nature07087
- Rentz, D. C. F. (1993). Tettigoniidae of Australia Vol. 2: The Austrosaginae, Zaprochilinae and Phasmodinae. Melbourne: CSIRO Publishing.
- Robinson, M. H. (1969). The defensive behaviour of some orthopteroid insects from Panama. *Trans. R. Entomol. Soc. Lond.* 121, 281–303. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2311.1969.tb00521.x
- Röhrig, A., Kirchner, W. H., and Leuthold, R. H. (1999). Vibrational alarm communication in the African fungus-growing termite genus *Macrotermes* (Isoptera, Termitidae). *Insectes Soc.* 46, 71–77. doi: 10.1007/s000400050115
- Römer, H. (2020). Insect acoustic communication: the role of transmission channel and the sensory system and brain of receivers. *Funct. Ecol.* 34, 310–321. doi: 10.1111/1365-2435.13321
- Rönkä, K., De Pasqual, C., Mappes, J., Gordon, S., and Rojas, B. (2018). Colour alone matters: no predator generalization among morphs of an aposematic moth. *Anim. Behav.* 135, 153–163. doi: 10.1016/j.anbehav.2017.11.015
- Rosi-Denadai, C. A., Scallion, M. L., Merrett, C. G., and Yack, J. E. (2018). Vocalization in caterpillars: a novel sound-producing mechanism for insects. *J. Exp. Biol.* 221:jeb169466. doi: 10.1242/jeb.169466
- Roth, L. M., and Hartman, H. B. (1967). Sound production and its evolutionary significance in the Blattaria. Ann. Entomol. Soc. Am. 60, 740–752. doi: 10.1093/ aesa/60.4.740
- Rothschild, M., and Haskell, P. T. (1966). Stridulation of the garden tiger moth, Arctia caja L., audible to the human ear. Proc. R. Entomol. Soc. Lond. A 41, 167–170. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-3032.1966.tb00337.x
- Rowe, C., and Halpin, C. G. (2013). Why are warning displays multimodal? *Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol.* 67, 1425–1439. doi: 10.1007/s00265-013-1515-8
- Ruxton, G. D., Allen, W. L., Sherratt, T. N., and Speed, M. P. (2018). Avoiding Attack: The Evolutionary Ecology of Crypsis, Aposematism, and Mimicry, 2nd Edn. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Ryker, L. C. (1976). Acoustic behavior of *Tropisternus ellipticus*, *T. columbianus*, and *T. lateralis limbalis* in Western Oregon (Coleoptera: Hydrophilidae). *Coleopt. Bull.* 30, 147–156.
- Sales, G. D., and Pye, J. D. (1974). Ultrasonic Communication by Animals. New York, NY: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.

Sanborn, F. G. (1869). Musical larvae. Can. Entomol. 1:48.

- Sanborne, P. M. (1982). Stridulation in Merope tuber (Mecoptera: Meropeidae). Can. Entomol. 114, 177–180. doi: 10.4039/Ent114177-3
- Sandow, J. D., and Bailey, W. J. (1978). An experimental study of defensive stridulation in *Mygalopsis ferruginea* Redtenbacher (Orthoptera: Tettigoniidae). *Anim. Behav.* 26, 1004–1011. doi: 10.1016/0003-3472(78)90089-1
- Schal, C., Fraser, J., and Bell, W. J. (1982). Disturbance stridulation and chemical defence in nymphs of the tropical cockroach *Megaloblatta blaberoides*. J. Insect Physiol. 28, 541–552. doi: 10.1016/0022-1910(82)90035-X

- Schilman, P. E., Lazzari, C. R., and Manrique, G. (2001). Comparison of disturbance stridulations in five species of Triatominae bugs. Acta Trop. 79, 171–178. doi: 10.1016/S0001-706X(01)00095-X
- Schmitt, M., and Traue, D. (1990). Morphological and bioacoustic aspects of stridulation in Criocerinae (Coleoptera, Chrysomelidae). Zool. Anz. 225, 225–240.
- Scott, J. L., Kawahara, A. Y., Skevington, J. H., Yen, S.-H., Sami, A., Smith, M. L., et al. (2010). The evolutionary origins of ritualized acoustic signals in caterpillars. *Nat. Commun.* 1:4. doi: 10.1038/ncomms1002
- Seeley, T. D., Seeley, R. H., and Akratanakul, P. (1982). Colony defense strategies of the honeybees in Thailand. *Ecol. Monogr.* 52, 43–63. doi: 10.2307/293 7344
- Seelinger, G., and Seelinger, U. (1983). On the social organisation, alarm and fighting in the primitive cockroach *Cryptocercus punctulatus* Scudder. *Z. Tierpsychol.* 61, 315–333. doi: 10.1111/j.1439-0310.1983.tb01347.x
- Sen Sarma, M., Fuchs, S., Werber, C., and Tautz, J. (2002). Worker piping triggers hissing for coordinated colony defence in the dwarf honeybee *Apis florea*. *Zoology* 105, 215–223. doi: 10.1078/0944-2006-00064
- Serrano, A. R., Diogo, A. C., Viçoso, E., and Fonseca, P. J. (2003). New stridulatory structures in a tiger beetle (Coleoptera: Carabidae: Cicindelinae): morphology and sound characterization. *Coleopt. Bull.* 57, 161–166. doi: 10.1649/538
- Shelford, R. (1903). Bionomical notes on some Bornean Mantidae. Zoologist 4, 293-304.
- Simmons, R. B., and Conner, W. E. (1996). Ultrasonic signals in the defense and courtship of *Euchaetes egle* Drury and *E. bolteri* Stretch (Lepidoptera: Arctiidae). *J. Insect Behav.* 9, 909–919. doi: 10.1007/BF02208978
- Skelhorn, J., Holmes, G. G., and Rowe, C. (2016). Deimatic or aposematic? Anim. Behav. 113, e1–e3. doi: 10.1016/j.anbehav.2015.07.021
- Smith, R. L., and Langley, W. M. (1978). Cicada stress sound: an assay of its effectiveness as a predator defense mechanism. *Southwest. Nat.* 23, 187–195. doi: 10.2307/3669767
- Smith, S. M., and Davis, E. S. (2008). Clicker increases resistance to extinction but does not decrease training time of a simple operant task in domestic dogs (*Canis familiaris*). Appl. Anim. Behav. Sci. 110, 318–329. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2007. 04.012
- Song, H., Béthoux, O., Shin, S., Donath, A., Letsch, H., Liu, S., et al. (2020). Phylogenomic analysis sheds light on the evolutionary pathways towards acoustic communication in Orthoptera. *Nat. Commun.* 11:4939. doi: 10.1038/ s41467-020-18739-4
- Speed, M. P. (2000). Warning signals, receiver psychology and predator memory. *Anim. Behav.* 60, 269–278. doi: 10.1006/anbe.2000.1430
- Stölting, H., Moore, T. E., and Lakes-Harlan, R. (2004). Acoustic communication in Okanagana rimosa (Say) (Homoptera: Cicadidae). Zoology 107, 243–257. doi: 10.1016/j.zool.2004.07.003
- Sugiura, S., and Takanashi, T. (2018). Hornworm counterattacks: defensive strikes and sound production in response to invertebrate attackers. *Biol. J. Linn. Soc.* 123, 496–505. doi: 10.1093/biolinnean/blx156
- Umbers, K. D. L., De Bona, S., White, T. E., Lehtonen, J., Mappes, J., and Endler, J. A. (2017). Deimatism: a neglected component of antipredator defence. *Biol. Lett.* 13:20160936. doi: 10.1098/rsbl.2016.0936
- Umbers, K. D. L., Lehtonen, J., and Mappes, J. (2015). Deimatic displays. *Curr. Biol.* 25, R58–R59. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2014.11.011
- Umbers, K. D. L., and Mappes, J. (2016). Towards a tractable working hypothesis for deimatic displays. *Anim. Behav.* 113, e5–e7. doi: 10.1016/j.anbehav.2016.01. 002
- Vallin, A., Jakobsson, S., Lind, J., and Wiklund, C. (2005). Prey survival by predator intimidation: an experimental study of peacock butterfly defence against blue tits. *Proc. R. Soc. B* 272, 1203–1207. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2004.3034
- Vidal-García, M., O'Hanlon, J. C., Svenson, G. J., and Umbers, K. D. L. (2020). The evolution of startle displays: a case study in praying mantises. *Proc. Biol. Sci.* 287:20201016. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2020.1016

- Virant-Doberlet, M., and Čokl, A. (2004). Vibrational communication in insects. Neotrop. Entomol. 33, 121–134. doi: 10.1590/S1519-566X2004000200001
- Walters, E. T., Illich, P. A., Weeks, J. C., and Lewin, M. R. (2001). Defensive responses of larval *Manduca sexta* and their sensitization by noxious stimuli in the laboratory and field. J. Exp. Biol. 204, 457–469.
- Ware, A. B. (1994). Factors eliciting stridulation by the ponerine ant Streblognathus aethiopicus Smith (Hymenoptera: Formicidae). Afr. Entomol. 2, 31–36.
- Waters, D. A. (2003). Bats and moths: what is there left to learn? *Physiol. Entomol.* 28, 237–250. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-3032.2003.00355.x
- Weissman, D. B. (2001). "North and central america jerusalem crickets (Orthoptera: Stenopelmatidae): taxonomy, distribution, life cycle, ecology and related biology of the American species," in *The Biology of Wetas, King Crickets* and Their Allies, ed. L. H. Field (New York, NY: CABI Publishing), 57–110.
- Weller, S. J., Jacobson, N. L., and Conner, W. E. (1999). The evolution of chemical defences and mating systems in tiger moths (Lepidoptera: Arctiidae). *Biol. J. Linn. Soc.* 68, 557–578. doi: 10.1111/j.1095-8312.1999.tb01188.x
- Wessel, A., Mühlethaler, R., and Hartung, V. (2014). "The tymbal: evolution of a complex vibration-producing organ in the Tymbalia (Hemiptera excl. Sternorrhyncha)," in *Studying Vibrational Communication*, eds R. B. Cocroft, M. Gogala, P. S. Hill, and A. Wessel (New York, NY: Springer Berlin Heidelberg), 395–444. doi: 10.1007/978-3-662-43607-3
- Wheeler, J. W., Chung, R. H., Oh, S. K., Benfield, E. F., and Neff, S. E. (1970). Defensive secretions of cychrine beetles (Coleoptera: Carabidae). Ann. Entomol. Soc. Am. 63, 469–471. doi: 10.1093/aesa/63.2.469
- Wilson, L., Henry, C. S., Johnson, J., and McCaffrey, J. (1993). Sound production in *Phrydiuchus tau* (Coleoptera, Curculionidae). *Ann. Entomol. Soc. Am.* 86, 621–630. doi: 10.1093/aesa/86.5.621
- Yack, J. E. (2016). "Vibrational signaling," in *Insect Hearing*, eds G. S. Pollack, A. C. Mason, R. R. Fay, and A. N. Popper (Switzerland: Springer International Publishing), 99–124. doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-28890-1
- Yack, J. E., Raven, B. H., Leveillee, M. B., and Naranjo, M. (2020). What does an insect hear? Reassessing the role of hearing in predator avoidance with insights from vertebrate prey. *Integr. Comp. Biol.* 60, 1036–1057. doi: 10.1093/ icb/icaa097
- Yager, D. D., and Spangler, H. G. (1997). Behavioral response to ultrasound by the tiger beetle *Cicindela marutha* Dow combines aerodynamic changes and sound production. J. Exp. Biol. 200, 649–659.
- Yinon, U., Amitai, P., and Shulov, A. (1972). The stridulatory mechanism and the analysis of sound produced by the bug *Holotrichius innesi* (Horvath) (Heteroptera: Reduviidae). *Comp. Biochem. Physiol. A* 41, 373–381. doi: 10. 1016/0300-9629(72)90068-0
- Zagorinsky, A. A., Zhantiev, R. D., and Korsunovskaya, O. S. (2012). The sound signals of hawkmoths (Lepidoptera, Sphingidae). *Entomol. Rev.* 92, 601–604. doi: 10.1134/S0013873812060012
- Zaspel, J. M., Weller, S. J., Wardwell, C. T., Zahiri, R., and Wahlberg, N. (2014). Phylogeny and evolution of pharmacophagy in tiger moths (Lepidoptera: Erebidae: Arctiinae). *PLoS One* 9:e101975. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0101975
- Zvereva, E. L., and Kozlov, M. V. (2015). The costs and effectiveness of chemical defenses in herbivorous insects: a meta-analysis. *Ecol. Monogr.* 86, 107–124. doi: 10.1890/15-0911.1

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Low, Naranjo and Yack. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.




Tenors Not Sopranos: Bio-Mechanical Constraints on Calling Song Frequencies in the Mediterranean Field-Cricket

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Hamilton Farris, Louisiana State University, United States

Reviewed by:

Klaus-Gerhard Heller, Humboldt University of Berlin, Germany Marcos Gridi-Papp, University of the Pacific, United States Jakob Christensen-Dalsgaard, University of Southern Denmark, Denmark

*Correspondence:

Thorin Jonsson thorin.jonsson@uni-graz.at Fernando Montealegre-Z fmontealegrez@lincoln.ac.uk [†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Behavioral and Evolutionary Ecology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution

> Received: 30 December 2020 Accepted: 24 March 2021 Published: 20 April 2021

Citation:

Jonsson T, Montealegre-Z F, Soulsbury CD and Robert D (2021) Tenors Not Sopranos: Bio-Mechanical Constraints on Calling Song Frequencies in the Mediterranean Field-Cricket. Front. Ecol. Evol. 9:647786. doi: 10.3389/fevo.2021.647786

Thorin Jonsson^{1*†}, Fernando Montealegre-Z^{2*†}, Carl D. Soulsbury² and Daniel Robert³

¹ Institute of Biology, Karl-Franzens-University Graz, Graz, Austria, ² School of Life Sciences, Joseph Banks Laboratories, University of Lincoln, Lincoln, United Kingdom, ³ School of Biological Sciences, University of Bristol, Bristol, United Kingdom

Male crickets and their close relatives bush-crickets (Gryllidae and Tettigoniidae, respectively; Orthoptera and Ensifera) attract distant females by producing loud calling songs. In both families, sound is produced by stridulation, the rubbing together of their forewings, whereby the plectrum of one wing is rapidly passed over a serrated file on the opposite wing. The resulting oscillations are amplified by resonating wing regions. A striking difference between Gryllids and Tettigoniids lies in wing morphology and composition of song frequency: Crickets produce mostly low-frequency (2-8 kHz), pure tone signals with highly bilaterally symmetric wings, while bush-crickets use asymmetric wings for high-frequency (10-150 kHz) calls. The evolutionary reasons for this acoustic divergence are unknown. Here, we study the wings of actively stridulating male fieldcrickets (Gryllus bimaculatus) and present vibro-acoustic data suggesting a biophysical restriction to low-frequency song. Using laser Doppler vibrometry (LDV) and braininjections of the neuroactivator eserine to elicit singing, we recorded the topography of wing vibrations during active sound production. In freely vibrating wings, each wing region resonated differently. When wings coupled during stridulation, these differences vanished and all wing regions resonated at an identical frequency, that of the narrowband song (~5 kHz). However, imperfections in wing-coupling caused phase shifts between both resonators, introducing destructive interference with increasing phase differences. The effect of destructive interference (amplitude reduction) was observed to be minimal at the typical low frequency calls of crickets, and by maintaining the vibration phase difference below 80°. We show that, with the imperfect coupling observed, cricket song production with two symmetric resonators becomes acoustically inefficient above \sim 8 kHz. This evidence reveals a bio-mechanical constraint on the production of highfrequency song whilst using two coupled resonators and provides an explanation as to why crickets, unlike bush-crickets, have not evolved to exploit ultrasonic calling songs.

Keywords: bioacoustics, insect communication, Ensifera, biomechanics, coupled resonators

INTRODUCTION

Male crickets (Ensifera, Gryllidae) produce loud musical songs to attract conspecific females by rubbing their raised forewings together, a process known as stridulation. During stridulation, the plectrum - a sharp sclerotised region at the anal edge of the left wing (LW) - engages with the file, a row of teeth on a modified, serrated vein on the underside of the right wing (RW) in a clockwork-like manner (Elliott and Koch, 1985; Prestwich et al., 2000). In Gryllidae, the RW usually sits on top of the LW, and during stridulation, both wings open and close in a rhythmic cycle, with sound being generated during the closing phase only (Koch et al., 1988; Bennet-Clark, 1999). The dorsal field of each bilaterally symmetric wing displays a number of clearly delineated wing cells involved in sound radiation. These are the harp, mirror, chord, and the hardened, non-membranous anal surface (Montealegre-Z et al., 2011) (Figure 1).

The male is under strong sexual selection to sing at a high amplitude in order to effectively attract and provide phonotactic information for distant females (Forrest and Green, 1991; Römer, 1998). In most cricket species, acoustic energy is concentrated within a narrow-band, pure-tone signal centred on a single lowfrequency carrier (~5 kHz in the case of the field-cricket Gryllus bimaculatus De Geer) which is amplified and radiated by wing regions functioning as natural resonators (Bennet-Clark, 1999, 2003). A loud, pure-tone calling song extends the signal range, aiding the females in determining the direction of the sound source through the enhancement of binaural hearing (Kostarakos et al., 2008; Michelsen and Larsen, 2008) and makes it possible to obtain a large signal-to-noise ratio for transmission across the environment (Michelsen, 1998; Warren et al., 2006; Wiley, 2006). For optimal power transfer from sound source to the surrounding medium, a resonator like the cricket wing should have a radius of at least 1/6 of the sound wavelength λ ($\lambda = \sim 7$ cm at 5 kHz; assuming a monopole radiator; the radius increases to $1/4-1/3\lambda$ for dipoles) (Fletcher, 1992; Bennet-Clark, 1998). Small, sound-producing insects like crickets with wings about 0.5-1 cm in size are therefore under strong selection to optimize power output in order to maximize signal range. Crickets approach this optimization problem by using both symmetric forewings together as sound radiators during stridulation to increase the sound radiating surface for low-frequency songs (Bennet-Clark, 1999, 2003; Montealegre-Z et al., 2011). In contrast, their close relatives bush-crickets (Tettigoniidae) have evolved high-frequency singing using asymmetric wings as a derived trait where the overlying LW bears the file and is usually mechanically dampened, while the plectrum-bearing RW is highly adapted for efficient sound radiation (e.g., Montealegre-Z and Postles, 2010; Sarria-S et al., 2016; Song et al., 2020). The drivers for the evolution of this asymmetry are unknown but it has been hypothesised to be linked to ultrasonic sound production and signal purity (Montealegre-Z, 2005; Gu et al., 2012).

Signal transmission is facilitated by resonance – an inexpensive way of enhancing sound output while conserving metabolic energy – whereby the call's carrier frequency (f_c) is



determined by the resonance frequency f_0 of the wings, which implies that both wings in a symmetric system should resonate at similar f_0 . Reliance on two coupled resonant structures requires that crickets have to achieve and maintain a high degree of phase locking between the two wings in order to add vibrations constructively (Prestwich et al., 2000). Only when the two resonators are vibrating at similar f_0 with minimal phase differences (ϕ) is constructive wave superposition providing the desired effect of increasing the amplitude of radiated sound energy. When optimal ($\phi = 0$), this constructive interference results in a doubling of the amplitude of the combined output (Rossing, 1990). How can this behaviour, defined here as in-phase, take place?

The in-phase resonance between wings is facilitated by an escapement mechanism that allows both wings to vibrate together and radiate sound efficiently (Koch et al., 1988). However, prior mechanical analyses of cricket stridulation showed that the mechanism of sound production is asymmetrical (Bennet-Clark, 2003; Montealegre-Z, 2005; Montealegre-Z et al., 2011): While the RW receives its energy input along the file's ca. 200 teeth distributed over a distance of some 4 mm, the underlying LW receives energy only through the small region of the plectrum (0.1 mm², Figure 1B). Figure 1B shows that as the plectrum is dragged on the file from left to right, it generates mechanical impacts at different locations along the file. The input of mechanical energy therefore varies in time and location, potentially resulting in a complicated dispersion of substrateborne waves across the surface area of the RW (Figure 1B, left). On the other hand, the LW has only one input, the plectrum, and vibrations will travel constantly to the various LW regions from that input (Figure 1B, right). Therefore, the LW should vibrate with constant phase, independently of the plectrum's position on the RW. In contrast, the RW should be more vulnerable to phase changes as the moving plectrum delivers energy impulses along the file. If these assumptions hold true, the constant phase generator (LW) and the variable phase generator (RW) are expected to interact and generate beats in their summed acoustic output, in particular at locations where LW and RW vibrations cancel each other out (Sismondo, 1993). Yet, the natural song of the male does not exhibit such beats; instead, song pulses have sustained and regular amplitude and phase profiles.

In addition, it is also implied that the wings' resonances are perfectly in tune with the input stimulus, each wings' f_0 is equal to the song carrier frequency f_c . However, previous studies revealed that the left and RWs exhibit different f_0 , above and below the output f_c (<5 kHz>) (Nocke, 1971; Bennet-Clark, 2003; Montealegre-Z et al., 2011). Non-contact laser Doppler vibrometry (LDV) measurements showed that the left and RWs of field-crickets are mechanically different, with resonant frequencies differing by as much as 2 kHz (f_0 left < f_0 right; Montealegre-Z et al., 2011). It remains unclear how the seemingly imperfect and differently tuned resonators can generate the high quality pure-tones observed in crickets.

Using LDV, focal microinjection of the neuropharmacological neuroactivator eserine, and specialised acoustic equipment, we measured wing vibrations in actively stridulating Mediterranean field-crickets (*G. bimaculatus*). From physical acoustics, we hypothesise that efficient, high gain, pure-tone radiation results from the in-phase oscillation of both wings when coupled during the stridulation process. We furthermore formulate and test a second hypothesis: different wing regions vibrate in phase, despite differential tuning and inputs, and thereby generate the coherent acoustic radiation typical of field-cricket songs. As a consequence, any imperfections in the coupling of the wings that lead to temporal and phase shifts between the resonators should result in sub-optimal amplitude of the output signal and ultimately impose constraints on signal frequency.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Animals

Adult male crickets (*G. bimaculatus*) obtained from a breeding colony maintained at the University of Bristol were used. Animals were kept at room temperature (20–22 °C) under a 12 h:12 h light:dark cycle and were fed with oats, dry dog food and water *ad libitum*. Adult males were randomly taken from the colony, their wings inspected for damage and kept individually in cages prior to the experiments. After isolation, 18 males that sang for prolonged periods of time were chosen for the experiments, as these animals usually responded better to pharmacological stimulation. All males recorded were singing with the usual wing overlap (RW over LW).

Neuropharmacological Stimulation

To elicit persistent stridulation in tethered crickets, we followed methods established and described in detail in earlier studies (Hedwig and Becher, 1998; Wenzel et al., 1998; Wenzel and Hedwig, 1999; Montealegre-Z et al., 2011). In short, we used borosilicate glass microcapillaries (1B120F-3; ID = 0.68 mm; World Precision Instruments, Inc., Sarasota, FL, United States) pulled with a Sutter microelectrode puller (Sutter Instrument Company, Novato, CA, United States) to produce ca. 10 µm wide tips. These microcapillaries were then filled with eserine/ringer solution (10⁻² mol l⁻¹; Sigma-Aldrich Company Ltd., Dorset, United Kingdom) and connected to a picospritzer (Picospritzer II, Parker Hannifin, Pneutronics Division (formerly General Valve, NJ, United States). Small quantities of eserine (an acetylcholinesterase inhibitor) were injected into a brain neuropil, located between the pedunculus and the α -lobe of the mushroom bodies. Successful procedures elicited sustained stridulation in the typical calling song pattern (see Supplementary Video 1). Crickets were removed from the study if we recorded no singing activity within 1 h after the first injection.

Crickets exhibit frequency modulation (FM) in their calls, and the envelope of this modulation has been shown to be a fingerprint of each individual (Montealegre-Z et al., 2011). The quality of the pharmacologically elicited calls was examined by correlating their FM pattern with that of the natural calls obtained by zero-crossing analysis. Calls were judged of sufficient quality when the correlation was higher than 0.85 (see Montealegre-Z et al., 2011, for more experimental details).

Recordings of Wing Vibrations in Stridulating Animals (Wings Engaged)

Vibrations from the tegminal surface were successfully quantified from 11 of the 14 stridulating animals using two coupled laser Doppler vibrometers (Polytec PSV-300-F, and a PSV-400; Polytec GmBH, Waldbronn, Germany) and corresponding scanning heads (OFV-056) fitted with close-up attachments. The velocity output of the PSV-300-F served as an input channel for the PSV-400 vibrometer, thus allowing for synchronization of the recordings. Sound signals were recorded using a 1/8" condenser microphone Brüel & Kjær Type 4138, connected to a Brüel & Kjær 2633 preamplifier and a Type 5935L amplifier (Brüel & Kjær, Nærum, Denmark), which was in turn connected to the PSV-400 acquisition system. Measurements were performed in single-shot mode (one recording per chosen spot on the wing, no averaging) in the temporal domain (1,024 samples at 512 kHz sampling rate, leading to recordings with 2 ms duration and a temporal resolution of \sim 1.95 μ s). Acoustic and vibrational measurements were recorded with Polytec Scanning Vibrometer software (PSVSoft, Version 8, Polytec GmbH, Waldbronn, Germany). The microphone was positioned posterior to the specimen, 3-4 cm away from the wings as to not interfere with the laser beams. Simultaneously, wing vibrations were recorded with the laser beams focused on the anal regions, harps, chords, and mirrors (Figure 1 and see Supplementary Video 1 showing a singing male after pharmacological stimulation). Through the video feed of the two LDVs, we were able to visually place the laser points with some acuity within the regions in question, ensuring that the recordings from left and RW came from equivalent locations. Results for the chord regions are shown in the Supplementary Material but are not included in the main results as we were able to obtain chord recordings in only 7 out of the 11 animals used (the left chord regions are usually covered by the RW during stridulation and thus not easily accessible). The laser spot position and signal strength (the amount of laser light reflected from the target) was monitored and controlled via the live video feeds to the controlling computers of both laser systems. Using earlier LDV systems, signal strength often had to be increased by applying minute reflecting beads or powder to the wing surfaces. This was not the case here as the focussed laser light ($\lambda \sim$ 630 nm) was well reflected by the wing cuticle, which allowed us to perform contactless vibration measurements without further manipulation of the wings.

The microphone signal was used as a measurement trigger, so only wing vibrations involved in sound production were recorded. Data acquisition was programmed to last for 2 ms during the maximum amplitude event of a song pulse. This duration was chosen to minimise the movement of the wings during recording ($\sim 8-10$ teeth) while still gathering sufficient data for analysis (see also Montealegre-Z et al., 2011).

Individual Resonances of Unengaged Fixed Wings (Free Vibration)

After the previous experiment, each of the wings of each live specimen (n = 14) were extended and separated from each other by fixing the axillary sclerites with a bee's wax (Fisher Scientific United Kingdom, Limited, Leicestershire; product code W/0200/50), and Colophony (Sigma-Aldrich Co. St. Louis, MO, United States; Product No. 60895-250G) mixture (1:1). The wings were extended to not be in contact with the pronotal lateral and posterior edges. A loudspeaker (ESS AMT-1; ESS Laboratory Inc., Sacramento, CA, United States) was used to broadcast periodic chirps in the range 1–20 kHz, with a flat (55 dB SPL \pm 1.5 dB) spectrum. The microphone was placed dorsally in the middle of both extended wings (**Figure 2**). The laser system was set to record in the scan mode. A complete scan of the extended wings in response to the periodic chirps was performed with

the PSV-400 LDV, using 250–300 scanning points per wing with 10 measurements averaged per point. Fast Fourier transforms (FFT) with a rectangular window and a sampling rate of 512 kHz, 128 ms sampling time, and a frequency resolution of 7.81 Hz were generated for each point.

Data Analysis

Experimental data was either analysed directly with the PSV software or with custom written scripts in MATLAB (R2019a; The MathWorks Inc., Natick, MA, United States). Instantaneous phase in the time domain was obtained with Hilbert transform using custom MATLAB code (Hartmann, 1997). We tested whether the frequency differed between left and RWs, and between areas (mirror, harp, chord, anal) using linear mixed effects models run in R 4.0.0 (R Core Team, 2020). Models were run separately for free and engaged wings, with male ID included as a random effect. Models were run using lme4 (Bates et al., 2015) and lmerTest (Kuznetsova et al., 2017), with *post hoc* testing carried out using emmeans (Lenth, 2020). We also tested the difference in the normalised amplitude of the mechanical response (μ m/Pa), between left and RWs using a paired *t*-test.

RESULTS

Using focal microinjection of the neuroactivator eserine into the cricket's brain (Wenzel et al., 1998; Hedwig, 2000), longlasting and stable stridulation was elicited in 14 restrained males (Supplementary Video 1). Using two synchronised microscanning LDVs, we successfully measured the spatially resolved vibration of both wings simultaneously during the "engaged" phase of the stridulation process in 11 of the 14 actively singing males, following a previously established protocol (Montealegre-Z et al., 2011). After the cessation of singing, the wings of each specimen were extended and fixed basally and stimulated with sweeps of broadband sound to reveal their natural resonances f_0 and relative magnitudes of vibration. The surface area of these "unengaged" wings was scanned in its entirety, providing a detailed map of vibrational patterns (Figures 2, 3 and Supplementary Video 2, showing wing vibrations of one male at resonance of 4.6 kHz).

Natural Frequencies of Wing Vibrations

Full wing scan recordings of unengaged (extended and fixed) wings show that the RW f_0 is significantly higher than the LW (RW = 5.168 ± 0.434 kHz, SE 0.116; LW = 4.827 ± 0.396 kHz, SE 0.106; LMM: $F_{1,152.60} = 15.93$, p < 0.001). However, when comparing vibration amplitudes at the average f_0 of both wings, no difference between left and RWs was found. This was true for both average vibration amplitudes of the harp areas alone (RW_{harp} = 0.32 ± 0.24 µm/Pa; LW_{harp} = 0.40 ± 0.35 µm/Pa; t = 0.988, df = 13, p = 0.34). When each wing is stimulated at its average f_0 , one always exhibits a higher vibration amplitude (on average by a factor of ~1.7; **Figures 2B,C**), but this dominant wing can be either LW or RW (cf. **Supplementary Video 2**, where the animal's LW vibrates with higher amplitude). In a previous



FIGURE 2 [Amplitude response of extended wings to sympathetic acoustic stimulation. (A) Orientation image relating tegmen topography to the position of the scanning lattice. (B) Scanned area and deflection shapes of the tegmen dorsal surface (harp and mirror). Dashed lines illustrate the sections through which the deflection envelopes in panel (C) were built. (C) Envelope of mechanical deflections along transects shown in B for a series of phases (in steps of 10°) in the full oscillation cycle. For this specimen: RW $f_0 = 4.71$ kHz, LW $f_0 = 4.62$ kHz).

study, we reported a trend of LW dominance which we could not identify here, which is most likely due to our low sample size (n = 44 in Montealegre-Z et al., 2011).

Examining wing vibrations in more detail, LDV measurements reveal that each wing region exhibits its own resonance spectra with varying peak frequencies (**Figure 3A**); there were significant differences in the f_0 between areas (LMM: $F_{4,152.56} = 72.55$, p < 0.001). Post hoc testing revealed that the mirror of each wing consistently showed higher f_0 than the average wing f_0 (LW_{mirror} = 6.858 ± 0.540 kHz, SE 0.127 kHz; LW average f_0 of other areas = 4.827 ± 0.396 kHz, SE 0.106; RW_{mirror} = 7.007 ± 0.865 kHz, SE 0.204 kHz; RW average f_0 of other areas = 5.168 ± 0.434 kHz, SE 0.116; n = 18) (**Figure 3A**), with other areas of the wing not significantly different from each other.

Wing Vibrations in Stridulating Animals

Wing vibrations were recorded during active stridulation using two LDVs in single shot mode, enabling vibration measurement at defined locations and times (see **Supplementary Video 2**). Remarkably, vibrations of engaged wings during stridulation (**Figure 3B**) differ from sound-evoked vibrations in unengaged wings (**Figure 3A**). When the wings are engaged, all regions exhibit near identical, narrow vibrational frequency spectra with maximum power concentrated at the carrier frequency f_c of the calling song (here 5.125 kHz; LMM: $F_{3,66,29} = 1.56$, p = 0.208; **Figure 3B**). There is also no difference between the left or RW (LMM: $F_{1,65,20} = 0.77$, p = 0.383). The convergence of all resonators toward one very narrow frequency band of oscillation is reminiscent of entrainment, a process similar to synchronization between Huygens' clocks (Peña Ramirez et al., 2016).

Apart from identical oscillation frequency, an additional key feature of synchronised resonators is their phase relationship. Time-resolved LDV data were obtained by recording vibrations from different regions of both wings at synchronised points during stridulation (see methods). Results across 11 specimens show that the wings are not perfectly in phase during sound production, but that phase lags ϕ exist over a wide range between left and RWs (**Figure 4**). In some individuals, ϕ is small and relatively constant between wings (both over time and between regions, **Figure 4A**), while others show larger differences in phase (**Figure 4B** and **Supplementary Figure 1**). Within an individual, average phase lags across wing regions seem to be relatively consistent, although considerable variation exists (see **Supplementary Figure 1**).

Time domain recordings of single point measurements at the harps, anal regions and mirrors also show that LW vibration amplitudes are mostly higher than RW amplitudes (red and blue lines in **Figure 4A**, respectively) but there is also considerable variation in amplitudes across animals and wing regions (**Figure 4B**). The high variation in vibration amplitude can be explained by the limitations of the experimental set up. As two lasers had to be manually aligned on the stridulating animals, space restrictions and changes in the way the animals held their wings during stridulation often prevented a perfect orthogonal alignment of the laser beams to the vibrating surfaces, resulting in absolute displacement amplitudes that are hard to compare between wings. Relative phase relationships between the wings, however, can be measured with high accuracy, as they



are not affected by laser beam-target orthogonality. In theory, mathematical superposition of LW and RW vibrations allows estimating the resulting combined output vibration. For example, the net vibratory response at a given place and time caused by the two harps is the sum of the responses which would have been caused by each harp individually (**Figures 5A,B**). These

calculations show that the greater the phase lag ϕ (and thus time lag Δt for a given frequency; cf. **Supplementary Figures 1, 2**) between LW and RW, the lower the amplitude of the resulting vibration and therefore the gain as compared to using only one wing (**Figures 5A–C**). Without exact amplitude information for engaged wings, we can nevertheless show the effect of phase



FIGURE 4 [Vibration displacements and phase relation in three major wing regions during stridulation in two *Gryllus bimaculatus* males. Wing vibration measurements were obtained simultaneously from two homologous wing regions using two LDVs. (A) An individual with nearly perfect phasing of the wings (median ϕ between 6° and 15°). (B) An individual with more prominent phase differences and variation between the wings (median ϕ between 60° and 68°). Each panel represents an independent recording showing RW in blue, LW in red and phase lag ϕ in grey. ϕ is measured as the difference in phase between LW and RW at the LW local maxima and minima. Boxplots show the median (red line), 25th, 75th percentiles (box) and 1 IQR whiskers for all ϕ per wing region. Outliers are marked as red +.

shifts between wings on the overall output amplitude assuming that vibration amplitudes are equal for both wings (as shown in **Figure 5A**). Thus, **Figure 5C** shows normalised RMS (root mean square) gain as a function of phase lag ϕ of three different wing regions using normalised vibration velocity amplitudes. In ideal conditions, where both wings exhibit equal vibration amplitudes at equal frequencies, perfect phase locking ($\phi = 0^\circ$) produces a gain of 2, while a phase lag of 120° ($\Delta t = 67 \ \mu s$ at 5 kHz) would produce a gain of 1 or no amplification of the resulting output as compared to using only one resonating wing. For example, the phase lags recorded from left and right harps (median values ranging from 6° to 79° across all specimens; this equates to Δt values between 3 and 43 µs; see **Supplementary Figures 1**, 2) produce relative amplitude gains ranging from 1.97 to 1.34 (**Figure 5C**, blue stars). Other wing regions (mirror and anal regions, red circles and yellow squares, respectively), exhibit similar values.

Figure 5D illustrates the effect imperfect coupling of the wings has on the overall combined output amplitudes at different song carrier frequencies (assuming both wings vibrate with the same frequency and amplitude). While animals producing pure-tones at 5 kHz can afford to have relatively uncoupled wings with



FIGURE 5 Sound wave superposition to illustrate amplitude gains. (A) Theoretical harp output calculated from a *Gryllus bimaculatus* showing small phase differences between both harps (ϕ -5°; Δt -28 µs; f_c = 5.07 kHz). (B) Harp output from an individual with large phase differences (ϕ -58°; Δt -28 µs; f_c = 5.7 kHz). Note that in spite of large phase differences, the output (black dotted line) shows a gain, which is larger in A. In both cases, tracks have been normalised to the highest amplitude. (C) Comparison of median absolute phase lag per specimen and RMS gain of three major wing regions. Vibrations were obtained simultaneously from the paired respective regions (harps, mirrors, and anal) of LW and RW. RMS gains were calculated from the superposition of normalised LW and RW displacement responses measured with each laser. Each data point per region represents one individual; n = 11. The solid line shows theoretical gains with increasing ϕ assuming equal vibration amplitudes and frequencies. (D) Mean absolute time lags Δt (black circles) and standard deviation between LW and RW for three major wing regions and 11 animals. Coloured solid lines show the theoretical amplitude gains (right *y*-axis in grey; equal amplitudes and frequencies) as function of Δt for three different carrier frequencies (blue, red, and yellow for 5, 7, and 10 kHz, respectively). Values below 1 (dashed grey line) signify lower combined output amplitudes compared to using only one resonator.

time lags up to ~67 μ s before destructive interference occurs (**Figure 5D**, intersection of blue and grey dashed lines), Δt at which destructive interference starts is reduced to ~48 and 34 μ s when singing at 7 or 10 kHz, respectively (red and yellow lines). The inset in **Figure 5D** showing the average time differences and standard deviations between wings for the 11 specimens recorded shows that the span of Δt values (like ϕ) is generally small enough to ensure amplitude gains well over 1.5 when singing with a 5 kHz carrier frequency.

DISCUSSION

Here, we have revealed the presence of an elegant additional mechanism at work in crickets that contributes to generating high amplitude, pure tone signals using distinct yet coupled sound generators: the two forewings and their individual wing cells. Although the wings appear to be mirror images of each other (**Figure 1**), they are asymmetrical in their mechanical properties and structure (**Figure 2A**), as previously reported (Simmons and Ritchie, 1996; Bennet-Clark, 2003; Montealegre-Z et al., 2011). For *G. bimaculatus*, it is known that the RW on top is slightly larger in surface area and exhibits a higher f_0 than the LW (Montealegre-Z et al., 2011).

In addition, differences in resonant properties between both wings and among single wing regions are characterised in some detail. The biomechanical data demonstrate that, within a single wing, different regions have variable resonance peaks close to that of the harp f_0 value (apart from the mirror, which generally resonates several kHz higher) and overall resonance curves also differ in their spectral composition (Figure 3). Interestingly, the observed differences between both the individual wing regions and between the wings themselves (Figure 3A), vanish when the wings engage in active stridulation (Figure 3B). These results confirm for the first time that all regions of both wings actively radiate sound at the carrier frequency during stridulation and that the resonance properties of the LW dominate the frequency output. This suggests that, during stridulation, the LW harp vibrations, generated through plectrum-teeth impacts, drive the vibrations of all other wing regions, including those of the RW, so that the engaged wings vibrate together at the LW f_0 .

In order to produce the best possible signal output from both coupled resonators, we hypothesised that both wings and the wing regions therein should not only oscillate at one common frequency, but also, ideally, in-phase ($\phi = 0^{\circ}$), thereby creating maximal constructive interference (and thus a two-fold amplitude gain as compared to using only one wing). Whilst the whole system is indeed driven and oscillating at one specific frequency, we find considerable incoherence in the phase relationships between LW and RW and their respective regions. Figures 4, 5 clearly show that individual wing regions are not phase-locked to each other but exhibit average phase differences ϕ ranging from ca. 6° to 79°, equating to temporal differences Δt between the wings of 3-43 µs at the carrier frequency ($f_c = 5.125$ kHz). Figure 4 and Supplementary Figure 1 also show that individuals exhibit roughly similar phase differences within their wing regions but phase shifts between

individuals are quite variable. This leads us to suggest that the ability to tightly control the wing movements and the coupling of the resonators is an individual trait depending on either wing morphology or neuro-muscular control of the stridulation process or a combination thereof. As a consequence, the phase differences ϕ and corresponding time lags Δt seen across the recorded individuals would approach the distribution of this trait over the population.

Figures 5A,B depicts the consequences of these phase shifts in two male crickets on the opposite sides of the range of observed ϕ . While the lower ϕ of Male 1 ($\phi = 5.3^{\circ}$, $\Delta t = 2.9 \,\mu$ s, **Figure 5A**) results in a considerable output gain in comparison to the individual harp amplitudes (ca. 1.85 times the highest LW amplitude), the higher phase differences of Male 2 ($\phi = 58^{\circ}$, $\Delta t = 28 \,\mu$ s, **Figure 5B**) result in only a moderate gain (ca. 1.3). For this animal, a further increase in ϕ and consequently Δt would result in destructive interference, whereby the combined output of both wings would be less than the output of one wing alone, negating the advantage of using coupled resonators. This is shown in more detail for three major wing regions over all animals in **Figure 5C**. It is noteworthy that no instance of destructive interference was observed in the specimens studied.

Figure 5D shows the effect frequency has on the overall gain of this imperfect coupling in the temporal domain. While a cricket singing at 5 kHz will experience an increase in combined output amplitude (gain > 1, above dashed grey line, Figure 5D) for temporal differences between the wings of up to 67 µs (corresponding to a 120° phase shift and assuming equal vibration amplitudes), crickets singing at higher frequencies will encounter this threshold much earlier (at 48 µs and 33 µs for 7 kHz and 10 kHz, respectively). Consequently, the animals' observed inability to tightly synchronise the wing movements in time will act as an acoustic constraint for crickets to exploit higher song frequencies using two (imperfectly) coupled resonators. In addition, Figures 5C,D demonstrate that the observed imperfections in wing coupling in G. bimaculatus are still sufficiently low to ensure theoretical amplitude gains well above 1.5 times in comparison to the output of one wing alone. It is unknown, however, if ϕ and Δt are, for example, dependent on temperature. Due to the clockwork escapement mechanism involved in stridulation (and different from wing motion dynamics; Prestwich and Walker, 1981) tooth strike rates and f_c are largely independent of temperature in many Gryllidae, as are the resonant properties of the wings (Elliott and Koch, 1985; Bennet-Clark and Bailey, 2002). However, some species can show slight changes in f_c with temperature. Furthermore, the temporal song patterns, including syllable duration, are often affected by changes in ambient temperature (Walker, 1962; Pires and Hoy, 1992; Walker and Cade, 2003). It would therefore be conceivable that ϕ is also temperature dependent, potentially increasing with temperature and changes in singing behaviour. Further experiments including other cricket species and varying recording temperatures are planned to address inter-species variability and temperature dependence of the animals' wing coupling abilities.

If the higher values of Δt we observe in *G. bimaculatus* (Figure 5D for averages and SD; see Supplementary Figure 2 for

a depiction of the range of observed values across all animals) are an indicator for the minimal amount of temporal control crickets in general are able to exert during stridulation, then one can attempt to calculate a cut-off frequency above which the sound production with two symmetrical and coupled wings becomes inefficient. The highest median value for ϕ we measured for the three wing regions were between 72° and 80°, equating to Δt values between 38 and 43 µs at $f_c = 5.125$ kHz. Using simple trigonometric relationships between phase, amplitude, Δt and frequency of waves and under the simplified assumption that both waves have the same frequency and amplitude, one can calculate the frequency f_{max} at which the gain of the combined output of the superimposed waves becomes 1:

$$f_{\max} = \arccos\left(\frac{Gain}{2}\right)/(\pi * \Delta t)$$
 (1)

Using Eq. (1) and the range of Δt stated above, theoretical $f_{\rm max}$ values range from 7.8 to 8.8 kHz (for 43 and 38 µs, respectively), denoting frequencies above which stridulation using the mechanism described above becomes inefficient for some animals in the population. Taking the mean and standard deviation values for Δt shown in **Figure 5D** as rough population measure (harp: 19.3 ± 14.1 µs; mirror: 23.9 ± 10.8 µs; anal region: 18.7 ± 12.5 µs; see also **Supplementary Figures 2, 3**), one could state that ~16% of males would not be able to produce song above ~10 kHz with an amplitude gain above 1 when using both wings as active resonators.

These cut-off frequencies correspond very well with maximal carrier frequencies observed in the majority of Gryllidae, which lie between 2 and 8 kHz (Bennet-Clark, 1989; Robillard et al., 2015). A notable exception are members of the subfamily Eneopterinae, which produce calling songs with frequencies of up to 26 kHz (Robillard et al., 2013). Interestingly, in this subfamily, there is a clear gap between species singing at low frequencies and species singing at high frequencies. This gap is located between 7.9 and 12.2 kHz and members of the highsinging species form a distinct clade within the Eneopterinae (the Lebinthini) (Desutter-Grandcolas and Robillard, 2004). Additionally, Robillard et al. (2013) found that these species exhibit resonance patterns and stridulation mechanisms quite different to the ones employed by other Gryllids and other Encopterinae. Here, the resonances in the LW and RW are clearly asymmetrical, only partly (or not at all) overlapping the carrier frequencies and they generally show lower vibration magnitudes when compared to, e.g., the wings of G. bimaculatus. Furthermore, instead of employing constant tooth strike rates (like G. bimaculatus and most other Gryllids), some Lebinthini employ a stridulation mechanism (resembling those commonly observed in bush-crickets) whereby the wing stops during the closing phase to build up elastic energy which is then quickly released to produce highly increased tooth strike rates and therefore higher frequency calls (Robillard et al., 2013). These adaptations for high-frequency song production are similar to those encountered in bush-crickets. In bushcrickets, the wings are generally highly asymmetric as well, both morphologically and acoustically: The LW (lying on

top of the RW and bearing the active stridulatory file) is often thicker, usually shows no clear stridulatory fields and is highly damped, therefore playing only a minor role in sound radiation (Montealegre-Z and Postles, 2010; Baker et al., 2017). The RW on the other side (which receives its mechanical input vie the plectrum) often exhibits extremely thin to translucent stridulatory fields with clear resonance properties, thus constituting the acoustically active wing (e.g., Sarria-S et al., 2014; Baker et al., 2017). Thus, the sound production system in Tettigoniidae only contains one resonator, reducing the surface for sound radiation, whilst eliminating the problems inherent to two imperfectly coupled resonators as described here for crickets. This allows for a shift to higher song frequencies (and shorter wavelengths) without destructive interference from a second resonator, and simultaneously ensures that the size of the remaining resonator is still (closer to) optimal for pure tone sound radiation.

In conclusion, the results presented here suggest a mechanoacoustical constraint on the bilateral near-symmetrical, dual resonator sound production mechanism common to most Gryllidae which prevents the exploitation of higher song frequencies above \sim 8–9 kHz whilst still being able to produce loud and pure-tone calling songs to effectively attract mates. This could have been an important constraint for the majority of Gryllidae (restricting them to the role of tenors) which the Tettigoniidae (the sopranos within the Ensifera) seem to have overcome by evolving a highly asymmetric singing mechanism (Montealegre-Z et al., 2017; Song et al., 2020) which allows them to produce high-frequency songs without the drawback of undesirable destructive interference reducing song amplitude.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

FM-Z, TJ, and DR designed the research and wrote the manuscript. FM-Z and TJ performed the experiments. CS conducted the statistics. FM-Z, TJ, and CS analysed the data. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This research was supported by a Leverhulme Trust grant (grant RPG-2014-284 to FM-Z and DR), a Human Frontier Science Programme (Cross Disciplinary Fellowship LT00024/2008-C to FM-Z) and a National Geographic grant (National Geographic Explorer's grant RG120495 to FM-Z). DR acknowledges the support of the Royal Society of London, by the United Kingdom-India Education and Research Initiative (grant no. SA06-169E to DR) and the Biotechnology and Biological Sciences

Research Council (grant no. BB/I009671/1). TJ was supported through a Human Frontier Science Programme grant during the experimental phase and has received funding from the European Union's Horizon 2020 Research and Innovation Programme under the Marie Skłodowska-Curie grant agreement (no. 829208, InWingSpeak). TJ also acknowledges financial support from the publication fund of the University of Graz.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank the editor and reviewers for their helpful comments on the manuscript. FMZ and TJ would like to dedicate this article to Henry Bennet-Clark, Berthold Hedwig, Uwe Koch, Ken Prestwich, and Thomas Walker for their pioneering and inspiring works in cricket bioacoustics.

REFERENCES

- Baker, A., Sarria-S, F. A., Morris, G. K., Jonsson, T., and Montealegre-Z, F. (2017). Wing resonances in a new dead-leaf-mimic katydid (Tettigoniidae: Pterochrozinae) from the Andean cloud forests. *Zool. Anz.* 270, 60–70. doi: 10.1016/j.jcz.2017.10.001
- Bates, D., Mächler, M., Bolker, B., and Walker, S. (2015). Fitting linear mixed-effects models using Lme4. J. Stat. Softw. 67, 1–48. doi: 10.18637/jss.v067.i01
- Bennet-Clark, H. C. (1989). "Songs and the physics of sound production," in *Cricket Behavior and Neurobiology*, eds F. Huber, T. E. Moore, and W. Loher (Ithaca, NY: Comstock Publishing Associates), 227–261.
- Bennet-Clark, H. C. (1998). Size and scale effects as constraints in insect sound communication. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. Ser. B Biol. Sci.* 353, 407–419. doi: 10.1098/rstb.1998.0219
- Bennet-Clark, H. C. (1999). Resonators in insect sound production: how insects produce loud pure-tone songs. J. Exp. Biol. 202, 3347–3357.
- Bennet-Clark, H. C. (2003). Wing resonances in the Australian field cricket Teleogryllus oceanicus. J. Exp. Biol. 206, 1479–1496. doi: 10.1242/jeb.00281
- Bennet-Clark, H. C., and Bailey, W. J. (2002). Ticking of the clockwork cricket: the role of the escapement mechanism. *J. Exp. Biol.* 205, 613–625.
- Desutter-Grandcolas, L., and Robillard, T. (2004). Acoustic evolution in crickets: need for phylogenetic study and a reappraisal of signal effectiveness. *An. Acad. Bras. Ciênc.* 76, 301–315.
- Elliott, C. J. H., and Koch, U. T. (1985). The clockwork cricket. *Naturwissenschaften* 72, 150–153. doi: 10.1007/BF00490404
- Fletcher, N. H. (1992). Acoustic Systems in Biology. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Forrest, T. G., and Green, D. M. (1991). Sexual selection and female choice in mole crickets (*Scapteriscus*: Gryllotalpidae): modelling the effects of intensity and male spacing. *Bioacoustics* 3, 93–109. doi: 10.1080/09524622.1991.975 3166
- Gu, J.-J., Montealegre-Z, F., Robert, D., Engel, M. S., Qiao, G.-X., and Ren, D. (2012). Wing stridulation in a jurassic katydid (Insecta, Orthoptera) produced low-pitched musical calls to attract females. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 109, 3868–3873. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1118372109
- Hartmann, W. M. (1997). *Signals, Sound, and Sensation*. Woodbury, NY: American Institute of Physics.
- Hedwig, B. (2000). Control of cricket stridulation by a command neuron: efficacy depends on the behavioral state. *J. Neurophysiol.* 83, 712–722.
- Hedwig, B., and Becher, G. (1998). Forewing movements and intracellular motoneurone stimulation in tethered flying locusts. J. Exp. Biol. 201, 731–744.
- Koch, U. T., Elliott, C. J. H., Schäffner, K.-H., and Kleindienst, H.-U. (1988). The mechanics of stridulation of the cricket *Gryllus campestris*. J. Comp. Physiol. 162, 213–223. doi: 10.1007/BF00606086

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fevo.2021. 647786/full#supplementary-material

Supplementary Video 1 A male *Gryllus bimaculatus* producing calling song in the experimental setup after pharmacological injection of Eserine (10^{-2} mol/l) into the brain. The cricket is mounted and fixed on a holder in front of the LDV. The LDV's laser dot is visible on the harp area of the right wing.

Supplementary Video 2 | Animation of the vibration map of unengaged left and right wing of a male *Gryllus bimaculatus* as derived from LDV recordings. The wings are elevated upward from the animal's body at a similar angle to the natural singing position, spaced apart and imaged from the front; the reference microphone is visible between and slightly behind the wings. The overlaid vibration map shows the colour-coded relative displacement (μ m/Pa; red = max. positive displacement; blue = max. negative displacement) of the wing surface as a response to acoustic stimulation at the wings' overall resonance frequency (4.62 kHz). Here, the LW displacement amplitude is higher than the RW's.

- Kostarakos, K., Hartbauer, M., and Römer, H. (2008). Matched filters, mate choice and the evolution of sexually selected traits. *PLoS One* 3:e3005. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0003005
- Kuznetsova, A., Brockhoff, P. B., and Christensen, R. H. B. (2017). Imertest package: tests in linear mixed effects models. J. Stat. Softw. 82, 1–26. doi: 10. 18637/jss.v082.i13
- Lenth, R. (2020). *emmeans: Estimated Marginal Means, Aka Least-Squares Means.* Michelsen, A. (1998). The tuned cricket. *News Physiol. Sci.* 13, 32–38.
- Michelsen, A., and Larsen, O. N. (2008). Pressure difference receiving ears. *Bioinspir. Biomim.* 3:011001.
- Montealegre-Z, F. (2005). Biomechanics of Musical Stridulation in Katydids (Orthoptera: Ensifera: Tettigoniidae): An Evolutionary Approach. Ph.D. thesis, University of Toronto, Canada.
- Montealegre-Z, F., Jonsson, T., and Robert, D. (2011). Sound radiation and wing mechanics in stridulating field crickets (Orthoptera: Gryllidae). J. Exp. Biol. 214, 2105–2117. doi: 10.1242/jeb.056283
- Montealegre-Z, F., and Postles, M. (2010). Resonant sound production in *Copiphora gorgonensis* (Tettigoniidae: Copiphorini), an endemic species from parque nacional natural Gorgona, Colombia. J. Orthoptera Res. 19, 347–355. doi: 10.1665/034.019.0223
- Montealegre-Z, F., Ogden, J., Jonsson, T., and Soulsbury, C. D. (2017). Morphological determinants of signal carrier frequency in katydids (Orthoptera): a comparative analysis using biophysical evidence of wing vibration. J. Evol. Biol. 30, 2068–2078. doi: 10.1111/jeb.13179
- Nocke, H. (1971). Biophysik der Schallerzeugung durch die Vorderflügel der Grillen. Z. Vgl. Physiol. 74, 272–314. doi: 10.1007/bf00297730
- Peña Ramirez, J., Olvera, L. A., Nijmeijer, H., and Alvarez, J. (2016). The sympathy of two pendulum clocks: beyond Huygens' observations. *Sci. Rep.* 6:23580. doi: 10.1038/srep23580
- Pires, A., and Hoy, R. R. (1992). Temperature coupling in cricket acoustic communication. I. Field and laboratory studies of temperature effects on calling song production and recognition in *Gryllus firmus. J. Comp. Physiol.* 171, 69–78. doi: 10.1007/bf00195962
- Prestwich, K. N., Lenihan, K. M., and Martin, D. M. (2000). The Control of carrier frequency in cricket calls: a refutation of the subalar-tegminal resonance / auditory feedback model. J. Exp. Biol. 203, 585–596.
- Prestwich, K. N., and Walker, T. J. (1981). Energetics of Singing in crickets: effect of temperature in three trilling species (Orthoptera: Gryllidae). J. Comp. Physiol. 143, 199–212. doi: 10.1007/BF00797699
- R Core Team (2020). R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. Vienna: R Foundation for Statistical Computing.
- Robillard, T., Montealegre-Z, F., Desutter-Grandcolas, L., Grandcolas, P., and Robert, D. (2013). Mechanisms of high-frequency song generation in brachypterous crickets and the role of ghost frequencies. J. Exp. Biol. 216, 2001–2011. doi: 10.1242/jeb.083964

- Robillard, T., ter Hofstede, H. M., Orivel, J., and Vicente, N. M. (2015). Bioacoustics of the neotropical eneopterinae (Orthoptera, Grylloidea, Gryllidae). *Bioacoustics* 24, 123–143. doi: 10.1080/09524622.2014.996915
- Römer, H. (1998). "The sensory ecology of acoustic communication in insects," in *Comparative Hearing: Insects*, eds R. R. Hoy, A. N. Popper, and R. R. Fay (New York, NY: Springer), 63–96.

Rossing, T. D. (1990). The Science of Sound. Reading, MA: Addison-Wesley.

- Sarria-S, F. A., Buxton, K., Jonsson, T., and Montealegre-Z, F. (2016). Wing mechanics, vibrational and acoustic communication in a new bush-cricket species of the genus *Copiphora* (Orthoptera: Tettigoniidae) From Colombia. *Zool. Anz.* 263, 55–65. doi: 10.1016/j.jcz.2016.04.008
- Sarria-S, F. A., Morris, G. K., Windmill, J. F. C., Jackson, J., and Montealegre-Z, F. (2014). Shrinking wings for ultrasonic pitch production: hyperintense ultra-short-wavelength calls in a new genus of neotropical katydids (Orthoptera: Tettigoniidae). *PLoS One* 9:e98708. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.009 8708
- Simmons, L. W., and Ritchie, M. G. (1996). Symmetry in the Songs of Crickets. Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B Biol. Sci. 263, 1305–1311. doi: 10.1098/rspb.1996.0191
- Sismondo, E. (1993). Ultrasubharmonic resonance and nonlinear dynamics in the song of Oecanthus nigricornis F. Walker (Orthoptera: Gryllidae). Int. J. Insect Morphol. Embryol. 22, 217–231. doi: 10.1016/0020-7322(93)90011-O
- Song, H., Béthoux, O., Shin, S., Donath, A., Letsch, H., Liu, S., et al. (2020). Phylogenomic analysis sheds light on the evolutionary pathways towards acoustic communication in Orthoptera. *Nat. Commun.* 11:4939. doi: 10.1038/ s41467-020-18739-4
- Walker, T. J. (1962). Factors responsible for intraspecific variation in the calling songs of crickets. *Evolution* 16:407. doi: 10.2307/2406176

- Walker, S. E., and Cade, W. H. (2003). The effects of temperature and age on calling song in a field cricket with a complex calling song, *Teleogryllus* oceanicus (Orthoptera: Gryllidae). Can. J. Zool. 81, 1414–1420. doi: 10.1139/ z03-106
- Warren, P. S., Katti, M., Ermann, M., and Brazel, A. (2006). Urban bioacoustics: it's not just noise. Anim. Behav. 71, 491–502. doi: 10.1016/j.anbehav.2005.07.014
- Wenzel, B., Elsner, N., and Hedwig, B. (1998). Microinjection of neuroactive substances into brain neuropil controls stridulation in the cricket *Gryllus bimaculatus* (De Geer). *Naturwissenschaften* 85, 452–454.
- Wenzel, B., and Hedwig, B. (1999). Neurochemical control of cricket stridulation revealed by pharmacological microinjections into the brain. J. Exp. Biol. 202, 2203–2216.
- Wiley, R. H. (2006). "Signal detection and animal communication," in Advances in the Study of Behavior, eds H. J. Brockmann, P. J. Slater, and C. T. Snowdon (London: Academic Press), 217–247.

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Jonsson, Montealegre-Z, Soulsbury and Robert. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Convergent Evolution of Wingbeat-Powered Anti-Bat Ultrasound in the Microlepidoptera

Liam Joseph O'Reilly^{1,2}, Brogan John Harris², David John Lawrence Agassiz³ and Marc Wilhelm Holderied^{2*}

¹ Laboratory of Applied Microbiology, University of Applied Sciences and Arts of Southern Switzerland, Bellinzona, Switzerland, ² School of Biological Sciences, University of Bristol, Bristol, United Kingdom, ³ Insect Division, Department of Life Sciences, Natural History Museum, London, United Kingdom

Bats and moths provide a textbook example of predator-prey evolutionary arms races, demonstrating adaptations, and counter adaptations on both sides. The evolutionary responses of moths to the biosonar-led hunting strategies of insectivorous bats include convergently evolved hearing structures tuned to detect bat echolocation frequencies. These allow many moths to detect hunting bats and manoeuvre to safety, or in the case of some taxa, respond by emitting sounds which startle bats, jam their biosonar, and/or warn them of distastefulness. Until now, research has focused on the larger macrolepidoptera, but the recent discovery of wingbeat-powered anti-bat sounds in a genus of deaf microlepidoptera (Yponomeuta), suggests that the speciose but understudied microlepidoptera possess further and more widespread anti-bat defences. Here we demonstrate that wingbeat-powered ultrasound production, likely providing an anti-bat function, appears to indeed be spread widely in the microlepidoptera; showing that acoustically active structures (aeroelastic tymbals, ATs) have evolved in at least three, and likely four different regions of the wing. Two of these tymbals are found in multiple microlepidopteran superfamilies, and remarkably, three were found in a single subfamily. We document and characterise sound production from four microlepidopteran taxa previously considered silent. Our findings demonstrate that the microlepidoptera contribute their own unwritten chapters to the textbook bat-moth coevolutionary arms race.

Keywords: bat-moth arms race, acoustic mimicry, micromoths, Tineidae, Oecophoridae, Depressariidae, Yponomeuta

INTRODUCTION

Roeder's seminal discovery of anti-bat hearing (Roeder and Treat, 1957) sparked research into the defences of nocturnal moths against echolocating bats in the bat-moth acoustic evolutionary arms race. Many nocturnal insects, including moths, have evolved hearing structures to detect bats (e.g., Miller and Surlykke, 2001) and the Arctiinae (tiger moths) are well known for their defensive sounds that function through startling their predators, acoustic aposematism (warning

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Fernando Montealegre-Z, University of Lincoln, United Kingdom

Reviewed by:

William Conner, Wake Forest University, United States James A. Simmons, Brown University, United States

> *Correspondence: Marc Wilhelm Holderied

marc.holderied@bristol.ac.uk

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Behavioral and Evolutionary Ecology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution

> Received: 31 December 2020 Accepted: 06 April 2021 Published: 03 May 2021

Citation:

O'Reilly LJ, Harris BJ, Agassiz DJL and Holderied MW (2021) Convergent Evolution of Wingbeat-Powered Anti-Bat Ultrasound in the Microlepidoptera. Front. Ecol. Evol. 9:648223. doi: 10.3389/fevo.2021.648223 sounds), and/or echolocation jamming (e.g., Corcoran et al., 2010). However, a recent surge of new discoveries has arisen in this arms race: taxa other than the Arctiinae have been shown to produce anti-bat sounds (Barber and Kawahara, 2013; Corcoran and Hristov, 2014; O'Reilly et al., 2019), the hindwing "tails" of some moths have been discovered to act as acoustic decoys (Barber et al., 2015; Lee and Moss, 2016), and the acoustic absorptive power of moth scales as acoustic metamaterials has emerged as a fascinating and complex new area of research (Zeng et al., 2011; Ntelezos et al., 2017; Shen et al., 2018; Neil et al., 2020a,b). This spate of recent discoveries suggests the true extent of moth anti-bat adaptations might substantially exceed current knowledge.

Lepidoptera have been crudely divided by their size into two suborders: the smaller micro- and the larger macrolepidoptera. Most research into the anti-bat defences of moths has focussed on the macrolepidoptera, yet preferred prey size varies both within (Waters et al., 1995) and between bat species. Some species such as *Myotis septentrionalis*, rely heavily on microlepidoptera as dietary constituents (e.g., Dodd et al., 2012). Microlepidoptera are therefore also under significant predation pressure from bats.

It would seem highly likely that such pressure on the microlepidoptera would lead to the evolution of anti-bat defences analogous to those found in macrolepidoptera. However, research into such defences has seemingly just recently begun, with only two studies, other than those investigating the well-known pyralid hearing (e.g., Skals and Surlykke, 2000), addressing the subject. Firstly, Kovalev (2016) suggested that the feather-like wing plumes of *Alucita hexadactyla* (Alucitidae) may have evolved to reduce its echo intensity, and secondly O'Reilly et al. (2019) discovered that the hyaline (transparent) hindwing patches of the microlepidopteran genus *Yponomeuta* (Yponomeutidae) are wingbeat-powered aeroelastic tymbals (ATs) that render these deaf moths acoustic Müllerian mimics of aposematic Arctiinae.

Like the sound-producing tymbals located on the thorax of the macrolepidopteran Arctiinae, Yponomeuta ATs produce two bursts (one longer and one shorter burst) of ultrasonic clicks through buckling of a series of striations. However, unlike arctiine sound production, AT clicks are not produced upon detection of an approaching bat. Instead, they occur during every wingbeat, one burst per wing stroke. As these moths are deaf and unable to detect and respond to hunting bats, these structures allow them to bypass predator detection by constantly producing warning sounds. *Yponomeuta* provide the first example of constitutive acoustic aposematism in the batmoth arms race (O'Reilly et al., 2019). This elegant defence solution for unpalatable, deaf microlepidoptera is unlikely to be exclusive to the Yponomeutidae and here we specifically investigate whether other microlepidopteran taxa possess yet undocumented defences based on ATs.

As the AT of *Yponomeuta* reveals itself as a hyaline patch in the wing, hyaline patches in other microlepidopteran taxa might suggest similar acoustic functionality. The presence of hyaline wing patches is indeed not exclusive to *Yponomeuta*. For example, *Monopis, Crypsithyrodes*, and *Crypsithyris* (Tineidae) species are characterised by a subhyaline patch in the discal cell of the

forewing (Robinson, 1980; Xiao and Li, 2005; Lee et al., 2016), and members of the *Tinea pellionella* species complex (Tineidae) possess hyaline/subhyaline patches at the base of the forewing, just below the *subcosta* (Robinson, 1979). Generally, hyaline wing patches, such as the above examples, are only documented in the literature if they serve as identification features.

Given that microlepidoptera are under significant predation pressure from echolocating bats, and that ATs provide an elegant method of passive acoustic protection, we anticipated that these structures would be taxonomically widespread. Thus, through a comprehensive morphological assay as well as acoustic characterisation, we investigated our prediction that ATs have convergently evolved throughout the microlepidoptera.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Phylogenetic Spread of Candidate ATs Image Analysis

For each of our two phylogenetic analyses we assessed taxa for the presence of known and candidate ATs. This was primarily achieved by examining online image databases of microlepidoptera. The majority of photographs were assessed from the Barcode of Life Database (BOLD) (Ratnasingham and Hebert, 2007), but microscopic assessment of specimens from the Bristol Museum and Art Gallery and the Natural History Museum, London was also used.

A *known AT* was defined as a hyaline patch in the same position on the wing as related taxa known to produce wingbeatpowered sound, e.g., a hindwing hyaline patch in an *Yponomeuta* species or relative. A *candidate AT* was defined as a hyaline patch on the wing with no obvious other function. If possible, for every species suspected of possessing an AT, multiple specimens were assessed to confirm the presence of the structure. This aided in preventing false positives due to symmetrical specimen damage.

Candidate ATs in the Microlepidoptera

This comprehensive assessment of the presence of ATs includes all microlepidopteran taxa from the 11 superfamilies in a recent molecular phylogeny of the Lepidoptera (Regier et al., 2013), from Nepticuloidea up to and including Gelechioidea. Despite the Pyraloidea being considered microlepidoptera, they were excluded from this analysis, because they have ultrasound sensitive ears, which constant sound production by ATs would excite and habituate, rendering the combination of ears and AT counterproductive. Furthermore, any transparent areas of the wings of the Sesiidae were not considered as potential ATs as they more likely function as part of their visual mimicry of Hymenoptera.

We used a simplified phylogenetic tree based on Figure S1 from Regier et al. (2013) for this study, to identify likely points of independent evolution of ATs within the microlepidoptera. The genus *Monopis* (Tineidae) and the Scaeosophinae (Cosmopterigidae) were not included in the original phylogeny (Regier et al., 2013) but were found to possess candidate ATs, so they were includes in our analysis.

Candidate ATs in the Tineidae

Photographs of 751 species (148 genera) of Tineidae were assessed. Between one and 20 photographs (individuals) were assessed per species for the presence of hyaline patches on either the forewing or hindwing. In the case of the genus *Chrypsithyris* (four species) images and species descriptions were used from Xiao and Li (2005). Images for *Niditinea sabroskyi* were used from (Metz et al., 2018).

Phylogenetic Analysis

As far as we are aware, a detailed molecular phylogeny of the Tineidae does not exist; thus, using publicly available data, a phylogenetic tree was inferred using the Cytochrome Oxidase Subunit 1 (COI) amino acid sequence from 90 species from 19 genera of the Tineidae family. Dolophilodes distinctus (Philopotamidae: Trichoptera) was used as an outgroup. Sequences were downloaded from BOLD Systems (Ratnasingham and Hebert, 2007), aligned using MAFFT version 7 (Katoh and Standley, 2013), and the alignments were trimmed using BMGE 4.0, using a BLOSUM62 matrix to remove poorly aligned positions (Criscuolo and Gribaldo, 2010). The phylogenetic tree was inferred using IQ-Tree (Nguyen et al., 2015), and the best-fitting substitution model (LG+C60+G) was selected by Bayesian Information Criterion (Le and Gascuel, 2008). Moreover, empirical profile mixture models were used to improve model fit (Quang et al., 2008). The bootstrap supports were estimated using UFBoot2 (Minh et al., 2013). Trees were visualised and edited in ITOL (Letunic and Bork, 2016). For links to software used see Table 1.

Sound Production by Candidate ATs

Species

We gained access to live specimens of five relevant species to test in laboratory conditions: two Tineinae (Tineidae) species possessing candidate ATs (*Monopis crocicapitella*, Clemens, 1859 n = 2; and *T. pellionella*, Linnaeus, 1758 n = 7), one Tineinae

TABLE 1 Resources used in the creation of the Tineidae phylogeny.

Resource	Source	Web link			
Data	NCBI	https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/protein/			
Data	BOLD Systems	http: //www.boldsystems.org/			
MAFFT	Katoh and Standley, 2013	https://mafft.cbrc.jp/ alignment/software/			
BMGE	Criscuolo and Gribaldo, 2010	http: //gensoft.pasteur.fr/docs/ BMGE/1.0/BMGE_doc.pdf			
IQ-Tree	Nguyen et al., 2015	http://www.iqtree.org/			
LG Model	Le and Gascuel, 2008	http://www.atgc- montpellier.fr/models/index. php?model=lg			
Mixture Models	Quang et al., 2008	https: //academic.oup.com/mbe/ article/25/7/1307/1041491			
ITOL	Letunic and Bork, 2016	http://itol.embl.de/			

species lacking candidate ATs (Tineola bisselliella, Hummel, 1823 n = 6), one Oecophoridae species possessing candidate ATs (*Endrosis sarcitrella*, Linnaeus, 1758 n = 4) and one lacking them (Hofmannophila pseudospretella, Stainton, 1849 n = 2), which were all tested for sound production. All T. pellionella specimens were wild caught from three houses in Bristol, United Kingdom, all T. bisselliella specimens were taken from a wicker basket found in Bristol, United Kingdom, both M. crocicapitella specimens were caught at one location in Weston-Super-Mare, United Kingdom using a mercury vapour moth trap in a suburban garden, and all E. sarcitrella and H. pseudospretella were caught from two houses within Bristol, United Kingdom. Moths were either acoustically assessed immediately or kept in a refrigerator between 4 and 6°C for up to 24 h before beginning assessment. If refrigerated, moths were kept at room temperature for at least 2 h prior to testing.

Tethering Method

Moths were first recorded in free flight, if they did not produce sound, they were not studied further, if they did then they were subsequently tethered. Due to their small size, we tethered them following O'Reilly et al. (2019): a 0.14 mm diameter insect pin was inserted into the dorsal meso/prothorax until the tip just punctured the ventral side. Like the moths tested in O'Reilly et al. (2019), all test specimens flew for prolonged periods post tethering.

The head of the tether (insect pin) was inserted into modelling clay attached to a flexible arm (Manfrotto + Co. Spa, Cassola, Italy), which allowed flexible positioning of the moth. We positioned the moth upside down, which elicited more prolonged flight compared to normal orientation. This stronger flight is probably due to the unusual gravitational pull on the insect causing it to try and return itself to its natural flight orientation.

Audio Recordings

All audio recordings of *M. crocicapitella*, *T. pellionella*, and *E. sarcitrella* (16bit, sampling rate 500 kHz) were made using USG Omnidirectional Electret Ultrasound Knowles FG-O microphones connected to an UltraSoundGate 1216H²⁰⁰ recorder, run through Avisoft Recorder USGH software (all Avisoft Bioacoustics, Berlin, Germany). Recordings were made in a semi-anechoic chamber (Industrial Acoustics Company Ltd., Winchester, United Kingdom).

Individual moths were initially placed in a $24'' \times 24'' \times 24''$ BugDorm-1 Insect Rearing Cage (Megaview Science Co., Ltd., Taichung City, Taiwan) with one microphone positioned through a central sleeved hole on one side of the cage. Flight was initiated through flicking or tapping the cage where the insect was at rest. These free-flight recordings were initially analysed for the presence of any acoustic signal. If sound production was discovered, tethered recordings were subsequently made. For tethered recordings, the insect was positioned 30–50 mm from a microphone oriented perpendicular to the centre of the lateral axis of the moth. To reliably initiate flight, tethered moths were first given a small (~5 mm diameter) ball of paper or foam to hold, this was removed when flight was required. Additionally, one *Monopis cf monachella* (Hübner, 1796, collected in Germany) was assessed for free-flight sound production using an ultrasound bat detector, and one *Ethmia bicolorella* (Guenée, 1879, Depressariidae, collected in Kenya) specimen was recorded in free-flight using a USB ultrasonic microphone (Ultramic250K, Dodotronic, Italy) in 16 bit using a 250 kHz sampling rate. This recording was made in the field, as such it was only analysed for the presence/absence of ultrasonic click production. Four other *Ethmia* (*E. sabiella, E. oculigera, E. cascineutis,* and *E. livida*; Felder et al., 1875; Möschler, 1883; Meyrick, 1913; Zeller, 1852, respectively) *species* were collected and recorded in South Africa using the same methods. Recordings of these species were assessed for the presence of ultrasonic clicks.

Ablation Experiments

Ablation of the candidate ATs was attempted on all individuals of M. crocicapitella, T. pellionella, and E. sarcitrella, however, due to the small size of the moths and their hyaline patches, this proved difficult. In all but one individual of each of the two Tineinae species the ablation attempt resulted in enough damage to the wings to render them unable to fly. Therefore, ablation results were only taken from one individual of each Tineinae species. E. sarcitrella patches were more fragile than those of the Tineinae, therefore a cruder method of ablation (removal of the hindwings) was initially used to confirm the general location of the sound producer (n = 1). More specific ablation attempts, similar to those used on Tineinae, were unsuccessful in the three remaining E. sarcitrella individuals. For the successful ablations of *M. crocicapitella* and *T. pellionella*, recordings were made from two treatments for each moth, firstly the right hyaline patch was ablated, and secondly the left hyaline patch was ablated.

Tineinae ablation was achieved using a size 0.14 mm diameter insect pin under a $50 \times$ magnification dissection microscope (Leica EZ5 Stereo Microscope, Leica Microsystems, Wetzlar, Germany). Moths were anaesthetised using CO₂ and secured to foam by placing insect pins in a cross over (not penetrating) both the abdomen and head of the insect, as well as individual pins over the fore and hindwings to hold them extended from the body, thus exposing the hyaline patches. The patch was then punctured with an insect pin and the membrane removed using fine forceps and microdissection scissors. All pins were removed, and the insect was positioned within the recording set-up, holding a small piece of paper or foam. It was left for between 15 and 120 min to recover and checked every 15 min for pre-ablation flight behaviour, and post-ablation recordings were subsequently made.

Acoustic Analysis

We analysed all acoustic recordings using Avisoft SASLab Pro (version 5.2.07, Avisoft Bioacoustics, Berlin, Germany), measuring the following acoustic characteristics for each species: source level, peak frequency, high and low frequency (bandwidth), click detection distance, shorter click burst click duration, longer click burst click duration, duty cycle, number of clicks per burst, and number of clicks per wingbeat. We analysed 10 consecutive wingbeats from a steady flight period with consistently high amplitude click bursts for each individual.

Acoustic characteristics were determined using the following methods. For each individual, click bursts from ten consecutive wingbeats were analysed. There are two click bursts per wingbeat cycle, defined here as longer and shorter as we did not confirm which burst occurred during the up- and downstroke, respectively. We counted all clicks and further analysed the loudest click from each longer click burst. Click number was determined by totalling the number of clicks discernible in waveform for each of the two click bursts per wingbeat. The duration of each individual click was measured from the waveform. Click amplitude was determined following O'Reilly et al. (2019), by initially calculating the peak-to-peak sound pressure and converting it to dB peSPL, using a calibration tone from a signal generator which produced a constant tone of known amplitude at 40 kHz (Avisoft Bioacoustics, Berlin, Germany) and the following formula:

$$CA + 20*log_{10}\left(\frac{TS}{CS}\right)$$

CA = Calibration Tone Level (dB)

TS = Test Signal Amplitude (mPa)

CS = Calibration Signal Amplitude (mPa)

Clicks were extracted from the waveform individually for spectral analysis including 0.05 ms of margin noise, with silent margins added (zero padding) and linearly ramped into the noise. Peak frequency and bandwidth (high and low frequencies) were measured from power spectra (Hamming window size 1024), high and low frequencies were determined as the frequencies -15 dB either side of the peak frequency.

Monopis crocicapitella, T. pellionella, and *E. sarcitrella* click detection distances by bats were calculated from the loudest click from each of the longer bursts from ten successive wingbeats. Following O'Reilly et al. (2019) click peak frequency and amplitude (dB peSPL) were used to calculate the distance at which these sounds could be detected by bats, using a 10 dB SPL bat hearing threshold.

$$CSL-20*\log_{10}\left(\frac{\delta-\delta ref}{\delta ref}\right) - FDA*\left(\delta-\delta ref\right) = HT$$

HT = hearing threshold = 10 dB SPL

CSL = ClickSource Level (dBpeSPLatref)

 $\delta = Distance(m)$

$$\delta ref = Reference Distance = 0.1m$$

FDA = Frequency Dependent Attenuation (dBm⁻¹)

Additionally, video footage was taken using a smartphone at 120 fps of *T. pellionella*, *M. crocicapitella*, and *E. sarcitrella* in order to determine their wingbeat frequency, so it could be linked to the frequency of click burst production. The quality of these videos was sufficient to determine wingbeat frequency, but did not provide clarity or frame rates capable of creating useful synchronised high-speed video and audio recordings.

Hearing Tests

Prior to free-flight recordings, every moth in the flight cage was exposed to an ultrasonic stimulus known to elicit the anti-bat behaviours of moths with hearing capabilities (St. Juliana et al., 2007), at a distance of around one metre from the centre of the cage. Moths were exposed to the stimulus both at rest and during flight, and their behaviours observed. The observer was not blind to the treatment, as personnel availability and time constraints with limited numbers of live animals made this impractical. A Dazer II Ultrasonic Dog Deterrent (Dazer International, London, United Kingdom) was used as the stimulus; it produces a 25 kHz tone at 118.1 dB SPL (at 0.1 m). Reactions were defined as a sudden cessation of flight, or any other typical anti-bat escape/avoidance manoeuvre (Miller and Surlykke, 2001), or twitching, commencement of flight, or dropping from its perch if the moth was at rest.

If multiple individuals of the same species were caught on the same day, they were placed in the BugDorm-1 together and their behaviour in response to flight, and therefore sound production, of other individuals was observed. This was possible once each for *M. crocicapitella* (two individuals), *T. pellionella* (two individuals), and *E. sarcitrella* (two individuals).

RESULTS

Phylogenetics

Phylogenetic Spread of ATs in the Microlepidoptera

Photographs or museum specimens of 19,596 species (2,440 genera, 50 families, 11 superfamilies) were morphologically examined for the presence of candidate ATs in the form of hyaline patches. The results were plotted on a simplified version of Regier et al.'s (2013) lepidopteran phylogeny (**Figure 1**). Candidate ATs were found throughout the microlepidoptera in nine of the eleven superfamilies assessed (**Figure 1**).

We identified ATs in four different locations on microlepidopteran wings (**Figure 2**) and named them as follows: (1) Forewing Subcostal Tymbal (FST) at the forewing base between the subcostal and radial veins in the cell directly above the discal cell (blue); (2) Forewing Discal Tymbal (FDT) directly within the apex of the discal cell itself (orange); (3) Forewing Cubital Tymbal (FCT) in the cell directly below the first cubital veins (red); and (4) Hindwing Cubital Tymbal (HCT) at the base of the hindwing in the cell directly below first cubital veins (green).

Phylogenetic Spread of ATs in the Tineidae

Analysis of 751 species from 148 genera in 14 subfamilies (as assigned by BOLD systems) of the Tineidae revealed that hyaline patches, likely to be ATs, were present in at least 46 species in eight genera, within the family, seven of which were in the subfamily Tineinae. The Tineidae contain examples of ATs in all four wing locations.

Forewing Subcostal Tymbals are present in 11 of 38 species of *Tinea* as well as one of two *Praeacedes* and four of five *Niditinea* species examined, including the newly discovered species *N. sabroskyi* (Metz et al., 2018). FSTs in the Tineinae vary in relative size, with the more conspicuous examples being found in *Tinea steueri* (Robinson, 1979), whereas, species such as *Tinea dubiella* possess much smaller structures.

Forewing Discal Tymbals are present in all *Monopis* analysed (26 species) as well as the genera *Crypsithyrodes* (one species) and *Crypsithyris* (four species), *Tinea unomaculella* possesses a light spot in the same area but we believe this is colouration not a tymbal. FDTs can vary in their size, shape (relatively round to elongated), and their location on the wing in terms of their position along the wing tip to base axis. Nevertheless, the structures always appear to be situated within the discal cell of the forewing and their position is likely due to differences in the length of this cell.

Forewing Cubital Tymbals are small (~ 1 mm in length) hyaline patches near the base of the forewing, likely between veins Cu_{1b} and Cu₂ (**Figures 2**, **3**), and are limited to the genus *Trichophaga*, present in at least three of the six species analysed. Additionally, the previous analysis using the Regier et al. (2013) phylogeny revealed HCTs in the Erechthianae genus *Erechthias*. This genus was not, however, included in our phylogenetic analysis of the Tineidae.

The maximum likelihood tree (Figure 3), groups all *Monopis* as a single clade, with the three *Trichophaga* species forming a sister clade. The FST-possessing species do not form a single clade but are instead split into two main clades with one species, *T. trinotella*, placed away from these two groups. The first of these two clades exclusively contains *Niditinea* and *Praeacedes* species, and the second exclusively *Tinea* species. The second, with the addition of *T. columbariella* and *T. niveocapitella*, consists of the already established *T. pellionella* species complex (Robinson, 1979). *Tineola bisselliella* (no hyaline patch) is placed as the only non-*Tinea* species in a clade containing mostly FST-possessing species.

Acoustics

Microlepidopteran Sound Production

Live specimens from three Tineinae and two Oecophoridae species were available for acoustic testing. All three species possessing hyaline patches, *M. crocicapitella* (forewing patch), *T. pellionella* (forewing patch), and *E. sarcitrella* (*Yponomeuta*like hindwing patch), produced two bursts of broadband ultrasonic clicks with every wingbeat (**Figure 4**). These clicks are acoustically similar to the in-flight clicks produced by the ATs of *Yponomeuta* species (Yponomeutidae) (O'Reilly et al., 2019) in



that they show a bimodal regularity (likely two different bursts per wingbeat, one on the up- and one on the down-stroke), they exclusively occur during flight, and the two bursts differ in duration (**Figure 4**).

Both species lacking hyaline patches, *T. bisselliella* and *H. pseudospretella*, did not produce any acoustic emissions during flight. Males of *T. bisselliella* are known to produce low frequency substrate-borne sounds (Takács et al., 2003), yet we were not attempting to record such substrate-borne vibrations.

Successful ablation of the hyaline patches of both *M. crocicapitella* and *T. pellionella* (n = 1) eliminated sound production, whilst ablation of one hyaline patch, leaving the other intact, effectively halved the number of clicks produced per wingbeat, 22.95 ± 3.4 and 3.8 ± 0.9 pre ablation, and 12.9 ± 1.1 and 2.2 ± 0.4 post ablation (mean \pm SD) for *M. crocicapitella* and *T. pellionella*, respectively. Removal of both *E. sarcitrella* hindwings eliminated sound production.

One *Monopis cf monachella* individual was found to produce ultrasonic emissions during flight using an ultrasonic bat detector, and recordings from one *E. bicolorella* in free flight in Kenya confirm alternating bursts of ultrasonic clicks characteristic of AT sound production (**Figure 4D**). Additionally, all four South African *Ethmia* species recorded in free flight produces similar bursts of clicks (data not shown).

Acoustic Characterisation of AT Sounds

We analysed 20 bursts and 10 individual clicks from *M. crocicapitella*, *T. pellionella*, and *E. sarcitrella* for amplitude, spectral, temporal, and duration information. In addition, we calculated the distance at which bats could detect these clicks (**Table 2**). All three species produce relatively loud (64.6, 56.9, and 54.0 dB peSPL at 0.1 m, respectively) ultrasonic, broadband clicks (41.2–111.7, 54.3–125.1, and 45.8–128.9 kHz, respectively) with high peak frequencies (88.1, 92.1, and 100.0 kHz, respectively) (**Table 2**).

The sounds of all three moth species fall within the known frequency range of anti-bat sounds of the Arctiinae, Sphingidae, Geometridae, and Yponomeutinae (Corcoran et al., 2010; Barber and Kawahara, 2013; Corcoran and Hristov, 2014; O'Reilly et al., 2019). Their low duty cycles (**Table 2**) are also similar to some of the aposematic signalling Arctiinae such as *Cosmosoma stibasticta* and *Amplicincia* near *mixta* (Corcoran et al., 2010). Example ultrasonic click burst recrodings of *Endrosis sarcitrella*,



Ethmia bicolorella, Monopis crocicapitella, and Tinea pellionella T. pell can be found in **Supplementary Audio 1–4** respectively. *E. sarc*

Systems (Ratnasingham and Hebert, 2007), the photographer was Marko and the image has a CC0 licence.

Hearing Tests

All live individuals (excluding *E. bicolorella*) were exposed to a sound source known to elicit the anti-bat behaviours in insects with hearing capabilities (St. Juliana et al., 2007). No individual of any species showed any reaction, such as cessation or initiation of flight, sudden movement, or any change in flight direction. Additionally, when the insects were obtained as groups of two or more individuals, they were housed together and no individual was observed reacting to flight, and therefore sound production, of the other (n = 2 for all tested species).

DISCUSSION

Distribution of ATs in the Microlepidoptera

Morphological analysis of 11 superfamilies highlighted that ATs are widely distributed in microlepidoptera (Figure 1). However, when we analysed the presence and absence of ATs on a subfamily and genus level it was apparent that ATs were a lineage-specific innovation, and that ATs can vary in both location and size. The exact number of evolutionary events is unclear; however, given we showed four different ATs in four locations on the wing (Figures 1, 2). When mapped onto a phylogenetic tree, the distribution of ATs either suggests multiple evolutionary events, or significant lineage specific losses of this organ, with the former being the most parsimonious explanation for the evolutionary history. We could confirm sound production in five independent ATs (Yponomeutinae,

T. pellionella and *E. bicolorella* FSTs, *Monopis* FDTs, and *E. sarcitrella* HCTs). These ATs were found in three different wing regions, two of which had not been documented as sound producing structures before. Our analysis suggests a remarkable example for multiple convergent evolution. The fact that all candidate ATs we were able to test with live specimens indeed produced sound, inspires confidence in the validity of our approach to identify ATs using hyaline wing patches. This does not confirm that a lack of scales is a prerequisite for an AT though.

Aeroelastic Tymbal Morphology and Function

The positioning of ATs on the wing may provide some insight into how they function. Interestingly, all four AT locations place them near flexion lines (**Figure 2**). Flexion lines are lines along which an insect wing shows flexibility (folding) during the wingbeat. The claval furrow is a flexion line found in most insect wings, and the median flexion line (sometimes referred to as the "fold") is found in the forewing (and occasionally hindwing) of many insect taxa, and usually runs between the medial and radial veins (Dudley, 2000).

The hindwing claval furrow appears to play a role in *Yponomeuta* HCT actuation (O'Reilly et al., 2019), and thus it is reasonable to assume it has similar importance in other taxa with HCTs. FCTs are located analogously to *Yponomeuta* ATs but in the fore- not hindwing, and thus, if these are sound producers, the claval furrow is again likely to play a role in actuation.

The median flexion line is not always present in insect wings, and its position on the wing when present can vary between taxa (Wootton, 1979); however, its normal location transects the discal cell and therefore FDTs. Additionally, FSTs are near the median



(Nguyen et al., 2015) from an amino acid alignment of the COI gene from 90 species of moth and one caddis fly - *Dolophilodes distinctus* (Philopotamidae: Trichoptera) was used as an outgroup to root the tree. Bayesian Inference Criterion was used to select the best-fitting substitution model (LG + C60 + G), and bootstrap supports from branches were calculated using UFBoot2 (Minh et al., 2013). The three Tineinae ATs (FSTs, FCTs, and FDTs) are labelled on an example species of each (**A**-**C** are *Tinea steueri*, Petersen, 1966; *Trichophaga tapetzella*, Linnaeus, 1758; and *Monopis laevigella*, Denis and Schiffermüller, 1775 respectively). Coloured nodes indicate likely origins of the three ATs. Colours correspond to the AT position on the wing detailed in **Figure 2**. Photographs taken from BOLD Systems (Ratnasingham and Hebert, 2007), all are CC0 licence and taken by Marko Mutanen.

flexion line if it passes through the discal cell, but there is also the possibility that in these taxa it may be situated even closer to the tymbal. It is therefore reasonable to predict that FDT and FST actuation is facilitated by this flexion line. Aeroelastic tymbal location seems to be associated with flexion lines, but strong supporting structures appear important too, as *Monopis*, *Crypsithyrodes*, and *Crypsithyris* discal cells have thickened veins surrounding their ATs (Robinson, 1980;



FIGURE 4 | Spectral and temporal characteristics of microlepidoptera sounds. The waveform and spectrogram (derived from continuous wavelet transformation using the Morse wavelet) of typical examples of in-flight acoustic emissions of five species of microlepidoptera, (A) *Monopis crocicapitella* (Tineidae), (B) *Tinea pellionella* (Tineidae), (C) *Endrosis sarcitrella* (Oecophoridae), (D) *Ethmia bicolorella* (Depressariidae), and (E) *Yponomeuta cagnagella* (Hübner, 1813; Yponomeutidae). Each panel represents one full wingbeat showing the two bursts of clicks produced with each wingbeat cycle, beginning with the first click of the burst with the shortest inter-click interval, and ending immediately prior to the first click of the next equivalent burst. To the right of each spectrogram is a power spectrum showing the normalised click amplitude for the species mean (thick yellow line) and individuals (thin translucent yellow lines, for each species *n* see section "Materials and Methods"). Time scales vary between plots, (D) uses a different frequency scale, and spectrograms are not calibrated for amplitude.

Sp.	F	N	SL	PF	LF	HF	DD	SCD	LCD	DC	NHMC	NMC
Tinea pellionella	Tineidae	7	56.9 ± 0.7 (n = 70)	92.1 ± 3.7 (n = 70)	54.3 ± 3.1 (n = 70)	125.1 ± 4.8 (n = 70)	4.1 ± 0.2 (n = 70)	13.9 ± 1.0 (n = 70)	13.9 ± 1.3 (n = 70)	0.4 ± 0.2 (n = 7)	3.8 ± 0.9 (n = 140)	7.6 ± 1.0 (n = 70)
Monopis crocicapitella	Tineidae	2	64.6 ± 2.0 (n = 20)	88.1 ± 3.1 (n = 20)	41.2 ± 8.0 (n = 20)	111.7 ± 4.3 (n = 20)	5.9 ± 0.4 (n = 20)	14.5 ± 1.5 (n = 20)	13.8 ± 0.8 (n = 20)	0.8 ± 0.04 (n = 2)	11.2 ± 2.0 (n = 40)	22.95 ± 3.4 (n = 20)
Endrosis sarcitrella	Oecophoridae	4	54.0 ± 1.1 (n = 40)	100.0 ± 1.5 (n = 40)	45.8 ± 2.3 (n = 40)	128.9 ± 3.6 (n = 40)	3.4 ± 0.1 (n = 40)	9.7 ± 1.4 (n = 40)	13.6 ± 0.9 (n = 40)	0.2 ± 0.1 (n = 4)	4.5 ± 2.5 (n = 80)	9.1 ± 1.9 (n = 40)

Acoustic properties (mean \pm SD; n = clicks) of the clicks. Sp = Species, F = Family, N = Number of individuals, SL = Source Level (dB peSPL 0.1 m), PF = Peak Frequency (kHz), LF = Low Frequency (kHz), HF = High Frequency (kHz), DD = Click Detection Distance (m), SCD = Shorter Burst Click Duration (μ s), LCD = Longer Burst Click Duration (μ s), DC = Duty Cycle (%), NHMC = Number of Clicks per Half Modulation Cycle (Burst), NMC = Number of Clicks per Modulation Cycle (Wingbeat).

Huang et al., 2011). This apparent importance of flexion lines and strong supporting structures in AT location, and probably in actuation, provides important indicators for mechanical modelling of these novel sound-producing systems.

Other than the known tymbals of Amyna natalis (Noctuidae), which are used for sexual communication and are not perpetually active during wing movement (Heller and Achmann, 1993), there are no obvious AT candidates in the macrolepidoptera. This exclusivity and convergence of ATs within the microlepidoptera suggests that a property of their wings gives them a propensity to evolve into sound producers. Therefore, differences between macro- and microlepidoptera in wing elastodynamics and structure of wing and wing membrane would be another important area of investigation. The most obvious difference between macro- and microlepidoptera is their size and we believe this is the most likely morphological factor facilitating sound production. Wing cell size may be of particular importance, as the smaller spaces between wing veins could allow for the formation of appropriately sized tymbals in micro- but not macrolepidoptera. Tymbal size is likely to be a factor in determining acoustic characteristics such as frequency; thus, the cell sizes in macrolepidopteran wings may not allow for ATs that produce clicks with frequencies appropriate for their function, e.g., anti-bat sound production.

Acoustics

All species possessing candidate ATs we were able to assess produced ultrasonic clicks linked to their wingbeat. The oecophorid species *E. sarcitrella* produces its sounds using its hindwings and has a hyaline patch at the same position as the known *Yponomeuta* HCT. *T. pellionella* and *M. crocicapitella* (Tineinae; Tineidae) have hyaline/subhyaline patches on their forewings that produce sound during wingbeats, most likely functioning similar to the hindwing HCTs of *Yponomeuta* and its relatives (O'Reilly et al., 2019). The *Ethmia* species assessed (Depressariidae) also produce sounds during flight and possess a subhyaline patch in a similar position to *T. pellionella*, but a lack of ablation tests prevented confirmation that this is the sound producer.

Several further lines of evidence corroborate that hyaline/subhyaline patches of *T. pellionella*, *M. crocicapitella*, and *E. sarcitrella* are functioning as ATs: firstly, only the species possessing candidate structures produced sounds, the two species lacking structures were silent. Secondly, like *Yponomeuta* sounds,

the clicks of all these moths occur in two bursts every wingbeat, with one burst likely occurring during the upstroke and the other during the downstroke. Thirdly, for both Tineinae species, ablation of both hyaline patches eliminated sound production, and ablation of one of the two patches did not result in a change in the periodicity of the click bursts, instead halving the total number of clicks per wingbeat. This demonstrates that each tymbal is producing half the total number of clicks per wingbeat, that each tymbal contributes to both click bursts, and that the body of the moth does not prevent clicks from one wing reaching the opposite side. Although specific ablation of the hyaline patches of E. sarcitrella was unsuccessful, the removal of the hindwings eliminated sound production, and there is no other obvious candidate structure on these wings. Additional support comes from the location of the E. sarcitrella hyaline patch being indistinguishable from that of Yponomeuta HCTs.

We believe that, like other tymbals, ATs produce sound through bimodal buckling, and that the two click bursts each moth produces per full wingbeat are the two stages of its ATs buckling and then returning to their resting state. The exact biomechanical mechanism by which these tymbals are actuated was beyond the scope of this study and requires complex modelling, but we propose that, similarly to *Yponomeuta* HCTs (O'Reilly et al., 2019), twisting and folding of the wing (likely along flexion lines, e.g., claval furrow or median flexion line) during flight are important, as are strong supporting structures such as thickened veins.

Structurally, all three tymbals resemble *Yponomeuta* HCTs; they consist of similarly sized hyaline patches with few or no scales between two often strong veins. However, unlike *Yponomeuta* HCTs, they do not possess obvious microtymbals. Microtymbals are striations running the length of a tymbal, each functioning to produce an individual click in sequence following tymbal actuation, resulting in the production of bursts (trains) of clicks. Following initial tymbal buckling each microtymbal buckles in sequence producing a train of individual clicks, and then upon the return of the tymbal to its resting state the same process occurs in reverse order, producing a second click train.

The low click number in *T. pellionella* and *E. sarcitrella* click bursts is consistent with a lack of microtymbals; however, the higher click number in *M. crocicapitella* bursts suggests that this species may possess an alternative mechanism. Raised "bumps" are visible on the FDTs of some *Monopis* species, which may be analogues of microtymbals (**Figure 2A**).

Function of Sounds

The acoustic emissions of all recorded species most likely function as anti-bat sounds. The ultrasonic, broadband nature of the clicks is similar to the known anti-bat sounds of other moths (Corcoran et al., 2010; Barber and Kawahara, 2013; Corcoran and Hristov, 2014; O'Reilly et al., 2019) and they are loud enough to be detected by bats.

The maximum distances over which these sounds will be audible to bats is lower than *Yponomeuta* clicks (5.9, 4.1, and 3.4 m for *M. crocicapitella*, *T. pellionella*, and *E. sarcitrella*, respectively compared to 10.5 m for *Yponomeuta cagnagella*; O'Reilly et al., 2019). This is due to increased atmospheric attenuation of the sounds due to much higher peak frequencies, and for *T. pellionella* and *E. sarcitrella* sounds, lower source levels.

The different number of clicks per wingbeat might not necessarily have substantial biological relevance. *T. pellionella* and *E. sarcitrella* produce much fewer, lower amplitude clicks per burst (normally one or two, but occasionally more, see **Figure 4**) than *M. crocicapitella*. However, producing fewer clicks does not mean that these sounds are less likely to function as a bat defence. Within the tymbal-possessing Arctiinae, many species produce click bursts but others, including the sympatric *Arctia caja*, do not possess microtymbals and thus produce one defensive click per tymbal buckling event (Fenton and Roeder, 1974; Surlykke and Miller, 1985).

Additional support for these sounds having an anti-bat function is the lack of any reaction from the moths to ultrasonic stimuli, whether generated artificially or by another individual. Although tympana have been reported in the Tineidae, this is a defining feature of the subfamily Harmacloninae (Davis, 1998), and there is no evidence they are present in the Tineinae. Similarly, there is no evidence in the literature that *E. sarcitrella* possesses hearing capabilities. Therefore, these moths cannot be communicating with conspecifics using airborne sounds. Constantly producing ultrasonic clicks detectable by bats that serve no communication purpose, seems counterintuitive, unless the sounds act as acoustic defence.

The precise defensive mechanism of these sounds for each species remains unclear, with relevant unknowns including moth toxicity and their propensity to spend time on the wing producing sound. It is clear though that the low duty cycles of all their sounds cannot jam bat echolocation (**Table 2**), as this requires a duty cycle of at least 20% (Corcoran et al., 2010; Conner and Corcoran, 2012). It is also unlikely that bats will be startled by these sounds as such a defence tends to be ephemeral and only effective against naïve bats (Bates and Fenton, 1990; Hristov and Conner, 2005). This suggests that the sounds function as aposematic signals, as either Batesian (imposter) or Müllerian (true) mimics of acoustically aposematic moths such as the Arctiinae and *Yponomeuta*.

Phylogenetic Spread of ATs Within the Tineinae

There are two lines of support for the convergent evolution of anti-bat sound production by ATs within the Tineinae subfamily. Firstly, the structures are morphologically similar in many aspects, but are sufficiently different in shape and position on the wing to suggest multiple evolutionary origins. Secondly, based on their phylogeny, the distinctly separate Monopis, Trichophaga, and Tinea-like clades suggests three points of evolutionary origin for Tineinae ATs (Figure 3). The Tinea-like clade is particularly interesting as FSTs appear in three distinct lineages. The ancestor of both the Tricophaga and Monopis lineages probably had no AT, suggesting that the FCT and FDT structures found in these lineages evolved independently. Moreover, the structures are found on different locations on the wing, providing further evidence they are not homologous, and thus, the result of convergent evolution. Additionally, the distribution FSTs found in the Tinea and Niditinea species suggests either the common ancestor of all these species possessed an FST and there has been lineage specific loss, or that there has been a minimum of three independent evolutionary events of this structure, and convergent evolution has occurred. The phylogeny from which we draw our conclusions was constructed with a single marker gene, leading to species level branches only having weak bootstrap support. Thus, the conclusions on a species level must be re-assessed when more data become available and more robust phylogenies can be constructed. The distribution of FST, FCT, and FTD possessing species on the phylogenetic tree clearly indicates three independent evolutionary events of sound producing structures, highlighting remarkable convergent evolution on a subfamily level.

Anti-bat sound production in the Tineinae is exceptionally diverse as it has evolved convergently several times within one subfamily. Convergent evolution of bat defences in the Lepidoptera is common, and has occurred in terms of hearing, sound production, and hindwing decoys (Corcoran and Hristov, 2014; Barber et al., 2015; ter Hofstede and Ratcliffe, 2016), but it rarely, occurs between such closely related taxa as within one subfamily. Similar levels of convergence appear to have occurred within Saturniidae (silkmoth) subfamilies with regards to acoustic wing decoys (Rubin et al., 2018). These two examples of subfamily level converge in moths reiterate how important the bat-moth coevolutionary arms race is as a case study for evolutionary principals.

Thoughts on the Evolution of ATs in Cave-Dwelling Taxa

Records of troglophilic (cave-dwelling) invertebrates from various cave systems globally indicate that Tineidae are widely present, particularly in tropical and subtropical regions of the Americas as well as the Balkan states and Australia (Barr and Reddell, 1967; Hamilton-Smith, 1967; Peck, 1975, 1974; Robinson, 1980; Trajano, 2000; Humphreys and Eberhard, 2001; Cokendolpher and Polyak, 2004, 1996; László, 2004; Wynne and Pleytez, 2005; Wynne et al., 2005; Polak et al., 2012; Byun et al., 2014; Eberhard et al., 2014; Pape, 2014; Silva and Ferreira, 2015; Turbanov et al., 2016; Jakšić, 2017). The Tineidae is a cosmopolitan lepidopteran family (Slootmaekers, 2013), and so it is highly likely that tineids are present in cave systems globally, but records are lacking.

Larvae of the subfamily Tineinae feed on animal detritus including bat guano, resulting in independence from green plants. This independence allows these moths to permanently inhabit environments such as caves. Indeed, at least 11 Tineidae species (including species of the Tineinae genera *Monopis*, *Crypsithyrodes*, *Crypsithyris*, *Tinea*, *Niditinea*, and *Praeacedes*) are known to spend their entire lives within caves feeding as larvae on bat guano or the fungi that grow on it (Robinson, 1980). In addition, *E. sarcitrella* is also found in caves and bat roosts (Mosconi, 2011; Centelles Bascuas, 2015). *E. sarcitrella* is a pest of stored grain but is known to be able to subsist on guano and other organic matter (Carter, 1984).

All these troglophilic moth species thus exist alongside bats, feeding on the faeces of their potential predators, which puts them at a perpetual risk of predation. It seems counterintuitive for moths to have initially adapted to live on the faeces of their predators; indeed, guanophagy in cave-dwelling microlepidoptera may have originated before bats, with moths perhaps feeding on bird guano.

Guanophagous moths will indiscriminately feed on bird or bat guano, and sometimes other animal products, including bird feathers (Robinson, 1980). With birds having evolved considerably earlier than bats (Kumar and Hedges, 1998), it is plausible that the ancestral cave-dwelling, guanophagous tineid shared its abode with cave-roosting birds, like extant swiftlets or oilbirds. A cave can provide a geographic mating barrier to populations, and as multiple Tineinae species can spend their entire lives living in caves (Robinson, 1980), ancestral moth populations could have become isolated in caves, leading to speciation. Then, following the evolution of echolocating bats and their colonisation of caves, this strong predation pressure, the geographic isolation, and an apparent propensity for wings to be sound producers could have resulted in the convergent evolution of ATs in the Tineinae.

Cave-Dwelling Microlepidopteran Acoustics

We already established that the sounds produced by the species we recorded most likely function as acoustic aposematic signals, but whether these moths are Batesian or Müllerian mimics of other aposematic moths depends on their toxicity which is unknown. Toxicity in Lepidoptera is derived from sequestering secondary metabolites from food and/or synthesising compounds (Rothschild et al., 1970). Both faeces and the fungi that grow on it could conceivably provide noxious compounds to sequester for the acoustically active Tineinae and *E. sarcitrella*, or equally they could synthesise such compounds.

Bats will learn over time to ignore acoustic Batesian signals (Barber and Conner, 2007), so if these cave-dwelling moths are palatable, they then risk becoming acoustically conspicuous targets. Therefore, the persistence and convergent evolution of sound production within this group of moths suggests that they are truly aposematic. An interesting thought is that naïve juvenile bats might first learn to avoid clicking moths from within their roosts.

Alternatively, reducing the exposure of bats to these acoustic signals could allow Batesian mimicry to persist. If these moths preferentially avoid flight, and instead crawl atop the guano, they will avoid sound production. This would prevent saturating the bats with a potentially Batesian signal and therefore reducing the effectiveness of sound production as a defence. The lower detection range of the clicks we recorded compared to non-cavernicolous *Yponomeuta* and macrolepidoptera (e.g., Corcoran et al., 2010; O'Reilly et al., 2019) may be beneficial in this respect; limiting their detectability to a distance at which bats are close enough to pose a threat.

A second, not necessarily separate, scenario in which Batesian mimicry could persist may arise if the ratio of Müllerian to Batesian mimics bats encounter is so high it is not worth risking attacking any clicking target. If the amount of sound producing moths in the bats' hunting environment is above a certain threshold, then they will be regularly exposed to true aposematic signallers when foraging, reinforcing the effectiveness of acoustic aposematism. Within the roost, palatable cave-dwelling microlepidoptera could then "piggyback" on the protection afforded by ultrasound production, and reduced acoustic conspicuousness and/or flight could maintain the effectiveness of their signals.

Everything considered, based on the similarities of their sounds with those of aposematic moths, their lack of both hearing and, therefore, intraspecific communication, as well their unusual feeding ecology in close proximity to bats, we conclude that *M. crocicapitella*, *T. pellionella*, their tymbal-possessing relatives (**Figure 3**), and *E. sarcitrella* are mimics of acoustically aposematic moths. We cannot, however, state with confidence whether they are Batesian or Müllerian mimics.

CONCLUSION

The bat-moth evolutionary arms race is an area of much research interest for both sensory ecologists and evolutionary biologists, and yet a huge number of taxa remain underrepresented in the current literature. Microlepidoptera are largely ignored in terms of this topic, and our findings highlight that this suborder is greatly understudied. The remarkable level of convergence in anti-bat sound producing structures is further evidence in support of microlepidoptera being under significant selection pressure from bat predation. As a result of this pressure, the array of acoustic defences these moths possess are probably just as complex and diverse as their larger cousins, and they undoubtedly deserve increased research attention. Here, we begin a new chapter in the bat-moth coevolutionary arms race; the acoustic anti-bat defences of the microlepidoptera.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

LO conceived the study, performed all images, and museum specimen analysis, all laboratory-based acoustic recordings and analysis, and wrote the original manuscript draft. DA made acoustic recordings of *Ethmia* species in Kenya and South Africa, provided live Tineidae specimens, and provided advice on microlepidoptera. BH performed the phylogenetic analysis of the Tineidae and created the cladogram in **Figure 3**, as well as providing advice on the other phylogenetic aspects of the project. MH provided funding for LO, research methods and equipment, confirmed sound production in *Monopis cf monachella*, offered advice on acoustic analysis and contributed to later drafts of the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

LO was supported during this project by the University of Bristol Graduate Teaching Assistant Ph.D. Scholarship awarded to MH and is currently supported by the Swiss National Science Foundation Spark grant CRSK-2_190855. BH was supported by

REFERENCES

- Barber, J. R., and Conner, W. E. (2007). Acoustic mimicry in a predator-prey interaction. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 104, 9331–9334. doi: 10.1073/pnas. 0703627104
- Barber, J. R., and Kawahara, A. Y. (2013). Hawk moths produce anti-bat ultrasound. *Biol. Lett.* 9, 1–5.
- Barber, J. R., Leavell, B. C., Keener, A. L., Breinholt, J. W., Chadwell, B. A., McClure, C. J. W., et al. (2015). Moth tails divert bat attack: evolution of acoustic deflection. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.U.S.A.* 112, 2812–2816. doi: 10.1073/ pnas.1421926112
- Barr, T. C., and Reddell, J. R. (1967). The arthropod cave fauna of the carlsbad caverns region, New Mexico. Southwest. Nat. 12, 253–273. doi: 10.2307/ 3669113
- Bates, D. L., and Fenton, M. B. (1990). Aposematism or startle? Predators learn their responses to the defenses of prey. *Can. J. Zool.* 68, 49–52. doi: 10.1139/ z90-009
- Byun, B. K., Shin, S. B., Bae, Y. S., Kim, D. S., and Choi, Y. G. (2014). First discovery of a cave-dwelling tineid moth (*Lepidoptera, tineidae*) from East Asia. J. For. Res. 25, 647–651. doi: 10.1007/s11676-014-0503-9
- Carter, D. J. (1984). in *Pest Lepidoptera of Europe With Special Reference to the British Isles*, ed. W. Junk (Netherlands: Springer).
- Centelles Bascuas, R. (2015). Les papillons des grottes Essai d'inventaire français et européen et indications bibliographiques. *Spelunca* 140, 1–3.
- Clemens, B. (1859). "Contributions to american lepidopterology," in *Proceedings of* the Academy of Natural Sciences of Philadelphia, Philadelphia, 256–262.
- Cokendolpher, J. C., and Polyak, V. J. (1996). Biology of the caves at Sinkhole Flat, Eddy County, New Mexico. J. Cave Karst Stud. 58, 181–192.
- Cokendolpher, J. C., and Polyak, V. J. (2004). Macroscopic invertebrates of Hidden and Hidden Chimney caves, Eddy County, New Mexico. *Texas Meml. Museum Speleol. Monogr.* 6, 175–198.
- Conner, W. E., and Corcoran, A. J. (2012). Sound strategies: the 65-million-yearold battle between bats and insects. *Annu. Rev. Entomol.* 57, 21–39. doi: 10. 1146/annurev-ento-121510-133537
- Corcoran, A. J., Conner, W. E., and Barber, J. R. (2010). Anti-bat tiger moth sounds: form and function. *Curr. Zool.* 56, 358–369. doi: 10.1093/czoolo/56. 3.358
- Corcoran, A. J., and Hristov, N. I. (2014). Convergent evolution of anti-bat sounds. J. Comp. Physiol. A 200, 811–821. doi: 10.1007/s00359-014-0924-0

a New Phytologist Trust Ph.D. studentship. MH was supported by the Biotechnology and Biological Sciences Research Council (grant BB/N009991/1) and the Engineering and Physical Sciences Research Council (grant EP/T002654/1).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

For allowing us to examine their Lepidopteran collections, we would like to thank Bristol Museum and Art Gallery and the Natural History Museum, London, and their trustees. We offer particular thanks to Ray Barnett, Rhian Rowson, and David Lees.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fevo.2021. 648223/full#supplementary-material

Supplementary Audio 1–4 | Recordings of in-flight microlepidopteran sounds. Audio 1–4 contain multiple ultrasonic click bursts from *Endrosis sarcitrella, Ethmia bicolorella, Monopis crocicapitella*, and *Tinea pellionella* respectively.

- Criscuolo, A., and Gribaldo, S. (2010). BMGE (block mapping and gathering with entropy): a new software for selection of phylogenetic informative regions from multiple sequence alignments. *BMC Evol. Biol.* 10:210. doi: 10.1186/1471-2148-10-210
- Davis, D. R. (1998). A world classification of the Harmacloninae, a new subfamily of Tineidae (*Lepidoptera: tineoidea*). Smithson. Contrib. to Zool. 597, 1–81. doi: 10.5479/si.00810282.597
- Denis, M., and Schiffermüller, I. (1775). Ankündung eines systematischen Werkes von den Schmetterlingen der Wienergegend.
- Dodd, L. E., Chapman, E. G., Harwood, J. D., Lacki, M. J., and Rieske, L. K. (2012). Identification of prey of myotis septentrionalis using DNA-based techniques. *J. Mammal.* 93, 1119–1128. doi: 10.1644/11-MAMM-A-218.1
- Dudley, R. (2000). The Biomechanics of Insect Flight. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press, doi: 10.2307/j.ctv301g2x
- Eberhard, S. M., Smith, G. B., Gibian, M. M., Smith, H. M., and Gray, M. R. (2014). Invertebrate Cave Fauna of Jenolan. *Proc. Linn. Soc. NSW* 136, 35–67. doi: 10.1109/FUZZ-IEEE.2017.8015520
- Felder, C., Felder, R., and Rogenhofer, A. F. (1875). Reise der österreichischen Fregatte Novara um die Erde in den Jahren 1857, 1858, 1859 unter den Befehlen des Commodore B. von Wüllerstorf-Urbair. Zoologischer Theil. Zweiter Band. Abtheilung 2, Heft 4, Lepidoptera. Atlas der Heterocera.
- Fenton, M. B., and Roeder, K. D. (1974). The microtymbals of some arctiidae. *J. Lepid. Soc.* 28, 205–211.
- Guenée, A. M. (1879). Études sur les Yponomeutides. Ann. la Société Entomol. 281-290
- Hamilton-Smith, E. (1967). The Arthropoda of Australian Caves. J. Aust. Entomol. Soc. 6, 103–118. doi: 10.1111/j.1440-6055.1967.tb0 2123.x
- Heller, K., and Achmann, R. (1993). The ultrasonic song of the moth Amyna natalis (*Lepidoptera*: noctuidae: acontiinae). *Bioacoustics* 5, 89–97. doi: 10.1080/ 09524622.1993.9753231
- Hristov, N. I., and Conner, W. E. (2005). Sound strategy: acoustic aposematism in the bat-tiger moth arms race. *Naturwissenschaften* 92, 164–169. doi: 10.1007/ s00114-005-0611-7
- Huang, G.-H., Chen, L.-S., Hirowatari, T., Nasu, Y., and Wang, M. (2011). A revision of the *Monopis monachella* species complex (*Lepidoptera: Tineidae*) from China. Zool. J. Linn. Soc. 163, 1–14. doi: 10.1111/j.1096-3642.2011.00704.x

Hübner, J. (1813). Sammlung europäischer Schmetterlinge. 8. 71 pls, Augsburg.

Hübner, J. (1796). Sammlung europäischer Schmetterlinge. 8. 65 pls, Augsburg.

Hummel, A. D. (1823). Essais entomologiques, 3.

- Humphreys, W. F., and Eberhard, S. (2001). Subterranean Fauna of Christmas Island, Indian Ocean. *Helictite* 37, 59–74.
- Jakšić, P. (2017). Cave moth and butterfly fauna (Insecta: *Lepidoptera*) of serbia: current state and future prospects. *Univ. Thought - Publ. Nat. Sci.* 7, 8–12. doi: 10.5937/univtho7-14038
- Katoh, K., and Standley, D. M. (2013). MAFFT multiple sequence alignment software version 7: improvements in performance and usability. *Mol. Biol. Evol.* 30, 772–780. doi: 10.1093/molbev/mst010
- Kovalev, I. S. (2016). Stealth moths: the multi-plumed wings of the moth alucita hexadactyla may decrease the intensity of their echo to simulated bat echolocation cries. *Entomol. News* 126, 204–212. doi: 10.3157/021.126.0306
- Kumar, S., and Hedges, S. B. (1998). A molecular timescale for vertebrate evolution. *Nature* 392, 917–920. doi: 10.1038/31927
- László, R. (2004). Lepidoptere din peșterile României. Bull. Inf. Entomol. 14–15, 201–206.
- Le, S. Q., and Gascuel, O. (2008). An improved general amino acid replacement matrix. Mol. Biol. Evol. 25, 1307–1320. doi: 10.1093/molbev/msn067
- Lee, D. J., Ju, Y. D., Bayarsaikhan, U., Park, B. S., Na, S. M., Kim, J. W., et al. (2016). First report on two species of genus Monopis (*Lepidoptera, tineidae*) collected by feather trap in Korea. J. Asia Pacific Biodivers. 9, 215–218. doi: 10.1016/j.japb.2016.02.007
- Lee, W., and Moss, C. F. (2016). Can the elongated hindwing tails of fluttering moths serve as false sonar targets to divert bat attacks? J. Acoust. Soc. Am. 139, 2579–2588. doi: 10.1121/1.4947423
- Letunic, I., and Bork, P. (2016). Interactive tree of life (iTOL) v3: an online tool for the display and annotation of phylogenetic and other trees. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 44, W242–W245. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkw290
- Linnaeus, C. (1758). Systema Naturae, 10th Edn, Vol. 1.
- Metz, M. A., Davis, D. R., and Davis, M. M. (2018). A new species of niditinea (*Tineidae: Tineinae*) with a preference for bird nests, and the known larval habitats of the species in the United States. *Proc. Entomol. Soc. Washingt.* 120, 153–166. doi: 10.4289/0013-8797.120.1.153
- Meyrick, E. (1927). Exotic Microlepidoptera, Vol. 3.
- Meyrick, E. (1913). Descriptions of South African Micro-Lepidoptera. IV. Ann. Transvaal Museum 3, 267–336.
- Miller, L. A., and Surlykke, A. (2001). How some insects detect and avoid being eaten by bats: tactics and countertactics of prey and predator. *Bioscience* 51, 570–581. doi: 10.1641/0006-3568(2001)051[0570:hsidaa]2.0.co;2
- Minh, B. Q., Nguyen, M. A. T., and Von Haeseler, A. (2013). Ultrafast approximation for phylogenetic bootstrap. *Mol. Biol. Evol.* 30, 1188–1195. doi: 10.1093/molbev/mst024
- Möschler, H. B. (1883). Contributions to the butterfly fauna of the Kaffir country. *Negot. Imp. Zool. Soc.* 33.
- Mosconi, F. (2011). Biologia Comparata Dei Princpali Lepidotteri Cavernicoli Italiani Nella Loro Ecofase Sotterranea. Ph. D. Thesis. Rome: Sapienza Università di Roma.
- Neil, T. R., Shen, Z., Robert, D., Drinkwater, B. W., and Holderied, M. W. (2020a). Thoracic scales of moths as a stealth coating against bat biosonar. J. R. Soc. Interface 17:20190692. doi: 10.1098/rsif.2019.0692
- Neil, T. R., Shen, Z., Robert, D., Drinkwater, B. W., and Holderied, M. W. (2020b). Moth wings are acoustic metamaterials. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 117, 31134–31141. doi: 10.1073/pnas.2014531117
- Nguyen, L. T., Schmidt, H. A., Von Haeseler, A., and Minh, B. Q. (2015). IQ-TREE: a fast and effective stochastic algorithm for estimating maximumlikelihood phylogenies. *Mol. Biol. Evol.* 32, 268–274. doi: 10.1093/molbev/msu 300
- Ntelezos, A., Guarato, F., and Windmill, J. F. C. (2017). The anti-bat strategy of ultrasound absorption: the wings of nocturnal moths (*Bombycoidea: Saturniidae*) absorb more ultrasound than the wings of diurnal moths (*Chalcosiinae: Zygaenoidea: Zygaenidae*). Biol. Open 6, 109–117. doi: 10.1242/ bio.021782
- O'Reilly, L. J., Agassiz, D. J. L., Neil, T. R., and Holderied, M. W. (2019). Deaf moths employ acoustic Müllerian mimicry against bats using wingbeat-powered tymbals. *Sci. Rep.* 9, 1–9. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-37812-z
- Pape, R. B. (2014). Biology and ecology of bat cave, grand canyon national park, arizona. J. Cave Karst Stud. 76, 1–13. doi: 10.4311/2012LSC0266

- Peck, S. B. (1974). The invertebrate fauna of tropical american caves, part ii: puerto rico, an ecological and zoogeographic analysis the invertebrate fauna of tropical american caves, part ii: puerto rico, an ecological and zoogeographic analysis. *Biotropica* 6, 14–31. doi: 10.2307/2989693
- Petersen, G. (1966). Über einige Tineiden aus Thüringen, gesammelt von Dr. H. Steuer. Entomol. Dresden: Nachrichten, 10.
- Peck, S. B. (1975). The invertebrate fauna of tropical American caves, part III: Jamaica, an introduction. *Int. J. Speleol.* 7, 303–326. doi: 10.5038/1827-806X. 7.4.1
- Polak, S., Bedek, J., and Ozimec, R. (2012). Subterranean fauna of twelve istrian caves. *Ann. Ser. Hist. Nat.* 22, 7–24.
- Quang, L. S., Gascuel, O., and Lartillot, N. (2008). Empirical profile mixture models for phylogenetic reconstruction. *Bioinformatics* 24, 2317–2323. doi: 10.1093/ bioinformatics/btn445
- Ratnasingham, S., and Hebert, P. D. N. (2007). Bold: the barcode of life data system (http://www.barcodinglife.org). *Mol. Ecol. Notes* 7, 355–364. doi: 10. 1111/j.1471-8286.2006.01678.x
- Regier, J. C., Mitter, C., Zwick, A., Bazinet, A. L., Cummings, M. P., Kawahara, A. Y., et al. (2013). A large-scale, higher-level, molecular phylogenetic study of the insect order lepidoptera (moths and butterflies). *PLoS One* 8:e58568. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0058568
- Robinson, G. S. (1979). Clothes-moths of the Tinea pellionella complex: a revision of the world's species (*Lepidoptera: Tineidae*). *Bull. Br. Museum*. 38, 57–128. doi: 10.5962/bhl.part.785
- Robinson, G. S. (1980). Cave-dwelling tineid moths: a taxonomic review of the world species (Lepidoptera: Tineidae). Trans. Br. Cave Res. Assoc. 7, 83–120.
- Roeder, K. D., and Treat, A. E. (1957). Ultrasonic reception by the tympanic organ of noctuid moths. J. Exp. Zool. 134, 127–157. doi: 10.1002/jez.14013 40107
- Rothschild, M., Reichstein, T., von Euw, J., Aplin, R., and Harman, R. R. M. (1970). Toxic Lepidoptera. *Toxicon* 8, 293–299. doi: 10.1016/0041-0101(70)9 0006-1
- Rubin, J. J., Hamilton, C. A., McClure, C. J. W., Chadwell, B. A., Kawahara, A. Y., and Barber, J. R. (2018). The evolution of anti-bat sensory illusions in moths. *Sci. Adv.* 4, 1–10. doi: 10.1126/sciadv.aar7428
- Shen, Z., Neil, T. R., Robert, D., Drinkwater, B. W., and Holderied, M. W. (2018). Biomechanics of a moth scale at ultrasonic frequencies. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 115, 12200–12205. doi: 10.1073/pnas.18100 25115
- Silva, M. S., and Ferreira, R. L. (2015). Cave invertebrates in Espírito Santo state, Brazil: a primary analysis of endemism, threats and conservation priorities. *Subterr. Biol.* 16, 79–102. doi: 10.3897/subtbiol.16.5227
- Skals, N., and Surlykke, A. (2000). Hearing and evasive behaviour in the greater wax moth, Galleria mellonella (Pyralidae). *Physiol. Entomol.* 25, 354–362. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-3032.2000.00204.x
- Slootmaekers, D. (2013). Infurcitinea ignicomella (Lepidoptera: Tineidae, Meessiinae), new to the Belgian fauna. Phegea 41, 17–18.
- Stainton, H. T. (1849). A Manual of British Butterflies and Moths.
- St. Juliana, J. R., Fenton, B. M., Korine, C., Pinshow, B., Wojciechowski, M., and Kravchenko, V. (2007). Note: a field assessment of the defensive responses of moths to an auditory stimulus. *Isr. J. Ecol. Evol.* 53, 173–177. doi: 10.1560/IJEE. 53.2.173
- Surlykke, A., and Miller, L. A. (1985). The influence of arctiid moth clicks on bat echolocation; jamming or warning? J. Comp. Physiol. A 156, 831–843. doi: 10.1007/bf00610835
- Takács, S., Mistal, C., and Gries, G. (2003). Communication ecology of webbing clothes moth: attractiveness and characterization of male-produced sonic aggregation signals. J. Appl. Entomol. 127, 127–133. doi: 10.1046/j.1439-0418. 2003.00724.x
- ter Hofstede, H. M., and Ratcliffe, J. M. (2016). Evolutionary escalation: the bat moth arms race. J. Exp. Biol. 219, 1589–1602. doi: 10.1242/jeb.086686
- Trajano, E. (2000). Cave faunas in the atlantic tropical rain forest: composition. *Ecol. Conservat. Bio.* 32, 882–893. doi: 10.1646/0006-3606(2000)032[0882: cfitat]2.0.co;2
- Turbanov, I. S., Palatov, D. M., and Golovatch, S. I. (2016). The state of the art of biospeleology in Russia and other countries of the former Soviet Union: a review of the cave (endogean) invertebrate fauna. 3.

references. Entomol. Rev. 96, 1297-1333. doi: 10.1134/S001387381609 0128

- Waters, D. A., Rydell, J., and Jones, G. (1995). Echolocation call design and limits on prey size: a case study using the aerial-hawking bat Nyctalus leisleri. *Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol.* 37, 321–328. doi: 10.1007/BF0017 4136
- Watson, L., and Dallwitz, M. (2003). Insects of Britain and Ireland: the Genera of Grass Moths (Pyralidae- Crambidae and Schoenobiinae), Version: 12th February 2019. [WWW Document]. Available online at: delta-intkey.com (accessed May 5, 2019).
- Wootton, R. J. (1979). Function, homology and terminology in insect wings. Syst. Entomol. 4, 81–93. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-3113.1979.t 00614.x
- Wynne, J. J., Drost, C. A., Cobb, N. S., and Rihs, J. R. (2005). "Cave-dwelling invertebrates of grand canyon national park," in *Proceedings of the 8th Biennial Conference of Research on the Colorado Plateau*, (Tucson: University of Arizona Press), 235–246.
- Wynne, J. J., and Pleytez, W. (2005). Sensitive ecological areas and species inventory of Actun Chapat Cave, Vaca Plateau, Belize. J. Cave Karst Stud. 67, 148–157.

- Xiao, Y. L., and Li, H. H. (2005). A systematic study on the genus Crypsithyris Meyrick, 1907 from China (*Lepidoptera: Tineidae*). Shil. Rev. Lepidopterol. 33, 17–23.
- Zeller, P. C. (1852). Lepidoptera Microptera, quae J. A. Wahlberg in Caffrorum terra collegit. Kongliga Sven. *Vetenskaps-Akademiens Nye Handl.* 3, 1–120.
- Zeng, J., Xiang, N., Jiang, L., Jones, G., Zheng, Y., Liu, B., et al. (2011). Moth wing scales slightly increase the absorbance of bat echolocation calls. *PLoS One* 6:e27190. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.002 7190

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 O'Reilly, Harris, Agassiz and Holderied. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





How Loud Can you go? Physical and Physiological Constraints to Producing High Sound Pressures in Animal Vocalizations

Lasse Jakobsen¹, Jakob Christensen-Dalsgaard¹, Peter Møller Juhl² and Coen P. H. Elemans^{1*}

¹ Sound Communication and Behavior Group, Department of Biology, University of Southern Denmark, Odense, Denmark, ² Department of Mechanical and Electrical Engineering, University of Southern Denmark, Odense, Denmark

Sound is vital for communication and navigation across the animal kingdom and sound communication is unrivaled in accuracy and information richness over long distances both in air and water. The source level (SL) of the sound is a key factor in determining the range at which animals can communicate and the range at which echolocators can operate their biosonar. Here we compile, standardize and compare measurements of the loudest animals both in air and water. In air we find a remarkable similarity in the highest SLs produced across the different taxa. Within all taxa we find species that produce sound above 100 dB_{peak} re 20 μ Pa at 1 m, and a few bird and mammal species have SLs as high as 125 dB_{peak} re 20 μ Pa at 1 m. We next used pulsating sphere and piston models to estimate the maximum sound pressures generated in the radiated sound field. These data suggest that the loudest species within all taxa converge upon maximum pressures of 140–150 dB_{peak} re 20 μ Pa in air. In water, the toothed whales produce by far the loudest SLs up to 240 dB_{peak} re 1 μ Pa at 1 m. We discuss possible physical limitations to the production, radiation and propagation of high sound pressures. Furthermore, we discuss physiological limitations to the wide variety of sound generating mechanisms that have evolved in air and water of which many are still not well-understood or even unknown. We propose that in air, non-linear sound propagation forms a limit to producing louder sounds. While non-linear sound propagation may play a role in water as well, both sperm whale and pistol shrimp reach another physical limit of sound production, the cavitation limit in water. Taken together, our data suggests that both in air and water, animals evolved that produce sound so loud that they are pushing against physical rather than physiological limits of sound production, radiation and propagation.

Keywords: bioacoustics, source level, sound propagation, sound production, vocal communication

INTRODUCTION

Sound is the medium through which animals, including humans, can communicate complicated and unambiguous signals: from laughter when we are happy, to terrified screaming when we fear for our lives. From a baby babbling whilst practicing speech, to Feynman presenting his famous "Lectures on physics." Humans, especially, are capable of combining vocal utterances

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Carl Soulsbury, University of Lincoln, United Kingdom

Reviewed by:

Christian Herbst, University of Music and Performing Arts Vienna, Austria Maxime Garcia, University of Zurich, Switzerland

> *Correspondence: Coen P. H. Elemans coen@biology.sdu.dk

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Behavioral and Evolutionary Ecology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution

> Received: 22 January 2021 Accepted: 30 April 2021 Published: 21 May 2021

Citation:

Jakobsen L, Christensen-Dalsgaard J, Juhl PM and Elemans CPH (2021) How Loud Can you go? Physical and Physiological Constraints to Producing High Sound Pressures in Animal Vocalizations. Front. Ecol. Evol. 9:657254. doi: 10.3389/fevo.2021.657254

99

into languages able to convey our most complicated concepts (Fitch, 2005, 2012).

Sound production is critical to the social communication and survival for many arthropods and the majority of vertebrates. Almost 10,000 bird species, 7,000 frog species, 6,000 mammal species, and an unknown number of fish and arthropod species, have evolved the ability to produce sounds, many with highly specialized organs (Bradbury and Vehrencamp, 2011), driven by complex motor patterns, and executed by exceptional muscles (Elemans et al., 2008, 2011; Mead et al., 2017). Sound plays a pivoting role in many behaviors, including courtship and territorial display signals in insects, fish, frogs, birds and mammals, and orientation and prey capture in echolocating animals. No other communication modality combines the accuracy, speed, and richness of communication over long distances as does sound, both in air and in water (Bradbury and Vehrencamp, 2011).

One critical acoustic parameter for communication is sound pressure amplitude or source level (SL) of the animal vocalizations. SL affects the range of vocal communication in a network or the range of object detection and interpretation in echolocation, because with increasing SL animals can detect sound signals in ambient noise at longer ranges. Even though many animals may not benefit from producing loud sounds, some avian and mammalian species produce particularly high SLs. The term loud here refers to high sound pressures, which is different from, and should not be confused with loudness, a term reserved in psychoacoustics for the *perceived* level of a sound (Troscianko, 1982). Interestingly, in air, the highest reported SL values do not seem to exceed 120 dBpeak re 20 µPa at 1 m (Surlykke and Kalko, 2008; Podos and Cohn-Haft, 2019), which suggests that there are certain limitations to produce high sound pressures. However, direct numerical comparison of published SL amplitudes is complicated by the different standards and methods used to compute them. We therefore currently lack a direct comparison of the highest SLs, which is critical for investigating potential limitations to producing loud sounds.

Here we compiled SLs of the loudest animals known both in air and in water and converted all reported values into standardized measures that are directly comparable. Furthermore, we use acoustic models to estimate the highest acoustic pressures generated in the entire acoustic field. We discuss what physical and physiological mechanisms could constrain the production, radiation and propagation of high sound pressures and if such boundaries are met by animals.

RESULTS

How to Compare Source Levels?

The SL of a sound source is defined as the sound pressure at a reference distance along its acoustic axis (**Figure 1**). Traditionally, the methodology of reporting SL values differs significantly between animal groups in bioacoustics research. However, comparing SLs can be done easily when considering five issues: First, the SI unit for pressure is the Pascal, but this physical property is often reported on the decibel (dB) scale, which first scales the data to a reference value and then applies a log transform. Because the reference value is typically 20 μ Pa in air and 1 μ Pa in water, the same absolute pressure in Pascal is represented by a numerical value 26 dB higher in water than in air when represented on the dB scale. To avoid confusion, we consistently report sound pressures both in Pascal and on the relevant dB scale (Also compare the two central pressure scales in **Figure 1C**).

Second, because it is not possible to measure the pressure at the location of the source, the SL is defined at some distance from the source. The reference distance varies between scientific fields but is one meter by convention in most biological and engineering applications. Many animals do not provide a convenient way to place a microphone or hydrophone at this reference position. In such cases, if the distance to the animal is known, the SL of the animal is estimated by accounting for the transmission-loss of the pressure magnitude over the distance traveled (Urick, 1983; Madsen and Wahlberg, 2007; Wahlberg and Larsen, 2017). Often simple spherical spreading loss models are used to estimate transmission loss, but these can be imprecise especially at longer distances to the source, when acoustical properties of the environment play an important role (Wahlberg and Larsen, 2017).

Third, because sound sources are directional at high frequencies relative to the size of the sound source, it is important to record the sound on-axis or to reconstruct the radiation directionality pattern and report the on-axis SL (**Figure 1A**). Sound pressure is highest along the acoustic axis and attenuates continuous with increasing off-axis angles. For highly directional sounds produced by bats and toothed whales the direction of the acoustic axis and position of the animal can be determined by using microphone or hydrophone arrays (Madsen and Wahlberg, 2007; Jakobsen and Surlykke, 2010).

Fourth, there are several ways to quantify the amplitude of a time-varying pressure wave. Amplitude measurements are traditionally either taken peak-to-peak (ptp), zero-to-peak (peak), or root-mean-square (rms) and it is important to note the differences when comparing studies using different amplitude measures (Figure 1B). For a sine wave, the peak-topeak value is 6 dB higher than the peak and 9 dB higher than the rms value. For most real-world signals these relationships are different. Especially the rms amplitude will differ and the difference between peak-to-peak and rms can be greater than 9 dB depending on the time window used for computing the rms. Sound level meters are also used for bioacoustics measurements and common measures are given as either L_{peak} or L_{eq.} L_{peak} equals the peak amplitude measurement with no time averaging applied and is used widely in bioacoustics and human audiology research. Leq is the equivalent continuous level and the same as the rms measure.

Fifth, the frequency response and sensitivity of the recording chain needs to be specified. For example, most sound level meters have different filters that can be selected, e.g., A, C, and Z weighing, where A and C relate to human loudness perception at different intensity levels, and Z has a constant reference pressure



of 20 µPa across frequencies (i.e., unweighted) (International Standard IEC61672-1, 2002). Thus, A and C weighing can be used to make conclusions about human perception. Because hearing sensitivity varies significantly across species this type of weighing should be avoided in bioacoustics research and will especially affect low- and high-frequency sounds. Lastly, sound level meters come in two classes, 1 and 2 that have difference tolerance limits for precision. Both perform almost equal between 20 Hz and 10 kHz, but class 2 has lower precision tolerance outside this frequency range. Therefore class 1 sound level meters are recommended for measurements at frequencies below 20 Hz and frequencies above 10 kHz.

Which Animals Produce the Highest Source Levels?

To identify the loudest species, i.e., the species that produce the highest SLs, within and between all clades of vocal animals in air and water, we compiled SLs of animal vocalization per taxon (see section "Materials and Methods," **Figure 1C** and **Table 1**).

To prevent overrepresentation of species with lower SLs, we included only the four loudest species within each taxon. We included bats and toothed whale as separate groups because echolocation likely imposes a different evolutionary demand on the sound production system than does communication. The variable measuring conditions of acoustic fields in laboratory and field, makes comparing dB values with precision below 1 dB not very meaningful. In combination with the different methodologies used to measure peaks or average maxima, we should consider the maximal values reported here indicative within 2–3 dB of what the animals produce. Our efforts in trying to compile these data emphasized to us how infrequent SLs are reported in bioacoustics papers. Given the importance of SL for the biology of species, we thus would like to urge people to measure and report SL in their work.

In air, the loudest reported animals are birds and mammals. The White Bellbird (*Procnias albus*) is the loudest at 125 dB_{peak} re. 20 μ Pa at 1 m (i.e., 36 Pa_{peak} at 1 m) (Podos and Cohn-Haft, 2019). Elephants and bats are runners up at 120 dB_{peak} re.

TABLE 1 | Source level and maximum radiated pressures for animals in air and water.

	Source level	Maximum pressure	SL reference	Size references	Location	Weighing
Species name	(peak dB re 20 μPa at 1 m)	(peak dB re 20 μPa)				
Air						
Canis lupus lupus	117	139	Suter et al., 2016	Andersone and Ozolins, 2000	Field	dBA
Hylobates lar	116	146	Terleph et al., 2016	Groves, 1971	Field	None
Loxodonta africana	120	127	Poole et al., 1988	https://www.skullsunlimited.com/products/ replica-african-elephant-skull?variant= 3001994543128		None
Panthera leo	117	134	Larom et al., 1997	Saber and Gummow, 2015	Field	?
Eptesicus bottae	113	143	Holderied et al., 2005	Hulgard et al., 2016	Field	None
Eptesicus fuscus	121	149	Hulgard et al., 2016	Hulgard et al., 2016	Field	None
Noctilio albiventris	120	137	Surlykke and Kalko, 2008	Hulgard et al., 2016; Thiagavel et al., 2017	Field	None
Noctilio leporinus	119	135	Surlykke and Kalko, 2008	Hulgard et al., 2016; Thiagavel et al., 2017	Field	None
Gallus domesticus	108	145	Brackenbury, 1979	Verdiglione and Rizzi, 2017	Field	?
Lipaugus vociferans	116	155	Podos and Cohn-Haft, 2019	Adjusted relative to blackbird measure	Field	dBA/C
Procnias albus	125	161	Podos and Cohn-Haft, 2019	Adjusted relative to blackbird measure	Field	dBA/C
Turdus philomelos	103	143	Brackenbury, 1979	https://skullsite.com/skullpage/turdus- merula-blackbird/	Field	?
Bufo gutturalis	109	142	Passmore, 1981	Passmore, 1981	Field	?
Kassina maculata	110	149	Passmore, 1981	Ahn et al., 2004	Field	?
Rana areolata	110	145	Gerhardt, 1975	Redmer, 2000	Field	?
Rana virgatipes	108	145	Gerhardt, 1975	Given, 1987	Field	?
Alligator Mississippiensis	104	120	Todd, 2007	O'Brien et al., 2019	Enclosure	?
Alligator sinensis	105	129	Wang et al., 2007	O'Brien et al., 2019	Enclosure	?
Gekko gecko	81	115	Brumm and Zollinger, 2017	Laver et al., 2020	Tank	None
Brevisana brevis	102	149	Villet, 1987	Villet, 1988; Young, 1990	Field	?
Diceroprocta apache	102	149	Sanborn and Phillips, 1995	Equal to Brevisana brevis	Lab	?
Oxypleura lenihani	101	146	Villet, 1987	Villet, 1988; Young, 1990	Tank	?
Pycna semiclara	102	146	Villet, 1987	Villet, 1988; Young, 1990	Tank	?
Water	(peak dB re 1 μPa at 1 m)	(peak dB re 1 μPa)				
Orcinus orca	220	220	Eskesen et al., 2011	Finneran et al., 2016	Field	None
Physeter macrocephalus	239	227	Mohl et al., 2003	Finneran et al., 2016	Field	None
Pseudorca crassidens	219	221	Madsen et al., 2004	Finneran et al., 2016	Field	None
Tursiops truncatus	222	228	Wahlberg et al., 2011	Finneran et al., 2016	Field	None
Balaenoptera acutorostrata	191	197	Wang et al., 2016	Omura and Sakiura, 1956	Field	None
Balaenoptera borealis	187	188	Wang et al., 2016	Matthews, 1938	Field	None
Balaenoptera musculus	199	195	Sirovic et al., 2007	Mackintosh and Wheeler, 1929	Field	None
Balaenoptera physalus	203	199	Wang et al., 2016	Goldbogen et al., 2007	Field	None
Argyrosomus japonicus	175	194	Parsons et al., 2012	Fisheries resources in NSW 2008/9	Field	None
Bairdiella chrysoura	138	178	Sprague and Luczkovich, 2004	https://www.fishbase.se/summary/1165	Field	None
Glaucosoma hebraicum	140	162	Parsons et al., 2013	Hesp et al., 2002	Field	None
Pogonias cromis	183	205	Locascio and Mann, 2011	Jones and Wells, 1998	Field	None
Synalpheus parneomeris	183	232	Au and Banks, 1998	Versluis et al., 2000	Tank	None

20 μ Pa at 1 m (i.e., 20 Pa_{peak} at 1 m) (Poole et al., 1988; Surlykke and Kalko, 2008; Hulgard et al., 2016). The loudest reported amphibian species call at 110 dB_{peak} re. 20 μ Pa at 1 m (i.e., 6.3 Pa_{peak} at 1 m) (Gerhardt, 1975; Passmore, 1981). The loudest

reported reptile species are the alligators at around 105 dB_{peak} re. 20 μ Pa at 1 m (i.e., 3.6 Pa_{peak} at 1 m) (Todd, 2007; Wang et al., 2007). The loudest reported insects are several species of cicadas at 102 dB_{peak} re. 20 μ Pa at 1 m (i.e., 2.5 Pa_{rms} at 1 m)

(Villet, 1987; Sanborn and Phillips, 1995). These SLs represent the highest values at species level. For the bat, bird, insect and toothed whale species included here, the SL values reported represent their reported loudest vocalizations. However, for the other species we do not know if the reported SLs encompass the maximal capabilities in the species-specific vocal repertoire, and we cannot exclude they can emit higher SLs.

Also within species, SL variability can be expected. Humans deserve special attention because it is the only species where we have some information on the loudest individuals within a species. The human shouted voice is about 105 dB_{rms} re. 20 μ Pa at 1 m (Lagier et al., 2017). However, The Guinness Book of World Records lists the loudest voice from a schoolteacher saying "Silence" at 122 dB re. 20 μ Pa at 1 m and the loudest non-speech scream to be 129 dB re. 20 μ Pa at 1 m, which would rank humans up with the loudest mammal and birds. However, we have not been able to confirm the recording methodology of these records with Guinness, including what amplitude measure was used, and therefore do not include them here. Taken together, in air, the loudest animals all emit surprisingly similar maximum SLs around 120 dB_{peak} re. 20 μ Pa at 1 m, which equals 20 Pa_{peak} at 1 m.

In water, maximum SLs are much higher than in air. Toothed whales are by far the loudest group of animals in water; the sperm whale (Physeter macrocephalus), emits echolocation clicks with SLs up to 239 dB_{peak} re. 1 μ Pa at 1 m (i.e., 900,000 Pa_{peak} at 1 m) (Mohl et al., 2003). In comparison, the loudest baleen whale is the fin whale (Balaenoptera physalus) at 203 dB_{peak} re. 1 µPa at 1 m (i.e., 14,000 Pa_{peak} at 1 m) (Wang et al., 2016). The loudest teleost fish, the black drum (Pogonias cromis) (Locascio and Mann, 2011), is almost three orders of magnitude of pressure below the sperm whale at 183 dB_{peak} re. 1 μ Pa at 1 m (i.e., 1,400 Papeak at 1 m), as is the pistol shrimp (Synalpheus parneomeris) at 183 dBpeak re. 1 µPa at 1 m (Au and Banks, 1998). Please note that the dB values in water are 26 dB higher than in air due to the difference reference pressure of 1 µPa alone (see central, black labeled pressure scale in Figure 1C). In water, we thus do not observe that different animal clades converge upon a maximum SL.

Loudest Animals Are Independent of Size and Frequency in Air, but Not in Water

How much would a sound source need to move to achieve a SL of 125 dB_{peak} re. 20 μ Pa in air or 240 dB_{peak} re. 1 μ Pa in water? To approximate this, we considered the output of two simple sound sources: (1) a pulsating sphere and (2) a piston of equal diameter (see section "Materials and Methods," **Figure 2**). These models show that the velocity needed to achieve a certain fixed SL decreases with the radiated frequency and physical size in air and water (**Figures 2A,B**). We also considered the product of the wavenumber ($k = 2\pi f$) and size (a), the ka product. This dimensionless parameter represents the acoustic size of an emitter i.e., the size relative to the wavelength it is emitting since ka = $2\pi a/\lambda$. At a fixed SL, the velocity also decreases with ka for both air and water (**Figure 2C**). While the piston model shows a power relationship (linear on the double logarithmic

axes), for the pulsating sphere the velocity required becomes constant at higher frequency, size and ka. This is because the source becomes large compared to the wavelength and tends to locally radiate a plane wave, for which the ratio of sound pressure to particle velocity is the characteristic impedance of the propagation medium, ρc [see also Equation (1) in section "Materials and Methods"]. By fixing other parameters, such as rms volume velocity of the source (see section "Materials and Methods"), the SL increases with frequency, size and ka product (**Figures 2D**–F). Again, for the pulsating sphere, the SL does not increase with frequency, size and ka for a fixed velocity over a certain frequency for the reason mentioned above.

These simple models illustrate three acoustic considerations important for generating sound. First, to produce higher frequencies at the same SL, the source needs to move less. Second, reversely, with the same source velocity, a higher SL can be achieved at higher frequencies or larger size. Third, due to the impedance difference between air and water, the same source motion results in water in a three orders of magnitude higher sound pressure than in air. It is thus much easier to generate a high pressure in water.

The ka product determines how much of the power used to produce the sound is converted into acoustic power that radiates from the source, i.e., the efficiency of the source. For a pulsating sphere the maximum efficiency is at ka ≥ 2 . Below ka = 2 efficiency drops by 100 for every order of magnitude of ka (Michelsen, 1992; Larsen and Wahlberg, 2017). While there is no increase in source efficiency at ka > 2, most sound sources will exhibit a substantial increase in SL because the sound source becomes increasingly directional with increasing ka, i.e., pressure is highest along the acoustic axis and progressively decreases at greater off-axis angles. Thus, a directional source will emit a higher SL on the acoustic axis. However, a pulsating sphere does not become directional at high ka.

Because these simple acoustical models predict a clear dependency on frequency, size and ka product, we compiled SL of the loudest animals as a function of their peak frequency body mass, acoustic radius and ka product (Figure 3 and Supplementary Table 1, see section "Materials and Methods"). We consider that applying descriptive statistics is not meaningful given the sparse nature of the data, but a few patterns do emerge. Although within a clade body size may be a good predictor of SL (Villet, 1987), for the loudest aerial species we observe no increase of highest SLs with radiated sound peak frequency over four orders of magnitude (Figure 3A), no increase with body mass across nearly five orders of magnitude (Figure 3B) and no increase with increasing ka over two orders of magnitude (Figure 3D). All loud insects, frogs, reptiles, birds and terrestrial mammals have ka between 0.1 and 1, which makes them omnidirectional sound emitters. The bats have ka > 2, which makes them efficient and more directional sound emitters. Thus, in contrast to simple linear acoustic models that show increase of SL with increasing frequency, radius and ka product, the maximal SL of around 120 dB re. 20 µPa at 1 m in air seems independent of weight, radius, frequency and ka product (Figure 3 and Supplementary Table 1).



FIGURE 2 Pulsating sphere and piston models predict that source level depends on frequency and size. (A) Isolines of a 240 dB re. 1 µPa and 125 dB re. 20 µPa source show that producing sound requires less movement with higher frequency, (B) size and (C) ka product. (D) SL increases with frequency, (E) size and (F) ka product for both sphere and piston models. The lines shown here are at a volume velocity that makes the source of 10 mm diameter produce 240 dB re. 1 µPa and 125 dB re. 20 µPa at 1,000 Hz, in water and air, respectively (see section "Materials and Methods").

For aquatic animals, the sparse observations fit the simple acoustic models that highest SL increases with frequency (**Figure 3C**), body size (**Figure 3D**) and ka product (**Figure 3E**). However, due to the sparseness of the data, we should be cautious interpreting this data. For loud crustaceans, fish and baleen whales, the ka product is between 0.01 and 0.2, which makes them omnidirectional, but not such efficient sound emitters. For tooth whales the ka product is larger than 10, which makes them efficient and highly directional sound emitters. As a consequence, while toothed whale SLs are substantially higher than the baleen whales, the high directionality means that the difference in radiated acoustic power, i.e., the combined sound radiation in all directionally, sound pressure is concentrated in the frontal direction and much lower pressures are radiated off-axis whereas

for omni-directional sources, sound pressure radiation is roughly equal in all directions.

Physical Upper Limits to Sound Pressure Generation and Radiation

The SL of bat echolocation calls has been suggested to be close to the physical limit of maximal pressure generation in air (Madsen and Surlykke, 2014). Are animals indeed so loud they are hitting certain physical limits to sound production?

In air, pressure fluctuates around atmospheric pressure of about 100 kPa and the negative crest is limited at 0 Pa. Sound waves that are symmetric around atmospheric pressure can therefore reach an amplitude of maximally 200 kPa peak-to-peak (194 dB_{peak} re. 20 μ Pa). However, there is no theoretical



increase with frequency, (**B**) body mass or (**C**) ka for animals vocalizing in air and is maximally 125 dB re. 20 μ Pa at 1 m. (**D**) In aquatic animals, we observe a trend that the highest SLs increase with frequency, (**E**), body mass and (**F**) ka, but the sparsity of the data prevents statistical interpretability.

physical upper limit to pressure, and extreme explosions can indeed surpass the 100 kPa positive crest. The supposed loudest explosion in recent human history was the 1883 Krakatoa volcano eruption with an estimated SL of about 270 dB_{peak} re. 20 μ Pa at 1 m (Winchester, 2003). Besides many issues with approximating this particular SL, it is clear that in air, making sounds by exploding is not a viable option for animals, and vocalizations do not reach such enormous pressures.

In water, the minimal sound pressure is limited by the formation of vapor-filled cavities, i.e., cavitation, at 0 Pa. Because the ambient water pressure depends on depth in the water column, the difference between ambient pressure and cavitation also depends on diving depth. Thus, a sound wave at the water surface and symmetrical around atmospheric pressure can therefore also reach an amplitude of maximally 200 kPa peak-topeak (220 dB_{peak} re. 1 μ Pa). Again, there is no theoretical upper limit to pressure, but because the cavitation boundary poses a design constraint in human-made sonar systems (Woollett, 1962) it is reasonable to assume that this also is the case for biological systems. A sperm whale click of 239 dB_{peak} re. 1 μ Pa would

thus actually surpass the minimal crest limit when produced at shallower depths than 80 m.

The above physical limitations apply to acoustic pressure magnitudes irrespective of where they occur in the sound field of a source. However, what are the maximal sound pressures animals produce in the entire sound field that they radiate? Whereas SL is defined at the reference distance of 1 m, the highest pressures mostly occur much closer to most animals. To estimate the maximal acoustic pressures the loudest animals generate, we approximate them as two types of sound sources; a pulsating sphere and a piston in an infinite baffle (Figures 4A,B). In the far field sound pressure decreases with 6 dB per doubling of distance due to the spreading of the acoustic power over a larger area (Jacobsen and Juhl, 2013). A pulsating sphere only has a far field and the highest pressure produced is obtained at the surface of the sphere (Figure 4A, see section "Materials and Methods"). However, pistons and more complex sound sources also have a near-field where the pressure strongly depends on local conditions. For a piston in an infinite baffle the transition from near to far field boundary can be conservatively



FIGURE 4 The estimated highest occurring sound pressures in air and water. (A) For animals that are omni-directional sound radiators we used the monopole to model to estimate the highest occurring pressure (red horizontal arrow). Because a monopole does not have a near field, we assumed the radius of the monopole to be the body wall (see section "Materials and Methods"). In far field conditions, the sound pressure decreases with 6 dB per doubling of distance. (B) For highly directional sound radiators (bats and cetaceans), we used the piston model to estimate the highest occurring pressure. We use the conservative estimate that the highest occurring pressure (red horizontal arrow) occurs at the border of the interference near field and far field (see section "Materials and Methods"). (C–E) Estimated highest produced sound pressures increase with frequency but plateau at about 150 dB ref. 20 µPa by animals vocalizing in air. (F–H) Estimated highest produced sound pressures seem to increase with frequency and size for animals vocalizing in water.

approximated by: $D_{piston} = k \times a^2$, where k is the wavenumber $(k = 2\pi/\lambda)$ and *a* the radius of the emitter (**Figure 4B**; Foote, 2014). In the interference near field of a piston, pressure can be up to 12 dB higher than are the near/far field border we use for our approximation and strong dips occur that are highly sensitive to local conditions and ka-values (**Figure 4B**). Given the near field conditions are very specific for each animal, we consider it safer to use the more conservative maximum pressure at the boundary between the geometric nearfield and the far field.

Using these two models, we estimated the maximum pressures the loudest animals generate (see section "Materials and Methods"). In air, below 2 kHz the estimated maximum sound pressure increases with frequency (Figure 4C). However, at 2 kHz, the pressure seems to reach a plateau at 150 dB_{peak} re. 20 μ Pa with the exception of the Bellbird that reaches 160 dB_{peak} re. 20 µPa. This maximum pressure plateau is also maintained for animals under 10 kg but decreases with body mass over 10 kg (Figure 4D) and radius over 5 cm (Supplementary Table 1). When estimating the maximum pressure produced, the frogs and cicada's move up and interestingly, all loudest mammals, birds, cicada's and frogs converge upon 140-150 dBpeak re. 20 µPa. In water there is a trend that maximum pressure increases with frequency with no indication of a plateau as seen in air (Figure 4F). However, body mass, and ka product do not show clear relationships with the maximal pressure (Figures 4E,F). Both the pistol shrimp and the toothed whales produce estimated maximal pressures as high as 230 dB re. 1 µPa and reach cavitation limit pressures at depths less than 30 m.

Taken together, we observe that animals vocalizing in water roughly follow the source relations predicted by sphere or piston models. The loudest animals in water come close or reach a physical limit (cavitation) when producing loud sounds at shallow depths. The loudest animals vocalizing in air are efficient sound producers, but do not get close to the maximal amplitude for a symmetrical wave. Our data thus suggests that they are limited to amplitudes of 140–150 dB_{peak} re. 20 μ Pa.

Physical Upper Limits to Sound Propagation

The next physical limitation of sound production is the phenomenon that at high acoustic pressures sound propagation becomes non-linear and efficacy decreases. The non-linearities occur since the speed of sound is temperature dependent and pressure fluctuations are accompanied by temperature fluctuations. As a result, the positive pressure crest travels faster than the negative pressure crest. This effect accumulates over distance and eventually (depending on loss mechanisms) shockwaves may form, even from a waveform that is initially a sinusoid (Pierce, 1981). This distance from the source at which the shock wave is formed is called the shock formation distance. The relevant propagation (e.g., communication or prey detection) distance is thus a key factor to include when estimating shock formation distance. The creation of shockwaves is frequency and level dependent and the radiated waveshape at the source also plays a major role. The sound producing process itself might lead to a waveform that is close to that of a shockwave, thereby reducing the shock formation distance. Because of these propagation non-linearities, very loud sounds attenuate much more rapidly with distance than dictated by simple spherical spreading loss and atmospheric attenuation. The introduction of propagation non-linearity can (depending on level, frequency, and range) even give rise to a saturation effect for sound propagation in air and water, because increased SL beyond this level is not associated with an equivalent increase in signal range (Pierce, 1981).

However, the effects of spherical spreading and absorption counteract the formation and propagation of shockwaves. Since absorption in both air and water increase with frequency, the higher harmonics caused by the transition into a shockwave are attenuated more than the fundamental frequency leading to a sinusoidal waveform at large distances (the so-called old-age region) (Pierce, 1981). The strength of this counteracting effect depends on amplitude, frequencies and propagation distances. This effect along with the saturation effect is in particular relevant for animals communicating over long distances.

Shock wave formation can thus be considered a realistic but "soft" limit to sound production in air and water, because it is frequency, level, waveshape and distance dependent. Due to the complicated non-linear acoustics involved, analytical models of the attenuation of shock waves are limited to approximate cases such as plane wave propagation of an initially sinusoidal waveform. As a rule of thumb and at moderate distances, sound pressure can reach 150 dB ref. 20 µPa in air and 240-250 dB ref. 1 µPa in water before physical non-linearity and additional losses significantly reduce amplitude (Larsen and Wahlberg, 2017). Thus at least in air, the loudest birds, mammals, frogs and insects create sound pressure levels that approach the level at which non-linear propagation losses become significant and further increase would be inefficient as a mean to increase communicative distance. Thus, radiation non-linearities may provide a realistic physical limitation to making louder sounds. The resulting skewed sound waveforms are at least consistent with the bellbird calls and mammalian screams.

Definitively answering the question if propagation nonlinearities are physically limiting sound production requires non-linear modeling and precise measurements. The acoustic nearfield and spherical spreading have to be taken into account and can only be solved numerically. Measurements of shock waves and thereby high-order harmonics from animals producing high-frequency vocalizations should be definitive, but also impose high demands to the equipment in terms of sampling frequency and transducer response. The conditions are so different for each species that the question must be solved on a case-by-case basis, which is beyond the scope of this paper.

Physiological Limitations to the Production of Loud Sounds

All extant vocalizing species have undergone millions of years of evolution and sound production is only one of a multitude of trade-offs individuals face in their survival. Many factors could thus play an important role in explaining why most species do not produce loud vocalizations. First of all, making high
acoustic pressures is also conspicuous and thus not necessarily an advantage. Another major factor is the energetics and efficiency of vocal production in relation to the ecology and behavior of a species. In frogs, birds, and bats it has been shown that high SLs come with a substantial increase in energy expenditure (Currie et al., 2020). Obviously, the duty cycle of calling plays a major factor in this; some frog species call at high duty cycle for several hours, but other species may only produce a few vocalizations per day. However, if power plays a major role, we would hypothesize that large animals would be louder as they could afford more energy, but our data does not support this. Additionally, loud sounds can become too loud and may temporarily deafen the receiver (Finneran, 2015). These are just a few reasons why an animal may not invest in making high sound pressures. However, can we identify more principal constraints in the physiology that pose a limitation to producing high sound pressures?

To answer this question, we need to look at the different mechanisms animals use to generate sounds. Sound production mechanisms differ widely and pose phylogenetic and evolutionary constraints. In some case they are not wellunderstood or even unknown. Most air-breathing tetrapods produce vocalizations by converting respiratory flow to modulated flow by self-sustained oscillation of laryngeal vocal folds or syringeal analogous structures. The resulting air pressure disturbances constitute the acoustic excitation of the system (Titze, 2000). This framework is called the myo-elastic aerodynamic theory of sound production or MEAD. The theory of sound production using MEAD is best studied in humans, but also found applicable to non-human mammals (Herbst et al., 2012) and birds (Elemans et al., 2015; Jiang et al., 2020). Amphibians and the few vocal reptiles probably also use MEAD (Rand and Dudley, 1993; Reber et al., 2015).

We identified at least four MEAD features that potentially pose limits to producing high SLs. A first limit is the efficiency by which aerodynamic energy is converted into acoustic energy. This efficiency is referred to as the glottal efficiency in laryngeal sound producers including humans (van den Berg, 1956; Bouhuys et al., 1968; Schutte, 1980) or vocal/mechanical efficiency (ME) (Titze et al., 2010; Zhang et al., 2019) and is defined as the ratio of radiated acoustic power over driven aerodynamic power of the subglottal/subsyringeal air. Acoustic power is typically determined by combining the measured sound pressure, impedance and an approximation of the area over which the energy is radiated. Aerodynamic power is calculated as the product of measured mean tracheal/bronchial airflow and pressure. When measured in vivo, ME captures both (i) the transformation of aerodynamical power into acoustic flow within the vocal tract, (ii) transmission efficiency through the airways, and (iii) the transformation of sound from the surface (mouth/beak/air sacs) to the environment (Titze and Palaparthi, 2018). ME varies greatly with bronchial pressure (Herbst, 2014), frequency (Zhang et al., 2019), vocal fold position, geometry and pathologies and also in between species (e.g., Brackenbury, 1979; Titze et al., 2010; Herbst, 2014; Maxwell et al., 2021) and values are reported between 10^{-4} to 2% (e.g., a factor of -60 to -20 dB).

Many animals have evolved anatomical or behavioral adaptations that aid in radiating the sound energy from their vocal organs to the radiated sound field. Indeed, the ME of excised vocal organs is typically lower because there is no upper vocal tract (Titze, 2006). Anatomical adaptations to increase sound radiation efficiency, such as air sacs in frogs (Rand and Dudley, 1993), birds (Riede et al., 2004), and mammals (Riede et al., 2008), or enlarged larynges in howler monkeys (Dunn et al., 2015) and hammerhead bats (Schneider et al., 1967). Additionally, behavioral adaptations can be found such as posture modifications to increase mouth/beak opening when emitting high SLs, as seen in the bell bird and, howler monkeys. Models suggest that for mammals and birds, adjustments of head size, mouth opening, and beam direction can make the power transformation efficiency from vocal tract to radiated sound as high as 100% in the 1-50 kHz range (Titze and Palaparthi, 2018). Some animals even change their environment by constructing horns or baffles that aid in radiating the sound (Mhatre et al., 2017).

A second limitation is the amount of aerodynamic energy an animal can produce. *in vivo* and excised larynx and syrinx work has shown that SL increases with mean bronchial pressure (Schutte, 1980; Zhang et al., 2019). The increasing pressure leads to higher VF displacement, sharper flow starts and stops and therefore a higher SL. The maximal expiratory pressure is limited by the maximal effort of respiratory muscles and in humans ranges from 5 to 7 kPa during crying in infants and up to 10– 15 kPa in adults during shouting (Wilson et al., 1984; Dimitriou et al., 2000; Lagier et al., 2017). Without vocalizing, higher expiratory pressures over 20 kPa can be achieved by both normal and brass instrument playing adults (Fiz et al., 1993).

However, before the maximal respiratory pressure or flow is achieved, a third limit is typically reached. As bronchial pressure and flow increases, at specific values the dynamics of VF vibration behavior bifurcates from regular to chaotic regimes. This point is called the phonation instability pressure or flow (Jiang and Titze, 1993; Hoffman et al., 2012). As pressures exceed the phonation instability pressure (PIP) the SL does not increase further in the few species studied (Jiang and Titze, 1993; Zhang et al., 2007; Hoffman et al., 2012), probably because the vocal efficiency decreases. Although using pressure above the PIP is unfavorable from an energetics point of view, irregular or chaotic vocal fold regimes are common in mammalian vocalizations (Wilden et al., 1998; Fitch et al., 2002) and their signaling function in communication thus likely outweighs the loss of energy efficiency.

Fourth, with increasing amplitude the collision force of vocal folds, or impact stress, increases. Although short peak impacts may not be a limiting factor *per se*, accumulative vocal fold damage due to a large amount of high impacts, aka the vibration doses, may be limiting. Through intense voice use, damage can accumulate over time and tissue stress is suggested as the tradeoff for peak performance (Titze and Hunter, 2015). Impact stress is also the main traumatizing mechanism in human voice production, and the main cause of vocal fold nodules (Horacek et al., 2009). In humans, many impact related VF pathologies are known, but to our knowledge there is no reports on VF pathologies in animals.

Taken together, for animals using MEAD to produce vocalizations, at least the above four physiological constraints could pose limits to SL. However, we suggest that these

constraints are not hard limits, but should be more seen as tradeoffs in energy expenditure or vocal fold damage. Furthermore, our current dataset does not allow investigation of allometric scaling with anatomical and physiological parameters (e.g., Charlton and Reby, 2016), because we did not systematically sample across a range of SLs and taxa that use MEAD. Instead we specially mined the literature for the highest SLs. It would be interesting to see if within phylogenetically related taxa of animals using MEAD allometric relationships can be found, as between SL and size within the cicada's (Villet, 1987).

The loudest insects, the cicadas, use a fundamentally different mechanism to produce sound. Cicada's buckle ribs on their tympanum that results in clicks, which provides a resonant source that drives the abdominal resonator, from which sound is radiated *via* the tympana (Young and Bennet-Clark, 1995). The limit to produce clicks is unknown, but most likely related to mechanical failure of the tympanic ribs.

Animals producing loud sounds in water do so by at least three mechanisms. The unique mechanism by which pistol shrimp produce sound using their large snapper claw is well-understood. Muscle co-contraction builds up tension that is released by contraction of another muscle. The rapid closure of the claw pushes a plunger into a socket, and creates an outward water jet at such velocity that a cavitation bubble forms. It is the implosion of this cavitation bubble that creates the loud snapping sound (Versluis et al., 2000).

Bony fishes have evolved perhaps the largest diversity of sound generating organs among vertebrates (Fine and Parmentier, 2015; Ladich and Winkler, 2017). For the few species studied, the most common mechanisms are muscle driven vibration of a gas-filled bladder, and stridulation mechanisms of pectoral girdle or fin (Ladich and Winkler, 2017). The loudest teleost fish reported here most likely produce sound by swim bladder vibration (Locascio and Mann, 2011). Because all vertebrate muscles trade-off muscle power and speed, the fastest muscles can move at rates of 270 Hz (Mead et al., 2017). These extreme contraction rates still produce low frequencies for sound. Given the size of the fish, these result in ka < 1, which makes them poor pressure radiators. However, many fish are mostly sensitive to particle motion, not pressure, and thus pressure may not be the most relevant cue for communication (Radford et al., 2012).

In cetaceans sound production has received much attention, however, we have no convincing direct evidence of how the sounds are produced. Cetaceans have shared ancestry with the artiodactyla and sound production is thought to be driven by air flow. In mysticetes, the hypothesis that sound is produced by laryngeal tissue vibration is based on anatomy (Damien et al., 2019) and we still lack direct experimental observation to test outstanding hypotheses. Their relative low ka values make them suboptimal sound radiators, but the low-frequency emission may be favorable because of low absorption and thus allow long-range communication. The odontocetes produce the highest sound pressures of all animals (Mohl et al., 2003). Several lines of evidence suggest that sound production occurs at the phonic lips in the upper nasal passages, either by a muscle-driven catchrelease mechanism or an air-flow driven MEAD system. The sound radiates from the melon is highly directional. In the sperm

whale, the produced sound is collimated inside the enormous nasal complex, resulting in the most directional sound source known where most energy is concentrated in a beam of only a few degree (Mohl et al., 2003). However, given the fact that odontocetes are producing the highest sound pressures of any animal on the planet especially warrants further investigation to understand how they manage to produce 1 MPa sounds.

CONCLUSION

Across the animal kingdom we find that the loudest animals span several orders of magnitude of size and frequency and can be found in all phylogenetic groups and habitats. To investigate what potential mechanism could limit the generation of loud sounds, we compiled SL data for animals vocalizing in air and water. In air we see that SLs are limited to 125 dB_{peak} re. 20 μ Pa at 1 m after correcting for scaling conventions. The maximum actual pressure generated are 140-150 dB_{peak} re. 20 µPa, typically much closer to the source than one meter. Several physiological processes could be limiting but given the many tradeoffs the different animals face during evolutionary history it is hard to point to a single constraint that explains the maximally observed values. Two physical constraints are of a magnitude to pose serious limitations. First the acoustical size (ka) constraints the efficiency of sound radiation. The loudest animals in air all seem to be good radiators, maybe except for the elephant, with ka close to or above 1. Second, non-linear propagation makes it inefficient, but not impossible, to make louder sounds. Thus, in air, physical limitations and particularly non-linear propagation could play a major role in how loud animals can maximally get.

In water, pistol shrimp and odontocetes produce extreme acoustic pressure close to the zero pressure (cavitation) limit. The loudest fish reach a physiological limit that muscle-powered swim bladder motion is limited to generating frequencies of 300 Hz. The mechanisms of sound production in both baleen and tooth whales are not well understood. How these animals achieve these incredible SLs is not well known.

Being loud is one of many strategies of the surprising tapestry of animal vocalizations. The loudest animals produce sound pressures where several physical processes become highly non-linear. To solve which process poses a limitation to producing higher SLs requires the development and detailed testing of numerical models on a case-by-case basis. Although for the majority of animals, being loud has not been an evolution strategy, we see that both in air and in water, species have evolved that are pushing against the physical limits of sound production.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Source Level Comparison and Compilation

We determined SLs by making the following two conversions to the literature data if relevant: First, we use sound pressure level (peak) as the proxy for sound amplitude (**Figure 1A**). For the particular purpose of this study, peak is a better measure than RMS because it represents the maximum pressure the animals are producing while RMS averages the pressure over the duration of the sound. We did this conversion using the relationship between peak, peak-to-peak and RMS for a simple sinusoid, i.e., by adding 3 dB to RMS values or subtracting 6 dB from peak-to-peak values. For RMS values this underestimates the peak value for non-sinusoid signals, which makes our SL_{peak} values conservative estimates. Second, we calculate SL to the standard reference distance of 1 m using spherical spreading attenuation. While atmospheric attenuation becomes substantial in air at frequencies > 20 kHz, it is negligible over the short distances we encounter here and very likely less than the overall uncertainty involved in the reported measures. All our values are based on the highest reported values in each study.

Pulsating Sphere and Piston Model

To relate sound pressure measurements at one position to another we must adopt a model of the sound source and the propagation medium. For the medium we assume lossless free space and discuss air/water-attenuation at ranges where these effects are relevant. For the sound source we employ two models: the pulsating sphere and the piston in a baffle, which despite being simple approximations are quite often used in bioacoustics.

For a pulsating sphere the relation between pressure amplitude and surface velocity is (Jacobsen and Juhl, 2013):

$$\left|p\left(r\right)\right| = \frac{k}{\sqrt{1 + \left(ka\right)^2}} \frac{\rho c \left(4\pi a^2 U\right)}{4\pi r} \tag{1}$$

where ρ is the density of medium, c is the speed of sound in medium, wavenumber $k = 2\pi$ f/c,

a is the radius of the sphere, U is the velocity of the sphere surface and r is the distance to center of sphere. If the velocity is given as an RMS value, the resulting sound pressure is an RMS as well and so forth for peak or peak-to-peak values. The quantity $(4\pi a^2 U)$ is the volume velocity of the sphere, which is often used to characterize source strength in acoustics.

For a piston in a baffle, we limit the discussion to the on-axis pressure, the amplitude of which can be calculated by, (Jacobsen and Juhl, 2013)

$$|p(x)| = 2\rho c U |\sin[0.5k(\sqrt{x^2 + a^2} - x)]|,$$
 (2)

where x is the distance to the center of the piston. For high frequencies and close distances strong interference can occur (**Figure 4B**), whereas an approximate expression can be found for long distances (compared to both radius and wavelength):

$$\left| p\left(x \right) \right| = 2k \frac{\rho c \left(\pi a^2 U \right)}{4\pi x},\tag{3}$$

Note that the volume velocity of the piston, $(\pi a^2 U)$, is one-fourth of that of the sphere.

For a given radius and volume velocity, the frequency response of the sphere is increasing by 6 dB/octave at low frequencies before reaching a limit at ka = 1 (3 dB corner frequency). For the piston in a baffle, there is no such limit in

the far-field, but evidently the near-field extends further with increasing frequency.

Estimation of Maximal Acoustic Pressure

For sources that can be considered equivalent to oscillating pistons, we used the theoretical boundary between the interference near field and far-field as the distance to the source where the highest sound pressure occurs. According to Foote (2014), this can be approximated conservatively as:

Distance =
$$\frac{2 \times \pi \times a^2}{\lambda}$$

Where *a* is the radius of the piston and λ is the wavelength of the sound. We use this approximation for the toothed whales and bats who's highly directional sound emission patterns have been shown earlier to fit well with piston model predictions (see e.g., Mohl et al., 2003; Jakobsen and Surlykke, 2010). For bats we used the piston-fit to the measured directionality of E. fuscus as reported in Hulgard et al. (2016). We assumed that E. bottae emits similar directionality to E. fuscus and computed a using emitted frequency as reported by Holderied et al. (2005). For The two Noctillio, we assume higher directionality based on the much higher emission frequency relative to body size, we therefore adjust the size by the difference in estimated maximum gape size as reported by Thiagavel et al. (2017). For Toothed whales, the end of the near field of T. truncatus is ca 0.5 m Finneran et al. (2016). Given that P. crassidens emits the same directionality as T. truncatus and assuming that O. orca does so as well, we estimated a from the known nearfield of T. truncatus and the emitted frequencies of each species. Directionality is higher for P. macrocephalus and we accounted for this by multiplying the assumed *a* at equal directionality to *T. truncatus* by the difference in directivity index (2 dB = 1.25) [see Jensen et al. (2018) for directivity measures].

For sources that can be considered monopoles, the limitation is essentially the size of the animal as there is no interference nearfield. We approximate animals that emit sound with no apparent directionality as monopoles, i.e., a ka product < 1(see Figure 4), which included all animals other than bats and toothed whales. Acoustic size estimates are not commonly given in the literature, so we used approximations based on available morphological measures. For frogs we estimated the size of the vocal sac as half the length of the animal (snout-vent length) and assume that the vocal sac is equal to the size of the monopole. For the cicada we estimated the width of the body from the commonly given hemelytra length using the known relationship between hemelytra length and body width reported for Cyclochila australasiae (Young, 1990). For the pistol shrimp, we used the size of the cavitation bubble reported by Versluis et al. (2000). For the fish, we computed the radius of a cylinder based on reported lengths and weights assuming the same density as water. For all other animals we used the halfwidth of the skull as the monopole radius. All values are given in Table 1 and Supplementary Table 1.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

LJ, JC-D, PJ, and CE: conceptualization, formal analysis, and writing – review editing. LJ, PJ, and CE: methodology. LJ and CE: writing – original draft. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This study was supported by the Villum Foundation (00025380) and the Danish Research Council (DFF 8021-00155) to

REFERENCES

- Ahn, A. N., Furrow, E., and Biewener, A. A. (2004). Walking and running in the red-legged running frog, Kassina maculata. J. Exp. Biol. 207, 399–410. doi: 10.1242/jeb.00761
- Andersone, Z., and Ozolins, J. (2000). Craniometrical characteristics and dental anomalies in wolves *Canis lupus* from Latvia. *Acta Theriol.* 45, 549–558. doi: 10.4098/at.arch.00-53
- Au, W. W. L., and Banks, K. (1998). The acoustics of the snapping shrimpSynalpheus parneomerisin Kaneohe Bay. J. Acoustic. Soci. Am. 103, 41–47. doi: 10.1121/1.423234
- Bouhuys, A., Mead, J., Proctor, D. F., and Stevens, K. N. (1968). Pressure-flow events during singing. *Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci.* 155, 165–176. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.1968.tb56760.x
- Brackenbury, J. H. (1979). Power capabilities of the avian sound-producing system. *J. Exp. Biol.* 78, 163–166. doi: 10.1242/jeb.78.1.163
- Bradbury, J. W., and Vehrencamp, S. L. (2011). *Principles of Animal Communication*. Sunderland MA: Sinauer Associates, Inc.
- Brumm, H., and Zollinger, S. A. (2017). Vocal plasticity in a reptile. *Proc. Biol. Sci.* 284:20170451. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2017.0451
- Charlton, B. D., and Reby, D. (2016). The evolution of acoustic size exaggeration in terrestrial mammals. *Nat. Commun.* 7:12739.
- Currie, S. E., Boonman, A., Troxell, S., Yovel, Y., and Voigt, C. C. (2020). Echolocation at high intensity imposes metabolic costs on flying bats. *Nat. Ecol. Evol.* 4:1174. doi: 10.1038/s41559-020-1249-8
- Damien, J., Adam, O., Cazau, D., White, P., Laitman, J. T., and Reidenberg, A. J. S. (2019). Anatomy and functional morphology of the mysticete rorqual whale larynx: phonation positions of the U-Fold. *Anat. Rec. Adv. Integr. Anat. Evol. Biol.* 302, 703–717. doi: 10.1002/ar.24034
- Dimitriou, G., Greenough, A., Dyke, H., and Rafferty, G. F. (2000). Maximal airway pressures during crying in healthy preterm and term neonates. *Early Hum. Dev.* 57, 149–156. doi: 10.1016/s0378-3782(99)00075-4
- Dunn, J. C., Halenar, L. B., Davies, T. G., Cristobal-Azkarate, J., Reby, D., Sykes, D., et al. (2015). Evolutionary trade-off between vocal tract and testes dimensions in howler monkeys. *Curr. Biol.* 25, 2839–2844. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2015.09.029
- Elemans, C. P. H., Mead, A. F., Jakobsen, L., and Ratcliffe, J. M. (2011). Superfast muscles set maximum call rate in echolocating bats. *Science* 333, 1885–1888. doi: 10.1126/science.1207309
- Elemans, C. P. H., Mead, A. F., Rome, L. C., and Goller, F. (2008). Superfast vocal muscles control song production in songbirds. *PLoS One* 3:e2581. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0002581
- Elemans, C. P. H., Rasmussen, J. H., Herbst, C. T., During, D. N., Zollinger, S. A., Brumm, H., et al. (2015). Universal mechanisms of sound production and control in birds and mammals. *Nat. Commun.* 6:8978.

LJ and the Novo Nordisk Foundation (NNF17OC0028928) to CE.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank Magnus Wahlberg, Peter Teglberg Madsen, Ole Larsen, and two reviewers for comments on earlier versions of the manuscript.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fevo.2021. 657254/full#supplementary-material

- Eskesen, I. G., Wahlberg, M., Simon, M., and Larsen, O. N. (2011). Comparison of echolocation clicks from geographically sympatric killer whales and long-finned pilot whales (L). J. Acoust. Soc. Am. 130, 9–12. doi: 10.1121/1.3583499
- Fine, M. L., and Parmentier, E. (2015). "Mechanisms of Fish Sound Production," in Sound Communication in Fishes, ed. F. Ladich (Vienna: Springer Vienna), 77–126. doi: 10.1007/978-3-7091-1846-7_3
- Finneran, J. J. (2015). Noise-induced hearing loss in marine mammals: a review of temporary threshold shift studies from 1996 to 2015. J. Acoust. Soc. Am. 138, 1702–1726. doi: 10.1121/1.4927418
- Finneran, J. J., Mulsow, J., Branstetter, B., Moore, P., and Houser, D. S. (2016). Nearfield and farfield measurements of dolphin echolocation beam patterns: no evidence of focusing. J. Acoust. Soc. Am. 140:1346. doi: 10.1121/1.4961015
- Fitch, W. T. (2005). The evolution of language: a comparative review. *Biol. Philos.* 20, 193–230. doi: 10.1007/s10539-005-5597-1
- Fitch, W. T. (2012). Evolutionary developmental biology and human language evolution: constraints on adaptation. *Evol. Biol.* 39, 613–637. doi: 10.1007/ s11692-012-9162-y
- Fitch, W. T., Neubauer, J., and Herzel, H. (2002). Calls out of chaos: the adaptive significance of nonlinear phenomena in mammalian vocal production. *Anim. Behav.* 63, 407–418. doi: 10.1006/anbe.2001.1912
- Fiz, J. A., Carreras, A., Teixido, A., Haro, M., Rodenstein, D. O., and Morera, J. (1993). Maximum respiratory pressures in trumpet players. *Chest* 104, 1203– 1204. doi: 10.1378/chest.104.4.1203
- Foote, K. G. (2014). Discriminating between the nearfield and the farfield of acoustic transducers. J. Acoust. Soc. Am. 136, 1511–1517. doi: 10.1121/1. 4895701
- Gerhardt, H. C. (1975). Sound pressure levels and radiation-patterns of vocalizations of some north-american frogs and toads. J. Comp. Physiol. 102, 1–12. doi: 10.1007/bf00657481
- Given, M. F. (1987). Vocalizations and acoustic interactions of the carpenter frog, Rana-Virgatipes. *Herpetologica* 43, 467–481.
- Goldbogen, J. A., Pyenson, N. D., and Shadwick, R. E. (2007). Big gulps require high drag for fin whale lunge feeding. *Mar. Ecol. Progress Ser.* 349, 289–301. doi: 10.3354/meps07066
- Groves, C. P. (1971). Geographic and individual variation in Bornean gibbons, with remarks on the systematics of the subgenus Hylobates. *Folia Primatol. (Basel)* 14, 139–153. doi: 10.1159/000155345
- Herbst, C. T. (2014). Glottal efficiency of periodic and irregular in vitro red deer voice production. Acta Acust. United Acust. 100, 724–733. doi: 10.3813/aaa. 918751
- Herbst, C. T., Stoeger, A. S., Frey, R., Lohscheller, J., Titze, I. R., Gumpenberger, M., et al. (2012). How low can you go? Physical production mechanism of elephant infrasonic vocalizations. *Science* 337, 595–599. doi: 10.1126/science.1219712

- Hesp, S. A., Potter, I. C., and Hall, N. G. (2002). Age and size composition, growth rate, reproductive biology, and habitats of the West Australian dhufish (*Glaucosoma hebraicum*) and their relevance to the management of this species. *Fish. Bull.* 100, 214–227.
- Hoffman, M. R., Rieves, A. L., Budde, A. J., Surender, K., Zhang, Y., and Jiang, J. J. (2012). Phonation instability flow in excised canine larynges. J. Voice 26, 280–284. doi: 10.1016/j.jvoice.2011.03.007
- Holderied, M. W., Korine, C., Fenton, M. B., Parsons, S., Robson, S., and Jones, G. (2005). Echolocation call intensity in the aerial hawking bat *Eptesicus bottae* (Vespertilionidae) studied using stereo videogrammetry. *J. Exp. Biol.* 208, 1321–1327. doi: 10.1242/jeb.01528
- Horacek, J., Laukkanen, A. M., Sidlof, P., Murphy, P., and Svec, J. G. (2009). Comparison of acceleration and impact stress as possible loading factors in phonation: a computer modeling study. *Folia Phoniatr. Logop.* 61, 137–145. doi: 10.1159/000219949
- Hulgard, K., Moss, C. F., Jakobsen, L., and Surlykke, A. (2016). Big brown bats (*Eptesicus fuscus*) emit intense search calls and fly in stereotyped flight paths as they forage in the wild. J. Exp. Biol. 219, 334–340. doi: 10.1242/jeb.128983
- International Standard IEC61672-1 (2002). Electroacoustics Sound Level Meters. International Electrotechnical Commission, 1–85.
- Jacobsen, F., and Juhl, P. M. (2013). Fundamentals of General Linear Acoustics. Somerset: Wiley.
- Jakobsen, L., and Surlykke, A. (2010). Vespertilionid bats control the width of their biosonar sound beam dynamically during prey pursuit. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 107, 13930–13935. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1006630107
- Jensen, F. H., Johnson, M., Ladegaard, M., Wisniewska, D. M., and Madsen, P. T. (2018). Narrow acoustic field of view drives frequency scaling in toothed whale biosonar. *Curr. Biol.* 28, 3878–3885 e3.
- Jiang, J. J., and Titze, I. R. (1993). A methodological study of hemilaryngeal phonation. *Laryngoscope* 103, 872–882.
- Jiang, W. L., Rasmussen, J. H., Xue, Q., Ding, M., Zheng, X. D., and Elemans, C. P. H. (2020). High-fidelity continuum modeling predicts avian voiced sound production. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 117, 4718–4723. doi: 10.1073/pnas. 1922147117
- Jones, C. M., and Wells, B. (1998). Age, growth, and mortality of black drum, Pogonias cromis, in the Chesapeake Bay region. Fish. Bull. 96, 451–461.
- Ladich, F., and Winkler, H. (2017). Acoustic communication in terrestrial and aquatic vertebrates. J. Exp. Biol. 220, 2306–2317. doi: 10.1242/jeb.132944
- Lagier, A., Legou, T., Galant, C., de La Breteque, B., Meynadier, Y., and Giovanni, A. (2017). The shouted voice: a pilot study of laryngeal physiology under extreme aerodynamic pressure. *Logop. Phoniatr. Vocol.* 42, 141–145. doi: 10. 1080/14015439.2016.1211735
- Larom, D., Garstang, M., Payne, K., Raspet, R., and Lindeque, M. (1997). The influence of surface atmospheric conditions on the range and area reached by animal vocalizations. *J. Exp. Biol.* 200, 421–431. doi: 10.1242/jeb.200.3.421
- Larsen, O. N., and Wahlberg, M. (2017). "Sound and Sound Sources," in *Comparative Bioacoustics: An Overview*, eds C. Brown and T. Reide (Oak Park, IL: Bentham Science Publishers Ltd), 3–61.
- Laver, R. J., Morales, C. H., Heinicke, M. P., Gamble, T., Longoria, K., Bauer, A. M., et al. (2020). The development of cephalic armor in the tokay gecko (Squamata: Gekkonidae: Gekko gecko). J. Morphol. 281, 213–228. doi: 10.1002/jmor.21092
- Locascio, J. V., and Mann, D. A. (2011). Localization and source level estimates of black drum (*Pogonias cromis*) calls. J. Acoust. Soc. Am. 130, 1868–1879. doi: 10.1121/1.3621514
- Mackintosh, N. A., and Wheeler, J. F. G. (1929). Southern Blue and Fin Whales, with appendices by A. J. Clowes. Discov. Rep. 1, 257–540.
- Madsen, P. T., and Surlykke, A. (2014). "Echolocation in air and water," in *Biosonar*, eds A. Surlykke, P. E. Nachtigall, R. R. Fay, and A. N. Popper (New York, NY: Springer New York), 257–304. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4614-9146-0_9
- Madsen, P. T., and Wahlberg, M. (2007). Recording and quantification of ultrasonic echolocation clicks from free-ranging toothed whales. *Deep Sea Res. I* 54, 1421–1444. doi: 10.1016/j.dsr.2007.04.020
- Madsen, P. T., Kerr, I., and Payne, R. (2004). Echolocation clicks of two freeranging, oceanic delphinids with different food preferences: false killer whales *Pseudorca crassidens* and Risso's dolphins *Grampus griseus*. J. Exp. Biol. 207, 1811–1823. doi: 10.1242/jeb.00966
- Matthews, L. H. (1938). The sei whale, Balaenoptera borealis. Discov. Rep. Cambridge 17, 183–289.

- Maxwell, A., Adam, I., Larsen, P. S., Sørensen, P. G., and Elemans, C. P. H. (2021). Syringeal vocal folds do not have a voice in zebra finch vocal development. *Sci. Rep.* 11:6469.
- Mead, A. F., Osinalde, N., Ortenblad, N., Nielsen, J., Brewer, J., Vellema, M., et al. (2017). Fundamental constraints in synchronous muscle limit superfast motor control in vertebrates. *Elife* 6:e29425.
- Mhatre, N., Malkin, R., Deb, R., Balakrishnan, R., and Robert, D. (2017). Tree crickets optimize the acoustics of baffles to exaggerate their mate-attraction signal. *Elife* 6:e32763.
- Michelsen, A. (1992). "Hearing and sound communication in small animals evolutionary adaptations to the laws of physics," in *Evolutionary Biology of Hearing*, eds D. B. Webster, A. N. Popper, and R. R. Fay (New York, NY: Springer), 61–77. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4612-2784-7_5
- Mohl, B., Wahlberg, M., Madsen, P. T., Heerfordt, A., and Lund, A. (2003). The monopulsed nature of sperm whale clicks. J. Acoust. Soc. Am. 114, 1143–1154. doi: 10.1121/1.1586258
- O'Brien, H. D., Lynch, L. M., Vliet, K. A., Brueggen, J., Erickson, G. M., and Gignac, P. M. (2019). Crocodylian head width allometry and phylogenetic prediction of body size in extinct crocodyliforms. *Integr. Organ. Biol.* 1:obz006.
- Omura, H., and Sakiura, H. (1956). Studies on the little piked whale from the coast of Japan. Sci. Rep. Whales Res. Inst. Tokyo No. 11, 1–37.
- Parsons, M. J., Longbottom, S., Lewis, P., McCauley, R. D., and Fairclough, D. V. (2013). Sound production by the West Australian dhufish (*Glaucosoma hebraicum*). J. Acoust. Soc. Am. 134, 2701–2709. doi: 10.1121/1.4818775
- Parsons, M. J., McCauley, R. D., Mackie, M. C., Siwabessy, P. J., and Duncan, A. J. (2012). In situ source levels of mulloway (*Argyrosomus japonicus*) calls. *J. Acoust. Soc. Am.* 132, 3559–3568. doi: 10.1121/1.4756927
- Passmore, N. I. (1981). Sound levels of mating calls of some African Frogs. *Herpetologica* 37, 166–171.
- Pierce, A. D. (1981). Acoustics : An Introduction to its Physical Principles and Applications. New York, NY: McGraw-Hill Book Co.
- Podos, J., and Cohn-Haft, M. (2019). Extremely loud mating songs at close range in white bellbirds. *Curr. Biol.* 29, R1068–R1069.
- Poole, J. H., Payne, K., Langbauer, W. R., and Moss, C. J. (1988). The social contexts of some very low-frequency calls of african elephants. *Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol.* 22, 385–392. doi: 10.1007/bf00294975
- Radford, C. A., Montgomery, J. C., Caiger, P., and Higgs, D. M. (2012). Pressure and particle motion detection thresholds in fish: a re-examination of salient auditory cues in teleosts. J. Exp. Biol. 215, 3429–3435. doi: 10.1242/jeb.073320
- Rand, A. S., and Dudley, R. (1993). Frogs in helium: the anuran vocal sac is not a cavity resonator. *Phys. Zool.* 66, 793–806. doi: 10.1086/physzool.66.5.30163824
- Reber, S. A., Nishimura, T., Janisch, J., Robertson, M., and Fitch, W. T. (2015). A Chinese alligator in heliox: formant frequencies in a crocodilian. J. Exp. Biol. 218, 2442–2447. doi: 10.1242/jeb.119552
- Redmer, M. (2000). Demographic and reproductive characteristics of a southern Illinois population of the crayfish frog, *Rana areolata. J. Iowa Acad. Sci.* 107, 128–133.
- Riede, T., Beckers, G. J. L., Blevins, W., and Suthers, R. A. (2004). Inflation of the esophagus and vocal tract filtering in ring doves. J. Exp. Biol. 207, 4025–4036. doi: 10.1242/jeb.01256
- Riede, T., Tokuda, I. T., Munger, J. B., and Thomson, S. L. (2008). Mammalian laryngseal air sacs add variability to the vocal tract impedance: physical and computational modeling. *J. Acoust. Soc. Am.* 124:634. doi: 10.1121/1.2924125
- Saber, A. S., and Gummow, B. (2015). Skull Morphometry of the Lion (Panthera leo), Dog (Canis lupus familiaris) and Cat (Felis catus). J. Vet. Anat. 8, 13–30. doi: 10.21608/jva.2015.44849
- Sanborn, A. F., and Phillips, P. K. (1995). Scaling of sound pressure level and bodysize in cicadas (Homoptera, Cicadidae, Tibicinidae). Ann. Entomol. Soc. Am. 88, 479–484. doi: 10.1093/aesa/88.4.479
- Schneider, R., Kuhn, H.-J., and Kelemen, G. (1967). Der Larynx des männlichen Hypsignathus monstrosus Allen, 1861 (Pteropodidae, Megachiroptera, Mammalia). Z. Wiss. Zool. 175, 1–53. doi: 10.2307/3504110
- Schutte, H. (1980). *The Efficiency of Voice Production*. Ph.D thesis. Netherlands: University of Gronnigne.
- Sirovic, A., Hildebrand, J. A., and Wiggins, S. M. (2007). Blue and fin whale call source levels and propagation range in the Southern Ocean. J. Acoust. Soc. Am. 122, 1208–1215. doi: 10.1121/1.2749452

- Sprague, M. W., and Luczkovich, J. J. (2004). Measurement of an individual silver perch Bairdiella chrysoura sound pressure level in a field recording. J. Acoust. Soc. Am. 116, 3186–3191. doi: 10.1121/1.1802651
- Surlykke, A., and Kalko, E. K. (2008). Echolocating bats cry out loud to detect their prey. PLoS One 3:e2036. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0002036
- Suter, S. M., Giordano, M., Nietlispach, S., Apollonio, M., and Passilongo, D. (2016). Non-invasive acoustic detection of wolves. *Bioacoustics* 26, 237–248. doi: 10.1080/09524622.2016.1260052
- Terleph, T. A., Malaivijitnond, S., and Reichard, U. H. (2016). Age related decline in female lar gibbon great call performance suggests that call features correlate with physical condition. *BMC Evol. Biol.* 16:4. doi: 10.1186/s12862-015-0578-8
- Thiagavel, J., Santana, S. E., and Ratcliffe, J. M. (2017). Body size predicts echolocation call peak frequency better than gape height in vespertilionid bats. *Sci. Rep.* 7:828.
- Titze, I. R. (2000). *Principles of Voice Production*. Iowa City, IA: National Center for Voice and Speech.
- Titze, I. R., and Palaparthi, A. (2018). Radiation efficiency for long-range vocal communication in mammals and birds. JASA 143, 2813–2824. doi: 10.1121/1. 5034768
- Titze, I. R. (2006). *The Myoelastic Aerodynamic Theory of Phonation*. Denver: National Center for Voice and Speec.
- Titze, I. R., and Hunter, E. J. (2015). Comparison of vocal vibration-dose measures for potential-damage risk criteria. *J. Speech Lang. Hear. Res.* 58, 1425–1439. doi: 10.1044/2015_jslhr-s-13-0128
- Titze, I. R., Fitch, W. T., Hunter, E. J., Alipour, F., Montequin, D., Armstrong, D. L., et al. (2010). Vocal power and pressure-flow relationships in excised tiger larynges. J. Exp. Biol. 213, 3866–3873. doi: 10.1242/jeb.044982
- Todd, N. P. (2007). Estimated source intensity and active space of the American alligator (*Alligator Mississippiensis*) vocal display. J. Acoust. Soc. Am. 122, 2906–2915. doi: 10.1121/1.2785811
- Troscianko, T. (1982). An Introduction to the Psychology of Hearing:Perception. 2nd Edn, ed. C. J. Moore, London: Academic Press, Vol. 11, 751–752.
- Urick, R. J. (1983). *Principles of Underwater Sound*. New York, NY: Peninsula Publishing.
- van den Berg, J. (1956). Direct and indirect detremination of the mean subglottal pressure. *Folia Phoniatr.* 8, 1–24. doi: 10.1159/000262725
- Verdiglione, R., and Rizzi, C. (2017). A morphometrical study on the skull of Padovana chicken. Ital. J. Anim. Sci. 17, 785–796. doi: 10.1080/1828051x.2017. 1412810
- Versluis, M., Schmitz, B., von der Heydt, A., and Lohse, D. (2000). How snapping shrimp snap: through cavitating bubbles. *Science* 289, 2114–2117. doi: 10.1126/ science.289.5487.2114
- Villet, M. (1987). Sound pressure levels of some african cicadas (Homoptera, Cicadoidea). J. Entomol. Soc. Southern Afr. 50, 269–273.
- Villet, M. (1988). Calling Songs of Some South African Cicadas (Homoptera, Cicadidae). South Afr. J. Zool. 23, 71–77. doi: 10.1080/02541858.1988.11448081

- Wahlberg, M., and Larsen, O. N. (2017). "Propagation of sound," in *Comparative Bioacoustics: An Overview*, eds C. Brown and T. Reide (Oak Park, IL: Bentham Science Publishers Ltd), 62–119.
- Wahlberg, M., Jensen, F. H., Soto, N. A., Beedholm, K., Bejder, L., Oliveira, C., et al. (2011). Source parameters of echolocation clicks from wild bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops aduncus* and *Tursiops truncatus*). J. Acoust. Soc. Am. 130, 2263–2274. doi: 10.1121/1.3624822
- Wang, D., Huang, W., Garcia, H., and Ratilal, P. (2016). Vocalization source level distributions and pulse compression gains of diverse baleen whale species in the gulf of maine. *Rem. Sens.* 8:881. doi: 10.3390/rs8110881
- Wang, X., Wang, D., Wu, X., Wang, R., and Wang, C. (2007). Acoustic signals of Chinese alligators (Alligator sinensis): social communication. J. Acoust. Soc. Am. 121, 2984–2989. doi: 10.1121/1.2714910
- Wilden, I., Herzel, H., Peters, G., and Tembrock, G. (1998). Subharmonics biphona- tion and deterministic chaos in mammal vocalisation. *Bioacoustics* 9, 171–196. doi: 10.1080/09524622.1998.9753394
- Wilson, S. H., Cooke, N. T., Edwards, R. H. T., and Spiro, S. G. (1984). Predicted normal values for maximal respiratory pressures in caucasian adults and children. *Thorax* 39, 535–538. doi: 10.1136/thx.39.7.535
- Winchester, S. (2003). Krakatoa : The Day the World Exploded, 27 August 1883 / Simon Winchester. New York: HarperCollins Publishers.
- Woollett, R. S. (1962). "Theoretical power limits of sonar transducers," in Proceedings of the 1962 IRE National Convention (Piscataway, NJ: IEEE), 90–94.
- Young, D. (1990). Do cicadas radiate sound through their eardrums. *J. Exp. Biol.* 151, 41–56. doi: 10.1242/jeb.151.1.41
- Young, D., and Bennet-Clark, H. (1995). The role of the tymbal in cicada sound production. J. Exp. Biol. 198, 1001–1020. doi: 10.1242/jeb.198.4.1001
- Zhang, Y. S. S., Takahashi, D. Y., Liao, D. A., Ghazanfar, A. A., and Elemans, C. P. H. (2019). Vocal state change through laryngeal development. *Nat. Commun.* 10:4592.
- Zhang, Y., Reynders, W. J., Jiang, J. J., and Tateya, I. (2007). Determination of phonation instability pressure and phonation pressure range in excised larynges. J. Speech Lang. Hear. Res. 50, 611–620. doi: 10.1044/1092-4388 (2007/043)

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Jakobsen, Christensen-Dalsgaard, Juhl and Elemans. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Cues for Directional Hearing in the Fly Ormia ochracea

Andrew C. Mason*

Integrative Behaviour and Neuroscience Group, Department of Biological Sciences, University of Toronto Scarborough, Toronto, ON, Canada

Insects are often small relative to the wavelengths of sounds they need to localize, which presents a fundamental biophysical problem. Understanding novel solutions to this limitation can provide insights for biomimetic technologies. Such an approach has been successful using the fly *Ormia ochracea* (Diptera: Tachinidae) as a model. *O. ochracea* is a parasitoid species whose larvae develop as internal parasites within crickets (Gryllidae). In nature, female flies find singing male crickets by phonotaxis, despite severe constraints on directional hearing due to their small size. A physical coupling between the two tympanal membranes allows the flies to obtain information about sound source direction with high accuracy because it generates interaural time-differences (ITD) and interaural level differences (ILD) in tympanal vibrations that are exaggerated relative to the small arrival-time difference at the two ears, that is the only cue available in the sound stimulus. In this study, I demonstrate that pure time-differences in the neural responses to sound stimuli are sufficient for auditory directionality in *O. ochracea*.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Fernando Montealegre-Z, University of Lincoln, United Kingdom

Reviewed by:

Heiner Römer, University of Graz, Austria Bernhard Ronacher, Humboldt University of Berlin, Germany

*Correspondence: Andrew C. Mason

andrew.mason@utoronto.ca

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Behavioral and Evolutionary Ecology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution

> Received: 10 March 2021 Accepted: 04 June 2021 Published: 02 July 2021

Citation:

Mason AC (2021) Cues for Directional Hearing in the Fly Ormia ochracea. Front. Ecol. Evol. 9:679064. doi: 10.3389/fevo.2021.679064 Keywords: directional hearing, eardrum, insect, phonotaxis, interaural difference, coupled ears, Ormia

INTRODUCTION

The fly *Ormia ochracea* (Diptera:Tachinidae) possesses an auditory system that performs analagous functions to those of vertebrate hearing (detection, recognition, segregation, and localization or sources), albeit for a restricted range of stimuli (Gray et al., 2007). The flies are parasitoids and females must locate a cricket host in order to reproduce (Wineriter and Walker, 1990). They accomplish this by localizing the calls of singing male crickets using an auditory system dedicated to this task (Cade, 1975). Tympanal hearing is unusual for flies. All known examples are species that are parasitoids of acoustic insects (Allen, 1995; Robert et al., 1999; Lehmann, 2003), and these include two families (Tachinidae and Sarcophagidae) in which tympanal hearing has evolved independently through convergent adaptation of the same precursor organ (Edgecomb et al., 1995; Robert et al., 1996a; Lakes-Harlan et al., 1999).

Due to the small size of the flies (ears are < 0.5 mm apart) relative to the wavelength of cricket sound (~7 cm), acoustic directional cues are severely restricted (Kuhn, 1987). Sound waves impinging on the fly auditory system generate no interaural level difference (ILD) and interaural time differences (ITDs) are very small (maximum 1.5 μs for a sound source at 90° relative to the midline axis). Nevertheless, flies can localize a cricket sound source with exceptional accuracy (<2° azimuth, Mason et al., 2001).

Abbreviations: BMAA, biomimetic antenna array; ICE, internally coupled ears; ILD/ITD, interaural level/time difference; MEMS, micro-electromechanical system; nITD/nILD, neural interaural level/time difference; tITD/tILD, tympanal interaural level/time difference.

Directional hearing in Ormia is derived from a specialized mechanical coupling between the two tympanal membranes (Robert et al., 1998). Mechanical coupling of the two eardrums amplifies the small direction-dependent ITDs in the sound field, and generates ILDs in the tympanal vibration responses, so that both cues are present in the tympanal (Robert et al., 1996b) and neural responses (Mason et al., 2001; Oshinsky and Hoy, 2002). Modeling of Ormia auditory mechanics (Miles et al., 1995) demonstrated that intertympanal coupling results in a system with two resonant modes of vibration in response to acoustic stimulation (Figure 1): a symmetric mode, in which the two tympani vibrate with equal amplitude and phase; and an antisymmetric mode, in which the two tympani vibrate with equal amplitude but opposite phase. Under normal acoustic conditions, a sound source located directly ahead of the fly $(0^{\circ} \text{ azimuth})$ generates vibration in the symmetric mode (each tympanum driven by identical sound pressure waves). Sound impinging from any other direction, however, will stimulate a combination of both modes of vibration with the result that the two tympani will respond with different (directiondependent) amplitudes and phases of vibration, with maximum interaural differences of \sim 12 dB in amplitude and \sim 50 µs delay (Robert et al., 1996b).

Analyses of the mechanical properties of *Ormia* tympanal membranes (Miles et al., 1995; Robert et al., 1996b; Akçakaya and Nehorai, 2008) have demonstrated that the mechanical coupling between the two eardrums enhances the system's sensitivity to the minute direction-dependent differences in arrival time of sound at the two ears. The nature of this effect is two-fold. (1) The arrival-time difference is amplified to result in a larger ipsilateral-leading phase difference between vibrations of the two tympani, creating a tympanal interaural time difference (tITD). (2) The amplitude of contralateral tympanal vibration is reduced relative to ipsilateral, creating a tympanal interaural level difference (tILD).

The majority of auditory receptors associated with each ear respond with tonic bursts at the onset of sound pulses (Oshinsky and Hoy, 2002) with response latencies that are dependent on tympanal vibration level, such that tILDs result in direction-dependent interaural latency differences in receptor responses. These neural interaural time differences (nITD) scale with the azimuth of the sound source location (Mason et al., 2001; **Figure 2**). Receptor thresholds vary, however, and another effect of tILDs is (direction dependent) differential recruitment of receptors in the two ears, such that directional sound sources will also generate interaural differences in the amplitude of summed neural responses – neural interaural level differences (nILD).

The directional mechanism of interaural coupling in ormiine ears was at first considered to be a unique evolutionary innovation. However, *Ormia* directional hearing is now considered to be a specialized example of a taxonomically widespread phenomenon by which acoustic directional cues (mainly ITDs) are amplified via interactions between the two ears to generate larger ITDs and ILDs in tympanal vibration which can then be used to encode directional information in neural responses. Internally coupled ears (ICE) include the majority of vertebrate auditory systems (van Hemmen



et al., 2016), and general models of ICE have been derived (Vedurmudi et al., 2016a).

The principle of directionality via coupled hearing has been the basis of multiple auditory adaptations (Römer and Schmidt, 2016), just as insect ears in general show a striking diversity of independent evolutionary origins (Yack and Dawson, 2008). *Ormia* hearing in particular has been a subject of considerable interest as a model for evolutionary arms races between this eavesdropping parasitoid and its acoustically communicating hosts (e.g., Zuk et al., 1995; Wagner and Basolo, 2007; Sakaguchi and Gray, 2011).



responses recorded for different sound levels. Using sound level as a proxy for directional variation in relative tympanal vibration amplitude, these data show that in addition to the nITDs represented in the main plot, contralateral neural responses are weaker for a directional sound source.

Ormia auditory directionality has also emerged as an adaptable model for novel technology, and the past couple of decades have seen considerable interest in biomimetic applications of the flies' intertympanal coupling principle to engineering problems related to source localization for waveform signals, with two main areas of research. Efforts to design biomimetic directional microphones (BDMs, with application, for example, in hearing aids) have sought to mimic the mechanical properties of the fly eardrums in micro-electromechanical-system (MEMS) devices (Ishfaque and Kim, 2018; Zhang et al., 2018). Efforts to design biomimetic antenna arrays (BMAAs) have applied the principle of coupled detectors to electromagnetic signal localization (Grüner et al., 2019). Much of this work has focused on quantifying the contribution of sensor coupling to directional resolution (Akçakaya and Nehorai, 2008; Grüner et al., 2019), tuning the effective bandwidth of the system (Rahaman and Kim, 2020), extending the mechanism to more than one axis (Lisiewski et al., 2011), and optimizing noise-robustness and sensitivity in the readout of ILDs and ITDs (Miles et al., 2009).

Previous work has shown that directional information is represented in the fly auditory system by amplified ITDs in the responses of auditory receptors (Mason et al., 2001). Other work (Oshinsky and Hoy, 2002) suggests interaural differences in the amplitude of neural responses based on differential receptor recruitment may also play a role in directional hearing. There is also evidence that small time-differences between competing auditory sources may play a role in source segregation in *Ormia* (Lee et al., 2009), and that noise sources may introduce a systematic bias in directional sensing that is a direct consequence of the coupling mechanism (Lee and Mason, 2017). Thus, as in vertebrate hearing, ITDs and ILDs may both contribute to directional hearing in *Ormia ochracea*, although the way these cues are combined in fly directional hearing is not fully resolved. This study examines in more detail the relationship between ITDs and ILDs at the tympanal and neural levels, and the contribution of these cues to directional hearing using a series of experiments that measure behavioral, tympanal and neural responses to stimuli with manipulated phase and amplitude to generate ITDs in isolation. The aim is to answer a fairly simple and specific question – can the flies make use of pure time differences in auditory responses to generate directional responses to acoustic stimuli? The results show that interaural time differences do mediate directional responses in the absence of interaural level differences. I consider implications of these data for how ITD and ILD mechanisms may represent alternative solutions to differing physical and evolutionary constraints.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Animals

Experiments were conducted on lab-reared gravid female *Ormia ochracea* derived from specimens originally collected in Gainesville FL. Flies were maintained at 25°C and 75% humidity on a 12-h:12-h light:dark regime and fed nectar solution (The Birding Company, Yarmouth, MA, United States) *ad libitum*.

Acoustic Stimuli

Single tone pulses (5 kHz, 10 ms duration, 0.1 or 0.5 ms rise/fall time) or synthetic cricket chirps (10 pulses at 50/s) were delivered from two speakers at 84 dB SPL (unless otherwise specified). Acoustic stimuli were synthesized using Tucker-Davis Technologies (TDT) hardware (System 3) and custom scripts written in C or Matlab. The stimuli were amplified (NAD S300), passed through a programmable attenuator (TDT model PA5) and broadcast from piezoelectric horn tweeters (Radio Shack Realistic, Taiwan). Stimulus amplitude and timing were controlled by computer and calibrated with a probe microphone (B&K Type 4182, Denmark). The relative phase and amplitude of simultaneous stimuli were adjusted to manipulate auditory ITDs and ILDs independently (see below).

Experimental Measurements Behavior

Phonotactic responses were recorded with flies mounted on a spherical treadmill which transduced walking movements for recording by computer (Mason et al., 2001). This openloop setup allowed stimulus conditions to be held constant throughout the duration of presentation. For comparisons of flies walking direction under different stimulus conditions I measured the angle of the fly's trajectory at the halfway point of each (virtual) walking path.

Tympanal Vibration

Following behavioral experiments, flies' heads were removed and tympanal vibration measured under identical acoustic conditions, using a laser Doppler vibrometer (LDV) (Polytec OFV 3001 controller, OFV 511 sensor head).

Auditory Nerve Recording

For some stimulus conditions, I recorded summed auditory nerve responses simultaneously from both ears, under stimulus conditions similar to behavioral and tympanal measurements, using tungsten wire electrodes (AM Systems, 0.25 mm). Amplified (AM Systems Model 1800) neural responses were averaged (50 sweeps) and recorded by computer (TDT AD1, 100 kHz sampling rate).

Behavioral, physiological, and mechanical measurements were all carried out in the same setup, with behavioral and mechanical measurements made on the same individuals. Physiological recordings were made on separate cohort of specimens under identical conditions.

I first repeated the measurement of eardrum responses to directional stimuli using the same setup as the other experiments and confirmed comparable results to those in the literature. I then conducted a set of experiments (1–3) aimed a manipulating nITDs and nILDs separately, to address the question of how much each of these response parameters contributes to the coding of auditory directionality.

RESULTS

Auditory Cues for Sound Localization

Figure 2 shows variation in the timing and amplitude of summed auditory nerve responses over a 15 dB range of stimulus levels comparable to the range of tILDs. Previous studies (Oshinsky and Hoy, 2002) have suggested that these nILDs could contribute to the coding of sound source direction, with some data suggesting that nILDs provide more accurate directional information than nITDs (Pollack and Mason, 2014).

I conducted a set of experiments aimed a manipulating nITDs and nILDs separately, to address the question of how each of these response parameters contributes to the coding of auditory directionality.

Experiment 1 – Standing Wave

This experiment was designed to exploit the antisymmetric mode of tympanal vibration by placing a fly at the node of an acoustic standing wave.

Flies were tethered in place atop the spherical treadmill (Mason et al., 2001), between two speakers positioned at \pm 90°. Stimuli were calibrated with a probe microphone just above the midline of the tympanal membranes, and the amplitude and timing of identical, but opposite-phase, acoustic stimuli from each speaker were adjusted to create a null at the fly's midline. With a node positioned at the midline of the fly (i.e., the junction of the two tympani), sound pressure acting on the two tympana is equal-amplitude and opposite phase, and the tympanal membranes should rock in the antisymmetric mode of vibration (**Figure 1**). Reversing the phase of the standing wave would reverse the relative phases of tympanal vibration so that if this phase difference provided a directional cue, flies directional response should also change.

By broadcasting the same stimuli in phase from both speakers, I could also generate a summed waveform at the midline of the fly.



This condition should elicit symmetric mode tympanal vibration (mimicking a phantom source at 0° azimuth, Lee et al., 2009).

Flies' behavioral responses (phonotaxis toward synthetic cricket chirps) were recorded (n = 6) for: (i) directional signals from each speaker individually; (ii) the standing wave condition (signals canceling at the fly's midline), recorded for both relative phases of tympanal vibration (i.e., left-leading and right-leading); and (iii) the summing signals condition. After behavioral recordings I measured tympanal vibration under



responses to both speakers broadcasting in-phase stimuli (symmetric tympanal vibration simulates a single source at 0°). The blue and red traces show responses to both speakers broadcasting opposite-phase stimuli adjusted to create a standing wave (anti-symmetric vibration, for equal-amplitude but out-of-phase tympanal vibration), with blue and red traces representing opposite-phase standing waves. The flies' responses were not affected by the phase of the standing wave (single fly – Watson's U = 0.093, p > 0.1; pooled data – Watson's U = 0.0416, p > 0.1, n = 6). Responses to these conditions are similar to a forward source and show no directional response to cycle-by-cycle phase differences in the stimulus waveform as a cue for directionality (single fly – Rao's homogeneity test for vector direction = 1.55916, p > 0.4; pooled data – Friedman chi-squared = 3.0333, df = 2, p > 0.2).

identical conditions using the LDV to validate the stimulus conditions. I show the tympanal vibration data first.

Tympanal Responses

First, I verified the behavior of the system for conventional freefield auditory stimulation. Tympanal vibration in response to a single source located at 90° was exactly as predicted by the original analyses of the mechanics of the system (Miles et al., 1995; Robert et al., 1996b). Tympanal vibration in responses to an ipsilateral (90° azimuth) sound source was greater in amplitude by 12 dB and leading by 70 μ s relative to the source-contralateral tympanum (**Figure 3A**).

In the standing wave condition, ipsi- and contralateral tympanal vibrations are equal-amplitude and 180° out of



phase, equivalent to a \pm 100 μ s tITD (depending on the phase of the standing wave, **Figure 3B**). In the summed stimulus condition, the tympani showed equal-amplitude, in-phase vibration (symmetric mode) similar to a sound source directly ahead (0° azimuth, data not shown).

Behavioral Responses

Flies' sound localization behavior was highly consistent within each stimulus condition (**Figure 4**). In response to stimuli broadcast from either speaker alone, flies showed appropriately oriented phonotaxis. There was no difference in the orientation of phonotaxis between the standing wave and summed stimulus conditions and no effect of a phase reversal in the standing wave. In each condition flies walked directly ahead (0° azimuth). Pure asymmetric mode tympanal vibration did not generate directional cues, despite a 100 μ s tITD.

Previous work has demonstrated, however, that small differences in the timing of stimulus onset can affect fly responses and mediate selective attention to one among multiple simultaneous sources, via a precedence effect (Lee et al., 2009). The next experiment examined whether time differences in the stimulus amplitude envelope can mediate auditory directionality in response to a single source.

Experiment 2 – Onset Cancelation

In this experiment, conditions were similar to experiment 1, except that one speaker was placed at 0° azimuth (directly forward of the fly), while a second speaker was placed at 90°



(lateral to the fly). The forward speaker broadcast a synthetic cricket chirp, which should elicit phonotaxis in the forward direction. The second speaker broadcast a train of brief impulses, approximating a half-cycle of the 5 kHz chirp waveform, timed to coincide with the initial onset of the individual pulses of the synthetic chirp, and phase-adjusted to cancel the initial cycle of each chirp pulse (**Figure 5**). Due to the directional properties of the tympanal membranes, and because the impulse source is located lateral to the fly (90° azimuth), its effect will be greater on the ipsilateral tympanum than the contralateral by 12 dB (see above, **Figure 3**).

The overall result of this stimulus arrangement is that the onset cancelation has a greater effect on the ipsilateral side (relative to the impulse source) than the contralateral, resulting in a delay in the rise-time of the amplitude envelope of the chirp pulses at the ipsilateral tympanum (**Figure 6**). This has no effect on the overall amplitude of the stimulus at either tympanum but results in a delay in onset timing that is also measurable in summed auditory nerve responses (**Figure 7**). The additional apparatus required for nerve recordings made it more difficult to calibrate the stimuli in these experiments. Interaural delays measured in auditory nerve responses were variable, with a mean \pm s.d. nITD in the cancelation condition of $48.6 \pm 125.5 \,\mu$ s (n = 7).

Behavioral Responses

Fly behavior (n = 5) clearly indicated that interaural differences in the timing of stimulus onset constituted a directional cue in the absence of an amplitude difference (**Figure 8**). Phonotactic



walking paths were diverted contralateral to the impulse source (toward the side with leading chirp pulse onsets). Reversing the phase of the impulse waveforms (summing rather than canceling ipsilateral pulse onsets) reversed the effect, and phonotaxis was diverted ipsilateral to the impulse source.

For comparison with free-field auditory directionality, I shifted the position of the attractive sound source to determine what source azimuth elicited responses with similar directionality to the onset-cancelation condition. The directional effect of onset cancelation was equivalent to a source azimuth of 2° (**Figure 9**).

DISCUSSION

Although flies are not sensitive to cycle-by-cycle phase differences in the stimulus waveform, they do show a directional response for stimuli that differ only in the timing of the amplitude envelope, as shown by experiment, and which generate only latency differences in the responses of auditory receptors. However, the magnitude of these directional responses (i.e., the perceived source direction as indicated by the direction of the flies' walking path) is somewhat smaller than would be predicted by measurements of the nITD induced by the stimuli, although still within the range of nITDs elicited by directional sound sources in free field stimulation. Measurements of nITDs in response to variation in sound source azimuth (Mason et al., 2001) showed a slope of 3.5 μ s/°. The mean value in these measurements was approximately 50 µs, which would correspond with an angle of incidence of \sim 15 degrees. While these results clearly demonstrated that interaural time differences alone can mediate auditory directionality, they clearly do not rule out a contribution from interaural level differences. Experiments involving dichotic stimulation in orthopteran insects (grasshoppers, katydids, and crickets) have demonstrated a separate contribution of ITD and



ILD cues in directional hearing (Rheinlaender and Mörchen, 1979; Kleindienst et al., 1981; von Helversen and Rheinlaender, 1988; Rheinlaender et al., 2006).

Temporal cues play an integral role in auditory processing (beyond the obvious importance in temporal pattern recognition for the pulsatile acoustic signals of their cricket hosts). Flies' auditory receptors respond almost exclusively to pulse onsets (Oshinsky and Hoy, 2002) and the strength of the response (the fly's perceived stimulus level) is determined by the amplitude increment relative to the noise-floor (effective amplitude, Lee and Mason, 2017). Small time-differences between competing sources mediate selective responses (Lee et al., 2009). While small interaural time-differences (for a single source) mediate directionality.

In a number of functional characteristics, *Ormia* hearing is convergent with more familiar (i.e., vertebrate) auditory mechanisms, and these may be seen as common principles arising from adaptation to the physics of sound. There are also clear differences, however, which could be consequences of the specific implementation of directionality in *Ormia* ears. For example, noise can disrupt directional acuity in *Ormia* and this is not alleviated by spatial separation of noise and signal (flies show no spatial release from masking, Blauert, 1997). Instead, under some circumstances, separation of signal and noise sources increases directional masking in *Ormia* (Lee and Mason, 2017).

What we know about the flies' hearing suggests that they accomplish as much as possible via peripheral filtering, with their auditory system functioning as a high-resolution, rapidly responding, symmetry detector that makes discrete measurements corresponding to the onset of each pulse in the



signal. Flies simply orient to the direction that balances auditory input in time and amplitude. The lack of spatial release from masking and biased response to noise is a consequence of this (Lee and Mason, 2017) and even the precedence effect that mediates source segregation is based on the refractoriness of peripheral receptors (Oshinsky and Hoy, 2002; Lee et al., 2009). This simplified set of information (relative to vertebrate hearing systems) allows for the major functions of hearing: segregation, recognition, and localization of sources, albeit for a specific pre-determined set of stimuli (host communication signals).

The major evolutionary innovation for Ormia hearing is that tympanal coupling relieves them from size limitation in auditory directionality. Comparative and phylogenetic studies (Edgecomb et al., 1995, Robert et al., 1996a) have identified the suite of morphological adaptations that constitute the tympanal ear of this group, and the homologous structures in atympanate flies. Hearing arises as a single-origin evolutionary innovation shared by members of the subfamily Ormiini. The sensory organ itself is derived from a proprioceptive chordotonal organ present, but of uncertain function, in atympanate flies. Surprisingly, tympanal hearing based on the same homologous precursor organ, but independently evolved, was also identified in one species belonging to a second family of flies (Sarcophagidea, Lakes-Harlan et al., 1999). This species shows a number of convergent characteristics with Ormia, including a parasitoid life cycle with an acoustic insect (cicada) as host and directional hearing via coupled eardrums (Robert et al., 1999), although the details of tympanal mechanics are distinct in this species.

Despite the fact that auditory directionality via ICE is now known to be a rather widespread phenomenon (van Hemmen et al., 2016), *Ormia* should still be considered a highly specialized example, with a number of striking adaptations that appear to optimize their directional acuity despite the relative simplicity (and small scale) of their auditory processing apparatus (both mechanical and neural). An interesting contrast between Ormia and other (vertebrate) examples of ICE is that in most systems, there is a segregation in the frequency domain of the directional cues derived from the coupling mechanism, with ITDs at lower frequencies (relative to the fundamental frequency of the tympanum) and ILDs at higher frequencies (Vedurmudi et al., 2016b), whereas these cues are combined in Ormia (Robert et al., 1996b). On the other hand, the auditory system in Ormia is adapted to exploit the specific temporal and spectral structure of the host cricket acoustic signals; working in a relatively narrow frequency band and detecting the onset timing of individual sound pulses in the trill like call of the host. Expanding the usable bandwidth of systems designed to mimic Ormia hearing has been a major focus for biomimetic engineering efforts inspired by Ormia (Zhang et al., 2018). The subfamily Ormiini, though not a large group, includes nearly 70 species (Lehmann, 2003), with different species exploiting hosts with diverse acoustic signals in terms of both frequency and temporal characteristics. Comparative studies examining how auditory directional mechanisms are adapted to this diversity of signal parameters should be of great interest.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

The author confirms being the sole contributor of this work and has approved it for publication.

FUNDING

This work was supported by funding from the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council (NSERC) of Canada, (grant numbers 238882 and 241419).

REFERENCES

- Akçakaya, M., and Nehorai, A. (2008). Performance analysis of the Ormia ochracea's coupled ears. J. Acoust. Soc. Am. 124, 2100–2105. doi: 10.1121/1. 2967862
- Allen, G. R. (1995). The biology of the phonotactic parasitoid, *Homotrixa* sp. (Diptera: tachinidae), and its impact on the survival of male Sciarasaga quadrata (Orthoptera: tettigoniidae) in the field. *Ecol. Entomol.* 20, 103–110. doi: 10. 1111/j.1365-2311.1995.tb00435.x
- Blauert, J. (1997). Spatial Hearing: The Psychophysics Of Human Sound Localization. Cambridge, Mass: MIT Press. doi: 10.7551/mitpress/6391.001. 0001
- Cade, W. (1975). Acoustically Orienting Parasitoids: fly Phonotaxis to Cricket Song. Science 190, 1312–1313. doi: 10.1126/science.190.4221. 1312
- Edgecomb, R., Robert, D., Read, M., and Hoy, R. (1995). The tympanal hearing organ of a fly: phylogenetic analysis of its morphological origins. *Cell Tissue Res.* 282, 251–268. doi: 10.1007/BF00319116
- Gray, D. A., Banuelos, C., Walker, S. E., Cade, W. H., and Zuk, M. (2007). Behavioural specialization among populations of the acoustically orienting parasitoid fly *Ormia ochracea* utilizing different cricket species as hosts. *Anim. Behav.* 73, 99–104. doi: 10.1016/j.anbehav.2006. 07.005
- Grüner, P., Chaloun, T., and Waldschmidt, C. (2019). A Generalized Model for Two-Element Biomimetic Antenna Arrays. *IEEE Trans. Antennas Propag.* 67, 1630–1639. doi: 10.1109/TAP.2018.288 8829
- Ishfaque, A., and Kim, B. (2018). Fly Ormia Ochracea Inspired MEMS Directional Microphone: a Review. IEEE Sensors J. 18, 1778–1789. doi: 10.1109/JSEN.2017. 2787862
- Kleindienst, H.-U., Koch, U. T., and Wohlers, D. W. (1981). Analysis of the cricket auditory system by acoustic stimulation using a closed sound field. *J. Comp. Physiol.* 141, 283–296. doi: 10.1007/BF006 09930
- Kuhn, G. F. (1987). "Physical Acoustics and Measurements Pertaining to Directional Hearing," in *In Directional Hearing*, eds W. A. Yost and G. Gourevitch (New York, NY: Springer US), 3–25. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4612-4738-8_1
- Lakes-Harlan, R., Stolting, H., and Stumpner, A. (1999). Convergent Evolution of Insect Hearing Organs from a Preadaptive Structure. *Proc. Biol. Sci.* 266, 1161–1167. doi: 10.1098/rspb.1999.0758
- Lee, N., Elias, D. O., and Mason, A. C. (2009). A precedence effect resolves phantom sound source illusions in the parasitoid fly *Ormia ochracea*. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 106, 6357–6362. doi: 10.1073/pnas.08098 86106
- Lee, N., and Mason, A. C. (2017). How spatial release from masking may fail to function in a highly directional auditory system. *ELife* 6:e20731. doi: 10.7554/ eLife.20731.036
- Lehmann, G. U. C. (2003). Review of Biogeography, Host Range and Evolution of Acoustic Hunting in Ormiini (Insecta, Diptera, Tachinidae), Parasitoids of Night-calling Bushcrickets and Crickets (Insecta, Orthoptera, Ensifera). Zool. Anz. J. Comp. Zool. 242, 107–120. doi: 10.1078/0044-5231-00091
- Lisiewski, A. P., Liu, H. J., Yu, M., Currano, L., and Gee, D. (2011). Fly-ear inspired micro-sensor for sound source localization in two dimensions. J. Acoust. Soc. Am. 129, E166–E171. doi: 10.1121/1.3565473
- Mason, A. C., Oshinsky, M. L., and Hoy, R. R. (2001). Hyperacute directional hearing in a microscale auditory system. *Nature* 410, 686–690. doi: 10.1038/ 35070564

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to thank Tom Adelman for suggesting the standingwave manipulation; Ali Kanji and Jessica Shaikh for help with rearing flies.

- Miles, R. N., Robert, D., and Hoy, R. R. (1995). Mechanically coupled ears for directional hearing in the parasitoid fly Ormia ochracea. J. Acoust. Soc. Am. 98, 3059–3070. doi: 10.1121/1.413830
- Miles, R. N., Su, Q., Cui, W., Shetye, M., Degertekin, F. L., Bicen, B., et al. (2009). A low-noise differential microphone inspired by the ears of the parasitoid fly *Ormia ochracea. J. Acoust. Soc. Am.* 125, 2013–2026. doi: 10.1121/1.3082118
- Oshinsky, M. L., and Hoy, R. R. (2002). Physiology of the Auditory Afferents in an Acoustic Parasitoid Fly. *J. Neurosci.* 22, 7254–7263. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI. 22-16-07254.2002
- Pollack, G. S., and Mason, A. C. (2014). "Sound localization in Ormia ochracea: implications of distributed receptor-neuron thresholds," *In 11th International Congress of Neuroethology*, (Sapporo, Japan: University of Bristol).
- Rahaman, A., and Kim, B. (2020). Sound source localization by Ormia ochracea inspired low-noise piezoelectric MEMS directional microphone. Sci. Rep. 10:9545. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-66489-6
- Rheinlaender, J., and Mörchen, A. (1979). 'Time-intensity trading' in locust auditory interneurones. *Nature* 281, 672–674. doi: 10.1038/28 1672a0
- Rheinlaender, J., Shen, J.-X., and Römer, H. (2006). Auditory lateralization in bushcrickets: a new dichotic paradigm. J. Comp. Physiol. A Neuroetho.l Sens. Neural Behav. Physiol. 192, 389–397. doi: 10.1007/s00359-005-0078-1
- Robert, D., Edgecomb, R. S., Read, M. P., and Hoy, R. R. (1996a). Tympanal hearing in tachinid flies (Diptera, Tachinidae, Ormiini): the comparative morphology of an innovation. *Cell Tissue Res.* 284, 435–448. doi: 10.1007/s0044100 50604
- Robert, D., Miles, R. N., and Hoy, R. R. (1996b). Directional hearing by mechanical coupling in the parasitoid fly Ormia ochracea. J. Comp. Physiol. A 179, 29–44. doi: 10.1007/BF00193432
- Robert, D., Miles, R. N., and Hoy, R. R. (1998). Tympanal mechanics in the parasitoid fly Ormia ochracea: intertympanal coupling during mechanical vibration. J. Comp. Physiol. A 183, 443–452. doi: 10.1007/s003590050270
- Robert, D., Miles, R. N., and Hoy, R. R. (1999). Tympanal hearing in the sarcophagid parasitoid fly *Emblemasoma* sp.: the biomechanics of directional hearing. J. Exp. Biol. 202, 1865–1876. doi: 10.1242/jeb.202.14.1865
- Römer, H., and Schmidt, A. (2016). Directional hearing in insects with internally coupled ears. *Biol. Cybern.* 110, 247–254. doi: 10.1007/s00422-015-0672-4
- Sakaguchi, K. M., and Gray, D. A. (2011). Host song selection by an acoustically orienting parasitoid fly exploiting a multispecies assemblage of cricket hosts. *Anim. Behav.* 81, 851–858. doi: 10.1016/j.anbehav.2011.01.024
- van Hemmen, J. L., Christensen-Dalsgaard, J., Carr, C. E., and Narins, P. M. (2016). Animals and ICE: meaning, origin, and diversity. *Biol. Cybern.* 110, 237–246. doi: 10.1007/s00422-016-0702-x
- Vedurmudi, A. P., Young, B. A., and van Hemmen, J. L. (2016a). Internally coupled ears: mathematical structures and mechanisms underlying ICE. *Biol. Cybern.* 110, 359–382. doi: 10.1007/s00422-016-0696-4
- Vedurmudi, A. P., Goulet, J., Christensen-Dalsgaard, J., Young, B. A., Williams, R., and van Hemmen, J. L. (2016b). How Internally Coupled Ears Generate Temporal and Amplitude Cues for Sound Localization. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 116:028101. doi: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.116.028101
- von Helversen, D., and Rheinlaender, J. (1988). Interaural intensity and time discrimination in an unrestraint grasshopper: a tentative behavioural approach. *J. Comp. Physiol.* 162, 333–340. doi: 10.1007/BF00606121
- Wagner, W. E., and Basolo, A. L. (2007). Host preferences in a phonotactic parasitoid of field crickets: the relative importance of host song characters. *Ecol. Entomol.* 32, 478–484. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2311.2007.00898.x
- Wineriter, S. A., and Walker, T. J. (1990). Rearing phonotactic parasitoid flies diptera, tachinidae, ormiini. Ormia-spp. Entomophaga 35, 621–632. doi: 10. 1007/BF02375096

- Yack, J., and Dawson, J. (2008). "Insect Ears," in *The Senses: A Comprehensive Reference, Vol 3, Audition, Peter Dallos and Donata Oertel*, eds I. B. Allan, K. Akimichi, G. S. Gordon, and W. Gerald (Academic Press: San Diego), 35–54. doi: 10.1016/B978-012370880-9.00003-7
- Zhang, Y., Reid, A., and Windmill, J. (2018). Insect-inspired acoustic microsensors. *Curr. Opin. Insect Sci.* 30, 33–38. doi: 10.1016/j.cois.2018. 09.002
- Zuk, M., Simmons, L. W., and Rotenberry, J. T. (1995). Acoustically-orienting parasitoids in calling and silent males of the field cricket *Teleogryllus oceanicus*. *Ecol. Entomol.* 20, 380–383. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2311.1995.tb00471.x

Conflict of Interest: The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Mason. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Evolutionary and Biomechanical Basis of Drumming Behavior in Woodpeckers

Eric R. Schuppe^{1†}, Amy R. Rutter^{2†}, Thomas J. Roberts² and Matthew J. Fuxjager^{2*}

¹ Department of Neurobiology and Behavior, Cornell University, Ithaca, NY, United States, ² Department of Ecology, Evolution, and Organismal Biology, Brown University, Providence, RI, United States

Understanding how and why behavioral traits diversify during the course of evolution is a longstanding goal of organismal biologists. Historically, this topic is examined from an ecological perspective, where behavioral evolution is thought to occur in response to selection pressures that arise through different social and environmental factors. Yet organismal physiology and biomechanics also play a role in this process by defining the types of behavioral traits that are more or less likely to arise. Our paper explores the interplay between ecological, physiological, and mechanical factors that shape the evolution of an elaborate display in woodpeckers called the drum. Individuals produce this behavior by rapidly hammering their bill on trees in their habitat, and it serves as an aggressive signal during territorial encounters. We describe how different components of the display-namely, speed (bill strikes/beats sec⁻¹), length (total number of beats), and rhythm-differentially evolve likely in response to sexual selection by male-male competition, whereas other components of the display appear more evolutionarily static, possibly due to morphological or physiological constraints. We synthesize research related to principles of avian muscle physiology and ecology to guide inferences about the biomechanical basis of woodpecker drumming. Our aim is to introduce the woodpecker as an ideal study system to study the physiological basis of behavioral evolution and how it relates to selection born through different ecological factors.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Damian Octavio Elias, University of California, Berkeley, United States

Reviewed by:

Michael Collins, U.S. Naval Research Laboratory, United States Carl Soulsbury, University of Lincoln, United Kingdom

> *Correspondence: Matthew J. Fuxjager

matthew_fuxjager@brown.edu

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Behavioral and Evolutionary Ecology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution

> Received: 04 January 2021 Accepted: 29 June 2021 Published: 26 July 2021

Citation:

Schuppe ER, Rutter AR, Roberts TJ and Fuxjager MJ (2021) Evolutionary and Biomechanical Basis of Drumming Behavior in Woodpeckers. Front. Ecol. Evol. 9:649146. doi: 10.3389/fevo.2021.649146 Keywords: display behavior, muscle physiology, sexual selection, spring mass system, behavioral evolution

INTRODUCTION

Understanding how behavioral traits evolve is a longstanding goal of organismal biology. Indeed, most research within the field of behavioral ecology that addresses this objective explores the ecological factors that influence changes to a species' behavioral program over time (Westneat and Fox, 2010). Such work has resulted in an extremely rich knowledge of environmental factors that create selection pressures, which in turn modify the way that individuals interact with their social and physical surroundings to better survive and reproduce. Yet, at the same time, we must remember that behavior itself is often a manifestation of complex neurobiological and physiological processes. In these cases, complex behaviors occur through concomitant changes to the nervous and/or musculoskeletal systems that determine how individuals express behavior (Bauwens et al., 1995;

Clifton et al., 2015; Ding et al., 2016; Fuxjager et al., 2016; Barkan et al., 2018). Our understanding of behavioral evolution from this mechanistic standpoint is murkier than it is from the ecological standpoint—yet, both perspectives are necessary to fully uncover the complex processes by which behavioral changes can (or cannot) occur.

Here, we explore the evolutionary interplay among behavioral evolution and organismal ecology and physiology. We do this by focusing on the evolution of woodpecker "beak behavior," or the actions of drilling for foraging and nest creation as well as drumming for social signaling. We start by discussing the woodpecker clade and its diversity. We then review how these birds use their bill for important naturally selected and sexually selected behavioral traits. A deeper exploration of the evolution of drumming displays (a territorial signal that is produced by rapidly hitting their bill against a resonant substrate) allows us to assess how selection promotes behavioral diversity, particularly in the face of morphological constraint. We then move the discussion to the physiological and biomechanical basis of woodpecker drilling and drumming. We do this by reviewing the relatively limited literature on the topic and then developing a model for how drumming may be controlled. Our aim is to begin to merge our understanding of the ecological factors associated with the diversification of "beak behavior" and the physiological and mechanical factors that shape this behavior.

WOODPECKERS: A FAMILY-WIDE MODEL FOR STUDIES OF INTEGRATIVE EVOLUTION

Woodpeckers are an intriguing group of birds. They are contained within the clade Coraciimorphae, which includes a large assemblage of cavity nesting species such as trogons (order: Trogoniformes), hornbills and hoopoes (order: Bucerotiformes), and rollers and kingfishers (order: Coraciiformes) (Jarvis et al., 2014). Woodpeckers themselves are part of the family Picidae, which together with puffbirds (family: Bucconidae), Jacamars (family: Galbulidae), and a variety of toucan and barbets (infraorder: Ramphastides), form the order Piciformes (Jarvis et al., 2014).

Woodpeckers are also highly diverse. For example, they occupy nearly all terrestrial habitats across the globe (except for Australasia and Antarctica). This includes rich temperate and tropical forests, arid plains and savannas, swamps and marshes, and deserts (Bent, 1939; de Kiriline Lawrence, 1967; Short, 1970, 1971). Likewise, woodpecker behavior is equally variable. Some taxa adopt cooperative lifestyles, in which large family groups live together to feed and shelter (Koenig, 1981; Lennartz et al., 1987), whereas other species adopt isolated, nomadic lifestyles (Collins, 2017b; Nickley and Bulluck, 2020). Woodpeckers have also evolved an array of diets and foraging tactics; some species feed generally, while others forage on highly specialized items, such as sap or ants (Spring, 1965; Tate, 1973; Leite et al., 2013). From a morphological perspective, woodpecker body sizes span a wide range. For example, certain piculets are roughly 10 g in mass and no more than 10 cm in body length, whereas

Dryocopus woodpeckers weigh around 300 g and are almost 50 cm in body length (Koenig, 1996; Miles et al., 2018). Plumage characteristics of woodpeckers are equally diverse—many species exhibit their own unique color ornaments, which often consist of bright red and yellow on the head (Stradi et al., 1998; Wiebe and Vitousek, 2015; Lammertink et al., 2016; Miller et al., 2019). Some species even have brilliant crests that exaggerate the aesthetic of their head.

Phenotypic differences are not the only reason why woodpeckers are a compelling family for studies of evolution. Similarities among these birds provide an opportunity to explore how different forces of constraint and/or preservation of adaptive traits influence phenotypic evolution in species that have otherwise undergone significant diversification over time. For most woodpeckers, the primary "phenotypic tie" that binds the clade together is their uncanny propensity to use their bill as a hammer or drill on wood in their environment. Here, we refer to this as "beak behavior," and we roughly categorize it into one of three different functional groups: (i) foraging, (ii) nest building, and (iii) displaying (Figure 1). We hypothesize that this behavior is built from a conserved physiological scaffolding that supports the extensive use of the head and body as a hammer. Presumably, features of this scaffolding arose deep within the Coraciimorphae lineage, where nest excavation first emerged. Yet something must have happened in the woodpecker's history to modify the mechanisms of pecking, which allows the species to use this



FIGURE 1 | Bill behaviors in the downy woodpecker (*Dyrobates pubescens*). (A) During the breeding season, downy woodpeckers excavate nest cavities within trees using their bill. These nest cavities serve as a place to raise offspring during the breeding season. Photo credit: Shiva Sheney (CC BY 2.0, no changes or modification were made to the photograph). (B) Throughout the year, woodpeckers will also use their bill to forage on trees for food, including probing for insects (see *main text*). (C) Most woodpeckers communicate by hammering their bill repeatedly against a tree, which produces an acoustic signal used in courtship and competition. This loud atonal signal is called a "drum." Each time the bill makes contact with the tree it produces a "drum beat," with the timing between two beats called the inter-beat interval. Both recordings are at the same temporal scale for comparison, with a scale bar at the bottom right. behavior more broadly in contexts of feeding, reproduction, and communication (Figure 1). A major goal of our research is to elucidate the physiological scaffolding that underlies "beak behavior," and assess how it influences the trajectory of phenotypic evolution.

WOODPECKER "BEAK BEHAVIOR": NEST EXCAVATION AND FORAGING

As discussed above, nest excavation is likely the ancestral form of "beak behavior" in woodpeckers. Woodpeckers and other primary cavity nesting species have the incredible task of excavating a portion of a tree that will serve as a safe place for nesting and egg laying during the breeding season and for roosting year-round (Figure 1A) (Kilham, 1958; Short, 1979; Rudolph et al., 1990). Acquiring and defending territories that have multiple sites suitable for these uses is integral to the bird's survival and reproductive success. Most of the Picids construct nest cavities each breeding season, with the trees that particular species choose for cavity construction ranging from alreadyrotting specimens in wetlands to fully mature live trees in densely forested areas (Short, 1979). In either case, nest construction often requires woodpeckers to expend a significant amount of time to use their bill as a drill, chipping away bits of wood to create a relatively large hole in which the bird and its clutch can fit. This process often lasts multiple weeks, but in the end the bird creates a site that provides suitable protection for future offspring (Kilham, 1958; Short, 1979). Although the strenuous physicality of this task requires numerous physiological and morphological adaptations, recent work suggests that nest excavation into multiple layers of dense wood is sometimes facilitated by fungi that soften the wood (Farris et al., 2004; Jusino et al., 2016). Indeed, red-cockaded woodpeckers (Dryobates borealis) transmit fungal spores that hasten the wood-decay of pine trees from their beak into the fresh live wood, as individuals build their nest (Jusino et al., 2016). One might consider this an unusual form of tool use on the part of the woodpecker, which may be adaptive considering that it speeds up the nest excavation processes and likely buffers the sheer physical challenge associated with this part of the reproductive process.

Woodpeckers also forage using different styles of billhammering. Some species chip away or excavate tree bark to extract food items from these sites, whereas other birds look for food in holes that are already present in a tree or shrub (Short, 1971; Conner, 1981; Askins, 1983). The latter behavior is probably the more iconic mode of woodpecker feeding, as it is often performed vigorously. In such cases, birds scrape and chip away large pieces of bark to gain access to insect larvae hiding underneath, creating an aesthetic of a jackhammer drilling on a substrate (Askins, 1983). Hairy woodpeckers (Leuconotopicus villosus) and downy woodpeckers (Picoides pubescens), two common North American species, are well known for exhibiting such behavior in parks, greenways, and forests. As downy woodpeckers forage, for example, they often slow pecking motions (Figure 1B) on bark to excavate small insects (Lima, 1983, 1984; Peters and Grubb, 1983). At the same time, other species use their bill to make caches in which they store food items. Acorn woodpeckers (*Melanerpes formicivorus*) create incredible acorn caches, whereby entire trees are littered with holes that can be used to keep acorns (Koenig et al., 2008).

Tropical woodpeckers differ slightly in their foraging behavior than temperate ones. For example, feeding via excavation is rarer, and tropic woodpeckers are even less likely to cache food for later (Askins, 1983). Instead, woodpeckers of the tropics often raid arboreal ant nests and termite mounds, pecking through the dense structures these invertebrates have constructed to shield themselves from predators (Askins, 1983). Other species, like the Kaempfer's Woodpecker (*Celeus obrieni*), drill through the internodes of bamboo stems and feed on the ants that shelter inside (Leite et al., 2013). Although these strategies are quite different from their temperate relatives, it is abundantly clear that tropic woodpeckers still leverage bill-hammering to get access to food.

WOODPECKER DRUMMING

Woodpeckers also use "beak behavior" for social communication. The most common example is the drum, or the loud staccato sound that penetrates the environment when an individual rapidly hammers its bill against a tree (Figure 1C). Ornithologists have long known that drumming is a territorial signal produced by resident birds as they settle and defend their territory during the breeding season. Early documentation of drumming comes from researchers like Brewster (1876), who described the drums of yellow-bellied sapsuckers (Sphyrapicus varius) and noted that they were often produced when an individual's breeding territory was being invaded by another (Brewster, 1876). This phenomenon-increased drumming behavior during territorial interactions-has been noted many times since, often in North American woodpeckers (Bent, 1939; Kilham, 1959, 1960, 1969, 1974, 1977; de Kiriline Lawrence, 1967; Ligon, 1970; Winkler and Short, 1978).

One of the interesting aspects of drumming as a social signal is that it may function over both short and long spatial scales. During agonistic encounters, for example, individuals will perform drums when opponents invade their territories. At the same time, residents often broadcast drums at specific times in the day (e.g., dawn) (Kilham, 1958, 1974; de Kiriline Lawrence, 1967), much like a resident songbird sings at the morning's first light to broadly advertise to neighbors that they still occupy the area (Burt and Vehrencamp, 2005).

Several studies used field experiments to better understand the function of drumming behavior. This work often employs simulated territorial intrusions, or STIs, in populations of freeliving birds. The idea is to test how residents respond to encounters in which they hear a drum display on their territory, as though it is being invaded by an interloper. STI methodology is compellingly simple: an experimenter broadcasts a putative aggressive signal (in this case a drum) in a resident's territory and then observes the resident's behavioral response (Searcy et al., 2006). Studies across multiple woodpecker species demonstrate that playback of drums reliably elicits aggressive behavior from resident individuals, including both males and females (Winkler and Short, 1978; Dodenhoff et al., 2001; Schuppe et al., 2016; Figarski, 2017; Schuppe and Fuxjager, 2018). For example, when downy woodpeckers are presented with drumming playback, both sexes engage in a wide range of behaviors to defend their territories, including calls and attack flights, as well as drums (Schuppe et al., 2016; Schuppe and Fuxjager, 2018). Additional work in red-bellied woodpeckers demonstrates a significant level of dynamism in these responses (Miles and Fuxjager, 2019). For instance, males that encounter an unfamiliar intruder (via STI) on their territory for the first time begin their agonistic defensive routines largely through flight displays, and not drums. However, if resident males experience additional territorial intrusions on subsequent days, they flip the order in which they produce these behaviors (they start encounters off with drums, and then segue into flights). This latter context also results in the production of significantly more drumming across the board. Interestingly, these territorial strategies change if a resident male's female partner (who does not partake in territorial defense) is present during the STI-in such cases, males dramatically reduce the number of drums they produce, no matter how many STIs they have accrued. Instead, they rely mostly on aggressive calling behavior and attack flights.

Altogether, these observational and experimental studies imply that drumming is an aggressive signal. In fact, drumming meets well-established criteria that distinguish agonistic display behavior: (*i*) drum production increases in aggressive contexts, (*ii*) receivers respond to drums by also producing this behavior, and (*iii*) drum signals predict robust aggressive responses from territorial residents (Searcy and Beecher, 2009). It is also important to recognize, however, that drumming may have other functions related to social signaling. For instance, some authors propose that drumming mediates elements of mate choice (Kilham, 1974, 1979). Tests of this idea, or any other that explores the functional significance of drumming outside the context of territoriality, are rarely (if ever) addressed in a rigorous experimental fashion.

Drum Displays: Speed, Length, and Rhythm

Establishing a connection between drumming and territoriality is only the first step toward understanding how this display works. Like many studies in animal communication, one can attempt to "decode" drumming by figuring out the way that the signal's components underlie its functionality. Drumming is ideal for such work, because the display's acoustics are relatively simple-each beat is an atonal burst of broadband sound, much like a handclap (Figures 1C, 2). As such, there are only a handful of ways to regulate this display. Individuals, for example, might modify the drum's speed (number of beats produced over time) or length (total number of beats) (Figure 2). Likewise, individuals can adjust elements of the signal's rhythm by altering elements of cadence (description of how speed changes over time) or acceleration (description of the direction of speed change over time) (see Figure 2; Miles et al., 2018, 2020; Schuppe and Fuxjager, 2018). Of course, individuals may also

modify amplitude (volume) or dominant frequencies within the broadband spectra that define beat acoustics.

Recent experimental work focuses on the effects of drum speed, length, and rhythm during territorial contests. Hints that these variables are functionally important arise through research showing notable variation in parameters of speed and length within populations and among species (Stark et al., 1998; Schuppe et al., 2016; Miles et al., 2018; Schuppe and Fuxjager, 2018). For example, studies in red-bellied woodpeckers show that individuals actively engaging in territorial interactions exhibit drums that are longer than drums produced spontaneously in the morning (Wilkins and Ritchison, 1999). This finding provides further support for the notion that individuals adjust how they drum to regulate the effectiveness or potency of the signal in a context-dependent manner.

Other research looks specifically at the role of drum speed in territorial competition. In downy woodpeckers, for example, the average drum speed is about 16 beats s^{-1} , with 23 beats s^{-1} as the absolutely fastest drum we have ever recorded (Schuppe and Fuxjager, 2018). If resident birds are presented (via STI) with engineered drums in which the time interval between subsequent beats is decreased by 8 ms, they become significantly more aggressive and produce more agonistic behavior in response (see Figure 3A; Schuppe and Fuxjager, 2018). This high performance "rapid drum" falls within the natural distribution of downy woodpecker drum speeds, which means that resident birds are responding to a display that they might normally encounter. It is therefore thought that residents increase their aggressive response to this display because they perceive it as a more potent threat from an intruder. Consistent with this notion is additional work showing that resident birds presented with the "rapid drum" stimulus attempt to match its speed by producing drums with inter-beat intervals that are roughly 4 ms faster than residents presented with control drums (slower, low performance drums; Figure 3B). If this finding did in fact reflect a resident's attempt to match the social threat with that of an intruder, it is notable that the resident falls short of fully doing so (Figure 3C). This is likely because drum speed may be bound by an upper physiological limit (more on this topic below). Regardless, these data support the idea that speed is a critical component of drum effectiveness during aggressive disputes.

Similar types of studies have also looked at drum length. For example, downy woodpeckers produce drums that include roughly 16 beats. When residents are subjected to STIs that broadcast longer drums with 19 beats, they again become more aggressive and produce more agonistic behavior (Schuppe et al., 2016). This study did not assess whether residents attempt to match drum length with that of the intruder; however, this work showed that resident males and females appear to coordinate their aggressive response to intruders when they hear engineered "long drums." Again, these findings suggest that residents perceive longer drums as more threatening agonistic signals, and thus adjust their territorial response accordingly.

We suspect that sexual selection by male-male competition drives the evolutionary elaboration of drum speed and length, at least in downy woodpeckers. This idea is based on recent studies that suggest that elaborate displays produced through



woodpeckers. Boxes also illustrate that woodpeckers occupy diverse habitats throughout the world. Photo credits: Japanese pygmy woodpecker (Ik T, CC BY 2.0); golden-fronted woodpecker (Roberto González, CC BY 2.0); red-breasted sapsucker (Beck Matsubara, CC BY 2.0); powerful woodpecker (Alan Harper, CC BY 2.0); buff-spotted flameback (Tareq Ahmed, CC BY 2.0); nubian woodpecker (Brad Schram, CC BY 2.0); Andean flicker (Vil Sandi, CC BY 2.0); helmeted woodpecker (Hector Bottai, CC BY 3.0); and red-throated wryneck (Derek Keats, CC BY 2.0). No photographs have been altered.

body and/or appendage movement reflect honest information regarding the health or condition of the signaler (Nowicki et al., 2002; Müller et al., 2010). The physiological link between these two variables—motor control of gesture and condition—are still being worked out, but there is a growing body of literature that suggests even the performance of routine locomotory tasks quickly becomes more challenging when they are performed at higher speeds (Wynn et al., 2015; Amir Abdul Nasir et al., 2017). In this way, competitive drumming may push woodpeckers to their performance limit, such that low quality individuals are incapable of drumming as fast or as long. Research in other taxa is fully consistent with this view, as signal length appears to influence the outcome of social interactions across a broad range of animals. In territorial disputes, for example, individuals capable of producing longer signals (e.g., more repetitive elements) are often perceived as superior competitors (Behr et al., 2006; Rivera-Gutierrez et al., 2010; Mager et al., 2012). Future work will be needed to test these ideas using multiple approaches. One starting point is to determine whether individuals with faster drums exhibit better health or body condition. Another more



FIGURE 3 | Residents modulate the speed of their own drum displays to resemble that of the high-speed stimulus. (A) Representative waveform diagrams of high-speed and low-speed drum stimuli that were used during stimulated territorial intrusions (STIs). (B) In response to STIs with the high-speed stimulus, territorial residents produce significantly faster drums compared to those that heard the low-speed drum. Bars represent mean \pm standard error (C). Yet, many residents were not able to produce drums that were as fast as the high-speed drum stimulus. Residents on average produced drums that were approximately 4 ms slower than the actual high-speed stimulus. All data are reanalyzed from Schuppe and Fuxjager (2018).

direct way includes determining whether individuals with faster and longer drums exhibit greater reproductive success.

Several studies also look at the functional effect of drum rhythm. Downy and red-bellied woodpeckers, for example, live in sympatry across much of eastern North America, and the two species frequently share overlapping territories. Although both taxa produce drums that are similar in average speed and length, rhythm is the one key difference between their drums-downy woodpeckers produce a drum with a cadence that slows down at a linear rate, whereas red-bellied woodpeckers produce a drum that speeds up at an exponential rate (Schuppe and Fuxjager, 2018). If a typical downy woodpecker drum is engineered so that its rhythm resembles that of a redbellied woodpecker, then downy woodpeckers stop responding to it during an STI. Likewise, if a red-bellied woodpecker drum is engineered to resemble the rhythm of a downy woodpecker, then red-bellied woodpeckers stop responding to it (Schuppe and Fuxjager, 2018). Among other North American species, resident woodpeckers also exhibit subdued behavioral responses to STIs of either sympatric or allopatric species that exhibit markedly different drum speeds, cadences, or acceleration patterns (Dodenhoff et al., 2001). However, when species encounter (via STI) heterospecific intruders that produce drums of similar length and speed then their response is comparable to that of a conspecific intruder (Dodenhoff et al., 2001). These results are consistent with the idea that rhythm encodes species identity, a concept that extends across much of the woodpecker family. Large-scale comparative

analyses indicate that sympatric sister taxa are more likely to have different cadence patterns to their drum (and to a lesser extent different acceleration patterns), compared to allopatric sister pairs.

Evolution of Drumming Behavior

Because drumming behavior is shared among most of the woodpecker lineage, we can also begin to study this signal at a macroevolutionary level. This approach can highlight potential principles that guide the evolutionary "construction" of drum displays. Such work is challenging when applied to many other types of signals. Birdsong, for example, is so complex and variable among species that it becomes difficult to track how homologous elements of the display might change through time, without reducing these elements into variables (e.g., principle components) that poorly track the display's complexity (Goodale and Podos, 2010; Weir and Price, 2019). But drumming behavior differs because of the limited number of ways by which it varies from species to species; thus, we can more easily track how specific components of the signal likely change over time.

Ancestral state reconstruction of drumming behavior reveals that the signal likely first arose at the base of Picinae. This observation suggests that the signal was then retained through time, such that variation in the signal that deviates from this ancestral state evolved by way of either selection or neutral processes. Machinery that underlies a bird's ability to drum therefore presumably evolved early in the species' history and was similarly likely retained as the taxa within this clade diversified. Only a few woodpeckers (\approx 5) have completely lost drumming behavior, and many of these birds inhabit environments without trees (Miles et al., 2018). For example, ground woodpeckers (Geocolaptes olivaceus) live in holes in the ground throughout the treeless grasslands of southern Africa; individuals of this species have evolved wing displays in lieu of drumming (Short, 1971). Andean flickers (Colaptes rupicola) have also lost drumming from their behavioral repertoire, as they occupy the grasslands high up in the Andean mountains (Short, 1970, 1971). Interestingly, there are published anecdotal observations of Andean flickers producing drum-like displays in populations that have recolonized habitats containing trees (Fjeldsa, 1991). Such findings speak to the notion that woodpeckers have a largely conserved neurobiological program for drumming, even in species that have lost the behavior altogether.

How exactly do drum displays differ across the woodpecker family? The answer centers on the three main components of the drum described above: speed, length, and rhythm (**Figures 2, 3**). For example, Japanese pygmy woodpeckers (*Yungipicus kizuki*) from the deciduous forests of northeastern Asia drum at \approx 40 beats s⁻¹, whereas Nubian woodpeckers (*Campethera nubica*) from Central and Eastern Africa drum at \approx 8 beats s⁻¹. Length variation is similarly extreme, with many *Campephilus* woodpeckers producing short "double knock" (2 beat) drums, while greater flamebacks (*Chrysocolaptes lucidus*) of the Indian subcontinent produce \approx 50 beats per drum. Similarly, species like the South American helmeted woodpecker (*Celeus galeatus*) show a striking linear deceleration in speed, whereas other species like the North American golden-fronted woodpecker (*Melanerpes aurifrons*) show non-linear change in speed characterized by acceleration and then deceleration. Outside of these patterns, species within the *Sphyrapicus* genus exhibit unusual drum rhythms that are characterized by erratic changes in speed.

Our past work tests whether phenomenological signatures of strong sexual selection mark species differences in any of these display parameters. Specifically, we use sexual size dimorphism (SSD), which is one of the best predictors of the strength of sexual selection in birds [males are generally larger than females in taxa that evolve in response to relatively strong intrasexual selection; SSD (Dale et al., 2007; Székely et al., 2007)]. Analyses indicate that SSD positively predicts variation in drum length, but not drum speed (Miles et al., 2018). This finding suggests that these two components of the display are modular, in that they can change over time somewhat independently of each other. Morphological constraint provides insight into why length may be more modular and become elaborated by sexual selection. Although we found no evidence of a relationship between body size and drum length, this morphological variable is associated with speed (Miles et al., 2018). These two variables form a triangular distribution, in which the hypotenuse reflects a statistically significant negative relationship between body size and species' drum speed. In short, larger woodpeckers exhibit a notable tradeoff between size and speed, but length is unconstrained in this manner. Thus, these findings suggest that sexual selection drives the elaboration of drum elements that are less constrained. Another insight from our work that is consistent with this idea is that drum length shows a greater evolutionary rate than drum speed.

In a separate study, we were interested in how a component of this signal, rhythm, that is in part used for species recognition is also influenced by sexual selection. We find that greater SSD values positively predict whether complex cadences and acceleration patterns are present in a particular species (Miles et al., 2020). Woodpecker species with larger males are therefore more likely to produce a drum that either increases or decreases in speed (or both) at a linear (e.g., consistent slowdown in interbeat interval) or non-linear cadence (e.g., exponential increase in inter-beat interval speed). This suggests that sexual selection by male-male competition potentially influences how drum rhythm changes over time, alongside effects of selection through conspecific recognition (see above). Importantly, we also find that body size does not predict facets of rhythm, suggesting that morphology itself does not constrain innovation in this feature of the drum like it does for speed.

The evolutionary interplay among speed, length, and rhythm is also likely complex, as these components of the drum can influence how the others evolve. Rhythm, for example, can have potent effects on the way that drum speed and length change over time (Miles et al., 2020). When a drum takes on a complex cadence or acceleration pattern (anything not constant), then evolutionary rates of both speed and length are depressed. Likewise, this also means that drums with a constant rhythm no change in speed over the course of a single drum—potentiate the evolution of display speed and length parameters. Either way, these findings provide clear evidence that one component of the display can dramatically alter how other components evolve, which of course influences the phenotypic "options" for sexual selection.

However, our studies also suggest that rhythm unequally constrains length and speed evolution. Rates of length evolution, for instance, are lower in species that drum with linear cadences, compared to those that drum with non-linear cadences (Miles et al., 2020). This difference is not observed with respect to rates of speed evolution, whereby constraint severity is likely similar for non-linear cadences and linear cadences alike. Thus, these data again point to drum length as a less constrained element of the drum signal, creating a potential "path of least resistance" for length display elaboration to occur.

Physiology and Biomechanics of Drumming and Drilling

Like any motor activity, beak behavior in woodpeckers must operate within the constraints of physical principles, as well as physiological "rules" that are common to muscle-driven systems. Below we review how physical and physiological demands may shape the evolution of beak behavior. Because there are few empirical studies of mechanics in drumming or drilling, we use inference from other forms of movement or communication signals to explore how mechanical demands may shape the evolution of these behaviors.

Drumming Is a Fast Activity

An obvious feature of drumming is that it is a high-speed activity. By plotting average drumming rates for different species, organized by genus, one can easily see that (i) drumming speeds are variable both within and across genera; and (ii) many species drum at rates exceeding 20 beats per second (**Figure 4**). Speed matters, because fast motions place demands on the neuromuscular system, and thus the evolution of fast drumming may have been driven by its usefulness as an honest signal of







condition. Below we present benchmarks to put drumming in context of other movements, and we speculate how fast speed may translate to physiological challenges.

Is drumming unusually fast? Figure 5 compares cyclic motion frequency across a range of vertebrate activities, from locomotory movements to motions involved in communication signals and some non-locomotor movements (e.g., cat paw-shake). The goal in compiling these data is not to produce an exhaustive summary, but rather to visualize broadly how motion frequencies compare for different kinds of activities. Perhaps the most obvious insight from Figure 5 is that communication signals can occur at much higher frequencies than locomotor movements. This is arguably consistent with the idea that sexual selection pushes performance to physiological limits, while also undoubtedly related to the differing mechanical demands of communication vs. locomotion. Drilling also involves rapid motions, but drilling frequencies are generally lower than drumming frequencies (Miles et al., 2018), and so selection for the fastest speeds has most likely been associated with drumming.

Given the uncertainties of our broad analysis of motion frequency (discussed below), conclusions drawn from this comparison must be made with caution. However, we feel that a roughly quantitative assessment leads to a few insights. The observation that the frequency of woodpecker drumming falls above the frequency of locomotor movements for similarly sized vertebrates supports the idea that drumming is a fast activity that presents a physiological challenge. At the same time, woodpecker drumming frequencies fall below the very fast communication signals of a diverse range of vertebrates. For some of the fastest motions in **Figure 5**, "superfast" muscles have been identified as a key specialization for generating high frequencies (Rome et al., 1996; Schaeffer et al., 1996; Rome and Lindstedt, 1998; Elemans et al., 2004; Fuxjager et al., 2016; Zweifel, 2017). These muscles allow for very fast activation and deactivation, but at the expense of maximum force production (peak tetanic isometric force). Woodpecker drumming frequencies fall below the frequencies of movements in which superfast muscles have been identified, but contractile property measurements will be required to evaluate whether such specializations occur in woodpeckers.

While at first glance woodpecker drumming may appear to occur at a relatively low frequency when compared with the calls of toads and toadfish, it is important to acknowledge that frequency is only one component of what makes a movement mechanically demanding. All of the very high frequency motions included on **Figure 5** involve muscles driving the motion of relatively light loads. The muscles that drive a warbler's trill, for example, are moving only air and relatively light structures of the syrinx, as well as possibly the mass of some respiratory muscles (Hartley, 1990; Wild et al., 1998; Suthers et al., 1999). Woodpecker drumming involves motions of the head and there appear to be specializations of neck muscles for this motion (Jenni, 1981; Schuppe et al., 2018), but many models of drumming suggest that motion of the body is important, driven by muscles of the hindlimbs (Vincent et al., 2007). This is significant, because the load determines the force and power that muscles must produce, thus the combination of relatively high frequency and high load of woodpecker drumming may be quite demanding.

Muscular Demands of Drumming and Drilling

Studies of woodpecker drumming mechanics are quite limited, but several lines of evidence support the idea that drumming places significant demands on the mechanical performance of skeletal muscles. When presented with a high frequency drum in an STI, woodpeckers appear to have a limited ability to increase their own drum speed-they can only boost their speed a few milliseconds faster than their typical, "unchallenged" speed. As mentioned above, this finding supports the idea that drum speeds occur at or near an individual's physiological limit (Schuppe et al., 2018; Figure 3). Such high frequency motions can challenge muscles in several ways. Foremost, to cycle at high frequencies, muscles must turn on (activate) and off (deactivate) rapidly. Activation of muscles is governed by voltage-gated Ca²⁺ channels in the sarcoplasmic reticulum. This action is passive (does not require energy) and can be quite rapid. Muscle deactivation requires the use of ATP for active pumping of Ca²⁺ from the myoplasm to the sarcoplasmic reticulum, against a concentration gradient, and thus muscle relaxation is generally slower than activation. Muscles that cycle rapidly, as measured typically by a short duration of twitch force, require specializations such as a high density of activation machinery (e.g., sarcoplasmic reticulum, t-tubules) and a high mitochondrial density to fuel the high metabolic demand of Ca²⁺ pumps (Rome and Lindstedt, 1998; Rome, 2006). This takes space that might otherwise be occupied by contractile machinery, and the energy demands of calcium pumps incur a metabolic cost in every muscle contraction. In muscles specialized for very fastest cycling, superfast muscles, a well-developed calcium buffering mechanism involving parvalbumin also appears to be essential (Rome et al., 1996; Rome and Lindstedt, 1998; Nelson et al., 2018).

Anatomical and molecular specializations provide some clues regarding potential modifications for rapid calcium cycling in woodpeckers. The longus colli ventralis muscle of the neck is enlarged and studies have identified physiological adaptations associated with quick relaxation in this muscle (Jenni, 1981; Schuppe et al., 2018). Elevated expression of two protein encoding genes [parvalbumin and sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca²⁺ ATPase 1 (SERCA1)] that promote rapid Ca²⁺ transients was observed in the longus colli ventralis muscle in both downy and red-bellied woodpeckers. The protein products of these genes assist in moving and retaining myoplasmic Ca²⁺ back into the sarcoplasmic reticulum, leading to muscle relaxation. This increase was not seen in a woodpecker muscle with no role in drumming or in a non-woodpecker species that exhibits slower drum-like movements during foraging (Schuppe et al., 2018). Given this evidence, the fivefold increase in gene expression of parvalbumin and SERCA1 in a drumming muscle appears to be a specialization that supports the drumming behavior.

In addition to the challenges of muscle activation/deactivation, high-frequency movement can involve a high speed of muscle shortening, and this presents challenges that are different and somewhat independent from those of turning muscle on and off. The simplest measure of intrinsic muscle speed of shortening is V_{max}, the theoretical unloaded maximal speed of shortening, which can be measured via a series of contractions at different speeds in an isolated, maximally activated muscle (Hill, 1938). Muscles with a high V_{max} are metabolically costly, as faster shortening speeds involve higher activities of the ATPase involved in cross-bridge cycling (Bárány, 1967). Further, the force-velocity relationship of muscle dictates a trade-off between speed and force that can impact fast motions, because fast motions often require high forces.

The mechanical power required for drumming is likely also considerable. Power is the product of force and velocity. It has been established that drumming involves high speeds of movement, and the accelerations required with each reversal of direction of body motion will also involve high forces. Liu et al. (2017) used a piezoelectric film mounted under a wood block to measure impact forces during beak behavior (likely drilling) in a great spotted woodpecker (Dendrocopos major) and found values as high as 19.6 Newtons, a force corresponding to 200-300X body weight for this species. High-speed film estimates of acorn woodpeckers measured decelerations on impact that were 500-1500 g (May et al., 1979). Further, whether drums are produced for territorial defense or for attracting mates, drum volume (acoustic energy) is likely important. The production of acoustic energy requires muscular work, and, while the total acoustic energy produced in a drum is unknown, it is clear from other examples of sound production in nature that acoustic signals can be mechanically demanding.

While drilling motions are generally slower than drumming motions, they are likely to be mechanically demanding for reasons beyond speed. The drilling motions associated with excavation require mechanical work to break down the substrate. The relative proportion of drilling power that is associated with motions of the body vs. substrate breakdown is unknown and likely to be variable depending on substrate qualities and behavior (e.g., nest excavating vs. foraging).

Sources of Power for Drumming and Drilling

It seems reasonable to assume that the evolution of rapid drumming involved selection for morphological and physiological features that allow for sustained power production to maintain the drumming motion and produce sound. There are few empirical studies of drumming or drilling kinematics or kinetics, and so our understanding of where and how power is produced is quite limited. Theoretical models of the drumming motion are in many cases based on minimal empirical data, and assumptions vary. Some models place power production within the neck (Liu et al., 2015), whereas others assume hindlimb muscles play a role (Vincent et al., 2007).

A theoretical, schematic analysis of the flow of power during drumming highlights the many possible energy sources and sinks,



as well as a number of possible sites for elastic mechanisms that might recycle energy (**Figure 6**). Ultimately, muscle actuation must drive the motion, and muscles in the limbs, neck, and even potentially the base of the tail may act as a source of energy for movement. The back-and-forth motion of drumming involves as much deceleration as acceleration, and so the muscles that power, for example, the acceleration of the head towards the substrate might also sink (dissipate) energy as they reverse the motion of the head backwards in preparation for the next strike. Elastic mechanisms can store and recover energy, for example, kinetic energy lost as the body decelerates might be stored in springy tendons, and the recoil of these tendons could reaccelerate the body in the other direction.

One known sink of energy is the acoustic energy of the drumming sound. Mechanical work done by muscles is necessary to produce this energy. Does the acoustic energy in the drum signal represent a significant energy sink? We are not aware of existing measures of acoustic power of drumming. Measurements of sound power in other animal signals tell us that acoustic energy content is generally low. For example, Brackenbury (1979) measured acoustic power output for 17 species of songbirds and found values ranging from 10 to 870 mW kg^{-1} body weight. Even the loudest bird in the study, the song thrush (Turdus *philomelos*), produced a call with a sound energy of 0.87 W kg^{-1} , which, for reference, is nearly two orders of magnitude lower than the 40–60 W kg⁻¹ of mechanical power measured for steady flight in similarly sized budgerigars (Melopsittacus undulatus). It is difficult, however, to dismiss the mechanical demands of acoustic energy production as negligible because the efficiency of conversion of mechanical work to acoustic energy is generally quite low (Fletcher, 2007).

Measures of metabolic efficiency of sound production (metabolic power/sound power) in several insects and anurans provide at least an upper limit of the direct cost of producing sound energy. Efficiency values of biological sound production range from 0.2 to 6.4% (Prestwich, 1994). The metabolic cost of birdsong has received considerable attention. Results vary but generally find a relatively low cost of singing, with an elevation in energy consumption during song that is generally below 2fold, and in some cases negligible (Oberweger and Goller, 2001; Ward et al., 2003; Zollinger and Brumm, 2015). Though birdsong is metabolically inexpensive, other acoustic signals, such as echolocation in bats, can be costly, with rates as high as 9.5 RMR in stationary bats (Speakman and Racey, 1991). The mechanical efficiency of sound production depends on a number of physical characteristics, including the size of the radiator, the wavelength of the sound, and the relative impedance of the radiator and sound-conducting medium (Prestwich, 1994). Given the distinctive nature of woodpecker drumming, it is difficult to draw conclusions about whether the acoustic energy content of a drum represents a significant portion of the mechanical energy budget of the drumming motion. Measurements of the energy content of the drum sound would improve our understanding.

Given the potentially high cost of rapid cyclic motions of the body and head during drumming, we hypothesize that the evolution of drumming as a signal hinges on mechanistic innovations that increase the efficiency of the drumming motion. The storage and recovery of energy by elastic mechanisms has the potential to significantly decrease the work that must be done by muscle contraction. Energy stored as elastic strain energy can be subsequently released, and work recovered from elastic sources is work muscles do not have to perform. For example, when the head decelerates from its backward motion, kinetic energy can be converted to elastic strain energy, and the release of this energy can power the acceleration of the head toward the substrate. Figure 6 identifies several hypothesized sites of elastic energy storage and recovery. Muscles and tendons of the limbs and neck may store and recover energy cyclically. Such mechanisms have been assumed in some mathematical models of drumming mechanics (Vincent et al., 2007; Liu et al., 2015), and woodpecker drumming has been modeled as a forced harmonic oscillator (Collins, 2017a). Tail feathers often brace the body during drumming. They can be observed to bend with the drumming motion, and may serve a spring-like function, as has sometimes been assumed (Vincent et al., 2007). Unknown is the extent to which elastic rebound on impact with the substrate contributes to motion. Spring-like behavior of wood has been considered in some mathematical models of drumming (Vincent et al., 2007), but whether such rebound is a significant or insignificant contributor remains to be determined. The material properties of the drumming substrate will be an important determinant of the elastic behavior. Woodpeckers choose a variety of drumming substrates, typically dead wood sites but also flexible metal substrates (e.g., gutters, chimney flashing). Studies of whether birds choose drumming sites with favorable elastic properties are underway.

Playback experiments suggest that woodpeckers operate near a physiological limit when drumming, but it is not clear what mechanical and/or neurological tasks may set this performance limit. At the muscle level, rapid drumming requires both rapid processes of activation/deactivation (Schuppe et al., 2018), as well as possibly high speeds of muscle shortening. Peak power output of muscle is a potential constraint, and elastic mechanisms may also set limits that are difficult to escape. And, physiologically demanding movement tasks are also demanding of motor control mechanisms (Barske et al., 2011; Clifton et al., 2015; Fuxjager et al., 2016), thus fidelity of motor control is also a possible limiting factor for performance.

The potential sources of power for drilling are the same as those for drumming. The need to break down substrate during drilling is likely to mean more energy is lost in each cycle, thus drilling may be associated with higher demands for net positive muscle power. We speculate that for this reason elastic mechanisms may be less important during drilling than during drumming, but this hypothesis remains to be tested.

Impact Risk of Beak Behavior

Many, possibly most, studies of the mechanics of drumming focus on the question of how woodpeckers can repeatedly strike their heads against a relatively stiff substrate without suffering brain injury. These studies are often motivated by a desire to reduce the chance of human brain injury, for example by improving helmet design through bio-inspiration (May et al., 1979; Mao et al., 2014; Liu et al., 2017). The production of sound with a high speed impact is unusual as an acoustic signal, and casual observation suggests that when impacts of similar speed and stiffness occur elsewhere in nature, the goal is often to cause or at least threaten damage [e.g., the impact of high-speed mantis shrimp claw "clubs" with mollusk shells or the horn collisions of big-horn sheep (Kitchener, 1988; Crane et al., 2018)]. Drumming itself is assumed to be derived from the drilling behavior that is meant to be destructive to wood as birds forage and excavate nests. Thus, it seems reasonable to hypothesize that anatomical or physiological specializations may have been required to reduce the chance of injury in the high-impact behavior of drumming.

Studies of mechanisms that might reduce the chance of injury during the impact phase of drilling or drumming have used mathematical models, anatomical observations, and some materials testing to probe for possible adaptations. Early analysis acknowledged that small size provides some protective effect (May et al., 1979). For a given acceleration the force on the brain will be proportional to mass while the cross-sectional area will scale with the 2/3 power of mass, thus stress (force/area) should decline with decreasing size for a given acceleration. Gibson (2006) observed further that differences in the orientation of the braincase between birds and humans increase the relative crosssectional area of the brain in the direction of acceleration. Using measures of head deceleration taken for acorn woodpeckers (May et al., 1979) and a concussion tolerance curve for humans (Ono et al., 1980; Gibson, 2006) concluded that the accelerations woodpeckers experience on impact (≈600 to 1500 g) are well below that expected to cause injury (\approx 4,600 to 6,000 g). This analysis requires a number of assumptions, including that injury leading to concussion occurs at the same stress in human and woodpecker brains. It remains unclear if such a calculation, which puts woodpecker drumming and drilling impacts under a threshold for concussion in a single blow, means that mechanisms are not needed to reduce possible damage from repeated high impact accelerations.

Several anatomical features have been proposed to act as protective mechanisms against brain injury in woodpeckers. An idea central to many studies is that anatomical structures act as a damper, dissipating the energy of impact and thus reducing the energy left to accelerate the brain, much like a crumple zone in a car protects passengers. Features that have been proposed as dampers include the microanatomy of skull spongy bone (Wang et al., 2011), the micro and nano-structure of the ramphotheca of the beak (Lee et al., 2014; Liu et al., 2017), and the hyoid and associated muscles (Wang et al., 2011; Jung et al., 2016). Implicit in these functional interpretations is the idea that selection has favored these energy dissipating mechanisms. A challenge to this reasoning, acknowledged in some cases (Shaw, 2002; Liu et al., 2017), is that energy dissipated by anatomical structures is energy lost to its intended purpose, that is, the breakdown of wood in the case of drilling or the production of acoustic energy in the case of drumming. Other protective mechanisms that have been proposed include a tight packing of the brain within the brain case, which reduces the "sloshing" of the brain that may be associated with injury (Shaw, 2002) and a minimization of rotational accelerations that may also increase the risk of injury (May et al., 1979; Shaw, 2002). The putative mechanical risks associated with drumming need further investigation, as they may help explain why this signal evolved in the first place.

SUMMARY

Here, we review the relatively small body of literature that explores woodpeckers drumming. We emphasis how ecological and mechanical factors likely interact to shape display design, painting an integrative picture of behavioral evolution. We highlight many avenues for future work that further expand our understanding of this process. In this way, research on woodpecker drumming serves as an example of how classic organismal biology can elucidate broader principles that underlie life and its diversity. Our manuscript is therefore as much of a starting point for additional research as it is a snapshot of completed work.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

ES and AR contributed to the writing of the manuscript and the synthesis of its ideas. TR and MF contributed to the writing of the manuscript, establishing the manuscript main points and ideas, and provided funding to support the research and effort. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the National Science Foundation (NSF) Graduate Research Fellowship under grant no. 2040433 (to AR), Bushnell Research and Education Fund (to AR), NSF grant IOS-1947472 (to MF), NSF grant OISE-1952542 (to MF), National Institutes of Health (NIH) grant AR055295 (to TR),

and NSF grant EFMA-1832795 (to TR). Any opinion, findings, and conclusions or recommendations expressed in this material are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of the NSF or NIH.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Ghislaine Cardenas Posada, M.C. Miles, Daniel Tobiansky, Rich Marsh, Jarrod Petersen, and Mary Kate

REFERENCES

- Amir Abdul Nasir, A. F., Clemente, C. J., Wynn, M. L., and Wilson, R. S. (2017). Optimal running speeds when there is a trade-off between speed and the probability of mistakes. *Funct. Ecol.* 2017:12902. doi: 10.1111/1365-2435.12902
- Askins, R. A. (1983). Foraging ecology of temperate-zone and tropical woodpeckers. *Ecology* 1983;1937215. doi: 10.2307/1937215
- Bárány, M. (1967). ATPase activity of myosin correlated with speed of muscle shortening. J. Gen. Physiol. 50:197. doi: 10.1085/jgp.50.6.197
- Barkan, C. L., Kelley, D. B., and Zornik, E. (2018). Premotor neuron divergence reflects vocal evolution. J. Neurosci. 2018:0089. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0089-18.2018
- Barske, J., Schlinger, B. A., Wikelski, M., and Fusani, L. (2011). Female choice for male motor skills. Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 278, 3523–3528. doi: 10.1098/rspb. 2011.0382
- Bauwens, D., Garland Jnr, T., Castilla, A. M., and Van Damme, R. (1995). Evolution of sprint speed in lacertid lizards: Morphological, physiological, and behavioral covariation. *Evolution* 1995:2321. doi: 10.1111/j.1558-5646.1995.tb02321.x
- Behr, O., Von Helversen, O., Heckel, G., Nagy, M., Voigt, C. C., and Mayer, F. (2006). Territorial songs indicate male quality in the sac-winged bat Saccopteryx bilineata (Chiroptera, Emballonuridae). *Behav. Ecol.* 2006:13. doi: 10.1093/ beheco/arl013
- Bent, A. C. (1939). Life histories of North American wookpeckers. Order Piciformes. Bull. United States Natl. Museum. 1939, 1–334.
- Brackenbury, J. H. (1979). Power Capabilities of the Avian Sound-Producing System. J. Exp. Biol. 78, 163–166.
- Brewster, W. (1876). The Yellow-bellied Woodpecker (Sphyrapicus varius). Bull. Nuttall Ornithol. Club 1, 63–70.
- Bullen, R. D., and McKenzie, N. L. (2002). Scaling bat wingbeat frequency and amplitude. J. Exp. Biol. 205, 2615–2626.
- Burt, J. M., and Vehrencamp, S. L. (2005). Dawn chorus as an interactive communication network 320. Anim. Comm. Networks 2005:19. doi: 10.1017/ CBO9780511610363.019
- Clifton, G. T., Hedrick, T. L., and Biewener, A. A. (2015). Western and Clark's grebes use novel strategies for running on water. J. Exp. Biol. 2015:118745. doi: 10.1242/jeb.118745
- Collins, M. D. (2017a). Periodic and transient motions of large woodpeckers. *Sci. Rep.* 2017:13035. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-13035-6
- Collins, M. D. (2017b). Video evidence and other information relevant to the conservation of the Ivory-billed Woodpecker (Campephilus principalis). *Heliyon* 2017:230. doi: 10.1016/j.heliyon.2017.e00230
- Conner, R. (1981). Seasonal Changes in Woodpecker Foraging Patterns. Auk Ornithol. Adv. 1981:562. doi: 10.1093/auk/98.3.562
- Crane, R. L., Cox, S. M., Kisare, S. A., and Patek, S. N. (2018). Smashing mantis shrimp strategically impact shells. J. Exp. Biol. 221:176099. doi: 10.1242/jeb. 176099
- Dale, J., Dunn, P. O., Figuerola, J., Lislevand, T., Székely, T., and Whittingham, L. A. (2007). Sexual selection explains Rensch's rule of allometry for sexual size dimorphism. *Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci.* 2007:1043. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2007. 1043
- Dawson, T. J., and Taylor, C. R. (1973). Energetic cost of locomotion in kangaroos. *Nature* 246, 313–314. doi: 10.1038/246313a0
- de Kiriline Lawrence, L. (1967). A comparative life-history study of four species of woodpeckers. Ornithol. Monogr. 1967, 1–156.

O'Donnell for thoughtful input, conservations, and/or perspectives on this topic over the years.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fevo.2021. 649146/full#supplementary-material

- Déaux, E. C., O'Neil, N. P., Jensen, A. M., Charrier, I., and Iwaniuk, A. N. (2020). Courtship display speed varies daily and with body size in the Ruffed Grouse (Bonasa umbellus). *Ethology* 126, 528–539. doi: 10.1111/eth. 13004
- Ding, Y., Berrocal, A., Morita, T., Longden, K. D., and Stern, D. L. (2016). Natural courtship song variation caused by an intronic retroelement in an ion channel gene. *Nature* 2016:19093. doi: 10.1038/nature19093
- Dodenhoff, D. J., Stark, R. D., and Johnson, E. V. (2001). Do woodpecker drums encode information for species recognition? *Condor* 2001:103. doi: 10.1650/ 0010-54222001103[0143:DWDEIF]2.0.CO;2
- Elemans, C. P. H., Spierts, I. L. Y., Müller, U. K., Van Leeuwen, J. L., and Goller, F. (2004). Superfast muscles control dove's trill. *Nature* 431:146. doi: 10.1038/ 431146a
- Farris, K. L., Huss, M. J., and Zack, S. (2004). The role of foraging woodpeckers in the decomposition of ponderosa pine snags. *Condor* 2004:7484. doi: 10.1650/ 7484
- Figarski, T. (2017). Contrasting seasonal reactions of two sibling woodpeckers to playback stimulation in urban areas - Implications for inventory and monitoring of the Syrian woodpecker. *Behaviour* 2017:3452. doi: 10.1163/ 1568539X-00003452
- Fine, M. L., King, C. B., and Cameron, T. M. (2009). Acoustical properties of the swimbladder in the oyster toadfish opsanus tau. J. Exp. Biol. 212, 3542–3552. doi: 10.1242/jeb.033423
- Fjeldsa, J. (1991). Andean flicker, Colaptes rupicola, nesting in trees and drumming. *Le Gerfaut*. 81:57.
- Fletcher, N. H. (2007). "Animal bioacoustics", in Springer Handbook of Acoustics, ed. Thomas D. Rossing, New York, NY, 785–802.
- Fusani, L., Barske, J., Day, L. D., Fuxjager, M. J., and Schlinger, B. A. (2014). Physiological control of elaborate male courtship: Female choice for neuromuscular systems. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 46, 534–546. doi: 10.1016/j. neubiorev.2014.07.017
- Fuxjager, M. J., Goller, F., Dirkse, A., Sanin, G. D., and Garcia, S. (2016). Select forelimb muscles have evolved superfast contractile speed to support acrobatic social displays. *Elife* 5, 1–13. doi: 10.7554/eLife.13544
- Garcia, M., Charrier, I., Rendall, D., and Iwaniuk, A. N. (2012). Temporal and Spectral Analyses Reveal Individual Variation in a Non-Vocal Acoustic Display: The Drumming Display of the Ruffed Grouse (Bonasa umbellus, L.). *Ethology* 118, 292–301. doi: 10.1111/j.1439-0310.2011.02011.x
- Gibson, L. J. (2006). Woodpecker pecking: How woodpeckers avoid brain injury. *J. Zool.* 270, 462–465. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7998.2006.00166.x
- Goller, F., and Suthers, R. A. (1996). Role of syringeal muscles in gating airflow and sound production in singing brown thrashers. J. Neurophysiol. 75, 867–876. doi: 10.1152/jn.1996.75.2.867
- Goodale, E., and Podos, J. (2010). Persistence of song types in Darwin's finches, Geospiza fortis, over four decades. *Biol. Lett.* 2020:165. doi: 10.1098/rsbl.2010. 0165
- Griffiths, B. Y. R. I. (1991). Shortening of muscle fibres during stretch of the active cat medial gastrocnemius muscle: the role of tendon compliance. J. Physiol. 436, 219–236.
- Hartley, R. S. (1990). Expiratory muscle activity during song production in the canary. *Respir. Physiol.* 81, 177–187. doi: 10.1016/0034-5687(90)90044-Y
- Heglund, N. C., and Taylor, C. R. (1988). Speed, Stride Frqequency and Energy Cost Per Stride: How Do They Change With Body Size and Gait? J. Exp. Biol. 138, 301–318.

- Hill, A. V. (1938). The heat of shortening and the dynamic constants of muscle. Proc. R. Soc. London. Ser. B - Biol. Sci. 126, 136–195. doi: 10.1098/rspb.1938. 0050
- Hudson, P. E., Corr, S. A., and Wilson, A. M. (2012). High speed galloping in the cheetah (Acinonyx jubatus) and the racing greyhound (Canis familiaris): Spatio-Temporal and kinetic characteristics. J. Exp. Biol. 215, 2425–2434. doi: 10.1242/jeb.066720
- Jarvis, E. D., Mirarab, S., Aberer, A. J., Li, B., Houde, P., Li, C., et al. (2014). Wholegenome analyses resolve early branches in the tree of life of modern birds. *Science* 2014:1253451. doi: 10.1126/science.1253451
- Jenni, V. L. (1981). Das Skelettmuskelsystem des Halses von Buntspecht und Mittelspecht Dendrocopos major and medius. J. Für Ornithol. 122, 37–63.
- Jung, J. Y., Naleway, S. E., Yaraghi, N. A., Herrera, S., Sherman, V. R., Bushong, E. A., et al. (2016). Structural analysis of the tongue and hyoid apparatus in a woodpecker. *Acta Biomater*. 37, 1–13. doi: 10.1016/j.actbio.2016.03.030
- Jusino, M. A., Lindner, D. L., Banik, M. T., Rose, K. R., and Walters, J. R. (2016). Experimental evidence of a symbiosis between red-cockaded woodpeckers and fungi. Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 2016:106. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2016.0106
- Kilham, L. (1958). Pair Formation, Mutual Tapping and Nest Hole Selection of Red-Bellied Woodpeckers. Auk 1958:401977. doi: 10.2307/4081977
- Kilham, L. (1959). Behavior and Methods of Communication of Pileated Woodpeckers. Condor 1959:1365307. doi: 10.2307/1365307
- Kilham, L. (1960). Courtship and Territorial Behavior of Hairy Woodpeckers. Auk 1960:4082482. doi: 10.2307/4082482
- Kilham, L. (1969). Reproductive behavior of Hairy Woodpeckers. III. Agonistic behavior in relation to courtship and territory. *Wilson Bull* 81, 169–183.
- Kilham, L. (1974). Early breeding season behavior of Downy Woodpeckers. *Wilson Bull* 1974, 407–418.
- Kilham, L. (1977). Early Breeding Season Behavior of Red-Headed Woodpeckers. *Auk* 1977:231. doi: 10.1093/auk/94.2.231
- Kilham, L. (1979). Courtship and the Pair-Bond of Pileated Woodpeckers. Auk Ornithol. Adv 1979:587. doi: 10.1093/auk/96.3.587
- Kitchener, A. (1988). An analysis of the forces of fighting of the blackbuck (*Antilope cervicapra*) and the bighorn sheep (*Ovis canadensis*) and the mechanical design of the horn of bovids. *J. Zool.* 214, 1–20. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7998.1988.tb0 4983.x
- Koenig, W. D. (1981). Reproductive Success, Group Size, and the Evolution of Cooperative Breeding in the Acorn Woodpecker. Am. Nat. 1981:283726. doi: 10.1086/283726
- Koenig, W. D. (1996). Woodpeckers: An Identification Guide to the Woodpeckers of the World Hans Winkler David A. Christie David Nurney. Auk 1996:4089007. doi: 10.2307/4089007
- Koenig, W. D., Schaefer, D. J., Mambelli, S., and Dawson, T. E. (2008). Acorns, insects, and the diet of adult versus nestling Acorn Woodpeckers. J. Field Ornithol. doi: 10.1111/j.1557-9263.2008.00174.x
- Lammertink, M., Kopuchian, C., Brandl, H. B., Tubaro, P. L., and Winkler, H. (2016). A striking case of deceptive woodpecker colouration: The threatened Helmeted Woodpecker Dryocopus galeatus belongs in the genus Celeus. J. Ornithol. 2016, 1254. doi: 10.1007/s10336-015-1254-x
- Langefors, A., Hasselquist, D., and von Schantz, T. (1998). Extra-Pair Fertilizations in the Sedge Warbler. J. Avian Biol. 29:134. doi: 10.2307/3677191
- Lee, N., Horstemeyer, M. F., Rhee, H., Nabors, B., Liao, J., and Williams, L. N. (2014). Hierarchical multiscale structure - Property relationships of the redbellied woodpecker (Melanerpes carolinus) beak. J. R. Soc. Interface 11:274. doi: 10.1098/rsif.2014.0274
- Leite, G. A., Pinheiro, R. T., Marcelino, D. G., Figueira, J. E. C., and Delabie, J. H. C. (2013). Foraging behavior of kaempfer's woodpecker (celeus obrieni), a bamboo specialist. *Condor* 2013:120062. doi: 10.1525/cond.2013.120062
- Lennartz, M. R., Hooper, R. G., and Harlow, R. F. (1987). Sociality and cooperative breeding of red-cockaded woodpeckers, Picoides borealis. *Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol.* 1987:572629. doi: 10.1007/BF00572629
- Ligon, J. D. (1970). Behavior and Breeding Biology of the Red-Cockaded Woodpecker. Auk 1970:4083919. doi: 10.2307/4083919
- Lima, S. L. (1983). Downy woodpecker foraging behavior: foraging by expectation and energy intake rate. *Oecologia* 1983:399223. doi: 10.1007/BF00399223
- Lima, S. L. (1984). Downy woodpecker foraging behaviour: efficient sampling in simple stochastic environments. *Ecology* 1984:1939468. doi: 10.2307/ 1939468

- Liu, Y. Z., Qiu, X. M., Ma, H. L., Fu, W. W., and Yu, T. X. (2017). A study of woodpecker's pecking process and the impact response of its brain. *Int. J. Impact Eng.* 108, 263–271. doi: 10.1016/j.ijimpeng.2017.05.016
- Liu, Y., Qiu, X., Yu, T., Tao, J., and Cheng, Z. (2015). How does a woodpecker work? An impact dynamics approach. Acta Mech. Sin. Xuebao 31, 181–190. doi: 10.1007/s10409-015-0399-4
- Mager, J. N., Walcott, C., and Piper, W. H. (2012). Male common loons signal greater aggressive motivation by lengthening territorial yodels. *Wilson J. Ornithol.* 2012:24. doi: 10.1676/11-024.1
- Mahalingam, S., and Welch, K. C. (2013). Neuromuscular control of hovering wingbeat kinematics in response to distinct flight challenges in the rubythroated hummingbird, Archilochus colubris. J. Exp. Biol. 216, 4161–4171. doi: 10.1242/jeb.089383
- Mao, H., Huang, Q., Wang, J., and Zhu, M. (2014). An analysis of shock isolation characteristics of a head of a woodpecker and its application to a bionic helmet. *J. Vibroengi.* 16, 1821–1830.
- May, P. R. A., Fuster, J. M., Haber, J., and Hirschman, A. (1979). Woodpecker Drilling Behavior: An Endorsement of the Rotational Theory of Impact Brain Injury. Arch. Neurol. 36, 370–373. doi: 10.1001/archneur.1979.005004200 80011
- Miles, M. C., and Fuxjager, M. J. (2019). Social context modulates how the winner effect restructures territorial behaviour in free-living woodpeckers. *Anim. Behav.* 2019:11. doi: 10.1016/j.anbehav.2019.02.011
- Miles, M. C., Schuppe, E. R., and Fuxjager, M. J. (2020). Selection for rhythm as a trigger for recursive evolution in the elaborate display system of woodpeckers. *Am. Nat.* 2020:707748. doi: 10.1086/707748
- Miles, M. C., Schuppe, E. R., Ligon, R. M., and Fuxjager, M. J. (2018). Macroevolutionary patterning of woodpecker drums reveals how sexual selection elaborates signals under constraint. *Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci.* 2018:2628. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2017.2628
- Miller, E. T., Leighton, G. M., Freeman, B. G., Lees, A. C., and Ligon, R. A. (2019). Ecological and geographical overlap drive plumage evolution and mimicry in woodpeckers. *Nat. Commun.* 2019:9721. doi: 10.1038/s41467-019-09721-w
- Müller, W., Vergauwen, J., and Eens, M. (2010). Testing the developmental stress hypothesis in canaries: Consequences of nutritional stress on adult song phenotype and mate attractiveness. *Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol.* 2010:989. doi: 10. 1007/s00265-010-0989-x
- Nelson, F. E., Hollingworth, S., Marx, J. O., Baylor, S. M., and Rome, L. C. (2018). Small Ca2+ releases enable hour-long high-frequency contractions in midshipman swimbladder muscle. *J. Gen. Physiol.* 150, 127–143. doi: 10.1085/ jgp.201711760
- Nickley, B., and Bulluck, L. P. (2020). Red-headed Woodpecker (*Melanerpes erythrocephalus*) winter roost-site selection in a burned forest stand. Wilson J. Ornithol. 2020:774. doi: 10.1676/1559-4491-131.4.774
- Nowicki, S., Searcy, W. A., and Peters, S. (2002). Brain development, song learning and mate choice in birds: A review and experimental test of the "nutritional stress hypothesis.". J. Compar. Physiol. A 2002:3. doi: 10.1007/s00359-002-0361-3
- Oberweger, K., and Goller, F. (2001). The metabolic cost of birdsong production. *J. Exp. Biol.* 204, 3379–3388.
- Ono, K., Kikuchi, A., Nakamura, M., Kobayashi, H., and Nakamura, N. (1980). Human head tolerance to sagittal impact reliable estimation deduced from experimental head injury using subhuman primates and human cadaver skulls. SAE Tech. Pap. 89, 101–160. doi: 10.4271/801303
- Pennycuick, C. J. (2001). Speeds and wingbeat frequencies of migrating birds compared with calculated benchmarks. J. Exp. Biol. 204, 3283–3294.
- Peters, W. D., and Grubb, T. C. (1983). An experimental analysis of sex-specific foraging in the downy woodpecker, *Picoides pubescens. Ecology* 1983:1937498. doi: 10.2307/1937498
- Prestwich, K. N. (1994). The energetics of acoustic signaling in anurans and insects. Integr. Comp. Biol. 1994:625. doi: 10.1093/icb/34.6.625
- Randall, J. A. (1997). Species-specific footdrumming in kangaroo rats: Dipodomys ingens, D. deserti, D. spectabilis. *Anim. Behav.* 54, 1167–1175. doi: 10.1006/ anbe.1997.0560
- Rivera-Gutierrez, H. F., Pinxten, R., and Eens, M. (2010). Multiple signals for multiple messages: Great tit, Parus major, song signals age and survival. *Anim. Behav.* 2010:002. doi: 10.1016/j.anbehav.2010.06.002

- Rome, L. C. (2006). Design and function of superfast muscles: New insights into the physiology of skeletal muscle. Annu. Rev. Physiol. 68, 193–221. doi: 10.1146/ annurev.physiol.68.040104.105418
- Rome, L. C., and Lindstedt, S. L. (1998). The quest for speed: muscles built for high-frequency contractions. *News Physiol. Sci.* 13, 261–268. doi: 10.1152/ physiologyonline.1998.13.6.261
- Rome, L. C., Syme, D. A., Hollingworth, S., Lindstedt, S. L., and Baylor, S. M. (1996). The whistle and the rattle: The design of sound producing muscles. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 93, 8095–8100. doi: 10.1073/pnas.93.15.8095
- Rudolph, D., Conner, R., and Turner, J. (1990). Competition for red-cockaded woodpecker roost and nest cavities: effects of resin age and entrance diameter. *Wilson Bull* 102, 23–36.
- Schaeffer, P. J., Conley, K. E., and Lindstedt, S. L. (1996). Structural correlates of speed and endurance in skeletal muscle: The rattlesnake tailshaker muscle. *J. Exp. Biol.* 199, 351–358.
- Schuppe, E. R., and Fuxjager, M. J. (2018). High-speed displays encoding motor skill trigger elevated territorial aggression in downy woodpeckers. *Funct. Ecol.* 2018:13010. doi: 10.1111/1365-2435.13010
- Schuppe, E. R., Petersen, J. O., and Fuxjager, M. J. (2018). Woodpecker drumming behavior is linked to the elevated expression of genes that encode calcium handling proteins in the neck musculature. J. Exp. Biol. 221, 1–5. doi: 10.1242/ jeb.180190
- Schuppe, E. R., Sanin, G. D., and Fuxjager, M. J. (2016). The social context of a territorial dispute differentially influences the way individuals in breeding pairs coordinate their aggressive tactics. *Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol.* 2016:2088. doi: 10.1007/s00265-016-2088-0
- Searcy, W. A., and Beecher, M. D. (2009). Song as an aggressive signal in songbirds. *Anim. Behav.* 2009:11. doi: 10.1016/j.anbehav.2009.08.011
- Searcy, W. A., Anderson, R. C., and Nowicki, S. (2006). Bird song as a signal of aggressive intent. *Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol.* 2006:161. doi: 10.1007/s00265-006-0161-9
- Shakya, S. B., Fuchs, J., Pons, J. M., and Sheldon, F. H. (2017). Tapping the woodpecker tree for evolutionary insight. *Mol. Phylogenet. Evol.* 2017:005. doi: 10.1016/j.ympev.2017.09.005
- Shaw, N. A. (2002). The neurophysiology of concussion. Prog. Neurobiol. 67, 281–344. doi: 10.1016/S0301-0082(02)00018-7
- Short, L. (1979). Burdens of the picid hole-excavating habit. Wilson Bull 91, 16-28.
- Short, L. L. (1971). The evolution of terrestrial woodpeckers. Am. Museum Novit. 1971:2467.
- Short, L. L. J. (1970). Notes on the Habits of Some Argentine a Peruvian Woodpeckers (Aves, Picidae). Am. Museum Novit. 1970:2413.
- Speakman, J. R., and Racey, P. A. (1991). No cost of echolocation for bats in flight. *Nature* 350, 421–423. doi: 10.1038/350421a0
- Spring, L. W. (1965). Climbing and Pecking Adaptations in Some North American Woodpeckers. Condor 1965:1365612. doi: 10.2307/1365612
- Stark, R. D., Dodenhoff, D. J., and Johnson, E. V. (1998). A quantitative analysis of Woodpecker drumming. *Condor* 1998:1370276. doi: 10.2307/1370276
- Stein, A. C., and Uy, J. A. C. (2006). Plumage brightness predicts male mating success in the lekking golden-collared manakin. *Manacus Vitellinus. Behav. Ecol.* 17, 41–47. doi: 10.1093/beheco/ari095
- Stradi, R., Hudon, J., Celentano, G., and Pini, E. (1998). Carotenoids in bird plumage: the complement of yellow and red pigments in true woodpeckers (Picinae). Comp. Biochem. Physiol. - B Biochem. Mol. Biol. 1998:10033. doi: 10.1016/S0305-0491(98)10033-0
- Suthers, R. A., Goller, F., and Pytte, C. (1999). The neuromuscular control birdsong. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B. Biol. Sci.* 354, 927–939. doi: 10.1098/rstb.1999. 0444
- Székely, T., Lislevand, T., and Figuerola, J. (2007). Sexual size dimorphism in birds in Sex, Size and Gender Roles: Evolutionary Studies of Sexual Size Dimorphism. BioScience 58, 460–461. doi: 10.1093/acprof:0s0/9780199208784.003.0004
- Tate, J. (1973). Methods and Annual Sequence of Foraging by the Sapsucker. *Auk* 1973:4084364. doi: 10.2307/4084364
- Tobalske, B. W. (1996). Scaling of muscle composition, wing morphology, and intermittent flight behavior in woodpeckers. *Auk* 113, 151–177. doi: 10.2307/ 4088943

- Vincent, J. F. V., Sahinkaya, M. N., and O'Shea, W. (2007). A woodpecker hammer. Proc. Inst. Mech. Eng. Part C J. Mech. Eng. Sci. 221, 1141–1147. doi: 10.1243/ 09544062JMES574
- Walton, M., and Anderson, B. D. (1988). The aerobic cost of saltatory locomotion in the fowler's toad (Bufo woodhousei fowleri). J. Exp. Biol. 136, 273–288.
- Wang, L., CheungJason, J. T. M., Pu, F., Li, D., Zhang, M., and Fan, Y. (2011). Why do woodpeckers resist head impact injury: A biomechanical investigation. *PLoS One* 6, 1–8. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0026490
- Ward, S., Speakman, J. R., and Slater, P. J. B. (2003). The energy cost of song in the canary, Serinus canaria. *Anim. Behav.* 2003:2250. doi: 10.1006/anbe.2003. 2250
- Weir, J. T., and Price, T. D. (2019). Song playbacks demonstrate slower evolution of song discrimination in birds from Amazonia than from temperate North America. PLoS Biol. 2019:300478. doi: 10.1371/journal.pbio.3000478
- Westneat, D., and Fox, C. (2010). Evolutionary behavioral ecology. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Wiebe, K. L., and Vitousek, M. N. (2015). Melanin plumage ornaments in both sexes of Northern Flicker are associated with body condition and predict reproductive output independent of age. *Auk* 2015:1. doi: 10.1642/AUK-14-281.1
- Wild, J. M., Goller, F., and Suthers, R. A. (1998). Inspiratory muscle activity during bird song. J. Neurobiol. 36, 441–453. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1097-4695(19980905) 36:3<441::AID-NEU11<3.0.CO;2-E</p>
- Wilkins, H. D., and Ritchison, G. (1999). Drumming and tapping by Redbellied Woodpeckers: Description and possible causation. J. F. Ornithol. 70, 578–586.
- Winkler, H., and Short, L. (1978). A comparative analysis of acoustical signals in pied woodpeckers (Aves, Picoides). Bull. Am. Museum Nat. Hist. 1978:160.
- Wynn, M. L., Clemente, C., Nasir, A. F. A. A., and Wilson, R. S. (2015). Running faster causes disaster: Trade-offs between speed, manoeuvrability and motor control when running around corners in northern quolls (Dasyurus hallucatus). J. Exp. Biol. 2015:111682. doi: 10.1242/jeb.111682
- Zihlman, A. L., McFarland, R. K., and Underwood, C. E. (2011). Functional anatomy and adaptation of male gorillas (*Gorilla gorilla gorilla*) With Comparison to Male Orangutans (Pongo pygmaeus). Anat. Rec. 294, 1842– 1855. doi: 10.1002/ar.21449
- Zollinger, S. A., and Brumm, H. (2015). Why birds sing loud songs and why they sometimes don't. Anim. Behav. 2015:30. doi: 10.1016/j.anbehav.2015.03.030
- Zweifel, R. G. (2017). Effects of Temperature, Body Size, and Hybridization on Mating Calls of Toads, Bufo a . americanus and Bufo woodhousii fowleri Author (s): Richard G . Zweifel Published by: American Society of Ichthyologists and Herpetologists (ASIH) Stable URL. Am. Soc. Ichtyologists Herpetol. 1968, 269–285.
- Zweifel, R. G. (1968). Effects of temperature, body size, and hybridization on mating calls of toads, *Bufo a. americanus and Bufo woodhousii fowleri* source. *Copeia* 1968s, 269–285.

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Schuppe, Rutter, Roberts and Fuxjager. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Bridging the Gap Between Mammal and Insect Ears – A Comparative and Evolutionary View of Sound-Reception

Ben Warren¹ and Manuela Nowotny^{2*}

¹ Department of Neuroscience, Psychology and Behaviour, University of Leicester, Leicester, United Kingdom, ² Animal Physiology Group, Institute of Zoology and Evolutionary Research, Friedrich Schiller University, Jena, Germany

Insects must wonder why mammals have ears only in their head and why they evolved only one common principle of ear design—the cochlea. Ears independently evolved at least 19 times in different insect groups and therefore can be found in completely different body parts. The morphologies and functional characteristics of insect ears are as wildly diverse as the ecological niches they exploit. In both, insects and mammals, hearing organs are constrained by the same biophysical principles and their respective molecular processes for mechanotransduction are thought to share a common evolutionary origin. Due to this, comparative knowledge of hearing across animal phyla provides crucial insight into fundamental processes of auditory transduction, especially at the biomechanical and molecular level. This review will start by comparing hearing between insects and mammals in an evolutionary context. It will then discuss current findings about sound reception will help to bridge the gap between both research fields.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Fernando Montealegre-Z, University of Lincoln, United Kingdom

Reviewed by:

Daniel Robert, University of Bristol, United Kingdom Matthew Su, Nagoya University, Japan

> *Correspondence: Manuela Nowotny manuela.nowotny@uni-jena.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Behavioral and Evolutionary Ecology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution

> Received: 12 February 2021 Accepted: 12 July 2021 Published: 29 July 2021

Citation:

Warren B and Nowotny M (2021) Bridging the Gap Between Mammal and Insect Ears – A Comparative and Evolutionary View of Sound-Reception. Front. Ecol. Evol. 9:667218. doi: 10.3389/fevo.2021.667218 Keywords: auditory evolution, insect hearing, mammal hearing, auditory transduction, hearing biomechanics

INTRODUCTION

Detection of air-borne sounds can enable animals to perceive key information about conspecifics, predators and prey over long distances and with a high directional precision. Both, insects and mammals have evolved unique and fascinating solutions-often with common principles of operation-to identical problems of sensitive sound detection, frequency discrimination and sound localization. In this review we compare and contrast evolution and present day function of ears in insects and mammals. We discuss this in the context of evolutionary drivers and constraints that sculpted them through \sim 600 million years of evolution since they separated. We start with Early aquatic evolution of primary mechanosensitive receptors which accounts for nearly a third of the evolutionary time since the last common ancestor of insects and mammals. Once animals ventured onto land ~400 million years ago (MYA) it is informative to list and appreciate the Evolutionary drivers and constraints of mammal and insect ears that act on the auditory organs, including predator detection, conspecific communication and prey detection. We address the evolutionary innovations of ear physiology, through the constrains of both their evolutionary history, i.e., natural selection can only work on the range of phenotypes a species has, and the physical properties of sound propagation and detection by biological systems. We then review the function of today's insect and mammalian ears in the sections Convergent evolution: sculpting similar biomechanical function of ears and Convergent evolution: mechanisms of sound amplification.

It is a testament to the strict laws of physics and the persistent, harsh and relentless selection pressures of hearing that the same optimal solutions are found both in insects and mammals. Finally, we delve into the *Mode of transduction—closing the gap on the identity of the transduction ion channel in mammals and insects*. Insect and mammalian ears are exquisitely tuned for their respective detection of sound. Although they use homologous development genes to control ear development and uncannily similar molecular mechanisms, this is achieved through a combination of similar and different protein components. Identifying and confirming the identity of the transduction channel—different between insects and mammals—has proved especially challenging in both animals and as each research field closes in on the transducer identity it is an especially exciting time to review the progress.

EARLY AQUATIC EVOLUTION OF PRIMARY MECHANOSENSITIVE RECEPTORS

The earliest life existed some \sim 3.7 billion years ago in a hot, oxygen-poor primordial broth (Garcia et al., 2017) of simple single-celled prokaryotic organisms. A tapestry of membrane-bound receptor proteins enabled interactions with their environment. Some two billion years later eukaryotes evolved out of an endosymbiotic amalgamation of prokaryotic components (Cooper, 2000; Knoll, 2004). One key difference that evolved in eukaryotes, was a microtubule cytoskeleton. This linear repeating chain of tubulin proteins would later push finger-like protrusions out into the environment: flagella/cilia (Mitchell, 2004; Jékely and Arendt, 2006; Satir et al., 2008). Their ensuing rhythmic bending created water currents necessary to filter and ingest food but also endowed cell motility so that, together with the adaptability of this new eukaryotic form, single celled life could move to exploit new environmental niches. The basic cytoskeleton of cilia-their nine doublet microtubules that form an elongated internal ring (Figure 1)—are ubiquitous in all branches of eukaryotes and evolved before the last eukaryotic common ancestor (Doolittle et al., 1996; Douzery et al., 2004; Berney and Pawlowski, 2006; Mitchell, 2007). This microtubule flagellum is hypothesized to have been such a competitive advantage that it was the only eukaryote whose descendants survive to this day (Mitchell, 2007). In addition, cilia acted as sensory antennae where receptor proteins congregate. This innovation proved key to the formation of all specialized sensory organs of today's eukaryotes-insect and mammalian (Moran et al., 2014).

From single-celled organisms sprouted multicellular life, nearly two billion years after first single-celled life (Knoll, 2004). Using minimum evolution criterion of the molecular clock, which aligns with the geological record, recent analyses put the last common ancestor of vertebrates and invertebrates as late as 573 MYA (Peterson et al., 2004) and as early as 634 MYA (Peterson and Butterfield, 2005). This is well before the Cambrian explosion of complex life and ecosystems (541 MYA) and well before animals appear in the fossil record (Knoll, 2004). It is

speculated that the last common ancestor of invertebrates and vertebrates-termed Urbilaterian (Figure 1)-had a well-defined body-axis (de Robertis and Sasai, 1996) bearing a head with dedicated sensory systems including photoreceptors (Arendt and Wittbrodt, 2001) with probably nine opsins (Ramirez et al., 2016), a gut (Hejnol and Martindale, 2008) and touch-sensitive appendages, equipped with sensory cilia linked to a nervous system (Carroll et al., 2001). The common origin of the sensory systems of invertebrates and vertebrates in this Urbilateria is strikingly evidenced by a suite of homologous genes in today's insect and mammals. For example, both modern-day flies and mammals have different but homologous pro-developmental genes for ear development (Math1 and Atonal, Figure 1) and eye development (Pax6) that can be functionally swapped between them (Xu et al., 1999; Wang et al., 2002; Weinberger et al., 2017). Such genetic conservation is not limited to sensory systems and it appears that the basic genetic architecture for a bilateral body design already existed before invertebrate and vertebrates became two distinct animal groups. In this respect, we could think of the widespread genetic homology in animals not in terms of the relatively short evolutionary time that they shared in this animal form, but the evolution of a genetic and developmental program that was ready at an optimal moment; at the start of the Cambrian explosion and flourished during it when all of today's animal lineages were established-an enduring unchallenged bilateral monopoly on nearly all animal life on earth (Knoll, 2004).

The vertebrate multiciliate receptor cells, called hair cells, are thought to have evolved even before a centralized dedicated mechanoreceptive system in aquatic vertebrates [similar to modern day ascidians or filter feeders (Burighel et al., 2003)]. The integration of hair cells into a dedicated head-based mechanosensory organ was the first of two major milestones in the evolution of vertebrate hearing that took place in a purely aquatic environment. Evolution would sculpt this prototypical mechanoreceptive organ to fulfill the selective pressures of vertebrates to hear as they diversified into terrestrial niches. The earliest fossil evidence of an internalized mechanoreceptor is from an early (pre-Devonian age > 416 MYA) vertebrate armored "fish" creature—the Ostracoderm Protopteraspis micra (Figure 1; Stensiö, 1927). Embedded in the skull are bilateral labyrinths, resembling basic acceleration or balance organs. Ostracoderms, with their bilateral balance organs, were so prosperous that they gave rise to most vertebrates alive today over their 100-millionyear reign (Forey and Janvier, 1994; Janvier, 2008). The second milestone, evolution of an articulating jaw, is first evidenced in another type of armored fish, placoderms, with the earliest fossil 419 Million years old (Zhu et al., 2013). Evolution of the jaw was a key innovation that allowed jawed vertebrates (Gnathostomes) to outcompete their jawless competition, probably first for buccal (mouth)-based respiration (Mallatt, 1996), then for biting and chewing their prey; few jawless chordates, such as the lamprey, exist today. The evolution of an articulating jaw transmitting sound-induced bone vibration to the ear was essential for the evolution of hearing of all vertebrates over the next 300 million years of terrestrial evolution.

Invertebrate evolution, like vertebrates, was constrained to an aquatic environment. The first terrestrial fossil tracks come



from invertebrates, dated around 480 MYA (MacNaughton et al., 2002). Phylogenetic analysis puts the appearance of insects around the same time (Misof et al., 2014). Such tracks are thought to represent transient incursions on land of marine-based invertebrates but provide also evidence for the ease at which invertebrates can exploit terrestrial niches. Their hard exoskeleton could support their body weight and prevent desiccation out of water—unique advantages over their vertebrates did not evolve a central mechanosensitive organ, from which all insect ears evolved. What proved crucial for insect ear evolution was their widespread proprioceptors present in all their articulating joints necessary for sensing all their movements. These proprioceptors formed the basis of all insect sound detecting organs.

EVOLUTIONARY DRIVERS AND CONSTRAINTS OF MAMMAL AND INSECT EARS

Mammals

From water to land, the first vertebrate ears are speculated to have taken their first evolutionary steps in semi-aquatic tetrapods that straddled the aquatic-terrestrial shoreline. One of the earliest terrestrial tetrapods, such as *Parmastega aelidae* and *Acanthostega* (Figure 1) gives us a glimpse of these aquaticterrestrial transitional forms of vertebrates. *P. aelidae* obtained oxygen from both water—as assumed from nostrils positioned under the water line—as well as from the air—through a spiracle opening at the back of the head above the water line (Beznosov et al., 2019). As these early tetrapods evolved, the nostrils became larger and migrated above the water line to permit oxygen to be obtained solely from the air. This fossil record not only evidences their advancement onto land but sets the stage for airborne detection of sound that requires head-based air conducting channels to funnel sound to the balance organs of their aquatic ancestors-that would (much) later evolve into organs dedicated to detect airborne sound—ears. At this time ~400 MYA, however, the bilateral balance organs of gnathostomes had already evolved over ~150 million years in aquatic environments to detect lowfrequency head-based accelerations necessary for the control of swimming (van Bergeijk, 1967; Baird, 1974). Such lowfrequency detecting organs were quite unsuited for detecting higher frequency airborne sound. The frequency range of their balance organs was only one of two more substantial barriers to the detection of airborne sound. The first was a lack of structures [such as tympani (ear drums)] to capture sound energy, in the form of sound pressure differences. The second was a lack of structures (a middle ear) to transmit any airborne sound energy to their internal balance organs-so called impedance transformers because air-borne sound must be converted into vibrations of the high impendence saline that bathes the sensory receptors. Our interpretation goes against the "standard view" (Lombard and Bolt, 1979) that aerial hearing evolved soon after tetrapods moved onto land. In defense of our interpretation, there was a complete lack of middle ear specializations for hearing in early tetrapod animals that represent the five major amniote lineages (Clack and Allin, 2000) and no tympani were even thought to exist for early aquatic tetrapoda (Allin and Hopson, 1992; Clack and Allin, 2000). Their balance organs were perfectly sufficient to detect the footfall of predators or competing conspecifics through surface-borne ground vibrations, picked up by conduction of sound through the leg and then jaw. It is hence debatable if these first tetrapoda "heard" anything that we would call sound, induced by pressure changes in air. Modern amphibians lack middle ear cavities, but still sensitivity detect the vibration of predators. Therefore, vibration detection through limbs, which are in contact with the ground proves an effective strategy and, hence, why vertebrates were in no hurry to evolve solely aerial hearing (Hildebrand and Goslow, 1995). In support of this, there is a secondary loss of specialized air-borne receivers in favor of surface-borne vibrations in amphibians like salamanders (Wever, 1978; Hetherington, 1992). As such, the first evolutionary steps to the solely aerial hearing system of today's mammals were probably in the form of better coupling of ground-borne vibrations to their balance organs.

Middle ear evolution began with a bone later to become the stapes, which in present day mammals feeds sound vibrations into the cochlea. About 400 MYA ago the stapes had an obvious structural role to stabilize articulation of the jaw for breathing and chewing, but crucially it bridged between the otic (ear) bone and the upper jaw (Clack, 1992). Early fossils of aquatic tetrapoda, Acanthostega and Ichthyostega (Clack, 1992; Clack et al., 2003), suggest that, in addition to its main structural role, the stapes already served to transmit ground-borne vibrations to the inner ear in early semi-aquatic tetrapods (Clack, 1983). From an extensive fossil record of vertebrates, we know that two former lower jaw bones underwent a change of function and became also part of the mammalian middle ear (Reichert, 1837). It is hypothesized that miniaturization of the jaw was the primary driver for the transformation of the jaw joint (Lautenschlager et al., 2018) and that the transformation of the jaw elements into cranial ear bones occurred several times in the mammal evolution. Allotheria, an extinct group of early mammals, evolved a unique palinal joint as a feeding adaption, whereas other Mammaliaformes have hinge joints (Han et al., 2017). However, the incus and malleus decoupled in different stages from the lower jaw and only function in sound transmission in modern mammals (Lopatin, 2019). Due to the poor preservation, the origin of the tympanum in the different vertebrate taxa is less understood. It is believed that tympana also evolved independently several times in vertebrates (Grothe and Pecka, 2014) and is based on thinning of the skin of the lateral head. Two main hypotheses are discussed for the origin of the tympanum holding bone elements; one origin is considered by a postquadrate tympanum and another by a postdentary tympanum (Gaetano and Abdala, 2015).

Based on the fossil record of small rodent-like mammals like Sinoconodon and Morganucodon (Figure 1), the cochlea \sim 200 MYA was little more than a thumb-like stump (Graybeal et al., 1989; Luo and Ketten, 1991) less than 2 mm long (Zhexi et al., 1995). By the end of the Jurassic period, the cochlea of Dryolestoida, a basal relative to marsupial and placental mammals, had coiled by about three quarters. As the length of cochlea correlates with the frequency range of hearing, this fossil record suggests an evolutionary trajectory in mammals toward ever higher frequency hearing (West, 1985). The selection pressures that drove our Mesozoic mammalian ancestors to specialize sensitive, high frequency hearing are threefold (Meng and Wyss, 1995). During the Jurassic mammals exploited nocturnal niches in the face of larger predatory dinosaurs (Liu et al., 2018). Due to this there was large selection pressure for sensitive hearing as visual information was more limited at night. Secondly, an effective sound shadow to allow small mammals to detect the direction of sound-through comparative differences in sound amplitude at their ears-is only effective for high frequencies (Schnupp and Carr, 2009). Finally, vocalizing at higher frequencies would have made their larger low-frequency hearing predators less likely to hear and locate them, giving them a further selective advantage.

Insects

About 40 Million years after the colonialization of land by plants (Early Silurian, about 480 Ma), and probably before vertebrates established themselves on land, ectognathous insects such as Rhyniognatha (Figure 1, including Orthoptera, what we would recognize today as crickets, bush crickets and locusts) were present. Their descendants went onto evolve acoustic communication but the earliest proof of insects producing sound is from a Permian insect, Permostridulus brongniarti that existed \sim 260 MYA (Béthoux et al., 2003). This is based on its specialized grooved veins under the wing-modern day crickets rub this vein along its other wing to stridulate and produce mating calls. The ability to produce sound does not necessarily imply the ability to hear. However, tympanal membranes on forelegs are found in Triassic and Jurassic fossils (Zeuner, 1939; Plotnick and Smith, 2012) and most modern-day Orthoptera that stridulate have ears (Jost and Shaw, 2006). Later stridulating insects such as Archaboilus musica ~165 MYA (Gu et al., 2012), in the Jurassic, and Tertiary Pseudotettigonia amoena ~55 MYA (Rust et al., 1999) shows that Orthoptera maintained the ability to produce sound through stridulation. It is likely that ears evolved to hear this stridulating sound, due to its high reproductive advantage for conspecific localization. During the Jurassic, as Archaboilus musica was chirping, other acoustic groups such as Diptera and Lepidoptera diverged alongside the radiation of flowering plants (Doyle, 2012).

There is further reason to believe that insect ears evolved early in their terrestrial occupation and this is the apparent evolutionary ease of acquiring a sound sensitive organ for insects. Whereas all vertebrate ears evolved from specialized head-based acceleration organs, insects' ears, by contrast, evolved from proprioceptors littered throughout their body. While the evolutionary barriers for vertebrates were formidable-evolution of middle ears (for impedance transformation) thinning of bone to form a tympanum (to capture sound pressure)-insects already possessed three components to form ears-in abundance. Their stretch- and vibration-sensitive proprioceptors, which are widely dispersed throughout their body, evolved into the auditory receptor cells, the tympani were a "simple" evolutionary thinning of their exoskeleton and the impedance of airborne sound could be simply matched by the backing the tympanum with their ample tracheal network filled with air. This evolutionary ease is evidenced by the independent evolution of several tympani-found in at least 10 different body parts, across several insect taxa (Fullard and Yack, 1993) and the high diversity of insect tympanal ears.

If we dive deeper into the morphology of insects and compare insects either with or without a tympanum (atympanate) in closely related taxa, here proprioceptors that monitor body motions in atympanate insects, acquire an auditory response with little change in their morphology (Yack and Fullard, 1990, 1993). An intuitive example is the proprioceptors in the "knee" joint of ancient insects that, was anchored at either end, and

suspended between, the tibia femur joint. As the tibia-femur joint flexed the stretch-sensitive neurons were stretched and activated. These proprioceptors were also ideally placed to detect substrate borne vibration; much like early tetrapods that detected vibration by conduction through their legs (and jaw) to their headbased mechanosensitive organs. In extant crickets this single proprioceptor has evolved into three distinct sensory organs each with their own afferent nerve bundle (see review Strauß and Lakes-Harlan, 2014): the subgenual organ, intermediate organ and the crista acustica. The archetypal composition of the receptor cell complex, known as a chordotonal organ (Kavlie and Albert, 2013), is similar in all of these three organs, only the connection to the structure that picks-up the signal differs: Sensory cells of the subgenual organ are connected to the cuticle of the leg, to detect vibration (Kühne, 1982), the cells of the crista acustica are found on top of an inner air-filled trachea in the leg to detect high frequency sound that travels along the trachea (Hedwig, 2014). Evolution of dedicated sound receivers in many other extant insect groups involved the thinning of the cuticle onto which the receptor cells were anchored as found for example in locusts, cicada and lepidoptera (for review see Yack, 2004). We can even "capture" the apparent evolutionary transition of proprioceptors into dedicated auditory receptors in the act. Cockroaches possess a dual responsiveness to substrate and airborn sounds. This provides convincing evidence that auditory organs of crickets evolved from an ancestral subgenual organ (Shaw, 1994).

Although insects lack a distinct middle ear, they have nonethe-less exploited biomechanical first-order levers to enhance sound detection. Antennal receivers that exploit first-order lever mechanics-like that of the mosquito or fruit flies'-stand above all other auditory receptors in their sensitivity to angular displacement (Göpfert and Robert, 2001). Here, the end of the lever directly stretches the ciliated end of the auditory receptors. This is different to the end of the stapes in mammals that pushes, through the oval window, the fluid in the cochlea; the fluid then moves the hair bundles on top of the hair cells. Bush crickets, also developed a middle ear (Bangert et al., 1998) with characteristics similar to a 1st order lever through phase shifted motion along their tympani, which induce a motion of the fluid around the receptor cells (Montealegre-Z et al., 2012; Montealegre-Z and Robert, 2015). However, there are bush cricket species with tympanal ears that function like a 2nd order levers also without a phase difference along the tympanum motion (Nowotny et al., 2010). In the taxon ensifera, which includes crickets and bush crickets, there are even basal groups (Gryllacrididae) with ears without a tympanum (middle ear) that show functional crista acustica homologs (Strauß and Lakes-Harlan, 2008).

The physical properties of sound, such as its relatively fast speed and wide diffraction, impose constrains on evolutionary solutions of auditory systems to detect and extract directional information. Given insects small size, these constraints are particularly severe. Unlike vertebrates, insects produce a poor sound shadow thus sound approaching from one side has a similar amplitude at both ears. To locate the source of a sound, many insects like crickets, bush crickets and flies exploit and amplify subtle phase differences either through biomechanical levers made of cuticle (Robert et al., 1996) or passing sound through a tracheal network. In such a network, sound reaches the tympanum, not only from the direct external route, but through a longer internal route. The extra distance traveled by the sound shifts the phase such that for each half-period of sound the tympanum is not only pulled by low pressure on the outside, it is additionally pushed by high pressure inside (*visa versa* for the next half-phase of sound), creating a pressure difference receiver where tympanal motion is amplified on the side nearest the sound (Michelsen et al., 1994).

CONVERGENT EVOLUTION: SCULPTING SIMILAR BIOMECHANICAL FUNCTION OF EARS

The fine-tuned ability of animal ears to discriminate frequency and maximize sensitivity relies on microscopic biomechanical specializations that couple sound-induced motion to the auditory receptors. Frequency discriminating traveling waves are a pertinent example of convergent evolution between the mammalian and Orthopteran ears (Montealegre-Z et al., 2012; Udayashankar et al., 2012). In mammals, the basilar membrane shows a gradient of mass and stiffness along its length. This leads to a filter bank of damped resonators, spatial separation and gradient of auditory receptors, called tonotopy (von Békésy, 1960). The basilar membrane, the elastic membrane on which the sensory epithelium (organ of Corti) sits on, is driven by soundinduced fluid waves inside the cochlea. This creates traveling waves of the auditory epithelium, which were first observed in human cadavers (von Békésy, 1960). Traveling waves in both mammal and insect hearing organs, are much slower than aircarried sound waves. They reach velocities of about 5-25 m/s (Udayashankar et al., 2012), more than ten times slower than in air. A consequence of the mechanical based filter bank is that tonotopic motion of the epithelium always starts in the high-frequency region, independent of the frequency of sound or where it enters (this is also the reason why bone-conduction hearing aids and headphones work).

Half a century after von Békésy's pioneering work on humanbased cochlea traveling waves (von Békésy, 1960), similar waves were recorded in the simple-ear drum like-tympanum of the locust (Windmill et al., 2005) and cicada (Sueur et al., 2006). The oval-shaped tympanic membrane is mainly composed of cuticle and the traveling wave results from the passive and nonhomogeneous anatomical properties (thickness and tension) of the tympanum (Malkin et al., 2013). Here, a thin and light part of the tympanum vibrates best at high frequencies and a thicker and more massive thick tympanum vibrates best at lower frequencies (Michelsen, 1971; Römer, 1976). These inhomogeneous properties result in a wave that travels from high frequency to low frequency (Windmill et al., 2005)just like the basilar membrane. Three discrete attachments of auditory neurons from Müller's organ are attached onto the inside of the tympanum and are stimulated best by the respective frequencies of the tympanum, permitting frequency discrimination (Jacobs et al., 1999). The elongated and linear

arranged auditory epithelium of the bush cricket, crista acustica, resembles the biophysical properties of an uncoiled mammalian cochlea (Udayashankar et al., 2012, 2014). Like the basilar membrane of the mammalian cochlea, the crista acustica has graded changes in its stiffness and mass to make it tonotopic (Hummel et al., 2017; Olson and Nowotny, 2019). A specially evolved adaptation in hearing organs is an overrepresentation of key ecologically important frequencies along the length of epithelium, called an auditory fovea found in some mammals (Müller et al., 1992; Neuweiler and Schmidt, 1993; Kössl, 1997), birds (Köppl et al., 1993; Corfield et al., 2011) and insects (Scherberich et al., 2016, 2017).

CONVERGENT EVOLUTION: MECHANISMS OF SOUND AMPLIFICATION

Auditory transduction is localized to evolutionary-ancient membrane protrusions that have specialized to actin-based villi or microtubule based cilia in mammals and insects respectively. Mechanosensitve ion channels are located on these projections and are opened in response to sound-induced forces. Transduction channels of mammals and insects not only convert sound-induced displacements into electrical potentials but also amplify quiet sound to enhance the hearing capacity, and therefore the survival, of its owner. This final section reviews recent experiments on electrical tuning and amplification in insects and mammals and address two key areas where we expect parallel breakthroughs in our understanding of auditory transduction for mammals and insects: visualization of amplification in the insect auditory neurons and the identity of the transduction channel.

Electrical Amplification in Early Vertebrates and Insects

Electrical tuning, found in turtles, frogs and chicks (Crawford and Fettiplace, 1981; Ashmore, 1983; Lewis and Hudspeth, 1983; Fuchs et al., 1988), relies on the sinusoidal influx of cations in response to sound which then triggers the opening of other voltage gated ion channels at the base of the hair cell (Figure 2A). Voltage-dependent calcium channels in the base of the hair cell are opened in response to a transduction potential flowing through the transduction channels. Calcium flows in depolarizing the cell but calcium ions also bind and open calcium-gated potassium channels which consequently leads to potassium exiting the cell and depolarizing it. The interplay of the inflow and outflow of cations leads to an oscillation, sometimes also observed as spontaneous oscillations (Crawford and Fettiplace, 1980) and when the frequency of this oscillation matches that at which the hair cell is driven by sound it amplifies the electrical potential (Crawford and Fettiplace, 1981). Electrical amplification in hair cells is considered an evolutionary old solution restricted to non-mammalian vertebrates (Popper and Fay, 1997) and has an upper limit of about 1 kHz, which is perhaps why high-frequency hearing mammals have

not exploited this mechanism. Recent work by Warren in the locust's Müller's organ has shown a lack of electrical oscillations in auditory neurons (Figure 3). The sharpness of tuning of individual auditory neurons appears the same both upon entry of cations through the transduction channels, at the apical end of the neuron, through to the spike encoding axon at the opposite end of the auditory receptor (Figure 3). These first experiments to test for electrical tuning in insect auditory neurons suggest no electrically-based mechanism is involved to sharpen or amplify acoustic signals, at least in locusts. This finding agrees with the working theory (Field and Matheson, 1998) that frequency tuning in insects is accomplished solely by the mechanical properties (mass and stiffness) of their hearing organs. Antennal hearing organs, with a set mass and stiffness, discriminate frequencies (Kamikouchi et al., 2009), so there may be more of a precedent for electrical tuning here however.

Mechanical Amplification and Receptor Movements

In mammalian and vertebrate hair cells mechanical movements that power mechanical amplification have been conventionally imaged—in outer hair cells—or movements below the optical diffraction limit ingeniously measured using a glass probe attached the stereocilia and pairs of photodiodes to localize hair bundle movements to a couple of nanometers. Based on these intricate measurements of displacements and forces directly from the receptor cilia of hair cells, and their morphology we have a good understanding of how stereocilia pivot at their base and are coupled along their axis to transduction channels to amplify quiet sound (Martin et al., 2000).

For insects, most notably two-winged insects, measurements of forces from an assemble of auditory receptors can be indirectly measured and properties of the transduction channel calculated by measuring displacements of the antennae to which they attach (Albert et al., 2007; Su et al., 2018). Despite the advancements in auditory transduction this has afforded us, the tiny and inaccessible nature of insect hearing organs and the auditory receptors themselves means we are in the dark as to howat the auditory receptor level-these movements are generated. There is general agreement that active movements that power mechanical amplification are localized to the cilium of the auditory neurons but at this stage we can not rule out other parts of the auditory neuron or other cells that compose the mechanosensory (scolopidial) unit contributing-as is the case for Prestin-based mechanical amplification in mammals, which are separate from the sensory inner hair cells.

Prestin-Based Amplification

Discovery of outer hair cell based mechanical amplification can be traced back about 40 years ago. Dallos and Harris (1978) selectively destroyed outer hair cells and found severely impaired auditory response in chinchillas. They hypothesized that outer hair cells, somehow, sensitized the sensory inner hairs cell. Then, labs reported on mechanical responses in isolated outer hair cells from the mammalian cochlea (Brownell et al., 1985; Zenner, 1986; Ashmore, 1987). In response to sound-induced


FIGURE 2 | Continued

Flongation and contraction of the cell body depends on the voltage-dependant-and transduction induced-changes of the conformational state of a repurposed anion co-transporter. There is no evidence that sensory cells in insect ears undergo voltage-dependant changes in their body shape. (Ci) Simplified mechanism of hair bundle based amplification. Amplification is based on a transient reduction in stiffness as channels open causing the hair bundle to pivot further. As the transduction channels close, due to a calcium-dependant feedback, they pull the hair bundle through the tip links in the opposite direction augmenting its movement. (Cii) Proposed mechanism of amplification in insect auditory neuron cilia. Sound forces open transduction channels and causes a transient decrease in stiffness that increases movement in the direction of the force Dynein responds to an increase in tension by contracting pulling the microtubule filament, and the membrane housing the transduction channel, to mediate its closure. Dynein-based force production amplifies sound when in phase with it. MET, mechano-electrical transduction.

sinusoidal voltage changes, caused by the transduction potential, these cells elongate and contract to mediate rapid changes of hair cell length (Figure 2B) that push and amplify movements of a sound-induced traveling wave. This outer hair cell electromotion is facilitated by a motor protein called Prestin (Zheng et al., 2000). The motor function of this protein (protein family: SLC26) was a mammalian-specific evolutionary repurposing of an anion transporter, which existed either in the last mammalian common ancestor ~200 MYA or later in the last common ancestor of therians ~130 MYA (Manley, 2000). In insects, homologs of Prestin are found (Weber et al., 2003) but without any motor function (Kavlie et al., 2015). In mammals, Prestin is essential for sensitive responses to low sound pressure levels (Liberman et al., 2002; Cheatham et al., 2004) but also for compression at high sound pressure levels (Robles and Ruggero, 2001). A complex interaction of basilar membrane motion and Prestin-induced outer hair cell motion optimize cochlea tuning (Cooper et al., 2018). During evolution, the new piezo-electric motility (Dong et al., 2002) by Prestin enabled mammals to hear ultrasonic frequencies. Here, mammals have made and exploited their own channel of communication, like some insect taxa.

Hair bundle motility amplifies and tunes their responses (Figure 2Ci). This probably existed in the primitive balance organs of the earliest vertebrates \sim 500 MYA (Manley, 2000). Active hair bundle motility is caused by the coordinated opening and closing (adaptation) of transduction ion channels that pull to exert forces on the hair bundle, through filamentous tip links, to amplify their movements (Howard and Hudspeth, 1988). A rapid reduction in stiffness is the result of the mass opening of transduction channels pulled by filamentous tip links. The reduction in stiffness can be so severe as to become negativeit provides a force in the same direction of sound-induced forcing-thus amplifying movements (Martin et al., 2000). Rapid channel closure-known as fast adaptation-can then pull the hair bundle, through the tip links, in the opposite direction exerting a recoil force (Kennedy et al., 2003). If these channelbased forces coincide with sound-induced movement of the hair bundle it results in mechanical amplification of the hair cell displacement and therefore an amplified receptor potential. This mechanism can drive spontaneous bundle oscillations, which



were measured in the frog sacculus for example (Martin and Hudspeth, 1999). In mammals the importance of this mechanism is still discussed (Nin et al., 2012). Hair bundle-based motility based on the properties of transduction channel opening and closing is elegantly explained by a mathematical "gating spring" model first used to quantitatively describe bullfrog saccular hair bundle dynamics (Howard and Hudspeth, 1988).

Active hearing in insects was first shown in mosquitos and Drosophila and was later shown to have remarkable parallels with hair bundle motility. Sound-receiving antennal receivers were discovered to oscillate spontaneously, but under CO2indcued hypoxia these active oscillations disappeared (Göpfert and Robert, 2001, 2002). Later, the first insect with tympanal ears was shown to exhibit spontaneous oscillations that disappeared upon death (Mhatre and Robert, 2013). An interaction of mechanotransduction channels and motor proteins in the sensory cells are hypothesized to be the basis of these oscillations (Nadrowski et al., 2008). Most striking of all is that, despite separate ~ 600 million year evolutionary trajectories, the "gatingspring" model, first used to describe frog hair bundle movements also quantitatively explains the mechanics of antennal soundreceivers—ears—of fruit flies and mosquitoes (Albert et al., 2007; Su et al., 2018). This is a spectacular illustration of convergent evolution of two hearing systems, with very different architecture, that have combined the gating of transduction channels with mechanical amplification of sound. Key in the gating spring model is adaptation and rapid closure of the channel after opening. In insects a dynein motor is hypothesized to rapidly close the channels after opening (Karak et al., 2015). However, for hair cell receptors Ca^{2+} binding close to the channel complex is thought to conformationally close it (Figure 2Ci; Peng et al., 2013; Corns et al., 2014) and this might also be the case for insect auditory cilia. The energy for this process presumably comes

from the very steep electrical gradient of ~130 mV (von Békésy, 1952; Russell and Sellick, 1978) across the hair cells. A steep electrochemical gradient is shown to be the case for some insect mechanoreceptors (Thurm and Küppers, 1980) and assumed to be so for auditory neurons of insects (Kavlie and Albert, 2013; Warren and Matheson, 2018). In lower vertebrates, such as turtles and bullfrogs, slow adaptation of the channel maintains an optimal tension and open probability of the channel and is powered by myosin motors anchored to the actin cytoskeleton (Gillespie and Cyr, 2004; Stauffer et al., 2005). As insect auditory cilia have a microtubule cytoskeleton bearing dynein arms (Karak et al., 2015), channel closing in insects is thought to be powered by dynein (see for review Göpfert and Robert, 2008; Göpfert and Hennig, 2016; Figure 2Cii). Further supporting dynein's role in transduction, are measurements of the temperature dependence of spontaneous oscillations in mosquitoes (Warren et al., 2010), and distortion-product otoacoustic emissions in locusts (Möckel et al., 2012) both hallmarks of the transduction process. The temperature dependence of biological processes gives information about the chemical reactions that produce them. In this case the activation energy measured for both spontaneous oscillations and distortion-product otoacoustic emissions matched that of the enzyme dynein ATPase, which is hypothesized to provide the energy for mechanical amplification.

MODE OF TRANSDUCTION – CLOSING THE GAP ON THE IDENTITY OF THE TRANSDUCTION ION CHANNEL IN MAMMALS AND INSECTS

Over the past 40 years a fascinating and persistent search for the mammalian transduction channel has captured the imagination of sensory biologists. This dramatic roller-coaster of discovery and dismissal of various promising hair cell transduction channel candidates has led to today's more tentative approach to claims that the channel has been found. One realization is that the channel works in a complex with other membrane proteins, which exist in different isoforms-quelling the idea of the transduction channel and setting out a longer more gradual journey to discover of all the interacting components. About 20 years ago insects jumped into search for its own auditory transduction channel, powered by the genetic versatility of the fruit fly. As it will become clear in the next paragraphs, both research fields have made remarkable progress, but it is those working on the mammalian hair cell transduction channel that appear to be cautiously closing in on the channel identity.

In mammals, tip links, composed of cadherin 23 at their apical end and protocadherin 15 at their lower end (Kazmierczak et al., 2007), orientate in one direction and connect adjacent stereovilli in hair bundles (Figure 4A; Hudspeth, 1985). In zebrafish protocadherin 15 connects to a candidate protein of the hair cell transduction channel, a transmembrane channel-like channel (TMCs) (Maeda et al., 2014). In contrast, sensory cells of insect ears have only one ciliate hair and tip links are not present (Figure 4B; Kavlie and Albert, 2013). Therefore,



the question arises how in an insect ear the transduction channels are opened without the connection by tip links. In insects, the protein structure of the mechanosensitive channel protein NompC (Jin et al., 2017) is well known. The other contender for the auditory transduction channel, Nanchung-Inactive, not. The interplay and role of these channels is still under discussion (Albert and Göpfert, 2015; Hummel et al., 2016). However, in mammals, the position and function of the transduction channel is well characterized (Beurg et al., 2009; Peng and Ricci, 2011; Ó Maoiléidigh and Ricci, 2019), but the involved proteins and their interplay are being established (Qiu and Müller, 2018).

The first candidate for the hair cell transduction channel were epithelial sodium channels (ENaC) because they were localized to the stereovilli tips (Hackney et al., 1992), had isoforms in the chick cochlea (Killick and Richardson, 1997) and homologous MEC genes in *C. elegans*, when knocked out, had mechanosensory defects (O'Hagan et al., 2005). Despite such early promise the selectivity of ENaC's to Na⁺ and Ca²⁺ were too high and low respectively compared to that measured in hair cells (Kellenberger and Schild, 2002) so were the first to be ruled out. At the turn of the century, a decade after the first transient receptor potential (TRP) channels, required for vision, were discovered in *Drosophila* (Hardie and Minke, 1992), mechanically sensitive TRP channels were being discovered and characterized

across the animal kingdom from flies and zebrafish to frogs and worms (Walker et al., 2000; Sidi et al., 2003; Shin et al., 2005; Li et al., 2006). As two TRP channels had been identified essential for hearing in Drosophila (Walker et al., 2000), at this stage, it was thought possible that, for both insects and mammals, TRP channels were the transduction channel. The accumulating widespread sensory functions of TRPs across animals (Madrid and Bacigalupo, 2015) made them all the more convincing and, for mammals, there was one outstanding candidate, TRPA1 (Corey et al., 2004). Transduction currents were severely affected, sometimes absent, in mice with TRPA1 knockdowns, TRPA1 localized to the hair bundle tips, where the channels are, and the start of expression coincides with hearing. Disappointingly, it was later shown that hair cells with knockout of TRPA1 have normal transduction currents (Kwan et al., 2006), they were dismissed and the search continued.

Adding to an already complex system, a distinct mechanicallyelicited electrophysiological current (reverse-polarity current) was discovered that manifested in hair cells even when tip links are severed (Marcotti et al., 2014). This current was proposed to be a candidate for the transduction channel (Beurg and Fettiplace, 2017) but later electrophysiological characterization strongly suggested they were different channels (Marcotti et al., 2014). This reverse polarity current was discovered to be carried by Piezo channels (Wu et al., 2017) already identified to have diverse roles in touch sensation (Gottlieb, 2017). Thus, Piezo could be the penultimate candidate for the hair cell transduction channel, expressed in the cochlea (Wu et al., 2017), if the latest candidate-transmembrane channel-like protein (TMC) channels-withstand the battery of tests it is currently undertaking to win the race (Pan et al., 2018). Two transmembrane channels isoforms (TMC1 and TMC2) and associated proteins are the leading contenders for core components for the transduction channel (Corey et al., 2019; Figure 4A). As well as localization to the site of the channel, TMC2 expression coinciding with onset of mechanotransduction (Kawashima et al., 2011) and multiple pore mutations predicted to alter the channel's ion selectivity and binding with the blocker dihydrostreptomycin do so (Pan et al., 2013, 2018; Corns et al., 2016). TMC orthologs are functionally conserved in Drosophila larvae for touch sensation but the scattering of TMC expression in auditory neurons suggests that TMCs are not the insect auditory transduction channel (Guo et al., 2016).

Two outstanding candidates for the insect transduction channel were discovered with forward genetic screens (Kernan et al., 1994; Kim et al., 2003; Gong et al., 2004). These transduction channels are: NompC and Nanchung-Inactive (**Figure 4B**). Both, NompC and Nanchung-Inactive, belong to the TRPN and TRPV sub families of the TRP superfamily of sensory ion channels and localize to the tip and proximal part of the cilium respectively (Gong et al., 2004; Liang et al., 2010). Although NompC forms a bone fide mechanotransduction channel, even when expressed in heterologous cells or ectopically (Gong et al., 2013; Zhang et al., 2015), intracellular recordings of the transduction current support Nanchung-Inactive as the transduction channel (Lehnert et al., 2013; Warren and Matheson, 2018). NompC connects the membrane to the microtubule cytoskeleton (Howard and Bechstedt, 2004; Jin et al., 2017) where the cilia are attached to the cap, most clearly shown for cuticle strain-sensitive campaniform receptors (Zhang et al., 2015). This is because the 29 ankyrin repeats of each NompC ion channel form a helical spring (Michaely et al., 2002; Jin et al., 2020), are compliant structures and absent when NompC is knocked out (Liang et al., 2013). Connection of the cap to the ciliary tip membrane is through a membrane-embedded filamentous extracellular matrix protein, including NompA (Chung et al., 2001). NompA could also directly gate the transduction channels of insect auditory neurons, like the vertebrate tip link, because the leading candidate mechanotransduction ion channel NompC also localizes to ciliary tip (Lee et al., 2010).

Two competing models exists to explain the respective functions of NompC and Nanchung-Inactive (Göpfert et al., 2006; Lehnert et al., 2013; Albert and Göpfert, 2015). The NompC hypothesis assumes that NompC, at the tip of the cilium, is the primary transduction ion channel and Nanchung-Inactive, propagates the transduction potential down the cilium, like an action potential (Göpfert et al., 2006). NompC produces forces, by channel gating, that move the antennae. The origin of these forces are thought to be due to the mechanical forces produced by dynein (Shingyoji et al., 1998; Karak et al., 2015) or due to a conformation change of the channels gate powered by the steep electrochemical gradient across the channel (Mhatre, 2015). In this model NompC produced force is regulated by Nanchung-Inactive. NompC is a clear frontrunner for the channel. It forms a mechanotransduction ion channel in heterologous cells, the permeability of which can be altered through pore mutations (Yan et al., 2013). It functions as a mechanotransducer when expressed ectopically in non-mechanically sensitive neurons (Yan et al., 2013) and is a bone fide mechanotransduction ion channel in other mechanoreceptors (Gong et al., 2013). When Nanchung or Inactive are knocked out, spontaneous active motility of the antennae increases 10-fold, explained by the model's lack of feedback regulation by Nanchung-Inactive. Whereas mutations in NompC lead to a reduction in the compound potential recorded from the fly Johnston's organ and total loss of mechanical amplification (Göpfert et al., 2006). When NompC is knocked out there remains a small sound-evoked compound potential from Johnston's organ. The NompC model accounts for this as being due to gravity dedicated neurons that weakly respond to sound (Kamikouchi et al., 2009). Because mechanical amplification of the auditory neurons depends on channel gating-as predicted by the gating spring model-a lack of amplification would be predicted when the mechanotransduction channel is mutated, which supports NompC.

Evidence against NompC stems from intracellular recordings of the sound-evoked current flowing though the mechanotransduction ion channel. Here no potentials are detected in NompC mutants or when Nanchung-Inactive are pharmacologically impaired (Lehnert et al., 2013; Warren and Matheson, 2018). As such, the Nanchung-Inactive hypothesis (Lehnert et al., 2013) states that NompC regulates the tension delivered to the true mechanotransduction channel Nanchung-Inactive. The only direct intracellular voltage-controlled

recordings in locust auditory neurons failed to show any voltage activation of Nanchung-Inactive (Warren and Matheson, 2018), casting doubts on the electrical propagation role predicted by the NompC model, at least in morphologically similar orthopteran auditory receptors. Other recent work on age-related hearing decline in Drosophila also adds to our understanding of the respective roles of NompC and Nanchung-Inactive. When the transcription factor, Onecut, involved in sensory organ development and maintenance, is knocked down auditory transduction is nearly completely lost-including the antennae's ability to mechanically amplify quiet sound (Keder et al., 2020). In Onecut knockdown, both, Nanchung and Inactive expression levels are decreased, but NompC expression levels are unchanged, suggesting that Nanchung and Inactive are more critical for transduction than NompC (Keder et al., 2020). NompC is also expressed and essential for the function of two other non-auditory mechanoreceptor types-bristle and campaniform-and when genetically knocked out results in a decrease of mechanotransduction (Kernan et al., 1994; Liang et al., 2010). However, transient knockdown of mechanotransduction channel candidates in cockroach, using RNAi, resulted in reduction of the bristle receptor response only for Nanchung and Inactive but not for NompC (Hennenfent et al., 2020). Thus, it appears that Nanchung-Inactive are, at least, drawing level with NompC as contenders for the auditory transduction channel in insects. NompC, no doubt, has a critical role in auditory transduction, especially to coupling forces to the cilium, but previous work on NompC has relied of germline genetic mutations of NompC, which makes it hard to discern between a developmental phenotype and a functional phenotype. The crucial experiment that will break the two contender deadlock are direct recordings of the transduction current (Warren and Matheson, 2018) with pore mutations of the channel candidates.

In insects, channel gating is determined by the relative stretch of the cellular membrane and microtubule cytoskeleton. However, the effective stimulus to open transduction channels in the cilium is largely speculative and based on the morphology of the cilium; is it pull along the ciliary axis, bending or tilting for instance? The two contenders for the insect auditory transduction channel, NompC and Nanchung-Inactive are positioned along opposing sides of a dilation in the sensory dendrite (Figure 4B). NompC is located at the ciliary tip above the dilation (Liang et al., 2011) and Nanchung-Inactive located at the proximal dendrite below the dilation (Kim et al., 2003). Although dynein is only located below the dilation it could be coupled to either prospective channel; longitudinally through the microtubule cytoskeleton, that passes through a ciliary dilation, for NompC or through a possible direct connection for Nanchung-Inactive (Field and Matheson, 1998) through structures termed microtubule integrated cones (Thurm et al., 1983). In either scheme stretch-activation of dynein is necessary for any dynein-based force production in cilia. It was suggested that pull along the axis of the cilium is the effective stimulus of all chordotonal organs (Field and Matheson, 1998; Todi et al., 2004). This is based on (i) the rigid channel or receptor lymph space maintained by the scolopale cell and its actin cytoskeleton, (ii) connections of the cilium are commonly in line with the ciliary axis, and (iii) the cilium is long and slender. Recent work on bush crickets by Hummel et al. (2016), however, shows that tilt of the ciliary tip that is the most effective way to stimulate the chordotonal sensory cell. Here the phase delay of the traveling wave, where the tilt of the ciliary tip is maximal, leads to the largest neural response.

Nanometer displacement of hair cell stereocilia has been resolved through an ingenious projection of the shadow of a glass probe, attached to the stereocilia tips, onto a pair of photodiodes (Howard and Hudspeth, 1988). The nanometer displacement of the glass probe, due to stereocilia movement, can be calculated from the proportion of photons blocked on each adjacent photodiode. In insects it may be possible to optically interpret ciliary movements by projecting the cilium directly onto adjacent photosensors and measure their proportional activation. Such an approach seems impossible in flies, mosquitoes and one species of tree cricket where mechanical amplification has been proven (Göpfert and Robert, 2001, 2002; Mhatre and Robert, 2013) due to the inaccessible nature of their hearing organs. However, such an approach would be feasible in the locust's Müller's organ and perhaps other non-model insects. It could be argued, only cilia in insects known to provide mechanical amplification would be motile but the inability to detect mechanical amplification should not rule out the absence of ciliary movements. Dynein is present in the cilia of all chordotonal organ neurons so far examined. Thus, it has a role, active or otherwise, in chordotonal organ transduction. Until measured directly ciliary movements are purely speculative but we predict that the cilium would twist. This is because the dynein-tubulin connections follow a ring formation and forces could only be generated through relative movement between adjacent microtubule doublets. Other cilia with $9 \times 2 + 0$ arrangement rotate their free apical end clockwise (Nonaka et al., 1998). Imaging the auditory receptors themselves has provided a deeper and powerful understanding of mechanotransduction in hair cells that has accelerated understanding. We predict that

REFERENCES

- Albert, J. T., and Göpfert, M. C. (2015). Hearing in Drosophila. Curr. Opin. Neurobiol. 34, 79–85.
- Albert, J. T., Nadrowski, B., and Göpfert, M. C. (2007). Mechanical signatures of transducer gating in the *Drosophila* ear. *Curr. Biol.* 17, 1000–1006. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2007.05. 004
- Allin, E. F., and Hopson, J. A. (1992). "Evolution of the auditory system in Synapsida ("Mammal-like reptiles" and primitive mammals) as seen in the fossil record," in *The Evolutionary Biology of Hearing*, eds D. B. Webster, A. N. Popper, and R. R. Fay (New York, NY: Springer), 587–614. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4612-2784-7_37
- Arendt, D., and Wittbrodt, J. (2001). Reconstructing the eyes of Urbilateria. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B Biol. Sci. 356, 1545–1563. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2001.0971
- Asai, Y., Pan, B., Nist-Lund, C., Galvin, A., Lukashkin, A. N., Lukashkina, V. A., et al. (2018). Transgenic Tmc2 expression preserves inner eat cells and vestibular function in mice lacking Tmc1. *Sci. Rep.* 8:12124. doi: 10.1038/ s41598-018-28958-x

such a breakthrough will have similar repercussions for insect auditory transduction.

As the insect labs push forward to find the channel the search for the mammalian transduction channel has gifted some key lessons. For instance, as many mammalian channel candidates fell to the road side, we must be open to the possibility that neither NompC nor Nancung-Inactive is the hearing channel for insects. For mammals, it is a channel complex as opposed to a single protein that is required for auditory transduction and there may well be different isoforms to account for different conductivities along the cochlea (Beurg et al., 2018). Further complicating matters is the redundancy of TMC channels; knockout of TMC1 results in TMC2 taking up its function (Asai et al., 2018). Thus, even if a knockout of a single gene has no effect it may still be the channel. Our forlorn hope is that the insect hearing channel is a simple one channel solution and that it is either NompC or Nanchung-Inactive but our sneaking suspicion is that it will not be so simple.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Both authors developed the concept of the publication and wrote the publication.

FUNDING

This work was funded by the Royal Society University Research Fellowship awarded to BW and by the German Research Foundation (DFG, No 841/10-1).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Tom Matheson and Stefan Schöneich gave feedback and comments on manuscript draft. We would like to thank Sci Hub for access to papers, the absence of this server would have made this review not possible.

- Ashmore, J. F. (1983). Frequency tuning in a frog vestibular organ. *Nature* 304, 536–538. doi: 10.1038/304536a0
- Ashmore, J. F. (1987). A fast motile response in guinea-pig outer hair cells: the cellular basis of the cochlear amplifier. J. Physiol. 388, 323–347. doi: 10.1113/ jphysiol.1987.sp016617
- Baird, I. L. (1974). "Anatomical features of the inner ear in submammalian vertebrates," in *Auditory System. Handbook of Sensory Physiology*, Vol. 5/1, eds W. D. Keidel and W. D. Neff (Berlin: Springer-Verlag), 159–212. doi: 10.1007/ 978-3-642-65829-7_6
- Bangert, M., Kalmring, K., Sickmann, T., Stephen, R., Jatho, M., and Lakes-Harlan, R. (1998). Stimulus transmission in the auditory receptor organs of the foreleg of bushcrickets (*Tettigoniidae*). I. The role of the tympana. *Hear. Res.* 115, 27–38. doi: 10.1016/S0378-5955(97)00177-9
- Berney, C., and Pawlowski, J. (2006). A molecular time-scale for eukaryote evolution recalibrated with the continuous microfossil record. *Proc. Biol. Sci.* 273, 1867–1872. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2006.3537
- Béthoux, O., André, N., Lapeyrie, J., and Gand, G. (2003). The Permostridulidae fam. n. (Panorthoptera), a new enigmatic insect family from the Upper Permian of France. *Eur. J. Entomol.* 100, 581–585. doi: 10.14411/eje.2003.087

- Beurg, M., and Fettiplace, R. (2017). PIEZO2 as the anomalous mechanotransducer channel in auditory hair cells. *J. Physiol.* 595, 7039–7048. doi: 10.1113/JP274996
- Beurg, M., Cui, R., Goldring, A. C., Ebrahim, S., Fettiplace, R., and Kachar, B. (2018). Variable number of TMC1-dependant mechanotransducer channels underlie tonotopic conductance gradients in the cochlea. *Nat. Commun.* 9:2185. doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-04589-8
- Beurg, M., Fettiplace, R., Nam, J. H., and Ricci, A. J. (2009). Localization of inner hair cell mechanotransducer channels using high-speed calcium imaging. *Nat. Neurosci.* 12, 553–558. doi: 10.1038/nn.2295
- Beznosov, P. A., Clack, J. A., Lukševičs, E., Ruta, M., and Ahlberg, P. E. (2019). Morphology of the earliest reconstructable tetrapod *Parmastega aelidae*. *Nature* 574, 527–531. doi: 10.1038/s41586-019-1636-y
- Brownell, W. E., Bader, C. R., Bertrand, D., and de Ribaupierre, Y. (1985). Evoked mechanical responses of isolated cochlear outer hair cells. *Science* 227, 194–196. doi: 10.1126/science.3966153
- Burighel, P., Lane, N. J., Fabio, G., Stefano, T., Zaniolo, G., Carnevali, M. D., et al. (2003). Novel, secondary sensory cell organ in ascidians: in search of the ancestor of the vertebrate lateral line. *J. Comp. Neurol.* 461, 236–249. doi: 10.1002/cne.10666
- Carroll, S. B., Grenier, J. K., and Weatherbee, S. D. (2001). From DNA to Diversity: Molecular Genetics and the Evolution of Animal Design. Hoboken, NJ: Wiley-Blackwell.
- Cheatham, M. A., Huynh, K. H., Gao, J., Zuo, J., and Dallos, P. (2004). Cochlear function in prestin knockout mice. *J. Physiol.* 560, 821–830.
- Chung, Y. D., Zhu, J., Han, Y., and Kernan, M. J. (2001). nompA encodes a PNSspecific, ZP domain protein required to connect mechanosensory dendrites to sensory structures. *Neuron* 29, 415–428. doi: 10.1016/s0896-6273(01)00215-x
- Clack, J. A. (1983). The stapes of the coal measures embolomere *Pholiderpeton scutigerum* Huxley (Amphibia: Anthracosauria) and otic evolution in early tetrapods. *Zool. J. Linn. Soc.* 79, 121–148. doi: 10.1111/j.1096-3642.1983. tb01163.x
- Clack, J. A. (1992). "The stapes of Acanthostega gunnari and the role of the stapes in early tetrapods," in *The Evolutionary Biology of Hearing*, eds D. B. Webster, A. N. Popper, and R. R. Fay (New York, NY: Springer), 405–420. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4612-2784-7_24
- Clack, J. A., Ahlberg, P. E., Finney, S. M., Dominquez, A. P., Robinson, J., and Ketcham, R. A. (2003). A uniquely specialized ear in a very early tetrapod. *Nature* 425, 65–69. doi: 10.1038/nature01904
- Clack, J. A., and Allin, E. (2000). "The evolution of single and multiple-ossicle ears in fishes and tetrapods," in *Evolution of the Vertebrate Auditory System*, eds G. A. Manley, R. R. Fay, and A. N. Popper (New York, NY: Springer), 128–163. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4419-8957-4_5
- Cooper, G. M. (2000). "The origin and evolution of cells," in *The Cell: A Molecular Approach*, 2nd Edn, ISBN: 0878931066 (Sunderland, MA: Sinauer Associates Inc.).
- Cooper, N. P., Vavakou, A., and van der Heijden, M. (2018). Vibration hotspots reveal longitudinal funneling of sound-evoked motion in the mammalian cochlea. *Nat. Commun.* 9:3054.
- Corey, D. P., Akyuz, N., and Holt, J. R. (2019). Function and dysfunction of TMC channels in inner ear hair cells. *Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Med.* 9:a033506. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a033506
- Corey, D. P., García-Añoveros, J., Holt, J. R., Kwan, K. Y., Lin, S. Y., Vollrath, M. A., et al. (2004). TRPA1 is a candidate for the mechanosensitive transduction channel of vertebrate hair cells. *Nature* 432, 723–730. doi: 10.1038/nature03066
- Corfield, J., Kubke, M. F., Parsons, S., Wild, J. M., and Köppl, C. (2011). Evidence for an auditory fovea in the New Zealand kiwi (*Apteryx mantelli*). PLoS One 6:e23771. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0023771
- Corns, L. F., Johnson, S. L., Kros, C. J., and Marcotti, W. (2014). Calcium entry into stereocilia drives adaptation of the mechanoelectrical transducer current of mammalian cochlear hair cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 111, 14918–14923. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1409920111
- Corns, L. F., Johnson, S. L., Kros, C. J., and Marcotti, W. (2016). Tmc1 point mutation affects Ca2+ sensitivity and block by dihydrostreptomycin of the mechanoelectrical transducer current of mouse outer hair cells. J. Neurosci. 36, 336–349. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2439-15.2016
- Crawford, A. C., and Fettiplace, R. (1980). The frequency selectivity of auditory nerve fibres and hair cells in the cochlea of the turtle. J. Physiol. 306, 79–125. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.1980.sp013387

- Crawford, A. C., and Fettiplace, R. (1981). An electrical tuning mechanism in turtle cochlear hair cells. J. Physiol. 312, 377–412. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.1981. sp013634
- Dallos, P., and Harris, D. M. (1978). Properties of auditory nerve responses in the absence of outer hair cells. J. Neurophysiol. 41, 365–383. doi: 10.1152/jn.1978. 41.2.365
- de Robertis, E. M., and Sasai, Y. A. (1996). A common plan for dorsoventral patterning in Bilateria. *Nature* 380, 37–40. doi: 10.1038/380037a0
- Dong, X. X., Ospeck, M., and Iwasa, K. H. (2002). Piezoelectric reciprocal relationship of the membrane motor in the cochlear outer hair cell. *Biophys.* J. 82, 1254–1259. doi: 10.1016/s0006-3495(02)75481-7
- Doolittle, R. F., Feng, D. F., Tsang, S., Cho, G., and Little, E. (1996). Determining divergence times of the major kingdoms of living organisms with a protein clock. *Science* 271, 470–477. doi: 10.1126/scie nce.271
- Douzery, E. J., Snell, E. A., Bapteste, E., Delsuc, F., and Philippe, H. (2004). The timing of eukaryotic evolution: does a relaxed molecular clock reconcile proteins and fossils? *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 101, 15386–15391. doi: 10. 1073/pnas.0403984101
- Doyle, A. J. (2012). Molecular and fossil evidence on the origin of angiosperms. Annu. Rev. Earth Planet. Sci. 40, 301–326. doi: 10.1146/annurev-earth-042711-105313
- Field, L. H., and Matheson, T. (1998). "Chordotonal organs of insects," in Advances in Insect Physiology, Vol. 27, ed. P. D. Evans (Cambridge, MA: Academic), 2–230.
- Forey, P., and Janvier, P. (1994). Evolution of the early vertebrates. Am. Sci. 82, 554-566.
- Fuchs, P. A., Nagal, T., and Evans, G. (1988). Electrical tuning in hair cells isolated from the chick cochlea. J. Neurosci. 8, 2460–2467. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.08-07-02460.1988
- Fullard, J. H., and Yack, J. E. (1993). The evolutionary biology of insect hearing. *Trends Evol. Ecol.* 8, 248–252. doi: 10.1016/0169-5347(93)90200-9
- Gaetano, L. C., and Abdala, F. (2015). The stapes of Gomphodont cynodonts: insights into the middle ear structure of non-mammaliaforms cynodonts. *PLoS One* 10:e0131174. doi: 10.1371/journalpone.0131174
- Garcia, A. K., Schopf, J. W., Yokobori, S.-I., Akanuma, S., and Yamagishi, A. (2017). Reconstructed ancestral enzymes suggest long-term cooling of Earth's photic zone since the Archean. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 114, 4619–4624. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1702729114
- Gillespie, P. G., and Cyr, J. L. (2004). Myosin-1c, the hair cell's adaptation motor. Annu. Rev. Physiol. 66, 521–545. doi: 10.1146/annurev.physiol.66. 032102.112842
- Gong, J., Wang, Q., and Wang, Z. (2013). NOMPC is likely a key component of *Drosophila* mechanotransduction channels. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 38, 2057–2064. doi: 10.1111/ejn.12214
- Gong, Z., Son, W., Chung, Y. D., Kim, J., Shin, D. W., McClung, C. A., et al. (2004). Two interdependent TRPV channel subunits, inactive and Nanchung, mediate hearing in *Drosophila. J. Neurosci.* 24, 9059–9066. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI. 1645-04.2004
- Göpfert, M. C., Albert, J. T., Nadrowski, B., and Kamikouchi, A. (2006). Specification of auditory sensitivity by *Drosophila* TRP channels. *Nat. Neurosci.* 9, 999–1000. doi: 10.1038/nn1735
- Göpfert, M. C., and Hennig, R. M. (2016). Hearing in insects. *Annu. Rev. Entomol.* 61, 257–276. doi: 10.1146/annurev-ento-010715-023631
- Göpfert, M. C., and Robert, D. (2001). Active auditory mechanics in mosquitoes. *Proc. R. Soc. B* 258, 333–339. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2000.1376
- Göpfert, M. C., and Robert, D. (2002). Motion generation by Drosophila mechanosensory neurons. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 100, 5514–5519. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0737564100
- Göpfert, M. C., and Robert, D. (2008). "Active processes in insect hearing," in Active Processes and Otoacoustic Emissions in Hearing, eds G. A. Manley, R. R. Fay, and A. N. Popper (New York, NY: Springer), 191–209. doi: 10.1007/978-0-387-71469-1_6
- Gottlieb, P. A. (2017). A tour de force: the discovery, properties, and function of piezo channels. Curr. Top. Membr. 79, 1–36. doi: 10.1016/bs.ctm.2016.11.007
- Graybeal, A., Rosowski, J. J., Ketten, D. R., and Crompton, A. W. (1989). Inner-ear structure in Morganucodon, an early Jurassic mammal. *Zool. J. Linn. Soc.* 96, 107–117. doi: 10.1111/j.1096-3642.1989.tb01823.x

- Grothe, B., and Pecka, M. (2014). The natural history of sound localization in mammals – a story of neuronal inhibition. *Front. Neural Circuits* 8:116. doi: 10.3389/fncir.2014.00116
- Gu, J. J., Montealegre-Z, F., Robert, D., Engel, M. S., Qiao, G. X., and Ren, D. (2012). Wing stridulation in a Jurassic katydid (Insecta, Orthoptera) produced low-pitched musical calls to attract females. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 109, 3868–3873. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1118372109
- Guo, Y., Wang, Y., Zhang, W., Meltzer, S., Zanini, D., Yu, Y., et al. (2016). Transmembrane channel-like (tmc) gene regulates *Drosophila* larval locomotion. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 113, 7243–7248. doi: 10.1073/pnas. 1606537113
- Hackney, C. M., Furness, D. N., Benos, D. J., Woodley, J. F., and Barratt, J. (1992). Putative immunolocalization of the mechanoelectrical transduction channels in mammalian cochlear hair cells. *Proc. Biol. Sci.* 248, 215–221. doi: 10.1098/rspb. 1992.0064
- Han, G., Mao, F., Bi, S., Wang, Y., and Meng, J. (2017). A Jurassic gliding euharamiyidan mammal with an ear of five auditory bones. *Nature* 551, 451–456. doi: 10.1038/nature24483
- Hardie, R. C., and Minke, B. (1992). The trp gene is essential for a light-activated Ca2+ channel in *Drosophila* photoreceptors. *Neuron* 8, 643–651. doi: 10.1016/0896-6273(92)90086-s
- Hedwig, B. (2014). Insect Hearing and Acoustic Communication. Berlin: Springer.
- Hejnol, A., and Martindale, M. Q. (2008). Acoel development supports a simple planula-like urbilaterian. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B Biol. Sci.* 363, 1493–1501. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2007.2239
- Hennenfent, A., Liu, H., Torkkeli, P. H., and French, A. S. (2020). RNA interference supports a role for Nanchung-Inactive in mechanotransduction by the cockroach, *Periplaneta Americana*, tactile spine. *Invert. Neurosci.* 20:1. doi: 10.1007/s10158-019-0234-x
- Hetherington, T. E. (1992). The effects of body size on functional properties of middle ear systems of anuran amphibians. *Brain Behav. Evol.* 39, 133–142. doi: 10.1159/000114111
- Hildebrand, M., and Goslow, G. (1995). Analysis of Vertebrate Structure. Hoboken, NJ: Wiley.
- Howard, J., and Bechstedt, S. (2004). Hypothesis: a helix of ankyrin repeats of the NOMPC- TRP ion channel is the gating spring of mechanoreceptors. *Curr. Biol.* 14, R224–R226. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2004.02.050
- Howard, J., and Hudspeth, A. J. (1988). Compliance of the hair bundle associated with gating of mechanoelectrical transduction channels in the bullfrog's saccular hair cell. *Neuron* 1, 189–199. doi: 10.1016/0896-6273(88)90139-0
- Hudspeth, A. J. (1985). The cellular basis of hearing: the biophysics of hair cells. *Science* 230, 745–752. doi: 10.1126/science.2414845
- Hummel, J., Kössl, M., and Nowotny, M. (2017). Morphological basis for a tonotopic design of an insect ear. J. Comp. Neurol. 525, 2443–2455. doi: 10. 1002/cne.24218
- Hummel, J., Schöneich, S., Kössl, M., Scherberich, J., Hedwig, B., Prinz, S., et al. (2016). Gating of acoustic transducer channels is shaped by biomechanical filter processes. J. Neurosci. 36, 2377–2382. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.3948-15. 2016
- Jacobs, K., Otte, B., and Lakes-Harlan, R. (1999). Tympanal receptor cells of Schistocerca gregaria: correlation of soma positions and dendrite attachment sites, central projections and physiologies. J. Exp. Zool. 283, 270–285. doi: 10.1002/(sici)1097-010x(19990215)283:3<270::aid-jez5>3.0.co;2-c
- Janvier, P. (2008). Early jawless vertebrates and cyclostome originals. Zool. Sci. 25, 1045–1056. doi: 10.2108/zsj.25.1045
- Jékely, G., and Arendt, D. (2006). Evolution of intraflagellar transport from coated vesicles and autogenous origin of the eukaryotic cilium. *Bioessays* 28, 191–198. doi: 10.1002/bies.20369
- Jin, P., Bulkley, D., Guo, Y., Zhang, W., Guo, Z., Huynh, W., et al. (2017). Electron cryo-microscopy structure of the mechanotransduction channel NOMPC. *Nature* 547, 118–122. doi: 10.1038/nature22981
- Jin, P., Jan, L. Y., and Jan, Y. N. (2020). Mechanosensitive ion channels: structural features relevant to mechanotransduction mechanisms. *Annu. Rev. Neurosci.* 43, 207–229. doi: 10.1146/annurev-neuro-070918-050509
- Jost, M. C., and Shaw, K. L. (2006). Phylogeny of Ensifer (Hexapoda: Orthoptera) using three ribosomal loci, with implications for the evolution of acoustic information. *Mol. Phylogenet. Evol.* 38, 510–530. doi: 10.1016/j.ympev.2005.10. 004

- Kamikouchi, A., Inagaki, H. K., Effertz, T., Hendrich, O., Fiala, A., Göpfert, M. C., et al. (2009). The neural basis of *Drosophila* gravity-sensing and hearing. *Nature* 458, 165–171. doi: 10.1038/nature07810
- Karak, S., Jacobs, J. S., Kittelmann, M., Spalthoff, C., Katana, R., Sivan-Loukianova, E., et al. (2015). Diverse roles of axonemal dyneins in *Drosophila* auditory neuron function and mechanical amplification in hearing. *Sci. Rep.* 5:17085. doi: 10.1038/srep17085
- Kavlie, R. G., and Albert, J. T. (2013). Chordotonal organs. Curr. Biol. 23, R334– R335. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2013.03.048
- Kavlie, R. G., Fritz, J. L., Nies, F., Göpfert, M. C., Oliver, D., Albert, J. T., et al. (2015). Prestin is an anion transporter dispensable for mechanical feedback amplification in *Drosophila* hearing. J. Comp. Physiol. A Neuroethol. Sens. Neural. Behav. Physiol. 201, 51–60. doi: 10.1007/s00359-014-0960-9
- Kawashima, Y., Géléoc, G. S., Kurima, K., Labay, V., Lelli, A., Asai, Y., et al. (2011). Mechanotransduction in mouse inner ear hair cells requires transmembrane channel-like genes. J. Clin. Invest. 121, 4796–4809. doi: 10.1172/JCI60405
- Kazmierczak, P., Sakaguchi, H., Tokita, J., Wilson-Kubalek, E. M., Milligan, R. A., Müller, U., et al. (2007). Cadherin 23 and protocadherin 15 interact to form tip-link filaments in sensory hair cells. *Nature* 449, 78–91. doi: 10.1038/ nature06091
- Keder, A., Tardieu, C., Malong, L., Filia, A., Kashkenbayeva, A., Newton, F., et al. (2020). Homeostatic maintenance and age-related functional decline in the Drosophila ear. Sci. Rep. 10:7431. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-64498-z
- Kellenberger, S., and Schild, L. (2002). Epithelial sodium channel/degenerin family of ion channels: avariety of functions for a shared structure. *Physiol. Rev.* 82, 735–767. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00007.2002
- Kennedy, H. J., Evans, M. G., Crawford, A. C., and Fettiplace, R. (2003). Fast adaptation of mechanoelectircal transducer channels in mammalian cochlear hear cells. *Nat. Neurosci.* 6, 832–836. doi: 10.1038/nn1089
- Kernan, M., Cowan, D., and Zuker, C. (1994). Genetic dissection of mechanosensory transduction: mechanoreception-defective mutations of *Drosophila. Neuron* 12, 1195–1206. doi: 10.1016/0896-6273(94)90437-5
- Killick, R., and Richardson, G. (1997). Isolation of chicken alpha ENaC splice variants from a cochlear cDNA library. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1350, 33–37. doi: 10.1016/s0167-4781(96)00197-2
- Kim, J., Chung, Y. D., Park, D. Y., Choi, S., Shin, D. W., Soh, H., et al. (2003). A TRPV family ion channel required for hearing in *Drosophila*. *Nature* 424, 81–84. doi: 10.1038/nature01733
- Knoll, A. H. (2004). Life on a Young Planet The First Three Billion Years of Evolution on Earth. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.
- Köppl, C., Gleich, O., and Manley, G. A. (1993). An auditory fovea in the barn owl cochlea. J. Comp. Physiol. A 171, 695–704. doi: 10.1007/bf00213066
- Kössl, M. (1997). Sound emission from cochlear filters and foveae does the auditory sense organ make sense? *Naturwissenschaften* 84, 9–16. doi: 10.1007/ s001140050339
- Kühne, R. (1982). Neurophysiology of the vibration sense in locusts and bushcrickets: response characteristics of single receptor units. J. Insect. Physiol. 28, 155–163. doi: 10.1016/0022-1910(82)90123-8
- Kwan, K. Y., Allchorne, A. J., Vollrath, M. A., Christensen, A. P., Zhang, D. S., Woolf, C. J., et al. (2006). TRPA1 contributes to cold, mechanical, and chemical nociception but is not essential for hair-cell transduction. *Neuron* 50, 277–289. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2006.03.042
- Lautenschlager, S., Gill, P. G., Luo, Z.-X., Fagan, M. J., and Rayfield, E. J. (2018). The role of miniturization in the evolution of the mammalian jaw and middle ear. *Nature* 561, 533–537. doi: 10.1038/s41586-018-0521-4
- Lee, J., Moon, S., Cha, Y., and Chung, Y. D. (2010). Drosophila TRPN(=NOMPC) channel localizes to the distal end of mechanosensory cilia. PLoS One 5:e11012. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0011012
- Lehnert, B. P., Baker, A. E., Gaudry, Q., Chiang, A. S., and Wilson, R. I. (2013). Distinct roles of TRP channels in auditory transduction and amplification in *Drosophila. Neuron* 77, 115–128. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2012.11.030
- Lewis, R. S., and Hudspeth, A. J. (1983). Voltage- and ion-dependent conductances in solitary vertebrate hair cells. *Nature* 304, 538–541. doi: 10.1038/304538a0
- Li, W., Feng, Z., Sternberg, P. W., and Xu, X. Z. (2006). A C. elegans stretch receptor neuron revealed by a mechanosensitive TRP channel homologue. Nature 440, 684–687. doi: 10.1038/nature04538
- Liang, X., Madrid, J., Gärtner, R., Verbavatz, J. M., Schiklenk, C., Wilsch-Bräuninger, M., et al. (2013). A NOMPC-dependent membrane- microtubule

connector is a candidate for the gating spring in fly mechanoreceptors. *Curr. Biol.* 23, 755–763. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2013.03.065

- Liang, X., Madrid, J., Saleh, H. S., and Howard, J. (2010). NompC, a member of the TRP channel family, localizes to the tubular body and distal cilium of *Drosophila* campaniform and chordotonal receptor cells. *Cytoskelton* 68, 1–7. doi: 10.1002/cm.20493
- Liang, X., Madrid, J., Saleh, H. S., and Howard, J. (2011). NOMPC, a member of the TRP channel family, localizes to the tubular body and distal cilium of *Drosophila* campaniform and chordotonal receptor cells. *Cytoskeleton* 68, 1–7.
- Liberman, M. C., Gao, J., He, D. Z. Z., Wu, X., Jia, S., and Zuo, J. (2002). Prestin is required for electromotility of the outer hair cell and for the cochlear amplifier. *Nature* 419, 300–304. doi: 10.1038/nature01059
- Liu, Y., Chi, H., Li, L., Rossiter, S. J., and Zhang, S. (2018). Molecular data support an early shift to an intermediate-light niche in the evolution of mammals. *Mol. Biol. Evol.* 35, 1130–1134. doi: 10.1093/molbev/msy019
- Lombard, R. E., and Bolt, J. R. (1979). Evolution of the tetrapod ear: an analysis and reinterpretation. *Biol. J. Linn. Soc.* 11, 19–76. doi: 10.1111/j.1095-8312.1979. tb00027.x
- Lopatin, A. V. (2019). Modern data on the origin and early radiation of mammals. *Biol. Bull.* 46, 744–750. doi: 10.1134/s1062359019070082
- Luo, Z.-X., and Ketten, D. R. (1991). CT scanning and computerized reconstructions of the inner ear of multituberculate mammals. J. Vertebr. Paleontol. 11, 220–228. doi: 10.1080/02724634.1991.10011389
- MacNaughton, R. B., Zonneveld, J.-P., and Utting, J. (2002). Outcrop Analysis Of Trace Fossil Assemblages in the Toad Formation (Triassic), SE Yukon Territory: Implications For Hydrocarbon Exploration in NE British Columbia. Calgary, AB: Canadian Society of Petroleum Geologists Abstracts with Programs, 216.
- Madrid, R., and Bacigalupo, J. (2015). TRP Channels in Sensory Transduction. Berlin: Springer.
- Maeda, R., Kindt, K. S., Mo, W., Morgan, C. P., Erickson, T., Zhao, H., et al. (2014). Tip-link protein protocadhein 15 interacts with transmembrane channel-like proteins TMC1 and TMC2. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 111, 12907–12912. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1402152111
- Malkin, R., McDonagh, T. R., Mhatre, N., Scott, T. S., and Robert, D. (2013). Energy localization and frequency analysis in the locust ear. J. R. Soc. Interface 11:20130857. doi: 10.1098/rsif.2013.0857
- Mallatt, J. (1996). Ventilation and the origin of jawed vertebrates: a new mouth. Zool. J. Linn. Soc. 117, 329–404. doi: 10.1111/j.1096-3642.1996.tb01658.x
- Manley, G. A. (2000). Cochlear mechanisms from a phylogenetic viewpoint. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 97, 11736–11743. doi: 10.1073/pnas.97.22.11 736
- Marcotti, W., Corns, L. F., Desmonds, T., Kirkwood, N. K., Richardson, G. P., and Kros, C. J. (2014). Transduction without tip links in cochlear hair cells is mediated by ion channels with permeation properties distinct from those of the mechano-electrical transducer channel. J. Neurosci. 34, 5505–5514. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4086-13.2014
- Martin, P., and Hudspeth, A. J. (1999). Active hair-bundle movements can amplify a hair cell's response to oscillatory mechanical stimuli. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 96, 14306–14311. doi: 10.1073/pnas.96.25.14306
- Martin, P., Mehta, D., and Hudspeth, A. J. (2000). Negative hair-bundle stiffness betrays a mechanism for mechanical amplification by the hair cell. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 97, 12026–12031. doi: 10.1073/pnas.210389 497
- Meng, J., and Wyss, A. R. (1995). Monotreme affinities and low frequency hearing suggested by multituberculate ear. *Nature* 377, 141–144. doi: 10.1038/377141a0
- Mhatre, N. (2015). Active amplification in insect ears: mechanics models and molecules. J. Comp. Physiol. A 201, 19–37. doi: 10.1007/s00359-014-0969-0
- Mhatre, N., and Robert, D. (2013). A tympanal insect ear exploits a critical oscillator for active amplification and tuning. *Curr. Biol.* 23, 1952–1957. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2013.08.028
- Michaely, P., Tomchick, D. R., Machius, M., and Anderson, R. G. (2002). Crystal structure of a 12 ANK repeat stack from human ankyrinR. *EMBO J.* 21, 6387–6396. doi: 10.1093/emboj/cdf651
- Michelsen, A. (1971). The physiology of the locust ear. I. Frequency sensitivity of single cells in the isolated ear. II. Frequency discrimination based upon resonances in the tympanum. III. Acoustical properties of the intact ear. Z. Vergl. Physiol. 71, 49–128. doi: 10.1007/978-3-662-40271-9_1

- Michelsen, A., Popov, A. V., and Lewis, B. (1994). Physics of directional hearing in the cricket *Gryllus bimaculatus*. J. Comp. Physiol. A 175, 153–164. doi: 10.1007/bf00215111
- Misof, B., Liu, S., Meusemann, K., Peters, R. S., Donath, A., Mayer, C., et al. (2014). Phylogenomics resolves the timing and patter of insect evolution. *Science* 346, 763–767. doi: 10.1126/science.1257570
- Mitchell, D. R. (2004). Speculations on the evolution of 9+2 orgamelles and the role of central pair microtubules. *Biol. Cell* 96, 691–696. doi: 10.1016/j.biolcel.2004. 07.004
- Mitchell, D. R. (2007). The evolution of eukaryotic cilia and flagella as motile nad sensory organelles. Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 607, 130–140. doi: 10.1007/978-0-387-74021-8_11
- Möckel, D., Kössl, M., Lang, J., and Nowotny, M. (2012). Temperature dependence of distortion-product otoacoustic emissions in tympanal organs of locusts. *J. Exp. Biol.* 215, 3309–3316. doi: 10.1242/jeb.074377
- Montealegre-Z, F., and Robert, D. (2015). Biomechanics of hearing in katydids. *J. Comp. Physiol. A* 201, 5–18. doi: 10.1007/s00359-014-0976-1
- Montealegre-Z, F., Jonsson, T., Robson-Brown, K. A., Postles, M., and Robert, D. (2012). Convergent evolution between insect and mammalian audition. *Science* 338, 968–971. doi: 10.1126/science.1225271
- Moran, J., McKean, P. G., and Ginger, M. L. (2014). Aukaryotic flagella: variations in form, function, and composition during evolution. *Bioscience* 64, 1103–1114. doi: 10.1093/biosci/biu175
- Müller, M., Laube, B., Burda, H., and Bruns, V. (1992). Structure and function of the cochlea in the African mole rat (*Cryptomys hottentotus*): evidence for a low frequency acoustic fovea. *J. Comp. Physiol. A* 171, 469–476. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7998.1990.tb04319.x
- Nadrowski, B., Albert, J. T., and Göpfert, M. C. (2008). Transducer-based force generation explains active process in *Drosophila* hearing. *Curr. Biol.* 18, 1365– 1372. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2008.07.095
- Neuweiler, G., and Schmidt, S. (1993). Audition in echolocating bats. *Curr. Opin. Neurobiol.* 3, 563–569. doi: 10.1016/0959-4388(93)90057-6
- Nin, F., Reichenbach, T., Fisher, J. A., and Hudspeth, A. J. (2012). Contribution of active hair- bundle motility to nonlinear amplification in the mammalian cochlea. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 109, 21076–21080. doi: 10.1073/pnas. 1219379110
- Nonaka, S., Tanaka, Y., Okada, Y., Takeda, S., Harada, A., Kanai, Y., et al. (1998). Randomization of left-right asymmetry due to loss of nodal cilia generating leftward flow of extraembryonic fluid in mice lacking KIF3B motor protein. *Cell* 95, 829–837. doi: 10.1016/s0092-8674(00)81705-5
- Nowotny, M., Hummel, J., Weber, M., Möckel, D., and Kössl, M. (2010). Acousticinduced motion of the bushcricket (*Mecopoda elongata*, Tettigoniidae) tympanum. J. Comp. Physiol. A 196, 939–945. doi: 10.1007/s00359-010-0577-6
- Ó Maoiléidigh, D., and Ricci, A. J. A. (2019). Bundle of mechanisms: inner-ear hair-cell mechanotransduction. *Trends Neurosci.* 42, 221–236. doi: 10.1016/j. tins.2018.12.006
- O'Hagan, R., Chalfie, M., and Goodman, M. B. (2005). The MEC-4 DEG/ENaC channel of *Caenorhabditis elegans* touch receptor neurons transduces mechanical signals. *Nat. Neurosci.* 8, 43–50. doi: 10.1038/nn1362
- Olson, E. S., and Nowotny, M. (2019). Experimental and theoretical explorations of traveling waves and tuning in the bushcricket ear. *Biophys. J.* 116, 165–177. doi: 10.1016/j.bpj.2018.11.3124
- Pan, B., Akyuz, N., Liu, X. P., Asai, Y., Nist-Lund, C., Kurima, K., et al. (2018). TMC1 forms the pore of mechanosensory transduction channels in vertebrate inner ear hair cells. *Neuron* 99, 736.e–753.e. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2018.07.033
- Pan, B., Géléoc, G. S., Asai, Y., Horwitz, G. C., Kurima, K., Ishikawa, K., et al. (2013). TMC1 and TMC2 are components of the mechanotransduction channel in hair cells of the mammalian inner ear. *Neuron* 79, 504–515. doi: 10.1016/j. neuron.2013.06.019
- Peng, A. W., and Ricci, A. J. (2011). Somatic motility and hair bundle mechanics, re both necessary for cochlear amplification? *Hear. Res.* 273, 109–122. doi: 10.1016/j.heares.2010.03.094
- Peng, A. W., Effertz, T., and Ricci, A. J. (2013). Adaptation of mammalian auditory hair cell mechanotransduction is independent of calcium entry. *Neuron* 20, 960–972. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2013.08.025
- Peterson, K. J., and Butterfield, N. J. (2005). Origin of the Eumetazoa: testing ecological predictions of molecular clocks against the fossil record. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 102, 9547–9552. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0503660102

- Peterson, K. J., Lyons, J. B., Nowak, K. S., Takacs, C. M., Wargo, M. J., and McPeek, M. A. (2004). Estimating metazoan divergence times in a molecular clock. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 101, 6536–6541. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0401670101
- Plotnick, R. E., and Smith, D. M. (2012). Exceptionally preserved fossil insect ears from the Eocene Grenn river formation of Colorado. J. Paleontol. 86, 19–24. doi: 10.1666/11-072.1
- Popper, N., and Fay, R. (1997). Evolution of the ear and hearing: issues and questions. Brain Behav. Evol. 50, 213–221. doi: 10.1159/000113335
- Qiu, X., and Müller, U. (2018). Mechanically gated ion channels in mammalian hair cells. *Front. Cell Neurosci.* 12:100. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2018.00100
- Ramirez, M. D., Pairett, A. N., Pankey, M. S., Serb, J. M., Speiser, D. I., Swafford, A. J., et al. (2016). The last common ancestor of most bilaterian animals possessed at least nine opsins. *Genome Biol. Evol.* 1, 3640–3652.
- Reichert, C. (1837). Über die visceralbogen der wirbeltiere im allgemeinen und deren metamorphosen bei den vögeln und säugetieren. Arch. Anat. Physiol. Wissensch. Med. 1837, 120–222.
- Robert, D., Miles, R. N., and Hoy, R. R. (1996). Directional hearing by mechanical coupling in the parasitoid fly Ormia ochracea. J. Comp. Physiol. A 179, 29–44. doi: 10.1007/BF00193432
- Robles, L., and Ruggero, M. A. (2001). Mechanics of the mammalian cochlea. *Physiol. Rev.* 81, 1305–1352. doi: 10.1152/physrev.2001.81.3.1305
- Römer, H. (1976). Die informationsverarbeitung tympanaler rezeptorelemente von Locusta migratoria (Acrididae, Orthoptera). [Pro-cessing of information by tympanal receptors of Locusta migratoria (Acrididae, Orthoptera)]. J. Comp. Physiol. A 109, 101–122. doi: 10.1007/bf00663438
- Russell, I. J., and Sellick, P. M. (1978). Intracellular studies of hair cells in the mammalian cochlea. J. Physiol. 284, 261–290. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.1978. sp012540
- Rust, J., Stumpner, A., and Gottwald, J. (1999). Singing and hearing in Tertiary bushcrickets. *Nature* 399:650. doi: 10.1038/21356
- Saier, M. H. Jr. (2016). Transport protein evolution deduced from analysis of sequence, topology and structure. *Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol.* 38, 9–17. doi: 10. 1016/j.sbi.2016.05.001
- Satir, P., Mitchell, D. R., and Jékely, G. (2008). "How did the cilium evolve?" in *Ciliary Function in Mammalian Development*, ed. B. K. Yoder (Cambridge, MA: Academic Press).
- Scherberich, J., Hummel, J., Schöneich, S., and Nowotny, M. (2016). Auditory fovea in the ear of a duetting katydid shows male-specific adaptation to the female call. *Curr. Biol.* 26, R1222–R1223.
- Scherberich, J., Hummel, J., Schöneich, S., and Nowotny, M. (2017). Functional basis of the sexual dimorphism in the auditory fovea of the duetting bushcricket *Ancylecha fenestrata. Proc. Biol. Sci.* 284:20171426. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2017.1426
- Schnupp, J. W., and Carr, C. E. (2009). On hearing with more than one ear: lessons from evolution. Nat. Neurosci. 12, 692–697. doi: 10.1038/nn.2325
- Shaw, S. R. (1994). Detection of airborne sound by a cockroach 'vibration detector': a possible missing link in insect auditory evolution. J. Exp. Biol. 193, 13–47. doi: 10.1242/jeb.193.1.13
- Shin, J. B., Adams, D., Paukert, M., Siba, M., Sidi, S., Levin, M., et al. (2005). Xenopus TRPN1 (NOMPC) localizes to microtubule-based cilia in epithelial cells, including inner-ear hair cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 102, 12572– 12577. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0502403102
- Shingyoji, C., Higuchi, H., Yoshimura, M., Katayama, E., and Yanagida, T. (1998). Dynein arms are oscillating force generators. *Nature* 393, 711–714. doi: 10.1038/ 31520
- Sidi, S., Friedrich, R. W., and Nicolson, T. (2003). NompC TRP channel required for vertebrate sensory hair cell mechanotransduction. *Science* 301, 96–99. doi: 10.1126/science.1084370
- Stauffer, E. A., Scarborough, J. D., Hirono, M., Miller, E. D., Shah, K., Mercer, J. A., et al. (2005). Fast adaptation in vestibular hair cells requires myosin-1c activity. *Neuron* 18, 541–553. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2005.07.024
- Stensiö, E. A. (1927). The Downtonian and Devonian Vertebrates of Spitsbergen. Part I. Family Cephalaspidae. Skrifter, Vol. 12. Oslo: I kommisjon hos Jacob Dybwad, 391.
- Strauß, J., and Lakes-Harlan, R. (2008). Neuroanatomy and physiology of the complex tibial organ of an atympanate ensiferan, *Ametrus tibialis* (Brunner von Wattenwyl, 1888) (Gryllacrididae, Orthoptera) and evolutionary implications. *Brain Behav. Evol.* 71, 167–180. doi: 10.1159/000114405

- Strauß, J., and Lakes-Harlan, R. (2014). "Evolutionary and phylogenetic origins of tympanal hearing organs in insects," in *Insect Haring Organs in Insects*, ed. B. Hedwig (Berlin: Springer). doi: 10.1007/978-3-642-40462-7_2
- Su, M. P., Andrés, M., Boyd-Gibbins, N., Somers, J., and Albert, J. T. (2018). Sex and species specific hearing mechanisms in mosquito flagellar ears. *Nat. Commun.* 9:3911.
- Sueur, J., Windmill, J. F., and Robert, D. (2006). Tuning the drum: the mechanical basis for frequency discrimination in a Mediterranean cicada. J. Exp. Biol. 209, 4115–4128. doi: 10.1242/jeb.02460
- Thurm, U., and Küppers, J. (1980). "Epithelial physiology of insect sensilla," in *Insect Biology of the Future*, eds M. Löcke and D. S. Smith (New York: Academic), 735–763. doi: 10.1016/b978-0-12-454340-9.50039-2
- Thurm, U., Erler, G., Godde, J., Kastrup, H., Keil, T., Volker, W., et al. (1983). Cilia specialized for mechanoreception. J. Submicrosc. Cytol. Pathol. 15, 151–155.
- Todi, S. V., Sharma, Y., and Eberl, D. F. (2004). Anatomical and molecular design of the *Drosophila* antenna as a flagellar auditory organ. *Microsc. Res. Tech.* 63, 388–399. doi: 10.1002/jemt.20053
- Udayashankar, A. P., Kössl, M., and Nowotny, M. (2012). Tonotopically arranged traveling waves in the miniature hearing organ of bushcrickets. *PLoS One* 7:e31008. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0031008
- Udayashankar, A. P., Kössl, M., and Nowotny, M. (2014). Lateralization of travelling wave response in the hearing organ of bushcrickets. *PLoS One* 9:e86090. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0086090
- van Bergeijk, W. A. (1967). The evolution of vertebrate hearing. *Contrib. Sens. Physiol.* 2, 1–49. doi: 10.1016/b978-1-4831-6749-7.500007-6
- von Békésy, G. (1952). DC resting potentials inside the cochlear partition. J. Acoust. Soc. Am. 24:72. doi: 10.1121/1.1906851
- von Békésy, G. (1960). Experiments in Hearing. New York, NY: McGraw-Hill.
- Walker, R. G., Willingham, A. T., and Zuker, C. S. (2000). A Drosophila mechanosensory transduction channel. Science 287, 2229–2234. doi: 10.1126/ science.287.5461.2229
- Wang, V. Y., Hassan, B. B., Bellen, H. J., and Zoghbi, H. Y. (2002). Drosophila atonal fully resuces the phenotype of Math1 null mice: new functions evolve in new cellular contexts. Curr. Biol. 17, 1611–1616. doi: 10.1016/s0960-9822(02) 01144-2
- Warren, B., and Matheson, T. (2018). The role of the mechanotransduction ion channel candidate nanchung-inactive in auditory transduction in an insect ear. *J. Neurosci.* 38, 3741–3752. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2310-17.2018
- Warren, B., Lukashkin, A. N., and Russell, I. J. (2010). The dynein-tubulin motor powers active oscillations and amplification in the hearing organ of the mosquito. *Proc. Biol. Sci.* 277, 1761–1769. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2009.2355
- Weber, T., Göpfert, M. C., Winter, H., Zimmermann, U., Kohler, H., Meier, A., et al. (2003). Expression of prestin-homologous solute carrier (SLC26) in auditory organs of nonmammalian vertebrates and insects. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 100, 7690–7695. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1330557100
- Weinberger, S., Topping, M. P., Yan, J., Claeys, A., Geest, N., Ozbay, D., et al. (2017). Evolutionary changes in transcription factor coding sequence quantitatively alter sensory organ development and function. *Elife* 6:e26402. doi: 10.7554/ eLife.26402
- West, C. D. (1985). The relationship of the spiral turns of the cochlea and the length of the basilar membrane to the range of audible frequencies in ground dwelling mammals. J. Acoust. Soc. Am. 77, 1091–1101. doi: 10.1121/1.392227
- Wever, E. G. (1978). The function of the middle in Lizard: divergent type. J. Exp. Zool. 184, 97–126.
- Windmill, J. F. C., Göpfert, M. C., and Robert, D. (2005). Tympanal travelling waves in migratory locusts. J. Exp. Biol. 208, 157–168. doi: 10.1242/jeb.01332
- Wu, J., Lewis, A. H., and Grandl, J. (2017). Touch, tension, and transduction the function and regulation of piezo ion channels. *Trends Biochem. Sci.* 42, 57–71. doi: 10.1016/j.tibs.2016.09.004
- Xu, P.-X., Zhang, X., Heaney, S., Yoon, A., Michelson, A. M., and Mass, R. L. (1999). Regulation of Pax6 expression is converved between mice and flies. *Development* 126, 383–395. doi: 10.1242/dev.126.2.383
- Yack, J. E. (2004). The structure and function of auditory chordotonal organs in insects. *Microsc. Res. Tech.* 63, 315–337. doi: 10.1002/jemt.20051
- Yack, J. E., and Fullard, J. H. (1990). The mechanoreceptive origin of insect tympanal organs: a comparative study of similar nerves in tympanate and atympanate moths. J. Comp. Neurol. 300, 523–534. doi: 10.1002/cne.903000407

- Yack, J. E., and Fullard, J. H. (1993). What is an insect ear? Ann. Entomol. Soc. Am. 86, 677–682. doi: 10.1093/aesa/86.6.677
- Yan, Z., Zhang, W., He, Y., Gorczyca, D., Xiang, Y., Cheng, L. E., et al. (2013). Drosophila NOMPC is a mechanotransduction channel subunit for gentle-touch sensation. Nature 493, 221–225. doi: 10.1038/nature11 685
- Zenner, H. P. (1986). Motile responses in outer hair cells. *Hear. Res.* 22, 83–90. doi: 10.1016/0378-5955(86)90082-1
- Zeuner, F. E. (1939). Fossil Orthoptera Ensifera. London: British Museum Natural History.
- Zhang, W., Cheng, L. E., Kittelmann, M., Li, J., Petkovic, M., Cheng, T., et al. (2015). Ankyrin repeats convey force to gate the NOMPC mechanotransduction channel. *Cell* 162, 1391–1403. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2015.08. 024
- Zheng, J., Shen, W. X., He, D. Z., Kevin, B. L., Madison, L. D., and Dallos, P. (2000). Prestin is the motor protein of cochlear outer hair cells. *Nature* 405, 149–155. doi: 10.1038/35012009
- Zhexi, L., Crompton, A. W., and Lucas, S. G. (1995). Evolutionary origins of the mammalian Promontorium and cochlea. J. Vertebr. Paleontol. 15, 113–121. doi: 10.1080/02724634.1995.10011211

Zhu, M., Yu, X., Ahlberg, P. E., Choo, B., Lu, J., Qiao, T., et al. (2013). A silurian placoderm with osteichthyan-like marginal jaw bones. *Nature* 502, 188–193. doi: 10.1038/nature12617

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Warren and Nowotny. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

153





Strange Seal Sounds: Claps, Slaps, and Multimodal Pinniped Rhythms

Laura Verga^{1,2} and Andrea Ravignani^{1*}

¹ Comparative Bioacoustics Group, Max Planck Institute for Psycholinguistics, Nijmegen, Netherlands, ² Department NP&PP, Faculty of Psychology and Neuroscience, Maastricht University, Maastricht, Netherlands

Keywords: multimodal communication, pinniped, seal (Pinnipedia), bioacoustics, exaptation, honest signalling

BEYOND VOCAL COMMUNICATION

Within mammalian bioacoustics, vocal communication has received much attention. Efforts to understand sound production often focus on sounds generated *via* apparatuses that specifically evolved to phonate, such as the larynx. However, while mammals mostly perceive sounds *via* one organ, the ear, they can produce sounds *via* limbs, tails, flippers, tools, and several other mechanisms which, at first, may not seem to have primarily evolved for sonation (Tyack and Miller, 2002; Frankel, 2009; Clark, 2016). For example, kangaroo rats drum their foot to communicate (Randall, 1984), while non-human primates drum using artificial tools (Remedios et al., 2009), resonant surfaces (Ravignani et al., 2013), and their hands (e.g., Dufour et al., 2015). Also aquatic mammals can produce a variety of non-vocal sounds (such as whistles, snorts, and others; Tyack and Miller, 2002). These sound production modes may enable communication even when laryngeal phonation is ineffective or impaired (Munoz and Blumstein, 2012; Partan, 2017). Research on sound production *beyond phonation* is key to properly characterise the richness of animal communication.

Recent exploratory work (Hocking et al., 2020) provides an example of non-vocal sound production in a pinniped: grey seals (Halichoerus grypus) clapping their fore flippers underwater, a signalling behaviour previously attributed to vocalising. While Hocking et al.'s observation is limited to few events, it is reminiscent of previous, seemingly unrelated work reporting water-slapping behaviour in other species, including a close relative, the harbour seal (Phoca vitulina) (Venables and Venables, 1957; Newby, 1973; Hanlan, 1998; Hayes et al., 2004; see also humpback whales: Dunlop et al., 2010). The preliminary data reported by Hocking et al. naturally invite a host of questions, whose answers rely on a characterisation of when, how often, and under what circumstances these claps occur. Are they a frequent or seasonal phenomenon? Are they modulated by social context? Furthermore, the mechanism of knock production should be considered: while clapping the fore flippers can generate loud knock-like sounds, other mechanisms have also been proposed (e.g., in walruses: teeth clacking, tongue movement, or suction; Sjare and Stirling, 1981; Sjare et al., 2003; Reichmuth et al., 2009; Larsen and Reichmuth, 2012). This is a good starting place for future research, though, clearly, more observations are required to answer these questions. In particular, the field should perform more empirical, foundational work. This should (1) provide robust observations and descriptions in addition to anecdotes, (2) evaluate context, timing and seasonality in the production of percussive sounds, (3) determine which sex produces these signals and potential sexually dimorphic characteristics, and (4) design rigorous experiments that test potential function of percussive sounds. Once these absolutely necessary foundations are established, we suggest exploring more complex topics related to bioenergetics, signal evolution, multimodality, and rhythm production/perception. In this Opinion piece, we discuss these more hypothetical research directions, which however can only be performed after more thorough biological descriptions of the basic phenomena.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Carl Soulsbury, University of Lincoln, United Kingdom

Reviewed by:

John Terhune, University of New Brunswick Saint John, Canada Caroline Casey, University of California Santa Cruz, United States

> *Correspondence: Andrea Ravignani andrea.ravignani@mpi.nl

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Behavioral and Evolutionary Ecology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution

> Received: 21 December 2020 Accepted: 02 July 2021 Published: 02 August 2021

Citation:

Verga L and Ravignani A (2021) Strange Seal Sounds: Claps, Slaps, and Multimodal Pinniped Rhythms. Front. Ecol. Evol. 9:644497. doi: 10.3389/fevo.2021.644497

MECHANISMS FOR (DIS)HONEST SIGNALLING?

If replicated, this research may encourage to re-evaluate previous evidence. Could previously recorded "vocalisations [which] sounded like a loud piercing clap" (pg. 61, McCulloch, 2000) and "knocks" (pg. 2213, Asselin et al., 1993) in grey seals have been actual underwater claps? A hypothetical reassessment of the production mechanism underlying a sound would entail several implications. Awareness of the sound source could be helpful to test potential sound-body allometric links.

One testable hypothesis is that claps may be a partly dishonest signal as they give away limited information about body size while their source level is surprisingly high, especially compared to captive individuals (Wahlberg et al., 2002). This hypothesis dovetails with some empirical evidence of water claps functioning as aggressive and territorial behaviours in harbour seals (Hayes et al., 2004), since claps have been so far observed mostly in males and in presence of other seals (for example in Weddell seals: Russell et al., 2016). Furthermore, limited underwater visibility, as reported by Hocking et al. (2020), would promote a signalling strategy concealing body size. To test whether clapping is a dishonest signal, field studies should investigate the conditions under which underwater claps take place (e.g., water visibility, social context).

Conversely, claps could be honest signals, since the strength of the animal or the size of its flipper may determine the intensity of the clap and the perceived loudness. This second hypothesis would comply with allometric scaling (e.g. Garcia et al., 2017): if sound-producing structures scale with body size, honest signalling ensues (Garcia and Ravignani, 2020). Larger individuals should also be able to produce stronger or (visually) larger claps (Partan, 2013). Anatomical observations in, and tests of allometry across, individuals producing underwater claps might contribute to disentangling these contrasting hypotheses.

EXAPTATION AND REPURPOSING OF BIOMECHANICAL PROCESSES

This research underlines the process of evolutionary exaptations for communicative purposes (Gould and Lewontin, 1979; Buss et al., 1998). Seal clapping "may be a ritualised version of a swimming stroke" (pg. 1, Hocking et al., 2020). In other words, a movement evolved for essential in-water displacement (Fish, 2000; Kuhn and Frey, 2012) may have been repurposed for acoustic communication (see also Clark, 2016). As a parallel, the tree drumming of woodpeckers is now a purely communicative signal, probably repurposed from what originally was a simpler foraging behaviour (Dodenhoff et al., 2001; Miles et al., 2018, 2020; Garcia et al., 2020). Both seals and woodpeckers may provide fascinating examples of the evolution and repurposing of biomechanical processes. At what point in pinniped phylogeny may swimming strokes have been recruited for communication, and did this happen in multiple pinniped species? Communicative non-vocal sounds have been observed in several pinnipeds (Schusterman and Van Parijs, 2003; Russell et al., 20161); more specifically, claps have been reported, to our knowledge, in grev seals (e.g., Hocking et al., 2020), harbour seals (Venables and Venables, 1957; Newby, 1973; Hanlan, 1998; Hayes et al., 2004), and walruses (e.g., Reichmuth et al., 2009). Underwater recordings of similar non-vocal sounds in other pinnipeds might contribute to answering this question. With limited evidence it is difficult and unwise to generalise to all pinnipeds. However, one may hypothesise that the swimming style of phocids, propelled by their hindflippers, may free up their foreflippers for communicative purposes, while the swimming style of otariids, using their foreflippers to "fly" underwater, may have hindered their exaptation for communication (Kuhn and Frey, 2012)

MULTIMODALITY AND ENERGETICS

Most work mentioned above advocates multimodal approaches to communication. Multimodality is sometimes neglected, with some research programs only focusing on one production and one perception channel (Slocombe et al., 2011). Grey seals exhibit a communicative behaviour that is motorically produced (bypassing specialised laryngeal neurons) and might be perceived acoustically at long ranges and visually at short ranges (Wahlberg et al., 2002; Ravignani et al., 2016; Hocking et al., 2020). As the larynx is hidden from sight, the act of mammalian vocalisation is invisible to the receiver (cf. Fitch and Reby, 2001; Higham and Hebets, 2013; Nowak, 2020). A clap, instead, could potentially reach the receiver visually, acoustically, or haptically, also allowing for multisensory integration.

Multimodality also entails energetic considerations. While laryngeal phonation is relatively cheap, other modes of controlled sound production may be more energy-expensive. Indeed, research on the energetic costs of communication generally assumes higher expenditure for multi-modal as compared to uni-modal interactions (Partan, 2013). For example, in sympatric wolf spiders, multi-modal displays (as in Schizocosa ocreata) require higher energy levels than unimodal displays (as in S. Rovneri) (Cady et al., 2011). Rather than being disadvantageous, such a costly display might serve as an honest signal indicating a male's good condition (Zahavi, 1975; Byers et al., 2010; Mitoyen et al., 2019). Yet, questions concerning the relative costs and benefits of pinniped sound production via clapping and slapping (Beier and Wartzok, 1979; Wahlberg et al., 2002; Gillooly and Ophir, 2010) remain open, as well as their function (e.g., territorial, reproductive, etc.; Russell et al., 2016). If they indeed relate to mating, one may expect a variation in clapping/slapping abilities due to ontogeny (Rado et al., 1991), an increase at puberty onset, a cyclical variation entrained with mating seasonality or a decline due to senescence (Soulsbury and

¹We are here referring to jaw claps, which the authors originally grouped as vocalisations for methodological reasons.

Halsey, 2018). The reliable evidence of such seasonal and developmental trends in the vocal displays of seals (e.g., Van Parijs et al., 1999; Galimberti et al., 2008; Reichmuth and Schusterman, 2009) may invite comparisons with non-vocal displays and facilitate the understanding of their function. By combining quantitative techniques (e.g., Gillooly and Ophir, 2010), allometric considerations (Garcia and Ravignani, 2020), and field observations (Hocking et al., 2020), some of these questions may be addressed.

COMMUNICATIVE RHYTHMS IN THE MILLISECOND-SECOND RANGE

More observations on the clapping behaviour of grey seals, their characteristics, and context of use are needed: Are these sounds produced occasionally or routinely? Do they contain rhythmic components? The presence of rhythmic features in claps would allow to link Hocking et al.'s (2020) finding to research on communicative rhythms and could spur a subfield of ecologically-relevant percussive rhythms in mammals. Recently, cross-species evidence has shown rhythmic capacities, sometimes employed for communication, in pinnipeds (Cook et al., 2013; Rouse et al., 2016; Mathevon et al., 2017; Ravignani, 2019). "Rhythm" is not meant here in its circadian sense, studied for instance in ecology, but instead as "temporal structure" at short timescales (de Reus et al., 2020). When little information is encoded in the frequency domain, as in seals' claps and slaps (Wahlberg et al., 2002; Hocking et al., 2020), this temporal structure could emerge in sound signals and serve to encode information. Within animal cognition and behaviour, evidence for rhythm in pinnipeds is particularly interesting (Ravignani et al., 2016; Wilson and Cook, 2016). In fact, pinnipeds constitute a key taxon to test a cross-species hypothesis which links rhythm and vocal learning capacities (Patel, 2006). Still, work on rhythm in mammals is relatively limited, especially when compared to the richness of rhythm production research, for instance, in insects and frogs (Greenfield, 1994; Hartbauer and Römer, 2016). While these species can produce extremely fast rhythms, the rate and complexity of non-vocal rhythms in mammals may be hampered by the physical limitations occurring when moving a limb (but see, for example, Randall, 1984 on the foot drumming behaviour of kangaroo rats). Mammalogists and comparative psychologists may still be inspired and benefit from decades of work on rhythm and percussive behaviour in arthropods and anurans (Ravignani et al., 2014). In particular, since the 1960's, entomologists and then herpetologists have been measuring the communicative rhythms of their species with almost millisecond accuracy (e.g., Buck and Buck, 1968). Avian researchers followed, while mammalogists and primatologists are slightly lagging behind (de Reus et al., 2020). Applying concepts such as phase resetting and period correction, for instance, to communicative rhythms in apes could also inform the evolution of rhythmic capacities in our own species (cf. Bittman, 2020).

CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE WORK

Hocking et al.'s (2020) finding, albeit preliminary, can inspire at least six hypothetical strands of future work. First, to establish a base from psychophysics, propagation experiments could test how far the sound of grey seals clapping carries underwater (Wahlberg et al., 2002); this strand of research would help disentangle the role of claps as either honest or dishonest signals, as the latter may be more relevant at short distances (e.g., Tyack and Miller, 2002). Second, biomechanics and metabolic work could pinpoint the energetic costs and evolutionary benefits of clapping (Fish, 2000; Kuhn and Frey, 2012); this research should consider the context in which a signalling behaviour occurs (e.g., occasional vs. prolonged use; environmental and social conditions). Third, a larger dataset (McCulloch, 2000) would allow onset-to-onset temporal measurements to investigate whether claps may feature putative rhythmic structures, linking either claps within a series (e.g., based on their inter-onset intervals) or repeated series performed in succession. After that, to test for homologies and analogies, comparative analyses could be attempted with water slaps in harbour seals and other pinniped percussive behaviour (Wahlberg et al., 2002). Fourth, it would be important to test how nearby conspecifics perceive claps. Therefore, connecting to recent work on pinniped timing (Heinrich et al., 2016, 2020), one could explore how grey seals perceive temporal information in sequences of claps. Fifth, one could target the proximate and ultimate function of *clapping*, and its potential role in sexual or natural selection. Sixth, methodological advances in neuroimaging techniques (e.g., Cook et al., 2021) may be employed to inform on the neural underpinnings of cross-modality and their interface with the physiological and physical constraints imposed on flippers by their original function (i.e., swimming). All this work, we stress, can only come once more fundamental research is performed to tackle basic biological questions. For the time being, we will keep looking for more percussive performances by these fascinating mammals.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AR and LV developed the arguments and co-wrote the paper. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

The work of LV and AR was supported by a Max Planck Research Group (MPRG) Awarded to AR.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are grateful to the Sealcentre Pieterburen, which let us observe pinniped behaviour and communication, which in turn spurred some of the hypotheses presented here.

REFERENCES

- Asselin, S., Hammill, M. O., and Barrette, C. (1993). Underwater vocalizations of ice breeding grey seals. *Can. J. Zool.* 71, 2211–2219. doi: 10.1139/z 93-310
- Beier, J. C., and Wartzok, D. (1979). Mating behaviour of captive spotted seals (*Phoca largha*). Anim. Behav. 27, 772–781. doi: 10.1016/0003-3472(79)90013-7
- Bittman, E. L. (2020). Entrainment is NOT synchronization: an important distinction and its implications. J. Biol. Rhythms. 36:196–199. doi: 10.1177/0748730420972817
- Buck, J., and Buck, E. (1968). Mechanism of rhythmic synchronous flashing of fireflies: fireflies of Southeast Asia may use anticipatory time-measuring in synchronizing their flashing. *Science* 159, 1319–1327. doi: 10.1126/science.159.3821.1319
- Buss, D. M., Haselton, M. G., Shackelford, T. K., Bleske, A. L., and Wakefield, J. C. (1998). Adaptations, exaptations, and spandrels. Am. Psychol. 53:533. doi: 10.1037/0003-066X.53.5.533
- Byers, J., Hebets, E., and Podos, J. (2010). Female mate choice based upon male motor performance. *Anim. Behav.* 79, 771–8. doi: 10.1016/j.anbehav.2010.01.009
- Cady, A. B., Delaney, K. J., and Uetz, G. W. (2011). Contrasting energetic costs of courtship signaling in two wolf spiders having divergent courtship behaviors. J. Arachnol. 39, 161–165. doi: 10.1636/Hi09-70.1
- Clark, C. J. (2016). "Locomotion-induced sounds and sonations: mechanisms, communication function, and relationship with behavior," In *Vertebrate Sound Production and Acoustic Communication*, eds. R. Suthers and E. Al (Cham: Springer I), 83–117.
- Cook, P., Rouse, A., Wilson, M., and Reichmuth, C. (2013). A California sea lion (*Zalophus californianus*) can keep the beat: motor entrainment to rhythmic auditory stimuli in a non vocal mimic. *J. Comp. Psychol.* 127, 412–427. doi: 10.1037/a0032345
- Cook, P. F., Hoard, V. A., Dolui, S., deB Frederick, B., Redfern, R., Dennison, S. E., et al. (2021). An MRI protocol for anatomical and functional evaluation of the California sea lion brain. *J. Neurosci. Methods* 353:109097. doi: 10.1016/j.jneumeth.2021.109097
- de Reus, K., Soma, M., Anichini, M., Gamba, M., de Heer Kloots, M., Lense, M. D., et al. (2020). Rhythm in dyadic interactions. *Philos. Trans. B.* doi: 10.31234/osf.io/9yrky
- Dodenhoff, D. J., Stark, R. D., and Johnson, E. V. (2001). Do woodpecker drums encode information for species recognition? *Condor* 103, 143–150. doi: 10.1093/condor/103.1.143
- Dufour, V., Poulin, N., Charlotte Cur, é, and Sterck, E. H. M. (2015). Chimpanzee drumming: a spontaneous performance with characteristics of human musical drumming. Sci. Rep. 5:11320. doi: 10.1038/srep11320
- Dunlop, R. A., Cato, D. H., and Noad, M. J. (2010). Your attention please: increasing ambient noise levels elicits a change in communication behaviour in humpback whales (*Megaptera novaeangliae*). Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 277, 2521–2529. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2009.2319
- Fish, F. E. (2000). Biomechanics and energetics in aquatic and semiaquatic mammals: platypus to whale. *Physiol. Biochem. Zool.* 73, 683–698. doi: 10.1086/318108
- Fitch, W. T., and Reby, D. (2001). The descended larynx is not uniquely human. *Proc. R. Soc. London B Biol. Sci.* 268, 1669–1675. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2001.1704
- Frankel, A. S. (2009). "Sound production," in *Encyclopedia of Marine Mammals*, eds W. F. Perrin, B. Würsig, and J. G. M. Thewissen (Academic Press), 1056-1071.
- Galimberti, F., Sanvito, S., and Miller, E. (2008). Development of aggressive vocalizations in male southern elephant seals (*Mirounga leonina*): maturation or learning? *Behaviour* 145, 137–170. doi: 10.1163/1568539077832 44729
- Garcia, M., Herbst, C. T., Bowling, D. L., Dunn, J. C., and Fitch, W. T. (2017). Acoustic allometry revisited: morphological determinants of fundamental frequency in primate vocal production. *Sci. Rep.* 7, 1–11. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-11000-x
- Garcia, M., and Ravignani, A. (2020). Acoustic allometry and vocal learning in mammals. *Biol. Lett.* 16:20200081. doi: 10.1098/rsbl.2020.0081
- Garcia, M., Theunissen, F., Sèbe, F., Clavel, J., Ravignani, A., Marin-Cudraz, T., et al. (2020). Evolution of communication signals and information during species radiation. *Nat. Commun.* 11, 1–5. doi: 10.1038/s41467-020-18772-3

- Gillooly, J. F., and Ophir, A. G. (2010). The energetic basis of acoustic communication. *Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci.* 277, 1325–1331. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2009.2134
- Gould, S. J., and Lewontin, R. C. (1979). The spandrels of San Marco and the Panglossian paradigm: a critique of the adaptationist programme. *Proc. R. Soc. London B* 205, 581–598. doi: 10.1098/rspb.1979.0086
- Greenfield, M. D. (1994). Synchronous and alternating choruses in insects and anurans: common mechanisms and diverse functions. *Am. Zool.* 34, 605–615. doi: 10.1093/icb/34.6.605
- Hanlan, S. K. (1998). Nosing Behaviour in Captive Harbour Seals (Phoca vitulina Concolor): Implications for Olfaction and Affiliation. Doctoral Dissertation, Memorial University of Newfoundland.
- Hartbauer, M., and Römer, H. (2016). Rhythm generation and rhythm perception in insects: the evolution of synchronous choruses. *Front. Neurosci.* 10:223. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2016.00223
- Hayes, S. A., Kumar, A., Costa, D. P., Mellinger, D. K., Harvey, J. T., Southall, B. L., et al. (2004). Evaluating the function of the male harbour seal, *Phoca vitulina*, roar through playback experiments. *Anim. Behav.* 67, 1133–1139. doi: 10.1016/j.anbehav.2003.06.019
- Heinrich, T., Dehnhardt, G., and Hanke, F. D. (2016). Harbour seals (*Phoca vitulina*) are able to time precisely. *Anim. Cogn.* 19, 1133–1142. doi: 10.1007/s10071-016-1020-3
- Heinrich, T., Ravignani, A., and Hanke, F. H. (2020). Visual timing abilities of a harbour seal (*Phoca vitulina*) and a South African fur seal (*Arctocephalus pusillus* pusillus) for sub-and supra-second time intervals. Anim. Cogn. 23, 851–859. doi: 10.1007/s10071-020-01390-3
- Higham, J. P., and Hebets, E. A. (2013). An introduction to multimodal communication. *Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol.* 67, 1381–1388. doi: 10.1007/s00265-013-1590-x
- Hocking, D. P., Burville, B., Parker, W. M. G., Evans, A. R., Park, T., and Marx, F. G. (2020). Percussive underwater signaling in wild gray seals. *Mar. Mammal Sci.* 36, 728–732. doi: 10.1111/mms.12666
- Kuhn, C., and Frey, E. (2012). Walking like caterpillars, flying like batspinniped locomotion. *Palaeobiodivers. Palaeoenviron.* 92, 197–210. doi: 10.1007/s12549-012-0077-5
- Larsen, O. N., and Reichmuth, C. (2012). Proximal mechanisms for sound production in male Pacific walruses. *Can. Acoust.* 40:139.
- Mathevon, N., Casey, C., Reichmuth, C., and Charrier, I. (2017). Northern elephant seals memorize the rhythm and timbre of their rivals' voices. *Curr. Biol.* 27, 2352–2356. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2017.06.035
- McCulloch, S. (2000). *The Vocal Behaviour of the Grey Seal (Halichoerus grypus)*. Ph.D. thesis, University of St. Andrews, St. Andrews.
- Miles, M. C., Schuppe, E. R., and Fuxjager, M. J. (2020). Selection for rhythm as a trigger for recursive evolution in the elaborate display system of woodpeckers. *Am. Nat.* 195, 772–787. doi: 10.1086/707748
- Miles, M. C., Schuppe, E. R., Ligon, I. V., R. M., and Fuxjager, M. J. (2018). Macroevolutionary patterning of woodpecker drums reveals how sexual selection elaborates signals under constraint. *Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci.* 285:20172628. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2017.2628
- Mitoyen, C., Quigley, C., and Fusani, L. (2019). Evolution and function of multimodal courtship displays. *Ethology* 125, 503–515. doi: 10.1111/eth.12882
- Munoz, N. E., and Blumstein, D. T. (2012). Multisensory perception in uncertain environments. *Behav. Ecol.* 23, 457–462. doi: 10.1093/beheco/arr220
- Newby, T. C. (1973). Observations on the breeding behavior of the harbor seal in the state of Washington. *J. Mammal.* 54, 540–543. doi: 10.2307/1379151
- Nowak, L. J. (2020). Observations on mechanisms and phenomena underlying underwater and surface vocalisations of grey seals. *Bioacoustics*. 1–20. doi: 10.1080/09524622.2020.1851298
- Partan, S. R. (2013). Ten unanswered questions in multimodal communication. *Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol.* 67, 1523–1539. doi: 10.1007/s00265-013-1565-y
- Partan, S. R. (2017). Multimodal shifts in noise: switching channels to communicate through rapid environmental change. *Anim. Behav.* 124, 325–337. doi: 10.1016/j.anbehav.2016.08.003
- Patel, A. D. (2006). Musical rhythm, linguistic rhythm, and human evolution. Music Percept. 24, 99–104. doi: 10.1525/mp.2006.24.1.99
- Rado, R., Wollberg, Z., and Terkel, J. (1991). The ontogeny of seismic communication during dispersal in the blind mole rat. *Anim. Behav.* 42, 15–21. doi: 10.1016/S0003-3472(05)80601-3

- Randall, J. A. (1984). Territorial defense and advertisement by footdrumming in bannertail kangaroo rats (*Dipodomys spectabilis*) at high and low population densities. *Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol.* 16, 11–20. doi: 10.1007/BF00293099
- Ravignani, A. (2019). Timing of antisynchronous calling: a case study in a harbor seal pup (*Phoca vitulina*). J. Comp. Psychol. 133:272. doi: 10.1037/com0000160
- Ravignani, A., Bowling, D. L., and Fitch, W. (2014). Chorusing, synchrony, and the evolutionary functions of rhythm. *Front. Psychol.* 5:1118. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2014.01118
- Ravignani, A., Fitch, W. T., Hanke, F. D., Heinrich, T., Hurgitsch, B., Kotz, S. A., et al. (2016). What pinnipeds have to say about human speech, music, and the evolution of rhythm. *Front. Neurosci.* 10:274. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2016.00274
- Ravignani, A., Olivera, V. M., Gingras, B., Hofer, R., Hernández, C. R., Sonnweber, R. S., et al. (2013). Primate drum kit: a system for studying acoustic pattern production by non-human primates using acceleration and strain sensors. *Sensors* 13, 9790–9820. doi: 10.3390/s130809790
- Reichmuth, C., Mulsow, J., and Schusterman, R. J. (2009). "Underwater acoustic displays of a Pacific walrus (Odobenus rosmarus divergens): Source level estimates and temporal patterning," in 18th Biennial Conference on the Biology of Marine Mammals. (Quebec City), 210.
- Reichmuth, C., and Schusterman, R. J. (2009). Annual temporal patterning in the vocalizations of captive seals: two long-term case studies. J. Acoust. Soc. Am. 125, 2676–2676. doi: 10.1121/1.4784215
- Remedios, R., Logothetis, N. K., and Kayser, C. (2009). Monkey drumming reveals common networks for perceiving vocal and nonvocal communication sounds. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 106, 18010–18015. doi: 10.1073/pnas.09097 56106
- Rouse, A. A., Cook, P. F., Large, E. W., and Reichmuth, C. (2016). Beat keeping in a sea lion as coupled oscillation: implications for comparative understanding of human rhythm. *Front. Neurosci.* 10,:257. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2016.00257
- Russell, L., Purdy, J., and Davis, R. (2016). Social context predicts vocalization use in the courtship behaviors of weddell seals (*Leptonychotes weddellii*): a case study. *Anim. Behav. Cogn.* 3, 95–119. doi: 10.12966/abc.04.0 5.2016
- Schusterman, R. J., and Van Parijs, S. M. (2003). Pinniped vocal communication: an introduction. Aquat. Mamm. 29, 177–180.

Sjare, B., and Stirling, I. (1981). I hear you knocking. Nat. History 3, 60-63.

Sjare, B., Stirling, I., and Spencer, C. (2003). Structural variation in the songs of Atlantic walruses breeding in the Canadian High Arctic. Aquat. Mammals 29, 297–318. doi: 10.1578/016754203101024121

- Slocombe, K. E., Waller, B. M., and Liebal, K. (2011). The language void: the need for multimodality in primate communication research. *Anim. Behav.* 81, 919–924. doi: 10.1016/j.anbehav.2011.02.002
- Soulsbury, C. D., and Halsey, L. G. (2018). Does physical activity age wild animals? *Front. Ecol. Evol.* 6:222. doi: 10.3389/fevo.2018.00222
- Tyack, P. L., and Miller, E. H. (2002). "Vocal anatomy, acoustic communication and echolocation," in *Marine Mammal Biology: An Evolutionary Approach*, ed. A. R. Hoelzel (Blackwell), 142–184).
- Van Parijs, S. M., Hastie, G. D., and Thompson, P. M. (1999). Geographical variation in temporal and spatial vocalization patterns of male harbour seals in the mating season. *Anim. Behav.* 58, 1231–1239. doi: 10.1006/anbe.1999.1258
- Venables, U. M., and Venables, L. S. V. (1957). Mating behaviour of the seal Phoca Vitulina in Shetland. Proc. Zool. Soc. London 128, 387–396. doi: 10.1111/j.1096-3642.1957.tb00332.x
- Wahlberg, M., Lunneryd, S.-G., and Westerberg, H. (2002). The source level of harbour seal flipper slaps. Aquat. Mammals 28, 90–92.
- Wilson, M., and Cook, P. F. (2016). Rhythmic entrainment: why humans want to, fireflies can't help it, pet birds try, and sea lions have to be bribed. *Psychon. Bull. Rev.* 23, 1647–1659. doi: 10.3758/s13423-016-1013-x
- Zahavi, A. (1975). Mate selection-A selection for a handicap. J. Theor. Biol. 53, 205-214. doi: 10.1016/0022-5193(75)90111-3

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Verga and Ravignani. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Functional Analyses of Peripheral Auditory System Adaptations for Echolocation in Air vs. Water

Darlene R. Ketten^{1,2*}, James A. Simmons^{3,4}, Hiroshi Riquimaroux^{5,6} and Andrea Megela Simmons^{4,7}

¹ Department of Biology, Woods Hole Oceanographic Institution, Woods Hole, MA, United States, ² Department of Biomedical Engineering, Hearing Research Center, Boston University, Boston, MA, United States, ³ Department of Neuroscience, Brown University, Providence, RI, United States, ⁴ Carney Institute for Brain Science, Brown University, Providence, RI, United States, ⁵ Shandong University-Virginia Tech International Laboratory, Shandong University, Jinan, China, ⁶ National Hospital Organization Tokyo Medical Center, Tokyo, Japan, ⁷ Department of Cognitive, Linguistic, and Psychological Sciences, Brown University, Providence, RI, United States

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Fernando Montealegre-Z, University of Lincoln, United Kingdom

Reviewed by:

Arthur Popper, University of Maryland, College Park, United States Jakob Christensen-Dalsgaard, University of Southern Denmark, Denmark

> *Correspondence: Darlene R. Ketten dketten@whoi.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Behavioral and Evolutionary Ecology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution

> Received: 30 January 2021 Accepted: 23 July 2021 Published: 06 September 2021

Citation:

Ketten DR, Simmons JA, Riquimaroux H and Simmons AM (2021) Functional Analyses of Peripheral Auditory System Adaptations for Echolocation in Air vs. Water. Front. Ecol. Evol. 9:661216. doi: 10.3389/fevo.2021.661216 The similarity of acoustic tasks performed by odontocete (toothed whale) and microchiropteran (insectivorous bat) biosonar suggests they may have common ultrasonic signal reception and processing mechanisms. However, there are also significant media and prey dependent differences, notably speed of sound and wavelengths in air vs. water, that may be reflected in adaptations in their auditory systems and peak spectra of out-going signals for similarly sized prey. We examined the anatomy of the peripheral auditory system of two species of FM bat (big brown bat Eptesicus fuscus; Japanese house bat Pipistrellus abramus) and two toothed whales (harbor porpoise Phocoena phocoena; bottlenose dolphin Tursiops truncatus) using ultra high resolution (11-100 micron) isotropic voxel computed tomography (helical and microCT). Significant differences were found for oval and round window location, cochlear length, basilar membrane gradients, neural distributions, cochlear spiral morphometry and curvature, and basilar membrane suspension distributions. Length correlates with body mass, not hearing ranges. High and low frequency hearing range cut-offs correlate with basilar membrane thickness/width ratios and the cochlear radius of curvature. These features are predictive of high and low frequency hearing limits in all ears examined. The ears of the harbor porpoise, the highest frequency echolocator in the study, had significantly greater stiffness, higher basal basilar membrane ratios, and bilateral bony support for 60% of the basilar membrane length. The porpoise's basilar membrane includes a "foveal" region with "stretched" frequency representation and relatively constant membrane thickness/width ratio values similar to those reported for some bat species. Both species of bats and the harbor porpoise displayed unusual stapedial input locations and low ratios of cochlear radii, specializations that may enhance higher ultrasonic frequency signal resolution and deter low frequency cochlear propagation.

Keywords: biosonar, cochlea, basilar membrane, stapes, inner ear, echolocation, bat, dolphin

INTRODUCTION

The adaptive importance of detecting sound cues is underscored by the universality of "hearing." There are lightless habitats on earth with naturally blind animals, but no terrestrial habitat is without sound, and no known vertebrate is naturally profoundly deaf. Mechanistically, hearing is conceptually a relatively simple chain of events: sound energy is received and converted by biomechanical transducers (middle and/or inner ear) into electrical signals (neural impulses) that provide a central processor (brain) with acoustic data. The complexity of these structures varies considerably by taxa, from relatively simple acoustic pressure detectors to the typical mammalian ear which packs over 75,000 mechanical and electrochemical components into an average volume of 1 cm³. The focus of this paper is on comparisons of ears of two mammalian groups, microchiropteran bats and odontocete cetaceans, both of which are echolocators.

Inner ear anatomy is similar across all mammals. There is a tri-chambered spiral cochlear labyrinth with a major partition, the basilar membrane, which functions as a tonotopic resonator and that supports the organ of Corti. Hair cells and supporting cells in the organ of Corti are the primary transducers of acoustic energy into neural impulses and which also control intracochlear afferent and efferent responses. Variations in the structure and number of these ear components account for most of the differences in hearing capacity among mammals (Echteler et al., 1994; Ekdale, 2016). In particular, basilar membrane dimensions, membrane support structures, cochlear spiral configurations, and neural densities and distributions have been proposed as critical determinants of hearing range and sensitivity (von Békésy, 1960; West, 1985; Greenwood, 1990; Heffner and Heffner, 1992). Further analyses of these variations also led to the designations of "generalist" and "specialist" ears (Fay, 1988; Echteler et al., 1994), the latter referring primarily to differences in the structure of the basilar membrane that affect stiffness and mass and therefore frequency encoding.

During the explosive period of mammalian radiation, two orders, Chiroptera (bats) and Cetacea (whales and dolphins), emerged with a wide range of highly evolved adaptations for arboreal and aquatic habitats, respectively, including hearing in radically different media. Two subdivisions of these orders, the suborder Microchiroptera (largely insectivorous microbats) and parvorder Odontoceti (toothed whales, dolphins, and porpoises), further evolved into echolocators with sophisticated biosonar systems for the production and analysis of ultrasonic signals and the returning echoes. For an echolocator, the key element is not simply the ability to hear and discriminate ultrasonic signals but rather the ability to produce an explicit signal that is tied to the objects of interest, either prey or obstacles, and to analyze returning echoes to decipher the presence, direction, and speed of targets of interest.

While we can find in some fossil specimens anatomical indicators of inner ears that were tuned to ultrasonic signals, we cannot be certain at what point in time the ability to echolocate occurred in any mammal. These changes in the skulls of bats and odontocetes occurred gradually and on different timelines. Bats were fully arboreal in the Eocene (56-34 MYA), whereas cetacean fossil skulls do not display clear evidence of telescoping until the Miocene (23-5 MYA) (Barnes et al., 1985). The emergence of exaggerated, complex pinnae and narial specializations such as nose leaves in bats and cranial alterations in dolphins are features in bat and dolphin evolution consistent with the onset of echolocation. For laryngeal echolocating microbats, a distinguishing characteristic is the unusual placement of the stylohyal bone connecting to the tympanic ring (Veselka et al., 2010). In toothed whales, there was a dramatic remodeling of the skull, termed "telescoping," referring to changes that relate to both life in water and the production and reception of underwater signals for echolocation. These include the migration of the narial bones dorsally to produce a "blowhole" for respiration, displacement of the frontal bones posteriorly, and elongation of the maxillae and mandibles, providing a hollow or scooped platform accommodating, in modern odontocetes, the fatty "melon" through which odontocetes emit outgoing echolocation signals.

For both groups, one driving force for biosonar may have been the absence of light. Microchiropteran bats are largely nocturnal, insectivorous predators. Odontocete cetaceans prey on fish, invertebrates, and aquatic mammals. They typically forage in daylight hours but hunt in deep or murky waters and therefore operate in essentially crepuscular conditions at best. Some species, such as the beaked whales, are capable of foraging as deep as 2,000 m with dives lasting over 2 h in lightless regions of the ocean (Tyack et al., 2006; Baird et al., 2008). Thus, while the primary target prey are quite different in size and behavior for bats and dolphins, and they operate in radically different habitats, they do share some environmental pressures that may have resulted in parallel evolution of echolocation, resulting in sophisticated biosonar systems and evident similarities in their ability to produce, detect, and analyze ultrasonic signals.

Because of the similarity of tasks and information that odontocetes and microchiropteran bats obtain acoustically from their environments, we expect that there are some commonalities in their auditory reception and processing mechanisms as well as differences related to alternative echolocation strategies and especially to media dependent elements reflected in the structure of their ears. These differences are manifested in differences in the structure and peak spectra of their echolocation signals, which in turn likely reflect wavelength and speed of sound in each medium, habitat and prey parameters, and spectral features of prime targets, all of which evolutionarily shaped hearing abilities. Further, there are niche and task dependent signal elements (Siemers and Schnitzler, 2004) and anatomical variations common to frequency-modulated (FM, short FM sweeps) and constant-frequency (CF-FM, long duration constant frequency tones followed by short FM sweeps) bats and mid vs. ultrahigh ultrasonic frequency odontocete ears (Pye, 1966; Ketten and Wartzok, 1990; Wartzok and Ketten, 1999; Fenton et al., 2012; Southall et al., 2019) that dictate critical feature extraction of echoes in air vs. water. Although there has been extensive research on the comparative anatomy of mammalian ears, we still lack a precise understanding of how multiple anatomical variations observed across species affect hearing abilities.

The objective of the present study is to understand the similarities and differences of dolphin and bat inner ear morphometry related to the issues detailed above. Preliminary results from a smaller data set were published previously as an extended abstract in conference proceedings (Ketten et al., 2012). This paper provides the data for the first major stage in a research project focusing on similarities and differences of cochlear architecture and the implications for ultrasonic encoding and acuity amongst these groups. The primary goal is to put that data into a functional and comparative context. The key issues addressed are: (1) how do bat and dolphin ears differ from other terrestrial ears; (2) how do these differences correlate with air vs. underwater sound perception; and (3) what do the findings imply about the parallel evolution of adaptations for biosonar.

SOUND IN AIR VS. WATER

In analyzing air vs. water borne sound adapted hearing, it is important to consider how the physical aspects of sound in each medium relates to acoustic cues. The following section summarizes key variables and their effect on measures of sound in air and water. For a comprehensive discussion see Urick (1983) and Rossing and Fletcher (2004).

In elastic media like air and water, "sound" is a disturbance that takes the form of acoustic waves. Basic measures of sound are speed, frequency, wavelength, and intensity. Because water is denser than air, sound in water travels faster and with less attenuation than sound in air. Sound speed in moist ambient surface air is approximately 340 m/s. Sound speed in sea water averages 1,530 m/s but will vary with any factor affecting density, such as salinity, temperature, and pressure. For each 1% increase in salinity, speed increases 1.5 m/s, for each 1°C decrease in temperature, 4 m/s, and for each 100 m depth, 1.8 m/s (Ingmanson and Wallace, 1973). Because these factors act synergistically, any marine, estuarine, or freshwater habitat has a variable sound profile that may change seasonally and with depth. For practical purposes, given in water sound speed is 4.5 times faster, and because frequency, measured in cycles/s or Hertz (Hz), is defined as the speed of sound (m/s) divided by the wavelength (m/cycle), the wavelength for any given frequency is 4.5 times greater than in air.

Concerning measures of hearing, intensity is a key feature, and its measures are dependent upon sound speed and arbitrary sound reference pressure. Sound intensity (I) is the acoustic power (P) impinging on a surface perpendicular to the direction of sound propagation, or power/unit area (I = P/a). In general terms, power is force times velocity (P = Fv). Pressure is force/unit area (p = F/a). Therefore, intensity can be rewritten as the product of sound pressure (p) and vibration velocity (v):

$$I = P/a = Fv/a = pv$$
(1)

For a traveling spherical wave, the velocity component becomes particle velocity (u), which can be defined in terms of effective sound pressure (p), the speed of sound in that medium (c), and the density of the medium (ρ):

$$\mathbf{u}(\mathbf{x},\mathbf{t}) = \mathbf{p}/\rho \,\mathbf{c} \tag{2}$$

We can then redefine intensity (2) for an instantaneous sound pressure for an outward traveling plane wave in terms of pressure, sound speed, and density (3):

$$I = pv = p(p/\rho c) = p^2/\rho c$$
 (3)

The product ρc is the characteristic impedance of the medium. For air c = 340 m/s and for sea water c = 1,530 m/s. For air, $\rho = 1.29$ kg/m³ = 0.0013 g/cm³; for sea water, density varies with temperature, salinity, and depth but on average, $\rho = 1,032$ kg/m³ = 1.03 g/cm³. The following calculations show how these physical property differences for air vs. water influence intensity and sound pressure values:

$$I_{air} = p^2 / (0.442 \text{ g} - \text{m/s} - \text{cm}^3)$$
(4)

$$I_{water} = p^2 / (1575.9 \text{ g} - \text{m/s} - \text{cm}^3)$$
 (5)

For a mammal to have an equivalent threshold in air and water requires the same acoustic power/unit area ($I_{air} = I_{water}$):

$$I_{air} = p_{air}^{2} / (0.442 \text{ g} - \text{m/s} - \text{cm}^{3})$$

= $p_{water}^{2} / (1575.9 \text{ g} - \text{m/s} - \text{cm}^{3}) = I_{water}$
 $p_{air}^{2} (3565.4) = p_{water}^{2}$
 $p_{air} (59.7) = p_{water}$

Therefore, the sound pressure in water must be \sim 60 times that required in air to produce the same threshold response at the ear.

Because intensity (W/m^2) is difficult to measure, most studies of hearing thresholds rely on measures of sound pressure level (SPL) (see Au, 1993 for discussion). Sound pressure levels are expressed in decibels (dB) and are defined as:

$$dB \; SPL \; = \; 10 \; log \; ({p_m}^2/{p_r}^2) \; = \; 20 \; log \; (p_m/p_r) \qquad (6)$$

where p_m is the pressure measured and p_r is an arbitrary reference pressure. However, there are different standardized reference pressures for SPL in air and water. For air-borne sound measures, the reference pressure is re 20 µPa. For underwater sound measures, the reference pressure is 1 µPa.

Consequently, for an ear with the same sound intensity threshold in air and water, the underwater sound pressure level would need to be 35.5 dB + 20 (log 20) dB greater than the airborne value. That is, a sound level measured as 61.5 dB re 1 μ Pa in water is equivalent to a sound measured as being 0 dB re 20 μ Pa in air.

These equations describe idealized and controlled measures of air and water borne sound. In comparing behavioral data from different species, particularly in comparing airborne and marine sound for mammalian hearing data, differences in experimental conditions are extremely important. We have no underwater equivalent of anechoic chambers, thus there are unavoidable ambient noise effects even in captive aquatic test conditions. In addition, data for marine mammals are often available from very few individuals for which there may be no life history or prior hearing data and under test conditions that are highly variable particularly for studies on wild stranded animals. By combining research results from behavioral studies with biomechanical and anatomical studies, we obtain a more comprehensive picture of what and how each species hears and particularly how they hear in their respective habitats.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

The ears from four species, two FM bats [the big brown bat *Eptesicus fuscus* (n = 6) and the Japanese house bat *Pipistrellus abramus* (n = 1)] and two odontocetes [the harbor porpoise *Phocoena phocoena* (n = 6) and the bottlenose dolphin *Tursiops truncatus* (n = 10)] were analyzed for this study (**Table 1**). Ears were examined using submillimeter imaging with two radiographic techniques, conventional helical computed tomography (CT) and microCT scanning using two analytical, fixed anode, rotating specimen scanners. All scans were performed on post mortem specimens of intact heads or extracted temporal bones.

Specimens

The dolphin and porpoise heads and ears were obtained postmortem from male and female adult stranded animals under letters of authorization and USFW/NMFS permits (932-1489-08, 493-1848-00, 493-1848-02, 130062, and 130062-1) issued to DK. The specimens selected for study were relatively fresh material (postmortem condition designation Code 1 or 2) collected 1-24 h post mortem and with no evident auditory system pathology, such as intracochlear blood, evidence of torn or absent inner ear membranes or other cochlear partitions, necrotic middle ear mucosa, disarticulations of the ossicles, degenerate or absent auditory nerve, based on gross anatomical and CT examinations. The tissues were held chilled at 4°C until scanning. In the case of whole head specimens, post scanning, one or both temporal bones were extracted from each specimen, fixed in formalin by immersion and low pressure injection of formalin through the internal auditory canal and/or round window, and rescanned after 2 weeks or more to visualize any alterations in fixed compared to fresh tissue. Whole ears collected at the stranding site were held chilled and scanned the day of extraction, then processed as described above. Selected ears from these specimens were decalcified in EDTA and processed for transmission electron microscopy (TEM) or embedded in celloidin, stained with hematoxylin and eosin (H&E) or osmium tetroxide, and sectioned at 20 microns (for processing protocols see Schuknecht, 1953, 1993).

Adult big brown bats (four females, two males) were captured from attics and barns under permits issued by the State of Rhode Island, United States to JS. Because these animals were wild caught, the ages are unknown. The bats were housed in groups in the Brown University laboratory. All bats were in good health and echolocated normally during exercise and training. They were euthanized by intraperitoneal injection of Beuthanasia solution (0.03 ml). Heads were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde and scanned in this solution. One additional bat was perfused with 0.9% saline followed by 4% paraformaldehyde. The head was placed in a decalcifying solution, embedded in paraffin, sectioned in the coronal plane at 5 μ m thickness on a cryostat, and stained with trichrome. Use of animals was approved by the Brown University Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee and are consistent with United States federal regulations.

Japanese house bats were captured from a large colony living on bridge girders in Kyotanabe, Japan. They were brought to the laboratory and euthanized by intraperitoneal injection of sodium pentobarbital (65 mg/kg). Bat heads and extracted ears were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde and scanned in this solution. Capture and use of these bats were approved by the Doshisha University Animal Experiment Committee and are consistent with Japanese law.

Head and Ear Imaging

Heads and ears of all specimens were examined first using a Siemens Volume Zoom at the Woods Hole Oceanographic Institution Computerized Scanning and Imaging Facility¹. The specimens were scanned using an imaging protocol of 0.5 mm acquisitions, 0.5 mm table speed. KV and effective mAS varied according to the mass of tissue being imaged. Data were acquired with an ultra-high resolution (U90 and U95 head) kernel, 200 FOV for whole heads. All helical CT images were produced with isotropic 100 micron voxels. Bone and soft tissue windows at standard and extended scales (see section "Middle Ear") were used for image reconstructions. All data and images were archived as both raw acquisition data and DICOM formatted image data files. Primary images were formatted at 0.1 mm slice thickness in the transaxial plane. Raw acquisition data were employed for imaging at smaller fields of view and for multiplanar reconstructions in sagittal and coronal planes and to digitally realign the slice plane to match a midmodiolar cochlear axis.

1http://csi.whoi.edu

TABLE 1 | Study specimens.

Species	Common name	Ear specimens	Weight range (kg)	Average cochlear length (mm)	Standard deviation	Peak echolocation frequency (kHz)	
Phocoena phocoena	Harbor porpoise	6	55–78	25.6	1.42	100–110	
Tursiops truncatus	Bottlenose dolphin	10	150-250	37.3	2.78	40-70	
Eptesicus fuscus	Big brown bat	6	0.014-0.021	8.7	0.48	35–45	
Pipistrellus abramus	Japanese house bat	1	0.005	6.8	-	43–52	

For extracted ears, the same parameters were employed with images acquired at a 50 FOV. Each ear was scanned in a position approximating an *in situ* prone, anterior first position for the axial; i.e., short axis, cross-sectional slice images. This orientation typically gives the best initial approximation of a mid-modiolar cochlear projection.

MicroCT studies were performed on bat heads and extracted dolphin ears. Data were obtained first on an X-Tek MicroCT at the Harvard University Center for Nano Systems. For these studies, depending upon the dimensions and mass of the tissues, a Molybdenum or Tungsten anode was used with varying parameters for voltage and exposure times. The X-Tek uses a fixed head with a rotating specimen plate. For each study, 2,000–4,000 radial projection data were obtained and reformatted using VGStudio Max 2.0 into DICOM format into transaxial contiguous sections with an isotropic voxel of 11–40 microns. Additional data were obtained for bat specimens using a Zeiss Xradia Versa 520 at the Micro-CT and X-ray Microscopy Imaging Facility of Boston University. These data were acquired at 7–100 micron isotropic voxel resolutions and formatted by Zeiss platform software as DICOM images.

All image sets were further processed and reconstructed into 3D still and video images using Siemens proprietary VRT software, Amira 5.4, VG Studio Max 3.4, RadiAnt version 2020.1.1, software programs on 64-bit PC and Mac platforms.

Cochlear Morphometrics

Cochlear canal midpoints and basilar membrane paths were identified based on membrane visualizations or, in their absence, on laminar positions from CT images for both the odontocete and microchiropteran ears to obtain Cartesian triplets (X, Y, Z) for three-dimensional (3-D) mapping, measurement, and reconstruction of the cochlear canal and basilar membrane path. Up to 30 mid-canal or membrane midline triplets, from the hook region (a recurved section at the most basal portion of the cochlear canal) to the helicotrema (the U-shaped section at the apex of the cochlear canal that connects scala media and scala tympani), were used to map each cochlea and measure spiral parameters (modiolar height and radii at each turn). For the odontocete specimens, measurements of the radii and of basilar membrane dimensions were obtained from mid-modiolar histology sections and by reslicing digitally 3-D reconstructions of the cochlea to produce radial slices

TABLE 2 | Auditory and vestibular nerve densities.

along the spiral path. Parallel measures were made of the spiral from registered histology sets for the two odontocete species. These measurements were used to calculate cochlear and basilar membrane lengths with calculations based on the spiral parameters using the procedures and formulae described in detail in Ketten et al. (1998). These results were compared with cochlear length values obtained by measurement tools in the Amira software program. Basilar membrane thickness and width were obtained from specimens processed for transmission electron microscopy (TEM) (n = 1 T. truncatus ear) and from histology sections stained with hematoxylin and eosin (H&E) (n = 3 P. phocoena, 5 T. truncatus ears), with osmium tetroxide (n = 1 P. phocoena ear), and with trichrome (n = 1 E. fuscus ear). Ganglion cell counts and mapping were obtained from specimens in this study and from published data in prior studies as indicated in Table 2.

RESULTS

Because of the stringent criteria for collection, postmortem condition, and checks on quality of tissues, particularly in the case of odontocete specimens, processing and analyses from the specimens in this study were completed over more than a decade. Some data on a few specimens have therefore been published previously, specifically those listed for ganglion cell counts (**Table 2**) and basilar membrane thickness and width (**Table 3** non-echolocating species). New data presented in this paper are found in **Table 1** for cochlear length averages and in **Table 3** for membrane and cochlear ratios in the species in bold. Additional new, important findings reported here are on variations in stapedial input and cochlear radii ratios and their functional significance.

Auditory Bullae

While the tympanic and periotic bullae of the microchiropteran specimens analyzed are large in comparison to the total skull volume (see **Figure 1** and **Supplementary Video 1**), there are few differences in the actual bony structure, placement, and orientation compared to most mammals. The tympanic and periotic bullae in the bat are bulbous and are fused to the cranium. The periotic is positioned such that the apex of the cochlea points anteriorly with a slight ventral rotation (**Figures 1A,B**). This is a common orientation for land mammal inner ears. There is

Species	Common name	Membrane length (mm)	Auditory ganglion cells	Density (cells/mm cochlea)	Vestibular ganglion cells 3,200 3,489	
Phocoena phocoena	Harbor porpoise	25.93	70,137	3117.20		
Tursiops truncatus	Bottlenose dolphin	40.65	96,716	2486.27		
Rhinolophus ferrumequinum	Horseshoe bat	16.1	15,953	991/1,750*		
Pteronotus parnellii	Mustached bat	14.0	12,800	900/1,900*		
Homo sapiens	Human	32.1	30,500	950	15,590	

Ganglion cell count data were compiled from this study (species in bold) and from previously published data by Bruns and Schmieszek (1980), Nadol (1988), Echteler et al. (1994), Gao and Zhou (1995), and Kössl and Vater (1995). *Densities at auditory fovea as described by Bruns and Schmieszek (1980). Ganglion cell counts for Phocoena and Tursiops are from histologies of the same specimens listed in Table 3.

Species	Common name	Total frequency range (kHz)	Turns	Basilar membrane length (mm)	Basal T/W (μm)	Apical T/W (μm)	Basal ratio (t/w)	Apical ratio (t/w)	Radii ratios
Phocoena phocoena	Harbor porpoise	0.35–180	1.5	25.93	25/30	5/290	0.833	0.0172	3.62
Tursiops truncatus	Bottlenose dolphin	0.2-160	2.25	40.65	25/35	5/380	0.714	0.0132	4.39
Balaenoptera acutorostrata	Minke whale	0.02–30	2.25	50.6	11/130	3/920	0.085	0.00326	7.17
Balaenoptera musculus	Blue whale	0.01–18	2.25	71.0	7/120	<2/2,200	0.058	0.0009	10.45
Elephas maximus	Asian Elephant	<0.20-5.7	2.25	60.0	_/_	_/_	_	_	8.7
Felis domesticus	Cat	0.125-60	3.0	25.8	12/80	5/420	0.150	0.0119	5.71
Mus musculus	Mouse	5–60	2.0	6.8	15/40	1/160	0.363	0.0063	4.0
Rattus norvegicus	Rat	1–59	2.2	10.7	18/80	2/250	0.300	0.0106	4.3
Rhinolophus ferrumequinum	Horseshoe bat	7–90	3.25	16.1	35/80	2/150	0.438	0.0133	_
Eptesicus fuscus*	Big brown bat	10–100	2.25	8.7	21/100	4/147	0.21	0.0272	3.4
Pipistrellus abramus	Japanese house bat	4-80	2.5	6.8					3.1

Data in this table were obtained from specimens in this study (in bold) and from data published previously by Bruns and Schmieszek (1980), West (1985), Ketten and Wartzok (1990), Echteler et al. (1994), and Ketten (2000). Values for turns, radii ratios, and basilar membrane lengths were obtained from 3D reconstructions from CT scans and histology. Thickness and width of the basilar membrane (T/W) were measured by light microscopy from cochlear H&E histology sections for one bottlenose dolphin, one harbor porpoise, and one bat*. Therefore, membrane lengths differ from average lengths in **Table 1**. Hearing ranges are based on audiometric or electrophysiological data (Wartzok and Ketten, 1999; Surlykke and Moss, 2000; Boku et al., 2015; Southall et al., 2019) where available. Frequency ranges for the blue whale are based on vocalization data and for the minke whale, on vocalizations and FEM and cochlear frequency map models (Ketten and Mountain, 2011; Tubelli et al., 2012). *Data for basilar membrane dimensions for P. phocoena and T. truncatus specimens in this study were taken from radial sections located at 5–7% of cochlear length for the basal values and 98–100% for the apical values. These locations are consistent with locations for the apex. The E. fuscus data are preliminary pending a full cochlear form a 80% of length for the apex. The E. fuscus data are preliminary pending a full cochlear form a 80% of length for the apex. The E. fuscus data are preliminary pending a full cochlear form a 80% of length for the apex. The E. fuscus data are preliminary pending a full cochlear form a 80% of length for the apex.

membrane morphometry map.



FIGURE 1 | Three-dimensional reconstructions of microCT images of the skull and auditory bullae of *Eptesicus fuscus* (big brown bat). The images are reconstructed from microCT data obtained at 11–17 micron voxel resolutions. (A) Left lateral view of skull of an adult female *E. fuscus* head. The manubrium of the malleus is visible inside the tympanic ring. M, mandible; P, left periotic bulla; SH, stylo-hyoid; T, tympanic bulla. Scale bar = 2.5 mm. (B) Dorso-lateral view of left cochlea in the same specimen. The wall of the periotic was removed digitally to reveal the mid to upper basal turns and laminae. Note the regular distribution of the foraminae of the habenula perforata (arrows) through which the afferent and efferent auditory (VIIIth) nerve fibers traverse the basilar membrane. I, inner osseous lamina; O, outer osseous laminae; SG, spiral ganglion (Rosenthal's canal). Scale bar = 0.1 mm. Images copyright 2020 DK, all rights reserved.

also in *E. fuscus* a well-developed, bony stylohyal flange that connects directly to the latero-posterior wall of the tympanic bulla (**Figure 1A**), consistent with bats that generate echolocation signals via the larynx (Veselka et al., 2010).

By contrast, the tympanic and periotic in the odontocetes in this study differ from the bat anatomy in location, orientation, and degree of attachment to the skull. The odontocete tympanic and periotic are connected to each other, forming a tympanoperiotic complex, but are not fused to the skull (**Figures 2A,B**). The periotic is attached at its posterior margin to the tympanic (**Figures 2B,C**). The periotic which houses the cochlea and vestibular system is composed of exceptionally dense compact bone. The tympanic is hollow and distinctly cone shaped with a broad, thickened posterior and thin, friable body. This tympano-periotic complex is extra-cranial, suspended by ligaments in the peribullar fossa, ventral and posterior to the extended flange of the squamosal bone and just medial to the posterior edge of the mandibular ramus. The stylohyal bone



FIGURE 2 | Three-dimensional reconstructions of CT images of the entire head and auditory bullae of an adult male Phocoena phocoena (harbor porpoise). Ca, cochlear aqueduct; Fn, facial (VIIth) nerve canal; IAC, internal auditory canal of the acousto-vestibular (VIIIth) nerve; I, inner osseous lamina; M, mandible; O, outer osseous laminae; Pp, tympanic posterior prominence; P, periotic bulla; RW, round window; SH, stylohyal bone; St, stapes head; T, tympanic bulla; Va, vestibular aqueduct; Z, zygomatic (Images copyright© 2020 DK, all rights reserved). (A) Whole head image reconstructed from helical CT scan data with 1 mm slice acquisitions. Right lateral view of head shows the tympano-periotic complex in the peribullar fossa posterior to the mandible and associated stylohyal structures. Scale bar = 2.0 cm. (B) Lateral view of right tympano-periotic bullae images obtained from microCT with 500-1,500 projections and 33 micron voxel resolution. Scale bar = 2.0 mm. (C) Medial views of right ear tympano-periotic complex. Scale bar = 2.0 mm. (D) Cut-away of the periotic showing cochlear canal cross sections of the basal, middle, and apical turns with differences in spiral laminae separations (arrows) that reflect basilar membrane widths at each level. Scale bar = 2.0 mm.

(also referred to as stylo-hyoid) of odontocetes is well-developed but is connected to the tympanic typically by only a small ligament which attaches to a cartilaginous cap on the outer posterior prominence of the tympanic bone (**Figure 2A**). This suggests there is little or no transmission of laryngeal sound via the stylohyal bone in toothed whales and is consistent with ultrasonic signals generated via narial passages with "phonic lips" and nasal sacs; which are not found in baleen whales (Reidenberg and Laitman, 2018).

The whole complex is rotated medially 15–20°. The cochlear spiral within the periotic is oriented with the apex directed ventrally (**Figure 2C**). The acousto-vestibular (VIIIth) nerve projects inward from medial surface of the periotic, crossing the retro-peribullar space, to enter the temporal bone of the skulls; i.e., it is not enclosed in a bony internal auditory canal although it is encased in a heavy fibrous sheath. Species-specific variations in some of these features among odontocetes and particularly in comparison to the bullar and cochlear anatomies of mysticete (baleen) whales have been described in prior studies (see Reysenbach de Haan, 1956; Norris, 1969; Oelschlager, 1986; Ketten, 1992; Echteler et al., 1994; Nummela, 1995; Fordyce and de Muizon, 2001; Yamato et al., 2012).

Middle Ear

Microchiropteran bats and odontocetes have similar features in their middle ears that enhance stiffness, including dense calcified middle ear ligaments, struts, and stiffer annular ligaments than most mammals. A new, notable feature of middle ears in both bat and odontocete specimens found in this study is that microchiropteran and odontocete ossicles, despite radical differences in size, have similar, exceptionally high Hounsfield values (HU) ranging 1,500-4,800. HU, named after the primary inventor of computed tomography, are dimensionless units that represent the summated relative attenuations at each detector for the multiple radiation beams transmitted in each transit of the radiation source. HU's are a representation of the measured attenuation coefficients of tissues or objects detected normalized to the density of air (-1,000) and water (0). The HU upper bound depends upon the scanning protocol and machine software. Standard clinical ranges are -1,000 to +3,071, and most animal tissues do not exceed +2,000 HU. Some systems are able to use "extended scales" developed primarily for imaging metallic implants, which provide HU values up to +44,000.

The ossicles and periotic capsules of the ears examined in this study commonly ranged over 3,000 HU compared to maxima of 1,000-1,200 for these structures in humans and most other mammals. HU are not a direct measure of density but they are interrelated, and these high HU values are consistent with exceptionally dense, stiff ossicular bones. HU values also indicate the tensor tympani is partially calcified, which was confirmed on histology. The stapedial muscle is disproportionately large compared to humans and cats, and the tympanic membrane and annular ligament are thick and relatively stiff; i.e., resisting manual movement of the stapes. This is consistent with nanoindentation studies (Miller et al., 2006) that showed T. truncatus and one bat species, Rhinolophus ferrumequinum, the horseshoe bat, to have acoustic stiffness values of $\sim 10^{17}$ Pa/m³, which was two orders of magnitude greater than the majority of all other species in their study. Further, in both bat species in this study, there is a well-developed band of fibrous tissue, analogous to the stylo-hyoid ligaments



FIGURE 3 | Paramodiolar sections showing basal, middle, and apical turns in the big brown bat (*Eptesicus fuscus*) and harbor porpoise (*Phocoena phocoena*). AN, auditory nerve; BM, basilar membrane; G, ganglion cells; L, spiral limbus; O, outer spiral lamina; R, Reissner's membrane; SL, spiral ligament. Scale bars = 0.1 mm. (A) Big brown bat (*E. fuscus*) trichrome stained paramodiolar cross-section. (B) Harbor porpoise (*P. phocoena*) H&E stained midmodiolar section. The location of this section approximates the position of the microCT cross-section in Figure 2D. The basilar membrane is shown in an ascending longitudinal position in the hook region. The cochlea is inverted from the *in vivo* position to match conventional cochlear section image orientations. Images copyright© 2020 AS and DK, all rights reserved.

in other mammals and has been reported for other bat species (Veselka et al., 2010). This band joins the posterolateral edge of the bulla to the posterior margin of the mandible and stylobasihyoid complex. As discussed in Veselka et al. (2010), these fibrous tissues may be important for coordinating vocalizations with auditory attention and receptivity.

Cochlear Cytoarchitecture and Morphometry

Odontocete and microchiropteran cochleae have the prototypic mammalian divisions: scala media (cochlear duct), scala tympani, and scala vestibuli. The membranous labyrinth of the scalae form a spiral inside the bony labyrinth of the periotic, curving around a core, the modiolus, containing the auditory branch of the VIIIth nerve (**Figure 3**). Three anatomical features of the inner ear which influence resonance characteristics and frequency perception are addressed in detail here: basilar membrane construction and support specializations, spiral ganglion cell distributions, and cochlear spiral morphometry.

In all species examined in this study, the organ of Corti anatomy has the same basic cellular cohort as non-echolocating mammals but there are differences in the number, packing, cellular substructure of many features. Some structures of the scala media are hypertrophied, such as enlarged support cells, thickening of the basal basilar membrane primarily through increased collagen fiber density (**Figure 4**), and increased cellular density of the stria vascularis and spiral ligament (**Figures 3–5**). Similar features have been discussed in detail by a number of authors for some species of both dolphins (Wever et al., 1971a,b, 1972) and CF-FM bats (Vater, 2004).

Outer laminae in conjunction with the spiral ligament in most mammals buttress the basilar membrane, particularly those with high frequency hearing. The presence and extent of the outer laminae that hold the basilar membrane rigidly both laterally and medially varies by species. The specimens we examined had substantial outer osseous laminae running 20–60% of the basilar membrane length, varying by species. The thickness of the inner laminae varies inversely with distance from the stapes. The outer lamina in the basal end is as much as 40 μ in depth in *P. phocoena* (**Figures 4, 5A**) and is heavily calcified (see **Figures 3–5** and **Supplementary Video 3**). MicroCT scans of *E. fuscus* (**Figure 1B**) indicate that similarly deep-layered laminae are present in that species as well. Further measurements of laminar thickness and percentage of cochlear length from histology for the bat specimens are in progress.

In mammals, basilar membrane thickness and width vary inversely from base to apex (von Békésy, 1960; West, 1985). Highest frequencies are encoded in the narrow, basal region; toward the apex, as the membrane broadens and thins, the membrane responds preferentially to progressively lower frequencies. Width and thickness change at different rates according to species in both land and marine animals (Ketten, 1992, 2000; Echteler et al., 1994). Table 3 provides recent basilar membrane data for the specimens in this study from both CT and histology and compares findings in other mammals. Basal thickness and width ratios are similar in both the air and water echolocators, and are significantly different than in species with better lower frequency hearing. In the case of the porpoise, the basalmost membrane region was virtually a square cross-section as discussed below in more detail. The greatest differences across species in the membrane ratios were found in the apical regions. Estimations of basilar membrane width and thickness can be made from microCT, but require histologic preparations for accurate measurement. Data for basilar membrane dimensions for P. phocoena and T, truncatus specimens were taken from radial sections located at 5-7% of cochlear length in each specimen for basal values and 98-100%



schematic images in **Figure 5**. ANF, auditory nerve fiber; BM, basilar membrane; H, habenula; L, spiral limbus; O, outer spiral lamina; OHC, Outer hair cells; R, Reissner's membrane; SL, spiral ligament; TM, tectorial membrane. Scale bars = 0.1 mm. **(A)** Lower basal turn. **(B)** Mid apical turn. Images copyright© 2020 DK, all rights reserved.

for apical values, which are consistent with locations for the data for the other species except *E. fuscus*. The *E. fuscus* data were taken from a paramodiolar section with basal values at a point approximately 20% of length from the base and 80% length for the apex values. They are therefore not directly comparable to the other data in the table and are preliminary pending a full cochlear membrane morphometry map.

Total ganglion cell counts and ganglion cell densities measured from histologies of the odontocete specimens are given in **Table 2**. Average ganglion cell densities for the two odontocetes are more than twice those counted in the CF-FM horseshoe and mustached bats (Bruns and Schmieszek, 1980) and in humans (Nadol, 1988). They are also 30–50% greater than the highest densities reported in the basal, foveal regions in the two species of bats. Ganglion cell counts and distribution data are not yet available for bat species in this data.

Three-Dimensional Anatomical Features

Reconstructions from microCT images coupled with the detailed histology of middle ear and cochlear features provided unexpected insights into peripheral auditory

system architectures. Figures 1, 2 show images of the bullae; Figures 3–5, the cochlear duct; and Figure 6, the ossicles, the cochlear capsule, basilar membrane paths, and cochlear spiral variations. Videos revealing the exterior and interior cochlear topography and the relationship of the basilar membrane to stapedial locations in the sampled species are available in the Supplementary Material.

These reconstructions revealed unusual fenestral placements for the stapedial input to the cochlea compared to most mammals. The *Tursiops* specimens have a typical mammalian inner ear spiral configuration with the stapes located near the vestibule toward the base of hook region. However, in the other three species, the position of the stapedial input differs from this expected placement. In *E. fuscus* (Figure 6A) and *P. abramus* (Figure 6B), the oval window/stapedial footplate is located well above the vestibule and descending portion of the hook. This unusual placement was earlier observed in one *E. fuscus* ear (Ketten et al., 2012). We have now confirmed this placement in the ears of five additional big brown bats, both males and females. The *P. phocoena* cochlea (Figures 6C,D) exhibited the most extreme modification with the oval window located at the



FIGURE 5 | Transmission electron microscopy (TEM) images of odontocete basilar membranes and organ of Corti compared with schematics of the cochlear sections from the horseshoe bat (*Rhinolophus ferrumequinum*). The specialized basal regions of the porpoise and bat have similar thickened regions of collagen fibers (arrows) attached to the basilar membrane that run longitudinally (scala media side) and transverse/radially (scala tympani side) that are hypothesized to act as stiffening agents. In both species, the outer hair cells (OHC) sit atop the bundle of longitudinal fibers. Specialized bundles are absent in the upper basal and second turn of the bottlenose dolphin and bat. Note: Because the OHC are actually staggered, all three may not be fully shown in the TEM images. This is not indicative of hair cell loss. BMA, Arcuate zone of the basilar membrane; BMP, Pectinate zone of the basilar membrane; C, Tunnel of Corti; CC, Claudius' cells; DC, Deiters' cells; H, Habenula; HC, Hensen's cells; HC, Inner hair cells; IPC, Inner pillar cells; ISC, Inner sulcus cells; LSL, Limbus of the spiral lamina; N, Nuel's space; OHC, Outer hair cells; OPC, Outer pillar cells; PSL, Primary spiral lamina; S, IHC supporting cells; SL, Spiral ligament; SSL, Secondary spiral lamina; TL, Tympanic layer; TM, Tectorial membrane. Scale bars = 0.02 mm [TEM images copyright© 2021 DK, all rights reserved. Diagrams from Bruns (1980) reprinted by permission from Nature/Springer from Anatomy and Embryology, vol. 161]. (A) TEM image from the specially adapted lower basal half turn of a harbor porpoise (*P. phocoena*, 1200X magnification). (B) Schematic from Bruns (1980) of lower basal turn location in the horseshoe bat (right, *R. ferrumequinum*). (C) TEM image from the unspecialized region of the upper basal turn in a bottlenose dolphin (*T. truncatus* 2000X magnification). (D) Schematic of the basilar membrane and organ of Corti in a horseshoe bat (*R. ferrumequinum*) in the unspecialized upper second turn.



FIGURE 6 | 3D reconstruction from microCT scans of the middle ear ossicles and inner ears in two species of echolocators (big brown bat and harbor porpoise) with unusual stapes input positions. Videos (Supplementary Videos 2, 3) show rotations of the cochlear canals that become transparent to reveals the path and width changes of the basilar membrane from base to apex as well as the placement of the stapes and oval window in each of these species (images and multimedia copyright© 2021 DK, all rights reserved). Sf, stapes footplate; In, incus; Ma, malleus; Ssc, semi-circular canal. Scale bar = 1 mm. (A) *Eptesicus fuscus* (big brown bat). 3D reconstruction using Amira of a left ear obtained from 17 micron voxel X-Tek MicroCT scan data. The cochlea has 2.25 turns. The basilar membrane (green) length is 8.7 mm and has a post-hook basal turn stapedial input (Sf) (see Supplementary Video 2 to view rotations and basilar membrane path within the cochlear capsule). (B) *Pipistrellus abramus* (Japanese house bat) 3D reconstruction of left ear obtained from 17 micron voxel X-Tek MicroCT scan data. The basilar membrane the pasilar membrane length is 6.8 mm with a post-hook lower basal turn stapedial input (Sf). (C) *Phocoena phocoena* (harbor porpoise) right ear is shown reconstructed with the periotic and cochlear walls transparent to reveal the basilar membrane (yellow) path and stapes located at end of an extended, double hook. The image was reconstructed from 100 micron voxel scans of the entire tympano-periotic complex within the head. The darkened line along the cochlear canal is the edge of the outer osseus lamina, but the basilar membrane itself cannot be fully resolved in this scan series. (D) This higher resolution image of a *Phocoena* cochlea was reconstructed from 18 micron voxel microCT scan data. The cochlea has 1.5 turns and basilar membrane length of 24.5 mm. In this species, a second arc rises from the first descending portion with the stapes footplate (Sf) located at its terminus (see Supplementary Vide

end of a second, reversed hook extending from the end of the primary descending basilar membrane hook region.

Table 3 contains radii ratios for these cochleae. The ratio of the radii of curvature is defined as the radial length from the modiolus to the outermost length of the basal turn divided by the radius at the point of the helicotrema. It is an approximation of the curvature gradient (Manoussaki et al., 2008). The lower the value, the tighter the coiling. Equiangular curves, the broad

based spirals with logarithmic increases in interturn distances that are most common in nature, therefore have larger ratios than Archimedean curves which have a constant interturn distance, as seen in a flat, tightly coiled rope.

The *T. truncatus* cochlear canal is a conventional equiangular curve common to most mammalian ears and has a radii ratio of 4.9. *E. fuscus* and *P. abramus* approximate Archimedean spirals and have ratios of 3.5 and 3.1, respectively. *Phocoena* has a ratio

of 4.3 and appears to be an Archimedean spiral but is difficult to categorize with certainty because it has only 1.5 turns. These ratios are in sharp contrast to the values for low frequency adapted ears, which typically range 8–12 in both land and aquatic species (**Table 3**; see also Manoussaki et al., 2008).

DISCUSSION

Air vs. Water: Matches and Misses

How well do the ears of echolocating mammals, in air or water, mesh with the general land mammal hearing scheme and how different or similar are microchiropteran and odontocete ears in this context of substantial differences in their natural habitats but common echolocation abilities?

In echolocation, or biosonar, the auditory system serves as a real-time sonar system that performs with greater versatility than man-made systems (Simmons, 2017). Identifying the auditory mechanisms responsible for superior performance is of great technological interest. The middle and inner ears of bats and toothed whales differ substantially with regard to mechanical coupling of sound from air or water to the middle and inner ear, or more specifically to the receptor array of the organ of Corti and the critical step of transducing acoustic parameters into neural inputs to higher auditory centers. By comparing the ears of aerial and aquatic echolocators we are beginning to explore this coupling to better understand how the auditory structures, their mechanics, and their respective environments result in similarly effective strategies for echolocation. Critically, several behavioral tests of biosonar performance show that big brown bats and bottlenose dolphins have perceptual acuity for echo delay and for the phase of biosonar echoes (Simmons et al., 1990; Finneran et al., 2020). For this to occur, both bat and dolphin auditory receptors, particularly the cochlea, must capture and convey fine echo delay and phase information via afferent signals to the auditory brainstem and temporal lobes, and be responsive to efferent control of peripheral responses in return. There are major differences in microchiropteran and odontocete ears related to air vs. underwater hearing, but the point in this sequence of reception, transduction, and processing where these differences fade and the functional anatomies converge is the cochlea. The goal of this on-going study is to describe this convergence to address how biosonar "works" and at the same time how it works in two very different acoustic realms.

Sensory systems evolved to allow animals to receive and process information from their surroundings but also to avoid overload (von Uexküll, 1957 translation, Wartzok and Ketten, 1999). In that sense, they are tuned to stimuli of greatest relevance, preferentially admitting some signals and incapable of receiving or processing others. Ears in all species act as highly selective, tuned filters, selecting and attending to signals that, evolutionarily, proved to be important in the context of their local environment (Ketten, 1992). Most animals, including whales and dolphins (Ketten and Wartzok, 1990), have vocalizations linked to their peak hearing sensitivities in order to maximize conspecific communication but also hear beyond their peak range to detect acoustic cues from predators, prey, or significant environmental cues. Further, hearing evolved in the context of natural ambient noise, which varies significantly by habitat. Wenz (1962) laid the ground work for assessing marine ambient noise and showed that it is dominated by frequencies below 5 kHz. Recently, growing concern for sound impacts has led to extensive efforts globally to assess the acoustic environment of diverse habitats, both at sea and on land. These studies have shown that even relatively small contiguous areas can vary significantly based on landscape and vegetation differences (Slabbekoorn, 2004).

Both bats and whales evolved from land-dwelling ancestors during the explosive period of mammalian radiation. Bats of course continued to evolve in air, while the archeocetes moved into aquatic habitats but retained the essentials of air-adapted ears; e.g., an air-filled middle ear and spiral cochlea (see Barnes et al., 1985; Fordyce and de Muizon, 2001; Ekdale, 2016). Therefore, some similarities in land and aquatic mammal hearing anatomy mechanisms are not surprising. For microchiropterans and odontocetes, however, the most striking similarities are not the basic mammalian ear components but rather the specializations or modifications that link to ultrasonic hearing and echolocation abilities.

Land and marine ears, and specifically bat and dolphin ears, do have considerable structural differences. The majority of those differences are in the structure of the reception pathways and the locations of the ears rather than in the middle and inner ear anatomy. As marine mammal ancestors became more aquatic, air-adapted mammalian ears had to not only be coupled to water-borne sound but also adapted to an ambient sound field dominated by low frequencies for hearing to remain functional.

Ear evolution in cetaceans took place in tandem with, and in part in response to, body reconfigurations. Just as the physical demands of operating in water exacted a structural price in the locomotory and thermoregulatory systems of whales, physical differences in underwater sound required some auditory system remodeling. As the rostrum elongated, the cranial vault foreshortened, and the nares and narial passages were pulled rearward to a dorsal position behind the eyes. Many conventional land mammal auditory components, like external pinnae and air-filled external canals were lost or reduced and the middle and inner ears migrated outward (Ketten, 1992, 2000). In most odontocetes, the ears have no substantial bony association with the skull. Instead, they are extra-cranial, suspended by ligaments in a foam-filled fossa outside the skull. In addition, there are specialized fatty bundles with distinct and unique lipid profiles in all odontocetes that parallel the mandible, connecting the middle ear, that have a discrete shape resembling elongated pinnae (Ketten, 1997, 2000; Koopman et al., 2006).

Several factors related to the physical characteristics of sound in water, such as speed, frequency of echolocation signals vs. target object size, drove the specializations of the auditory system in odontocetes. The speed of sound in water drove cetacean ears to be farther apart compared to other mammals; new sound reception pathways matched to acoustic impedance characteristics of water developed, and acoustic isolation of outgoing signals from the ear was achieved by ears that are uncoupled from the skull, given the five-fold increased speed of sound in water, the almost cartoonish large cetacean heads and extracranial ear placements provide odontocetes with interaural time difference discriminations comparable to that of bats.

Since bats evolved and remained in air, acoustic properties of the media were not so evident a factor for major retooling of the auditory periphery although there are clear anatomical specializations for flight. In one sense, they can be seen as enhancing or honing rather than reshaping their auditory systems. The complex and relatively delicate structures of the pinnae and nose leaves in some species are as striking and intriguing as telescoping and specialized fats in odontocetes. All of these features require more extensive biomechanical analyses as well as the related questions of if and how bats deal with air flow noise in flight and dolphins deal with water flow noise in dives to reduce interference with echo perception.

The most striking and functionally significant observations related to the specimens in this study, and the observations that set them apart from the majority of mammalian ears, are in fact their similarities, particularly the augmentations observed in the middle ear ossicular stiffening and control structures in the middle ear, the unusual stapedial locations for three of the studied species, the basilar membrane foveal membrane regions in one species, and the increased ganglion cell densities compared to other mammals. Our data on ganglion cell counts are preliminary at this time, and it is important to clarify whether the location of high ganglion cell densities coincide with frequency place maps for the peak spectral characteristics of echoes in each group.

The intracochlear distribution of the outer lamina expressed as a percentage of membrane or cochlear ranges from 20% in Tursiops to over 60% in Phocoena. The data from microCT images suggest that the bat distributions are similar. Extensive buttressing is consistent with higher resonant frequencies as well as less potential variability from more elastic suspension systems. Fleischer (1976) observed that osseous laminae may have material properties in the basal region comparable to solid compact bone and decreasing apically as fibrous inclusions increase, producing a potential 100-fold to 1,000-fold base to apex stability gradient. If correct, these values suggest that differences in laminar support may be a far more influential element of basilar membrane dynamics than is currently understood. They also underscore that material property measurements on a species basis should be prioritized to aid accuracy in Finite Element Models (FEM) of tissues in both the middle and inner ear (Tubelli and Ketten, 2019; Puria, 2020).

Within the inner ear of all cetaceans, one major dissimilarity from bats and in fact other mammals as well is the differences in vestibular dimensions. Not only is the vestibular system smaller in proportion to the cochlea, it is relatively poorly innervated (Gao and Zhou, 1995). Most mammals, including bats, have approximately 40–45% of the VIIIth nerve fibers distributed to the vestibular branch. In cetaceans, vestibular branch commonly has less than 7% of the total VIIIth nerve fibers. A number of features have been examined with regards to this question, including the possibility that the fusion of the cervical vertebrae affected inputs to the vestibular system, the velocity and frequency of rotations compared to land mammals, and the kinematics of cetacean swimming (Gingerich et al., 1994; Fish, 1998; Spoor et al., 2002; Kandel and Hullar, 2010). Nevertheless, the primary driver for this state remains unclear. Both bats and dolphins make fast and frequent re-orientations while seeking prey and avoiding obstacles. Therefore, they are subject to similar stresses on the vestibular system. That suggests that reduction of the vestibular system in cetaceans is not driven by their manoeuvers. This remains an open question.

It's a Material World

The basilar membrane is a frequency-dispersing array that shunts a succession of frequencies from high to low to different locations, and thus to different receptors, creating frequency tuned channels for subsequent auditory processing (Dallos, 1996). Variations in rate of change in basilar membrane dimensions are consistent with differences in the octave ranges of hearing in each species, with gradations in thickness and width a reasonable proxy of the material properties of stiffness and mass. Consistent with the data in our study, Pye (1966) reported for the basilar membrane of another FM bat, Pipistrellus pipistrellus, a basal width of 80 µ with a thickness of 15 μ and an apical width of 115 μ with a thickness of 5 μ or less. If *P. abramus* is similar that suggests a basal membrane ratio of approximately 0.19 and apical of 0.04, which is similar to the preliminary values for *E. fuscus*. Although the membrane data are incomplete for the microchiropteran bats examined in this study, the preliminary data from histology for E. fuscus and microCT for P. abramus suggest they have smaller gradations in both thickness and width, changing little over the full cochlear length. This implies a narrower hearing range, with much higher low frequency and lower high frequency cut-offs compared to the odontocetes. Our data for these two bat species are consistent with those in CF-FM bats (reviewed by Echteler et al., 1994; Kössl and Vater, 1995). Of the two odontocetes studied, a full length basilar membrane morphometric maps of P. phocoena show markedly less gradation than T. truncatus and more closely resembles the R. ferrumequinum membrane gradient in its basal regions (Ketten and Wartzok, 1990).

Based on the anatomy of the basilar membrane in *P. phocoena*, specialist ears exist in both odontocetes and microchiropterans. P. phocoena has a basal cochlear membrane structure consistent with a specialized basilar membrane "foveal" region in the lower basal turn, similar to that reported for the CF-FM bat R. ferrumequinum (Bruns, 1980). The harbor porpoise basilar membrane has a thickened region with fairly constant width and thickness over a substantial portion of the basal basilar membrane (Figures 4, 5). There are also longitudinal and transverse or radial fibers present, again paralleling those reported for R. ferrumequinum. These areas, dubbed "acoustic fovea" regions by Bruns (1980) and Bruns and Schmieszek (1980) are singularly devoted to frequencies near the peak spectra of their echolocation signals (100-110 kHz for the porpoise, 80-86 kHz for the CF-FM bat) and thus represent a stretched frequency map that occupies much of the basal turn of the cochlea modeled by Ketten (1994) which was later confirmed behaviorally by Kastelein et al. (2002).

There are, however, additional elements evident in these ears, including the inner and outer osseous laminae, that may have a significant role in determining responsivity, particularly for the upper limits of the hearing range by increasing the stiffness of the basilar membrane along its extent. These stiffening features are part of the reason that the basilar membrane of P. phocoena has a peak sensitivity of approximately 110 kHz and extends to nearly 200 kHz (Kastelein et al., 2002), despite having a cochlear length equivalent to a cat (Greenwood, 1990). Were the P. phocoena frequency map derived from a single parameter, such as length, the hearing range would have been substantially lower with a cut-off near 60 kHz rather than the 180-200 kHz estimated in more complex models (Ketten, 1994; Ketten et al., 1998). This is because length is correlated with body mass. Calculations of frequency ranges and cochlear maps based solely on a single parameter such as cochlear length or number of turns are less definitive than multi-parametric estimations and are generally not reliable for species operating in different media with radically different constraints on body mass. Bats and dolphins as two extreme examples of this underscore the importance of considering multiple facets of the functional anatomy of the ear in making comparisons across species.

Waves

The most common model of intracochlear acoustic propagation is that the majority of the cochlea may have some response to introduced sound stimuli, but depending upon its properties and those of each membrane region the amount of deflection and phase of the signal will vary. The progressive phase and amplitude variations have been described as a traveling wave that produces a time dependent response "envelope" of amplitudes that characterizes the signal (Dallos, 1996).

Could species variations in location of the oval windows with respect to the basilar membrane segments suggest alternative response mechanisms? Simulation experiments (A. Hubbard, pers. comm.) indicate that changing response parameters to constant tuning from 20 to 40% resulted in a standing wave. In big brown bats, the exceptional position of the oval window opens several possibilities, including bi-directional flow propagation and resultant reflection effects that may also produce a localized standing wave phenomenon.

The concept of a standing wave has been proposed previously in relation to the acoustic fovea of CF-FM bats (Kössl and Vater, 1995). These authors proposed that the relative thickening of the basilar membrane could provide a reflection zone tuned to returning echoes. This hypothesis also would function to enhance Doppler detection. In this paper, we have presented another potential mechanism for standing wave generation in *E. fuscus*, a species not known to have an acoustic fovea. Our hypothesis is not in opposition to that put forward by Kössl and Vater. Rather, it may be an alternative means to a similar end for some species, and both have yet to be proven.

Thus far, among odontocetes, only the harbor porpoise has been shown to have basilar membrane characteristics similar to acoustic foveal regions in Microchiropterans. There is also no evidence to date that dolphins or porpoises use Doppler shift compensations. Indeed, Au (1993) concluded that sound speeds in water may produce sufficient repeat echoes over a short period of time to diminish the information that Doppler shifts may provide to dolphins about target prey velocity and direction. *Tursiops*, however, does not have the structural features that were found in *Phocoena*. Were Doppler sensitivity to be explored in any odontocete, or in fact other bats, it may be important to take cochlear anatomy into account.

Spiraling Down

Radii ratios have been proposed as a correlate of low frequency hearing cut-offs (Manoussaki et al., 2008) based on the assumption that larger ratios reflect a broader curvature that would produce a "whispering gallery" effect in which energy density paths focus at the points of concavity, producing a radial pressure gradient. This is a favorable structure for low frequency energy to propagate throughout the cochlea. The compact spiral structure encountered in the FM bats in this study imply a decrease in the propagation for lower frequencies. Even more interesting is the additional reverse curve present in the harbor porpoise which suggests an alternative but potentially equally or more effective anatomical strategy for preventing low frequencies from penetrating the cochlea. This is in turn brings up the question of whether echolocators have developed structural measures to minimize exposure to spurious signals, such as low frequencies which dominate the marine environment.

Potential Protection From Echolocation Adaptations?

Dolphin ears are essentially terrestrial ears immersed in a biologically rich but in other ways a harsh environment. Anatomically, they follow the basic land mammal pattern but they have extensive adaptations that accommodate substantial parasite loads, pressure changes, and concussive forces. It remains unclear whether the relatively noisy and literally high pressure oceanic environment led to ears more stressed by multiple impacts or the development of physiologically tougher than average ears (Maison and Liberman, 2000). On the other hand, because marine mammals evolved in a high noise environment and have adaptations that prevent structural ear damage from barotrauma, it is possible that this is a feature related to echolocation per se, similar to what has been hypothesized for bats. Simmons et al. (2016, 2017, 2018) found that hearing sensitivity of big brown bats is not impaired by long duration, high-intensity exposures to sounds at levels that are known to induce temporary threshold shifts in other mammals. Therefore, it may be that successful echolocators have one or more ways by which they are able to sustain hearing in the presence of their own repetitive and intense signals with the secondary benefit of being less subject to environmental noise and hearing deficits.

Cochlear microphonic studies on several species of bats have demonstrated that contractions of the stapedius are coincident with the onset of the out-going signal followed by a release, thus synchronizing signal-echo sequences (Henson, 1965; Suga and Jen, 1975; Kick and Simmons, 1984). In these experiments, attenuations of the initial signal ranged from 20 to 28 dB. These levels are consistent with attenuations in humans and other species for stapedial reflexes, but the key features that differentiate this ability in bats from a simple stapedial reflex to an intense sound is the closely timed synchronization with the emitted signal, its rapidity, and the sustainability of the sequences. Studies have indicated an ability in several odontocete species, including *Tursiops* and *Phocoena*, to "self-mitigate" effects of exposure to loud underwater sounds in captive studies (Finneran, 2018; Nachtigall et al., 2018; Kastelein et al., 2020), the precise mechanisms of which remain unexplained.

CONCLUSION

Cross-media commonalities suggest similar cochlear specializations developed in parallel in microchiropterans and odontocetes. Cochlear anatomy observed in all specimen groups are linked to peak spectra of their vocalizations, notably with expanded frequency representation in the inner ear and, in some cases, possibly with enhanced tuning hypothesized to be derived from standing wave phenomena.

Differences that are consistent with processing of aerial vs. aquatic borne sound are found primarily in the outer and middle ear elements. Other differences among species, such as peak frequency of echolocation signals, are correlated with signal type, prey, and/or habitat features.

One speculation is that the stapedial placements and uniform, robust basilar membrane structure may enhance tuning in adjacent ear segments by generating standing wave phenomena. In the FM bats, the stapedial locus may result in a bidirectional flow. In the phocoenids, the double hook may serve to attenuate low frequency penetration and thus reduce low frequency sensitivity providing more membrane space for a stretched response map. Delphinid odontocetes, represented by the bottlenose dolphin in this study, more closely resemble the terrestrial generalist ear, with a peri-vestibular input. In all species examined, the cochlear canal curvatures are consistent with those of the highest frequency terrestrial species.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

Bat studies were reviewed and approved by the Brown University Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee; odontocete studies were approved by the IACUC committee of Woods Hole Oceanographic and collected under USFW/NMFS permits (932-1489-08, 493-1848-00, 493-1848-02, 130062, and 130062-1).

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

DK collected all odontocete specimens and provided the histology and analyses of all data on odontocetes, conducted and analyzed CT scans of all specimens in the study, and wrote the primary draft of the manuscript. JS, HR, and AS provided bat specimens. JS and AS provided histological data for the big brown bat. All authors contributed to the interpretation of the data and edited the manuscript.

FUNDING

MicroCT scanning, data analyses, and manuscript preparation were assisted by funding to DK from the Joint Industry Program (contract JIP22 III-16-08 – 55205300) and fellowships from the Hanse-Wissenschaftskolleg ICBM Fellowship and the Helmholtz International Fellow research programs. Big brown bat data collection and analysis were supported by an Office of Naval Research grant N00014-14-1-05880 to JS and an Office of Naval Research MURI grant N00014-17-1-2736 to JS and AS. Specimen collection, histology processing, and helical scanning related to the data reported in this study were supported through multiple grants and contracts since 2010 to DK from NIH, N45/LMRS-United States Navy Environmental Division (EnvDiv), Office of Naval Research, and ONR Global.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are very grateful to the reviewers of this manuscript for their thoughtful comments and helpful suggestions which greatly improved the text. They particularly assisted with understanding what portions needed additional clarification or background. Extensive technological assistance was provided for helical scanning by Scott Cramer and Julie Arruda of Woods Hole Oceanographic Institution, and histology processing of tissues was provided by Jennifer O'Malley, Diane DeLeo Jones, and Barbara Burgess of Massachusetts Eye and Ear Infirmary. MicroCT images were obtained with the assistance of Aaron Nakasone at the Micro-CT and X-ray Microscopy Imaging Facility of Boston University. We thank Katie Moore, Misty Niemeyer, and Jennifer Skidmore for their assistance in obtaining specimens and the permitting processes as well as the volunteers of the Marine Mammal Health and Stranding Response Program, the International Fund for Animal Welfare (IFAW), and the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, without which this research would not have been possible.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fevo.2021. 661216/full#supplementary-material

Supplementary Video 1 | The data for the video were obtained from images reconstructed in RadiAnt version 2020.1.1 from microCT data obtained at 11–17 micron voxel resolutions on a Zeiss Xradia Versa 520. The video shows a digital dissection of a the head of a female bat (*Eptesicus fuscus*) from the exterior surface to the inner ear that progressively reveals the tympano-periotic complex, middle ear, and inner ear labyrinth. The head is shown first in anterior view. As the head rotates to the left side, the skin and soft tissues fade from view to reveal the skull of the bat. The middle ear structures, particularly the spike-like long arm of the malleus, are clearly visible inside tympanic ring, just posterior to the mandible. The video then focuses on these structures, removing the surrounding skull structures, and rotates the bulla from a lateral to anterior view, revealing the three ossicles and the semicircular canals of the vestibular system. The stapes can be seen situated at the basal turn of the cochlea as the bony cochlear capsule fades

to show the 2.25 turn spiral of the cochlea (see **Figure 1** for labeling of structures. Images and multimedia copyright© 2021 DK, all rights reserved).

Supplementary Video 2 | The data for the video were obtained from images produced in Amira from VG Studio Max 3.4 images reconstructions of 7–11 micron voxel acquisitions of microCT data obtained with an X-Tek MicroCT. The video shows the inner ear anatomy of a male bat (*Eptesicus fuscus*) first as the full periotic capsule (red) with the stapes (white), incus (white), and malleus in place.

REFERENCES

Au, W. W. L. (1993). The Sonar of Dolphins. New York, NY: Springer.

- Baird, R. W., Webster, D. L., Schorr, G. S., McSweeney, D. J., and Barlow, J. (2008). Diel variation in beaked whale diving behavior. *Mar. Mamm. Sci.* 24, 630–642. doi: 10.1111/j.1748-7692.2008.00211.x
- Barnes, L. G., Domning, D. P., and Ray, C. E. (1985). Status of studies on fossil marine mammals. *Mar. Mamm. Sci.* 1, 15–53. doi: 10.1111/j.1748-7692.1985. tb00530.x
- Boku, S., Riquimaroux, H., Simmons, A. M., and Simmons, J. A. (2015). Auditory brainstem response of the Japanese house bat (*Pipistrellus abramus*). J. Acoust. Soc. Am. 137, 1063–1068. doi: 10.1121/1.4908212
- Bruns, V. (1980). Basilar membrane and its anchoring system in the cochlea of the greater horseshoe bat. Anat. Embryol. (Berl) 161, 29–50. doi: 10.1007/ BF00304667
- Bruns, V., and Schmieszek, E. (1980). Cochlear innervation in the greater horseshoe bat: demonstration of an acoustic fovea. *Hear. Res.* 3, 27–43. doi: 10.1016/0378-5955(80)90006-4
- Dallos, P. (1996). "Overview: cochlear neurobiology," in *The Cochlea. Springer Handbook of Auditory Research 8*, eds P. Dallos, A. N. Popper, and R. R. Fay (New York, NY: Springer), 1–43. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4612-0757-3_1
- Echteler, S. M., Popper, A. N., and Fay, R. R. (1994). "Structure of the mammalian cochlea," in *Comparative Hearing: Mammals*, eds R. R. Fay and A. N. Popper (New York, NY: Springer), 134–171.
- Ekdale, E. G. (2016). Form and function of the mammalian inner ear. J. Anat. 228, 324–337. doi: 10.1111/joa.12308
- Fay, R. R. (1988). Hearing in Vertebrates: A Psychophysics Handbook. Winnetka, IL: Hill-Fay Associates.
- Fenton, M. B., Faure, P. A., and Ratcliffe, J. R. (2012). Evolution of high duty cycle echolocation in bats. J. Exp. Biol. 215, 2935–2944. doi: 10.1242/jeb.073171
- Finneran, J. J. (2018). Conditioned attenuation of auditory brainstem responses in dolphins warned of an intense noise exposure: Temporal and spectral patterns. *J. Acoust. Soc. Am.* 143:795. doi: 10.1121/1.5022784
- Finneran, J. J., Jones, R., Guazzo, R. A., Strahan, M. G., Mulsow, J., Houser, D. S., et al. (2020). Dolphin echo-delay resolution measured with a jittered-echo paradigm. J. Acoust. Soc. Am 148:374. doi: 10.1121/10.0001604
- Fish, F. (1998). Comparative kinematics and hydrodynamics of odontocete cetaceans: morphological and ecological correlates with swimming performance. J. Exp. Biol. 201, 2867–2877. doi: 10.1242/jeb.201.20.2867
- Fleischer, G. (1976). Hearing in extinct cetaceans as determined by cochlear structure. *Jour. Paleon.* 50, 133–152.
- Fordyce, R. E., and de Muizon, C. (2001). "Evolutionary history of cetaceans: a review," in *Secondary Adaptation to Life in the Water*, eds J. M. Mazin and V. de Buffrenil (Munich: Pfeil Verlag), 169–233.
- Gao, G., and Zhou, K. (1995). "Fiber analysis of the vestibular nerve of small cetaceans," in *Sensory Systems of Aquatic Mammals*, eds R. A. Kastelein, J. A. Thomas, and P. E. Nachtigall (Woerden: De Spil), 447–453.
- Gingerich, P., Raza, S., Arif, M., Anwar, M., and Zhou, X. (1994). New whale from the Eocene of Pakistan and the origin of cetacean swimming. *Nature* 368, 844–847. doi: 10.1038/368844a0
- Greenwood, D. D. (1990). A cochlear frequency-position function for several species-29 years later. J. Acoust. Soc. Am. 87, 2592–2605. doi: 10.1121/1.399052
- Heffner, R. S., and Heffner, H. E. (1992). "Evolution of sound localization in mammals," in *The Evolutionary Biology of Hearing*, eds D. B. Webster, R. R. Fay, and A. N. Popper (New York, NY: Springer), 691–715. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4612-2784-7_43
- Henson, O. W. Jr. (1965). The activity and function of the middle ear muscles in echolocating bats. J. Physiol. 180, 871–887. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.1965.sp007737

The capsule fades as the inner ear rotates, revealing the path and profile of the basilar membrane (green) within inner ear labyrinth (see **Figure 6** for dimensions and detail of the structures).

Supplementary Video 3 | The data for the video were obtained from images produced in Amira from VG Studio Max 3.4 images reconstructions of 18–25 micron voxel acquisitions of microCT data obtained with an X-Tek MicroCT. The images were processed for video using Osirix 12.0.

- Ingmanson, D. E., and Wallace, W. J. (1973). Oceanology: An Introduction. Belmont: Wadsworth Publishing Co., Inc.
- Kandel, B. M., and Hullar, T. E. (2010). The relationship of head movements to semicircular canal size in cetaceans. J. Exp. Biol. 213(Pt. 7), 1175–1181. doi: 10.1242/jeb.040105
- Kastelein, R. A., Bunskoek, P., Hagedoorn, M., Au, W. W. L., and de Haan, D. (2002). Audiogram of a harbor porpoise (*Phocoena phocoena*) measured with narrow-band frequency-modulated signals. *J. Acoust. Soc. Am.* 112, 334–344. doi: 10.1121/1.1480835
- Kastelein, R. A., Helder-Hoek, L., Cornelisse, S., von Benda-Beckmann, A. M., Lam, F. A., De Jong, C. A. F., et al. (2020). Lack of reproducibility of temporary hearing threshold shifts in a harbor porpoise after exposure to repeated airgun sounds. J. Acoust. Soc. Am. 148, 556–565. doi: 10.1121/10.0001668
- Ketten, D. R. (1992). "The marine mammal ear: Specializations for aquatic audition and echolocation," in *The Evolutionary Biology of Hearing*, eds D. Webster, R. Fay, and A. Popper (New York: Springer-Verlag), 717–754. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4612-2784-7_44
- Ketten, D. R. (1994). Functional analyses of whale ears: adaptations for underwater hearing. I.E.E.E Underwater Acoust. 1, 264–270.
- Ketten, D. R. (1997). Structure and function in whale ears. *Bioacoustics* 8, 103–136. doi: 10.1080/09524622.1997.9753356
- Ketten, D. R. (2000). "Cetacean ears," in *Hearing by Whales and Dolphins*, eds W. W. L. Au, A. N. Popper, and R. R. Fay (Heidelberg: Springer), 43–108. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4612-1150-1_2
- Ketten, D. R., and Mountain, D. C. (2011). Final Report: Modeling Minke Whale Hearing, IOGP SML Joint Industry Programme. London. 1–30. doi: 10.1002/ 9781118561546.ch1
- Ketten, D. R., Simmons, J., Riquimaroux, H., Cramer, S., and Arruda, J. (2012). Critical cranial and cochlear structures in echolocators. *Proc. Inst. Acoust.* 34, 572–577.
- Ketten, D. R., Skinner, M., Wang, G., Vannier, M., Gates, G. A., and Neely, J. G. (1998). In vivo measures of cochlear length and insertion depths of nucleus[®] cochlear implant electrode arrays. *Ann. Otol. Rhinol. Laryngol.* 107, 1–16.
- Ketten, D. R., and Wartzok, D. (1990). "Three-dimensional reconstructions of the dolphin ear," in Sensory Abilities of Cetaceans: Field and Laboratory Evidence. Proceeding NATO ASI Series A Life Science, eds J. Thomas and R. Kastelein (New York, NY: Plenum Press), 196.
- Kick, S. A., and Simmons, J. A. (1984). Automatic gain control in the bat's sonar receiver and the neuroethology of echolocation. J. Neurosci. 4, 2725–2737. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.04-11-02725.1984
- Koopman, H. N., Budge, S. M., Ketten, D. R., and Iverson, S. J. (2006). The topographical distribution of lipids inside the mandibular fat bodies of odontocetes: remarkable complexity and consistency. *IEEE J. Ocean Engin.* 31, 95–106. doi: 10.1109/joe.2006.8 72205
- Kössl, M., and Vater, M. (1995). "Cochlear structure and function in bats," in *Hearing by Bats*, eds R. R. Fay and A. N. Popper (New York, NY: Springer), 191–234. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4612-2556-0_5
- Maison, S. F., and Liberman, M. C. (2000). Predicting vulnerability to acoustic injury with a noninvasive assay of olivocochlear reflex strength. J. Neurosci. 20, 4701–4707. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.20-12-04701.2000
- Manoussaki, D., Chadwick, R. S., Ketten, D. R., Arruda, J., Dimitriadis, D., and O'Malley, J. T. (2008). The influence of cochlear shape on low-frequency hearing. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 105, 6162–6166. doi: 10.1073/pnas. 0710037105
- Miller, B. S., Newburg, S. O., Zosuls, A. L., Mountain, D. C., and Ketten, D. R. (2006). "Biomechanics of dolphin hearing. A comparison of middle and inner

ear stiffness with other mammalian species," in Auditory Mechanisms: Processes and Models, ed. A. L. Nuttal (Singapore: World Scientific), 121–124.

- Nachtigall, P. E., Supin, A. Y., Pacini, A. F., and Kastelein, R. A. (2018). Four odontocete species change hearing levels when warned of impending loud sound. *Integr. Zool.* 13, 2–20.
- Nadol, J. B. Jr. (1988). Quantification of human spiral ganglion cells by serial section reconstruction and segmental density estimates. Am. J. Otolaryngol. 9, 47–51. doi: 10.1016/s0196-0709(88)80007-3
- Norris, K. S. (1969). "The echolocation of marine mammals," in *The Biology of Marine Mammals*, ed. H. T. Andersen (London: Academic Press), 391–424.
- Nummela, S. (1995). Scaling of the mammalian middle ear. *Hear. Res.* 85, 18–30. doi: 10.1016/0378-5955(95)00030-8
- Oelschlager, H. A. (1986). Comparative morphology and evolution of the otic region in toothed whales. Am J. Anat. 177, 353–368. doi: 10.1002/aja. 1001770306
- Puria, S. (2020). Middle ear biomechanics: smooth sailing. *Acoust. Today* 16, 27–35. doi: 10.1121/AT.2020.16.3.27
- Pye, A. (1966). The Megachiroptera and Vespertilionoidea of the Microchiroptera. *J. Morph.* 119, 101–120. doi: 10.1002/jmor.1051190202
- Reidenberg, J. S., and Laitman, J. T. (2018). Anatomy of underwater sound production with a focus on ultrasonic vocalization in toothed whales including dolphins and porpoises. *Handbook Behav. Neurosci.* 25, 509–519. doi: 10.1016/ b978-0-12-809600-0.00047-0
- Reysenbach de Haan, F. W. (1956). Hearing in whales. Acta Otolaryngol. Suppl. 134, 1–114. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4612-1150-1_1
- Rossing, T. D., and Fletcher, N. H. (2004). Principles of Vibration and Sound. New York: Springer. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4757-3822-3_13
- Schuknecht, H. F. (1953). Technique for study of cochlear function and pathology in experimental animals. *Arch. Otolaryngol.* 58, 377–397. doi: 10.1001/archotol. 1953.00710040399001
- Schuknecht, H. F. (1993). Pathology of the Ear. Malvern, PA: Lea & Febiger, 7-21.
- Siemers, B. M., and Schnitzler, H.-U. (2004). Echolocation signals reflect niche differentiation in five sympatric congeneric bat species. *Nature* 429, 657–661. doi: 10.1038/nature02547
- Simmons, A. M., Ertman, A., Hom, K. N., and Simmons, J. A. (2018). Big brown bats (*Eptesicus fuscus*) successfully navigate through clutter after exposure to intense band-limited sound. *Sci. Rep.* 8:13555. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-31872x (2018)
- Simmons, A. M., Hom, K. N., and Simmons, J. A. (2017). Big brown bats (*Eptesicus fuscus*) maintain hearing sensitivity after exposure to intense band-limited noise. J. Acoust. Soc. Am. 141, 1481–1489. doi: 10.1121/1.4976820
- Simmons, A. M., Hom, K. N., Warnecke, M., and Simmons, J. A. (2016). Broadband noise exposure does not affect hearing sensitivity in big brown bats (*Eptesicus fuscus*). J. Exp. Biol. 219, 1031–1040. doi: 10.1242/jeb.135319
- Simmons, J. A. (2017). Theories about target ranging in bat sonar. *Acoust. Today* 13, 43–51.
- Simmons, J. A., Ferragamo, M., Moss, C. F., Stevenson, S. B., and Altes, R. A. (1990). Discrimination of jittered sonar echoes by the echolocating bat. *Eptesicus fuscus*: the shape of target images in echolocation. J. Comp. Physiol. A. 167, 589–616.
- Slabbekoorn, H. (2004). Habitat-dependent ambient noise: consistent spectral profiles in two African forest types. J. Acoust. Soc. Am. 116, 3727–3733. doi: 10.1121/1.1811121
- Southall, B., Finneran, J., Reichmuth, C., Nachtigall, P., Ketten, D., Bowles, A., et al. (2019). Marine mammal noise exposure criteria: auditory weighting functions and TTS/PTS onset. *Aquat. Mamm.* 45, 125–232. doi: 10.1578/AM.45.2.2019.125
- Spoor, F., Bajpai, S., Hussain, S. T., Kumar, K., and Thewissen, J. G. (2002). Vestibular evidence for the evolution of aquatic behaviour in early cetaceans. *Nature* 417, 163–166. doi: 10.1038/417163a
- Suga, N., and Jen, P. H.-S. (1975). Peripheral control of acoustic signals in the auditory system of echolocating bats. J. Exp. Biol. 62, 277–311. doi: 10.1242/ jeb.62.2.277
- Surlykke, A., and Moss, C. F. (2000). Echolocation behavior of big brown bats, *Eptesicus fuscus*, in the field and the laboratory. J. Acoust. Soc. Am. 108, 2419–2429. doi: 10.1121/1.1315295

- Tubelli, A., and Ketten, D. (2019). The role of material properties in cetacean hearing models: knowns and unknowns. *Aquat. Mamm.* 45, 717–732. doi: 10.1578/AM.45.6.2019.717
- Tubelli, A., Zosuls, A., Ketten, D., Yamato, M., and Mountain, D. (2012). A prediction of the minke whale (*Balaenoptera acutorostrata*) middle-ear transfer function. J. Acoust. Soc. Am. 132, 3263–3272. doi: 10.1121/1.47 56950
- Tyack, P. L., Johnson, M., Aguilar Soto, N., Sturlese, A., and Madsen, P. T. (2006). Extreme diving of beaked whales. J. Exp. Biol. 209, 4238–4253. doi: 10.1242/jeb. 02505
- Urick, R. J. (1983). Principles of Underwater Sound. New York, NY: McGraw-Hill.
- Vater, M. (2004). "Cochlear anatomy related to bat echolocation," in *Echolocation in Bats and Dolphins*, eds J. A. Thomas, C. F. Moss, and M. Vater (Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press), 99–103.
- Veselka, N., McErlain, D., Holdsworth, D., Eger, J. L., Chhem, R. K., Mason, M. J., et al. (2010). A bony connection signals laryngeal echolocation in bats. *Nature* 463, 939–942. doi: 10.1038/nature08737
- von Békésy, G. (1960). Experiments in Hearing. New York, NY: McGraw-Hill.
- von Uexküll, J. (1957). "A stroll through the worlds of animals and men: a picture book of invisible worlds," in *Institutive Behavior: The Development of a Modern Concept, Edited and Translated*, ed. C. H. Schiller (New York, NY: International Universities Press), 5–80.
- Wartzok, D., and Ketten, D. R. (1999). "Marine mammal sensory systems," in *Biology of Marine Mammals*, eds J. Reynolds and S. Rommel (Washington DC: Smithsonian Institution Press), 117–175.
- Wenz, G. M. (1962). Acoustic ambient noise in the ocean: spectra and sources. J. Acoust. Soc. Am. 34, 1936–1956. doi: 10.1121/1.1909155
- West, C. D. (1985). The relationship of the spiral turns of the cochlea and the length of the basilar membrane to the range of audible frequencies in ground dwelling mammals. *J. Acoust. Soc. Am.* 77, 1091–1101. doi: 10.1121/1.39 2227
- Wever, E. G., McCormick, J., Palin, J., and Ridgway, S. (1972). Cochlear structure in the dolphin, *Lagenorhynchus obliguidens*. Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 69, 657–661. doi: 10.1073/pnas.69.3.657
- Wever, E. G., McCormick, J. G., Palin, J., and Ridgway, S. (1971a). The cochlea of the dolphin, *Tursiops truncatus*: Hair cells and ganglion cells. *Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 68, 2908–2912. doi: 10.1073/pnas.68.12. 2908
- Wever, E. G., McCormick, J. G., Palin, J., and Ridgway, S. (1971b). The cochlea of the dolphin, *Tursiops truncatus*: The basilar membrane. *Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 68, 2708–2711. doi: 10.1073/pnas.68.11.2708
- Yamato, M., Ketten, D. R., Arruda, J., Cramer, S., and Moore, K. (2012). The auditory anatomy of the minke whale (*Balaenoptera acutorostrata*): a potential fatty sound reception pathway in a baleen whale. *Anat. Rec.* 295, 991–998. doi: 10.1002/ar.22459

Conflict of Interest: The reviewer AP declared an editorial collaboration with one of the authors, DK, to the handling editor.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Ketten, Simmons, Riquimaroux and Simmons. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

